
 
NOTICE OF MEETING 

 
CABINET 

 
will meet on 

 
THURSDAY, 15TH DECEMBER, 2022 

 
At 7.00 pm 

 
at 
 

GREY ROOM - YORK HOUSE,  WINDSOR AND ON RBWM YOUTUBE  
 

TO: MEMBERS OF CABINET: COUNCILLORS:  
 
ANDREW JOHNSON LEADER OF THE COUNCIL; GROWTH & OPPORTUNITY (CHAIR) 

STUART CARROLL DEPUTY CHAIR OF CABINET; CHILDREN’S SERVICES, 
EDUCATION, HEALTH, MENTAL HEALTH, & TRANSFORMATION 

DAVID CANNON ANTI-SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR, CRIME, AND PUBLIC PROTECTION     

DAVID COPPINGER ADULT SOCIAL CARE & MAIDENHEAD 

SAMANTHA RAYNER DEPUTY LEADER OF THE COUNCIL; BUSINESS, CORPORATE 
& RESIDENTS SERVICES, CULTURE & HERITAGE, & WINDSOR 

PHIL HASELER PLANNING, PARKING, HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 

DAVID HILTON ASSET MANAGEMENT & COMMERCIALISATION, FINANCE, & ASCOT     

DONNA STIMSON CLIMATE ACTION & SUSTAINABILITY 

ROSS MCWILLIAMS DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY, HOUSING OPPORTUNITY, & SPORT & 
LEISURE 

GURPREET BHANGRA - ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES, PARKS & COUNTRYSIDE 
 

Kirsty Hunt – Service Lead – Electoral and Democratic Services 
Issued: Wednesday, 7 December 2022 

 
Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 

web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Kirsty Hunt kirsty.hunt@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

Recording of Meetings – In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of the virtual 
meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio and/or video, you are 
giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the public domain. If you have any 

questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal representative at the meeting. 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/user/WindsorMaidenhead
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


 

 

AGENDA 
 

PART I 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
To receive any apologies for absence 
  

 
 

 
2.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
To receive any declarations of interest 
  

9 - 10 
 

 
3.   MINUTES 

 
To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 1 December 2022. 
  

11 - 20 
 

 
4.   APPOINTMENTS 

 
 

 
 

 
5.   FORWARD PLAN 

 
To consider the Forward Plan for the period January to April 2023. 
  

21 - 30 
 

 
6.   FORWARD PLAN CHANGES 

 
 

31 - 32 
 

 



 

 

 
 

CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS 
 

 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
  

7.   BIODIVERSITY ACTION PLAN 
 
Climate Action and Sustainability 
  
To consider adoption of the Biodiversity Action Plan as part of the Council’s 
Environment and Climate Strategy.  
  

33 - 100 
 

 
8.   PLATINUM JUBILEE DRINKING FOUNTAIN 2022 

 
Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor 
  
To consider the support request from The Windsor Platinum Committee to 
commission the monument, align future responsibility & maintenance with 
other RBWM fountain assets once installed and a capital contribution towards 
the final costs on completion.  
  

101 - 124 
 

 
9.   DEMAND FOR SCHOOL PLACES 

 
Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental Health, & Transformation 
  
To consider the projections of demand for school places within the borough, 
the requirements for a new primary school in South East Maidenhead and the 
measures required to manage capacity in Windsor first schools. 
  

125 - 198 
 

 
10.   MICROSOFT LICENSING CONTRACT RENEWAL 

 
Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor 
  
To consider delegating authority to award the Microsoft Licencing Agreement 
Contract on conclusion of the aggregated tender process.  
  

199 - 218 
 

 
11.   SOUTH WEST MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT 
 
Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport 
  
To consider adoption of the South West Maidenhead Development 
Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). 
  

219 - 488 
 

 
12.   REVIEW OF LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME 

 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport 
  
To consider approval of a new Local Development Scheme for the Royal 
Borough for the next three years to the end of 2025. This programme includes 

489 - 510 
 



 

 

work on the Traveller Local Plan. 
   

13.   HOUSING SUPPORT FUND 
 
Growth and Opportunity 
  
To share the Council’s policy for allocating the Winter 2022-23 tranche of the 
Department for Work and Pensions Household Support Fund; and to note the 
use of delegated authority to approve the allocation of the Fund, on the 
grounds of urgency, in order to support those most in need. 
  

511 - 534 
 

 
14.   AWARD OF CONTRACT FOR CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM 

 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport  
Business, Corporate & Resident Services, Culture & Heritage, Windsor  
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public Protection 
  
To consider the procurement and tendering outcome for the Council's Case 
Management System, approve the award of the contract to the successful 
bidder and delegate authority for future contract period extensions 
  
Please note restricted appendices to this report have been circulated 
separately to Cabinet members.   
  

535 - 556 
 

 
15.   EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 
To consider the following motion: 
  
That pursuant to Regulation 4 of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Access to Information) Regulations 2012 and having regard 
to the public interest, members of the public and press be excluded from the 
meeting for the consideration of item 16 which involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information under the following category of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972: 
  
(3)        Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
  

 
 

 



 

 

 
 

PART II 
 

 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
 

 



 

 

 
 

CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS 
 

 
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO 
  

16.   AWARD OF CONTRACT OF CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM  
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport  
Business, Corporate & Resident Services, Culture & Heritage, Windsor  
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public Protection 
  
To consider the procurement and tendering outcome for the Council's Case 
Management System, approve the award of the contract to the successful 
bidder and delegate authority for future contract period extensions.   
  
Please note an exempt appendices to this report have been circulated 
separately to Cabinet members.  
  
Details of representations received on reports listed above for discussion in 
the Private Meeting: None received. 
 
(Not for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972) 
 

557 - 560 

 
 



 

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



Revised October 2022 

 

MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

Disclosure at Meetings 

If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration 
of interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI) or Other Registerable Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest 
in their Register of Interests they are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter 
being discussed. 

Any Member with concerns about the nature of their interest should consult the Monitoring Officer in 
advance of the meeting.  

Non-participation in case of Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your DPIs (summary below, 
further details set out in Table 1 of the Members’ Code of Conduct) you must disclose the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by 
the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest, just that you have an 
interest. Dispensation may be granted by the Monitoring Officer in limited circumstances, to enable 
you to participate and vote on a matter in which you have a DPI. 

Where you have a DPI on a matter to be considered or is being considered by you as a Cabinet 
Member in exercise of your executive function, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest 
and must not take any steps or further steps in the matter apart from arranging for someone else to 
deal with it. 

DPIs (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 

• Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

• Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the council) made to the 
councillor during the previous 12-month period for expenses incurred by him/her in carrying out 
his/her duties as a councillor, or towards his/her election expenses 

• Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has 
not been fully discharged. 

• Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the council. 

• Any licence to occupy land in the area of the council for a month or longer. 

• Any tenancy where the landlord is the council, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest in the securities of. 

• Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
a) that body has a place of business or land in the area of the council, and 
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class 
belonging to the relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek 
advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting.  

Disclosure of Other Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to one of your Other Registerable 
Interests (summary below and as set out in Table 2 of the Members Code of Conduct), you must 
disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on 
the matter and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it 
is a ‘sensitive interest’ (as agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer), you do not have to 
disclose the nature of the interest. 

9

Agenda Item 2



Revised October 2022 

 

Other Registerable Interests: 

a) any unpaid directorships  

b) any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or management 

and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority  

c) any body  

(i) exercising functions of a public nature  

(ii) directed to charitable purposes or  

(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy (including 

any political party or trade union)  

 of which you are a member or in a position of general control or management 

Disclosure of Non- Registerable Interests 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or well-being (and is 
not a DPI) or a financial interest or well-being of a relative or close associate, or a body included under 
Other Registerable Interests in Table 2 you must disclose the interest. You may speak on the matter 
only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the meeting but otherwise must not 
take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room unless you 

have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring 
Officer) you do not have to disclose the nature of the interest. 

Where a matter arises at a meeting which affects – 

a. your own financial interest or well-being; 

b. a financial interest or well-being of a friend, relative, close associate; or 

c. a financial interest or well-being of a body included under Other Registerable 
Interests as set out in Table 2 (as set out above and in the Members’ code of 
Conduct) 

you must disclose the interest. In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after 

disclosing your interest the following test should be applied. 

Where a matter (referred to in the paragraph above) affects the financial interest or well-being: 

a. to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and; 

b. a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at the 
meeting but otherwise must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. If it is a ‘sensitive 
interest’ (agreed in advance by the Monitoring Officer, you do not have to disclose the nature of 
the interest. 

Other declarations 

Members may wish to declare at the beginning of the meeting any other information they feel should 

be in the public domain in relation to an item on the agenda; such Member statements will be included 

in the minutes for transparency. 

10



CABINET 
 

THURSDAY, 1 DECEMBER 2022 
 
PRESENT: Councillors Andrew Johnson (Leader of the Council; Growth & Opportunity) 
(Chairman), David Cannon (Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public Protection), 
David Coppinger (Adult Social Care & Maidenhead), Samantha Rayner (Deputy Leader 
of the Council; Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor), Phil Haseler (Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport), David Hilton (Asset 
Management & Commercialisation, Finance, & Ascot) and Gurpreet Bhangra 
(Environmental Services, Parks and Countryside) 
 
Also in attendance: Councillors L Jones and Price 
 
Also in attendance virtually:   
Councillor Donna Stimson (Climate Action & Sustainability) 
Councillors Sharpe, Tisi and Werner 
 
Officers: Tony Reeves, Andrew Durrant, Andrew Vallance, Adele Taylor, Kevin 
McDaniel and Karen Shepherd 
 
Officers in attendance virtually: Emma Duncan, Becky Hatch, Chris Joyce, Chris Wheeler, 
Alysse Strachan and Adrien Waite 
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Stuart Carroll and Councillor Donna 
Stimson joined the meeting remotely.  
 
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
No declarations were made.  
 
MINUTES  
 
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 October 2022 
be approved. 
 
APPOINTMENTS  
 
No appointments were made.  
 
FORWARD PLAN  
 
Cabinet noted the Forward Plan for the next four months including the following additional 
changes: 
  

       ‘Housing Allocations Policy’ was withdrawn from the agenda and would be considered 
by Cabinet in January 2023 

       ‘Corporate Plan Review’ would be considered by Cabinet in January 2023 
       ‘Stakeholder Masterplan Document for land in Maidenhead’ would be considered by 

Cabinet in January 2023 
       ‘A Vision for Windsor’ would be considered by Cabinet in February 2023 

 
CABINET MEMBERS' REPORTS  

Public Document Pack

11

Agenda Item 3



 
HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY  
 
This item had been withdrawn from the agenda and would be considered by Cabinet in 
January 2023. 
 
HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE CONTRACT - PROPOSAL AND RECOMMENDATION 
FOR RE-PROCUREMENT AND FUTURE SERVICE DELIVERY  
 
Cabinet considered approval of proposed service groupings for re-procurement and the 
proposal to strengthen the client team by bringing highways inspection, programme 
management and quality monitoring back ‘in house’.  
  
Councillor Haseler, Cabinet Member for Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport explained 
that the cabinet paper outlined options and recommendations for the future highway 
maintenance service delivery model, when the current Volker Highways contract expired on 1 
April 2024. It was recommended that a procurement exercise was undertaken in order to 
obtain contracted services for the majority of activities and functions. It also recommended 
strengthening the in-house client team by delivering highway inspections, programme 
management and quality monitoring ‘in house’. It was suggested that re-procurement be 
undertaken for three separate contract groupings: 
  
•           Highway maintenance 
•           Street cleansing (including public conveniences) 
•           Highways professional services 
  
Councillor Haseler explained that in 2017, the Council entered a five-year highways 
management and maintenance contract with Volker Highways Ltd to provide a range of 
services with further 2 year extension until 31 March 2024. This was the maximum that the 
contract could be extended. The current commissioned service contained the following core 
elements: 

·       Highway and Bridge Inspections 
·       Highway and Bridge Repairs 
·       Drainage and gully clearance 
·       Winter Service 
·       Street Cleansing 
·       Project Delivery 
·       Tree Inspections  

Within the Cabinet report table two set out where the services sat prior to outsourcing in 2017 
and recommendations of where they should sit going forward based on the review. The 
rationale for bringing certain aspects back in house was to provide greater quality and cost 
control for the Council. The proposal recommended that the majority of elements were 
delivered by external providers because they were specialist technical activities e.g. technical 
bridge assessments or construction functions such as winter gritting delivery/ road resurfacing. 
A paper recommending award of the contracts was planned to be considered by Cabinet in 
September 2023 with any cost implications being considered in the budget setting process for 
2024/25. 

Councillor Johnson seconded the proposal.  

Councillor Rayner commented that Highways was the one aspect of Council delivery that 
affected every resident and noted that the Residents Survey showed that 89% of those that 
responded were satisfied with the area they live in.  

12



Councillor Hilton reflected that Customer Enquiries was proposed to move in house and 
supported the paper as he considered it was optimum for the Council to own that interface. 

Councillor L. Jones agreed with the recommendation as she had previously called in the 
outsourcing decision in 2017 and supported the change which she hoped would provide better 
ongoing customer service.  

Councillor Werner stated that he considered it was the wrong decision in 2017 and supported 
the move to bring these services back in house.  

Councillor Johnson commented that the administration was not ideologically opposed to 
outsourcing when it was appropriate and provided best value.  

Councillor Hasler concluded by thanking colleagues for their support and the officer team for 
pulling the proposals together including market and external engagement.  

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY that 
  

i)          the report be noted and 
  
ii)         the proposed service groupings for re-procurement and the proposal to 

strengthen the client team by bringing highway inspections, programme 
management and quality monitoring back ‘in house’ be approved. 

  
 
2022/23 MONTH 6 BUDGET MONITORING REPORT  
 
Cabinet considered details of the Month Six forecast outturn against budget for the 2022/23 
financial year as at the end of September. It included the revenue and capital budgets along 
with the forecast financial reserve position at year end. 
  
Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance & 
Ascot advised the meeting that the current forecast was an overspend on service budgets of 
£1.301m and including unallocated contingency and changes to funding budgets, this was 
reduced to an underspend of £0.966m which was a reduction of £1.299m from the position 
reported in month four. Given the current economic climate and challenges in setting 2023/24 
it was important that the Council managed down any potential overspends during the current 
year and services were working on this. He detailed the Council-wide actions being taken to 
manage spending including: 
·       invoices without a purchase order expenditure requiring Director approval; 
·       the Section 151 Officer and Chief Executive approving all recruitment requests and 
undertaking a monthly review of agency, consultant, and overtime spend; and 
·       a renewed focus on debt recovery. 
  
He stated that the Council was working on delivering a balanced budget without requiring any 
use of the contingency.  
  
Achieving for Children reported an overspend which had been mitigated by one off ear marked 
reserves, an underspend from Learning Disability demographic growth reducing the spend by 
£553k. This budget pressure was a result in part from hospitals discharging patients into 
residential care to free up hospital beds which they were funded to do. However these costs 
were transferred to the Council. He stated that once in Care Homes many do not leave which 
had increased the numbers within care and detailed in Appendix D.  
  
Optalis would use a lower cost option and discharge older people into their own homes, 
supported by the Reablement team which usually enabled them to become independent and 
lead a better quality of life. The directorate was implementing a series of actions to address 

13



the level of spend including working with the Integrated Care System to secure additional 
resources from the one-off £500m national winter support fund where allocations were still to 
be announced. A review of use of accommodation by some residents with learning difficulties 
would be undertaken and a Supported Lives scheme designed to reduce costs and improve 
quality of care provided would be relaunched.  
  
Children’s Services had a projected an overspend of £225k. £400k overspend on Home to 
School Transport. Since the start of the academic year there had been an increased volume of 
the current and planned cohort including the loss of an established bus route.  
  
There was a continued pressure of £250k on the Legal Services contract due to high volumes 
and increased complexity and duration of the legal process. 
  
An overspend of £169k was forecast due to the impact of the unfunded National Transfer 
Scheme for unaccompanied asylum-seeking children. It was understood that the Borough was 
currently supporting 35 young people which met the national 0.1% ratio set by the Home 
Office.  
  
The £2.45m Dedicated Schools budget deficit was a concern. Alongside the Deficit 
Management Plan, Achieving for Children was participating with the Department for Education 
Delivering Better Value (DBV) in SEND support programme. The programme would provide 
dedicated support and funding to help local authorities with substantial deficit issues to reform 
their high needs systems.  
  
In Achieving for Children a deficit recovery plan had been implemented and so far indicative in 
year mitigations of £481k were reflected in the reported budget outturn.  
  
The Place directorate forecast an overspend of nearly £1.4m. The directorate was 
implementing a series of actions to address this overspend including engagement with 
significant contractors so that opportunities for efficiencies could be identified as part of 
contract procurement, consultancy spend would be reviewed to ensure it was achieving value 
for money and Section 106 monies would be scrutinised to ensure that they had been properly 
applied and reflected in the forecast outturn. 
  
Income from Pay and Display car parks had increased which was good news for both the 
Council and retailers and was averaging at 92% of the profiled budget.  
  
Planning was reporting an overspend of £0.321m, mostly due to pressures in the tree team 
inspection programme. The forecast assumed that works commissioned erre delivered; if they 
were not this overspend may reduce.  
  
The risk of increased utility costs, as previously reported by Leisure Focus Trust and 
discussions were ongoing in respect of what further actions could be taken to mitigate the 
pressure but the Council may be exposed to an estimated additional cost of £0.350m. This 
pressure was yet to be included in the budget.  
  
The Resources directorate reported an underspend of £0.451m which was a favourable 
movement of £0.290m from the previous month. This was due to several smaller variances in 
HR, Corporate Projects, IT, Libraries and Residents Services. Libraries and Residents 
Services had also received an important contribution from parishes towards the running costs 
of services. 
  
The Governance, Law, Strategy and Public Health directorate forecast an underspend of 
£0.319m. Non-staff costs in relation to Operation London Bridge total over £1m and would be 
refunded by central government. However, the staff payroll costs were to be met from the 
Council’s contingency budget. 
  

14



Due to the recent reorganisation a number of virements were shown on page 68 of the 
Cabinet report which had no impact on the budget outturn.  
  
Capital expenditure was currently projected at £49.74m. Appendix E provided details of the 
capital budget and further information on variances. The inflation and additional costs due to 
the inclusion of an air source heat pump had increased the cost of Windsor Girls’ School 
expansion by £140k. £40k of these costs would be met by Section 106 contributions held for 
carbon offsetting and the remaining £100k would be vired from the new primary places capital 
budget which in turn would be replenished by £100k virement from Charters PD needs works 
by means of Capital allocation. These movements preserve the capital allocation for the same 
work. 
   
Due to economic climate and the sharp rise in interest rates capital budgets had been 
reviewed and £3.7m net budget savings had been identified which reduced interest rate costs 
by £95k in 2022-23. Slippages of £2.8m generate a further saving of £72k in the current year. 
Two affordable housing schemes had been rephased to 2024-25. 
  
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council seconded the proposals and commented that the 
Council was trending towards mitigating identified costs and achieving a balanced budget. 
  
Councillor Rayner congratulated the Finance team and noted that 70% of those that 
responded to the Residents’ Survey had a fair or great deal of trust in the Council.  
  
Councillor Hilton added that although the budget position was driven by the Finance team it 
was supported by each of the directorates.  
  
Councillor L. Jones asked a series of questions: 
·       although delays to recruitment was helping the financial situation how was this not 
affecting delivery of services 
·       was the increases of parking charges going to continue? 
·       although the anticipated overspends were reducing was it going to be possible to put the 
contingency into reserves? 
·       was the size of the reablement team increasing to increase their capacity?  
·       disappointed that Supporting Lives was being mentioned as it had never achieved 
proposed savings over the previous five years and asked what was being done differently? 
  
Councillor Johnson replied that work within service departments was ongoing to avoid 
spending the contingency with the budget which would mean that this could be transferred to 
reserves and this was the ambition of the administration. 
  
Councillor Hilton reiterated this position as set out in the report that the intention was for the 
contingency monies to be used to increase reserves. He agreed that progress on Supported 
Lives had slowed due to the pandemic but would now be driven forward. 
  
Adele Taylor, Executive Director of Resources clarified that additional steps had been 
introduced on the recruitment process and the Chief Executive along with the S151 Officer 
were regularly considering alternative options when vacancies arose before recruitment was 
undertaken as well as agency costs but a freeze was not in place. 
  
Councillor Johnson acknowledged that there had been a boost to parking charge increases 
due to recent events but believed it would continue. Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of 
Place Services confirmed that the report contained further projection of growth in parking 
income.  
  
Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People Services responded to the question on 
reablement explaining that Optalis was restructuring the way it works in order to increase 
capacity such as utilising the Winter Support Plan funding in order to get out to people more 
quickly. Supported Lives was a relaunch of a different approach to ensure it was an early 

15



conversation rather than an alternative to other options to encourage people to lead richer 
lives.  
  
Councillor Price asked a series of questions: 
·           had the impact of increasing footfall within Windsor been experienced by businesses?   
·           do the Council staff have the capacity and skill set for commercially minded projects? 
·           clarification requested regarding use of contingency funds versus use or replenishment 

of reserves?   

Councillor Johnson challenged the statements made that reserves had gone down or that the 
Council had failed to deliver commercialisation and gave the example of investment in the 
tennis courts.   
  
Councillor Hilton clarified that within the budget there was an amount identified for 
contingency. The ambition was for the contingency funds not to be utilised and therefore 
added to reserves. The Executive Director of Resources gave the example of the death of Her 
Majesty the Queen where contingency funding was utilised for the council’s role in the state 
funeral arrangements. A minimum amount of reserves were calculated and this changed each 
year. Previously unused contingency funds had been added to General Fund reserves. As 
part of the balanced budget a line of funding was identified for contingency but it was part of 
the financial strategy not to need that funding. She clarified that due to the size of Council the 
optimum level of reserves would be £15m. Earmarked reserves were ring fenced for specific 
activities or projects that occurred over a number of years but were not included in the 
calculations for the General Fund monies.  
  
Councillor Rayner responded to the queries regarding increased footfall in the town and 
reported that independent businesses had seen an increase, national chains stated that their 
Windsor stores were the highest grossing and representatives at the Tourism and Partnership 
Board had endorsed the comment that it had been a successful year.  
  
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY that: 
  

i)               the forecast revenue outturn for the year be noted as an overspend on 
services of £1.301m which reduced to an underspend of £0.876m that would 
be transferred to general fund reserves, when considering unallocated 
contingency budgets and changes to funding budgets (as set out in the 
Cabinet report at paragraph 4.1);  

  
ii)             four budget virements (as set out in the Cabinet report at paragraph 4.1) be 

approved;  

  
iii)            the forecast capital outturn was expenditure of £49.744m against a budget of 

£59.978m (as set out in the Cabinet report at paragraph 14) be noted; and 

  
iv)            two capital budget virements (as set out in the Cabinet report at paragraphs 

14.2 and 14.3) be approved. 

 
COUNCIL TAX BASE 2023/24  
 
Cabinet considered the report dealing with the statutory requirement to set the Council’s tax 
base for 2023/24 noting that the tax base was used by Thames Valley Police, Berkshire Fire 
and Rescue Authority, local Parish Councils as well as the Royal Borough for setting precepts 
and Council Tax for the coming year.  
  

16



Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Asset management & Commercialisation, Finance and 
Ascot advised the meeting that under Government regulations it was necessary for the 
Council to review its Collection Fund and decide the following:  

·       the Council Tax Base to be used for setting its 2023/24 Council Tax 
·       its Council Tax Collection Rate for 2023/24; and  
·       the estimated Council Tax deficit for 2022/23. 

  
He explained that provision had been made in the proposed 2023/24 tax base for new 
properties that were likely to be occupied before the end of the next financial year. The growth 
in local development continued and this was estimated at 1,089 additional properties. 
Appendix D set out the Band D equivalent properties that were included in the CTB1 return at 
69,605.09. The estimated impact of additional properties and revaluations adjusted for non-
collection and reductions for valid discounts was 305 which gave a tax base of 70,250.20 
properties.  
  
He stated that a review of eventual collection rates had been carried out which revealed the 
assumptions to calculate the tax base at 99.5% were adequate.  
  
It was explained that although Business Rate tax base could be estimated using the previous 
year’s returns it was not possible to calculate the actual Business Rate tax base until 
Department for Levelling Up, Communities and Housing (DLUCH) published the NNDR1 
return in January. Therefore, this would be included in the Budget report along with other 
assumptions about income.  
  
Councillor Johnson seconded the proposals.   
  
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY that: 
  

i)               the report be noted; 
  
ii)             the Council Tax base for the whole of the Borough area, for 2023/24 at 

70,250.20 as detailed in the Cabinet report and appendices be approved. This 
was an increase of 513.88 over the 2022/23 base, a 0.74% increase;  

  
iii)            the Council Tax collection rate of 99.5% for 2023/24 be noted; and 
  
iv)            an estimated deficit on the Council Tax Collection Fund in 2022/23 of 

£1.989m, of which the Council’s share is £1.58m be noted. 
 
2023/24 DRAFT REVENUE BUDGET  
 
Cabinet considered the proposed draft revenue budget for 2023/24 based on the current 
information available.  

Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council set out the budget consultation process including 
an opportunity for discussion at the Overview and Scrutiny budget challenge session, the 
public consultation, further meeting of Cabinet in February as well as a full debate at Council. 
He reiterated that the Local Government Financial Settlement was not anticipated until late in 
December which therefore meant that element of the draft balanced budget proposals were 
based on assumptions. He was proud to reflect that the Council was proposing a balanced 
budget with an accompanying low level of Council Tax. He regretfully acknowledged that 
residents would be asked to contribute a higher level of Council Tax for the reprioritised 
budget focusing on key areas such as Adult Social Care and Children’s Services. He stated 
that this needed to be benchmarked against rocketing financial pressures as the Council was 
not immune to the rising costs being experienced by residents including increasing fuel costs, 
inflation and borrowing costs as well as obligations to support asylum seeking children. He 
acknowledged it had not been an easy process to deliver the budget proposals.  
  

17



Councillor Hilton, Cabinet Member for Asset Management & Commercialisation, Finance & 
Ascot presented the Cabinet report reiterating that like other organisations local government 
was facing significant financial challenges such as high interest rates, inflation and additional 
uncertainty around funding levels. The Autumn Statement had confirmed that Council tax 
could be increased by up to 2.99% before a referendum was required and a further 2% for 
adult social care precept. He confirmed that it was proposed to increase Council Tax by those 
levels. He explained that a 4.99% increase for a Band D property would mean £58.09 
increase to £1223.11 which was still lower than others in Berkshire. He noted that precepts 
from the Police and Fire & Rescue Service would be added to this figure. He advised that for 
every 1% Council Tax was increased the Council would raise £831K. The budget had been 
set whilst pressures on services such as Adult Social Care, Children’s Services and housing 
were increasing. Recruitment challenges remained across services and the risk that some 
income budgets may not recover to pre-pandemic levels. The medium-term financial strategy 
was aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan for the period 2021-2026, “Building a borough of 
opportunity and innovation” which set out the Council’s overarching strategy and priorities.  
  
The budget proposals would be consulted on until February 2023. The outcome of the 
consultation would be fed back to Cabinet alongside analysis from engagement with other key 
stakeholders such as businesses and partner organisations.  
  
He explained that within the Cabinet report: 

·       Table three was the draft revenue Budget for 2023/24 
·       Table four set out Service Department growth above £0.100m 
·       Table five set out Service Department savings above £0.100m 
·       Individual budget growth requirements were shown in Appendix C  
·       Equality Impact Assessments were appended to the report at Appendix D to explore 

the impact of proposed changes 
  
Cabinet members were asked to note the EQiA on page 172, relating to savings proposal 
reference AHH30S, had not been taken forward but demonstrated how reliant local authorities 
were on central funding as such considerations may have been required to achieve a 
balanced budget. 
  
He explained that Table six listed fees and charges income which included both statutory and 
discretionary fees. 
  
Appendix B set out the detail of the Medium-Term Financial Plan which detailed the 
assumptions made. Including the allowed Council Tax and Adult Social Care precepts into the 
Medium-Term Financial Plan results in the savings previously reported at the July meeting 
reduced from £10.4m to £4.68m over the period 2023-24 to 2027-28.  
  
He concluded that the budget worked hard to maintain residents’ services whilst focusing 
efficiencies on back-office functions. Councillor Hilton moved the recommendations within the 
Cabinet report which were seconded by Councillor Johnson.  
  
Councillor Rayner congratulated the team involved in developing the proposals acknowledging 
the challenges of the financial context. She referenced a number of Council initiatives 
demonstrating support and protection of vulnerable residents including the ‘Cost of Living’ and 
‘Here to Help’ campaigns and Warm Places. She noted that the proposals included 3% pay 
increase for appreciated Council staff, £206K growth bid for the upcoming election, £114K for 
ICT to support business continuity as well as increases in income from the Registrars of £55K. 
She concluded by saying that it was clear that the Corporate Plan was integral to the budget 
setting process and encouraged residents to participate in the consultation. She quoted that 
50% of respondents to the Residents’ Survey believed that the Council offered value for 
money. 
  
Councillor Coppinger commented on the challenges facing Adult Social Care services and 
highlighted that Optalis would require £4m to stay balanced and deliver its services.  

18



  
Councillor Johnson concluded the discussion by advising that as there would be further 
opportunities for questions and debate on the proposals he would not be accepting questions 
or comment from non-Cabinet members.   
  
RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the draft budget that would be consulted on prior to 
final budget setting during February 2023 be agreed including: 
  

i)               the draft budget and revised Medium Term Financial Plan set out in 
Appendices A and B of the Cabinet report;  

  
ii)             proposed growth and budget pressures set out in Appendix C of the Cabinet 

report; and  
  
iii)            proposed savings set out in Appendix D of the Cabinet report. 

  
 
DRAFT CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2023/24 - 2025/26  
 
Cabinet considered the report detailing the draft capital programme for 2023/24 onwards 
including proposed new capital bids and planned expenditure for bids previously approved by 
Council. Together with the capital strategy and capital cashflow, it provided an overview of the 
Council’s proposed capital planning and expenditure.  
  
Councillor Hilton advised that the report set out the draft Capital Strategy and proposed capital 
programme for 2023/24 – 2025/26.  Once agreed the Council could confirm the implications 
on its future borrowing and the implications on its final revenue budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. He explained the programme was linked closely to two other strategies: 
the draft Treasury Management Strategy setting out how the Council would fund and afford its 
planned level of capital investment in 2023/24 and beyond and the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2023/24 – 2027/28 which sets out the Council’s revenue spending for the next fiscal 
year and indicative spending plans for 2024/25 – 2027/28. Both were reviewed by the Audit 
and Governance Committee in October.  
  
The draft Capital Strategy as set out in Appendix B provided a high-level overview of how 
capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the 
provision of services; along with an overview of how associated risk was managed and the 
implications for future financial sustainability.  It demonstrated how revenue, capital and 
balance sheet planning were fully integrated. The draft strategy was also reviewed by Audit 
and Governance Committee in October.  
  
He stated that the current volatile political and economic climate created a high level of 
uncertainty and had driven the high level of interest rates and increased borrowing costs. The 
Capital Review Board had met regularly to review the existing capital programme to ensure 
that unnecessary schemes were dropped and agreeing optimal financing arrangements on all 
schemes to reduce the pressure on the revenue budget.  
  
Councillor Hilton advised that with interest rates at 5% a £10m increase in capital expenditure 
would result in an increase in annual borrowing costs of £500,000 on the revenue budget so 
for 2023/24 the Council had focused on: 
•                fully funded schemes, where the cost of the scheme is fully or largely met by 

external funding. 
•                unavoidable capital investment – predominantly relating to immediate requirements 

to replace or enhance essential fixed assets for service delivery, such as IT assets for 
business continuity. 

  

19



Using this strategy, the Capital Programme was prioritised into four key areas: regeneration 
schemes, major strategic acquisitions, efficiency projects and operational schemes. These 
would be funded by:  
•           capital grants 
•           developer contributions in the form of s106 & CIL 
•           partner contributions, and  
•           capital receipts  
  
Table 3 set out the 2023/24 Capital programme in detail with sources of funding. The total 
draft Capital Programme for 2023/24 was currently £40,950,000, of which the largest share 
(£13,756,000) related to the ongoing cost of existing capital schemes. New capital investment 
amounts to £13,357,000 for fully funded schemes and £3,377,000 for corporately funded 
schemes.  The net cost of the 2023/24 programme to be funded from borrowing was currently 
£27,593,000. 
  
The overall three-year draft Capital Programme would increase expenditure by £62,838,000, 
of which the largest share of £47,518,000 related to schemes approved in previous years. The 
Capital cash flow information was detailed at Appendix E.  
Councillor Hilton concluded by reflecting that the £3,377,000 for corporately funded schemes 
was approximately £3m less than previous years and demonstrated how the Council had 
decided to manage its budget to keep interest costs down.  
  
Councillor Johnson, Leader of the Council seconded the report stating that it reflected the 
current economic climate and would be further discussed as part of the Overview and Scrutiny 
discussions being held on 14 December.   
  
UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the report be noted including: 
  

i)               the draft Capital Strategy 2023/24 – 2025/26 (as set out in Appendix B of the 
Cabinet report);  

  
ii)             the proposed new schemes (as set out in Appendix D of the Cabinet report); 

and  
  
iii)            the capital cash flow (as set out in Appendix E of the Cabinet report). 

  
 
 
The meeting, which began at 7.00 pm, finished at 8.22 pm 
 

CHAIRMAN………………………………. 
 

DATE……………………………….......... 
 

20



N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

FORWARD PLAN OF CABINET DECISIONS 
 

 
 
All enquiries, including representations, about any of the items listed below should be made in the first instance to Democratic Services, Town Hall, St 
Ives Road, Maidenhead. Email: democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk 
 

 
 

FORWARD PLAN 
 

ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below. 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER 
(to whom 

representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of 
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

Disabled Facilities 
Grant Policy 
 

Open -  
 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG’s) 
provide funding to 
improve 
accessibility and 
enable people to 
remain living 
independently in 
their own homes. 
This policy will set 
out the mandatory 
legal framework for 
DFGs, and how the 
Council intends to 
use its powers 
under the RRO to 
provide 
interventions to 
promote 
independent living 
and wellbeing. 

No Cabinet Member for 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime, 
and Public Protection 
(Councillor David 
Cannon), Cabinet 
Member for Digital 
Connectivity, Housing 
Opportunity, & Sport 
& Leisure (Councillor 
Ross McWilliams) 

 
Emma Congerton, 

Tracy Hendren 
 

Formal consultation 
with all partner 
agencies 

Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

Broadway Car Park 
- Nicholson Quarter 

Fully exempt - 
3 

To provide an 
update to Cabinet 

No Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 

 
Adele Taylor 

Internal process Cabinet 
26 Jan 

 

21

A
genda Item

 5



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Development 
update report 
 

 on the Council's 
land Interest in the 
Nicholson Quarter 
and the associated 
development 
obligations. 

Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 2023 

2023/24 School 
Condition Works 
Programme 
 

Open -  
 

This report 
proposes the 
schemes to be 
funded in 2023/24 
using the School 
Condition 
Allocation. This 
funding is used to 
maintain the sites 
and buildings of 
community and 
voluntary 
controlled schools. 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

Electric Vehicle 
Chargepoint 
Implementation 
Plan 
 

Open -  
 

Presents a plan for 
scaling up electric 
vehicle chargepoint 
provision in the 
borough, to keep 
ahead of growing 
consumer demand 
for electric vehicles 
and to help bring 
down carbon 
emissions. This 
final plan reflects 
the feedback from 
a public 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, 
Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

 
Chris Joyce 

 

Public consultation Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

22



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

consultation. The 
report seeks 
approval for the 
policies in the plan 
to be adopted, and 
the actions 
implemented. 
 

Finance Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest financial 
update 

No Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Adele Taylor 

 

Internal Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 
2023/24 
 

Open -  
 

To consider the 
outcome of the 
consultation into 
the proposed 
amendments to the 
Council Tax 
Reduction scheme 
for 2023/24. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Louise Freeth 

 

External 
consultation was 
undertaken via 
RBWM Together. 

Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

Land east of 
Woodlands Park 
Avenue and north 
of Woodlands 
Business Park, 
Maidenhead 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document 
 

Open -  
 

This report 
explains the 
adopted Borough 
Local Plan 
requirement for the 
preparation of 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Documents and 
summarises the 
process 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, 
Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

 
Ian Motuel 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

23



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

and outcomes 
specifically in 
relation to the 
Stakeholder 
Masterplan 
Document for 
Land east of 
Woodlands Park 
Avenue and north 
of Woodlands 
Business Park, 
Maidenhead. 

Corporate Plan 
Review 
 

Open -  
 

This report sets out 
a one year Review 
of the Corporate 
Plan, including new 
evidence on 
Inequalities in the 
borough, and 
revised Equality 
objectives. 

No Leader of the Council 
& Cabinet Member 
for Growth & 
Opportunity 
(Councillor Andrew 
Johnson) 

 
Rebecca Hatch 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

Allocations Policy 
 

Open -  
 

The allocation 
policy sets out our 
priorities for how 
social rented 
housing in The 
Royal Borough will 
be allocated, and 
the guidelines 
which determine 
entitlement and 
eligibility to that 
housing for people 

No Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Tracy Hendren 

 

Formal consultation 
with all partner 
agencies 

Cabinet 
26 Jan 
2023 

 

24



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

living in the 
borough. It also 
explains what help 
people can expect 
from us in meeting 
their housing 
needs and sets out 
the system and 
processes by 
which we make 
nominations for 
housing owned 
and managed by 
our partner 
registered 
providers. 

Budget 2023/24 
 

Open -  
 

To approve the 
budget to 
recommend to full 
Council 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Adele Taylor, 

Andrew Vallance 
 

External 
consultation 

Cabinet 9 
Feb 2023 

Council 
21 
February 
2023 

Award of Contract 
for Adult Social 
Care Case 
Management 
system 
 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

Report to Cabinet 
requesting 
approval to award 
contract for the 
supply of a case 
management 
system 

Yes Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal Cabinet 
23 Feb 
2023 

 

Special 
Educational Needs 
and Disabilities 
(SEND) and 

Open -  
 

This report 
provides a draft 
SEND and AP 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
23 Feb 
2023 

 

25



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Alternative 
Provision (AP) 
Capital Strategy 
 

Capital Strategy, 
following public 
consultation on a 
number of 
proposals to be 
included. 

Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

Determination of 
admission 
arrangements 
 

Open -  
 

To approve 
amended 
admission 
arrangements 

No Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

External 
consultation 

Cabinet 
23 Feb 
2023 

 

A Vision for 
Windsor 
 

Open -  
 

A review of current 
progress featuring 
end stage 
summary of vision 
statement 
engagement 
process. Potential 
options and 
recommendations 
for next steps will 
be 
presented and 
approval sought to 
proceed to next 
stage. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Andrew Durrant 

 

Public engagement 
through several 
workshops, drop-in 
sessions and public 
survey 

Cabinet 
23 Feb 
2023 

 

Contract for 
Parking 
Enforcement, 
Moving Traffic 
Enforcement, 
Environmental 
Enforcement and 

Fully exempt - 
3 
 

A report to set out 
future options for 
the contracts 
across the 
Borough. 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Crime, 
and Public Protection 
(Councillor David 
Cannon), Cabinet 
Member for Planning, 

 
Alysse Strachan 

 

Internal Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

26



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

Highways 
Enforcement 
 

Parking, Highways & 
Transport (Councillor 
Phil Haseler) 

Standards and 
Quality of 
Education in Royal 
Borough schools 
 

Open -  
 

Annual report on 
progress against 
the outcomes set 
by cabinet that 
highlights overall 
performance of all 
pupils in the 
academic year 
including the 
attainment of 
disadvantaged 
pupils 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

RBWM Sport and 
Leisure Strategy - 
Update and 
Refresh 2022-23 
 

Open -  
 

To present the draft 
updated Sport and 
Leisure Strategy for 
RBWM, following the 
work undertaken with a 
range of stakeholders 
to inform the refresh 
strategy.  
  

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Digital Connectivity, 
Housing Opportunity, 
& Sport & Leisure 
(Councillor Ross 
McWilliams) 

 
Andrew Durrant 

 

TBC Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

Finance Update 
 

Open -  
 

Latest finance 
update 

Yes Cabinet Member for 
Asset Management & 
Commercialisation, 
Finance, & Ascot 
(Councillor David 
Hilton) 

 
Andrew Vallance 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

Broadband Digital 
Lines 
 

Open -  
 

The Royal Borough 
of Windsor and 
Maidenhead 
(RBWM) is seeking 
to replace its site to 

Yes Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet 
Member for 
Business, Corporate 
& Residents 

 
Nikki Craig 

 

Internal process Cabinet 
30 Mar 
2023 

 

27



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

site broadband 
circuits and wide 
area network 
connections. 

Services, Culture & 
Heritage, & Windsor 
(Councillor Samantha 
Rayner) 

Home to School 
Transport Policy 
 

Open -  
 

To seek approval 
for consultation on 
the policy 

No Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet & Cabinet 
Member for 
Children's Services, 
Education, Health, 
Mental Health, & 
Transformation 
(Councillor Stuart 
Carroll) 

 
Kevin McDaniel 

 

External 
consultation 

Cabinet 
27 Apr 
2023 

 

 
 28



ITEM Private 
Meeting - 
contains 
exempt/ 

confidential 
information? 

See 
categories 

below 

Short Description Key 
Decision, 
Council 

or other? 

REPORTING 
MEMBER           (to 

whom 
representations 
should be made) 

REPORTING 
OFFICER / 

DIRECTOR          (to 
whom 

representations 
should be made) 

Consultation 
(please specify 

consultees, dates 
(to and from) and 

form of 
consultation), 

including other 
meetings. 

Date and 
name of 
meeting 

Date of             
Council 
decision 

(if 
required) 

 

N.B. All documents to be used by the decision maker to be listed in the report to Cabinet 

 
 
 
DESCRIPTIONS OF EXEMPT INFORMATION: ENGLAND 
 
1 Information relating to any individual. 
 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
 
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour 
relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 
 
5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 
 
6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes: 
(a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or 
(b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 
 
7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet Forward Plan - changes made since publication on 23.11.2022:  

Item Scheduled 
date 

New 
date Reason for change 

Housing Allocations Policy 01.12.22 26.01.23 Item deferred 

A Vision for Windsor  26.01.23 New item 

Corporate Plan Review  26.01.23 New item 

Land east of Woodlands Park 
Avenue and north of Woodlands 
Business Park, Maidenhead 
Stakeholder Masterplan Document 

 26.01.23 New item 

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
2023/24 - 26.01.23 New item 

    

 

 

31

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Biodiversity Action Plan 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Stimson, Cabinet Member for 
Climate Action and Sustainability 

Meeting and Date: 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant – Executive Director Place 
Services 
Chris Joyce – Head of Infrastructure 
Sustainability and Economic Growth 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Council declared an Environment and Climate emergency in 2019 and published 
its Environment and Climate Strategy in 2020. A key action within that strategy was 
the development of a Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) for the Borough.  
 
The Plan has been written by a Council ecologist with support of key community groups 
and the Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust. The draft BAP was 
shared with the community at a public engagement event in November 2021, through 
the Member’s Bulletin all Members received draft copies of the Plan in October 2021 
and February 2022 and a draft was presented to the Rural Forum in May 2022. 
 
It was the intention to adopt the Plan at Cabinet in June 2022 however it became clear 
that the Plan required further work was required. The Plan has since been reviewed 
and improved along with further with a new commitment to work with the Rural Forum 
to develop the action plan for improving biodiversity across farmland. 
 
The headline aim of the Plan is to provide 30% of land in the Borough as a space for 
nature by 2030. This is a target set by BBOWT and the Council is committed to playing 
its part in achieving this target and delivering against its Corporate Plan priority of 
improving the nature environment. The current baseline is 23.48%.   
 
The overarching vision for the Plan is to ‘To reverse the decline in our natural 
environment and through better data, partnerships and direct action to increase 
biodiversity across the borough’  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the Biodiversity Action Plan 2021-2026 
 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

 

33

Agenda Item 7



Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
The Biodiversity Action Plan is approved 
This is the recommended option 

This ensures the Council’s plays 
its part in BBOWT’s 30% of 
space for nature by 2030 

The Biodiversity Action Plan is not 
approved 

The Council would not deliver a 
key action in the Environment 
and Climate Strategy. 

The Biodiversity Action Plan is put out to 
further public consultation 

This would delay implementation 
and make it difficult to achieve 
the targets set out. 

 

  
2.1 The Council made a commitment to delivering a Biodiversity Action Plan in its 

Environment and Climate Strategy, published in 2020. This Plan delivers 
against that promise.   

2.2 In addition to the Environment and Climate Strategy, the Council’s Corporate 
Plan made clear that a key priority is improving the natural environment. The 
specific goal of increasing biodiversity across the borough, supporting the 
BBOWT vision for 30% of land for nature by 2030 is also included in the 
Corporate Plan. 

2.3 Initial work undertaken has identified that currently 23.48% of land could be 
categorised as for nature in the Borough. This is made up of; 

Designation Hectares 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest 1663 

Local Nature Reserves 186 

Wetlands (RAMSAR) 126 

Local Wildlife Sites 1610 

Farms in a stewardship scheme 953 

RBWM Owned Nature Reserves 110 

 

2.4 Once we start the engagement process, we expect to find this number is higher.  
Many farmers not in the stewardship scheme are planting trees, laying hedges, 
and setting aside areas for natures.  Similarly, but on a much smaller scale, 10% 
of our borough is made up of resident’s gardens, and work will begin to establish 
what percentage of those are set aside for nature. 

2.5 The Plan supports the local wildlife trusts aim and has been created 
collaboratively with key local community partners. This included regular bi-
weekly/monthly meetings to ensure input from the community at every stage of 

34



development. All actions included in the Plan were jointly identified and 
prioritised by the Council and local ‘Wild’ groups. BBOWT worked intensively 
with the Council in the latter stages of development to ensure the Plan 
supported their overall vision. Feedback from the Rural Forum has helped 
shape the final document with the aim of making it practical and inclusive.  

2.6 The Plan sets out an action plan for covering the next 4 years. Using the data 
that will be collected through that period, a new Plan can be created covering 
the period up until 2030.  

2.7 As part of the Environment Act 2021, the Council will be required to prepare and 
maintain a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS). The Plan will play an 
important role feeding into that Strategy and puts the Council in a strong position 
to move the LNRS forward. 

2.8 This Plan features the following Habitat Action Plans (HAPs) covering broad 
habitat types.  These were developed and agreed in partnership with our key 
stakeholders and community groups:  

• Woodland HAP  
• Grassland HAP  
• Farmland HAP  
• Waterways HAP  
• Standing Water HAP  
• Urban HAP 
 

2.9 Each Habitat Action Plan has been broken down into actions under each of 
three themes set out in the strategic framework.  

• Those related to data collection and evidence gathering.  
• Those with a direct benefit to biodiversity/nature conservation.  
• Those that relate to stakeholder engagement, relationship building or 

partnerships 
 

2.10 The HAPs provide a comprehensive list of practical actions to be undertaken to 
improve biodiversity in the Borough. Nearly half of all actions are related to 
stakeholder engagement, relationship buildings and partnerships recognising 
the need for the whole Borough to be involved and act. 

2.11 The HAP for farmland is unique in that it’s a commitment to creating an action 
plan for farmland in partnership with local farmers/landowners, utilising the Rural 
Forum to progress. 

 
2.12 The overarching vision for the Plan is ‘To reverse the decline in our natural 

environment and through better data, partnerships and direct action to increase 
biodiversity across the borough’  

 
2.13 The Plan recognises the need for the role of communications to significantly 

increase the understanding of biodiversity in the Borough and enable residents 
to act themselves. The Council will work to deliver effective communications to 
residents regularly with the intention of engaging the wider community. 

35



 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The headline target of the Plan will deliver on the Council’s specific Corporate 
goal to increase biodiversity across the borough, supporting the Berks, Bucks 
and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust vision for 30% of land to be designated and 
protected for nature by 2030. 

3.2 The Council is a major landowner in the Borough and already maintains a 
network of 23 wildlife areas across the Borough. There will be a need to look at 
other land owned by the Council such as parks and open spaces to ensure they 
deliver biodiversity improvements whilst still providing valuable amenity space. 

3.3 Although the Council has control over its own land, there will be a requirement, 
if we are to succeed, to engage and influence other partners to act. Without this, 
it will be difficult to achieve the biodiversity gains the Borough is targeting. 

3.4 The Council will track its progress against delivering the habitat actions plan and 
ensure all actions are delivered, in partnership where relevant, by the dates set 
out in the plan. 

3.5 Delivery of the Plan will play an important role in ensuring we deliver thriving 
communities and inspiring places for residents in the Borough. 

3.6 The Plan will also deliver on many of our objectives in the Environment and 
Climate Strategy. The Plan includes a section on monitoring and we will report 
on its progress annually as part of our wider monitoring report for the 
Environment and Climate Strategy. 

 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Increase 
biodiversity 
across the 
borough, 
supporting 
the Berks, 
Bucks and 
Oxfordshire 
Wildlife 
Trust vision 
for 30% of 
land to be 
designated 
and 
protected 
for nature 
by 2030. 

<30% of 
land for 
nature. 

30% of 
land for 
nature. 

>30% of 
land for 
nature. 

>30% of land 
for nature in 
advance of 
the date of 
delivery. 

31st 
December 
2030. 

36



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The financial and economic impact of not tackling the biodiversity crisis is likely 
to be far greater than the costs of implementing measures. We have recognised 
there will be a role to secure external funding to fund larger projects and will 
work to secure money when available. 

4.2 The Council recognised the need for an increase in the Officer’s available to 
deliver the ambitious plans set out in the Plan. A new Natural Environment Team 
based out of the Braywick Nature Centre has therefore been created to deliver 
the Biodiversity Action Plan. This team is currently funded from existing revenue 
budgets and no further increase is required. The team includes; 

Natural Environment Manager 

Natural Environment Officer 

Nature Reserves Ranger 

Education Manager (Groundwork South) 

4.3 Data collection makes up around 1/6 of the actions, 2/3 will have a direct benefit 
to biodiversity and half are related to community engagement. The larger team 
will enable delivery of actions which fall under the themes. 

4.4 The team also have a Natural Environment budget to deliver work across the 
Council’s many nature reserves and the wider Borough. This is again included 
in the existing budget and no increase is expected to be required. 
 

4.5 The Council will work closely with existing partners such as Groundwork South 
and community groups to deliver the BAP and will ensure it enables others to 
act by providing support and the loaning of equipment where required.   

4.6 The Plan will provide the Council a framework for biodiversity improvements and 
will enable the Council to identify projects for funding during future funding 
rounds. 

 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1  A Biodiversity Action Plan is not a statutory requirement. 

5.2  The Council does have responsibilities under the Environment Act 2021 as the 
responsible authority to prepare and maintain a Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy. Whilst this will be a separate piece of work, the Plan will support the 
creation and roll out of a future LNRS. 

5.3   The legal implications of projects will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

37



6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Stakeholders 
have a key role in 
supporting and 
delivering the 
strategy, without 
this support the 
delivery is at risk 

Medium Nearly half of all actions 
in the Plan are on 
engagement and 
partnership working. 
The Natural 
Environment Team will 
work closely with 
stakeholders 
throughout the delivery 
phase 

Low 

Delivery will 
require local 
landowners to 
play an important 
role to creating 
space for nature 

Medium The Natural 
Environment Team has 
been created to provide 
resources to enable 
pro-active engagement 

Low 

 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. Equality Impact Assessments are published on the council’s website. 
The negative impacts of the biodiversity crisis are likely to fall unequally and 
reinforce existing inequalities. The Plan looks to improve the natural 
environment in the Borough, providing access to nature for all residents. A full 
EQIA is not required at this stage. 

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The purpose of this Plan is to deliver biodiversity 
improvements in the Borough with the aim of ensuring 30% of land in the 
Borough is designated and protected for nature. This will have a significant 
impact in reversing biodiversity decline in the Borough. The Plan will improve 
the data available to the Council and partners to ensure future projects can be 
prioritised to maximise the biodiversity benefits. The habitats that have been 
included in the Plan, which will be a focus of the work are Woodlands, 
Grasslands, Farmland, Waterways, Standing Water and Urban. There are likely 
to be benefits to carbon sequestration which will have a direct impact on the 
climate crisis. 

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. Adopting the Plan will not have any associated data 
protection issues. 

 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The Plan has been jointly developed with local ‘Wild’ groups and regular bi-
weekly/monthly meetings were held with them throughout the Spring/Summer 

38

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/council-and-democracy/equalities-and-diversity/equality-impact-assessments


2021. A list of possible actions was created and these were jointly prioritised by 
the Council and the ‘Wilds’. These actions were used as the basis for the Habitat 
Action Plans.   

8.2 BBOWT were included throughout the development process and provided 
intensive feedback during Winter 2022 to ensure the document was ambitious 
but achievable. 

8.3 Two virtual public engagement sessions were organised to allow input from the 
wider community in November 2021. 

8.4 All Members were provided with a draft copy of the document, via the Members 
Bulletin newsletter, in October 2021 and February 2022 to enable them to 
provide comment and representation 

8.5 The Council presented the initial Biodiversity Action Plan to the Rural Forum in 
May 2022 and then again after the improvements were made in November 
2022. 

8.6 The Cabinet Member has engaged with a dozen farmers and landowners across 
the borough, Georgia Craig and Ben Gibbons of the National Farmers Union, 
Christopher Price of the Rare Breeds Survival Trust, and has also spoken to the 
Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, George Eustice 
about this issue.  

8.7 The Council’s Ecologist supported the Duke of Edinburgh Conservation 
Farming Awards scheme in 2022, visiting 6 farms in the Borough and judging 
the best environmental scheme.  

8.8 With food security issues high, and diesel and fertiliser prices having risen 
exponentially, farmers are under pressure. We have spoken about how we can 
all help each other and will continue this throughout the engagement of the 
biodiversity action plan. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages 
are set out in the Plan itself. 

 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Biodiversity Action Plan 
• Appendix B – EQIA Screening 

11. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

39



Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
10/11/2
2 

21/11/22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law and Governance 10/11/2
2 

16/11/22 

Head of Service     
Chris Joyce Head of Infrastructure, 

Sustainability and Economic 
Growth 

10/11/2
2 

16/11/22 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Climate 
Action and Sustainability 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key Decision 
 

No  No 

 
Biodiversity Action Plan Author: Rebecca Anderson, Ecologist 
Report Author: James Thorpe, Sustainability and Climate Change Lead 

 
 
 

40



 

1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

Biodiversity Action Plan 2022-26 
 

 

DRAFT 
 

  

41



 

2 
 

Foreword 

The Council declared a Climate and Environment Emergency in 2019, recognising that we 
need to take urgent action not just on carbon emissions but on the biodiversity crisis. I am 
therefore proud to be able to present this Biodiversity Action Plan for the Royal Borough. It 
has been developed in close collaboration with local conservation groups and the Berkshire, 
Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust. I am grateful for everyone’s time and input 
into the plan. 

The purpose of the biodiversity action plan is to create a robust set of steps that helps us 
reverse the decline in our natural environment and through better data, partnerships and 
direct action increase biodiversity across the borough. Its important that we build on the 
many fantastic initiatives going on already being led by residents, community groups, 
landowners and business. 

We know that residents in the Borough value its green open spaces and nature reserves. As 
a Council, we are proud of the work we have undertaken at Battlemead and Ockwells 
specifically, where we have created fantastic new nature reserves with habitats and space 
for nature to thrive. That being said, we know we have much more work to do and we have 
recently established a new Natural Environment Team to lead the Council’s delivery of our 
work across this area. 

At the Braywick Nature Centre we are already providing education sessions to over 1500 
children each year to connect them better with nature. We blend traditional outdoor 
education activities with new, innovative approaches such as using technology to create 
nature films. Much of this plan relies on engaging with residents, communities, landowners 
and public/private sector organisations. We will build on the work we are already undertaking 
at the Centre to engage all these areas and harness the passion and enthusiasm in the 
Borough for nature to deliver this plan. 

We are committed to the target set by central government, and supported by the Wildlife 
Trusts, to save 30% of land for nature by 2030. It is a tough challenge but one we believe is 
important to ensure that our residents can enjoy all the benefits of restoring local 
biodiversity. 

The recently passed Environment Act will support our action locally with policies such as the 
crucially important requirement for new developments to deliver at least 10% net gain in 
biodiversity and the requirement to bring forward a Local Nature Recovery Strategy. These 
national policies will give us the power, as a local authority, to ensure developments across 
the Borough make space for nature. 

We recognise there is no time to waste however crucial to delivery of the Plan is the 
commitment of all the stakeholders in the Borough. In our haste to deliver, we did not 
adequately consult with those that will be key to reversing biodiversity decline. We have 
therefore reviewed the document to make it more inclusive. We are confident that this short 
pause will contribute to the long-term success of delivering the Plan and achieving the 
outcomes we know so many residents want to see.  

Where possible will accelerate the delivery of this strategy where opportunities and 
resources allow.  We are looking forward to working with all parties in the Borough to get 
going and deliver this plan. 

Cllr. Donna Stimson 

Cabinet Member – Climate Action and Sustainability 

42



 

3 
 

Introduction 

 

What is biodiversity 

Biodiversity is the variety of life on earth in all its various forms. Biodiversity includes not only 
species we consider rare, threatened, or endangered but also every living thing—from 
humans to organisms we know little about, such as microbes, fungi, and invertebrates. Each 
of these species work together in ecosystems, to maintain balance and support life. No 
organism can exist in isolation and each contributes to the balance of nature and the survival 
of life on earth.  

Biodiversity supports everything in nature that we need to survive such as food and fuel 
production, regulation of flooding and climate change, maintaining and being maintained by 
soil and water quality, shelter and carbon storage. Biodiversity also provides a better living 
environment with health, recreational and inspirational benefits. 

We have many species of plants and animals in RBWM some of which are rare and 
important within the county. They may be important because they are nationally uncommon, 
but relatively abundant locally or may have a small population within the Borough.  

Many human activities have directly affected species and habitats; altered key ecosystems, 
and in many cases have led to extinctions both on a local and global scale. The key issues 
influencing the loss of biodiversity include habitat loss and fragmentation, pollution, 
increased development pressures and climate change. Conservation efforts are necessary 
to preserve biodiversity and protect species and habitats within the borough.  

The need for action 

At the 1992 Earth Summit in Rio the UK government, along with other countries signed the 
Convention on Biological Diversity. This is a commitment that all contracting parties shall 
“rehabilitate and restore degraded ecosystems and promote the recovery of threatened 
species through the development and implementation of plans or other strategies”. The UK’s 
strategy was the UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP), launched in 1994. Local Biodiversity 
Action Plans (LBAPs) followed, recognising that action for biodiversity conservation 
ultimately takes place at the local level. LBAPs identify priorities for action and give guidance 
on implementing targets to reverse the loss of habitats and species 

 

Habitats and species within the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, as in much of 
the UK, have suffered significant declines in recent years and many once common species 
are becoming increasingly rare. This has happened predominantly due to loss, damage and 
fragmentation of habitats from changes in land use and pollution. Although RBWM has large 
urbanised areas, it is also rich in biodiversity and contains habitats such as woodland, 
grassland, wetland and farmland, which provide excellent habitat for numerous rare and 
threatened species. However, without actions which will help protect and enhance the 
biodiversity, it will continue to decline and we may lose habitats and species that we 
currently have within the borough.  

The Lawton Report, Making Space for Nature (Lawton, 2010), summarised what needs to be 
done in England to halt and reverse biodiversity losses in four words: ‘more, bigger, better 
and joined’.  

43



 

4 
 

The Biodiversity Action Plan for the borough has been produced in order to achieve a 
borough richer in wildlife and covers both local and national concerns as well as contributing 
at an international level.  
 
The aim of the BAP is to provide guidance on the borough’s conservation priorities, how to 
achieve them and who should, and could, be involved. The BAP provides a baseline, 
objectives and targets for five years for each main habitat. The aim of the action plan is not 
to duplicate existing policies and strategies, but it will incorporate and reflect them in order to 
complement the existing work already being undertaken within the borough such as the 
Environment and Climate Strategy. The objectives and targets within the BAP will also help 
to achieve the council’s commitment to protecting and enhancing 30% of the land within the 
Borough by 2030.  
 

The benefits of action 

Supporting our natural environment will have a positive impact in tackling climate change.  
Nature based solutions are going to play a key role in helping to reduce carbon emissions 
and sequester carbon through new planting, tree cover and in our soils.  These solutions are 
also likely to have wider benefits to the environment helping to improve the quality of our air, 
water and soils helping to make a healthier environment for our communities. Having a 
thriving biosystem, with a biodiverse species landscape, is crucial to food production, with a 
rich wildlife ensuring we have sufficient insects to pollinate our crops. 
 
It has also become clear that our green spaces and nature play a key role in our health and 
wellbeing.  Access to green spaces to walk and cycle help to improve our physical health 
and promote a healthy lifestyle as well as physical activity like gardening.  Being in nature 
has proven to reduce feelings of stress and anger, improve mood and therefore can help to 
transform mental health.  Therefore, taking direct action and empowering others to take 
action will help to support healthy and vibrant communities. 
 
Legislation and Policy Context  

 
Local authorities have a key role to play in conserving the biodiversity of the county and 
RBWM are already engaged in a range of conservation activities within the borough. Local 
authorities have a statutory duty to consider biodiversity while undertaking all of their 
functions.   
 
This duty is set out in Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 
(NERC) 2006 and states ‘Every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have 
regard, so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, in the purpose of 
conserving biodiversity’.  The BAP fulfils part of the duty by setting out actions for 
biodiversity within RBWM and will continue to support projects which conserve and raise 
awareness of biodiversity.  
 
More recently the Prime Minister has signed the Leaders Pledge for Nature at the United 
Nations Summit for Biodiversity https://www.leaderspledgefornature.org/ which commits the 
UK to 'well-connected and effectively managed systems of Protected Areas'. In September 
2020 the Prime Minister announced that that by 2030 30% of UK land would be "protected to 
support the recovery of nature" https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-commits-to-
protect-30-of-uk-land-in-boostfor-biodiversity 

 

44

https://www.leaderspledgefornature.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-commits-to-protect-30-of-uk-land-in-boostfor-biodiversity
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/pm-commits-to-protect-30-of-uk-land-in-boostfor-biodiversity


 

5 
 

The recently approved Environment Act has placed additional responsibilities with Local 
Authorities to support the natural environment.   The overarching national approach for 
tackling the decline in the natural environment includes a new system of spatial strategies for 
nature covering the whole of England.  The aim of these Local Nature Recovery Strategies is 
to establish priorities and map proposals for specific actions to drive nature’s recovery and 
provide wider environmental benefits. 

 
Other legislation which relates to Local Biodiversity Action Plans are listed below; 

• Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulation 2010 
• Wildlife and Countryside Act, 1981, as amended 
• The National Planning Policy Framework 2012, 2019 and 2021 
• Biodiversity 2020: A strategy for England’s wildlife and ecosystem services  
• The Natural Environment White Paper 2011  
• ODPM Circular 06/2005. Biodiversity and Geological  
• Environment Act 

 
There are a number of other policies and documents that are linked to the Biodiversity Action 
Plan which include: 

• RBWM Borough Local Plan (2019-2033)  
• RBWM Neighbourhood Plans Ascot & the Sunnings; Hurley & the Walthams; Horton 

& Wraysbury; Old Windsor; Eton & Eton Wick; Windsor 
• RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy (2020-2025) 
• Dark Skies strategy 
• GCN District Level Licensing Scheme 
• RBWM Landscape Character Assessment Pts. 1 and 2 (2004) 
• RBWM Open Space Study and Audit (2008) 
• RBWM Tree and Woodland Strategy  
• Wild Maidenhead BAP: Initial Scoping Document (2016), Maidenhead’s Nature 

Matters (2016), Local Biodiversity Action Plan Summary (2019) 
• Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document 

(SPD) (2018) 
• RBWM Green and Blue Infrastructure Report (2019) 
• RBWM Open Space Study (2019) 

Sites of importance within the Borough 

1,975ha of the Borough is covered by an ecological designation, including 126ha Ramsar, 
1663ha. SSSI and 186ha. Local Nature Reserve. The total coverage equates to almost 10% 
of the Borough. 
 
There are a number of internationally important sites designated through the European 
Union (Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas) and by international 
convention (Wetlands of International Importance or Ramsar sites) within the borough. SACs 
provide increased protection to a variety of wild animals, plants and habitats and are a vital 
part of global efforts to conserve the world's biodiversity. SPAs are areas that have been 
identified as being of international importance for the breeding, feeding, wintering or the 
migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds, while Ramsar sites are those that are of 
international importance as wetlands. These sites have been designated by the UK 
government or statutory bodies such as Natural England. Listed below are the five 
internationally designated sites within and neighbouring the Borough.  
 

• Chiltern Beechwoods SAC 

45



 

6 
 

• Windsor Forest and Great Park SAC 
• Thursley, Ash , Pirbright and Chobham SAC 
• Thames Basin Heaths SPA 
• South West London Waterbodies SPA and Ramsar 

 

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSIs) are designated by Natural England as the very 
best wildlife and geological sites in the country. Within the borough there are a total of 11 
sites that have been designated as SSSI’s, details of which are provided in the following 
table. 
 
Name of SSSI Size (ha) 
Bisham Woods 86 
Bray Meadows 6.6 
Bray Pennyroyal Field 3.5 
Cannoncourt Farm Pit 0.3 
Chobham Common 655.7 
Cock Marsh 18.3 
Englemere Pond 26.1 
Great Thrift Wood 14.2 
Windsor Forest and Great Park 1778.9 
Wraysbury and Hythe End Gravel Pits 117.2 
Wraysbury No 1 Gravel Pit 58 

 
Local Nature Reserves are a ‘statutory designation made under Section 21 of the National 
Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949’. A LNR is defined as a place with wildlife or 
geological features that is of special interest locally. There are nine local nature reserves in 
the Borough, which are listed below. 
 

• −− Bisham Woods LNR; 
• −− Park Woods / Gouldings Wood LNR; 
• −− Bradnam Wood LNR; 
• −− Carpenter’s Wood LNR; 
• −− The Gullet LNR; 
• −− Braywick Park LNR; 
• −− Ockwells Park LNR; 
• −− Sutherland Grange LNR; and 
• −− Arthur Jacob LNR. 

There are also a number of locally designated sites within the borough. Local Wildlife sites 
are non-statutory sites of significant value for the conservation of wildlife. They protect 
threatened habitats, which in turn protects the species making use of them. Sites are 
identified by the Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC), which collects, 
collates and makes available information on wildlife and geological sites in Berkshire. Local 
Wildlife Sites do not have the same level of protection in planning as statutory designated 
sites, yet are more vulnerable to inappropriate management, neglect and being impacted by 
development. These are reviewed and monitored on a rolling basis to report on their 
condition and status for national monitoring purposes, with advice provided to improve their 
management and enhance their value. There are a total 84 LWS’s within the Borough. When 
last assessed (2021), a total of 33 Local Wildlife Sites in RBWM (39%) were deemed to be in 
positive conservation management. The proportion of sites in positive conservation 
management in RBWM is ranked sixth in the county and is 25% lower than the Berkshire 
average of 64%. 
 

46

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Cannoncourt_Farm_Pit
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wraysbury_and_Hythe_End_Gravel_Pits
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Wraysbury_No_1_Gravel_Pit


 

7 
 

There are a number of Biodiversity Opportunity Areas within the Borough. These BOA’s do 
not represent a statutory designation or a constraint upon activities. Instead, they indicate 
areas that are considered to be the most important for biodiversity in the area and where 
there are substantial opportunities to make positive changes for biodiversity. BOAs identify 
where the greatest opportunities for habitat creation and restoration lie, enabling the efficient 
focusing of resources to where they will have the greatest positive conservation impact. 

 
Structure of the document 

The remainder of the document is structured as follows: 

• Chapter 2: Strategic approach sets out the over-arching vision and approach 
adopted in the Biodiversity Action Plan.  It explains the rationale for this approach 
and the key outcomes. 

• Chapter 3: Habitat action plans sets out the proposed set of priority actions for the 
next five years, split by the type of habitat and the types of action. 

• Chapter 4: Monitoring and delivery sets out how the plan will be delivered and 
monitored. 

Strategic approach 

 
The Biodiversity Action Plan is the key pillar of the natural environment theme of our 
Environment and Climate Strategy, which seeks to protect and enhance the natural 
environment, green our towns and urban areas and increase awareness of biodiversity.  
Therefore, the overarching approach is based on those objectives.  The overarching vision 
for our Biodiversity Action Plan is: 
 
‘To reverse the decline in our natural environment and through better data, partnerships and 
direct action to increase biodiversity across the borough’ 
 
In support of this, we will work with the other Berkshire Authorities to support the Berkshire, 
Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust (BBOWT) ‘Wilder’ target to have 30% of 
land for nature by 2030.   We will also support the national commitment that has been 
made to well-connected and effectively managed systems of Protected Areas which are 
protected to support the recovery of nature.  
 
The Council has identified approximately 4648 hectares (23.48% of the Borough) that could 
currently be designated as a space for nature. This is made up of; 

• Sites of Special Scientific Interest – 1663 hectares 
• Local Nature Reserves – 186 hectares 
• Wetlands (RAMSAR designtated) – 126 hectares 
• Local Wildlife Sites – 1610 hectares 
• Farms in a stewardship scheme – 953 hectares 
• Council owned nature sites – 110 hectares 

 
 
 
Strategic Framework 

We recognise that the vision is ambitious and will require action across a wide range of 
stakeholders.  It will also require targeted and prioritised action, which will require a stronger 
evidence base to support our work moving forward.  Therefore, we have set out three 
themes for action: 

47



 

8 
 

 
Better data: we recognise that to monitor and measure the success of the BAP, we need to 
have better quality of data.  It will also support better evidence and allow us to prioritise 
future action to make sure the proposals in future plans will have the greatest benefit in 
achieving our aims. 
 
Stronger partnerships: the ambitious vision and targets of the plan will only be delivered 
through partnerships.  This will include engagement with key landowners, farmers, delivery 
partners and community groups.  We will also work to deliver better communication, 
education and awareness of biodiversity in line with our objectives. 
 
Direct action to improve biodiversity: either through the council, farmers, partners 
organisations or community groups we will deliver a series of projects that will improve our 
priority habitats and support our species. 
 
Areas of focus 

This Biodiversity Action Plan features the following Habitat Action Plans (HAPs) covering 
broad habitat types.  These were developed and agreed in partnership with our key 
stakeholders and community groups: 

1. Woodland HAP 
2. Grassland HAP 
3. Farmland HAP 
4. Waterways HAP 
5. Standing Water HAP 
6. Urban HAP 

Not all habitats and species within RBWM have been included within the Biodiversity Action 
Plan, as this would be unrealistic working within the available resources.  Rather, we have 
identified a number of key habitats and species which will provide a focus for the work within 
the BAP. The habitats and in turn associated species have been chosen because they fulfil 
at least two of the following criteria: 

• Species which have viable/significant populations within RBWM 
• Habitats which are widespread across the Borough. 
• Species or habitats which can be influenced by RBWM (through site management, 

development, projects, statutory duties, partnership or engagement). 
• Species or habitats which are rapidly declining through Britain and/or RBWM and are 

therefore a conservation priority. 
• Flagship species which are highly characteristic to RBWM and popular with the 

general public. 
• Indicator species which reflect the state of an environment and/or indicate the 

diversity of other species within an area. 

Each Habitat Action Plan has been broken down into actions under each of three themes set 
out in the strategic framework. 

• Those related to data collection and evidence gathering. 
• Those with a direct benefit to biodiversity/nature conservation. 
• Those that relate to stakeholder engagement, relationship building or 

partnerships 
Each HAP includes actions to survey and improve the ecological quality of existing protected 
sites. 

48



 

9 
 

 
Carbon Sequestration 

For major natural environmental projects that are likely to have a significant carbon 
sequestration impact, a desktop-based assessment will be undertaken prior to project 
implementation to calculate how much carbon is estimated to be sequestrated. If there are 
opportunities to increase the amount, whilst also delivering the primary objectives of the 
project then they will be explored. 

 
Communication 

Beyond specific Community Engagement and Partnership actions for each HAP, the 
successful delivery of this plan depends on significantly increasing understanding of 
biodiversity in the Borough amongst residents, businesses, farmers, landowners and civil 
society groups. The positives of the wild things and wild places we already have, and the 
negatives of what we have lost, need to be widely communicated as part of the Council’s 
day to day communications with residents, and in a special programme of key messages 
(see General Themes below). This will be supported by a senior level commitment within the 
Council to create and deliver an effective communications programme that supports 
individual actions and gives a clear expression of the overall aims of the BAP and the need 
for the community as a whole to engage in it. 

Resourcing and Delivery 

In the Council’s recently adopted Corporate Plan covering 2021-26, action to tackle climate 
change and improve the natural environment is listed as one of the Council’s top 3 priorities. 
The Council has recruited two new staff to work on increasing and supporting biodiversity, in 
a Natural Environment team. The Natural Environment Team is taking overall responsibility 
for delivering the Council’s responsibilities in this plan and they will continue to draw in 
support from other colleagues from across the Council including Ecologists, Planners and 
Tree specialists. There is also a key role for enforcement at the council. We will ensure that 
biodiversity enhancements at development sites are implemented, and Tree Replacement 
Notices are complied with.  
In addition, we will continue to invest in our partnership with Groundwork South who jointly 
run the Braywick Nature Centre with the Council. This relationship has delivered huge 
benefits to the natural environment in the Borough over recent years delivering both on the 
ground conservation management but important environmental education for thousands of 
young people from local schools and community groups. 

In 2021/22, the Council allocated £80,000 for natural environmental capital works which 
combined with external funding secured delivered; 

• New interpretation signage at Braywick Nature Reserve and Battlemead,  
• Pond enhancements,  
• Signposted nature trials at Braywick Nature Reserve 
• Large replanting of Kidwells Park to improve habitat for pollinators 
• Planting of 8000 trees at Ockwells 

Whilst the Council will continue to invest and improve biodiversity across its estate as well as 
using other tools at its disposal to influence the wider community, we recognise that we need 
to work more collaboratively across the Borough and include as many people as possible. 

49



 

10 
 

The Climate Partnership, which the Council has committed £250,000 annually, to ensure the 
secretariat function is well resourced, will have a key role in delivering natural environment 
improvements across the Borough. Funding will be needed to achieve the targets described 
in the Habitat Actions Plans and General Themes below. The Climate Partnership will 
include businesses, academics, landowners, community groups and residents and this will 
enable it to oversee the breadth and depth of issues arising from 30% by 2030 within the 
Borough.  

The Council will work with volunteers and local groups to access funding opportunities. 
These may be national schemes run by corporates, Lottery funding, Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funds, the council capital bids, planning obligations (section 106 
agreements) or other funding resources. The Biodiversity Action Plan will help to raise 
awareness of the value of biodiversity interventions that may benefit from additional funding. 

  

50



 

11 
 

Habitat Action Plans 

 

Woodland Habitat Action Plan 

Woodlands are one of the UK’s richest wildlife habitats. Woodlands are important for most 
forms of wildlife, including trees, shrubs, fungi, lichens, mammals, birds and invertebrates. 
They contain large numbers of species as well as provide important habitat for rare and 
threatened native species. The woodlands within RBWM include both areas of ancient 
woodlands such as Windsor Forest and Great Park and Bisham woods and newly planted 
woodland areas such as those at Ockwells Park. The multi-functional value of woodlands is 
well understood and they provide both direct value such as timber production and recreation 
but also indirect value such as flood management, reduction in air pollution, health benefits, 
climate change mitigation and urban cooling.  

Some woodland habitats within RBWM comprise priority habitats which include the following: 

• Lowland beech and yew woodland  
• Lowland mixed deciduous woodland   
• Wet woodland 
• Wood-pasture and parkland  
• Traditional orchards 
• Hedgerows 

Sub habitats 

Within RBWM, we have large areas of woodland and this woodland HAP will include the 
following sub habitats: 

• Ancient Woodland 
• Veteran Trees 
• Lowland Mixed Deciduous Woodland  
• Wet Woodland  
• Wood Pasture and Parkland  
• Hedgerows  
• Orchards  
• Non- priority habitat woodland.  

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with woodland habitats and the following species/ groups 
of species have been chosen to represent woodland habitat which either have a stronghold 
within RBWM, are nationally, regionally or locally declining or are flagship species.  

Noctule Bat - Our largest bat, this species roosts within tree cavities and forages over 
woodland and rides. Noctule bats are protected under European and UK legislation and are 
a priority species. Although widespread in the UK currently, their roosting habitat is under 
threat from habitat loss and fragmentation.  

Dormice - Dormice are a priority species and are in current decline due to habitat loss. 
There are no known records of dormice within RBWM, however, our neighbouring Boroughs 
have strongholds of dormice and therefore they may have spread within RBWM boundaries.  

51



 

12 
 

Lesser spotted woodpecker - The lesser spotted woodpecker is the smallest and least 
common of the three woodpeckers that are resident in Britain. Their population is estimated 
to have fallen by 83% since 1970, with no more than 2,000 pairs thought to be left in the UK. 
The key factor in the decline of this species is thought to be loss of ancient and mature 
woodland as well as the removal of rotting and dead wood.  

Stag Beetle – The UK’s largest beetle. It is a nationally declining species, although there is 
a stronghold within the Thames Basin in which Windsor and Maidenhead fall. They require 
rotting dead wood as habitat and therefore the loss of this habitat, particularly within 
woodlands, has caused their decline in numbers.  

Butterflies – It is thought that 76% of the entire butterfly population has declined over the 
last 40 years and numerous butterfly species are associated with woodland habitat found 
within RBWM including the speckled wood and silver-washed Fritillary. There are 59 
butterflies on the British list, of which more than half have been recorded in the Royal 
Borough.  

Bluebell – Bluebells are a native species that grow in woodlands and are protected under 
UK Law. Although still common in the UK/ the borough, they are threatened by habitat 
destruction, such as the loss of hedgerows, scrub and woodlands. 

Current status  

The UK is one of the least wooded countries in Europe with the area of woodland 
estimated at 3.23 million hectares representing 13% of the total land area in the UK and 
10% in England (Forestry Statistics published by Forestry Commission, 2013). However, 
woodlands represent the greatest area of priority habitat in Berkshire and within the Borough 
woodland and their sub habitats cover an area of approximately 6580ha which equates to 
about 33% of the entire borough land. Ancient woodland, which is defined as land that has 
been continuously wooded since 1600 and is deemed irreplaceable, represents 6.22% of the 
woodland within the borough and should be protected from development and other external 
pressures.  

The following table shows the woodland types within the borough and the areas and 
percentage of the borough they cover.  

Woodland type Area (ha) Percentage of borough 
Ancient Woodland 1229.95 6.19 
Woodland: Broadleaved 0.19 0.00 
Woodland: Broadleaved 
Plantation 401.03 2.02 

Woodland: Broadleaved 
Semi Natural 1565.77 7.89 

Woodland: Coniferous 
Plantation 127.65 0.64 

Woodland: Coniferous Semi 
Natural 3.25 0.02 

Woodland: Mixed Plantation 249.47 1.26 
Woodland: Mixed Semi 
Natural 7.50 0.04 

Lowland Mixed Deciduous 
Woodland 1461.98 7.37 

Lowland Beech and Yew 
Woodland 138.69 0.70 

52



 

13 
 

Woodland type Area (ha) Percentage of borough 
Wet Woodland 45.46 0.23 
Traditional Orchard 39.52 0.20 
Wood Pasture and Parkland 1413.22 7.12 
Parkland and Scattered 
Trees 27.46 0.14 

Parkland and Scattered 
Trees: Broadleaved 15.84 0.08 

Recently Felled 
Woodland:Broadleaved 0.00 0.00 

 

Threats to woodland habitat 

There are numerous threats to woodland habitats within the borough, which include the 
following:  

Fragmentation of habitat - the isolation of woodlands leaves them unable to sustain 
populations of woodland species. This is caused by development or clearance for other land 
uses.  

Inappropriate management – the lack of active woodland management due to depleted 
funding and resources , poor timing of forestry operations and the use of herbicides and 
fertilisers on woodland margins and edge habitats.  

Impact of Invasive species – the spread of invasive species such as rhododendron and 
laurel has caused degradation to many of our woodland flora.  

Loss of areas of wet woodland - due to drainage and change of management. 

Removal of standing dead wood -  the removal of deadwood for health and safety reasons 

Increasing deer population - deer browsing within woodlands has resulted in the damage 
of regenerating and newly planted trees and can impact the woodland structure.  

Inappropriate recreational activity – due to increasing public access, trampling of ground 
flora, vandalism, dog faeces and rubbish dumping.  

Pests and diseases – such as ash dieback and oak processionary moth  

Climate change-  this could result in changes in vegetation communities and put certain 
species at risk 

Loss of traditional management practises - such as coppicing and pollarding 

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

Woodland and sub habitats are 33% of the borough and the largest proportion of habitat. 
Therefore managing woodland habitats must be a top priority for the BAP if we are to restore 
them to the quality needed to achieve 30% for nature by 2030 and reverse the decline in the 
natural environment. The woodland HAP should result in a greater understanding of the 
woodlands that we have within the Borough, protect and provide better management for 
existing woodlands with regards to biodiversity and increase the area of woodland, trees and 
hedgerows through planting. The following table sets out the objectives and targets for the 
first five years of the plan.  

 

53



 

14 
 

Woodland Case Study (wildlife corridor creation)  

Location: Ockwells & Thriftwood Park, Maidenhead 

Ockwells & Thriftwood Park is a 42-hectare public open space which includes a Local Nature 
Reserve and a Local Wildlife Area. Much of the park is former arable fields and pasture with 
habitats including flood meadows, woodlands, hedgerows, wetlands, and scrub margins. An 
opportunity arose through funding from Network Rail to create a new woodland corridor 
connecting three separate priority habitat woodlands - Great Thriftwood (SSSI Ancient 
Woodland on adjacent farmland), Little Thriftwood (Ancient Woodland), and Shortmead Copse 
(mixed broad leaf woodland). RBWM charity partner Groundwork South secured the funding 
and with the RBWM Natural Environment Team engaged with the local community and 
corporate volunteers to plant 20,000 whips (30-60cm bare root trees) to create the woodland 
corridor over three consecutive winters (2019 to winter 2022). Volunteer groups included Wild 
Maidenhead, Windsor & Maidenhead Conservation Volunteers, The Conservation Volunteers, 
DEFRA, Thames Water, Volvo, Good Gym, IBM, Mars Wriggly. A mosaic approach has been 
taken to establish the corridor with methods of planted whips, locally gathered acorns, and 
natural regeneration. Deer protection methods (fencing and plastic guards) have been utilised 
to reduce the impact of predation on the young trees. An ongoing ‘tree care’ scheme is in 
place to ensure the maximum survival rate of the planted whips and to monitor the ongoing 
challenges such as deer predation, disease, and climate change factors such as flooding and 
drought.     

 

54



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understand the distribution of 
Priority Habitat woodland and the 
species they support 

Survey 25% of woodland LWS in five years 
to inform priority habitat distribution and 
condition 
 
Find out whether RBWM have dormice 
within the Borough by surveying 30 
accessible woodlands, starting with the 
ones closest to the boundaries of the 
borough where dormice have been 
recorded 
 
Map survey findings on RBWM GIS and 
data share with TVERC and local 
recorders. 
  
Engage with Mammal society and BCA 
with regards to existing data 
 
Undertake bat surveys in 30 woodlands to 
increase our knowledge of woodland bat 
species and distribution within the borough 
 

TVERC 
 
 
 
RBWM 
Wild Group 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
RBWM 
Wild Groups 

RBWM, 
Farmers, 
Landowners 
 
Volunteers 
Mammal Society 
 
 
 
 
TVERC 
 
 
Mammal Society 
BCA 
 
South Bucks 
and Berks Bat 
Group 
TVERC 

2025 
 
 
 
2025 
 
 
 
 
 
2025 
 
 
2023 
 
 
ongoing 

Understand the distribution of 
Priority Habitat hedgerows  

Undertake an annual programme of 
hedgerow surveys, surveying 5km per year 
 
Add to RBWM GIS layer and send data to 
TVERC and I record 

RBWM 
 

Wild groups 
Volunteers 
Farmers 
Landowners 

2024 

55



 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understand the distribution of 
veteran/ancient trees  

Promote the surveying, recording and 
monitoring of all veteran/ancient trees in 
the Borough 
 
Encourage landowners to register ancient 
trees at: https://ati.woodlandtrust.org.uk/.  
 
Allocate TPO’s where necessary 

RBWM Landowners 
Farmers 

2025 

Identify opportunities to enhance 
the biodiversity value  
of existing woodlands and create 
new woodland 

Undertake woodland surveys to identify 20 
woodlands for biodiversity improvement 
 
Identify five woodland LWS with potential 
to be extended 

RBWM  
 
RBWM 

Volunteers 
 
TVERC 

2024 
 
 
2023 

Achieve 30 by 30 Identify how targets will have contributed to 
30 by 30 by 2025 and how much additional 
woodland and hedgerow would need to be 
created by 2030. Estimate carbon 
sequestered. 
 
Start to identify opportunities to create or 
enhance additional woodland and 
hedgerows to contribute towards 30 by 30 
and, where practicable, start 
creation/enhancement work  

RBWM 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Landowners 
Farmers 

2023 
 
 
 
 
2025 

 

 

 

 

56

https://ati.woodlandtrust.org.uk/


 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Maintain and increase the area of 
priority habitat woodland in good 
condition in the Borough 

Design and start to implement new 
management regimes to improve the 
condition and carbon sequestration of 20 
existing woodlands   
 
Maintain all SSSI woodland in favourable 
condition 
 
Ensure 30% of LWS woodland in positive 
management 

RBWM 
 
 
 
 
NE 
 
 
RBWM 

Landowners 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
TVERC 
Wilds Groups 

2025 
 
 
 
 
2025 

Increase the area of other 
woodland in the Borough 

Increase the number of trees by 15,000 via 
natural regeneration and augmented when 
necessary via planting. 

RBWM Wild groups 
Volunteers 
Farmers 

2025 

Increase the length of hedgerow 
in the Borough 

Plant 5km of native hedgerows in the 
Borough, with prioritisation to areas where 
hedgerows have been previously removed. 

RBWM Wilds groups 
Volunteers 
Farmers 

2025 

Increase the opportunities for 
invertebrates 

All council owned woodlands to have at 
least 2 deadwood piles partially buried.  

RBWM Wild groups 
Volunteers 

2024 

Invasive species management Ensure that all council owned woodlands 
are positively managing invasive plant 
species and stopping the spread of the 
species  

RBWM Volunteers Ongoing each year  

 

 

 

 

 

57



 

 

Community Engagement and partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Encourage the creation and 
enhancement of biodiverse 
woodlands and hedgerows 

Encourage 50 landowners in the Borough 
to create woodland and/ or plant trees and 
hedgerows on their land and manage them 
for biodiversity resulting in new woodland, 
tree cover and hedgerow.  
 
Provide best practice guidelines to other 
landowners, including private individuals 
and organisations, schools and other 
public bodies. 
 
Engage with LWS landowners to 
encourage tree planting to extend existing 
LWS/Priority Habitat woodlands by 5ha 

RBWM 
 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 

Landowners 
Farmers 
National Trust 
Wild Groups 
 
 
NE, BBOWT  
 
 
 
 
Landowners 
Wilds groups 

2025 
 
 
 
 
 
From 2022 
 
 
 
 
From 2022 

Invasive species management Providing education to other woodland 
owners within the borough with regards to 
invasive plant species management in 
woodland 

RBWM  2025 

 

58



 

 

Grassland Habitat Action Plan 

Grasslands cover a large area of the UK and although they are dominated by grass cover, 
they can also contain lots of other plants species. Grasslands provide vital habitats to a 
range of native species including invertebrates, reptiles, amphibians and small mammals 
some of which are rare and threatened species within the UK. Not only do grasslands 
provide habitat for wildlife, but provide opportunities for education and recreation, involving 
the local communities in projects and provide enormous potential for locking up carbon 
through the plants associated within grassland habitats and also the fungi and bacteria 
associated within the soil.  

Some grassland within RBWM comprise priority habitats which include the following 

• Coastal and Floodplain Grazing Marsh  
• Lowland Meadows  
• Lowland Dry Acid Grassland  

Numerous UK BAP Priority species associated with grassland habitats occur in the Borough, 
including: Great crested newt, reptiles, small mammals and invertebrate species. 

Sub habitats 

Within RBWM, we have large variety of grassland habitats. This grassland habitat Action 
Plan will include the following sub habitats: 

• Roadside verges 
• Grazing marsh  
• Meadows 
• Outdoor sports grounds 
• Railway and Motorway/ A road embankments 

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with grassland habitats within the borough and the 
following species/ groups of species have been chosen to represent grassland habitat which 
either have a stronghold within RBWM, are nationally and regionally declining or are flagship 
species.  

Glow Worm – Glow worms are fairly common across the UK but there have been some 
declines over the last 10 years, mainly due to changes in land use and habitat, uses of 
pesticides and light pollution. There are a small number of sites within the borough that glow 
worms are still found including Cookham.  

Barn Owl – A nationally protected and amber listed species, barn owl numbers have 
steadily declined since 1990. Barn owl nesting occupancy in 2020 was 8.5% less than the 
average of all previous years (Barn owl Trust, 2020). They require tussocky grassland to 
provide mammal prey and undisturbed nest sites in buildings or tree cavities.  

Reptiles - British reptiles are protected under UK Law and are listed as priority species. 
Reptiles are found in a range of places, including grasslands. There are six species of 
reptiles in the UK, four of which are known to reside within the borough (adder, slow worm, 
grass snake and common lizard).  

Pennyroyal – this plant species is protected  under Schedule 8 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act, 1981, as amended and is a priority species. It is considered endangered 

59



 

 

within the UK. It is a priority species and is protected in several SSSI’s including Pennyroyal 
Field in Maidenhead.  

Invertebrates, including bees and butterflies – Wild bees including solitary and bumble 
bees are facing a serious decline within the UK due to habitat loss, pesticide use and climate 
change. This is also the same for other invertebrates such as moths, butterflies and wasps. 
All these species provide essential roles within the environment with many food crops 
depending on these pollinators, many of which rely on grassland for food sources.  

Current Status 

In England there are around 4.5 million hectares of grassland which covers many different 
types. Many species rich grasslands have been lost in the past 20 years due to lack of 
appropriate management. RBWM own and manage some of our larger grassland habitats 
including Allen’s Field, which is one of our Suitable Alternative Natural Greenspaces 
(SANG), Sutherland Grange LWS, and Battlemead Common. These sites are not only 
managed for wildlife but also provide benefits for people and their quality of life.  

In RBWM, grassland habitats constitute an estimated 5788 ha of the borough, approximately 
29%, with the following grasslands recorded (TVERC, 2020).  

Grassland type Area (ha) Percentage of borough 
Marsh: Marshy Grassland 3.68 0.02 
Poor Semi Improved 
Grassland 172.91 0.87 

Lowland Calcareous 
Grassland 27.33 0.14 

Calcareous Grassland: 
Semi Improved 0.74 0.00 

Calcareous Grassland: 
Unimproved 27.33 0.14 

Lowland Dry Acid Grassland 94.48 0.48 
Acid Grassland: Semi 
Improved 107.05 0.54 

Acid Grassland: 
Unimproved 81.47 0.41 

Dry Heath Acid Grassland 3.10 0.02 
Lowland Meadows 86.16 0.43 
Improved Grassland 4621.62 23.29 
Neutral Grassland 2.79 0.01 
Neutral Grassland: Semi 
Improved 530.80 2.68 

Neutral Grassland: 
Unimproved 26.24 0.13 

"Possible Priority Grassland 
Habitat" 1.40 0.01 

 

Threats  

The grassland areas within RBWM are under threat due to the following reasons: 

Lack of management – this leads to scrub encroachment and invasion of coarse grasses 
which out compete wildflower species. 

60



 

 

Inappropriate management – over-mowing which causes floristic changes and improving 
soils with nutrients.  

Overgrazing - particularly by cattle and horses which results in trampling and poaching and 
can become invaded by species such as ragwort, dock and thistles 

Development pressures – this will result in the loss of species rich grassland habitats and 
fragmentation of this habitat.  

Air pollution – including nitrate deposition. 

Increased recreational use – which includes trampling of vegetation and disturbance to 
wildlife 

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

Grassland is the second largest habitat (29%) in the borough and so offers great 
opportunities for reversing the decline in our natural environment. The grassland HAP should 
result in a greater understanding of the habitat that we have within the Borough, protect and 
provide better management for existing grassland with regards to biodiversity and improve 
the condition of our grassland. The following table sets out the objectives and targets for the 
first five years of the plan.  

Grassland Case Study (conservation grazing) 

Location: Battlemead Common, Cookham 

Battlemead Common is a 45-hectare public open space located to the east of Lower Cookham 
Road in the north of Maidenhead in Berkshire. The site is bordered to the east by the River 
Thames, to the west by Lower Cookham Road with pasture beyond, to the north by White 
Place Farm and to the south by commercial and residential development. The site comprises 
of semi-improved grassland, woodland, wetland habitats, and tall ruderal vegetation. The 
White Brook also passes through the centre of the site. Two of the fields (North & East) are 
designated as priority habitat grazing marsh by Natural England.  

North and East Field were previously grazed by cattle which kept the grass sward short and 
were also grazed by geese and other waterfowl during the winter months.  Cattle grazing 
stopped shortly after RBWM purchased the land in 2018 and the grassland became tall and 
dense during the growing season reducing its botanical diversity and value to foraging 
waterfowl later in the year. A plan was put in place by the RBWM Natural Environment Team 
and ecologists to restore the grazing marsh with the reintroduction of around 30 cattle in total 
located across both North and East Field. In the autumn the cows are removed from the fields 
to prevent overgrazing and sheep are introduced and remain through the winter months until 
spring when they are removed, and the fields left to grow before being cut and the hay in the 
summer months before the cattle are reintroduced. Summer 2022 will be the first year of the 
reintroduction of cattle and the success of the new grazing regime will be based on regular 
botanical surveys.   

 

61



 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understand the distribution of 
Priority Habitat grasslands and 
the species they support 

Survey 25% of grassland LWS in five years 
to inform priority habitat distribution, 
condition and carbon sequestration 
 
Survey at least 20 sites for each of the 
associated species in five years to better 
understand their distribution 

TVERC 
 
 
 
Wild groups 

RBWM 
 
 
 
RBWM, BBOWT 

2025 
 
 
 
2025 

Identify opportunities to increase 
the distribution of Priority Habitat 
grassland 

Survey at least 5ha of potential priority 
habitat grassland sites with the aim to 
propose new LWS 
 
Identify 10% of other grassland (from direct 
benefit to biodiversity table below) creation 
or enhancement that can be managed to 
develop into priority habitat 

RBWM 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Wild groups, 
TVERC 
 
 
RBWM, 
Developers 
Farmers 
Landowners 

2025 
 
 
 
2023 

Identify opportunities to enhance 
the biodiversity value and carbon 
Sequestration of existing 
grasslands 

Review management plans for all RBWM 
owned grasslands to optimise opportunities 
for wildlife (to include recreational areas, 
roadside verges and roundabouts) and 
estimate sequestered carbon. 

RBWM 
 

 Update management 
plans by 2024 
 

Achieve 30 by 30 Identify how targets will have contributed to 
30 by 30 by 2025 and how much additional 
grassland would need to be created by 
2030 

RBWM  2022 

 

 

 

 

62



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Increase the area of priority 
habitat grassland in the Borough 

Encourage 50% of LWS grassland in 
positive management  
 
 
Maintain all SSSI grassland in favourable 
or favourable recovering condition with at 
least 40% in favourable condition. 

RBWM 
 
 
 
NE 
 

TVERC 
BBOWT 
Farmers 
 
RBWM 
Landowners 
 

2025 
 
 
2025 
 

Increase the area of other 
grasslands managed for 
biodiversity 
 

Positively manage 5km of roadside verge 
and roundabout grasslands  
 
Provide best practice guidance for RBWM 
grassland areas 
 
New developments to create 20 ha 
biodiverse grasslands 

RBWM 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
RBWM 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Developers 

2025 
 
 
Provide best practice 
guidelines by 2025 
 
2025 

 

Community Engagement and partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Encourage the creation and 
enhancement of biodiverse 
grasslands 

Engage with the National Trust to look at 
increasing the land owned by them for 
biodiversity by 10% 
 
Provide best practice guidelines to other 
landowners, including private individuals 
and organisations, schools, farmers and 
other public bodies. 

RBWM 
 
 
RBWM 

National Trust 
Wild Groups 
 
NE,  
BBOWT 
Landowners 
Farmers 

2025 
 
 
From 2022 

 

63



 

 

 

64



 

 

Farmland Habitat Action Plan 

The area of farmland within England is approximately 9.34 million hectares, about 70% of 
the land area of the England. There are large areas of agricultural land across RBWM 
including both pasture and arable. Much of the wildlife interest in arable areas is now found 
at the field margins with many arable weeds now among our rarest plants.  

Farmland habitats within RBWM comprise priority habitats which include the following 

• Arable field margins 
• Ponds 
• Hedgerows 

Numerous protected species and UK BAP Priority species associated with farmland habitats 
occur in the Borough, including a number of bird species (skylark and lapwing), reptiles and 
invertebrates.  

Sub habitats  

Within RBWM, we have large areas of farmland. This HAP will include the following sub 
habitats: 

• Field margins 
• Boundary hedgerows 
• Set aside 
• Winter stubble 
• Cropland 
• Pasture/ grazing land 

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with farmland habitats and the following species/ groups 
of species have been chosen to represent the farmland habitats within the borough, which 
either have a stronghold within RBWM, are nationally and regionally declining or are flagship 
species.  

Barn Owl – A nationally protected and amber listed species, barn owl numbers have 
steadily declined since 1990. Barn owl nesting occupancy in 2020 was 8.5% less than the 
average of all previous years (Barn owl Trust, 2020). They require tussocky grassland to 
provide mammal prey and undisturbed nest sites in buildings or tree cavities.  

Skylark – Skylarks are in the red list as a bird of conservation concerns. In recent times the 
Skylark population has plummeted so that today the population is about one-third what it 
was 30 years ago..  

Yellowhammer – The Yellowhammer is a priority species and is a red listed bird species of 
conservation concern. The yellowhammer population has declined over the last 40 years 
and it is thought that main factor in their decline is low overwinter survival. 

Swallows - Swallows are widespread and common birds of farmland and open pasture near 
water. Although their numbers in the UK have fluctuated over the last 30 years they are still 
a regular visitor within the borough. 

Invertebrates, including bees and butterflies – Wild bees including solitary and bumble 
bees are facing a serious decline.. This is also the same for other invertebrates such as 

65



 

 

beetles, moths, butterflies and wasps. All these species provide essential roles within the 
environment with many food crops depending on these pollinators.   

Current Status 

The agricultural area currently in the UK is approximately 9.09 million hectares, which is 
about 70% of the land area of the England (DEFRA 2019). This includes land for cereals and 
grassland for cattle, pigs, sheep and other farm animals. Based on DEFRA Agricultural 
census 2010, the area of farmed land in Berkshire is 64,188ha.  

In RBWM, the total estimated area of farmland habitat has been mapped using available 
datasets (TVERC, 2021) and include the following: 

Farmland type Area (ha) Percentage of 
borough 

Cultivated Disturbed Land 4.46 0.02 
Cultivated Disturbed Land: Amenity 
Grassland 727.83 3.67 

Cultivated Disturbed Land: Arable 4347.32 21.91 
Cultivated Disturbed Land: 
Ephemeral Short Perennial 6.95 0.04 

Ponds 1.44 0.01 
 

Threats  

Farmland habitats within RBWM are under threat due to the following reasons: 

Reduction in rotation of cereal crops and other land covers - which includes including 
grass leys and fallows.  

Regular recreation – increase of horse riders within farmland field margins.  

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

Farmland covers 26% of the borough, the third largest habitat area after woodland and 
grassland. Therefore, partnerships with landowners and farmers will be critical to reversing 
the decline in our natural environment. The farmland HAP is unique in that it only includes 
one action which is to create, in partnership with the Rural Forum and other stakeholders, a 
habitat action plan. The Council recognises the expertise that farms have across the 
Borough and wants to utilise this to create a HAP which is collaborative and inclusive.  

Farmland Case Study (wildflower field margins)  

Location: Paley Street Farm, White Waltham  

The initial project began over 30 years ago with a margin next to an arable field against a 
hedge row. Using stale seed bed techniques (green hay spread), a strip was cultivated 
approximately 3 metres wide next to the hedgerow and planted with a clay soil mixture of 
wildflower seeds and Sheep’s Fescue nurse grass in October 1989. Seeds were hand sown 
at 2g per metre (approximately) into a fine firm level seed bed. The mixture included species 
such as Oxeye Daisy, Ribwort Plantain, Red and White Campion, Ragged Robin, Lady’s 
Bedstraw, Cowslip, Yellow Rattle, Birds foot Trefoil, Vetches, Wild Carrot, Black Knapweed. 
In time Pyramidal Orchids and Grass Vetchling colonised the margins.  

66



 

 

A mowing program was implemented the following Spring to control mainly annual weeds 
which would otherwise swamp the emerging wildflowers. The flowering period is normally over 
by mid-September and the margins are cut and cleared using a hay mower and baler. The 
seeds return to the ground whilst the bulk of the material is removed to prevent mulch matting 
and fertility build up. Ragwort is removed during the season. Great care is taken not to traffic 
farm machinery on the strips and to keep fertiliser and sprays from the margins. The margins 
provide a valuable buffer zone for the hedgerow and have evolved over the last 30 years with 
huge numbers of Pyramidal Orchids appearing recently. Many butterflies, moths, bees, insects 
and other wildlife can be observed during the growing period and the margins provide seeds 
as feed for birds later in the year. Community volunteers from the Wild Maidenhead group 
carried out a moth survey in 2018 whereby over 100 moth species were identified. 

67



 

 

Community Engagement and Partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Develop a Habitat Action Plan for 
Farmland  

Working with members of the Rural Forum 
and local farmers/landowners, a Habitat 
Action Plan covering Farmland will be 
developed utilising the extensive 
knowledge of the local farming community 
to implement environmental best practice 

RBWM 
Rural Forum 

Other 
stakeholders (to 
be identified) 

2023 

 

68



 

 

Waterways 

Waterways are dynamic and varied habitats and are for invaluable wildlife habitats in the 
Borough.  

The River Thames is one of the country’s largest and most important rivers although there 
are several other waterways including Local Wildlife sites (LWS) such as the Greenway LWS 
and York Stream LWS which run not only through rural areas but also very built up areas 
including the centre of Maidenhead. Waterways, either in their own right or in association 
with other habitats, are a vital nature conservation and wildlife resource for the borough. 
Marginal and bankside vegetation is also an integral part of the river habitat and acts as an 
important migration corridor 

A significant proportion of our rivers, streams and other water courses are under threat. 
Protecting and improving our watercourses is an important part of achieving sustainable 
development and is vital for the long term health and well being of the residents within the 
borough.  

Waterways can not only provide economic importance through food and drinking resources, 
tourism and recreational opportunities, but can provide important wildlife habitats and 
provide important wildlife routes and stepping stones for a number of species within the 
borough as well as significant potential for carbon sequestration. 

Some waterways habitats within RBWM comprise priority habitats which include the 
following 

• Rivers 
• Reedbeds 

Sub habitats  

Within RBWM, we have a number of waterways. This waterways HAP will include the 
following sub habitats: 

• Rivers 
• Streams  
• Canals 
• Ditches 

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with waterways and the following species/ groups of 
species have been chosen to represent the waterway habitats within the borough, which 
either have a stronghold within RBWM, are nationally and regionally declining or are flagship 
species.  

Brown trout – this species is a freshwater fish and resides within the borough’s waterways. 
Although it is widespread within the UK, the species is listed as a priority species and is 
thought to be threatened due to over fishing, habitat loss, pollution and climate change.  

Water vole – water voles are protected under UK legislation and are a priority species. 
Water vole populations nationally are continually declining due to factors  such as loss of 
riverside habitats, development, increased pollution and predation.  

Kingfisher – kingfishers are found along the watercourses within the borough and nest in 
earth banks along the rivers and streams. They are an amber listed bird of conservation 

69



 

 

concern and have declined in numbers due to factors such as human disturbance, increased 
development, pollution increased predation and lack of food due to invasive species.  

Loddon Lily – this plant species thrives within Berkshire and is found along the Thames 
path between Oxford and Maidenhead. The species has been recorded in a few places 
within the borough and is threatened due to increasing pollution and human disturbance.  

Aquatic invertebrates – there are a huge number of invertebrates that require habitat within 
the waterways to survive. Their presence is the standard indicator of the health of the habitat 
they live in and supporting the food chain. However, many of our aquatic invertebrates are 
declining in the face of pollution, invasive species, abstraction and development. 

Current status 

There are about 90,000 km of rivers in UK, and they are found in all parts of the country. 
Within RBWM, the River Thames, which is the largest river in UK, flows through the borough 
for 25 miles. In addition the Jubilee River, which is a seven-mile-long man-made flood 
channel, forms part of the Maidenhead, Windsor and Eton flood alleviation scheme, has 
been constructed to reduce the flooding risk to approximately 3000 local properties.  

In RBWM, the total estimated area of waterway habitat has been mapped using available 
datasets (TVERC, 2021) and include the following: 

Waterways type Area (ha) Percentage of 
borough 

Running Water 1.89 0.01 
Running Water: Eutrophic 101.69 0.51 
Rivers 1.87 0.01 
Reedbeds 0.55 0.00 

 

Threats  

Waterways within RBWM are under threat due to the following reasons: 

Declining water quality and increasing pollution - due to nutrient enrichment through 
runoff, leaching and sewerage overflow or spills.  

Inappropriate management – river dredging, re-sectioning and the lack of management of 
bankside  

Over development – the increase in flood lighting and lighting along rivers can have a 
detrimental effect on nocturnal wildlife including birds and bats. 

Climate change – which can cause enormous fluctuations in water levels. 

Increased recreational use – which includes trampling of vegetation and disturbance to 
wildlife 

Inappropriate Land drainage and management practices- these can adversely affect 
water quality and river flows 

Impact of Invasive species – the spread of invasive species such as Himalayan Balsam 
and New Zealand Pygmy weed has caused degradation to the borough’s waterways and the 
increase in American mink and signal crayfish has caused the population of our native 
species to decline due to predation and competition for food resources.  

70



 

 

Man-made barriers - Barriers in the form of weirs, locks and flood defence structures alter 
the natural flow and sediment regime of the river and prevent fish migration 

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

The waterways HAP should result in a greater understanding of the habitats that we have 
within the Borough, protect and provide better management for the existing waterways with 
regards to biodiversity and improve their condition. The following table sets out the 
objectives and targets for the first five years of the plan.  

 

Waterways Case Study (invasive species control)  

Location: Sutherland Grange Local Nature Reserve, Windsor 

Sutherland Grange is a 3.17- hectare Local Nature Reserve (LNR) situated just beyond the 
northern edges of Dedworth, a western suburb of Windsor. The site is bound to the south by 
the A308 road, to the north by a tributary of the River Thames, to the west by gardens/urban 
landscaping, and to the east by recreational amenity grassland. The site itself primarily 
comprises semi-improved neutral grassland, which has been subject to restoration over recent 
years, and is cut for hay each year. Dense scrub and hedgerows are present at the edges of 
the grassland, and a strip of riparian habitat with associated broadleaved woodland is situated 
along the River Thames at the northern site boundary.  

Himalayan Balsam, a non-native invasive plant, is present along the riparian habitat and is 
listed on Schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act in England and Wales therefore, it is 
also an offence to plant or otherwise cause to grow these species in the wild. Commonly found 
along riverbanks and streams, around ponds and lakes, in wet woodlands and in ditches and 
damp meadows. It’s the largest annual plant in Britain, growing up to 2.5m high from seed in 
a single season. Himalayan balsam spreads quickly as it can project its seeds up to four 
metres. Many seeds drop into the water and contaminate land and riverbanks downstream, 
but the explosive nature of its seed release means it can spread upstream and forms dense 
thickets, altering the ecological balance and character of wetland habitats. It produces a lot of 
pollen over a prolonged season and is attractive to pollinating insects. There is concern that 
its presence may therefore result in decreased pollination for other native plants. 

 

71



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understand the distribution of 
Priority Habitat rivers and 
reedbed and the species they 
support 

Survey 30% of river/reedbed LWS in five 
years to inform priority habitat distribution 
and condition 

TVERC 
 
 

RBWM 
Farmers 
Landowners 
 
 

2025 
 
 

Ascertaining waterway 
quality/condition to better 
understand our baseline and 
strategically plan for biodiversity 
net gain in the future. 

Monitor the water quality for PO4 and NO3 
in all main waterways in RBWM 
 
 
Annual participation in Thames WaterBlitz 
 
Outreach to National Riverfly Monitoring 
Scheme and investigate opportunities for 
joint working  
 
Work with the Riverfly project to secure 
and train new volunteers and implement an 
effective 5 year survey program/strategy to 
cover our waterways. 

RBWM 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 
RBWM 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Wilds groups 
Volunteers 
Environment 
Agency 
 
 
Wilds Groups 
Volunteers 

Annually from 2022 
 
 
 
 
2025 

Understand the distribution of 
Kingfishers in the Borough 

Outreach to BTO/RSPB/local bird 
groups/recorders in order to obtain data to 
identify where Kingfishers use and nest 
along our waterways. 
 
Map all known kingfisher nest sites on 
waterways within the borough, map on 
RBWM GIS system and provide all the 
data regarding kingfisher to TVERC 

RBWM BTO 
RSPB 
Local recorders 

2025 

72



 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understanding the status of 
water vole populations  

Obtain data from local groups to identify 
where water voles are present along our 
waterways. 
 
Conduct water vole and habitat condition 
surveys to fill in gaps in data. 
  
Identify stretches of suitable degraded 
riparian habitat where habitat 
enhancements such as suitable vegetation 
planting/bank re-profiling etc could be 
made to join up existing habitat.  
  
Make efforts to secure permission from 
EA/landowners/Canal and River Trust 
(and, where possible, resource) to 
undertake habitat enhancement 
works/planting along river banks (start 
these works as soon as this secured).  
  

RBWM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Local recorders 
Volunteers 
Wilds Groups 
TVERC 
 
 
 
Farmers 
Landowners 

2026 

Achieve 30 by 30 Identify how targets will have contributed to 
30 by 30 by 2025 and how much additional 
waterway habitat would need to be 
created/enhanced by 2030 

RBWM  2022 

 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Objective Target Responsibility Target date 

73



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
 
Lead Partner 

Enhance the biodiversity value of 
existing waterways 

Encourage 50% of LWS waterways in 
positive management 
 
Produce a management plan for 
waterways north of Maidenhead that 
ensures 2km is enhanced/maintained for 
biodiversity  
 
Improve 3 km of waterway bankside 
vegetation habitat for wildlife by making 
improvements e.g. for access, nesting, 
flora for target species 

RBWM 
 
 
RBWM  
 
 
 
RBWM 

TVERC  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Wilds Groups 
Volunteers 

2025 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2024 

Manage/eradicate INNS along 
our waterways 

Undertake INNS removal along 5km of 
waterways 

RBWM  2025/ ongoing 

 

 

Community Engagement and Partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Manage/eradicate INNS along 
our waterways 

Form partnership with landowners/National 
Trust/Wildlife Trusts/EA/Rivers and Canal 
Trust to form an INNS taskforce to identify 
presence of non-native invasive plant 
species and devise/implement effective 
control/eradication programs where 
possible. 

RBWM Volunteers 2026 

74



 

 

Community Engagement and Partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

 
Form partnerships with other councils and 
EA with regards to mink control 

Increase our baseline data, 
engage with the public, network 
and build partnerships with local 
experts and recorders in order to 
increase awareness/knowledge 
of riparian and associated 
habitats 

Organise and run/participate in existing 
bioblitz events along our waterways 

RBWM Volunteers 
Wilds Groups 
Local Recorders 
Thames21 
Thames Water 

Every year from 2022 

Encourage the creation and 
enhancement of biodiverse 
waterways 

Provide best practice guidelines to other 
landowners, including private individuals 
and organisations, schools and other 
public bodies. 

RBWM NE, BBOWT From 2022 
80% of landowners by 
2025 

 

 

 

 

75



 

 

Standing water 

The standing water action plan relates to still or very slow flowing open water habitats 
including ponds, lakes and seasonal flushes. Within the borough there are oligotrophic 
(nutrient poor) mesotrophic (moderately nutrient rich) and eutrophic (nutrient rich) areas of 
standing water. Both eutrophic and mesotrophic waters can be very diverse, each with its 
own range of common and less common species. Standing water areas also have immense 
value for communities providing access to water for recreational, educational and nature 
conservation activities. The ponds and lakes within the borough are used for fishing, boating, 
socialising, education and nature conservation.  

The HAP will help to maintain the current range, extent and diversity of wildlife rich ponds 
and lakes throughout the area and encourage the sympathetic management of them and 
their adjacent habitat. In addition, it will seek to provide additional ecologically beneficial 
standing water within the borough through the creation of new wetland areas.  

Some standing water habitats within RBWM comprise priority habitats which include the 
following 

• Eutrophic standing waters 
• Mesotrophic lakes 
• Ponds 
• Reedbeds, which overlap with the waterways HAP.  

 

Numerous protected species and UK BAP Priority species associated with standing water 
habitats occur in the Borough, including great crested newts, amphibians, birds and 
invertebrates.  

Sub habitats  

Within RBWM, we have a number of standing water habitats. This HAP will include the 
following sub habitats: 

• Ponds 
• Lakes 
• Reedbeds 
• Marginal vegetation 

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with standing water habitats and the following species/ 
groups of species have been chosen to represent the standing water habitats within the 
borough, which either have a stronghold within RBWM, are nationally and regionally 
declining or are flagship species.  

Toads – Toads are a priority species due to recent declines within the UK. RBWM has one 
of the largest urban toad populations in the south of England. The two largest toad 
migrations are at Ray Mill Road East in Maidenhead and Strand Lane in Cookham. Toads 
require suitable large areas of standing water for breeding and surrounding terrestrial habitat 
for hibernation.  

Great crested newt – a species that is protected under European and national legislation 
and is a priority species. The UK's populations of the great crested newt are internationally 
important. Great crested newts usually require standing water as breeding habitat, need 

76



 

 

aquatic vegetation to lay their eggs and suitable terrestrial habitat surrounding the waterbody 
for foraging and hibernating.  

Water rail – water rail live in reedbeds and freshwater wetland areas and are secretive and 
rarely seen. There are approximately 1,100 nesting pairs in the UK and have been seen 
within the borough at sites such as Battlemead and Ockwells Park.  

Aquatic invertebrates – there are a huge number of invertebrates that require habitat within 
the waterways to survive. Their presence is the standard indicator of the health of the habitat 
they live in. However, many of our aquatic invertebrates are declining in the face of pollution, 
invasive species, abstraction and development. 

Current Status 

Berkshire supports an estimated 1525ha of lakes and 40ha of reedbed. There are also a 
large number of ponds and ditches within Berkshire, both within public spaces and private 
gardens, although it has not been possible to measure the exact extent of these habitats 
through mapping given the extent and small sizes of some of these areas. 

In RBWM, the total estimated area of standing water habitat has been mapped using 
available datasets (TVERC, 2021) and include the following: 

Waterways type Area (ha) Percentage of 
borough 

Reedbeds 0.55 0.00 
Standing Water: Eutrophic 605.18 3.05 
Standing Water: Mesotrophic 0.00 0.00 
Ponds 1.39 0.01 

 

Threats  

Standing water habitats within RBWM are under threat due to the following reasons: 

Declining water quality and increasing pollution - due to nutrient enrichment through 
runoff and leaching.  

Lack of management –this can cause the gradual loss of open water through siltation, 
expansion of marginal vegetation and build up of plant material.  

Lack of control of invasive species - Invasive and non-native garden plant and fish 
species can seriously affect indigenous flora and fauna 

Climate change – which can cause enormous fluctuations in water levels. 

Drainage and agricultural infilling of ponds – this results in the reduction in water bodies 
and habitat isolation.  

Overstocking of fish – this can cause the reduction of native species such as amphibians 
and aquatic invertebrates.  

Increased recreational use – which includes trampling of vegetation and disturbance to 
wildlife 

 

 

77



 

 

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

The standing water HAP should result in a greater understanding of the habitats that we 
have within the Borough, protect and provide better management for the existing standing 
water habitats with regards to biodiversity and improve their condition. The following table 
sets out the objectives and targets for the first five years of the plan.  

 

Standing Water Case Study (wet woodland pond creation) 

Location: Allen’s Field LWS, South Ascot 

Located in South Ascot, Allen’s Field covers 9.5 hectares and is owned by the Sunninghill Fuel 
Allotment Trust. The site is designated as a Suitable Alternative Natural Green Space (SANG 
– a wildlife mitigation scheme for developments around the Thames Basin Heaths) with areas 
of priority habitat Wet Woodland designated as a Local Wildlife Area. Since 2009 the site has 
been managed by the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead in partnership with Sunninghill 
and Ascot Parish Council. 

Until the early 20th century the site was part of a large marshy wooded area known as 
Sunninghill bog. In the mid-20th century, the central part of the site was used as a household 
refuse tip, this was capped off in the 1960s, and the site became a public open space in the 
late 1970s. The site was named after George Allen who was once clerk to Windsor Rural 
District Council, and his wife was clerk to the Parish Council and to the Fuel Allotment Trust. 

Allen’s Field is home to a range of birds, insects, mammals and fungi and the woodlands are 
especially valuable for wildlife - wet woodland and lowland mixed deciduous woodland are UK 
BAP Priority Habitats. The recently created woodland pond was planned and dug by 
community volunteer group ‘Wildlife In Ascot’ with oversight from the RBWM Natural 
Environment Team in winter 2021. The pond has been fenced with natural materials gathered 
on site to discourage dog access. No aquatic plants have been introduced and the pond 
ecology has been allowed to naturalise.  Depending on rainfall and ground water conditions 
the pond is likely to be ephemeral in nature but will benefit invertebrates and amphibians 
throughout the year. There are plans to extend and increase the number of ponds with some 
extension work to the existing pond already carried out in 2022. Ongoing maintenance and 
monitoring will be done primarily by Wildlife in Ascot volunteers in partnership with rangers 
from the RBWN Natural Environment Team. 

 

78



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Understand the distribution of 
standing water Priority Habitats 
and the species they support 

Survey 50% of LWS that contain standing 
water in five years to inform priority habitat 
distribution and condition 
 
Conduct aquatic 
invertebrate/amphibian/great crested newt 
and water rail surveys on all council-owned 
ponds and at least two other ponds per 
year 

TVERC 
 
 
 
Wild groups 

RBWM 
 
 
 
RBWM, BBOWT 

2025 
 
 
 
2025 

Improve our knowledge and 
baseline records of the condition 
of our ponds and the species 
they currently support.  Use this 
to inform future management 
decisions 

Hold 3 pond-dipping events for schools, 
youth groups, and the general public per 
year 

RBWM Volunteers 2022 and ongoing 

Achieve 30 by 30 Identify how targets will have contributed to 
30 by 30 by 2025 and how much additional 
standing water habitat would need to be 
created/enhanced by 2030 

RBWM  2022 

 

 

79



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Increase numbers of wildlife 
ponds within the borough for the 
benefit of all wildlife including 
GCN, toads, and aquatic inverts 

Secure 2 new wildlife ponds per year as 
net gain agreements through planning.   

RBWM  On going 

Secure new ponds with reedbeds 
for use by water rail and other 
nesting birds. 

Use planning application responses to 
secure 0.5ha of reedbed planting and other 
biodiversity enhancements for all suitable 
SUDs ponds  
 
Engage with EA regarding new wetland 
habitat 

RBWM  On going 

Improve existing appropriate 
ponds/lakes for use by water 
vole. 

Improve/increase marginal vegetation in 5 
suitable lakes/ponds  
 

RBWM BBOWT 
 

2025 

Prevent and reverse degradation 
of our waterbodies from INNS. 

Ensure an effective INNS 
control/eradication program on all 
waterbodies 

RBWM Riparian 
landowners 
 
Volunteers 

2025 

 

 

 

 

80



 

 

Community Engagement and Partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Increase numbers of wildlife 
ponds within the borough for the 
benefit of all wildlife including 
GCN, toads, and aquatic inverts 

Collaborate with new GCN District 
Licensing Officer and 
landowners/developers to identify and 
secure new opportunities for pond creation 
within the borough.  

RBWM Naturespace 
Partnership 
Farmers 
Landowners 

Start 2022 and 
ongoing 

Improve existing appropriate 
ponds/lakes for use by water 
vole. 

Collaborate with partner organisations to 
identify lakes/ponds with water vole 
populations and/or potential to support 
water vole.  

RBWM TVERC 
BBOWT 
Local Recorders  

2025 

Encourage the creation and 
enhancement of biodiverse 
standing water 

Provide best practice guidelines to other 
landowners, including private individuals 
and organisations, schools and other 
public bodies. 

RBWM NE, BBOWT From 2022 

 

 

81



 

 

Urban Habitat Action Plan 

Urban areas are found across the UK and are expanding due to the increased pressure for 
housing numbers. The Urban Habitat Action Plan covers habitats occurring within towns or 
villages in RBWM. Not only will this Habitat Action Plan cover larger settlements within the 
Borough such as Maidenhead, Windsor, Ascot and Wraysbury, but smaller villages such as 
Holyport, Cookham and Datchet. Urban areas are often considered as being less important 
for biodiversity than the more rural environments. However, urban environments can provide 
important habitats for a range of plants and animals as well as providing ecosystem services 
for local residents, such as mental and physical health and well being, provision of food and 
clean water, reduction of pollution and flood amelioration. Features such as roads and 
railways connect the majority of the man-made structures within the borough but can also 
provide important connectivity for wildlife.  

New developments can have a significant effect on wildlife and on the ability of people to 
experience and enjoy nature and therefore it is important that this be recognised, protected 
and enhanced.  

The biggest opportunity for enhancing biodiversity and creating new habitat in urban areas is 
by ‘urban greening’. This can be through the creation of green roofs, green walls, providing 
artificial nest and roosting sites for birds and bats or through the incorporation of Sustainable 
Urban Drainage systems (SUDS).  

Sub Habitats 

Certain habitats are unique to, or typical of, the urban environment and it is these that this 
section of the plan will focus on. The following sub habitats are or can be valuable for 
biodiversity and have been chosen to represent the urban areas within the borough  

• Buildings 
• Private gardens 
• Schools and colleges 
• Sport pitches and play areas 
• Allotments 
• Roundabouts and verges 
• Public parks, gardens, and other urban green spaces 
• Churchyards and cemeteries 

Associated Species 

Numerous species are associated with urban habitats and the following species/ groups of 
species have been chosen to represent this habitat which either have a stronghold within 
RBWM, are nationally and regionally declining or are flagship species. The following species 
have been chosen to represent the urban habitat within the Borough.  

Common Swift - A summer visitor to the UK, and found in some parts of the borough, with 
strongholds in Maidenhead, Cookham and Windsor. Swifts are Amber listed in the UK and 
there has been a steady decline in swift numbers since 1996 (BTO, 2021). They reside in a 
number of habitats, but they have the greatest distribution within towns and villages. They 
nest in open eaves and gables and a loss of suitable nesting sites due to development has 
caused their decline.  

House sparrow - House sparrows were once a familiar sight throughout RBWM but are now 
in serious decline. Due to this decline, they are now a red listed bird of conservation 

82



 

 

concern. The reasons for the decline in urban areas is not fully understood, but it is likely to 
be due to loss of suitable nesting sites, reduction in food sources, predation by an increased 
number of domestic cats and increased levels of pollution.  

Bats, e.g. Common pipistrelle and soprano pipistrelle - These pipistrelle bat species are 
frequently associated with buildings, trees and green spaces throughout the borough’s urban 
environment and are the most common bat species in urban environments. There continues 
to be a significant threat to bats in the UK in terms of loss of roosting, maternity and 
hibernating sites in both natural and artificial structures. Loss of suitable feeding sites and 
disruption of flight paths due to artificial lighting have also had a significant impact on bat 
populations. 

Hedgehog – Hedgehogs, which are a priority species have seen their numbers decline in 
the UK, with at least a third lost from Britain since 2000 (State of Britain’s Hedgehogs 
Report, 2018). The reasons for the decline are not known but it is likely, in part, due to 
habitat loss and fragmentation and the lack of food due to the increase of pesticides and 
herbicides. Hedgehogs are found in small numbers across the borough and need supporting 
to avoid loss.  

Stag beetles – Stag beetles are a priority species and are nationally scarce. They have a 
stronghold within the borough of Windsor and Maidenhead and are found widely across 
parks, gardens and woodlands within the borough. They require rotting dead and buried 
deadwood as habitat and therefore the loss of this type of specific habitat has caused their 
decline within the UK.  

Invertebrates, including bees and butterflies – Wild bees including solitary and bumble 
bees are facing a serious decline in numbers in urban areas due to habitat loss, pesticide 
use and climate change. This is also the same for other invertebrates such as moths, 
butterflies and wasps. All these species provide essential roles within the environment with 
many food crops depending on these pollinators, many of which are declining in numbers.   

Current Status 

The housing demand is increasingly high throughout the UK including within Windsor and 
Maidenhead and so the extent of the towns and villages is likely to rise. The population of 
RBWM is currently 150,906 (2018).  

RBWM is made up of 15 parishes and 19 wards all of which contain urban settlements, 
either towns or villages. Maidenhead is the largest town within the borough with a total area 
of 198.4square km, the majority of which is made up of commercial and residential buildings 
and gardens all of which have the opportunity to increase the biodiversity within the borough.  

Threats to Biodiversity within the Urban Environment 

Urban biodiversity is often overlooked and the habitats and species that are found within this 
environment are under threat from the following factors: 

• Urban expansion – the increase in residential and commercial development, along 
with associated infrastructure has caused the loss, fragmentation and change of 
habitats.  

• Loss of soft ground – conversion of front gardens to parking, reduction in highway 
verge extents 

• Boundary treatments – solid boundaries with no gaps for species movement 
between properties.  

83



 

 

• Impact of invasive species - the spread of invasive species such as Japanese 
knotweed and Himalayan Balsam which can displace native species.  

• Inappropriate management techniques, e.g. impermeable boundary fencing and 
walls, removal/ severe pruning of trees, frequent and intensive mowing, pruning and 
‘over tidying’ 

• Flooding – due to an increase in hard surfaces.  
• Lack of recognition and understanding of wildlife value - not enough information 

regarding the importance of urban habitats for wildlife 
• Climate change – this is heightened in urban areas due to the increased heat island 

effect 
• Anti-social behaviour – the increase in vandalism and  fly-tipping.  
• Increased levels of pollution – many sites are subject to human disturbance which 

can cause noise, air, soil and light pollution.  

Objectives for the 5-year Plan 

The Urban Habitat is a relatively small proportion of the borough, less than 10%, and so 
whilst it offers less opportunities for habitat restoration towards our aim of 30% by 2030, it 
offers higher profile opportunities for public engagement. The Urban HAP will make a 
positive and progressive contribution to the borough’s urban biodiversity. This will include 
improving community engagement, increasing the areas of green infrastructure and 
encouraging good conservation practices across urban settlements.  

 

84



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Support smaller toad colonies to 
increase number of toads 

Survey locations of historic toad 
migrations, where known, to see if 
conditions can be improved so toads can 
increase their numbers 

RBWM Wilds Groups 
Volunteers 

2024 

Increase floristic diversity on 
Borough land by negotiating 
changes to mowing regimes. 

Identify at least 40% of borough land such 
as verges and parks to leave uncut and 
implement wildlife friendly mowing regimes 

RBWM  2023 

Decrease the lighting across the 
Borough in order to positively 
impact bats and other nocturnal 
animals 

Review all RBWM Street lighting to identify 
at least 20% of areas where lights can be 
switched off, lit for part of the night, 
dimmed or changed to LED.  
 
Campaign to inform and persuade 
residents to 
switch off outdoor lights at night 
 

RBWM  2023 
 

Extend B-Lines across the urban 
landscape 

20 pollinator projects will be identified and 
initiated within the Borough’s B-lines 

BBOWT RBWM  
Wild groups 
TVERC 

2025 

 

 

85



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Increase the number of wildlife 
friendly gardens within the 
Borough 

Ensure that 50% of gardens in RBWM who 
enter the Wild About Garden Awards 
competition achieve at least bronze level 
and that 10% of gardens will achieve gold 
level 

Wilds Groups RBWM 
Wild About 
Gardens 
Awards 

2023 

Support regionally significant 
Common Toad colonies  

Put in place protection strategies including 
signage, installation and maintenance of 
toad ladders, and monitoring of populations 
for annual Toad migrations 
 
 

Toad patrol RBWM 
Wilds groups 
Volunteers 

ongoing 

Improve allotment sites for 
biodiversity 

Ensure all Council owned allotments to 
become organic, following principles of the 
Soil Association.  
 
Assess each allotment site to determine 
improvements such as encouragement of 
predator species for pest control 
 
Promote regenerative management 
techniques.  

RBWM  All by 2025 

RBWM Town and 
Parish councils 
 

2022 Control and minimise use of 
pesticides and herbicides in 
public areas  
 

Ensure all streets, paths, community 
spaces, cemeteries and other council 
owned land provide management plans 
that have specific instructions as to 
permitted use of these chemicals to reduce 
the total use by 25% 
 
 

RBWM Windsor 
Allotments and 
Home Gardens 
Association.  

2022 

86



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

To ensure permeability for 
hedgehogs and other small 
mammals and amphibians 
across the borough 

Ensure 100% of planning applications, with 
new boundary treatments (excluding any 
exceptions, such as high security facilities), 
provide permeability for hedgehogs and 
small mammals and amphibian migration 
between suitable habitats, including gaps 
in fencing 

RBWM  From 2022 

To improve ecological 
connectivity within urban areas 
 
 

Ensure a no net loss of roadside verges. 
Where verge side vegetation is lost, a 
commensurate area of hard standing will 
be converted to soft ground, to a similar or 
improved quality 
 
Unless there is a statutory requirement or 
consents acquired through the planning, 
ensure, a no net loss of soft ground on any 
council site. Where soft ground is lost, a 
commensurate area of hard standing will 
be converted to soft ground, to a similar or 
improved quality 
  

RBWM   2022 

Decrease the lighting across the 
Borough in order to positively 
impact bats and other nocturnal 
animals 

Roll out of the new lighting strategy  RBWM  2025 
 

Maintain and enhance the 
favourable conservation status of 
bats within the borough 

Ensure that integral bat boxes are installed 
on 75% of all new developments.  
 

RBWM Volunteers 
 
Berkshire and 
South Bucks Bat 
Group 

2022 

87



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Make sure at least 50% of new major 
developments will create suitable foraging 
and/ or commuting habitat for bats 

Maintain and enhance the 
favourable conservation status of 
birds within the borough 

Ensure that integral bird boxes are 
installed on 75% of all new developments. 
 
Make sure at least 50% of new major 
developments will create suitable foraging 
habitat for birds 
 

RBWM Volunteers 2022 

Increase the numbers of green 
roofs/ walls 

Ensure that 10 green roofs and/ or walls 
are secured within the planning system 
 
Install 10 green roofs or walls on council 
owned structures (Bin Stores, bus stops ) 

RBWM Neighbourhood 
Plan groups 
Developers 

2025 

Increase the biodiversity within 
all council owned parks 

Ensure all parks owned by the council 
have a wildlife area/ fruit and herb garden 
within them. This will include wildflower 
areas, insect hotels/ bird and bat boxes 
and standing deadwood and log piles. 
Implement management plans for each 
site. 

RBWM Volunteers 
Wild groups 
BBOWT 

2025 

Increase the opportunities for 
invertebrates 

Ensure that each school within the 
Borough is involved with the PTES “Bury a 
Bucket for Beetles” school scheme 

RBWM Volunteers 2025 

Protect 30% of land in the 
Borough for biodiversity by 2030 

Ensure all new developments provide a 
minimum 10% net gain in biodiversity and 
that land used to provide gains is protected 
for a minimum of 30 years. 

RBWM  From 2023 

 

88



 

 

Community Engagement and partnerships 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Create or improve wildlife 
gardens in schools and use in 
educating the next generation 

Provide all primary schools with advice 
regarding wildlife gardening for use within 
teaching. 

RBWM Schools 
Volunteers 
Wilds groups 

2025 

Engage the community with 
regards to biodiversity in the 
borough 

Increase social media presence and writing 
regular articles in the ATRB magazine to 
increase biodiversity awareness.  

RBWM 
Wilds groups 

Other wildlife 
groups 

One article in ATRB 
each year from 2022 
 
Social media page set 
up and managed by 
2023 

Educate the community with 
regards to wildlife gardening and 
promote the Wild about Garden 
Awards competition 

Hold yearly educational events to provide 
information regarding wildlife friendly 
gardening and promote Wild about 
Gardens Award scheme. Provide 
information by social media and ATRB 
magazine.  

RBWM 
BBOWT 

Other wildlife 
groups 

Ongoing each year 
starting 2022 

 

 

 

89



 

 

Urban Case Study (swift nesting corridor)  

Location: Maidenhead, Marlow, Cookham 

Swift Action began in July 2015 to combat the decline in swifts locally. Swifts visit the UK in 
the summer months to nest and breed, but local surveys suggest that their numbers have 
fallen by 50% in the past 20 years. Their nesting sites have steadily disappeared as roofs are 
refurbished and old buildings are knocked down. Swift Action have now created 200 new swift 
nesting places in local houses and churches to provide a home for breeding swifts in the area. 

The group now has nearly 100 members and is making excellent progress with establishing 
new nesting places for swifts. One of its key projects is to establish a swift corridor between 
Maidenhead and Marlow, to bring back nesting swifts to Cookham. These are mostly families 
with suitable houses in areas where we know there are existing Swift breeding sites. These 
are clustered in streets within the three towns so that they should form ‘loose colonies. To 
support the Swift Group’s campaign, Maidenhead Premier Inn agreed to lodge 20 new nesting 
places in the roof of the hotel with the nesting boxes built into the roof during construction. In 
a first for Premier Inn swift boxes, one of the boxes has been fitted with a caller to mimic the 
call of a swift to encourage breeding pairs to use these new sites. 

 

  

90



 

 

General Themes 

Certain themes run through many of the individual action plans, and therefore this action 
plan relates to habitats and species that fall into a number of previous HAPs. These areas 
represent the nature conservation of all species and habitats within the borough on a wider 
scale. The general themes HAP does not contain sub habitats or specific species, but the 
objectives that have been chosen within this section have multiple benefits for a much wider 
range of species.  

Objectives for the 5 year Plan 

The general themes HAP should result in a greater understanding of the habitats that we 
have within the Borough, protect and provide better management for the existing habitats 
with regards to biodiversity and improve their condition. The following table sets out the 
objectives and targets for the first five years of the plan. 

 

91



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Build a comprehensive 
habitat/species analysis/map for 
the Borough.  

Analyse/map at sufficient detail (ie 
key/enough species covered) for planning 
purposes. This to include new 
visualisations of the data for decision-
makers, residents and others 

RBWM Local recorders 
BBOWT 
TVERC 

50% by 2025 

Increasing ecological knowledge 
of our local wildlife sites within 
the borough 

Organise and run at least 1 bioblitz event 
at a local wildlife site each year 

RBWM Volunteers 
Local Groups 

From 2022 and then 
yearly 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Ensure the protection of our 
locally designated sites 

Every Local Wildlife Site to be surveyed 
once every 10 years 
 
Ensure 50% of LWS are in positive 
management  
 

RBWM 
TVERC 

 Ongoing 
 
 
2025 

Reduction in the use of 
herbicides and pesticides on 
highways 

Reduce or eliminate the use of chemicals 
on 100% of our roadside verges and parks. 

RBWM Contractors 2023 

Ensure planning conditions with 
regards to biodiversity are 
enforceable 
 

Ensure that the biodiversity enhancement 
conditions on all suitable planning 
applications include a signing out report 
confirming compliance from a suitably 
qualified ecologist 

RBWM  From 2022 

92



 

 

Direct benefit to biodiversity 
 
Performing spot checks on conditions 
relating to biodiversity to ensure the 
enhancements have been installed 
appropriately.  

Ensure all council owned land is 
in positive management 

Update all council owned habitat 
management plans 

RBWM  From 2022 ongoing 
with 
implementation for all 
sites underway by 
2026. 

 

 

 

Community Engagement and Partnership 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Promote and encourage best 
practice and make it easy for 
landowners, residents and 
volunteers to find relevant 
information about local flora, 
fauna and habitat management 
so we can all work together. 

Create (and maintain) a library web page 
of links to best practice for surveys, ID 
support and habitat maintenance & 
improvement plans generic and specific to 
local sites (so everyone can monitor and 
support the plans)  

RBWM Local Groups 
Wilds groups 
Farmers 
Landowners 
 

2023 
 
 
 

93



 

 

Community Engagement and Partnership 
Increase awareness of the 
importance of biodiversity and 
improve people’s connectivity 
with nature 
(E.g. Communication programme 
to raise awareness of species 
and habitats in the Borough, and 
how individuals and 
organisations can help them.) 
 

Develop key messages on species and 
habitats that are thriving in the Borough, 
and 
those that have been lost, are in decline; 
engender action to increase and support 
wildlife from individuals and organisations 
 
Hold at least 30 wildlife activities within the 
borough each year 
 
Ensure at least 3000 hours of volunteering 
annually which will include tree planting, 
habitat management and surveying.  
 
Enhance RBWM’s website to provide 
better access for users to biodiversity 
information and to provide quarterly 
updates 
and news. 

RBWM 
Wilds Groups 
 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Volunteers 
Farmers 
Landowners 
 
 
 
 
Wilds Groups 

2023 start and 
annually 
 
 
 
 
 
2022 then ongoing 

 

 

 

94



 

 

30 by 30 

Introduction 

The government have set a national target to protect and designate 30% of land and sea for 
nature by 2030 in its commitment to UN Convention on Biological Diversity global 
biodiversity framework. The Council is committed to protecting 30% of the land within the 
Borough for nature by 2030. Measures to achieve 30 by 30 are being rolled out at a national 
level and as they emerge will help inform how the Borough can achieve its target. This BAP 
covers the first half of the 30 by 30 period and is focussed on assessing the current and 
emerging situation, identifying and influencing opportunities for contributing to 30 by 30 by 
2025 and identifying a method to ensure 30% of land is protected by 2030.  

Achieving the targets of this BAP will provide the data needed for a post-2025 BAP to set out 
specific targets on how 30 by 30 will be achieved.  

In the period to 2025, the Borough will identify 30% of land to be protected and the 
mechanisms that can be used to protect it. This may include existing protection measures, 
such as designating an area of land as a LWS, or using emerging measures such as 
measures provided in the Environment Act (2021) or in agricultural policy or local policy. 
These may include: 

• Land within a Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
• Land providing a Biodiversity Net Gain for development 
• Land within an agricultural scheme aimed at conserving or enhancing biodiversity, 

such as ELMs 
• Land providing carbon offsets that also provides opportunities for biodiversity 
• Land designated as a Local Green Space where it also provides opportunities for 

biodiversity. 

 

 

95



 

 

 

Data Collection 
Responsibility 
 

Objective Target 

Lead Partner 

Target date 

Identify land to be protected (in 
addition to existing protected 
areas) to achieve protection and 
enhancement of 30% of the land 
in the Borough for biodiversity.   

Influence the Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy for Berkshire to ensure 30% of 
land in the County is identified for 
protection. 
 
 
 
 
Ensure all developments are providing a 
minimum 10% biodiversity net gain and 
that land providing gains is adequately 
protected for a minimum of 30 years, as 
per the requirements of the Environment 
Act. 
 
Encourage and advise landowners on 
agricultural schemes that protect areas for 
biodiversity. 
 
 
Engage with private landowners to identify 
biodiversity enhancement projects 
undertaken by them 

RBWM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 
 
 
 
 
RBWM 

Other Berkshire 
Local Authorities 
TVERC 
BBOWT 
LNP 
NE 
 
Developers 
 
 
 
 
 
Land owners 
 

Ongoing from 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2023  
 
 
 
 
 
2022 
 
 
 
 
On going 
 
 
 

 

96



 

 

 

Monitoring and delivery  

Whilst working towards the objectives and targets of the BAP, it is important to record and 
communicate this to the stakeholders as well as the wider public.  Lead Partners will meet 
and update their actions on an annual basis and meet to review progress made every six 
months. Biodiversity information, including the annually updated actions will be provided and 
made available to the public after the lead partners review. 

To make sure the goals are clear and reachable, the progress of the BAP will be based and 
reported following the “SMART” criteria 

• Specific – outline in a clear statement precisely what is required. 
• Measurable – the objectives and targets need to be quantifiable.  
• Achievable – the objectives and targets should be ambitious but realistic.  
• Relevant - Within the availability of resources, knowledge and time 
• Time-bound – deadlines should be set for each objective and target so they can be 

recorded.  

 This Biodiversity Action Plan has been developed with wide consultation and it is 
recognised as the starting point for future BAPs as well as being a working document setting 
out actions until 2025. Actions will be reviewed on a regular, at least six monthly basis, with 
a full review at the end of this period in consultation with all partners. The work on this BAP 
will develop the knowledge and provide data for the analysis required to develop a prioritised 
Biodiversity Action Plan for implementation from 2026. 

 

Glossary 

 

BOA – Biodiversity Opportunity Area 

SAC – Special Area of Conservation 

SPA – Special Protection Area 

SSSI – Site of Special Scientific Interest 

LNR – Local Nature Reserve 

LWS - Local Wildlife Site 

TPO – Tree Protection Order 

GIS – Geographical Information System 

Red / Amber Species – Lists of birds that are in decline and at threat in the UK 

NE – Natural England 

BBOWT – Berkshire, Buckinghamshire and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust 

TVERC – Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre 

  

97



 

 

Appendix 1 – Habitat Areas within the Borough 

 

The total area of the borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has been estimated using 
available datasets (TVERC 2021) and is approximately 19842.50ha, with 18314.63ha of 
habitats included within this BAP making up just over 92% of borough land. The remaining 
1527.87ha, which make up 7.7% of borough land includes urban areas such as housing and 
roads as well as gardens, sports pitches and street trees. The habitats and their areas are 
listed below with total areas and percentage of borough land.  

Habitat type Area % 
Ancient Woodland  1229.95 6.19 
Woodland: Broadleaved  0.19 0.00 
Woodland: Broadleaved Plantation  401.03 2.02 
Woodland: Broadleaved Semi Natural  1565.77 7.89 
Woodland: Coniferous Plantation  127.65 0.64 
Woodland: Coniferous Semi Natural  3.25 0.02 
Woodland: Mixed Plantation  249.47 1.26 
Woodland: Mixed Semi Natural  7.50 0.04 
Lowland Mixed Deciduous Woodland  1461.98 7.37 
Lowland Beech and Yew Woodland  138.69 0.70 
Wet Woodland  45.46 0.23 
Traditional Orchard  39.52 0.20 
Wood Pasture and Parkland  1413.22 7.12 
Parkland and Scattered Trees  27.46 0.14 
Parkland and Scattered Trees: Broadleaved  15.84 0.08 
Recently Felled Woodland:Broadleaved  0.00 0.00 
Marsh: Marshy Grassland 3.68 0.02 
Poor Semi Improved Grassland 172.91 0.87 
Lowland Calcareous Grassland 27.33 0.14 
Calcareous Grassland: Semi Improved 0.74 0.00 
Calcareous Grassland: Unimproved 27.33 0.14 
Lowland Dry Acid Grassland 94.48 0.48 
Acid Grassland: Semi Improved 107.05 0.54 
Acid Grassland: Unimproved 81.47 0.41 
Dry Heath Acid Grassland 3.10 0.02 
Lowland Meadows 86.16 0.43 
Improved Grassland 4621.62 23.29 
Neutral Grassland 2.79 0.01 
Neutral Grassland: Semi Improved 530.80 2.68 
Neutral Grassland: Unimproved 26.24 0.13 
"Possible Priority Grassland Habitat" 1.40 0.01 
Cultivated Disturbed Land 4.46 0.02 
Cultivated Disturbed Land: Amenity 
Grassland 

727.83 3.67 

Cultivated Disturbed Land: Arable 4347.32 21.91 
Cultivated Disturbed Land: Ephemeral Short 
Perennial 

6.95 0.04 

98



 

 

Habitat type Area % 
Ponds 1.44 0.01 
Running Water 1.89 0.01 
Running Water: Eutrophic 101.69 0.51 
Rivers 1.87 0.01 
Reedbeds 0.55 0.00 
Standing Water: Eutrophic 605.18 3.05 
Standing Water: Mesotrophic 0.00 0.00 
Ponds 1.39 0.01 
Total BAP habitats in Borough 18314.63 92.30 
Remaining borough including urban areas 
(buildings, hard standing) 

1527.87 7.70 

Total of Borough 19842.50 100.00 
 

 

 

99



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain 2022 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Johnson Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Growth & Opportunity 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Director of Place & Chris 
Joyce, Head of Infrastructure, Sustainability & 
Economic Growth  

Wards affected:   Eton and Castle Ward 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The following report outlines the proposed new drinking fountain which is to be 
installed in Windsor Town Centre to celebrate the achievement of HM The Queen 
reaching 70 years on the throne. 
  
The funding required to design and build the fountain will be met by The Windsor 
Platinum Jubilee Committee. The total cost of the scheme is set currently at 
£261,000. The committee has raised over £224k to fund design, manufacture and 
installation of the fountain which includes funds to cover the maintenance fees for the 
first three-years. The Windsor Platinum Committee requires support from RBWM to 
take on the future responsibility of the monument once installed and a contribution 
towards the final costs on completion. 
  
The fountain will be fully accessible to all and aligns with the council’s commitment 
to climate change and improving the natural environment, which is embedded 
across all areas of council and includes supporting reuse and recycling. The 
Completed fountain will support those aims by providing clean drinking water and  
the reduction of single use plastics. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That the Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Delegates authority to Executive Director of Place Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Culture and Heritage to 
approve support to assist in commissioning the Platinum Jubilee 
Drinking Fountain. 

ii) Approves that RBWM take on responsibility for the fountain once 
completed 

iii) Approves a contribution to the fountain of up to £40,000 to cover VAT 
contributions to be funded through virements from underspends 
within the council's capital programme. 

 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  

101

Agenda Item 8



 
Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Delegates authority to Executive 
Director of Place Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Culture and Heritage to authorise 
financial support up to £40k to assist in 
commissioning of the Platinum Jubilee 
Drinking Fountain and take on its future 
maintenance. 
This is the recommended option 

Ensures that the Fountain is built 
to the correct specification, fully 
accessible and meets all planning 
conditions and can be maintained 
correctly for future users.  

Not support the commissioning of the 
Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain, its 
installation and future responsibility. 
 
 
This is not the recommended option 

Fountain may not meet current 
highway standards or planning 
conditions. 
It is not maintained correctly and 
becomes unusable for residents 
and visitors to Windsor. 

 
2.1 The Windsor Platinum Jubilee Committee was formed in 2021 to co-ordinate a 

range of sporting, musical, cultural and social events across the year to suit all 
ages and interests. The Committee has and is working alongside many local 
businesses, charities, Crown Estate and The Royal Borough to bring together a 
programme of events which reflects the diversity and range of interests in the 
Royal Borough, so that everyone can feel a part of the special year. Legacy 
initiatives have been devised such as the Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain to 
benefit the local community beyond 2022 and fundraising for the Prince Philip 
Trust  

2.2 Following on from the Cabinet report on the 31 March 2022. Committee were 
asked to note future revenue costs associated with the future maintenance of 
the fountain. This report provides more detail of those cost and what will be 
provided to ensure future use of the monument. 

2.3 The Royal Borough has several monuments which have been funded through 
partners, charities, interested groups, individuals, and the Royal Borough. 
Previously supported monuments include The War Horse Memorial, Irish Guard 
Statue and Diamond Jubilee Fountain.  

2.4 To ensure that the drinking fountain is correctly commissioned the Royal 
Borough has assigned an officer to oversee the project and ensure the works 
meet all standards required for a fully accessible drinking fountain and all the 
planning conditions identified following its approval in July 2022.  

2.5 The Platinum Jubilee Committee with the support of RBWM has commissioned 
the work with contractors who are leaders in their field. RBWM will support this 
process to ensure all the necessary specialist skills such as design, moulding, 
fabrication, pattern and, technical drawings, casting, mining, delivery and 
installation are completed. Following the installation of the War Horse memorial 
in Ascot, Black Isle Bronze Limited, LDN Architects and Fyfe Glenrock have 
been identified as the primary contractors to deliver the Platinum Jubilee 
drinking fountain.  

102



2.6 As part of the planning application there are strict conditions on the materials in 
the design so that it is consistent with the conservation area that the final 
monument sits. The design is based on the red granite of the Queen Victoria 
statue and the columns of the Guildhall.  

2.7 The Platinum Jubilee Committee has secured £224k in funding through 
sponsorship and private donations to design and build the Platinum drinking 
fountain. It has also applied for and secured planning permission for the fountain 
location in Windsor Town Centre. RBWM has assisted the committee in 
procurement and project management of the scheme, coordinating contractors 
and working with the committee to ensure the scheme is completed in line with 
planning conditions and highway regulations. Further support from the Royal 
Borough is required to take on its future guardianship for the benefit of residents 
and visitors to the Royal Borough through an annual maintenance programme. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Delivering the monument will ensure the Royal Borough celebrates and marks 
a significant achievement in the history of the UK and HM The Queen reaching 
the milestone of 70 years on the throne. It will provide a legacy for the town 
centre and an opportunity for residents and visitors to celebrate and enjoy for 
years to come. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Secure 
majority 
external 
capital 
funding for 
the scheme 

No funding 
achieved 
and 
monument 
cannot be 
built, or 
project 
completed 

Partial 
Funding 
achieved but 
would require 
additional 
financial 
support from 
RBWM and 
others  

Full capital 
funding 
achieved with 
contingency 
funds 
secured and 
maintenance 
funding for a 
maximum of 
3 years 

Full capital 
funding 
achieved which 
includes 
contingency 
and 
maintenance 
funding for a 
maximum of 10 
years 

30 
December 
2022 

Supporting 
healthy 
lifestyles by 
providing 
fresh and 
free drinking 
water for 
residents 
and visitors 
to the town 
centre 

No recorded 
water 
meterage 

Between  
0 – 25,000 
litres per year 

Between 
25,001 – 
40,000 litres 
per year  

Between 
40,001 - 70,000 
litres 
per year 

31 
December 
2023 

Reducing 
the use of 
single use 
plastics 
(calculated on 
500ml bottle) 
 

No recorded 
users 

Reducing the 
use of plastic 
bottles 
Between 0 – 
50,000 per 
year 

Reducing the 
use of plastic 
bottles 
Between 
51,000 – 
80,000 per 
year 

Reducing the 
use of plastic 
bottles 
Between 
81,000 – 
140,000  
per year 

31 
December 
2023 

 

103



3.2 To deliver this scheme, the Windsor Platinum Jubilee Committee outlined a 
detailed specification which ensures the fountain is sympathetic to the 
conservation area in Windsor. As part of the planning process 5 different 
locations were considered and reviewed, this also included an independent 
Heritage statement commissioned to ensure that the final location was suitable 
and did not adversely affect surrounding area. See Appendix D 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The cost of manufacturing, installing the Jubilee Fountain will be £261k. £224k 
of this cost will be funded by the Platinum Jubilee Committee. but the council 
has agreed to contribute up to £40,000 that will be funded from a virement from 
underspends in the capital programme. A budget has been produced and is 
attached. See Appendix C. 

 
4.2 Whilst the project would normally be designated a capital scheme, the fountain 

is not included in the 2022/23 capital programme. Majority of the funding will 
come from Platinum Jubilee Committee   
 

4.3 After the third year (2026) the maintenance cost for the fountain would transfer 
to Neighbourhood Services team who are responsible for maintaining all public 
water features in the Royal Borough. This has been discussed and agreed with 
the Head of Service. 
 

4.4 In designing the drinking fountain the committee has worked with RBWM’s 
existing contractor Water and light Company to ensure the final design can be 
managed and maintained when operational within current guidelines for drinking 
fountains. 
 
 

4.5 Water and Light Company charge an annual fee of £600 to maintain the fountain 
and this includes: 
 

• weekly visit to make sure everything is operating well.  
 

• general cleaning and reporting of any issues.  
 

• responding to call outs due to a leak or vandalism. 
 

• A spare tap has been purchased so if one of the taps is damaged it can 
be replaced at no extra charge.  

 
4.6 Thames Water has agreed to connect the fountain to the main water supply at 

no cost as their contribution to the project. With regards to future cost of water, 
Thames Water have estimated the annual cost to provide water to be between 
£100 - £200 per year. Combined with the annual maintenance fee and an 
amount to cover inflation, there will be an annual cost of £1000 to the council in 
2026. 
 

4.7 The Platinum Jubilee committee will fund the cost of the first 3 years of 
maintenance. The maintenance programme will be delivered by RBWM. 
Currently all contracts for water features in the Royal Borough sit within 

104



Neighbourhood Services team, this contract would be incorporated within the 
Water and Light Company contract and maintained alongside the Royal 
Borough other water features. 
 

4.8 The table below shows the contribution made by the Platinum Jubilee   
committee for the annual maintenance and water usage. RBWM would not be 
expected to incur additional revenue expense until 2026. 
 
 
Table 3: Financial impact of report’s recommendations 
REVENUE COSTS 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
Additional total £0 £1000 £1000 £1000 £1000 
Contribution from 
Platinum Jubilee 
Committee 

£3000 £0 £0 £0 £0 

RBWM 
Contribution  

40,000 0        0 0 0 

Net Impact £37000 -£2000 -£1000 £0 £1000 
 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Council’s Legal Team have been instructed to draft a Deed of Gift in relation 
to the gifting of the fountain. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 Whilst there are a few issues in delivering a monument of this nature. The key 
risk is that of funding and future maintenance of the Fountain. Due to the fund-
raising efforts of the Platinum Jubilee committee, they have secured £221k of 
funding for the scheme.  

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. 
 

7.2 The fountain will be located centrally on footway on the junction of Castle Hill 
and High Street, Windsor. There will be a minimum clearway all the way around 
the fountain of 2.6m providing adequate clearance for the public or wheelchair 
users when the fountain is in use. The fountain plinth is made from red granite 
and the footway is made from York stone so a noticeably clear difference in 
colour for those with visual impairments to negotiate when on the footway. 

 
7.3 Climate change/sustainability.  

 
7.4 Within the corporate plan under” Taking action to tackle climate change and its 

consequences,” the council aims to reduce waste generated within the borough 
and increase the amount that is re-used and recycled to help reduce carbon 
emissions and prevent environmental harm. Delivering the Platinum fountain 
will see the reduction in use of single use plastic of up to 140,000 per year which 

105



aligns with the council’s commitment to sustainability and improving our natural 
environment 

 
7.5 Data Protection/GDPR.  

 
None. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 In producing this report advice was sought from the Planning team in ensuring 
that a suitable and appropriate application was submitted, giving consideration 
on design, materials, and the location. This also provided an opportunity for the 
public, interested groups and Members to review and comment on proposed 
designs etc. Image of completed fountain can be seen in Appendix D. 
 

8.2 Representatives from the Royal Household have been informed and have seen 
all designs and planning permissions currently approved for the location of the 
Platinum Jubilee Fountain. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

Outline programme of delivery is set out in Table 4 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
30 December 2022 Complete Fund-raising programme. 
30 January 2023 Complete manufacture of Platinum Jubilee Fountain 
30 January 2023 Ground works completed  
28 February 2023 Completion of installation  
31 March 2023 Unveiling of completed works (awaiting approval) 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 4 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Specification document for Platinum Jubilee Fountain 
• Appendix C – Budget for delivery of fountain. 
• Appendix D – Image of final Fountain design as approved by planning in 

July 2022. 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by 2 background documents: 
 

• Click the links below to see copy of the March 2022 Cabinet Report that 
considered the Platinum Jubilee Fountain and approved future. 

 
• Agenda - https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=8074 
 

106

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/mgChooseDocPack.aspx?ID=8074


• Minutes -   Section F) point V. 
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8074/Printed%20minutes%2031st-
Mar-2022%2019.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1 

 
• Planning permission - click attached link to see approval online. 
22/00259/FULL | Installation of Platinum Jubilee Drinking fountain 
monument. | Land At Junction of High Street And Castle Hill Windsor 
(rbwm.gov.uk) 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
11/8/22 18/8/22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

11/8/22 15/8/22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
12/8/22  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

12/8/22 19/8/22 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

15/8/22 16/8/22 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

16/8/22  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Emma Young Data Protection Officer 16/8/22  
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 

or agree an EQiA is not required 
  

Ellen McManus Equalities & Engagement Officer 16/8/22  
Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Duncan Sharkey Chief Executive/DASS 16/8/22  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 16/8/22 24/8/22 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
16/8/22  

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Chris Joyce Head of Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Economic 
Growth 

11/8/22  

External (where 
relevant) 

   

    

107

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8074/Printed%20minutes%2031st-Mar-2022%2019.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/documents/g8074/Printed%20minutes%2031st-Mar-2022%2019.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=1
https://publicaccess.rbwm.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.rbwm.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage
https://publicaccess.rbwm.gov.uk/online-applications/simpleSearchResults.do?action=firstPage


 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Deputy Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents 
Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor; Armed Forces 
Champion 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-Key decision. 
First entered into 
the Forward Plan 
17 August 2022 

No No  

Report Author:  Paul Roach Windsor, Eton 
and Ascot Town Manager 

 

 
 
 
 

108



APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan  Project x Service/Procedure  

 
Responsible 
officer 

Paul Roach Service area Economic Growth Directorate 
 

Place 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created:  
Na 

Stage 2: Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

Date created:  
20 June 2022 

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Chris Joyce 
 
Dated: 20 June 2022 

 

 

 
 

 

109



Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service, or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 

110



Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
The overall aim of the Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain project is to mark the Platinum Jubilee of Queen Elizabeth II by 
commissioning, designing, and installing a permanent monument outside Windsor Castle. The monument will incorporate a water 
bottle filling station. 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e., contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e., could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant.” 

 
 
 
 
 

111



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age No 
 

   

Disability Yes  Positive Fountain is designed and located in accordance with 
Equality Act 2010 with height of taps designed to 
ensure suitable access for all. 

Gender re-
assignment 

No    

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

No    

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

No    

Race No    
Religion and 

belief 
No    

Sex No    
Sexual 

orientation 
No    

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

112



Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

No    

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No    

 
If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g., 
monitor future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
 
 
 

Stage 2: Full assessment 

2.1: Scope and define 
 

113



2.1.1    Who are the main beneficiaries of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List the 
groups who the work is targeting/aimed at. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List 
those groups who the work is targeting/aimed at.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2.2: Information gathering/evidence 
 
2.2.1 What secondary data have you used in this assessment? Common sources of secondary data include censuses, 
organisational records. 

114



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.2.2   What primary data have you used to inform this assessment? Common sources of primary data include consultation 
through interviews, focus groups, questionnaires. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 

115



Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty:  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative 
impact:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

116



 

Advance equality of opportunity 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty:  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative 
impact:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

117



Foster good relations 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty:  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative 
impact:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 
 

118



2.4     Has your delivery plan been updated to incorporate the activities identified in this assessment to mitigate any 
identified negative impacts? If so please summarise any updates. 
These could be service, equality, project or other delivery plans. If you did not have sufficient data to complete a thorough impact 
assessment, then an action should be incorporated to collect this information in the future. 
 
 
 

 
  

119



Appendix B – Project Specification  
 
 
 
Platinum Jubilee Drink Fountain – Specification Document 
Delivery Date:  November 2022 
Location: Windsor Town Centre  
 
The concept for this project has come from the Windsor Platinum Jubilee Committee as part of a number of events and projects identified to celebrate 
the achievement of her HM The Queen reaching 70 years on the throne.  
 
Delivery of the project will achieve the following objectives: - 
 

1. Deliver a monument which celebrates and marks the achievement of HM The Queen reaching the significant milestone of 70 Years on the 
throne.  

2. Provides opportunity for the community of Windsor to come together and celebrate this unique time in history.  
3. Supports the Local Authority’s desire in supporting healthy lifestyles by providing fresh and free drinking water for residents and visitors to the 

town centre.  
4. Aligns with the climate change agenda in reducing the use of single use plastics and providing an alternative form of hydration based on reusable 

bottles.  
5. Leaves a lasting legacy for residents and visitors to view and enjoy for years to come.  
6. Can be delivered before the end of 2022. 

 
Approvals and Design  
The drinking fountain may require planning approval from the Local Authority. An application should be submitted as the earliest opportunity to ensure 
delivery deadlines. In addition 
 

1. Committee should seek to have in principal approval from HM The Queen for final design and location. 

120



2. Drinking fountain should seek to provide a minimum of two drinking positions. 
3. Final design should meet DDA compliance when operational. 
4. Should be traditional in concept and designed to be complimentary to existing structures and monuments in and around Windsor Castle and the 

conservation area in Windsor Town Centre. 
5. Drinking fountain structure will need to include space for an inlet pipe for water, water meter, stop valve, frost protection measures and drainage 

system to ensure it is fully maintainable once completed. 
6. Have consideration for mitigation measures from Anti-social behaviour, such as the ability to climb up the commission and or damage or break 

off elements of it. 
7. Consideration should be given to separately accessible space for a time capsule; however, this could be accommodated in a separate location near 

to the fountain if required. 
 
Funding and liability 
The scheme will be funded predominantly through private finance either from sponsorship and or public donations, which the committee will be 
responsible for delivering. Support from the Local Authority will be required to make sure any planning, engineering and installation works are 
delivered within statutory obligations. 
 
Once installed and fully operational, liability for the completed fountain is expected to be transferred to the Local Authority to maintain and ensure 
future use by the general public. A formal agreement will be completed to ensure this is formalised. 
 
Procurement 
 
The committee, with the support of the local authority should seek to commission a contractor who can deliver the final piece and whom: -  
 

• Is available and will have professional and credible track record of delivering similar monument projects in the UK. (Ideally has past history with 
working in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead).  

• Can identify a foundry who has the capacity to deliver a new monument for 2022. 
• Can provide design and manufacturing skills to ensure that final commission can be delivered within time scales. 
• Can work with the Local authority project manager to oversee the delivery of the commission and ensure key project management milestones are 

identified and delivered. 
 
Final piece to be unveiled in Windsor Town Centre towards the end of the year. 
 

121



  

122



Appendix C – Budget  
 
 

Platinum Jubilee Fountain Budget 2022 as of 31 August 
2022       
        
        
Heading Net  VAT Gross 
        
Column and orb, steelwork, and Plaques 130,233 26,046 156,279 
Plinth, base & surround  35,160 7,032 42,192 
Design work  9,600 1,720 11,320 
Ground Works  9,807 0 9,807 
Specialist Stonework installation 18,750 3,450 22,200 
Heritage statement  3,829 765 4,594 
Water Light Company  243 0 243 
Water connection (Thames Water) 0 0 0 
Project management 2,000 0 2,000 
Overall contingency 10,000 0 10,000 
Fountain maintenance 3 years 3,000 0 3,000 
        
        
TOTAL 222,622 39,013 261,635 
        
Funding        
        
Platinum Jubilee Committee 221,122     
RBWM Contribution  40000     
        
Total  261,122     

123



Appendix D – Image of Fountain once complete and in approved position 
 
 

 
 

124



 
Report Title: Demand for school places 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Stuart Carroll, Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Children’s Services, Education, 
Health, Mental Health, & Transformation 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet, 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Executive Director of People 
Services 

Wards affected:   All wards 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out the latest, 2022, projections of demand for school places in the 
Royal Borough.  It provides the latest analysis of demand for school places for Ascot, 
Datchet/Wraysbury, Maidenhead and Windsor, by each tier of schooling. 
 
The projections continue to suggest that a new primary school may be needed in South 
East Maidenhead by September 2025, but further mainstream school places are not 
likely to be needed anywhere else in that period.  In Windsor, the level of surplus 
(spare) places at Reception looks set to increase and action may be required to 
temporarily reduce capacity. 
 
The recommendations in this report will help the borough achieve its corporate 
objective of ‘Thriving Communities’ by making it easier for children and young people 
to achieve their ambitions and fulfil their potential.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 

i) confirms the delegation of authority to the Executive Director of 
People Services, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman of 
Cabinet, Children’s Services, Education, Health, Mental Health and 
Transformation, to start the free school competition process for a 
new primary school at Chiltern Road, having regard for the target of 
5% surplus places, both locally and across Maidenhead as a whole. 

ii) requests that measures be taken to reduce the likelihood of 
excessive surplus places in Windsor first schools. 

  

125

Agenda Item 9



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Background 
2.1 The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has a legal duty to ensure 

that there are sufficient school places to meet demand1.  This report provides: 

• The 2022 projections for future demand for school places in the borough. 
• An assessment of the options available to meet rising demand for school 

places. 

The current school expansion programme 
2.2 The Royal Borough is nearing completion of its secondary school expansion 

programme, providing up to 1,500 new secondary, middle and upper school 
places over the period 2017/18 to 2022/23.  

2.3 The project to expand Windsor Girls’ School is underway.  Planning 
permission was granted in September 2022 for a new sixth form block, which 
will allow the school to permanently expand to 230 pupils per year group.  The 
construction project is now underway. 

2.4 Appendix A summarises the progress on the projects in the secondary school 
expansion programme. 

The medium-term need for places in 2022 to 2026 
2.5 Projections of future demand are usually done annually and reported to the 

Department for Education (DfE) in the School Capacity (SCAP) survey in July.   

2.6 The projections take into account demographic data (including new housing) 
and changing parental preference.   

2.7 The rapidly shifting demographic picture means that there is still uncertainty 
over the projections, particularly for first intake into schools at Reception.  In 
summary:  

• the birth rate remains low compared the peaks reached between 2006/07 
and 2011/12 (who started Reception between September 2011 and 
September 2016).  

• levels of net inward migration into the borough for children aged 0 to 4 have 
varied significantly in recent years.  A generally higher level of net inward 
movement in the years leading up to 2018/19 was followed by a significant 
fall during the pandemic period.  Whilst net inward migration has recovered 
since, it is still not at previous levels.  The variation in the level of migration 
impacts heavily on the pupil projections.  

• there is growing pressure from international arrivals, from Hong Kong, 
Ukraine and refugees placed in local hotels, as well as immigration more 
generally.  This is impacting on all year groups. 

2.8 There is more information about the changing birth rate, changes to net inward 
migration and international arrivals in Appendix B. 

2.9 The projections and commentary are available on the borough’s website at: 

 
1 Section 14, Education Act 1996. 

126



https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/school-organisation-
places-and-planning/pupil-number-projections 

2.10 The commentary is also provided as Appendix C to this report, available by 
electronic distribution only.  The data is summarised in Tables 1 to 9 in this 
report.  Please note that there may be minor changes in the numbers and 
wording below, particularly around numbers of children admitted from Ukraine, 
Hong Kong and as refugees seeking asylum.  The figures in this report reflect 
the latest information. 

2.11 The Royal Borough has a policy of ensuring that there is a surplus of 
approximately 5% on school places.  In other words, there should be around 
5% more school places than expected demand, particularly at school intake 
points (Reception for primary and first schools, Year 5 for middle schools, 
Year 7 for secondary schools and Year 9 for upper schools).  This allows for 
the operation of parental choice, provides space for families who move into the 
area later on and also means that there are still enough places if demand is 
slightly higher than projected.  

127

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/school-organisation-places-and-planning/pupil-number-projections
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/school-organisation-places-and-planning/pupil-number-projections


Table 1: 2022 projections and commentary for intakes into Ascot primary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting in Sept. 
Projected  

for academic year starting in Sept. 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Number on roll in Reception:  134 132 138 122 125 104 126 131 130 
Surplus/deficit No. +16 +18 +12 +28 +25 +46 +24 +19 +20 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Ascot primary schools 
2.12 No further action is currently proposed at present for Ascot.  The projections show that there will be enough places until 2026 (at 

least).  Demand from residents within Ascot is projected to remain low, with a dip year expected for September 2023.    The surplus 
of places is expected to remain well above the target of 5%.   

2.13 Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, significant new housing is expected in the Ascot area.  This will start to impact on 
demand towards the end of the projection period, and is included in the numbers given in Table 1.  There is expected to be enough 
capacity within the projections period to meet this demand, but in the longer-term new primary provision may be needed. 

2.14 Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds rose in the year to August 2021, compared to the previous year.  Subsequently, primary 
schools in Ascot have taken a number of children from Ukraine and Hong Kong (15 across all year groups).   

2.15 Although year groups in Ascot primary schools tend to grow in size as they move up from Reception to Year 6, there are still 
expected to be enough places in the schools to meet this demand during the projection period. 

2.16 The projections are higher than those from 2021, reflecting a recovery in net inward migration.  If this recovers to pre-pandemic 
levels then future Reception numbers may be slightly higher than projected.  

 
  

+11% +12% +8%
+19% +16%

+30%

+16% +13% +13%

128



Table 2: 2022 projections and commentary for intakes into Datchet and Wraysbury primary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting in Sept. 
Projected  

for academic year starting in Sept. 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Number on roll in Reception:  88 89 88 84 74 86 72 93 92 
Surplus/deficit No.  +2 +1 +2 +6 +16 +4 +18 -3 -2 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Datchet and Wraysbury primary schools 
2.17 No further action is currently proposed for Datchet/Wraysbury.  Projections suggest another dip in demand in 2024 – this is likely to 

be lessened by movement from out-borough.  Conversely, there are only expected to be a small number of spare Reception spaces 
available in 2023, and none in 2025 and 2026.  It is expected that there will be enough capacity to meet demand from local 
residents.  These projections include around 0.5 FE (15) out-borough pupils per year. 

2.18 Relatively little new housing is planned for the Datchet and Wraysbury area during the next five years, so impact on demand for 
places will be minimal. 

2.19 Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds for the year to August 2021 is slightly lower than in the previous year, but in line with 
averages from the pre-pandemic period.  

2.20 In the 2021/22 academic year, primary schools in Datchet and Wraysbury took a very small number of children from Ukraine and 
Hong Kong.  There has, nevertheless, been an unusual level of inward migration into the two schools since January 2022, adding 
an average of 2 children per year group.  Nearly half of this has been international immigration (6), and half from elsewhere in the 
UK.   

2.21 Most year groups are expected to continue to have capacity for families moving into the area during the projection period. 

2.22 The projections are similar to those from 2021.    

+2% +1% +2% +7%
+18%

+4%

+21%

 -3%  -2%

129



Table 3: 2022 projections and commentary for intakes into Maidenhead primary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting September 
Projected  

for academic year starting September 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Number on roll in Reception:  862 886 897 872 871 836 794 839 837 
Surplus/deficit No. +106 +85 +74 +100 +101 +136 +148 +103 +105 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Maidenhead primary schools 
2.23 No immediate further action is proposed for Maidenhead, although the vacant primary school site on Chiltern Road, Maidenhead, is 

due to be refurbished to allow it to return to primary school use in due course.  The projections for the town as a whole suggest that 
there will be enough school places overall to meet demand in the projection period.  The surplus of places could increase to 16% 
surplus by September 2024. The projections include around 0.8 FE (24 children) of out-borough demand.   

2.24 The figures include the loss, in September 2024, of 30 Reception places at Lowbrook Academy as it reverts to 30 places again due 
to limited accommodation. 

2.25 The current overall projection for Reception masks significant variation within the town.  Demand is expected to fall from the current 
levels in most parts of the town and surrounding areas, with the exception of south-east Maidenhead.  Here, growth driven by new 
housing in and around the town centre is likely to lead to a significant local shortfall by September 2025.  Conversely, a sharper fall 
in demand is expected in south-west Maidenhead, where lower numbers of births are leading to reduced cohort sizes for the 
September 2023, 2024 and 2025 Reception intakes (see Table 3a) 

2.26 As noted above, new housing continues to add to demand for primary school places in the town.  Recent and planned development 
is expected to add more than a form of entry to primary demand by September 2025.  This demand is included within the figures 
given in Table 3. 

2.27 Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds remained relatively low in the year to August 2021, compared to pre-pandemic levels.  
There has, however, been significant and unusual movement into the Maidenhead primary schools since the start of 2022, with net 

+11% +9% +8% +10% +10%
+14% +16%

+11% +11%

130



growth of 135 children across Years R to 6.  This is equivalent to 20 extra children per year group.  Two-thirds of this movement has 
been international immigration (including 70 Ukrainian and refugee children accommodated in the Holiday Inn).  Some upward 
adjustments have therefore been made to the projections to reflect this, although this is clearly an area of ongoing uncertainty.  

2.28 The increased net inward migration has led to some shortfalls in places, particularly in what are now Years 5 and 6.  Spare places 
are now increasingly concentrated in schools on the edges of Maidenhead or in the surrounding villages.  Some schools have 
agreed to take additional children, and discussions will continue as required. 

2.29 Although the 2022 projections are lower than those from 2021, it is likely that these may be too low if net inward migration is now 
returning to previous levels.  This will be monitored closely.  Paragraphs 2.68 to 2.73 provide an update on the previously agreed 
strategy for primary school places in Maidenhead. 

Table 3a: Projected Year R surplus/deficits in Maidenhead, by subarea 
Subarea Actual Projected 
 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Bisham and Cookham +21 +20 +23 +11 +17 +25 +24 +28 +28 
Central Maidenhead +2 +4 0 +4 -5 +15 +19 +10 +11 
Maidenhead Villages +11 +9 +14 +30 +18 +18 +17 +24 +25 
North East Maidenhead +10 +7 +8 +28 +18 +20 +27 +15 +15 
North West Maidenhead +17 +9 +10 +17 +27 +27 +44 +34 +35 
South East Maidenhead +36 +28 0 -3 -3 -15 -4 -35 -37 
South West Maidenhead +15 +15 +20 +13 +34 +47 +19 +27 +28 
Maidenhead total* +106 +85 +74 +100 +101 +136 +148 +103 +105 
Maidenhead % total surplus 11% 9% 8% 10% 10% 14% 16% 11% 11% 

*The Maidenhead total is, in some cases, slightly different to the sum of the subarea projections, though not by more than 2. 

2.30 The schools in each subarea are: 

• Bisham and Cookham: Bisham, Cookham Rise, Cookham Dean, Holy Trinity (Cookham). 
• Central Maidenhead: Boyne Hill, Larchfield, St Edmund Campion (and All Saints Junior). 
• Maidenhead Villages: Burchetts Green; Knowl Hill; Waltham St Lawrence; White Waltham. 
• North East Maidenhead: Riverside, St Luke’s, St Mary’s. 
• North West Maidenhead: Alwyn; Furze Platt Federation (and Courthouse Junior). 
• South East Maidenhead: Braywick Court; Holyport; Oldfield. 
• South West Maidenhead: Lowbrook; Wessex; Woodlands Park. 

  

131



Table 4: 2022 projections and commentary for intakes into Windsor first schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting September 
Projected  

for academic year starting in Sept. 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
Number on roll in Reception:  478 502 488 457 446 431 433 417 414 
Surplus/deficit No. +67 +43 +57 +73 +84 +99 +97 +113 +116 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 
 

% 

 

Commentary for Windsor first schools 
2.31 Action may be required to temporarily reduce the number of first school places, to manage high projected surpluses.  The 

projections suggest that demand for Reception places is set to continue falling, with the surplus of places potentially reaching 21% 
in September 2025.  This is well above the 5% surplus place target.  The projections include around 1.9 FE (57) out-borough 
children. 

2.32 The figures above include the temporary reduction in places at Kings’ Court First School from 45 to 30. 

2.33 There is some variation in the projected demand across the town, with south and east Windsor likely to experience greater 
reductions in demand (on current levels) than the rest of the area (see Table 4a). 

2.34 Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This will start to impact on 
demand towards the end of the projection period, and is included in the numbers given in Table 4.  There is expected to be enough 
capacity within the projections period to meet this demand, but in the longer-term new first school provision may be needed. 

2.35 Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds remained negative in the year to August 2021, contrasting with pre-pandemic growth.  
There has been some relatively unusual movement into the Windsor first schools since the start of 2022, adding an average of 2 
extra children per year group.  A third of this of these movement has been international immigration (including 15 Ukrainian 
children).  A minor upward adjustment has been made to the projections to reflect this.  

2.36 The 2022 projections are lower than those from 2021 projections, due to continued low net inward migration. 

+12%
+8% +10%

+14% +16% +19% +18% +21% +22%

132



Table 4a: Projected Year R surplus/deficits in Windsor, by subarea 
Subarea Actual Projected 
 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 
East Windsor +4 +3 +5 +7 +19 +27 +13 +29 +30 
Eton +18 +19 +15 +13 +17 +13 +18 +11 +12 
Windsor North +11 +5 +11 +26 +14 +22 +30 +22 +23 
Windsor South +31 +8 +5 +25 +26 +28 +35 +34 +35 
Windsor Villages +6 +9 +21 +5 +4 +5 +4 +8 +7 
Windsor total +67 +43 +57 +73 +84 +99 +97 +113 +116 
Windsor % total surplus +12% +8% 10% +14% +16% +19% +18% +21% +22% 

2.37 The schools in each subarea are: 

• East Windsor: Oakfield; Queen Anne; Trinity St Stephen. 
• Eton: Eton Porny, Eton Wick. 
• Windsor North: Dedworth Green, Homer, St Edwards. 
• Windsor South: Alexander; Clewer Green; Hilltop. 
• Windsor Villages: Braywood, King’s Court, The Royal.  

133



Table 5: 2022 projections for intakes into Ascot secondary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting Sept: 
Projected  

for academic year starting September: 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Number on roll in Year 7:  271 302 270 270 274 270 270 270 270 271 
Surplus/deficit No. -1 -2 0 0 -4 0 0 0 0 -1 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Ascot secondary schools 
2.38 No further action is currently planned for Ascot secondary school provision.  The projections indicate that there should be enough 

places for Ascot and designated area residents in the projection period.  There is not expected to be a surplus of places during the 
projection period as any empty places are usually filled by out-borough applicants.  The projections include approximately 3 FE (90 
pupils) of out-borough demand for 2022, and 4 FE (120 pupils subsequently.  A significant part of this is from within the school’s 
designated area, which covers parts of Bracknell Forest.  A bulge in demand from Ascot has resulted in fewer out-borough pupils 
getting places this year. 

2.39 Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, significant new housing is expected in the Ascot area.  This is likely to eventually 
impact on secondary demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the primary schools.  It is expected that there 
will be enough secondary school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in 
the longer-term. 

2.40 Charters School has taken a small number of children from Ukraine and Hong Kong (8) since September 2021. 

2.41 The 2022 projections are in line with those from 2021. 

  

 -0%  -1%

 0%  0%

 -1%

 0%  0%  0%  0%  0%

134



Table 6: 2022 projections for intakes into Datchet and Wraysbury secondary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting Sept: 
Projected  

for academic year starting September: 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Number on roll in Year 7:  96 90 119 121 121 115 122 120 123 123 
Surplus/deficit No. +14 +20 +1 -1 -1 +5 -2 0 -3 -3 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Datchet and Wraysbury secondary schools 
2.42 No further action is currently planned for Datchet and Wraysbury secondary provision.  The projections indicate that there should be 

enough places in the area for the projection period, particularly for Datchet and Wraysbury residents.  There is projected to be little 
or no surplus for the projections period.  The projections include approximately 2.7 FE of out-borough demand, which is an increase 
on previous years and a reflection of the school’s increased popularity.  A significant part of the school’s designated area covers 
Slough.   

2.43 Around 0.9 FE (26 pupils) resident in Datchet and Wraysbury indicate a preference for one or more selective schools on average, 
and around two-thirds are successful as at National Offer Day. 

2.44 Relatively little new housing is planned for the Datchet and Wraysbury area during the next five years, so impact on demand for 
places will be minimal. 

2.45 There has been no known movement of children from Ukraine or Hong Kong into Churchmead School; however, it is possible that 
some of the refugees placed into a hotel in Datchet are of secondary school age, and may require a place. 

2.46 The 2022 projections slightly higher than those from 2021.  The projections assume that recent trends in the numbers of out-
borough children attending Churchmead, and Datchet & Wraysbury residents attending out-borough schools, will continue.  Slough 
Borough Council have been asked for an update on the latest secondary demand in East Slough and Langley – there are 
indications that demand for Churchmead from Slough residents is increasing. 

+13% +18%

 -1%  -1%  -1%

+4%

 -2%

 0%

 -2%  -2%

135



2.47 Churchmead School hopes to start offering sixth form places from September 2023, subject to take-up from the current Year 11.   

136



Table 7: 2022 projections for intakes into Maidenhead secondary schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting Sept: 
Projected  

for academic year starting September: 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Number on roll in Year 7:  921 954 988 933 959 1,018 959 934 937 952 
Surplus/deficit No. +87 +63 +76 +131 +105 +46 +105 +130 +127 +112 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes. 

% 

 

Commentary for Maidenhead secondary schools 
2.48 No further action is currently proposed for Maidenhead secondary schools.  The projections show that there will be enough places 

to meet demand during the period to 2027.  Although the surplus of places will be below 5% in September 2023, the number of 
pupils attending from out-borough means there is scope to address more local demand by taking fewer out-borough children, 
through the normal operation of the school admissions criteria.   

2.49 The projections include approximately 7.3 FE last year, above last year, but in line with long-term averages.  

2.50 The number of Maidenhead resident children taking up selective school places in neighbouring local authorities remains high by 
historical standards, at nearly 5.0 FE (143) for September 2022.  This compares to a 2010 to 2017 average of 90.  Three-quarters 
of applicants were successful as at National Offer Day.   

2.51 New housing continues to add to demand for primary school places in the town.  This is likely to eventually impact on secondary 
demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the primary schools.  It is expected that there will be enough 
secondary school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-term. 

2.52 Secondary schools in Maidenhead have taken 37 refugee children from Ukraine and other locations since September 2021.  Other 
international immigration, including from Hong Kong, has also contributed to growth in secondary school numbers over the last 
twelve months.  There remains capacity for families moving into the area. 

2.53 The 2022 projections are higher than those from 2021, reflecting a return to the long-term average of out-borough pupil numbers. 

+9% +6% +7%
+12% +10%

+4%
+10% +12% +12% +11%

137



Table 8: 2022 projections for intakes into Windsor middle schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting Sept: 
Projected  

for academic year starting September: 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Number on roll in Year 5:  473 494 467 482 488 461 456 458 437 413 
Surplus/deficit No. +37 +46 +73 +58 +52 +79 +84 +82 +103 +127 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Windsor middle schools 
2.54 No further action is proposed for Windsor middle schools, although temporary reductions in capacity may be required towards the 

end of the projections period.  The projections show that there will be enough places to meet demand during the period to 2027.  
The surplus of places will be well above the 5% target, potentially rising to 24% by September 2027.  The projections include 
around 1.5 FE (45 pupils) of out-borough demand.  Most of these children will have transferred up from the first schools.  A further 
1.0 FE (30 children) come from Datchet/Wraysbury), half of whom are on roll in a first school.   

2.55 On average, around 1.5 FE (43 pupils) resident in Windsor indicate a preference for one or more selective schools, and 56% are 
successful (on average).  This movement means that middle schools lose some children at the end of Year 6. 

2.56 Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This is likely to eventually 
impact on middle demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the first schools.  It is expected that there will be 
enough middle school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-
term. 

2.57 Middle schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (9) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since September 2021. 

2.58 It is expected that there will remain enough middle school places for families moving into the area. 

2.59 The 2022 projections are slightly higher than those from last year, reflecting an increased proportion of residents choosing a 
Windsor middle school at the end of Year 4.  

+7% +9%
+14% +11% +10%

+15% +16% +15%
+19%

+24%

138



Table 9: 2022 projections for intakes into Windsor upper schools. 
• White cells    indicate a surplus of 5% or more. 
• Grey cells       indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%. 
• Black cells  indicate a deficit of places. 
  Actual  

for academic year starting Sept: 
Projected  

for academic year starting September: 
  2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 
Number on roll in Year 9:  403 443 455 480 470 462 470 469 474 449 
Surplus/deficit No. +95 +55 +43 +26 +24 +32 +24 +25 +45 +54 
on published admissions numbers, 
including all temporary 
increases/decreases and agreed 
expansion schemes: 

% 

 

Commentary for Windsor upper schools 
2.60 No further upper school places are likely to be needed in Windsor during the projection period.  The projections show that the 

surplus of places will be relatively low during the projection period to 2026.  This follows the approval of plans to expand Windsor 
Girls’ School by 22 places per year group, to ensure that there are enough upper school places for girls.  The accommodation for 
this expansion will be built in 2023. 

2.61 The projections include approximately 2 FE (60 children) of out-borough demand, almost all of whom will already be in a borough 
middle school. 

2.62 Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This is likely to eventually 
impact on upper school demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the first and middle schools.  It is expected 
that there will be enough upper school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed 
in the longer-term. 

2.63 Upper schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (6) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since September 2021. 

2.64 It is expected that there will remain enough upper school places for families moving into the area. 

2.65 The 2022 projections are in line with those from last year. 

+19%

+11% +9%
+5% +5% +6% +5% +5% +4%

+9%

139



2.66 In summary, based on the 2022 pupil projections: 

• Ascot Primary    – no new school places currently needed. 
• Ascot Secondary    – no new school places currently needed. 
• Datchet/Wraysbury Primary  – no new school places currently needed. 
• Datchet/Wraysbury Secondary – no new school places currently needed. 
• Maidenhead Primary  – new places expected to be needed. 
• Maidenhead Secondary  – no new school places currently needed. 
• Windsor First   – temporary reductions in places advised. 
• Windsor Middle   – no new school places currently needed. 
• Windsor Upper   – no new school places currently needed. 

Latest information about net inward migration 
2.67 Initial analysis of data released in October 2022 suggests that net inward 

migration rates have increased again in the year to August 2022.  There is 
more information about this in Appendix B.  Initial rough work suggests that 
this does not yet change the conclusions given in paragraph 2.66 above. 

Further actions for Maidenhead primary schools 
2.68 Cabinet considered a report In November 2021 on the outcome of public 

consultation for more primary school provision in the Maidenhead area.  This 
followed pupil projections showing increasing demand for primary school 
places in the town.  As was noted in the December 2022 report, the evidence 
for that growth had since weakened significantly, as falls in net inward 
migration became apparent in the data supporting the projections. 

2.69 Accordingly, Cabinet: 

• gave in principle agreement to the opening of a primary free school on the 
unoccupied Chiltern Road site2 in Maidenhead. 

• requested a report on options for the temporary occupation of the Chiltern 
Road site, and its refurbishment, ahead of any free school opening. 

• requested that demand be kept under review and that proposals considered 
in the public consultation for primary school expansions at Lowbrook 
Academy, St Luke’s Church of England Primary School and St Mary’s 
Catholic Primary School are brought back to Cabinet for consideration in 
Autumn 2022. 

• delegated authority to the now Executive Director for People Services to 
begin the free school competition process for the Chiltern Road site, when 
required. A decision on whether to start this in time for a September 2025 
opening will be required in 2023. 

• delegated authority was also delegated to the now Executive Director for 
People Services to carry out further consultation on a possible rebuild of 
Larchfield Primary School as a 420 place school, if demand in central 
Maidenhead were to rise significantly. 

2.70 Cabinet considered a report in August 2022 confirming the strategy for the 
Chiltern Road site.  Design works for its refurbishment are now underway.  
The site is expected to be used by Manor Green School for a SEND Careers 
Hub until at least September 2025. 

 
2 Formerly Oldfield Primary School (before it moved to Bray Road) and then Forest Bridge School (before it moved to Braywick 
Park). 

140



2.71 With regard to expansions at St Luke’s Church of England Primary School, St 
Mary’s Catholic Primary School and Larchfield Primary School & Nursery, it is 
proposed that these remain on hold for the present.  

2.72 For Lowbrook Academy, the proposal here was to provide new 
accommodation so that the school could retain a permanent Published 
Admission Number (PAN) of 60.  At present, its accommodation of only 11 
classrooms means that the school can only have 60 pupils in four of its seven 
year groups.  The other three year groups have only 30 pupils.  The school is 
due to revert to a PAN of 30 in September 2024. 

2.73 In view of continued falling demand in South West Maidenhead, and following 
discussions with the school, it has been agreed that there is currently no 
school place planning justification for the spaces.  This will, of course, be kept 
under review, as the current situation can be difficult for the school to manage, 
and can cause issues with siblings wanting places at the school. 

Development on the Maidenhead Golf course site 
2.74 The Borough Local Plan made provision for new primary and secondary 

schools on the housing development planned for what is generally known as 
the Maidenhead Golf course site, and more formally called AL13, South West 
Maidenhead.   

2.75 In school place planning terms, the site is currently within the Central 
Maidenhead planning area and is likely to become a planning area in its own 
right.  Development of the site is likely to have only just started by 2025, so its 
impact is not yet registering in the pupil projections.  The scale of the 
development means that the site is expected to need its own primary school 
(regardless of surplus places elsewhere in the town).  New secondary school 
provision is likely to follow in due course, likely delayed until the 2030s 
(demand for secondary school places from new housing takes a while to 
materialise). 

2.76 A separate report on the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) relating to 
AL13 South West Maidenhead is being considered by Cabinet in December. 

Further actions for Windsor first schools 
2.77 The significant projected level of surplus places in the Windsor first schools 

poses risks to schools in the town.  Without a planned reduction in capacity, 
some schools may end up with large numbers of spare places, threatening 
their financial viability. 

2.78 Officers have previously asked Windsor first schools to consider temporary 
reductions in their PANs, and it is proposed that this is now pursued further.  
Temporary reductions allow schools to reduce their intakes, but no 
accommodation will be removed.  This will allow schools to expand again as 
demand rises. 

2.79 The target for surplus places is 5%.  In the context of the projected Windsor 
numbers this would mean reducing the number of Windsor Reception places 
by around 90 by September 2025.  This level of reduction may be challenging, 
and initial efforts should focus on a temporary reduction of 30 to 60 places.  
School places should continue to be available where they are needed.   

141



Options  
 

Table 10: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Confirms the delegation of authority to 
the Executive Director of People 
Services, in consultation with the Deputy 
Chairman of Cabinet, Adult Social Care, 
Children’s Services, Health, Mental 
Health and Transformation, to start the 
free school competition process for a 
new primary school at Chiltern Road, 
having regard for the target of 5% 
surplus places, both locally and across 
Maidenhead as a whole. 
This is the recommended option. 

This will allow the local authority 
to start the free school 
competition process for a new 
primary school on the Chiltern 
Road site, if and when demand is 
confirmed. 

Requests that measures be taken to 
reduce the likelihood of excessive 
surplus places in Windsor first schools. 
This is the recommended option. 

This will allow the borough to 
reduce the surplus places in 
Windsor first schools in a planned 
way, minimising the risk of 
financial instability for schools. 

Do nothing. 
This is not the recommended option. 

This will mean that the borough 
would risk delays in starting the 
competition process for a new 
free school on the Chiltern Road 
site.  Simultaneously, high levels 
of surplus places could 
accumulate in Windsor first 
schools. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded/ 

significantly 
exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

Decision on 
competition 
process 
taken in time 
to allow 
September 
2025 
opening. 

No decision 
on the need 
for a 
competition 
process is 
taken by 
September 
2023. 

A decision on 
the need for a 
competition 
process is 
taken by 
September 
2023. 

A decision on 
the need for a 
competition 
process is 
taken by June 
2023. 

1st 
September 
2023. 

Temporary 
reductions in 
Windsor First 
School PANs 
are achieved. 

0 PAN 
reduction 

30 PAN 
reduction 

60 PAN 
reduction 

1st 
September 
2023 

142



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Local authorities are under a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient 
school places in their area.  This is set out in the Education Act 1996, Section 
14, subsections 1 and 2.   

5.2 There is no legal duty to provide any particular level of surplus places. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT 

Table 12: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Accuracy of pupil 
projections, with 
the risk that actual 
demand is 
significantly 
different to that 
expected.  This 
appears to be a 
higher risk in 
recent years, due 
to Covid-19, and 
changing national 
and international 
migration. 

High Annual production of 
pupil projections to take 
account of the latest 
information. 
 
Inclusion of a surplus of 
places in planning, to 
provide capacity in the 
system in case 
projections are lower than 
actual demand.  
Monitoring of a wide 
range of sources of 
information to help make 
sense of emerging 
trends. 

Medium 

Decision on 
running a free 
school competition 
for the Chiltern 
Road site is 
delayed. 

Medium The 2023 projections 
process will start in 
Spring 2023.  This should 
give sufficient information 
to make a judgement 
about the need for a new 
school for September 
2025. 

Low 

No temporary 
reductions in PANs 
are agreed by 
Windsor first 
schools. 

High The local authority will 
carry out analysis to 
clarify the likely impact of 
reduced demand on each 
first school.  

Medium. 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities.  An EQIA is contained at Appendix D. 

143



7.2 Climate change/sustainability. There are no climate change or sustainability 
implications arising directly from this report.  

 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. There are no data protection or GDPR implications 

arising from this report. 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.  The 2022 
projections and analysis have been shared with schools. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: A decision about whether a new school is 
needed on the Chiltern Road site will need to be taken at least two years ahead 
of opening.  A decision in relation to September 2025 will be needed, therefore, 
by September 2023. 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by three appendices: 

• Appendix A – summary of secondary programme. 
• Appendix B – summary of net inward migration, births data and arrivals 

from Hong Kong. 
• Appendix C – SCAP commentary. 
• Appendix D – EqIA.  

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by three background documents: 
 
• Demand for school places, Report to Cabinet, November 2021 (item 6b). 
• Demand for new primary school places in Maidenhead, Report to Cabinet, 

November 2021 (item 6c) 
• Temporary use of Chiltern Road School Site – Manor Green SEND Careers 

Hub, Report to Cabinet, August 2022 (item 6e) 
  

144

https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=8052&Ver=4
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=8052&Ver=4
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=8279&Ver=4
https://rbwm.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=132&MId=8279&Ver=4


12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputy)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
11/11/22 22/11/22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy and 
Public Health / Monitoring 
Officer 

11/11/22 16/11/22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

  

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

11/11/22 14/11/22 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive   
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place   
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
10/11/22 10/11/22 

Lin Ferguson AfC Director of Children’s 
Services 

  

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

 Head of …….   
 Head of …….   
 Head of …….   
External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Deputy Chairman of Cabinet, 
Children’s Services, Education, 
Health, Mental Health and 
Transformation 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision:  
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 
18/07/2022 
 

No  
 

No 

145



 
 

Report Author: Ben Wright, School Places and Capital Team Leader 
  

146



Appendix A: Approved school expansion programme 

Table A1: Approved school expansion programme sets out the current approved 
expansion programme. 

Table A1: Approved school expansion programme 

Area School Phase 
Original 

PAN  
New 
PAN  

PAN 
increase 
No. /FE* 

First year 
of new 
intake 
(Sept.) 

Ascot Charters School 1 240 270 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Maidenhead Cox Green School 1 176 206 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Maidenhead Furze Platt Senior 
School 

1 193 223 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Windsor Dedworth Middle 
School 

1 120 150 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Windsor The Windsor Boys’ 
School 

1 230 260 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Windsor Windsor Girls’ 
School 

1 178 208 +30 / +1.0 2017 

Maidenhead Furze Platt Senior 
School 

2 193 253 +60 / +2.0 2018 

Windsor Dedworth Middle 
School 

2 150 180 +30 / +1.0 2018 

Windsor St Peter’s CE 
Middle 

3 60 90 +30 / +1.0 2019 

Windsor Windsor Girls’ 
School 

4 208 230 +22 / +0.7 2022 

*FE means Form of Entry.  1 FE = one class of 30 children per year group. 

A further 6 places per year group were also been added at Newlands’ Girls School.  
This scheme, funded largely by S106 contributions, was not part of the formal 
secondary expansion programme but nevertheless increased the number of places 
available.  Cox Green School has also further increased its PAN to 210, adding a 
final six additional places per year group. 

These schemes are proceeding as follows:  

• The Windsor Boys’ School  completed. 
• Windsor Girls’ School  completed. 
• Charters School   completed. 
• Cox Green School  completed. 
• Newlands Girls’ School completed. 
• Dedworth Middle School completed. 
• Furze Platt Senior School completed. 
• St Peter’s CE Middle School completed. 
• Windsor Girls’ School  planning application approved in September.  Due 

to start on site this winter.  The school has already admitted additional pupils. 

147



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

1 
 

APPENDIX B: 2022 SUMMARY OF BIRTHS DATA, LOCAL AND INTERNATIONAL 
MIGRATION. 

1. Introduction 

1.1 This appendix takes a brief look at some of the wider demographic information that is 
impacting demand for school places in the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. 

2. Births Data 

Births nationally 
2.1 The Office of the National Statistics (ONS) released their latest analysis of national 

births data in late October1.  In the release, the ONS note: 

• the number of live births in 2021 for England and Wales increased to 624,828, a 
1.8% increase on 2020.  This figure is, however, still below the 2019 figure of 
640,370, and significantly below the 2012 peak of 729,674.  The 2021 figure is 
still, therefore, in line with the ongoing long-term downward trend. 

• the total fertility rate (TFR) for England and Wales rose to 1.61 children per 
woman, which is the first increase in that figure since 2012.  Whilst fertility rates 
increased overall, younger age groups saw declining fertility rates, while older age 
groups saw fertility rates increase.  The 2020 figure of 1.58 was, however, the 
lowest since records began in 1938.   

• the number of stillbirths nationally increased to 4.1 stillbirths per 1,000 total births, 
after the record low in 2020 of 3.9. 

2.2 The ONS indicate that the number of late registrations in 2020 was higher than 
average, due partly to capacity issues at registrars arising from the covid pandemic.  
This means that the 2020 figures for births may be a slight underestimate, and the 
2021 figures a slight overestimate (as late registrations are included in the following 
year’s data).   

2.3 The TFR is the average number of live children that a group of women would bear by 
the end of their child-bearing years if the current trends on births (adjusted according 
to the age to the women in that group) applied throughout that period. 

2.4 Table B1 sets out the live birth numbers and TFR for England and Wales for the 
period 2010 to 2021.  Please note that this information relates to the calendar year.  
There will be differences, therefore, with data published elsewhere by the borough in 
relation to school place planning, which is based on academic year figures. 

2.5 It is worth noting that there is little evidence from these figures of any significant 
national impact from the pandemic on birth rates.  Children born in the 2021 calendar 
year would have been conceived between April 2020 and March 2021, coinciding 
with the first, second and third national lockdown periods2 (yellow row in the table).   

  

 
1 Births in England and Wales: 2021.  Office of National Statistics, 9 August 2022 
2 March to June 2020; November 2020 and January to March 2021.  There were varying levels of restrictions in place in between these 

periods. 149

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/livebirths/bulletins/birthsummarytablesenglandandwales/2021


APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

2 
 

Table B1: Live Births and TFR rates for England and Wales 

Calendar 
Year

Number 
of Live 
Births

Total 
Fertility 

Rate

Conception 
period 
from:

Conception 
period to:

2010 723,165 1.94 Apr-09 Mar-10
2011 723,913 1.93 Apr-10 Mar-11
2012 729,674 1.94 Apr-11 Mar-12
2013 698,512 1.85 Apr-12 Mar-13
2014 695,233 1.83 Apr-13 Mar-14
2015 697,852 1.82 Apr-14 Mar-15
2016 696,271 1.81 Apr-15 Mar-16
2017 679,106 1.76 Apr-16 Mar-17
2018 657,076 1.70 Apr-17 Mar-18
2019 640,370 1.65 Apr-18 Mar-19
2020 613,936 1.58 Apr-19 Mar-20
2021 624,828 1.61 Apr-20 Mar-21  

Live births data for the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
2.6 Similar trends for live birth numbers and the TFR are apparent in the Royal Borough 

of Windsor and Maidenhead, as shown in Table B2. 

Table B2: Live Births and TFR rates for the Royal Borough 

Calendar 
Year

Number 
of Live 
Births

Total 
Fertility 

Rate

Conception 
period 
from:

Conception 
period to:

2010 n/a n/a 2.00 Apr-09 Mar-10
2011 1,784 1.88 Apr-10 Mar-11
2012 1,860 1.99 Apr-11 Mar-12
2013 1,696 1.83 Apr-12 Mar-13
2014 1,671 1.80 Apr-13 Mar-14
2015 1,617 1.75 Apr-14 Mar-15
2016 1,757 1.91 Apr-15 Mar-16
2017 1,657 1.81 Apr-16 Mar-17
2018 1,574 1.75 Apr-17 Mar-18
2019 1,515 1.72 Apr-18 Mar-19
2020 1,405 1.60 Apr-19 Mar-20
2021 1,525 1.73 Apr-20 Mar-21  

2.7 The number of live births in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead in 2021 
was 1,525.  This is significantly up (+8.5%) on the low point of 1,405 in 2020.  This 
increase is, therefore, well above the national trend.  This could mean the pandemic 
had a positive local impact on birth rates, but is more likely a result of particularly low 
birth numbers in 2020.  The 2021 figure is still well below numbers from the early 
2010s, representing a 22% decrease since the 2012 peak of 1,860. 

2.8 The TFR has also risen in 2021, to 1.73, up from 1.60 in 2020. 

  150



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

3 
 

Live births data for areas within the Royal Borough 
2.9 Data on the number of live births for different parts of the borough is available by 

aggregating data for mid-Super Output Areas (mSOAs) to: 

• Ascot. 
• Datchet and Wraysbury. 
• Maidenhead. 
• Windsor. 

 
2.10 These aggregated mSOAs roughly match the planning areas use for school place 

planning.  Table B3 shows the live births data for the different areas, for the period 
2013 to 2021.  TFR data is not currently available for mSOAs.  Table B4 shows the 
same data, at mSOA level. 

Table B3: Live Births for areas within the Royal Borough 

Calendar 
Year

Ascot Live 
Births

Datchet & 
Wraysbury 

Live Births

Conception 
period 
from:

Conception 
period to:

2013 145 96 Apr-12 Mar-13
2014 136 94 Apr-13 Mar-14
2015 116 88 Apr-14 Mar-15
2016 106 107 Apr-15 Mar-16
2017 142 92 Apr-16 Mar-17
2018 98 71 Apr-17 Mar-18
2019 106 86 Apr-18 Mar-19
2020 112 82 Apr-19 Mar-20
2021 121 99 Apr-20 Mar-21

Calendar 
Year

Maidenhead 
Live Births

Windsor 
Live Births

Conception 
period 
from:

Conception 
period to:

2013 900 555 Apr-12 Mar-13
2014 889 552 Apr-13 Mar-14
2015 905 508 Apr-14 Mar-15
2016 980 564 Apr-15 Mar-16
2017 931 492 Apr-16 Mar-17
2018 903 502 Apr-17 Mar-18
2019 836 487 Apr-18 Mar-19
2020 762 451 Apr-19 Mar-20
2021 852 453 Apr-20 Mar-21  

2.11 The areas within the Royal Borough show similar trends to the overall pattern.  All 
parts of the borough had higher numbers of births in 2021 than in 2020, though in 
Windsor the recovery was negligible.  Numbers of births continue to be below the 
longer-term average in all parts of the borough except Datchet and Wraysbury. 

151



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

4 
 

Table B4: Live Births for mid-layer Super Output Areas within the Royal Borough 

Area mSOa
Description of area 
covered by mSOA 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Conception 
period from: Apr-12 Apr-13 Apr-14 Apr-15 Apr-16 Apr-17 Apr-18 Apr-19 Apr-20

Conception 
period to: Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18 Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21

Ascot E02003437 Cheapside & 68 71 55 41 62 51 41 54 53
North Ascot

E02003438 Sunninghill & 77 65 61 65 80 47 65 58 68
Sunningdale

Datchet & E02003431 Datchet & Wraysbury 96 94 88 107 92 71 86 82 99
Wraysbury

Windsor E02003430 Castle and Eton 84 61 53 61 60 51 71 57 68

E02003432 Clewer Village to 120 105 109 122 100 86 105 74 79
Combermere Barracks

E02003433 West Dedworth 87 101 96 88 83 97 74 83 71

E02003434 East Dedworth to 100 106 96 113 95 125 95 100 92
Clewer New Town

E02003435 SE & SW Windsor 81 88 84 90 88 70 76 77 78

E02003436 Great Park & 83 91 70 90 66 73 66 60 65
Old Windsor

 
 

152



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

5 
 

Table B4: Live Births for mid-layer Super Output Areas within the Royal Borough (continued) 

Area mSOa
Description of area 
covered by mSOA 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Conception 
period from: Apr-12 Apr-13 Apr-14 Apr-15 Apr-16 Apr-17 Apr-18 Apr-19 Apr-20

Conception 
period to: Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17 Mar-18 Mar-19 Mar-20 Mar-21

Maidenhead E02003421 North Furze Platt & 57 63 51 53 55 49 44 57 49
Pinkneys Green

E02003422 Bisham, Cookhams & 128 110 100 124 119 120 97 83 109
Walthams

E02003423 South Furze Platt 85 74 81 84 87 76 86 52 61

E02003424 Maidenhead Riverside 80 73 81 82 96 91 82 95 116
to Braywick Park

E02003425 Central Maidenhead 172 191 204 223 180 201 200 162 183

E02003426 Highway & Tittle Row 101 89 101 90 91 88 91 76 93

E02003427 Boyn Hill to A404(M) 114 124 119 120 125 119 107 108 96

E02003428 Cox Green 91 96 102 117 103 106 73 78 83

E02003429 Holyport to 72 69 66 87 75 53 56 51 63
Oakley Green

 
 
  

153



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

6 
 

3. International Migration into the UK 

Overall migration 
3.1 The birth rate isn’t the only factor that impacts on demand for school places.  

Migration in and out of the Royal Borough is also important, whether driven by 
national trends or more local aspects such as new housing. 

3.2 The latest available release from the Office of National Statistics relating to 
international migration is from May 20223.  This is a new dataset from the ONS, and 
is not directly comparable to previous figures (including those provided in this 
appendix last year).  The impact of the pandemic has created some significant 
challenges for the ONS in updating their international migration statistics. 

3.3 The key points in that release are: 

• in the year ending June 2021, around 239,000 more people moved to the UK, 
intending to stay for 12 months or more, than left.  This figure is the net migration, 
which is the balance between immigration and emigration. 

• this is a small decrease from the year ending June 2020, where the net migration 
was around 260,000.   

• the positive net migration figures are being driven almost entirely by non-EU 
migration, with 81,000 non-EU nationals emigrating in the year to June 2021, 
compared to 332,000 immigrating.  Historically, a large part of this has been 
foreign students, and the ONS believe this continues to be the case. 

3.4 Due to the changed methodology, there is no historical dataset prior to the year 
ending June 2020.  The figures are provided in Tables B5 and B6. 

Table B5: Net migration into the UK 

Year to 
June

Immigration
('000s)

Emigration
('000s)

Net 
Migration

('000s)

Movement 
period 
from:

Movement 
period 

to:

2020 741 482 259 Jul-19 Jun-20
2021 573 334 239 Jul-20 Jun-21  

Table B6: EU and Non-EU net migration into the UK

Year to 
June

British net 
migration 

('000s)

EU net 
migration 

('000s)

Non-EU net 
migration

('000s)

Movement 
period 
from:

Movement 
period 

to:

2020 11 24 224 Jul-19 Jun-20
2021 0 -12 251 Jul-20 Jun-21  

3.5 The figures are clearly affected by the pandemic, with the first national lockdown 
period accounting for the last quarter of the year to June 2020.  The year to June 
2021 includes the second and third lockdown periods.   

 
3 Long-term international migration, provisional, Office of National Statistics, May 2022. 154

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/longterminternationalmigrationprovisional/june2021


APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

7 
 

3.6 To give a bit more historical context, Tables B7 and B8 provide the figures from the 
ONS’s older methodology, going back to 2010/114. 

Table B7: Net migration into the UK (older methodology) 

Financial 
year

Immigration
('000s)

Emigration
('000s)

Net 
Migration

('000s)

Movement 
period 
from:

Movement 
period 

to:

2010/11 612 336 276 Apr-10 Mar-11
2011/12 567 352 215 Apr-11 Mar-12
2012/13 521 357 164 Apr-12 Mar-13
2013/14 583 350 233 Apr-13 Mar-14
2014/15 680 349 331 Apr-14 Mar-15
2015/16 667 342 325 Apr-15 Mar-16
2016/17 617 374 243 Apr-16 Mar-17
2017/18 623 392 231 Apr-17 Mar-18
2018/19 614 393 221 Apr-18 Mar-19
2019/20 715 403 312 Apr-19 Mar-20  

Table B8: EU and Non-EU net migration into the UK (older methodology) 

Financial 
year

British net 
migration 

('000s)

EU net 
migration 

('000s)

Non-EU net 
migration

('000s)

Movement 
period 
from:

Movement 
period 

to:

2010/11 -50 112 215 Apr-10 Mar-11
2011/12 -77 107 185 Apr-11 Mar-12
2012/13 -65 123 106 Apr-12 Mar-13
2013/14 -50 161 123 Apr-13 Mar-14
2014/15 -48 219 159 Apr-14 Mar-15
2015/16 -43 207 162 Apr-15 Mar-16
2016/17 -59 123 179 Apr-16 Mar-17
2017/18 -55 85 200 Apr-17 Mar-18
2018/19 -54 62 213 Apr-18 Mar-19
2019/20 -61 58 316 Apr-19 Mar-20  

 Period to June 2022 
3.7 The year to June 2022 is not covered in the currently available ONS datasets but, 

clearly, the international situation has changed significantly in this period.  This has 
added new patterns of movement (e.g. refugees from Ukraine) to existing 
movements (e.g. from Hong Kong and Afghanistan). 

Migration via specific schemes 

Hong Kong 
3.8 In July 2020 the British Government announced a new visa route for Hong Kong 

residents who hold a British National Overseas - BN(O) - passport.  This allowed 
BNO passport holders to live and work in the UK for five years, with a path to 
citizenship. 

 
4 Migration Statistics Quarterly Report: August 2020, Office of National Statistics, August 2020. 155

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/internationalmigration/bulletins/migrationstatisticsquarterlyreport/latest


APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

8 
 

3.9 These changes came into effect on 31st January 2021.  The Home Office estimate 
that there are 2.9 million BN(O) status holders eligible to move to the UK, with a 
further 2.3 million estimated eligible dependents.  The Home Office impact 
assessment’s central range analysis estimates between 123,000 and 153,700 BN(O) 
holders/dependents arriving in the UK in 2021, and between 258,000 and 322,240 
over the five year period from 31st January 20215. 

3.10 Latest figures from the government show there were 140,500 applications for the 
BN(O) route up to the end of June 20226.  As at June 2022, 110,504 had been 
considered and approved, with only 2% being rejected7.   

Afghanistan 
3.11 The UK has two schemes specifically for Afghan nationals to relocate to the country: 

• Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy (ARAP), which launched in April 2021. 
• Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS), which launched in January 2022. 

3.12 ARAP offers Afghan citizens who worked alongside the UK government (and meets 
the ARAP criteria) relocation to the UK.  ACRS is aimed at vulnerable groups, 
including women and girls at risk, and members of minority groups at risk. 

3.13 The numbers resettled under these schemes is likely to be much lower than the Hong 
Kong numbers.  The ACRS scheme plans to resettle 5,000 people in the first year, 
and up to 20,000 over the coming years8.   

3.14 The Home Office estimates that, as at August 2022, 21,450 people had arrived from 
Afghanistan as part of the resettlement programmes.  11,303 have so far been 
granted ‘Indefinite Leave to Remain’.  9,667 (half of whom are children) are in 
temporary accommodation in 66 hotels, and 7,385 have moved into a home, or been 
matched to home.  This figure excludes families who have made their own 
accommodation arrangements9. 

3.15 The impact on individual local authorities and schools is likely to be relatively small in 
numerical terms, although clearly there may be challenges arising from language 
barriers and mental health. 

Ukraine 
3.16 Since the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the UK has offered two routes for refugees 

into the UK: 

• Ukraine Family Scheme, for Ukrainians who have family already settled in the UK. 
• Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme (Homes for Ukraine), where a sponsor can provide 

accommodation for a minimum of 6 months.  

3.17 Both routes only currently provide leave to remain in the UK for up to three years.  It 
seems likely that at least some will then apply for British citizenship.  Applications to 
extend existing visas can also be made under the Ukraine Extension Scheme.   

 
5 Media factsheet: Hong Kong BN(O) Visa Route, Home Office, 24 February 2022. 
6 Immigration statistics, year ending June 2022), Home Office, September 2022. 
7 Entry clearance visas summary tables, Home Office, August 2022. 
8 Afghan citizens resettlement scheme, Home Office, August 2022. 
9 Afghan Resettlement Programme: operational data, Home Office, August 2022. 156

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/afghan-relocations-and-assistance-policy/afghan-relocations-and-assistance-policy-information-and-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/afghan-citizens-resettlement-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-a-ukraine-family-scheme-visa
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-for-a-visa-under-the-ukraine-sponsorship-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/apply-to-stay-in-the-uk-under-the-ukraine-extension-scheme
https://homeofficemedia.blog.gov.uk/2021/01/29/media-factsheet-hong-kong-bnos/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/immigration-statistics-year-ending-june-2022/summary-of-latest-statistics
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fassets.publishing.service.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fuploads%2Fsystem%2Fuploads%2Fattachment_data%2Ffile%2F1100609%2Fvisas-summary-jun-2022-tables.ods&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/afghan-citizens-resettlement-scheme
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/afghan-resettlement-programme-operational-data/afghan-resettlement-programme-operational-data


APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

9 
 

3.18 As at 1st November 2022, 73,300 applications had been made under the Ukraine 
Family Scheme, and 168,100 under the Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme (totalling 
146,379).  196,200 of these applications had been granted by the same date10. 

3.19 Data for the period to June 2022 suggests that nearly a third of the arrivals are under 
the age of 1811. 

Net inward migration in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
3.20 Information about international migration into local authority areas is not available in 

the way it is for the UK as a whole.  It does, however, provide a context within which 
locally produced migration figures (which don’t distinguish between national and 
international migration) can be considered. 

3.21 The main dataset used for the pupil projections comes from the NHS, who, each 
Autumn, provide the local authority with a breakdown of the number of children aged 
0 to 18 who are resident in the borough. 

3.22 This information is provided by postcode, which means that the data can be 
aggregated to various levels, including by town, e.g. Maidenhead.  As the data is also 
provided annually, we can compare figures to provide net inward migration over time. 

3.23 Note that the 2022 pupil projections use the 2013 to 2021 data, as the 2022 data only 
becomes available in October, three months after the deadline for submitting those 
projections to the DfE. 

3.24 Table B9 shows the changes in sizes of the cohorts of children resident in the Royal 
Borough, aged 0, 1, 2 and 3, as they move up into the cohorts of 1, 2, 3 and 4 year 
olds each year.  The data is shown for each age group as at 31st August each year, 
between 2014 and 2022. 

3.25 By way of an example, the section in red in Table B9 says that: 

• in August 2017 there were 1,687 children resident in the Royal Borough aged 2. 
• a year later, in August 2018, that same cohort of children was aged 3. 
• there were 1,753 children in that cohort. 
• this is an increase of 66, although there will have been many more movements of 

children in and out of the borough in the cohort over this period. 
• the net movement was, therefore, +66. 
• proportionally, the 2018 cohort was 1.04 times the size it was in 2017. 

3.26 Table B9 colour codes the proportions calculated, so that yellow cells show strong 
year on year growth in cohort size, whilst blue cells show decreasing cohort sizes. 

 
10 Ukraine Family Scheme...visa data, Home Office, November 2022. 
11 Homes for Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme..visa data by age and sex of applicant, Home Office, July 2022 157

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/ukraine-family-scheme-application-data/ukraine-family-scheme-and-ukraine-sponsorship-scheme-homes-for-ukraine-visa-data--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homes-for-ukraine-sponsorship-scheme-and-ukraine-family-scheme-visa-data-by-age-and-sex-of-applicant


APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

10 
 

Table B9: Change in size of Royal Borough resident cohorts, as they get older each year  

158



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

11 
 

3.27 Table B10 condenses the proportional change given in Table 9, and also provides: 

• the five year average for the proportional change in size for each cohort as it ages by a 
year.  Four averages can be calculated on the available data, and these are given in the 
last four rows at the bottom of the table.  The cells with a red border show that, for the 
cohorts of two year olds turning into three year olds, the 5 year average annual change 
was 1.025 between 2016 and 2021.  This is based on the average of the figures for the 
movements from 2016 to 2017, 2017 to 2018, 2018 to 2019, 2019 to 2020 and 2020 to 
2021. 

• the average annual proportional change for all the age groups 0 to 4, and also for 0 to 
18. 

Table B10: Change in size of Royal Borough resident cohorts, with averages 

 

3.28 Table B9 shows that, in the period 2014 to 2019, most cohorts grew in size from year to 
year in the Royal Borough.  Only two of the 20 data points in that period are below 1, 
which indicates a shrinking cohort.   

3.29 In early 2020, however, the covid pandemic resulted in national lockdown for most of the 
second half of the 2019/20 academic year.  The impact on net migration into the Royal 
Borough is shown here.  Between 2019 and 2020 three of the four 0 to 4 cohorts shrank, 
and one (the youngest) only grew slightly.  The average proportional growth across all 0 to 
4 cohorts fell to just 0.996 (shown in the penultimate column).  The impact across all 
cohorts aged 0 to 18 was even worse, with a drop to just 0.98. 

3.30 That impact continued into the 2020/21 academic year, with relatively low growth 
(compared to pre-pandemic levels) of 1.015 in cohort sizes for 0 to 4 year olds between 
2020 and 2021. 

159



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

12 
 

3.31 The latest data does, however, suggest a recovery between August 2021 and August 
2022, with average growth of 1.047 for 0 to 4 year olds.  This is similar levels seen in the 
pre-pandemic period. 

3.32 Due to the volatility in the proportional change in cohort sizes, the pupil projections model 
uses five year averages, as given in the last four rows of Table B10.  These rows give the 
five year averages for four periods: 

• 2014 to 2019 (as used for the 2020 pupil projections). 
• 2015 to 2020 (as used for the 2021 pupil projections). 
• 2016 to 2021 (as used for the 2022 pupil projections). 
• 2017 to 2022 (as will be used for the 2023 pupil projections). 

3.33 The five year averages are high when based on the 2014 to 2019 period.  The five year 
average starts to drop for the 2015 to 2020 and particularly the 2016 to 2021 period, as  
the impact of the pandemic starts to show in the data.  The 2017 to 2022 average has 
recovered, although will still be depressed as it includes the pandemic years. 

3.34 Table B11 summarises the changing average proportion growth in cohorts aged 0 to 4, by 
area in the borough. 

Table B11: Average change in size of cohorts aged 0 to 4, by area 

 

3.35 Based on the year to August 2022, net inward migration in: 

• Ascot has recovered to pre-pandemic levels. 
• Datchet & Wraysbury is higher than in the pre-pandemic period. 
• Maidenhead has recovered to pre-pandemic levels. 
• Windsor is still significantly below pre-pandemic levels. 

3.36 This new data will need to be properly integrated into the pupil projections model, but 
some initial rough work suggests that this new information does not yet change the 
conclusions around the need for new school places given in the main report. 

3.37 It is also worth noting that the latest data from the NHS does include refugee children 
housed in the Holiday Inn, which may be artificially inflating net inward migration.  
Similarly, influxes from Hong Kong and Ukraine may a one-off, rather than a longer-term 
trend.  This will need to be examined further for the 2023 projections.   

3.38 Of course, the values given in the tables above only seem to change by relatively small 
amounts.  The smallest five year average figure given in Table B10 is 1.005, whilst the 
largest is 1.066.  However, applying this to 1,000 pupils means a year on year growth in a 
single cohort of either 5 pupils (1,000 x 1.005 = 1,005) or of 66 pupils (1,000 x 1.066 = 
1,066).  This is illustrated in full in Table B12. 160



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

13 
 

3.39 Table B12 shows two scenarios, both calculating the likely future sizes of resident cohorts 
in the Royal Borough aged 0 to 4 for the Reception intakes in September 2023 to 2026.  
Scenario 1 uses the 5 year average proportional change in cohort size used for the 2022 
projections, as based on the 2016 to 2021 data from Table B10.  Scenario 2 uses the 
latest 5 year average proportional change in cohort size, as based on the 2017 to 2022 
data from Table B10. 

3.40 The black cells show the resulting projected cohort sizes.  In Scenario 1, the cohort 
applying for September 2026 Reception places is expected to have 1,694 children.  In 
Scenario 2, the post-pandemic recovery in net inward migration suggests that cohort will 
have 1,752 children.  This is a difference of 58 pupils, almost two classes, at 1.9 Forms of 
Entry. 

3.41 The pupil projection model is slightly more sophisticated than outlined above, as it also 
takes account of net migration into new housing, which is then discounted from the 
migration factors (as the impact of new housing is added via the pupil yields).  
Nevertheless, net migration remains a very significant factor, and relatively small changes 
in the rates can have major impacts on future projections.

161



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

14 
 

Table B12: difference scenarios showing the impact of higher and lower proportional change on future cohort sizes. 
Scenario 1: calculated using the average proportional change from 2016 to 2021: 

 
 
Scenario 2: calculated using the average proportional change from 2017 to 2022: 

 
 

162



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

15 
 

International migration into Royal Borough schools 

Hong Kong 
3.42 58 children from Hong Kong have applied for and been offered a school place in the Royal 

Borough between September 2021 and November 2022.  In general, families from Hong 
Kong are moving into privately rented or purchased properties.  It seems likely that the 
majority of these families will now stay in the UK. 

3.43 Table B13 shows the breakdown of applicants from Hong Kong by receiving school area 
and type.  Schools in Maidenhead have taken the bulk of the children. 

Table B13: Hong Kong applicants since September 2021 by receiving school area 

 

3.44 According to data from successive school censuses, schools in the Royal Borough had 
very few children (2 or fewer) whose families identified then as Hong Kong Chinese before 
Spring 2021.  The figure jumped to 15 that year, and to 70 in 2022. 

Ukraine 
3.45 As at November 2022, 90 children from Ukraine have applied for and been offered a 

school place in the Royal Borough since the start of 2022.  These children will primarily 
have been admitted to the UK under the Ukraine Family Scheme or Ukraine Sponsorship 
Scheme.  Generally, therefore, these children (and their families) will have been moving 
into space in homes generously offered by residents of the Royal Borough.   

3.46 There is much less certainty about whether these children will remain in the UK long-term, 
as at present leave to remain is limited to three years.  If and when the situation in Ukraine 
improves, it is possible that many families may return. 

3.47 Table B14 shows the breakdown of applicants from Ukraine by receiving school area and 
type.  These children have been taken by schools across the borough. 

Table B14: Ukrainian applicants since September 2021 by receiving school area 

 

3.48 School census data does not (currently) have a specific categorisation for Ukrainian 
children, so it is not possible to compare these numbers to the previous position. 

Other refugees (Holiday Inn) 
3.49 The Holiday Inn in Maidenhead was closed to the public from 1st April 2022 and since then 

has been used to accommodate refugees seeking asylum.  Families accommodated here 
may be moved on to other accommodation at short notice.  The is currently no information 
about how long the hotel will remain in use as refugee accommodation. 163



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

16 
 

3.50 As at November 2022, 64 children living in at the Holiday Inn have been offered school 
places, all in Maidenhead. 

Table B15: Holiday Inn applicants since April 2022 by receiving school area 

 

3.51 Most have been of primary school age, with around a third of secondary school age.   

3.52 The NHS data for 2022 shows, as at October 2022, 87 children resident aged 0 to 17 (as 
at 31st August 2022), including 28 of pre-school age, 37 of primary school age and 22 of 
secondary school age.  

3.53 There is no breakdown of these children by country of origin, but these numbers do 
include Afghan children admitted under the ARAP and/or ACRS schemes (see paragraph 
3.11) 

3.54 A second hotel in Datchet for refugees seeking asylum does not yet appear to have 
generated any children in the borough.  There is a concern that some of the ‘adults’ may 
still be of statutory school age. 

Totals admitted through special immigration routes or as refugees seeking asylum 
3.55 Table B16 gives the total numbers admitted to borough schools from Hong Kong, Ukraine 

or as refugees seeking asylum, by area and type of school. 

Table B16: Hong Kong, Ukrainian and Holiday Inn applicants since September 2021 

 

3.56 Maidenhead schools have taken three-quarters of these applicants, and almost half have 
gone to primary schools in the town. 

Other international immigration 
3.57 Since September 2021 there has also been significant movement into borough schools 

from other countries via the standard immigration routes.  The breakdown of the country of 
origin has not yet been collated.  Table B17 provides the total numbers admitted to 
borough schools by receiving school area and school type. 

Table B16: Other international applicants since September 2021 

 

3.58 Again, the bulk of the movement has been into Maidenhead primary schools. 164



APPENDIX B – Summary of Births Data, local and international migration 

17 
 

3.59 It is not possible to compare this to previous years, as the admissions data has not been 
collected in this way previously.  The Spring 2023 school census may indicate whether this 
movement is unusual or a return to previous trends.  The admissions data does not, of 
course, include families who may be leaving the Royal Borough (and the UK), so the net 
inward movement from international applicants is likely to be lower than given in Table 
B16. 

3.60 It is possible that the availability of new housing (which is mainly in Maidenhead) is 
attracting more families.  This will need to be accounted for in the pupil projections, to 
avoid double-counting through migration factors and pupil yields. 

4. Conclusion 

4.1 There continues to a complex demographic situation with a low birth rate, new housing 
and rapidly changing patterns of net inward migration following on from the pandemic, and 
exacerbated by international events.  This makes projecting demand for school places 
more complicated than usual, leading to higher risks around the accuracy of those 
projections.  This makes it more important to have a strategy allowing new school places 
to be created at relatively short notice, across all year groups. 

165



This page is intentionally left blank



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 1 

APPENDIX C - Schools Capacity Survey 2022 - Local Authority Commentary 
Local Authority Name: The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 
Local Authority Number: 868 
 

Black text – the template from the Department for Education 
Blue text – the Royal Borough’s response. 

1. General LA overview indicating LA wide trends (Primary and Secondary age). 

The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has both a two-tier and a three-tier system.  
Windsor, Eton and Old Windsor operate a three-tier system with first, middle and upper schools.  
The rest of the borough, including Maidenhead and Ascot, has a two-tier system. 

2. Factors affecting overall LA pupil numbers e.g. migration, housing development, live births.  If you 
experience cross local authority boundary movement please identify the other local authorities 
involved and the scale of places affected. 

The chart and table below shows the numbers of children resident, based on the Births data plotted 
against the year in which that cohort starts Reception.  The shaded box indicates the cohort that 
started in September 2022.  The borough does not yet have the 2021/22 births data. 

 

 
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 
1,817 1,863 1,735 1,650 1,652 1,721 1,670 1,597 1,489 1,494 

 
The number of births in the Royal Borough continues to be much lower than the peaks in the last 
decade.  Nationally, there are indications that the fertility rate rose in 2021, which could mean 
births in the borough will rise again soon.  It is, however, still to early to confirm this as a new trend, 
or a temporary upward blip within a continuing fall.  The latest indications are also that the 
pandemic has had only a limited affect on the number of births nationally – there doesn’t appear to 
have been either a ‘baby boom’ or dip. 
 
There are limited signs that net inward migration of children aged 0 to 4 is beginning to recover to 
pre-pandemic levels in some parts of the borough.  It is, however, still below pre-pandemic levels, 
particularly in Maidenhead and Windsor.  This is based on comparisons of the numbers of children 
resident in the borough by age group, from the NHS GP registrations data.  
 
The number of new dwellings being completed is also rising again, post-pandemic.  Significant levels 
of new housing in Maidenhead in particular will help offset the falling birth rate. 
 
There is significant cross-border movement.  Some borough schools have designated areas that 
cover parts of neighbouring local authority areas (and vice versa).  Two neighbouring authorities 
also have grammar school systems, leading to large flows of pupils in and out of the borough at 
secondary transfer. 
 
The Royal Borough has a policy of providing 5% surplus places wherever possible.  This is to 
maximise parental choice, ensure that there are places available for children moving into the area 
and provide some leeway in case the projections underestimate the actual level of demand. 
 
  167



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 2 

NOTE – this commentary provides two sets of projections for each area: 
 
(a) The Full Projection.  This projection is the borough’s projection of places and Includes demand 

from the borough’s current best estimates of all future new housing. 
(b) Maximum cohort projection.  This takes into account the impact of inward and outward 

migration, and new housing as a cohort moves up through the schools, and gives the largest 
projected size of that cohort. 

 
Demographic data for the cohorts starting in 2026 and beyond is based on ONS 2020-based interim 
National Population Projections and their % change in 4 year olds in England from the previous year. 

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Schools in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead have admitted significant numbers of 
pupils in the 2021/22 academic year from outside the UK, including 69 from Hong Kong and 42 from 
Ukraine.  In most cases, families from Hong Kong are moving into properties they have rented or 
bought.  Families from Ukraine are mostly living with residents in the borough who have taken them 
in as part of one of the government’s sponsorship schemes.  Both sets of children are currently 
concentrated mainly in Maidenhead and Maidenhead schools.  

The Royal Borough also has a refugee processing centre at the Holiday Inn, in Maidenhead.  Around 
40 children from this centre are now on roll at Maidenhead schools.  There is currently little clarity 
about the long-term future for the centre or the families living there.   

In most cases, small adjustments to the pupil forecasts have been made to reflect the influx of new 
children after the January school census (on which the projections are normally based).   

The above analysis is based on information from a variety of sources as at the end of July 2022.  

  

168



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 3 

3. Summary of PRIMARY AGE pupil places in individual planning areas experiencing pressure on 
places either currently or projected and for which action is required to address.   

You should include the local factors affecting each area identified and the impact of those factors, 
relating them, where appropriate, to the Local Authority wide factors described in 2 above in 
addition to area specific issues.   Schools experiencing particular shortfalls of places, current or 
projected, should be identified here. 

8680001 Ascot Primary Schools 
There are five primary schools in Ascot.  Part of the area is served by a Bracknell Forest School – Ascot 
Heath Primary School.  

 
Demographic trends 
• Adjusting for migration, the resident Reception age cohort for September 2022 (164) is similar to 

2021 (161), but remains lower than in much of the previous decade (170 or above) (row ‘a’). 
• The cohort starting in Reception in September 2023 (born 2018/19) is expected to be significantly 

smaller than usual.  The Ascot cohorts born in the main pandemic period (i.e. 2019/20 and 2020/21; 
starting in Reception in 2024 and 2025) do not appear to be significantly larger or smaller than 
average.  

• Net inward migration into Ascot has recovered slightly from lows experienced during the first 
lockdown period in 2020, when cohorts aged 0 to 4 only grew by 4% over the year to August 2020.  In 
the period to August 2021, the growth was 9%, much closer to the pre-pandemic average of 12%.  
These figures exclude, as far as possible, the impact of new housing. 

• Aside from the dip noted above, cohort sizes are expected to remain at around current levels for the 
projection period. 

• Demographic data for the cohorts starting in 2026 and beyond is based on ONS 2020-based interim 
National Population Projections and their % change in 4 year olds in England from the previous year. 

 
New housing   
There continues to be a low level of additional demand arising from new housing in Ascot.  By the end of 
the projection period, recent and planned developments are expected to increase the number of 
Reception pupils annually by 3 (row ‘b’).  This is in addition to normal inward migration. 

 
  Actual intakes Projected intakes 

row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 
 a Transfer Cohort* 170 157 157 161 164 128 163 169 167 166 166 

b Housing demand - - - - 1 1 2 3 3 3 3 

c Total transfer cohort 170 157 157 161 165 129 165 172 170 169 169 
d Reception PAN 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 

e Temporary places - - - - - - - - - - - 

f Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 

g Total places 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 150 

h Actual Intake NOR 134 132 138 122 126 allocated places as at July 2022 
i FULL projection     125 104 126 131 130 129 129 
j Surplus/Deficit +16 +18 +12 +28 +25 +46 +24 +19 +20 +21 +21 
k % Surplus/Deficit +11% +12% +8% +19% +16% +30% +16% +13% +13% +14% +14% 
l Places to give 5% surplus  - - - - - - - - - - - 

m Maximum cohort size - - - - 141 117 142 146 142 154 151 
o Surplus/deficit - - - - +9 +33 +8 +4 +8 -4 -1 
*this is the no. of children resident in Ascot (including North Ascot) , based on GP registrations data, adjusted for net migration. 

 

169



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 4 

The projections 
• The projections show that there will be sufficient Reception places available in the period to 

September 2025 (rows ‘i’ and ‘j’).  It is expected that there will be sufficient places in subsequent 
years. 

• A significant fall in demand is expected for September 2023, due to the demographic dip. 
• Aside from this dip, demand from residents within the main Ascot area is projected to remain at 

current levels through the projection period. 
• Around 0.8 FE demand comes from out-borough children, and this is projected to continue. 
• The projections suggest, therefore, significant surpluses of places at Reception in Ascot, reaching 30% 

in the 2023 dip year.  This is much higher than the target of 5% (row ‘k’). 
• Historically, Ascot cohorts have grown as they move up through the schools, and this is expected to 

continue (row ‘m’).  This will help reduce the overall surpluses of places, and could potentially lead to 
some shortages of places in higher year groups in the future. 

 
The projected numbers are higher than the 2021 projections, following the recovery in net inward 
migration.  If this recovers to pre-pandemic levels, then future Reception numbers may be slightly 
higher than projected.  It is very unlikely, however, that this will result in any shortage of places during 
the projection period. 

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Primary schools in Ascot have taken a small number of children (<15) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since 
September 2021.  A very minor change to the projections has been made to reflect the latest numbers 
on roll, but no amendments have yet been made to the projected Reception numbers.  This will need to 
wait until the next round of projections to be properly accounted for. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

The relatively high proportion of surplus places may continue to present challenges to local schools.  The 
local authority will need to work with schools to determine the best way forward, whilst still preserving 
the capacity within the system to cope with future increases in the birth rate and the impact of new 
housing. 
 
In response to planned new housing in the area, feasibility works have already been carried out on the 
possibility of expanding local primary schools.  Any proposals for new school places which be brought 
forward for public consultation as and when demand rises.   

 

 

170



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 5 

8680004 Datchet & Wraysbury Primary Schools 
There are two primary schools in Datchet and Wraysbury. 

 
Demographic trends 
• Adjusting for migration, the resident Reception age cohort for September 2022 (95) is significantly 

smaller than that for 2021 (126) and preceding years (row ‘a’). 
• The cohort starting in Reception in September 2024 (born 2019/20) is also expected to be 

significantly smaller than usual.  The other Datchet & Wraysbury cohort born in the main pandemic 
period (i.e. in 2020/21; starting in Reception in 2025) is expected to be of a more normal size.  

• The level of net inward migration into Datchet & Wraysbury has not changed significantly in recent 
years.  The average of 0% growth in cohort sizes across ages 0 to 4 in the year to August 2021 is in 
line with previous years.  These figures exclude, as far as possible, the impact of new housing.   

• Very recent movement into the two schools, however, suggests that net inward migration into 
Datchet & Wraysbury may be changing (see section on Ukraine/Hong-Kong/Other refugees below).   

• Demographic data for the cohorts starting in 2026 and beyond is based on ONS 2020-based interim 
National Population Projections and their % change in 4 year olds in England from the previous year. 

 
New housing   
There continues to be a low level of additional demand arising from new housing in Datchet and 
Wraysbury.  By the end of the projection period, recent and planned developments are expected to 
increase the number of Reception pupils annually by 2 (row ‘b’).  This is in addition to normal inward 
migration. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Transfer cohort* 124 120 111 126 95 117 92 127 126 125 125 
b Housing demand - - - - 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 
c Total transfer cohort 124 120 111 126 95 117 92 127 126 125 125 
d Reception PAN 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 
e Temporary places - - - - - - - - - - - 
f Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 
g Total places 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 90 
h Actual intake NOR 88 89 88 84 77 allocated places as at July 2022 
i FULL projection     74 86 72 93 92 92 93 
j Surplus/deficit +2 +1 +2 +6 +16 +4 +18 -3 -2 -2 -3 
k % Surplus/deficit +2% +1% +2% +7% +18% +4% +21% -3% -2% -2% -3% 
l Places to give 5% surplus  +2 +3 +2 - - +1 - +7 +7 +7 +7 

m Maximum cohort size - - - - 74 86 72 93 92 92 93 
o Surplus/deficit - - - - +16 +4 +18 -3 -2 -2 -3 

*this is the number of children resident in Datchet & Wraysbury, based on GP registrations data, adjusted for net migration. 
 
The projections 
• The projections show that there should be sufficient places to meet demand during much of the 

projection period (rows ‘i’ and ‘j’).  A shortage of places is projected from September 2025, although 
it is expected that there will continue to be sufficient places for local residents. 

• Around 0.5 FE of Datchet and Wraysbury residents take up Reception places in Windsor each year, 
and this is projected to continue. 

• Dips in demand are expected for September 2022 and September 2024, although it is possible that 
this may be partially offset by additional out-borough demand. 

• The surplus of places is expected to vary widely, with significant surpluses in 2022 and 2024, followed 
by deficits from 2025 onwards (row ‘k’). 

• The projections include approximately 0.5 FE out-borough demand. 171



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 6 

• There is generally no growth in the cohort sizes as they move up through the schools (row ‘m’). 
 

The projected numbers similar to those from 2021, with a more pronounced dip in demand for 
September 2024.   
 
Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Primary schools in Datchet & Wraysbury have taken a small number of children (<5) from Ukraine and 
Hong Kong since September 2021.  There has, however, been an unusual inward movement into the 
schools since the January 2022 school census, adding an average of two children per year group.  More 
than half of this has been international immigration (including Ukrainian children).   
 
Some minor changes to the projections have been made to reflect the latest numbers on roll, but no 
amendments have yet been made to the projected Reception numbers.  This will need to wait until the 
next round of projections to be properly accounted for. 
 
Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 
 
No additional primary school places are currently planned.   
 
Although there are only a relatively small number of new dwellings expected in the Datchet and 
Wraysbury area over the longer-term, feasibility works have nevertheless been carried out on the 
possibility of expanding the local primary schools.  Any proposals for new school places will be brought 
forward for public consultation as and when demand rises.   
  

172



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 7 

8680003 Maidenhead Primary Schools 
There are twenty-five primary schools in Maidenhead, including four infant and three junior schools. 

 
Demographic trends 
• Adjusting for migration, the resident Reception age cohort for Sept. 2022 (990) is the same as last 

year (989), but lower than in the preceding years (row ‘a’). 
• The cohorts starting Reception in September 2023, 2024 and 2025 are all expected to be significantly 

smaller than in recent years, particularly for September 2024 (880) (row ‘a’).  The 2024 cohort was 
born in the first part of the pandemic (2019/20), although nationally the pandemic appears to have 
had little impact on birth rates.  

• The level of net inward migration into Maidenhead has fallen during the pandemic period.  The 
average of 2% growth in cohort sizes across ages 0 to 4 in the year to August 2021 is lower than the 
pre-pandemic average of 5% growth1.  These figures exclude, as far as possible, the impact of new 
housing.   

• Very recent movement into Maidenhead schools, however, suggests that net inward migration into 
the town may be increasing again (see section on Ukraine/Hong-Kong/Other refugees below).   

• Demographic data for the cohorts starting in 2026 and beyond is based on ONS 2020-based interim 
National Population Projections and their % change in 4 year olds in England from the previous year. 
 

New housing   
There continues to be significant additional demand arising from new housing in Maidenhead.  By the 
end of the projection period, recent and planned developments are expected to increase the number of 
Reception pupils by 56 (row ‘b’).  This is in addition to inward migration described above, and partially 
offsets reductions in cohort sizes. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020s 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Transfer cohort* 1,005 1,053 1,060 989 990 939 880 922 911 905 908 
b Housing demand - - - - 9 17 26 35 42 50 56 
c Total transfer cohort 1,005 1,053 1,060 989 999 957 905 957 953 954 965 
d Reception PAN 968 971 971 972 972 972 942 942 942 972 972 
e Temporary places 6 - - - - - - - - - - 
f Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 
g ‘Mothballed’ places - - (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) (30) 
h Total places 974 971 1,001 1,002 1,002 1,002 972 972 972 1,002 1,002 
i Actual intake NOR 862 886 897 872 870 allocated places as at July 2022 
j FULL projection     871 836 794 839 837 839 848 
k Surplus/deficit +106 +85 +74 +100 +101 +136 +148 +103 +105 +133 +124 
l % Surplus/deficit +11% +9% +8% +10% +10% +14% +16% +11% +11% +14% +13% 

m Places to give 5% surplus  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
n Maximum cohort size - - - - 879 845 794 839 837 839 848 
o Surplus/deficit - - - - +93 +127 +148 +103 +105 +133 +124 

*this is the number of children resident in Maidenhead, based on GP registrations data and adjusted for net migration. 
**Mothballed places indicate temporary PAN reductions, which could be reversed if needed.  These are not included in the 

places total. 
 
The projections 
• The projections show that there will be sufficient places overall in Reception (rows ‘j’ and ‘k’) during 

the projection period. 
• The surplus of places is expected to be between 10% and 16%, which is well above the target of 5%. 

 

1 A 3% difference on growth doesn’t seem significant, but a cohort of 1,000 will grow to 1,216 over four years on a 5% growth rate.  It 
grows to 1,082 on a 2% growth rate.  This is a difference of 134 children, equivalent to more than four fewer Reception classes. 

173



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 8 

• Cohort sizes expected to grow as they move up the schools (row ‘n’). 
• The projections include approximately 0.8 FE out-borough demand.  
• The overall projection masks significant variation within the town.  Demand is expected to fall from 

current levels in most parts of the town and surrounding areas, with the exception of south-east 
Maidenhead.  Here, growth driven by new housing is likely to lead to a significant local shortfall by 
September 2025.   

• Conversely, a sharper fall in demand is expected in south-west Maidenhead, where lower numbers of 
births are leading to reduced cohort sizes for the September 2023, 2024 and 2025 Reception intakes.  
See, however, also the section below on Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees. 

 
The projected numbers are lower than the 2021 projections, following a further fall in net inward 
migration. 

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Primary schools in Maidenhead have taken a significant number of refugee children from Ukraine (22) 
and other locations (33) since September 2021.  This is partly due to the presence of a refugee 
processing centre at the Holiday Inn in Maidenhead, but many Ukrainians in particular have been 
accepted by local families.  Maidenhead primary schools have also taken 21 children from Hong Kong in 
the 2021/22 academic year.    
 
Overall, there has been significant and unusual movement into the Maidenhead schools since the 
January 2022 school census (growth of around 135 children across Years R to 6, averaging 20 per year 
group).  Two-thirds of this has been international immigration (including Ukraine and other refugee 
children).  Some changes to the projections have been made to reflect the latest numbers on roll, but no 
amendments have yet been made to the projected Reception numbers.  This will need to wait until the 
next round of projections to be properly accounted for, and may change some conclusions around 
future demand in different parts of the town.  Initial investigations indicate that this increased inward 
movement is not yet the result of new housing. 
 
The unexpected inward movement has led to some shortfalls in places, particularly in Years 4 and 5 (in 
2021/22).  Spare places are now increasingly concentrated in schools on the edges on Maidenhead or in 
the surrounding villages. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

No additional primary school places are currently planned, although the vacant primary school site on 
Chiltern Road, Maidenhead, is due to be refurbished to allow it to return to primary school use in due 
course.  This could assist with the expected shortfall in places expected in South East Maidenhead from 
September 2025.  The borough is working with schools to find additional capacity in the town in Years 4 
and 5.  
 
Due to the significant numbers of new dwellings planned for the Maidenhead area, feasibility works 
have already been carried out on the possibility of expanding local primary schools.   
  

174



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 9 

8680002 Windsor First Schools 
There are fourteen first schools in Windsor. 
 
Demographic trends 
• Adjusting for migration, the resident Reception age cohort for Sept. 2022 (472) is similar to last year’s 

(469), but significantly lower than in the preceding years (row ‘a’). 
• The cohorts starting Reception in September 2023, 2024 and 2025 are all expected to be even 

smaller (row ‘a’).  Although the cohorts starting in 2024 and 2025 were born during the main 
pandemic period (2019/20 and 2020/21), nationally the pandemic appears to have had only minimal 
impact on birth rates. 

• The level of net inward migration into Windsor has fallen during the pandemic period.  The average 
of 1% shrinkage in cohort sizes across ages 0 to 4 in the year to August 2021 is in contrast to the pre-
pandemic average of 2% growth2.  These figures exclude, as far as possible, the impact of new 
housing.   

• Some very recent movement into Windsor schools, however, tentatively suggests that net inward 
migration into the town may be increasing again (see section on Ukraine/Hong-Kong/Other refugees 
below).   

• Demographic data for the cohorts starting in 2026 and beyond is based on ONS 2020-based interim 
National Population Projections and their % change in 4 year olds in England from the previous year. 

 
New housing   
There continues to be some additional demand arising from new housing in Windsor.  By the end of the 
projection period, recent and planned developments are expected to increase the number of Reception 
pupils by 6 (row ‘b’).  This is in addition to normal inward migration. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020s 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Transfer cohort* 528 559 522 469 472 449 455 426 421 418 419 
b Housing demand - - - - 1 2 3 4 5 5 6 
c Total transfer cohort 528 559 522 469 473 451 458 430 425 423 425 
d Reception PAN 545 545 545 530 530 530 530 530 530 530 530 
e Temporary places - - - - - - - - - - - 
f Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 
g ‘Mothballed’ places - - - (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) (15) 
h Total places 545 545 545 530 530 530 530 530 530 530 530 
i Actual intake NOR 478 502 488 457 457 allocated places as at July 2022 
j FULL projection     446 431 433 417 414 412 414 
k Surplus/deficit +67 +43 +57 +73 +84 +99 +97 +113 +116 +118 +116 
l % Surplus/deficit +12% +8% +10% +14% +16% +19% +18% +21% +22% +22% +22% 

m Places to give 5% surplus  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
n Maximum cohort size - - - - 446 431 433 417 414 412 414 
o Surplus/deficit - - - - +84 +99 +97 +113 +116 +118 +116 

*this is the number of children resident in Windsor, based on GP registrations data and adjusted for net migration. 
**Mothballed places indicate temporary PAN reductions, which could be reversed if needed.  These are not included in the 

places total. 
 
The projections 
• The projections show that there will be sufficient Reception places during the projection period (rows 

‘j’ and ‘k’). 

 

2 A 3% difference on growth doesn’t seem significant, but a cohort of 500 will grow to 541 over four years on a 2% growth rate.  It shrinks 
to 480 on a -1% growth rate.  This is a difference of around 60 children, equivalent to two fewer Reception classes. 

175



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 10 

• The surplus of places at Reception could reach 21% in September 2025, and will be well above the 5% 
surplus place target (row ‘l’) during the projection period.   

• One school (Kings Court First School) has already reduced its Published Admission Number in 
response to lower local demand.  These places could be brought back into use if necessary (row ‘g’). 

• There is no growth in the cohort size (row ‘n’) as they move up through the schools. 
• The projections include approximately 1.9 FE out-borough demand, which is slightly up on  previous 

numbers. 
• There is some variation in the projected demand across the town, with south and east Windsor likely 

to experience greater reductions in demand (on current levels) than the rest of the area. 

The projected numbers are lower than the 2021 projections, reflecting ongoing lower levels of net 
inward migration.  

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
First schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (<10) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since 
September 2021.  There has been some relatively unusual inward movement into the schools since the 
January 2022 school census, adding an average of two children per year group.  Around a third of this 
has been international immigration (including Ukrainian children).   
 
Some minor changes to the projections have been made to reflect the latest numbers on roll, but no 
amendments have yet been made to the projected Reception numbers.  This will need to wait until the 
next round of projections to be properly accounted for. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

The projected surpluses of places at Reception will pose significant challenges to primary schools in the 
area.  The local authority will need to work with schools to determine the best way forward, whilst still 
preserving the capacity within the system to cope with future increases in the birth rate and the impact 
of new housing. 
 
In response to planned new housing in the area, feasibility works have already been carried out on the 
possibility of expanding local first schools in the longer-term.  Any proposals for new school places which 
be brought forward for public consultation as and when demand rises.   
 
 
 
 

 

176



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 11 

4. Summary of SECONDARY AGE pupil places in individual planning areas experiencing pressure on 
places either currently or projected and for which action is required to address.   

8680005 Ascot Secondary Schools 
There is one secondary school in Ascot, Charters School.  It admits children from the five Ascot primary 
schools, and also has formal links with two Bracknell Forest schools. 
 
Demographic trends 
• Based on historical primary to secondary transfers. 
• The total Year 6 transfer cohort in 2022 is larger than the 2021 cohort (row ‘a’); 180 compared to 

151.  This is due to the transfer of a bulge class up from the primary schools. 
• Subsequent transfer cohorts are expected to remain at around 150 pupils for much of the projection 

period (row ‘a’).  
• The Ascot resident Year 6 transfer cohort – those who live in Ascot and go to a primary school in 

Ascot – follows a similar pattern (row ‘b’). 
• Although lower demand at Reception in the local primary schools might be expected to lead to lower 

secondary school demand, the primary schools have admitted increasing numbers of children into 
other year groups over the past five years.  This has dropped slightly more recently, probably as a 
result of the pandemic, but the latest numbers suggest that each primary age year group is still 
growing by around 2% per annum, helping to boost the numbers that then transfer to secondary 
school. 

• The cohorts at the feeder Bracknell schools are not expected to change significantly. 
 
New housing   
The impact of planned new housing on the secondary demand has not been specifically calculated this 
year, whilst the methodology is revised.  Analysis of pupil yields data demonstrates that the impact of 
new dwellings on demand for secondary school places tends to be delayed.  Broadly, new houses tend 
to attract young families, with children of primary school age or younger.  These children then lead to 
larger cohorts transferring to secondary schools in future years.  The projections may nevertheless 
slightly underestimate future demand at secondary – this issue will be addressed in future projections. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Total transfer cohort* 144 154 149 151 180 148 147 151 145 154 137 
b Resident cohort** 126 128 120 118 141 108 116 123 107 127 112 
c Year 7 PAN 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 
d Temporary places - 30 - - - - - - - - - 

e Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 

f Total places 270 300 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 
g Actual intake NOR 271 302 270 270 270 allocated places as at July 2022 
h FULL projection     274 270 270 270 270 271 270 
i Surplus/deficit -1 -2 0 0 -4 0 0 0 0 -1 0 
j % Surplus/deficit -0% -1% 0% 0% -1% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 
k Places to give 5% surplus  +15 +17 +14 +14 +18 +14 +14 +14 +14 +15 +14 
l Maximum cohort size - - - - 274 270 270 270 270 271 270 

m Surplus/deficit - - - - +18 +14 +14 +14 +14 +15 +14 
*this is total number of children on roll in an Ascot school in Year 6. 

*this is the number of children resident in Ascot and on roll in an Ascot school in Year 6. 
 

The projections 
• The projections indicate that there should be enough places during the projection period (rows ‘h’ 

and ‘i’) to meet demand, particularly when compared to demand from Ascot (row ‘b’). 
177



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 12 

• The projections include approximately 3.0 FE out-borough children for 2022 and 4 FE for subsequent 
years.  The lower 2022 figure is a result of the bulge in demand from Ascot making fewer places 
available for out-borough children.   

• A significant part of the out-borough demand is from within the school’s designated area.  The 
popularity of the school means that any spare places following the admission of designated area 
children are usually filled by children from further afield. 

• As the school is full, no growth in cohort sizes is expected as children move up through the school 
(row ‘m’).  Some children moving into the local area may nevertheless be offered a place over and 
above the Published Admission Number. 

 
The 2022 projections are in line with those from 2021.   

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
The secondary school in Ascot has taken a small number of children (<5) from Ukraine and Hong Kong 
since September 2021.  A very small adjustment upwards has been made to the projections accordingly. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

No further expansions are currently planned.  Due to the numbers of new dwellings planned for the 
Ascot area, feasibility works have been carried out on the possibility of expanding Charters School.  Any 
proposals for new school places will be brought forward for public consultation as and when demand 
rises.  

178



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 13 

   
8680009 Datchet and Wraysbury Secondary Schools 
There is one secondary school in Datchet and Wraysbury, Churchmead School.  It admits children from 
the two local primary schools, and also has formal links with a number of Slough schools.  Many of the 
children on roll at Churchmead live in Slough and attended a Slough primary school. 
 
Demographic trends 
• Based on historical primary to secondary transfers. 
• The Year 6 transfer cohort from Datchet and Wraysbury in 2022 is smaller than the 2021 cohort (row 

‘a’); 81 compared to 93. 
• The cohort transferring in 2023 is expected to be relatively small, with some recovery in subsequent  

years (row ‘a’). 
• The Datchet and Wraysbury resident Year 6 transfer cohort – those who live in Datchet/Wraysbury 

and go to a primary school in Datchet/Wraysbury – shows a more pronounced drop in later 
projection period (row ‘b’). 

• The local primary schools tend to lose children as cohorts move up through the year groups, 
particularly at the end of Year 4 when some transfer to middle schools in Windsor.  There has been 
no significant change to this pattern over recent years. 

• Churchmead is also affected by trends in Slough, as the school’s designated area covers part of the 
town. 

 
New housing   
The impact of planned new housing on the secondary demand has not been specifically calculated this 
year, whilst the methodology is revised.  Analysis of pupil yields data demonstrates that the impact of 
new dwellings on demand for secondary school places tends to be delayed.  Broadly, new houses tend 
to attract young families, with children of primary school age or younger.  These children then lead to 
larger cohorts transferring to secondary schools in future years.  The projections may nevertheless 
slightly underestimate future demand at secondary – this issue will be addressed in future projections. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Total transfer cohort* 78 66 88 93 81 73 81 79 79 75 72 
b Resident cohort** 66 45 72 73 68 61 61 63 57 52 55 
c Year 7 PAN 110 110 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 
d Temporary places - - - - - - - - - - - 

e Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 

f Total places 110 110 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 120 
g Actual intake NOR 96 90 119 121 123 allocated places as at July 2022 
h FULL projection     121 115 122 120 123 123 119 
i Surplus/deficit +14 +20 +1 -1 -1 +5 -2 0 -3 -3 +1 
j % Surplus/deficit +13% +18% -1% -1% -1% +4% -2% 0% -2% -2% +1% 
k Places to give 5% surplus  - - +5 +7 +7 +1 +9 +6 +9 +9 +5 
l Maximum cohort size - - - - 121 115 122 120 123 123 119 

m Surplus/deficit - - - - +7 +1 +9 +6 +9 +9 +5 
*this is the total number of children on roll in a Datchet & Wraysbury school in Year 6. 

**this is the number of children resident in Datchet and Wraysbury and on roll in a Datchet & Wraysbury school in Year 6. 
***Mothballed places indicate temporary reductions in PAN, which could be brought back into use when needed.  These are 

not included in the places total. 
 
The projections 
• There should be sufficient places throughout the projection period (rows ’i’ and ‘j’), when compared 

to the demand from Datchet & Wraysbury (row ‘b’).  Demand from Slough is likely to mean that the 
school fills up, however, and may lead to pressure for additional spaces at the school. 179



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 14 

• The level of surplus places is expected to remain below the 5% target during the projection period 
(row ‘k’), and may fall to zero with applications from Slough. 

• The school continues to attract more children transferring from the Datchet and Wraysbury primary 
schools. 

• The projections include approximately 2.7 FE out-borough demand, which is higher than previously 
and reflects increased popularity.  A significant part of the school’s designated area covers Slough. 

• There is no growth as the cohorts move up through the schools (row ‘m’). 
• The number of Datchet & Wraysbury children taking up places in selective schools in neighbouring 

local authorities remains in line with the historical average of around 0.6 FE.  27% of Datchet & 
Wraysbury applicants put a selective school down as a preferred school for September 2023, and 
76% of these were allocated a place at one3.   

• Churchmead School is currently planning to offer sixth form provision for pupils in September 2023, 
subject to take-up of places from the current Year 11. 

 

The 2022 projections are slightly higher than those from 2021.   
 
Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
There has been no known movement of children from Ukraine or Hong-Kong into secondary school 
provision in the area since September 2021. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

There are currently no plans to expand secondary school provision in this area.  Although there are only 
a relatively small number of new dwellings expected in the Datchet and Wraysbury area, feasibility 
works have nevertheless been carried out on the possibility of expanding Churchmead School.  Any 
proposals for new school places will be brought forward for public consultation as and when demand 
rises.    

 

3 5% were ineligible for a selective school place; 10% got an offer at a preferred non-selective school; 10% remained without a selective 
school place offer. 

180



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 15 

8680008 Maidenhead Secondary Schools 
There are six secondary schools in Maidenhead, including two single-sex schools (one for boys and one 
for girls).  One of the secondary schools reserves part of its intake for boarders. 
 
Demographic trends 
• Based on historical primary to secondary transfers. 
• The Year 6 transfer cohort in 2022 is smaller than the 2021 cohort (row ‘a’); 893 compared to 913. 
• The Year 6 cohort due to start in September 2023 is a bulge year, with 969 children on roll in 

Maidenhead primaries.  Subsequent cohorts are expected to remain at around 900 children (row ‘a’). 
• The Maidenhead resident Year 6 transfer cohort – those who live in Maidenhead and go to a primary 

school in Maidenhead – follows a similar pattern (row ‘b’). 
• In the past, primary schools in Maidenhead have tended to lose pupils as the cohorts have moved up 

through the year groups.  Very recent movement into Maidenhead schools, however, suggests that 
net inward migration into the town may be increasing again (see section on Ukraine/Hong-
Kong/Other refugees below).  This could then result in larger cohorts transferring up to secondary 
school. 

 
New housing   
The impact of planned new housing on the secondary demand has not been specifically calculated this 
year, whilst the methodology is revised.  Analysis of pupil yields data demonstrates that the impact of 
new dwellings on demand for secondary school places tends to be delayed.  Broadly, new houses tend 
to attract young families, with children of primary school age or younger.  These children then lead to 
larger cohorts transferring to secondary schools in future years.  The projections may nevertheless 
slightly underestimate future demand at secondary – this issue will be addressed in future projections. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Total transfer cohort* 830 876 892 913 893 969 894 893 896 905 898 
b Resident cohort** 798 839 848 861 846 913 852 830 834 860 859 
c Year 7 PAN 1,004 1,008 1,038 1,067 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 
d Temporary places 4 9 26 - - - - - - - - 

e Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 

f Total places 1,008 1,017 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 1,064 
g Actual intake NOR 921 954 988 933 961 allocated places as at July 2022 
h FULL projection     959 1,018 959 934 937 952 958 
i Surplus/deficit +87 +63 +76 +131 +105 +46 +105 +130 +127 +112 +106 
j % Surplus/deficit +9% +6% +7% +12% +10% +4% +10% +12% +12% +11% +10% 
k Places to give 5% surplus  0 0 0 0 0 +5 0 0 0 0 0 
l Maximum cohort size - - - - 972 1,031 971 945 949 954 958 

m Surplus/deficit - - - - +92 +33 +93 +119 +115 +110 +106 
*this is the total number of children on roll in a Maidenhead school in Year 6. 

**this is the number of children resident in Maidenhead and on roll in a Maidenhead school in Year 6. 
 
The projections 
• There are expected to be sufficient places available in Year 7 during the projection period (rows ‘h’ 

and ‘i’). 
• The surplus of places is expected to be above the target of 5% for the projection period, except for 

September 2023, when it falls to 4% (row ‘j’).  In recent years, the proportion of Maidenhead 
residents who have transferred to a Maidenhead secondary has fallen, from a previous average of 
92% to 84%. 

• The number of Maidenhead children taking up places in selective schools in neighbouring local 
authorities remains high, reaching almost 5.0 FE for September 2022.  This compares to a 2010 to 

181



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 16 

2016 average of 90.  21% of Maidenhead applicants put a selective school down as a preferred school 
for September 2022, and 77% of these were allocated a place at one4.   

• The projections include approximately 7.3 FE out-borough demand, higher than last year, but in line 
with longer-term averages. 

• There is expected to be a small amount of growth in the cohort sizes as they move up through the 
schools (row ‘l’). 

 

The 2022 projections are higher than those from 2021, reflecting the increase in out-borough applicants. 

Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Secondary schools in Maidenhead have taken a number of refugee children from Ukraine (6) and other 
locations (10) since September 2021.  This is partly due to the presence of a refugee processing centre at 
the Holiday Inn in Maidenhead, but many Ukrainians in particular have been accepted by local families.  
Maidenhead secondary schools have also taken 30 children from Hong Kong in the 2021/22 academic 
year.    
 
Overall, there has been unusual movement into the Maidenhead secondary schools since the January 
2022 school census (growth of around 16 children across Years 7 to 11).  Usually, numbers drop by a 
similar amount.  Two-thirds of this has been international immigration (including Ukraine and other 
refugee children).  A small upward change to the projections has been made to reflect the increased 
inward migration.  Initial investigations indicate that the increased inward movement is not yet the 
result of new housing. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

There are currently no further plans for expansion.  Due to the numbers of new dwellings planned for 
the Maidenhead area, feasibility works have been carried out on the possibility of expanding the 
secondary schools.  Any proposals for new school places will be brought forward for public consultation 
as and when demand rises.     
 
 

  

 

4 14% were ineligible for a selective school place; 6% got an offer at a preferred non-selective school; 3% remained without a selective 
school place offer. 

182



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 17 

8680006 Windsor Middle Schools 
There are four middle schools in Windsor: three in Windsor itself; the fourth in Old Windsor village. 
 
Demographic trends 
• Based on historical first to middle transfers. 
• The Year 4 transfer cohort in 2022 is smaller than the 2021 cohort (row ‘a’); 478 compared to 497. 
• The size of the Year 4 cohort is set to gradually decline in size, reflecting reductions in the intakes to 

the Windsor first schools (row ‘a’).   
• The Windsor resident Year 4 transfer cohort – those who live in Windsor and go to a first school in 

Windsor – follows a similar pattern (row ‘b’). 
• In the past, first schools in Windsor have tended to lose pupils as the cohorts have moved up through 

the year groups.  There has been very recent movement into the Windsor schools, suggesting an 
increase in net inward migration again (see section on Ukraine/Hong-Kong/Other refugees below).  
This has slightly reduced the rate of loss, so marginally increasing the numbers who should transfer to 
middle schools in future. 

 
New housing   
The impact of planned new housing on the middle school demand has not been specifically calculated 
this year, whilst the methodology is revised.  Analysis of pupil yields data demonstrates that the impact 
of new dwellings on demand for middle school places tends to be delayed.  Broadly, new houses tend to 
attract young families, with children of first school age or younger.  These children then lead to larger 
cohorts transferring to middle schools in future years.  The projections may nevertheless slightly 
underestimate future demand at middle – this issue will be addressed in the future projections. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Total transfer cohort* 497 514 498 497 478 459 462 466 447 423 411 
b Resident cohort** 418 429 421 409 398 365 366 379 332 334 318 
c Year 5 PAN 510 510 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 
d Temporary places - 30 - - - - - - - - - 

e Planned places - - - - - - - - - - - 

f Total places 510 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 540 
g Actual intake NOR 473 494 467 482 493 allocated places as at July 2022 
h FULL projection     488 461 456 458 437 413 401 
i Surplus/deficit +37 +46 +73 +58 +52 +79 +84 +82 +103 +127 +139 
j % Surplus/deficit +7% +9% +14% +11% +10% +15% +16% +15% +19% +24% +26% 
k Places to give 5% surplus  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
l Maximum cohort size - - - - 495 467 462 464 443 419 406 

m Surplus/deficit - - - - +45 +73 +78 +76 +97 +121 +134 
*this is the total number of children on roll in Windsor schools in Year 4. 

*this is the number of children resident in Windsor and on roll in Windsor schools in Year 4. 
 
The projections 
• The projections show that there will be sufficient places to meet demand during the period to 2027 

(rows ‘h’ and ‘i’). 
• The surplus of places will be well above the 5% target, potentially rising to over 20% towards the end 

of the projection period (row ‘j’).  For September 2022, the proportion of Windsor residents on roll in 
a first school and taking up places in the middle schools has increased.  This may partially reflect a 
higher proportion of children getting their preferred schools than previously. 

• The projections include approximately 1.5 FE out-borough demand.  Most of these children are on 
roll in the first schools. 

• The projections also include approximately 1.0 FE from Datchet/Wraysbury residents, which is a 
slight increase on recent years.  Half are on roll in the first schools. 183



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 18 

• As cohorts move up through the Windsor middle schools, there is generally some growth in Year 5 
numbers, before a loss of pupils at the end of Year 6 when some pupils transfer to secondary schools 
outside the area.  The maximum cohort size is shown in row ‘l’. 

• The number of Windsor children taking up places in selective schools in neighbouring local 
authorities at the end of Year 6 is in line with previous years, at 0.9 FE for September 2022.   

 
The projections are generally slightly higher than the 2021 projections, largely reflecting the increased 
net inward migration to the first schools, and the higher than usual proportion of Windsor residents 
allocated middle school places for September 2022.  
 
Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
Middle schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (<10) from Ukraine and Hong Kong 
since September 2021.  A very small adjustment upwards has been made to the projections accordingly. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

The projected surpluses of places at Year 5 later in the period may pose significant challenges to middle 
schools in the area.  The local authority will need to work with schools to determine the best way 
forward, whilst still preserving the capacity within the system to cope with future increases in the birth 
rate and the impact of new housing. 
 
Due to the numbers of new dwellings planned for the Windsor area, feasibility works have been carried 
out on the possibility of expanding the middle schools in the longer term.  Any proposals for new school 
places will be brought forward for public consultation as and when demand rises.    

184



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 19 

8680007 Windsor Upper Schools 
There are two upper schools in Windsor, one for boys and one for girls, which together form the 
Windsor Learning Partnership (WLP).  Windsor is also currently served by a secondary school (Holyport 
College) that has a boarding intake at Year 9, prioritising children from the Windsor system.  Historically, 
only around 4 of these places are taken up by borough residents.  The remaining 14 places are not, 
therefore, included in the Year 9 PAN given below.  Holyport College has previously had a day pupil 
intake at Year 9, but this ended in September 2022.   
 
Demographic trends 
• Based on historical middle to upper transfers. 
• The Year 8 transfer cohort in 2022 is almost the same size as the 2021 cohort (row ‘a’); 440 compared 

to 448.   
• The size of the Year 8 cohort is set to remain roughly the same size for most of the projection period 

The cohorts starting Year 9 in September 2027 onwards are expected to be a little smaller (row ‘a’).  
• The Windsor resident Year 8 transfer cohort – those who live in Windsor and go to a middle school in 

Windsor – follows a similar pattern (row ‘b’). 
 
New housing   
The impact of planned new housing on the upper school demand has not been specifically calculated 
this year, whilst the methodology is revised.  Analysis of pupil yields data demonstrates that the impact 
of new dwellings on demand for upper school places tends to be delayed.  Broadly, new houses tend to 
attract young families, with children of first school age or younger.  These children then lead to larger 
cohorts transferring to middle schools in future years.  The projections may nevertheless slightly 
underestimate future demand at middle – this issue will be addressed in future projections. 
 

  Actual intakes Projected intakes 
row Year 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 

 a Total transfer cohort* 364 418 429 448 440 446 453 452 455 432 424 
b Resident cohort** 306 341 338 367 364 367 385 376 377 345 346 
c Year 9 PAN 498 498 498 498 472 472 472 472 472 472 472 
d Temporary places - - - 8 - - - - - - - 

e Planned places - - - - 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 

f Total places 498 498 498 506 494 494 494 494 494 494 494 
g Actual intake NOR 403 443 455 480 472 allocated places as at July 2022 
h FULL projection     470 462 470 469 474 449 440 
i Surplus/deficit +95 +55 +43 +26 +24 +32 +24 +25 +20 +45 +54 
j % Surplus/deficit +19% +11% +9% +5% +5% +6% +5% +5% +4% +9% +11% 
k Places to give 5% surplus  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 0 0 
l Maximum cohort size - - - - 478 469 476 475 481 456 448 

m Surplus/deficit - - - - +16 +25 +18 +19 +13 +38 +46 
*this is the total number of children on roll in Windsor schools in Year 8. 

*this is the number of children resident in Windsor and on roll in Windsor schools in Year 8. 
 
The projections 
• The projections show that the demand will remain close to current levels for most of the projection 

period.  Lower demand is expected from September 2027 onwards (rows ‘h’ and ‘i’). 
• The surplus of places is expected to remain at 5% to 8% until September 2026.  After this, the surplus 

is expected to rise, as lower numbers feed through from the middle schools (row ‘j’). 
• The reduction of the Year 9 places at Holyport College from September 2022 has required the 

expansion of Windsor Girls’ School, adding 22 places per year group. 
• The projections include approximately 1.5 to 2.0 FE out-borough demand.  Most of these children are 

transferring up from the middle schools. 185



School Capacity Survey 2022 – The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead 

 20 

• There is a small amount of growth as the cohorts move up through the schools (row ‘l’).  This slightly 
reduces the level of surplus places in the cohort as it gets older. 

 
 

The 2022 projections are broadly in line with those from 2021.   
 
Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees 
There has been no known movement of children from Ukraine or Hong-Kong into upper school provision 
in the area since September 2021. 

Actions (current/planned) to address shortage/excess of places.  Include no. of places to be 
added/removed in each school and by what date.  You should include funding, levels & sources, 
allocated to the creation of additional places in each area. 

The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has approved the expansion of Windsor Girls’ School, 
by 22 places per year group from September 2022.  This is subject to planning permission and DfE 
approval of the expansion of an academy. 
 
Due to the numbers of new dwellings planned for the Windsor area, feasibility works have been carried 
out on the possibility of expanding the upper schools.  Any proposals for new school places will be 
brought forward for public consultation as and when demand rises.   

186



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

1 

Essential information 
 

Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  

 

Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan  Project  Service/Procedure  

 

Responsible officer Ben Wright, School 
Places and Capital 
Team Leader 

Service area Operations Directorate 
 

Children’s Services 

 

Stage 1: EqIA Screening (mandatory) 
 

Date created: 15/11/2022 Stage 2 : Full assessment (if applicable) Date created : N/A 

 

Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 

 

Signed by (print): Lynne Penn, Associate Director, Operations 
 

Dated: 29/07/2022 

 
 
 

187



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

2 

Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there is a new or 
reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental and/or disproportionate impact on 
particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA Screenings are required to be publicly available on the 
council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 

What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health conditions); gender 
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 

What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for every new or reviewed 
strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate whether a Full Assessment should be 
undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment should be sent to the 
Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or 
Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please append a copy of your completed Screening or Full 
Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of people, with an 
interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific duties. A failure to comply with the 
specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

188



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

3 

 
Stage 1 : Screening (Mandatory) 
 

1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 
 

 
The report is the annual school place planning report and sets out recommendations in line with the borough’s statutory duty to ensure that there are 
sufficient school places to meet demand. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 
 

 

 

 

 

189



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

4 

Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age Not relevant n/a n/a  

Disability Not relevant n/a n/a  

Gender re-
assignment Not relevant n/a n/a  

Marriage/civil 
partnership Not relevant n/a n/a  

Pregnancy and 
maternity Not relevant n/a n/a  

Race Not relevant n/a n/a  

Religion and belief Not relevant n/a n/a  

Sex Not relevant n/a n/a  

Sexual orientation Not relevant n/a n/a  

 
 

190



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

5 

 
Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening Assessment 
Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this stage Further Action Required / 
Action to be taken 

Responsible Officer and / 
or Lead Strategic Group 

Timescale for Resolution 
of negative impact / 

Delivery of positive impact 
 

Was a significant level of 
negative impact 
identified? 

No None 
Ben Wright, School 
Places and Capital 

Team Leader. 
N/A 

Does the strategy, policy, 
plan etc require 
amendment to have a 
positive impact? 

No None 
Ben Wright, School 
Places and Capital 

Team Leader. 
N/A 

 

If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you answered “No” or “Not at 
this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor future impacts as part of implementation, re-
screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 

 

 

 

 

 

191



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

6 

Stage 2 : Full assessment 
 
2.1 : Scope and define 
 

2.1.1    Who are the main beneficiaries of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List the groups who the work is 
targeting/aimed at. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List those groups who the 
work is targeting/aimed at.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

192



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

7 

2.2 : Information gathering/evidence 
 

2.2.1  What secondary data have you used in this assessment? Common sources of secondary data include: censuses, organisational records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2.2.2   What primary data have you used to inform this assessment? Common sources of primary data include: consultation through interviews, focus 
groups, questionnaires. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 

193



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

8 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 
 
Advance equality of opportunity 
 

194



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

9 

Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

195



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

10 

Foster good relations 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal advance 
the Equality Duty Statement 
in relation to the protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact :  
Does the proposal 
disadvantage them 
(Yes / No) 

If yes, to what 
level? (High / 
Medium / Low) 

Please provide explanatory 
detail relating to your 
assessment and outline any key 
actions to (a) advance the 
Equality Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 

2.4     Has your delivery plan been updated to incorporate the activities identified in this assessment to mitigate any identified negative impacts? 
If so please summarise any updates. 
These could be service, equality, project or other delivery plans. If you did not have sufficient data to complete a thorough impact assessment, then an 
action should be incorporated to collect this information in the future. 
 

196



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

EqIA : Title of EQIA 
 

11 

 

197



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Microsoft Licensing Contract Renewal  
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Rayner, Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & 
Heritage, & Windsor 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Adele Taylor, Executive Director of Resources 
and Section 151 officer and Nikki Craig, Head 
of HR, Corporate Projects and IT 

Wards affected:   None 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report is to request Cabinet delegate authority  to the Executive Director of 
Resources and Section 151 officer in consultation with the Cabinet Member Deputy 
Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents 
Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor to award the Microsoft Licencing Agreement 
Contract on conclusion of the successful aggregated tender being run by Crown 
Commercial Services via their Technology Products and Associated Services 
Framework, based upon a three-year contract.  
  
The current contract with the Council’s Microsoft Partner, Bytes Software Services 
and is due to terminate on 31 March 2023. Microsoft licenses can only be procured 
through accredited Microsoft Partners, there is no direct route to Microsoft.  
 
The requirements scoped for the aggregated tender take into account the changes 
leveraged by the Modern Workplace and the Teams Telephony project supporting 
the IT Services Strategy. 

 
One major benefit of the Microsoft contract was the adoption of a single and up to 
date version of Microsoft Office across all corporate devices, Office 365, which 
provides many features including document workflow, version control, encryption of 
emails, and collaboration with internal and external partners in particular with the use 
of Teams which proved invaluable throughout the recent pandemic. 

 
A further advantage is that Office 365 can also be accessed via office.com from any 
web browser enabling the council to work off the council network which compliments 
business continuity plans.  

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Delegates authority to the Executive Director of Resources and 
Section 151 officer in consultation with the Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents 
Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor to award the new Microsoft 

199

Agenda Item 10



Licensing Contract to the successful tenderer following the 
conclusion of Crown Commercial Services Aggregated Tender. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Award contract to successful tenderer of 
the aggregation by the 28/02/2023 to 
enable successful enrolment with 
Microsoft ready for the 01/04/2023 
This is the recommended option 

This will ensure that the Council 
is licensed appropriately for all 
corporate devices and 
applications associated with 
Microsoft and that staff, partners 
and suppliers can continue to 
support and provide council 
services effectively and securely. 

Do nothing  
 

All licenses for Microsoft desktop 
products will cease as at 31 
March 2023 and access to 
business critical applications, 
services and devices will no 
longer be available presenting 
significant risk to the Council for 
the delivery of its services. 

  
2.1 Over the last five years the Royal Borough’s IT service has enhanced the 

desktop management systems provided to Royal Borough staff, partners, 
schools, Elected Members and third-party suppliers. The service has 
leveraged the functionality from many of the market leading Microsoft 
technologies to achieve this. This has been possible due to previous 
commitment to a Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) and the additional 
value-add benefits this provides. The tendering of a new contract provides the 
Royal Borough with a reliable and functional platform to develop and enhance 
business systems for both the Council and our partners.   

2.2 The objective of the Modern Workplace Project resulted in the deployment of 
Microsoft Windows 10 devices and staff taking advantage of many more 
applications that the Office 365 subscription offered, as an example the use of 
Teams Telephony which has seen the replacement of static IP handsets, 
utilising the laptops as audio devices. 

2.3 Further products and benefits include:  

• Microsoft SharePoint is currently being used for the corporate intranet and 
Members Hub Site.  
It is also being used to rationalise document management systems within 
the business where appropriate and to replace on premise network drives. 

• Developing the use of Cloud technologies and maximising the functionality 
available to reduce costs where possible and enhance Business Continuity 
and Disaster Recovery. 

200



• Microsoft professional training sessions to develop in house skills for IT 
staff and business users alike.  

• Windows 10 operating system on all user devices with regular security 
patching and updates. 
 

2.4 Not renewing this contract would result in the removal of licenses and therefore 
the functionality for all of the Council’s business critical tools and data mentioned 
above and remote access for schools, partners and suppliers to applications 
required to support Council services. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 Please see ‘Table 2’ for what success looks like and how this will be measured: 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of delivery 

New three-
year 
contract 
awarded 
and signed 
prior to the 
28 
February 
2023 

No new 
contract 
in place 
by 31 
March 
2023 

New 
contract 
signed  
by 28 
February 
2023 

New contract 
signed by 1 
February 2023 
with the ability 
for 1 month 
consultation 
with new 
incumbent 
before the 
deadline date. 

New contract 
in place by 1 
January 2023 
with the ability 
for 2-month 
consultation 
with new 
incumbent 
before the 
deadline date. 

1 April 2023 
(new contract 
commencement) 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The current cost of the Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) is £364,000 per 
annum; £1,092,000 over the current three-year term (1st April 2020 - 31st March 
2023).  
 

4.2 Indicative quotes have been gained from our current and two other competitor 
Microsoft Resellers to give an idea of potential renewal costs in April 2023 as 
detailed in Table 3.  

The licence costs are based on current RBWM active accounts and the 
number of user accounts supported in SLA’s with Achieving for Children and 
Optalis as well as other partner organisation as at November 2022. 

Table 3: Indicative Licence renewal costs from April 2023: 
 Current Microsoft 

Reseller Quote 
Market Testing 
Average   

2023 £407,418 £400,900 
2024 £407,418 £400,900 
2025 £407,418 £400,900 
Est total for 3-year 
term 

£1,222,254 £1,202,700 

 

201



 
4.3 A revenue growth bid has been submitted for IT in the 2023/24 budget 

exercise for £111,000 to cover the increase in revenue for the duration of a 
new three-year contract based on the average market research testing. 

4.4 IT have undertaken analysis on the current license numbers and other options 
that may be available to ensure that RBWM staff and partners are using the 
most cost-effective option available whilst ensuring benefits and needs are 
met. 

4.5 Quotes from the tender exercise may vary due to the following: 

• All quotes received are based on current reseller catalogue costs and may 
be subject to an increase from Microsoft in April 2023. 

• The proposed route to market is via an Aggregation approach being run by 
Crown Commercial Services. By combining its requirements with other 
buyers it is hoped that the Council will benefit from more favourable pricing 
as a result of increased volumes from the combined requirements of the ten 
other buyers participating in the aggregation. 

 
4.5  Table 4: Estimated financial impact of report’s recommendations: 
 

REVENUE COSTS 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 
Additional total £37,000 £37,000 £37,000 
Reduction £0 £0 £0 
Net Impact £37,000 £37,000 £37,000 

 
 
4.6  Features of the Aggregation 

• Ten other organisations have committed to participating in the aggregation. 
This extra buying power should help RBWM to achieve more favourable 
pricing than it would do if it were to tender on its own. 

• The Council is not mandated to award a contract following the completion of 
the aggregation should the tender results be disadvantageous for the 
Council. 

• Prior to enrolment in our Agreement with Microsoft, the Council can amend 
its estate from that stated in the tender Pricing Schedule. 

• Prices shall remain fixed for the duration of the contract from the point at 
which license are ordered. 
 
 

4.6 Contract Requirements 
• Supplier must have and maintain Microsoft Gold Accreditation and Microsoft 

FastTrack specialists with the capability to support ongoing migrations and 
provide remote guidance and advice. 

• Infrastructure Optimisation and Deployment meetings which will take place 
once every 6 months. 

• Supplier is required to conduct a True up / down Engagement 3 months 
before annual anniversaries following the Infrastructure Optimisation and 
Deployment meeting to ensure best value for money with the use of 
licensing. 

202



5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Given the estimated contract value, the contract is being tendered via a legally 
compliant framework operated by Crown Commercial Services. This ensures 
that the Council is acting in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 
2015 and the Council’s Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules. Advice has 
been provided by the Council’s corporate Procurement Team.  

5.2 The Procurement Team identified a compliant tender route through an 
aggregated tender run by Crown Commercial Services via their Technology 
Products and Associated Services Framework. Having investigated this route 
to market and compared it to other options such as tendering independently 
via an available framework or independently outside of a framework this 
appeared to be the most advantageous option available to the Council for a 
number of reasons including the potential for more advantageous pricing, 
standardised T&Cs of contract and lower internal resourcing requirements. 

5.3 The Council will let a contract directly with the successful tenderer following 
the conclusion of the Crown Commercial Services tender and subject to 
approval to award being given by the Executive Director of Resources in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet 
Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 The minimum contract term available for this renewal with any Microsoft 
Partner is three-years and this is the term being tendered for via the 
aggregation. 

The contract to be awarded following the aggregation will provide the Council 
with the ability to flex the licences at the end of each year of the contract term 
which will allow us to increase or decrease licences based upon the 
requirements of the business. 

RISKS 

Risk Level of 
uncontrolled 
Risk 

Controls Level of controlled 
Risk 

Agreement is not 
signed by deadline 
date 

High Work with Legal 
Services and 
Procurement to ensure 
this happens 

Medium 

Risk of procurement 
of incorrect licenses 
and volumes 

High Ensure close working 
relationships with 
RBWM and Microsoft 
partners to ensure this 
risk is reduced. 

Medium 

 

203



 

7 POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities: An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.  
 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability: 

No impact 
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR: 

No impact 

8. CONSULTATION 

• Consultation was held with market competitors to discuss license usage and 
gain indicative costs 

• Heads of Service and the Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member 
for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor 
were consulted on the decision to go out to tender via CCS framework. 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1  The full implementation stages are set out in Table 5: 
 
Table 5: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
12 October 2022 Publication of tender by Crown Commercial Services 
13-26 October 2022 Clarification window for tender 
3 November 2022 Bid submission deadline for tender 
4 November 2022 Compliance checks for tender 
7-17 November 2022 Tender bid checks, evaluation, consensus and 

approvals (CCS) 
18 November 2022 Notification of award and pricing results 
21 November 2022 Receipt of draft contract  
22 November 2022 – 
15 December 2022 

Review of draft contract and discussion with provider. 

15 December 2022 Cabinet decision to delegate authority to award 
29 December 2022 – 
31 January 2023 

Decision to award taken by Executive Director of 
Resources and Section 151 officer in consultation with 
Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for 
Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & 
Heritage, & Windsor. 

1 April 2023 New contract to commence 
 
9.2  The timetable above provided by CCS is subject to change which is why 

delegated approval has been requested to ensure that both the tender process 
and internal processes align to ensure that the new contract is in place by the 
deadline date of the 1 April 2023. 

204



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by one appendix: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 There are no other background documents relevant to support this report. 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
16/11/22 22/11/22 

 
Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 

Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 
16/11/22 16/11/22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
16/11/22 22/11/22 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

16/11/22 22/11/22 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

16/11/22 17/11/22 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

16/11/22 16/11/22 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Emma Young Data Protection Officer n/a  
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 

or agree an EQiA is not required 
  

Ellen McManus Equalities & Engagement Officer n/a  
Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 16/11/22  
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 16/11/22  
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
16/11/22  

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

External (where 
relevant) 

   

 

205



Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Deputy Leader of the Council & 
Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Residents 
Services, Culture & Heritage, & 
Windsor 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan: 19 
October 2022 
 

No  No  

 
Report Author: Rebecca Stafford, Service Lead – IT Operations, 01628 
796330 

 
 
 

206



APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan  Project  Service/Procedure X 

 
Responsible 
officer 

Rebecca Stafford Service area IT Services Directorate 
 

Resources 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created: 
19/10/2022 

Stage 2 : Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

Date created : n/a 

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Rebecca Stafford  
 
Dated: 19/10/2022 

 

 

 
 

 

207



Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 

208



Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
The overall aim for the approval of the Microsoft Contract Renewal is to ensure that IT Services can continue to license and 
support existing technologies fundamental to the delivery of council services.   In line with the Council’s value of investing in 
strong foundations and in order to ensure employees are supported in service delivery; fully functioning, secure, up to date and 
enabling IT infrastructure.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 

 
 
 
 
 

209



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age Not Relevant   Key data: The estimated median age of the local 
population is 42.6yrs [Source: ONS mid-year estimates 
2020]. 
An estimated 20.2% of the local population are aged 0-
15, and estimated 61% of the local population are aged 
16-64yrs and an estimated 18.9% of the local 
population are aged 65+yrs. [Source: ONS mid-year 
estimates 2020, taken from Berkshire Observatory] 

Disability Not Relevant    
Gender re-

assignment 
Not Relevant    

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

Not Relevant    

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Not Relevant    

Race Not Relevant    Key data: The 2011 Census indicates that 86.1% of the 
local population is White and 13.9% of the local 
population is BAME. The borough has a higher 
Asian/Asian British population (9.6%) than the South 
East (5.2%) and England (7.8%). The forthcoming 2021 
Census data is expected to show a rise in the BAME 
population. [Source: 2011 Census, taken from 
Berkshire Observatory] 

Religion and 
belief 

Not Relevant 
 

  Key data: The 2011 Census indicates that 62.3% of 
the local population is Christian, 21.7% no religion, 
3.9% Muslim, 2% Sikh, 1.8% Hindu, 0.5% Buddhist, 
0.4% other religion, and 0.3% Jewish. [Source: 2011 
Census, taken from Berkshire Observatory] 

210

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationestimates/datasets/populationestimatesforukenglandandwalesscotlandandnorthernireland
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/


Sex Not Relevant 
 

  Key data: In 2020 an estimated 49.6% of the local 
population is male and 50.4% female. [Source: ONS 
mid-year estimates 2020, taken from Berkshire 
Observatory] 

Sexual 
orientation 

Not Relevant 
 

   

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

No Not at this stage   

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No Not at this stage   

 
If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor 
future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
 
 
 

211

https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/
https://rbwm.berkshireobservatory.co.uk/population/


Stage 2 : Full assessment 

2.1 : Scope and define 
 
2.1.1    Who are the main beneficiaries of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List the 
groups who the work is targeting/aimed at. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List 
those groups who the work is targeting/aimed at.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

212



2.2 : Information gathering/evidence 
 
2.2.1  What secondary data have you used in this assessment? Common sources of secondary data include: censuses, 
organisational records. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.2.2   What primary data have you used to inform this assessment? Common sources of primary data include: consultation 
through interviews, focus groups, questionnaires. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

213



Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

214



 

Advance equality of opportunity 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

215



Foster good relations 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 
 

216



2.4     Has your delivery plan been updated to incorporate the activities identified in this assessment to mitigate any 
identified negative impacts? If so please summarise any updates. 
These could be service, equality, project or other delivery plans. If you did not have sufficient data to complete a thorough impact 
assessment, then an action should be incorporated to collect this information in the future. 
 
 
 

 
 

217



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: South West Maidenhead Development 

Framework Supplementary Planning 
Document  

Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No – Part I 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Haseler, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet - 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Adrien Waite, Head of Planning  

Wards affected:   Bray, Oldfield and Cox Green 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report seeks approval for the adoption of the South West Maidenhead 
Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).  
 
The Borough Local Plan identifies the South West Maidenhead area for major housing 
and employment development. The adoption of the SPD will help to coordinate 
development across the area, providing more detail to supplement the policies and 
proposals in the Local Plan. It will be an important material consideration in the 
determination of planning applications. 
 
Development in the South West Maidenhead area will help in delivering on key 
Corporate Plan goals. In addition to goals relating to housing delivery and provision of 
affordable homes, the Corporate Plan includes a specific goal which states:  
 

Enable delivery of the key social, physical and green infrastructure to support 
new development at the Desborough / South West Maidenhead site (AL13 in 
the Borough Local Plan), including strategic highway improvements, public 
transport, cycling and walking infrastructure, new primary and secondary 
schools, community facilities and open space. 

 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the adoption of the South West Maidenhead Development 
Framework Supplementary Planning Document, as set out in 
Appendix B.  
 

ii) Delegates authority for minor changes to the Supplementary 
Planning Document to be made prior to publication to the Head of 
Planning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways and Transport 
 

219

Agenda Item 11



2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Adopt the South West Maidenhead 
Development Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) with the recommended changes, 
and delegate authority for further minor 
changes to be made prior to publication 
to the Head of Planning in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways and Transport 
 
This is the recommended option 

Policy QP1b of the Borough Local 
Plan indicates that a 
Development Framework SPD 
will be produced. 
 
The SPD provides the opportunity 
to ensure that development in the 
area comes forward in a strategic 
and comprehensive manner. It 
sets design principles to ensure 
coordinated and high quality 
development across the area, 
outline other key requirements 
and principles for development, 
and set out the infrastructure 
requirements for development of 
the area and how they can be 
delivered in a timely manner. 

To not adopt the South West 
Maidenhead Development Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) with the recommended changes 
and not delegate authority for further 
minor changes to be made prior to 
publication to the Head of Planning in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Parking, Highways and 
Transport 
 
This is not a recommended option 

This approach would result in an 
uncoordinated approach to 
development across the area. It is 
likely to result in a lack of 
coordination of key infrastructure 
provision with the risk that not all 
infrastructure is provided, or it is 
not provided for in a timely 
manner. It also risks the lack of 
joined up thinking in relation to 
key design principles across the 
area.  

To delay the adoption of the SPD 
 
This is not a recommended option 
 

This would increase the risk that 
planning applications would have 
to be determined before the SPD 
is finalised. 

  
2.1 The core aim of the spatial strategy (Policy SP1) of the Borough Local Plan is to 

focus new development on the three strategic growth areas of Maidenhead, Ascot 
and Windsor, to make best use of infrastructure and services, and to provide a 
sustainable approach to growth. Within Maidenhead, the South West 
Maidenhead area is one of two strategic growth locations identified in the town. 

220



2.2 The Borough Local Plan provides the policy framework within which development 
can come forward in the South West Maidenhead area. Specific policies and 
proposals for the area are: 

• Policy QP1b – South West Maidenhead strategic placemaking area. This 
sets out the overall approach to the development of the area, including a 
series of key principles and requirements for the area 

• The following site allocations and accompanying “proformas” at Appendix 
C of the Plan which sets out site specific requirements and considerations: 

o Site AL13 – Desborough, Harvest Hill Road, South West 
Maidenhead – housing allocation for approximately 2,600 homes, 
two schools and a new local centre 

o Site AL14 – “The Triangle site” – allocated for industrial and 
warehousing development 

o Site AL15 – Braywick Park – allocated for mixed use strategic green 
infrastructure accommodating indoor and outdoor sports facilities, 
public park, special needs school and wildlife zone  

2.3 Policy QP1b states that to ensure the development of the placemaking area as a 
whole comes forward in a strategic and comprehensive manner, planning 
applications on individual land parcels should accord with the principles and 
requirements set out in the Development Framework Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD), incorporating a masterplan and approach to the approval of 
design codes; phasing of development and infrastructure delivery for the area as 
a whole. The policy indicates that the SPD will be produced by the Council in 
partnership with the developers, landowners, key stakeholders and in 
consultation with the local community. 

2.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs) as, Documents which add further detail to the 
policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further guidance 
for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. 
Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material 
consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. 
They are therefore important documents in helping to deliver the policies and 
proposals set out in the Borough Local Plan. But it is important to emphasise that 
SPDs do not create new policy, do not replace existing policy in the Borough 
Local Plan and cannot amend existing policy in the Borough Local Plan. 

2.5 The Draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary 
Planning Document was published (under Regulation 13 of The Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended) for 
six weeks consultation from 6 July to 17 August 2022.  More details on the 
consultation and the responses made can be found in Section 8 below.  

2.6 Following the consultation, officers have amended the draft SPD to take account 
of representations received and new evidence.  

2.7 The final SPD: 

221



• Sets out design principles for the area 

• Includes an illustrative framework masterplan  

• Sets out a range of other requirements and principles for development in 
the South West Maidenhead area, particularly AL13 site and covers a 
range of matters including: 

o Community needs  
o Connectivity and 
o Sustainability and Environment.  

• Sets out the infrastructure requirements for the development of the area 
and how this infrastructure should be funded and delivered. 

2.8 The changes made to the SPD following consultation on the draft SPD are 
summarised below: 

• Wording reviewed to ensure consistency with the role of SPDs and to 
ensure appropriate policy references are clear. 

• Greater clarity on the requirement for a central green space (as part of the 
Illustrative Framework Plan in the SPD) and its importance in the transition 
zone between the two neighbourhoods. 

• Ensuring guidance refers to the importance of building heights “stepping 
down” towards the edge of the development and clearer cross referencing 
to the Tall Buildings SPD  

• A number of other detailed updates and clarifications in the design section 

• Greater clarity on housing mix guidance and provision of further 
information to support the approach 

• Further evidence to support the affordable housing size mix guidance in 
the SPD. 

• Further information on the need for the schools, the timing of when they 
are needed and updated cost estimates. 

• New sub-section on playing pitches within the section on open space, 
highlighting the likely need for contributions to off-site playing pitch 
provision 

• Greater clarity on biodiversity net gain and emphasising the importance of 
securing best biodiversity outcomes 

• Further detail and clarification on the potential approaches to infrastructure 
delivery, the policy basis, and the respective roles of the community 
infrastructure levy and section 106 agreements  

• An update on expected infrastructure costs, including indexing of costs to 
the present day, and inclusion of land costs for land for community uses 
(mainly schools) 

222



2.9  It is important to emphasise that this SPD does not include a detailed design 
for the development areas, or individual parcels of land within them, but sets 
the framework within which individual planning applications can come forward.  

2.10 The final SPD is accompanied by a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
report (background paper) and a Consultation Statement (Appendix C) that 
summarise all engagement and consultation undertaken in the preparation of 
the SPD and a response to the comments made on the draft SPD. In addition, 
as part of checking the deliverability of the development in the light of changes 
nationally and the guidance in the SPD, an update to the Borough Local Plan 
viability assessment of the AL13 housing site was undertaken. This showed 
that the site continues to be viable (also a background paper). 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The key implication of adopting an SPD for the South West Maidenhead area is 
the ability to coordinate development and its associated infrastructure provision 
across the area and ensure a comprehensive approach. There are multiple 
landowners and potential developers with an interest in the sites allocated in the 
South West Maidenhead area. It is critical that they deliver both on the key 
design and other principles set out in the SPD and make timely and 
proportionate contributions to the delivery of the necessary supporting 
infrastructure. The SPD provides the framework for infrastructure funding such 
as section 106 contributions alongside the Community Infrastructure Levy, 
thereby supporting the delivery of key infrastructure. This supports the 
Corporate Plan Priority relating to ‘Quality Infrastructure’. 

 
3.2 As well as taking forward the proposals in the Borough Local Plan, work on the 

SPD has been integrated with broader strategic work on a range of other areas 
such as the Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan, the Bus Service 
Improvement Plan, school place planning, and delivery of the Housing Strategy. 
This joined-up approach will help to ensure a more coordinated and 
comprehensive approach to delivery of development and infrastructure in the 
area. 
 

3.3 Whilst SPDs are not part of the statutory development plan (such as the 
Borough Local Plan) with its associated planning status and weight in decision 
making, they are an important material consideration when determining 
planning applications. As noted above the preparation of this SPD is specifically 
referred to in the Policy for the South West Maidenhead area, Policy QP1b. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Adoption of 
the South 
West 
Maidenhead 
SPD 

SPD not 
adopted or 
adopted in 
early 2023 

SPD 
adopted on 
15 
December 
2022 

n/a n/a SPD 
adopted in 
December 
2022 

223



4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The production of the SPD has cost approximately £172,000. This is funding: 
 

• Specialist Design and Masterplanning advice 
• Infrastructure planning evidence 
• Planning Policy advice and Project Management 
• Strategic environmental assessment 
• Some other specialist officer advice. 

 
4.2 The work has been funded by a planning performance agreement with the main 

landowner/developer interests. The preparation of the SPD is within existing 
budgets. The cost of the vast majority of officer time is being carried by the 
Council from within existing resources with a small amount funded from the 
planning performance agreement. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The SPD does not form part of the statutory development plan but will be an 
important material consideration in making planning decisions.  

5.2 There is a statutory process for preparing an SPD. Regulations 11 to 16 of the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set 
out these requirements.  

5.3 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 
(SEA Regulations) also require the Council to consider whether or not 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the SPD should be undertaken. 
Following consultation with the Environment Agency, Historic England and 
Natural England it was agreed that SEA should be carried out for this SPD. 
The SEA Report has been listed as a background document accompanying 
this report. 

5.4 There are no direct legal implications as a result of this report. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

6.1 The headline risks are set out in Table 3 below:  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 

 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Poor quality and 
uncoordinated 
development and 
infrastructure 
provision as there 
is no relevant 
guidance in the 

High Adopt the South West 
Maidenhead 
Development Framework 
SPD 
 

Low 

224

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made


form of a South 
West Maidenhead 
SPD 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to 
ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, 
project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those 
within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. A 
EQIA (Equalities Impact Assessment) Screening has been completed and is 
available in Appendix A.   

 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability. The allocation of major development in the South 

West Maidenhead area has been the subject of a full sustainability appraisal 
process as part of the preparation of the Borough Local Plan, and the allocation 
of development sites in the South West Maidenhead area were found to be 
“sound” by an independent planning inspector, having regard to the outcome of 
that sustainability appraisal. The preparation of this SPD was also subject to a 
strategic environmental assessment (SEA). The SEA Report can be viewed at  
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/6030259.  A post adoption SEA statement will 
be made available on the Council’s website as soon as reasonably practicable 
after the SPD is adopted.   
 

7.3 Whilst consultation during the preparation of the Borough Local Plan, and 
engagement and consultation on this SPD (see below) highlighted concerns 
about the impact on the environment and climate change, including on 
biodiversity and the potential loss of trees, the SPD sets out more detail on how 
more sustainable development of the area can be brought forward including: 
 

• Seeking 10% biodiversity net gain 
• Seeking net zero carbon development (operational) 
• Delivery of a green infrastructure network  
• New tree planting 
• Setting out requirements for more sustainable forms of building 
• Provision of new and enhanced walking, cycling and public transport 

links to provide good alternatives to car travel 
• Provision of schools and local facilities on site to reduce the need for new 

residents to travel and enhance their ability to reach those facilities by 
non-car modes. 

  
7.4 Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the South West Maidenhead 

Development Framework SPD was undertaken by the council in accordance with 
the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation.  
 

7.5 The built and natural environment are major determinants of health and wellbeing 
of the population, and this development should provide opportunities for a healthy 
living environment which promotes and enables healthy behaviours.  
 

7.6 The golf course part of the AL13 housing allocation that forms part of the SPD is 
part of the Council’s landownership assets.  

 

225

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/6030259


8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 As part of preparing the SPD early public engagement took place in the form of 
three online events together with the opportunity for people to submit written 
comments afterwards. There was extensive publicity about the events in 
advance including writing to nearly 1,000 homes in the vicinity of the main 
development sites, consulting an extensive list of people on the planning policy 
consultee database, holding a press briefing (with subsequent articles and 
publicity about the events on the local media), and regular use of social media 
to publicise the events. 

8.2 At the Regulation 13 consultation stage (consultation on the draft SPD), the 
Council wrote again to nearly 1,000 local residents and a wide range of 
consultees on the consultee database.  Three staffed drop-in sessions were 
held in different weeks during July 2022, two at the Maidenhead Library and one 
at the Braywick Leisure Centre and an online event was held via Microsoft 
Teams.  About 90 written representations were received from residents and 
other stakeholders. These made a wide range of comments, ranging from 
opposition to the principle of development, through to more technical comments 
on the SPD. A Consultation Statement has been produced summarising all 
engagement and consultation undertaken in the preparation of the SPD. It also 
summarised the responses received and provides a response to the issues 
raised. Some of the key issues raised included: 

• Concerns around loss of trees/greenspace/biodiversity 
• Concerns re density and building heights, especially at the northern end 

of the golf course 
• Impact on Harvest Hill Road 
• Comments on proposed housing mix 
• The approach to biodiversity net gain and carbon neutral development 
• The approach to infrastructure delivery and funding 

 
8.3 Engagement has also taken place with landowner/developer interests, ensuring 

that they can take account of emerging thinking on the SPD as they start to 
prepare planning applications. Some engagement also took place with some 
infrastructure providers to understand the impact of development on 
infrastructure and to consider appropriate mitigation/enhancements.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: 29 December 2022. The full implementation 
stages are set out in Table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
 
Date Details 
15 December 
2022 

Cabinet decides whether to approve South West 
Maidenhead SPD. 

29 December 
2022 

South West Maidenhead SPD comes into force, 
following Call In period.  

226



10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by three appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment Screening 
• Appendix B – Final South West Maidenhead Development Framework 

SPD. 
• Appendix C – Consultation Statement 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by three background documents: 
 
• Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead – Borough Local Plan 2013-

2033. 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-
policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan 
 

• Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Report 
 

• AL13 site Additional Viability Assessment 
 

12. CONSULTATION 

13. Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
11/11/2
022 

17/11/20
22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

11/11/2
2 

17/11/22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
15/11/2
2 

15/11/22 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

15/11/2
2 

21/11/22 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

11/11/2
2 

14/11/22 

    
    
    
    
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 

or agree an EQiA is not required 
  

Ellen McManus Equalities & Engagement Officer 21/11/2
022 

22/11/20
22 

Other consultees:    

227

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/development-plan/adopted-local-plan


Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive   
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 15/11/2

2 
18/11/22 

Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 
Services 

10/11/2
022 

11/11/20
22 

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Alysse Strachan  Head of Neighbourhood 
Services  

  

Nikki Craig  Head of HR, Corporate Projects 
and IT  

10/11/2
022 

17/11/20
22 

Tracy Hendren Head of Housing, Environmental 
Health and Trading Standards 

  

Anna Richards   Head of Public Health  14/11/2
022 

14/11/20
22 

Chris Joyce  Head of Infrastructure, 
Sustainability and Economic 
Growth  

  

Adrien Waite Head of Planning  11/11/2
022 

22/11/20
22 

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways and 
Transport  

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
 
Key Decision 
 
Added to Forward 
Plan 19 October 
2022 
 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Authors: Ian Motuel, Planning Policy Manager, 01628 796429 and 
Ian Manktelow, Principal Policy Planner, 01628 796200 

 
 
  

228



Appendix A - Equality Impact Assessment Screening 
 
 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan x Project  Service/Procedure  

 
Responsible 
officer 

Ian Manktelow Service area Planning Policy Directorate 
 

Place 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created: 
22/11/2022 

Stage 2: Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

Date created : n/a 

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Adrien Waite 
 
Dated: 22/11/22 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

229



Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 
 

230



Stage 1 : Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
To adopt  the  South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) for planning 
purposes, following public consultation, along with supporting evidence base documents.  
  
The SPD has been prepared to provide clear and specific guidance to help coordinate the development of major sites allocated in 
the Borough Local Plan in the South West Maidenhead area. It  includes design principles, an illustrative framework masterplan, 
other key requirements and principles for development, and guidance on the provision and delivery of infrastructure that is 
required as a result of the development.  
 
It does not (and cannot) develop new policy but elaborates on certain policies in the Borough Local Plan. It should be noted that 
an Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken for the Borough Local Plan. 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

231



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age Relevant Medium Positive The Borough Local Plan allocates the South West 
Maidenhead area for major housing and employment 
development, and for green infrastructure provision. 
The Borough Local Plan (Submission Version) was 
subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and 
also subsequently on adoption, which did not identify 
any negative impacts for any particular group with 
protected characteristics.  
 
The South West Maidenhead SPD develops the 
policies and requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy.  
 
Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and 
Type’ recognises that new homes should support the 
changing needs of individuals and families at different 
stages of life, and the expectation is that a proportion 
of new housing should meet the higher accessibility 
standards of Requirement M4(2) (Building 
Regulations). The SPD reinforces the need for 
different housing types and tenures to meet a range of 
local needs, including a good mix of family housing 
and flats.  
 
The SPD and subsequent more detailed planning 
applications will highlight the need to provide for a 
range of different open spaces to meet the needs of 
different age groups – e.g., children’s playspace, 
orchards/community gardens, informal walking areas 
etc 
 

232



Disability Relevant 
 

Medium Positive The Borough Local Plan allocates the South West 
Maidenhead area for major housing and employment 
development, and for green infrastructure provision. 
The Borough Local Plan (Submission Version) was 
subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and 
also subsequently on adoption, which did not identify 
any negative impacts for any particular group with 
protected characteristics.  
 
The South West Maidenhead SPD develops the 
policies and requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy.  
 
Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and 
Type’ recognises that new homes should support the 
changing needs of individuals and families at different 
stages of life, and the expectation is that a proportion 
of new housing should meet the higher accessibility 
standards of Requirement M4(2) (Building 
Regulations) and also makes provision for a proportion 
of homes to be of M4(3) standard to meet higher 
standards for wheelchair users. The SPD reinforces 
the need for different housing types and tenures to 
meet a range of local needs, including a good mix of 
family housing and flats and a proportion of housing 
that meets the accessibility standards. 
 
In addition, the SPD will highlight the importance of 
connectivity by a range of means travel, including the 
importance of high quality walking and cycling 
facilities. Provision of high quality walking and cycling 
provision, particularly of a segregated nature, and 
providing good connectivity to local facilities in the 

233



local centre on the site could be of benefit to those with 
physical disabilities in particular. 

Gender re-
assignment 

Not 
relevant 

  The SPD will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

Not 
relevant 

  The SPD will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Relevant Low Positive The Borough Local Plan allocates the South West 
Maidenhead area for major housing and employment 
development, and for green infrastructure provision. 
The Borough Local Plan (Submission Version) was 
subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and 
also subsequently on adoption, which did not identify 
any negative impacts for any particular group with 
protected characteristics.  
 
The South West Maidenhead SPD develops the 
policies and requirements set out in the Borough Local 
Plan. It does not create new policy.  
 
Borough Local Plan Policy ‘HO2 Housing Mix and 
Type’ recognises that new homes should support the 
changing needs of individuals and families at different 
stages of life, and the expectation is that a proportion 
of new housing should meet the higher accessibility 
standards of Requirement M4(2) (Building 
Regulations) and also makes provision for a proportion 
of homes to be of M4(3) standard to meet higher 
standards for wheelchair users. The SPD reinforces 
the need for different housing types and tenures to 
meet a range of local needs, including a good mix of 
family housing and flats and a proportion of housing 
that meets the accessibility standards. 
 

234



In addition, the SPD will highlight the importance of 
connectivity by a range of means of travel, including 
the importance of high quality walking and cycling 
facilities. Provision of high quality walking and cycling 
provision, particularly of a segregated nature, and 
providing good connectivity to local facilities in the 
local centre on the site could be of benefit to those with 
young children. 

Race Not 
relevant 

  The SPD will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Religion and 
belief 

Relevant Low Positive The Borough Local Plan allocates the South West 
Maidenhead area for major housing and employment 
development, and for green infrastructure provision. 
The Borough Local Plan (Submission Version) was 
subject to an Equality Impact Assessment in 2017 and 
also subsequently on adoption, which did not identify 
any negative impacts for any particular group with 
protected characteristics.  
 
Places of worship are categorised as ‘Community 
facilities’ and deemed as making a significant 
contribution to the wellbeing of residents and the 
sustainability of communities.    
 
The SPD makes no specific provision for places of 
worship but does highlight the scope for the provision 
of a community facility as part of the local centre. This 
could have scope to accommodate religious meetings 
as part of a potential multi-functional facility. 
 

Sex Relevant 
 

Low Positive  It will be important to ensure that routes and public 
spaces at SWM are well lit so that everyone to feel 
safe.  Public safety issues will be addressed in more 

235



detail at the planning application stage.  The principle 
of designing places with public safety in mind is 
incorporated into the Borough Wide Design Guide, 
which the SWM SPD refers to, e.g., see principle 6.2 
of the Design Guide.  

Sexual 
orientation 

Not 
relevant 

  The SPD will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

No None. At this time, it is 
considered that the 
proposed South West 
Maidenhead 
Development 
Framework SPD is 
unlikely to have a 
disproportionate impact 
on any particular group. 

Ian Manktelow Positive impacts will 
emerge over the 
lifetime of the delivery 
of the development – 
this is likely to be over a 
period of at least 10 
years 

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No None Ian Manktelow n/a 

 

236



If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor 
future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
  

237



Appendix B – South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 
 
ATTACHED AS A SEPARATE DOCUMENT 
  

238



Appendix C – Consultation Statement for the South West Maidenhead 
Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
 
 
ATTACHED AS A SEPARATE DOCUMENT 
 
 

239



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
  

South West Maidenhead 
Development Framework 
Supplementary Planning 
Document 

ADOPTED – DECEMBER 2022 

241



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

1 

South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary 
Planning Document 
 

1  Introduction ....................................................................................................................... 4 

Purpose ................................................................................................................................. 4 

Structure and Content of this Development Framework SPD ............................................ 5 

South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area........................................................ 6 

2 Community and Stakeholder Engagement ....................................................................... 8 

2.1  Process for Community and Stakeholder Engagement ............................................ 8 

BLP Consultation and Engagement .................................................................................. 8 

DFSPD Engagement ........................................................................................................... 8 

2.2  Community Key Issues from DFSPD Engagement .................................................... 9 

3  Planning Policy Framework ............................................................................................. 10 

3.1  National Policy ......................................................................................................... 10 

3.2  Local Policy ............................................................................................................... 11 

3.3  Supplementary Planning Documents ..................................................................... 14 

3.4 Other Relevant RBWM Plans and Strategies .......................................................... 15 

4  Area Analysis .................................................................................................................... 16 

4.1  Introduction ............................................................................................................. 16 

4.2  Context and Existing Land Uses .............................................................................. 16 

4.3 Landscape Character and Views ............................................................................. 16 

4.4 Ecology ..................................................................................................................... 17 

4.5 Trees and Hedgerows .............................................................................................. 17 

4.6 Conservation and Heritage ...................................................................................... 17 

4.7 Access, Transport and Movement .......................................................................... 18 

4.8 Flood Risk ................................................................................................................. 19 

4.9 Ground Conditions ................................................................................................... 19 

4.10 Services and Amenities ........................................................................................... 19 

4.11 Utilities ..................................................................................................................... 20 

4.12 Noise and Air Quality ............................................................................................... 20 

4.13 Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) ................................ 21 

5  Vision ................................................................................................................................ 23 

5.1  The Vision ................................................................................................................. 23 

6  Design and Delivery Principles and Requirements ......................................................... 25 

6.1 Introduction ............................................................................................................. 25 

242



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

2 

6.2 Illustrative Framework Plan .................................................................................... 26 

6.3 Design Principles ...................................................................................................... 31 

Approach to Placemaking & Creating Distinct Neighbourhoods .................................. 32 

Approach to Northern Neighbourhood ......................................................................... 37 

Approach to Harvest Hill Neighbourhood (previously referred to as the ‘southern 
neighbourhood’ within the Borough Local Plan) ........................................................... 38 

Housing and Density ....................................................................................................... 39 

Accommodating family housing (see Figure 7) .............................................................. 39 

School Provision .............................................................................................................. 43 

Approach to the Triangle Site Employment Area .......................................................... 44 

Incorporating Green Infrastructure & Open Space ....................................................... 46 

Approach to the Green Spine ......................................................................................... 47 

Access, Movement & Wayfinding .................................................................................. 54 

Approach to Harvest Hill Road ....................................................................................... 57 

Next Steps with masterplanning & design control ........................................................ 63 

Site Wide Masterplans .................................................................................................... 65 

Site Wide Design Codes .................................................................................................. 65 

Design Review ................................................................................................................. 66 

6.4 Other Delivery Principles and Requirements ......................................................... 67 

6.5 Community Needs ................................................................................................... 68 

Housing ............................................................................................................................ 68 

Community Infrastructure .............................................................................................. 71 

Open Space ...................................................................................................................... 72 

6.6 Connectivity ............................................................................................................. 74 

6.7  Sustainability and Environment ............................................................................. 81 

Other Issues ..................................................................................................................... 86 

7  Infrastructure Delivery..................................................................................................... 88 

7.1  Infrastructure Delivery - Policy, Principles and Approach ..................................... 88 

Step 1 - Infrastructure Needs and Costs ...................................................................... 91 

Step 2 - Other Funding Sources ................................................................................... 94 

Step 3 - Potential Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts ................................ 95 

Step 4 - Addressing the Funding Gap ........................................................................... 95 

The Triangle Site (AL14) contributions ........................................................................... 96 

The Housing Site (AL13) .................................................................................................. 98 

Planning Reform............................................................................................................ 101 

7.2  Timing and Phasing ................................................................................................ 102 

243



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

3 

7.3 Viability .................................................................................................................. 103 

Appendix 1 - Table Illustrating Link Between the Visions,“ High Level” Development 
Principles, BLP Proforma Requirements, and SPD Principles ......................................... 104 

Appendix 2 - Infrastructure Delivery Schedule ............................................................... 109 

Appendix 3 – Affordable Housing and Housing Mix ....................................................... 115 

Appendix 4 - Education Provision .................................................................................... 119 

Plans for new school provision on AL13 South West Maidenhead are for: .............. 119 

Appendix 5 - Borough Local Plan Policy QP1b and Site Proformas for Sites AL13, AL14 
and AL15 ........................................................................................................................... 123 

 
  

244



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

4 

 

1  Introduction 
 

Purpose 
 
1.1.1 This Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document (DFSPD) 

provides a planning, design, and delivery framework for the South West 
Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area (SWMSPA).   

 
1.1.2 It adds detail to the broad principles and requirements set out in the Borough 

Local Plan (BLP), in particular, as set out in the placemaking policy for the area 
(Policy QP1b) and in the individual proformas for site allocations AL13 
(Desborough, Shoppenhangers and Harvest Hill Roads, South West Maidenhead), 
AL14 (The Triangle Site, Maidenhead) and AL15 (Braywick Park, Maidenhead). It is 
important to note that it does not set new policy, nor is it able to change policy in 
the Borough Local Plan. It does, however, provide updated evidence and further 
information to assist developers in delivering policy compliant development. 

 
1.1.3 This DFSPD has been prepared having regard to national and local planning policy, 

local infrastructure and environmental considerations and community concerns 
and aspirations.  It has been produced by the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead (“the Council”) in collaboration with the principal landowners and 
developers within the South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area, and in 
consultation with the community and other stakeholders. 

 
1.1.4 The main purposes of the DFSPD are to: 
 

 Explain the planning policy context within which planning applications will 
be considered; 

 Identify the key constraints and opportunities affecting development 
within the Placemaking Area; 

 Set out the vision for the development; 
 Establish broad design principles for the Placemaking Area, ensuring a high 

quality, sustainable and coherent development; 
 Coordinate land uses, and set out the green infrastructure strategy for the 

area; 
 Define the principal pedestrian, cycling, and public transport routes; 
 Illustrate the above through diagrams and an illustrative framework plan; 
 Identify other key principles and requirements for the development of the 

area; and  
 Assess in more detail the infrastructure required to support planned 

development and provide a delivery framework that will ensure the timely 
and coordinated delivery of necessary supporting infrastructure. 

 

245



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

5 

1.1.5 This Development Framework has been adopted by the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead as a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). It is a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications. 

 
1.1.6 Landowners and developers within the South West Maidenhead Strategic 

Placemaking Area have prepared, or are preparing planning applications for 
development of their individual land parcels.  This DFSPD has a vital role to play in 
ensuring that these separate planning applications are coordinated, most 
importantly, in terms of ensuring the timely delivery of the new infrastructure 
required to support the development, and to ensure a coherent, high-quality scheme 
overall. 

 
Structure and Content of this Development Framework SPD 

 
1.1.7 The first part of this DFSPD addresses the community engagement undertaken in 

preparing this SPD (Section 2), the planning policy context (Section 3) and the 
characteristics of the place-making area (Section 4).   
 

1.1.8 The early community engagement has helped shape the development framework 
and design principles. 
 

1.1.9 The second part of this DFSPD, sets out the vision for the South West Maidenhead 
Placemaking Area (Section 5), the development framework, including design 
principles and framework masterplan (Section 6), and infrastructure delivery 
(Section 7). 
 

1.1.10 Through discussions and consultation, the Council has been able to develop further 
in this SPD some of the broad principles and policy approaches set out in the 
Borough Local Plan. This SPD: 
 

 sets out important design principles for the area, and in particular for 
key locations in the main housing area such as the green spine and the 
Harvest Hill Road corridor; 

 provides more clarity on an appropriate broad location for the local 
centre; 

 provides more information and evidence in relation to the general 
housing mix for the area and ensures that the affordable housing mix 
meets the latest identified needs; 

 ensures that development is well connected across the area, and 
beyond, not just in relation to roads but also critically walking and 
cycling; 

 provides clarity on the preferred way forward in terms of sustainable 
travel connections from the Triangle site; 

 sets out an approach to biodiversity net gain including any necessary 
off-site provision; 

 ensures that development is coming forward in a way that addresses 
climate change impacts; and  

246



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

6 

 sets out a preferred approach to the funding of infrastructure in the 
area. 

 
 

South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area 
 
1.1.11 The SWMSPA is defined on the BLP Policies Map and in Figure 3 of the BLP and is 

also illustrated in Figure 1 below.   
 
 

Figure 1 – SWMSPA Site 

 

 
1.1.12 The SWMSPA is in multiple ownerships with both public and private interests 

represented.  The golf course site, north of Harvest Hill Road, is owned by the 
Council, and the land south of Harvest Hill Road is under the control of a number of 
different landowners and developers. Together, the land north and south of Harvest 
Hill Road is allocated in the BLP (AL13) for approximately 2,600 new homes and 
supporting community infrastructure. 
 

1.1.13 The Triangle Site, south of the A308, is allocated for employment uses (site AL14), 
and Braywick Park is an existing sports and recreation hub, east of Braywick Road 
(AL15). 
 

1.1.14 It should be noted that the SWMSPA includes land beyond the three allocations.  
This is to recognise the need for new development to consider its surrounding 

247



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

7 

context, and to help ensure that existing and planned development is fully 
connected. 
 
Supporting documents  
 

1.1.15 This DFSPD is accompanied by a Strategic Environmental Assessment1 (SEA). SEA 
seeks to ensure that environmental considerations are part of the process of 
preparing certain plans and programmes. 

 
1.1.16 In order to determine whether an SEA is required of this DFSPD, a SEA Screening 

Report was produced. This concluded that the SPD is likely to have a significant 
environmental impact on the surrounding area and will therefore require an SEA in 
relation to air quality, biodiversity, climate change, cultural heritage, landscape, and 
material assets. An SEA was therefore undertaken, and a report published to 
accompany this SPD. However, the Screening Report also concluded that a Habitats 
Regulation Assessment (HRA) is not required, as a significant impact of the SPD on 
any Natura 20002 sites can be objectively ruled out at this stage.  

 
1.1.17 A consultation statement has also been prepared, setting out how the Council has 

engaged with local communities and other stakeholders in preparing the SPD and 
the main issues raised. More details on this can be found in Section 2.  
 
 
 
  

 
1In accordance with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (the SEA 
Regulations) 
2 HRA considers the potential adverse impacts of plans and projects on designated Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs), classified Special Protection Areas (SPAs) and listed Ramsar sites. This is in accordance 
with the Habitats Directive and the Birds Directive. SACs, SPAs and Ramsar sites are collectively known as the 
Natura 2000 network. 

248



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

8 

2 Community and Stakeholder Engagement 
 
2.1  Process for Community and Stakeholder Engagement 
 

BLP Consultation and Engagement 
 
2.1.1 Community and stakeholder consultation and engagement, in relation to 

development at South West Maidenhead, began with discussions around the 
emerging Borough Local Plan.  At the pre-submission Regulation 19 stage, the 
Local Plan allocated land north and south of Harvest Hill Road for residential 
development, but as separate allocations, and the Triangle site was protected for 
potential employment needs later in the Plan period.   

 
2.1.2 A range of comments and concerns were raised in representations to the pre-

submission draft Local Plan, some of which were initially discussed at the Stage 1 
Local Plan Examination hearing sessions in June 2018.  Following the Stage 1 
hearing sessions there was a pause in the Examination process, whilst the Council 
undertook further work to strengthen the Local Plan policies, in particular to 
ensure a more comprehensive approach that prioritised placemaking. 

 
2.1.3 Hyas were appointed by the Council to prepare a Placemaking Study for South 

West Maidenhead, to inform the development of a cohesive and comprehensive 
policy framework for the area.  As part of this work, two workshops were held in 
July 2019, with the feedback from these sessions helping to shape the 
development principles and associated concept proposals. 

 
2.1.4 In turn, the Placemaking Study (September 2019) informed revisions to the policy 

framework for South West Maidenhead.  The new policies and associated 
proforma requirements were published as “Proposed Changes” to the Local Plan, 
with an opportunity for the local community and other stakeholders to comment.  

  
2.1.5 Stage 2 of the Local Plan Examination hearings took place in October-December 

2020, with an independently appointed Inspector carefully considering all of the 
written and oral submissions made in relation to the Plan, its strategy, policies, 
and site allocations (including as they relate to South West Maidenhead). 

 
2.1.6 Following consultation on Main Modifications to the Local Plan (July-September 

2021), and receipt of the Final Inspector’s Report in January 2022, the Local Plan 
was adopted in February 2022.  
 
DFSPD Engagement 

 
2.1.7 In the context of the above, three online public engagement events were held in 

March and April 2022 to help further in understanding the issues, and to share 
emerging thinking on the content of the SPD.  The events took the form of 
presentations followed by questions in the chat bar, that were either answered 

249



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

9 

on the night, or had written answers provided on the Council’s website 
afterwards. The three sessions had three different themes as a focus: 

  
1. Community Needs 
2. Connectivity 
3. Sustainability and Environment 

 
2.1.8 The questions and comments from the chat bar and written responses from an 

online response form were gathered together and used to help inform the 
preparation of this DFSPD. Recordings of the live events were made available on 
the Council’s YouTube channel and there were several hundred viewings of the 
recordings. Links to all of the above can be found on the Council’s website via the 
following link - https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/non-
development-plan/placemaking/placemaking-and-south-west-maidenhead 

 
2.1.9 A draft SPD was then produced, and consultation and engagement on it took 

place for 6 weeks during July and August 2022. This included three in person 
drop-in exhibition sessions and an online event. Information was made available 
on the Council’s website together with various ways of commenting on the draft 
SPD. Written responses to the consultation were wide ranging, including from the 
general public, various agencies and organisations and also from developers.  

 
 
2.2  Community Key Issues from DFSPD Engagement 
 
2.2.1 There were a wide range of comments received through this engagement across a 

large number of themes. At the early engagement stage the greatest level of 
feedback and comment related to environmental issues including: 

 
• Concern in relation to loss of wildlife on the site 
• Concern in relation to the ability to deliver biodiversity net gain 
• Loss of trees (and implications for pollution and climate change mitigation) 
• Conflicts with the Climate Environment Strategy 
• Development needs to be carbon neutral and use renewable sources of energy 
• Loss of Green Belt land around Maidenhead 
• Concerns about the control of air pollution and odours during construction 
• Concerns about flooding on the Triangle site 
• Not clear how site can be delivered as sustainable development as defined in 

the National Planning Policy Framework 
 
2.2.2 Some other notable themes at that stage in relation to other matters, included: 
   

• Concerns regarding the maximum height of the apartment blocks that are likely 
to be on the site 

• Concern for housing affordability and housing mix 
• Lack of infrastructure to support the development 
• Increased traffic volumes  

250



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

10 

• Improvements to public transport service needed 
• Concern about the road access points and parking 
• Need for large amount of social and adaptable housing  
• More green open space required for mental health 
• Community youth centre provision is needed 
• Need for healthcare provision 

 
2.2.3 The draft SPD sought to respond to these various issues, within the context provided 

by the policies in the Borough Local Plan and the scope of what an SPD can cover.
  

2.2.4 Many of the main themes from the engagement at the earlier stage were highlighted 
in responses to the draft SPD as well. In addition, there were more detailed 
comments about different sections and paragraphs in the draft SPD, and more 
technical comments on the SPD content including on the approach to infrastructure 
delivery and funding, housing mix and affordable housing, and concerns that the SPD 
may be seeking to introduce new policy. 

 
2.2.5 A consultation statement setting out the engagement undertaken, the issues raised 

and the Council’s response to the issues, focusing on the comments received on the 
draft SPD, will be published alongside this final version of this SPD. This includes 
setting out how the Council has revised the draft SPD in response to the comments 
received. 

 

 

3  Planning Policy Framework 
 

This SPD elaborates on the principles and high-level policy set out in both national 
and local planning policy documents.  The policies and guidance most relevant are 
summarised below. 

 
3.1  National Policy 
 
3.1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government’s planning 

policies for England and how these should be applied.  It includes a range of high-
level policies relating to sustainable development, transport, housing, the economy, 
design, the environment, and health.  The importance of good design and 
placemaking is expressed throughout the document and is recognised as a key 
aspect of sustainable development. 

 
3.1.2 The NPPF3 also: 

 Emphasises that the delivery of high quality, beautiful and sustainable 
buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning process should 
achieve; 

 
3 NPPF 2021, section 12 

251



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

11 

 States that plans should set out a clear design vision so that applicants have 
clarity on what is likely to be acceptable and they also reflect local 
communities’ aspirations; 

 Encourages design guides to be prepared at an area-wide, neighbourhood or 
site-specific scale, either as part of a plan or as supplementary planning 
documents; 

 Supports early engagement on development proposals, so that issues around 
infrastructure and housing delivery can be resolved at the pre-application 
stage; 

 Seeks measurable net gains for biodiversity; 
 States that proposals should pursue opportunities to promote walking, cycling 

and public transport use; and 
 Supports the transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. 

 
 3.1.3 The NPPF recommends that Local Planning Authorities make appropriate use of tools 

for assessing and improving the design of development, including Building for a 
Healthy Life (BHL, 2020). BHL is the latest edition of Building for Life 12, England’s 
most widely used design tool for creating places that are better for people and 
nature. BHL can be seen as a ‘golden strand ’running through the development and 
planning process and its considerations should be embedded into Local Plans, SPDs 
and site-specific briefs. It can be used to set expectations for new developments and 
works best when it is used at the inception of a scheme rather than after or towards 
the end of the design process.  It uses a traffic light system to highlight examples of 
good practice (green), poor practice (red) and in between (amber).  

 
3.1.4 Another tool is the National Design Guide, which was published by the Ministry of 

Housing, Communities and Local Government (now known as Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities) in 2021.  The National Design Guide, and 
the National Model Design Code and Guidance Notes for Design Codes illustrate how 
well-designed places that are beautiful, healthy, greener, enduring, and successful 
can be achieved in practice. Design Codes are a set of illustrated design 
requirements that provide specific, detailed parameters for the physical 
development of a site or area.   

 

3.2  Local Policy 
 
3.2.1 The RBWM Borough Local Plan 2013-2033 (BLP) was adopted in February 2022.  The 

BLP provides a framework to guide development in the Royal Borough to 2033, 
including a spatial strategy and policies for managing development.  Policy QP1b 
(South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area) within the BLP designates this 
area as the focus for a significant proportion of the Borough’s housing, employment 
and leisure growth during the Plan period and adds that it should be delivered as a 
high quality, well connected sustainable development.  The Policy (copied in full at 
Appendix 3) contains a set of key principles and requirements, including: 

 
 A coordinated and comprehensive approach to the development of the area to 

avoid piecemeal or ad-hoc proposals; 

252



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

12 

 Creation of a distinctive, high quality new development; 
 Provision of the necessary infrastructure ahead of, or in tandem with the 

development; 
 Provision of a balanced and inclusive community; 
 Measures to minimise the need to travel and improved connections; 
 Provision of green infrastructure and delivery of biodiversity net gain; and 
 Measures to reduce climate change and environmental impacts. 

 
3.2.2 The supporting text for Policy QP1b includes a schematic Framework Plan and Plan 

Key (Figures 3 and 4 of the BLP).  These were produced for the SWM Placemaking 
Study (October 2019) and are indicative only.  Indeed, it should be noted that the 
‘red edge ’boundary shown on the Framework Plan is slightly different to that on the 
Adopted Policies Map, and it is the latter that is correct.  The proposed new 
illustrative Framework Plan (see section 6 of this DFSPD) has a boundary that is 
consistent with the Adopted Policies Map. 

 
3.2.3 The placemaking area contains three allocations, AL13, AL14 and AL15.  Each of 

these allocations has its own proforma in Appendix C of the BLP (attached at 
Appendix 3 of this DFSPD, for ease of reference).  The proformas set broad 
development parameters and will help to guide the design and delivery of the sites.  
A summary of the proforma requirements is provided below:  

 
 

Site Uses Area (ha) Requirements 
AL13 Approx. 2,600 

homes, 
educational, open 
space, community 
/ retail uses 

89.93  20 requirements, 
including creation 
of two distinct 
neighbourhoods. 

AL14 General industrial 
/ warehousing 
uses 

25.7 32 requirements.  
Not all of site will 
be developed for 
employment. 

AL15 Strategic Green 
Infrastructure site 
accommodating 
indoor and 
outdoor sport, 
park, school and 
wildlife zone 

54.1 11 requirements. 
Emphasis on 
provision of links to 
surrounding areas 

 
 
 
3.2.4 The BLP includes many other policies that are relevant to this SPD, including: 
 

 SP2 – Climate Change 
 QP1 – Sustainability and Placemaking 

253



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

13 

 QP2 – Green and Blue Infrastructure 
 QP3 – Character and Design of New Development 
 QP3a – Building Height and Tall Buildings 
 HO1 – Housing Development Sites 
 HO2 – Housing Mix and Type 
 HO3 – Affordable Housing 
 ED1 – Economic Development 
 TR1 – Hierarchy of Centres 
 TR5 – Local Centres 
 NR1 - Managing Flood Risk and Waterways 
 NR2 - Nature Conservation and Biodiversity 
 NR3 - Trees, Woodlands, and Hedgerows 
 IF1 – Infrastructure and Developer Contributions 
 IF7 - Utilities 
 As well as others relating to environmental protection and infrastructure.  

 
3.2.5 It is important to note that this SPD provides more detailed guidance to supplement 

the Local Plan Policy QP1b, but it cannot change the BLP policies. 
 
3.2.6 Policy HO1 provides for at least 14,240 dwellings in the Plan period up to 2033 and 

allocates a number of sites, including AL13.  The proforma for AL13 is part of Policy 
HO1 and therefore has full policy weight.  However, HO1 adds that in meeting the 
proforma requirements, flexibility may be applied to allow for changes in 
circumstance or to enable alternative solutions that would deliver the same (or 
preferably better) planning outcomes.  

 
3.2.7 Policy HO2 sets out that an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes should be 

provided, in accordance with the evidence in the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) 2016, or successor documents, unless an alternative mix is more 
appropriate.  Many of the sites delivered in the Borough (and particularly in 
Maidenhead) since 2013 have been urban sites that are best suited to high density 
flatted schemes. There is an opportunity to provide an appropriate mix of family 
housing and flats on the AL13 site in order to achieve a mixed community whilst 
accommodating approximately 2,600 homes. HO2 also sets out a requirement that 
on greenfield sites of 100 or more net new dwellings, 5% of the market housing 
should be provided as fully serviced plots for custom and self-build dwellings, and 
these plots must be made available and appropriately marketed for 12 months.   

 
3.2.8 Policy ED1 seeks to make provision for at least 11,200 net new jobs across a range of 

floorspaces, by promoting flexible working practices, encouraging the more intensive 
use of existing employment sites and by making some new employment allocations.  
It allocates the Triangle site AL14 for new industrial and warehousing space but adds 
that due to flood risk and other constraints, not all of the site will be developed for 
employment purposes.  Policy ED1 adds, in clauses 8 and 9, that given the shortage 
of industrial space in the Borough and limited scope to allocate new sites, the 
priority (across RBWM) should be to deliver smaller ‘flexible  ’units that meet the 

254



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

14 

needs of the Borough’s firms, with mezzanine floors where possible above industrial 
units.  Clause 10 states that at the Triangle site, larger units (e.g. B8 distribution 
units) should only be permitted where they are required to secure the delivery of a 
mix of units as part of a comprehensive scheme, with a high standard of design to 
reflect the ‘gateway ’nature of the site. The proforma for AL14 setting out detailed 
site-specific requirements is part of Policy ED1. 

 
3.2.9 The Borough Local Plan was supported by a detailed evidence base.  A Placemaking 

Study for South West Maidenhead was prepared by consultants Hyas, and this was 
published in 2019 and informed Policy QP1b and the proformas for AL13-15.  Two 
stakeholder workshops were held in July 2019 to inform the study.  A wide range of 
other evidence base documents were produced for the BLP, including Sustainability 
Appraisal, Habitats Regulation Assessment (including air quality), Green Belt analysis, 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), Housing and Economic Land 
Availability Assessment (HELAA), Strategic Highways Modelling, Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan (IDP), Tall Buildings Strategy, Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and 
Viability.  

 
3.2.10 With regards to other Local Plans, the Council is preparing a Joint Central and 

Eastern Berkshire (JCEB) Minerals and Waste Plan with Wokingham, Bracknell and 
Reading Councils.  This is at an advanced stage of production. Following a public 
examination, the Inspector’s report was published in November 2022 and the Plan 
was also adopted by the Borough Council in November 2022. It now supersedes the 
existing Minerals Local Plan 1997/2000 and Waste Local Plan 1998.  Amongst other 
things, the JCEB Minerals and Waste Plan encourages the prior extraction of sand 
and gravel deposits when this is viable and practicable within Minerals Safeguarding 
Areas (MSA) as part of large development proposals.  The proforma for site AL13 
requires that a minerals assessment is undertaken to assess the viability and 
practicality of prior extraction of minerals.   

 

3.3  Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
3.3.1 In June 2020, the Borough Council adopted the Borough Wide Design Guide as a 

Supplementary Planning Document. This supports the BLP policies by setting out in 
detail what the Council considers to be design excellence in the Royal Borough. 
Developers are expected to take the Design Guide into account when designing new 
development proposals in the Borough.  It will also be used by development 
management officers in assessing future planning applications at South West 
Maidenhead.  The SWMSPD does not, therefore, seek to repeat this detailed design 
guidance.  

 
3.3.2 Several other SPDs are expected to be produced and adopted to support the 

Borough Local Plan, including a Building Heights and Tall Buildings SPD, a 
Sustainability and Climate Change SPD, a Parking SPD and an Affordable Housing and 
Planning Obligations SPD.  The Building Heights and Tall Buildings SPD was published 
for consultation in August 2022 and is expected to be adopted early in 2023.  It is 
anticipated that the other SPDs will progress further during 2023.   

255



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

15 

 

3.4 Other Relevant RBWM Plans and Strategies 
 
3.4.1. In addition to the BLP, its evidence base, and other SPDs, there are several other 

plans and strategies relevant to this SPD.  In February 2021, the Council adopted the 
Environment and Climate Strategy 2020-2025, and in March 2021, a Position 
Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design was published as a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications.  The Position Statement 
sets out guidance and requirements which will be sought on new developments in 
order to deliver on the requirements set out in the NPPF, national and local 
commitments towards climate change and the Council’s Environment and Climate 
Strategy. Amongst other things, it indicates that all development should be net-zero 
carbon unless this would not be feasible. 

 
3.4.2. Other relevant RBWM corporate strategies include: 
 

 Corporate Plan (2021-26) 
 Housing Strategy (2020-2025) 
 Biodiversity Action Plan (at an advanced stage of preparation) 
 Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) 
 Bus Service Improvement Plan 
 

 
  
 

  

256



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

16 

4  Area Analysis 
 

4.1  Introduction 
 
4.1.1 This section of the SPD sets out the context, constraints and existing uses of the 

SWMSPA, with an analysis of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats 
associated with development within the area.  

 
4.1.2 The site analysis has been primarily informed by work undertaken by Hyas during the 

production of the South West Maidenhead Placemaking Study, which was prepared 
against the policies in the submission version of the BLP. Further studies and 
assessments have also been completed by the promoters and landowners of the 
sites that make up the SWMSPA.  

 
4.1.3  However, further analysis and assessment of the various sites within the SWMSPA 

will be required at the planning application stage. It should be noted that this is a 
high-level study and some of the details provided within the SPD may develop and 
evolve following further work.  

 

4.2  Context and Existing Land Uses 
 
4.2.1 The SWMSPA is a large area of land to the south-west of Maidenhead railway  

 station, extending from the railway line southwards to the M4.  
 

4.2.2 The land is currently used for a mix of open space, leisure, residential and  
 employment activities.  A large part of the northern and central part of the area 
comprises Maidenhead Golf Course, with Braywick Park and Ockwells Park forming 
two separate, significant green open spaces to the east and south-west of the 
SWMSPA respectively. The land falls away to the south of the Golf Course to the 
Triangle site in the south of SWMSPA which is an undeveloped site bounded by the 
A308(M), Ascot Road and the M4 motorway.  

 

4.3 Landscape Character and Views 
 
4.3.1 Maidenhead is renowned for being a green town with leafy approaches benefitting 
 from the rich landscape backdrop of the Thames Valley to the east and north, the 
 Chilterns margins to the north-west and wider open countryside to the west and  
 south.  
 
4.3.2 The key characteristics of the SWMSPA are a diverse rural landscape with mixed 

farmland, remnant woodland areas and copses including some of ancient origin. 
There are historic designed landscapes with mature parkland trees and rural lanes 
with grass verges, ditches, and hedgerows, along with vernacular building forms with 
red brick, timber frames and weatherboard details with brick boundary walls of 
manor estates and numerous footpaths and bridleways. 

 

257



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

17 

4.4 Ecology 
 
4.4.1 Bray Meadows Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is located to the east of the 

Braywick Park allocation AL15.  Great Thrift Wood SSSI is just outside of the SWMSPA 
area.  There are also several Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) and Local Nature Reserves 
(LNR) within and close to the area, including The Gillet LNR (near the railway station), 
Braywick Park LNR and LWS and Ockwells Park LNR.   
 

4.4.2 Appropriate biodiversity mitigation measures will be required and assessed through 
the planning applications process.   

 

4.5 Trees and Hedgerows 
 
4.5.1 There are Tree Preservation Orders (TPO) in place across the SWMSPA, including 

along the western boundary near Shoppenhangers Road. Towards the south of the 
site, there are several large TPO areas.  

 
4.5.2 There are also several large mature groups of trees between the fairways on  

 Maidenhead Golf Course, including the ancient woodland of Rushington Copse. 
There is some broadleaved woodland along the eastern edge of the AL13 site. There 
is also a tree copse on the Triangle site, which is also identified as an ancient 
woodland on the Ancient Woodland Inventory. In addition, there are tree belts along 
the motorways in this area. There are also trees on Harvest Hill Road that are on the 
Ancient Tree Inventory. 

 

4.6 Conservation and Heritage 
 
4.6.1 There are several heritage designations on or near the SWMSPA.  For example, there 

is the Grade II listed ‘Clocktower ’approximately 280m to the northeast of the AL13 
site at Maidenhead Railway Station.  The Sustainability Appraisal produced for the 
BLP did not anticipate that there would be any impact on this asset, particularly as 
the elevated railway at Maidenhead Railway Station prevents views to the 
development. 

 
4.6.2 Approximately 70m south of AL13, on the south side of the A308(M) within the AL14 

site, there is ‘Mesolithic site, Moor Farm, Holyport’, a monument scheduled under 
the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas Act 1979. The site proforma for 
AL14 requires that the development retain, conserve, and enhance the setting of this 
scheduled ancient monument.  

 

258



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

18 

Figure 2 - Mesolithic site, Moor Farm, Holyport, Bray Wick

 

(Modern Ordnance Survey mapping: © Crown Copyright and database right 2018. All rights reserved. Ordnance Survey Licence number 
100024900.)  

 

4.7 Access, Transport and Movement 
 
4.7.1 Several key local roads into Maidenhead Town Centre run through the area  
 which is well located in relation to the A404(M), A308(M) and the M4. 
 
4.7.2 Development in the SWMSPA will need to address the impacts of the development 

including tackling congestion, improving connectivity and permeability north-south 
and east-west, particularly for pedestrians and cyclists through the area and into the 
surrounding town and local communities. The northern part of the SWMSPA adjoins 
the Maidenhead Town Centre Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) and, as 
development in such proximity to the AQMA may worsen emissions in the area, 
mitigation measures such as designing for greater walking and cycling and enhanced 
public transport should be maximised to reduce negative impacts on air quality. 

 
4.7.3 North-south connections are currently provided by the existing road corridors of 

Shoppenhangers Road and Braywick Road.  Opportunities for accommodating bus or 
cycle lanes will need to be investigated further. Further south, the AL14 site 
(allocated for industrial and warehousing uses) is separated from the AL13 housing 
allocation by the A308(M).  

 
4.7.4 East-west connections from the SWMSPA out to adjoining areas, especially  
 Braywick Park and south-west to Ockwells Park are currently limited.  
 
 
 
 

259



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

19 

4.8 Flood Risk 
 
4.8.1 The AL13 part of the SWMSPA is almost completely within Flood Zone 1, according 

to the Flood Map for Planning 2020.  The development passes the Sequential Test for 
allocation for residential and educational facilities use as no sites at lower risk are 
reasonably available. 

 
4.8.2 About 36% of AL14 is in Flood Zone 1, with 27% in Flood Zone 2 and about 37% in 

Flood Zone 3 (Flood Map for Planning 2020). The BLP Inspector concluded, in her 
final report, that as industrial development is a less vulnerable use, the Triangle site 
passes the sequential test, and this is appropriate in Flood Zones 2 and 3a. Policy 
NR1 of the BLP also confirms that the sequential test is not required for sites 
allocated for development.  

 

4.9 Ground Conditions 
 
4.9.1 The land in the SWMPA has a range of topographies, but generally slopes up towards 

the centre. Most of the land is classed as Grade 4 agricultural land.  The AL13 site lies 
within a mineral safeguarding area and there are expected to be sand and gravel 
deposits beneath the ground.  

 
4.9.2 As the placemaking area is predominantly greenfield land, there is not expected to 

be any issues with contamination, although the Council’s GIS records indicate that 
there may be potential contamination issues with some already developed parts of 
the wider area, including within AL15 and close to the Holiday Inn on Manor Lane.  

 

4.10 Services and Amenities 
 
4.10.1 There are several existing schools within or near the SWMSPA, including Oldfield 

Primary School, Braywick Court School, Larchfield Primary and Nursery School, and 
Desborough College. The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) produced for the BLP 
identified a need for a new 4 form entry primary school and a new 7 form entry 
secondary school on the AL13 site and these are a requirement of the BLP site 
proforma.  

 
4.10.2 There are several doctor’s surgeries in the vicinity of the site, with the nearest being 

the Ross Road Medical Centre.  There are other GP surgeries within the town centre. 
The IDP for the Borough Local Plan notes that the existing health infrastructure is 
under increasing pressure due to a rise in population, demographic factors, and the 
inadequacy of some of the surgery buildings which are outdated and are no longer fit 
for purpose. There may be an opportunity within the proposed Local Centre for a 
new medical facility to replace some of the existing GP surgeries close to the site.  

 
4.10.3 Thames Valley Police (TVP) have an aspiration for a ‘touchdown office ’in the 

SWMSPA to reinforce the visibility of policing in the new community. 
 

260



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

20 

4.10.4 With regards to sports and community facilities, Braywick Park contains a range of 
sporting facilities.  A new Leisure Centre has recently opened within Braywick Park, 
replacing the Magnet Centre. There are three libraries close to the site, Maidenhead 
Library, Boyn Grove Library and Cox Green Library.  The Green Lane allotment site is 
on the north-eastern edge of the SWMSPA. 

 

4.11 Utilities 
 
4.11.1 Maidenhead Wastewater Treatment Works is located to the east of the SWMSPA 

and has a catchment that covers all of the town.  The Council and Thames Water 
signed a Statement of Common Ground in 2020 in relation to the Borough Local 
Plan.  It was agreed that whilst there are no proposed upgrades to Maidenhead 
Sewage Treatment Works (STW) in the 2020-25 period, the proposed levels of 
growth can be accommodated.  It added that the capacity of the STW will be 
continually monitored as growth comes forward and that should upgrades be 
necessary, they will be put in place in time to support the scale of development 
planned in the BLP, including in Maidenhead.  

 
4.11.2 The Licensed Electricity Distribution Network Operator (DNO) for the Borough is 

Scottish and Southern Energy Power Distribution (SSEPD). Cadent, formally National 
Grid Gas Distribution Limited is the gas network strategic infrastructure provider for 
the Borough. Electric and gas network operators have a legal duty to respond to 
requests for new supplies, and it is not anticipated that there would be any 
constraints in terms of the provision of such utilities for the South West Maidenhead 
development.   

 

4.12 Noise and Air Quality  
 
4.12.1 The northern edge of the SWMSPA adjoins the Maidenhead Air Quality Management 

Area (AQMA). Whilst not within the AQMA, development in such proximity to the 
AQMA may exacerbate emissions in the area. The Sustainability Appraisal (SA) found 
that whilst there might be a minor negative impact on air and noise pollution, the 
promotion of non-car travel would help to reduce transport related emissions.  

 
4.12.2 However, the Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) was updated in March 2020, 

and this assessed the impact of the development within the Proposed Changes 
version of the BLP.  As part of the air quality appropriate assessment, Ricardo Energy 
& Environment undertook further analysis and this work concluded that there would 
be no adverse impact on the site integrity of any European site due to changes in air 
quality.  The Ricardo report, appended to the HRA document, also concluded that 
whilst there would be some increase in concentrations of pollutants at receptor 
points, no relevant locations (including areas assigned as AQMAs) were at risk of 
exceeding the national Air Quality Objectives in 2033 for scenarios containing the 
Proposed Changes Plan development.  

 
4.12.3 The SEA/HRA Screening Document produced for this SPD states that “There is likely 

to be scope within the site to ensure new residents are situated away from major 

261



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

21 

sources of air pollution, such as roads, through careful design and layout and the use 
of GI [Green Infrastructure] buffers...”. 

 
4.12.4 Approximately 400m east of Braywick Park is a licensed waste site which includes 

 the Braywick Recycling and Refuse Centre. There is also an inert waste recycling site 
to the western end of Kimber’s Lane, adjacent to the A404(M).  

 
4.12.5 The southern areas of the SWMSPA are also adjacent to the A404(M) and  A308(M). 

It may be the case that those parts of the site closest to these roads may be  
 adversely affected by noise and air quality issues. This will need to be looked at in 
 more detail, and appropriate noise mitigation measures provided should they be 
 needed at the planning application stage. 

 
 

4.13 Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats (SWOT) 
 
4.13.1 Figure 3 below shows some of the key constraints present in the SWMSPA. 
 

Figure 3 - SWMSPA Constraints

 

 
4.13.2 Building on the initial work undertaken by HYAS for the SWM Placemaking Study  
 (2019), the section below sets out a summary of the strengths, weaknesses,  
 opportunities, and threats for the SWMSPA. 
 

262



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

22 

4.13.3 The main strength of the area is that it has very good accessibility, located 
immediately south of the town centre and railway station, with access to the 
Elizabeth Line and bus routes, and to strategic roads, including the M4, the A308(M) 
and A404(M). It has good proximity to existing assets and facilities, including those in 
the town centre and open spaces/leisure.  

 
4.13.4 With regards to weaknesses, the roads within and surrounding the area act as  
 barriers to connectivity, as well as limiting access e.g., to open space at Ockwells  
 Park and Braywick Park.  It currently has poor connectivity, particularly for  
 pedestrians.   
 
4.13.5 Turning to opportunities, the South West Maidenhead area provides the 

opportunity to deliver significant levels of housing (including affordable housing), 
social and community infrastructure, and employment space to help meet the needs 
of the Borough. The scale of development requires a new approach to the design 
and delivery of the area in order to create a new character in this area and attract 
new investment and new residents to support local services and enable the 
provision of new businesses. Furthermore, a coordinated approach to development 
will support delivery of renewables and low carbon living at scale. There are also 
opportunities for the delivery of innovation in green buildings, walkable 
neighbourhoods, pedestrian and cycle priority, shared facilities to make efficient use 
of land and public transport provision, biodiversity net gain and the building of 
mixed and balanced communities.  

 
4.13.6 Finally, turning to threats, the size and capacity of the area will likely require higher 
 densities, with pressure on green space, trees and environmental impacts that will 
 need to be mitigated.  The development could result in some pressure on existing 
 facilities and infrastructure in the town, including on the highway network, and again 
 this will require mitigation.  
 
4.13.7 The policies in the Borough Local Plan, supported by the guidance in this SPD, help to 
 ensure that both the issues and the opportunities associated with development in 
 the SWMSPA can be fully addressed through the planning application process. 
 
  

263



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

23 

5  Vision  
 
5.1  The Vision 
 
5.1.1 The adopted Borough Local Plan (2022) sets out a spatial vision for the Borough 

(BLP, page 18), and a series of related objectives (BLP, pages 19-22). Important 
themes include: 

 
 Protecting and enhancing the special qualities of the Borough’s built and 

natural environments; 
 Promoting sustainable development and high-quality design; 
 Making effective and efficient use of land; 
 Ensuring necessary new infrastructure is delivered alongside development; 

and 
 Providing jobs and homes for residents, in a safe, healthy and sustainable 

environment. 
 
5.1.2 Within this broad context, Policy QP1b – South West Maidenhead Strategic 

Placemaking Area (SWMPA (referred to as SWMSPA elsewhere within this SPD)), 
presents a Vision specifically for South West Maidenhead.  This Vision states the 
following: 

 
“SWMPA will be an area that fulfils a variety of roles for both the local area and 
Maidenhead as a whole.  The provision of infrastructure and other functions will 
contribute in a number of ways to a more sustainable, more distinctive and more 
desirable part of town. 
 
A sense of place and distinctiveness will emerge in different ways across the SWMPA. 
Maidenhead is renowned for being a green town with leafy approaches benefitting 
from the rich landscape backdrop of the Thames Valley to the east and north, the 
Chilterns margins to the north-west and wider open countryside to the west and 
south.  Retaining the existing trees and landscape buffers along the strategic road 
corridors at the southern end of the SWMPA will maintain the sense of leafy 
enclosure and new residents will benefit from improved access to and integration 
with the significant green spaces of Ockwells Park and Braywick Park as well as new 
and improved blue infrastructure.  New and existing communities alike will live a 
greener existence among a flourishing network of green streets and spaces which will 
accommodate biodiversity and people harmoniously. 
 
In 2019 the Council committed the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead to 
become carbon neutral by 2050. This challenging commitment will require a 
proactive approach by many parties, including the residents of Maidenhead.  As new 
communities become established, more sustainable patterns of living will become 
enshrined to enable new residents to instinctively choose to reduce their 
environmental impact.  The choice to live in South West Maidenhead will be a choice 

264



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

24 

to live more sustainably and with this will come the opportunity to live better, more 
sociable, more connected and healthier lives.” 

 
5.1.3 The vision for SWMSPA has been translated into a series of policy principles and 

requirements (Policy QP1b (5)), with further site-specific requirements included in 
the site proformas for AL13, AL14 and AL15.  The table at Appendix 1 shows the 
relationship between the Vision for the SWMSPA, the policy principles and 
requirements set out in Policy QP1b (5), and the site-specific requirements set out in 
the three relevant site proformas. The site proforma requirements are attached in 
full at Appendix 3. 

 
 
  

265



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

25 

6  Design and Delivery Principles and Requirements 
 
6.1 Introduction 
 
6.1.1 Drawing on the context and analysis in earlier sections, this section sets out: 
 

 An Illustrative Framework Masterplan for the area 
 Design Principles for development in the South West Maidenhead area 
 Other Delivery Principles and Requirements 

 
6.1.2 The SWMSPA incorporates a variety of sites, uses, and characters. The DFSPD 

coordinates the holistic design of the place in a comprehensive way to avoid 
piecemeal or isolated parts of development and coordinate strategic green 
infrastructure.  Overall, development proposals across South West Maidenhead 
must adhere to the following key overarching design principles: 

 
Overarching Design Principles 
 

 Ensure a holistic approach to the design of the place in a comprehensive way to 
avoid piecemeal or isolated parts of development and coordinate strategic green 
infrastructure. 

 Create distinct neighbourhoods, which are walkable in size and organised around 
centres of activity which include a mix of uses. 

 Include a varied residential character and a mix of housing types that can 
contribute to creating legibility and a sense of place. 

 Provide a vibrant local centre that is legible, distinct and easily accessible from 
surrounding development promoting the use of local facilities and facilitating more 
sustainable lifestyles.  

 Set new development within a variety of high-quality public realm and open 
spaces, including suitable provision for landscape, ecology and biodiversity. 

 Ensure that development is designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and 
mitigate climate change.  

 
BLP Links: QP1b, AL13, AL14, AL15, QP1 
Other Links: Corporate Plan 

 
6.1.3 The key principles within this section of the DFSPD are set out in boxes, with further 

supporting detail provided below. References are made to relevant policies in the 
Local Plan, including the policy requirements in the proformas for sites AL13, AL14 
and AL15 that are set out in Appendix C of the Local Plan. It is important to note that 
the principles set out below are to be read alongside the requirements of the 
proformas – they do not replace the proforma requirements but may add detail and 
potential approaches to delivery. 

 
 
 
 

266



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

26 

 
6.2 Illustrative Framework Plan 
 
6.2.1 The preparation of an Illustrative Framework Plan draws together the various 

influences on the study area to set out an approach that can guide future delivery.  
 
6.2.2 The Illustrative Framework Plan (Figure 4) provides an illustration of how key design 

principles may come together across the Placemaking Area. It is not intended to 
represent a masterplan for the area.  The illustrative block form and other 
supporting design information is intended to provide the context for communicating 
the key principles. Further masterplan design work will be necessary to determine 
the layout of development in each area and through this subsequent process, 
greater understanding of constraints may result in a variety of block arrangements 
and relationships between open space, streets and development. 

 
 
  

267



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

27 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Figure 4 - Illustrative Framework Plan 

268



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

28 

 

 

The northern neighbourhood comprises a low traffic, high density development near to 

the station and the town centre.  Development block form is arranged as a regular grid to 

provide direct access to the green spine as the location of open space in the 

neighbourhood and the main way of moving around by bike or by foot. Vehicular access 

is provided away from the green spine where possible.  

 

The Harvest Hill neighbourhood (previously referred to as the 'southern neighbourhood' 

within the Borough Local Plan) includes residential areas to the north and south of  

Harvest Hill Road and is focused around the school and the local centre located to the 

south of the golf course site. The green spine passing through the neighbourhood centre 

provides the opportunity for central public realm and green space. 

 The Triangle site lies to the south of the A308(M). It comprises solely employment use 

but is arranged to encourage access by bike and by foot, and as an attractive means of 

travel for those working in this location and wanting to access other parts of the south 

west of Maidenhead outside of work time and by sustainable means. The developable 

area will be defined by flood and other constraints for which more investigation needs to 

be carried out (determined at planning application stage). Development layout should be 

able to accommodate a range of employment units including smaller business units to 

support the local economy and a diversity of operators. Larger units (for example B8 

distribution units) should only be permitted where they are required to secure the 

delivery of a mix of units as part of a comprehensive scheme. Internal arrangements and 

servicing arrangements of employment units should be considered with regards to the 

street scene and creating a high quality and safe public realm suitable for use by 

pedestrians and cyclists. Offices, ancillary uses, and smaller business units can 

contribute to an active elevation along key routes into and around the site, and HGV 

circulation and docking would be more appropriately accommodated away from the 

main public realm areas.  

 The green spine forms a legible continuous route connecting north to south at all times, 

prioritising pedestrian, and cycle movement through the provision of a segregated 

pedestrian and cycle route of no less than, or equivalent to, 4m wide where combined 

(or minimum 2.5m bi-directional cycle route and 1.5m pedestrian route if separate). 

Different parts of the green spine will include different modes of transport and may 

incorporate these minimum specifications in different ways. 

 

The green spine in the northern neighbourhood is the primary sustainable movement 

corridor with direct sight lines towards the town centre, landmarked along its length by 

building frontage and public realm features. The green spine includes a variety of formal 

open spaces along its length. 

 

To the north of the Harvest Hill neighbourhood the green spine is multi-functional 

providing a means of sustainable movement as well as ecological connectivity. 

Vehicular access is routed alongside the spine in this development area, but additional 

open space is located within residential areas, accessible from the green spine. 

269



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

29 

 

To the south of Harvest Hill Road, the green spine performs an ecological and 
movement function. It should be designed to encourage people to access the local centre 

by sustainable means as an easy choice for walking and cycling. 

 

Pedestrian and cycle improvements and coordination of built frontage (fronting onto 

Kimbers Lane from both sides) and planting help improve safety and the attractiveness 

of the link along Kimbers Lane to Ockwells Park.  

 

Throughout the Harvest Hill neighbourhood green space for recreation and for wildlife 

is integrated throughout the development and includes pocket parks, small greens, 

retained woodland and hedgerows. These spaces create a network of green infrastructure 

and should be well connected in a legible and permeable way to the green spine. 

 
The southern green margin contributes to biodiversity gain across the south west 

Maidenhead area and as an ecological facility should be connected to the wider network 

of wildlife corridors and habitats. Some public routes linking east to west can be 

provided through this area and development fronting it from the north should create a 

positive relationship with the edge of the green margin which slopes away to the south. 

Where possible the area could also be used for informal recreation. 

 

The junction on Braywick Road at the Braywick Leisure Centre entrance and the 

footbridge over the A404(M) providing a route to Ockwells Park should both be 

improved to provide more legible and easy to access routes to these significant areas of 

green space and leisure facility. Opportunities to create ecological continuity at the 

crossings should also be explored bearing in mind both ground and airborne wildlife. 

 Braywick and Ockwells parks provide important strategic green spaces and leisure 

facilities for the whole of Maidenhead and improvements to the access points from the 

south west Maidenhead area, not only serve the residents of the new development but 

help in connecting existing communities to these regional facilities including to future 

schools. They may also provide the opportunity for enhancements to biodiversity, but 
careful consideration should be given to the compatibility between this and the 

important recreational role these parks have. 

 

Retained existing planting and new planting along the rear of neighbouring properties to 

the site can contribute to connectivity for wildlife benefit. 

 

Planting can be used to screen large employment buildings where these do not provide a 

significant value in forming a gateway on the approach by road from the south. Building 

location and form (to be determined at planning application stage) may determine 

where, and to what extent, planting is required. 

270



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

30 

 

A series of key junctions exist across the development area where key routes cross or 
link with other destinations. In these locations public realm improvements help integrate 

the whole of the south west of Maidenhead making it a sustainable place, connected 

with the wider town and safe for pedestrians and cyclists. Built form, public realm and 

highways design all play an important role in improving these gateways. 

 Individual areas of ecological value across the south west Maidenhead area such as 

Rushington Copse to the north of the site area are very valuable in ensuring the 

biodiversity of the area. These individual landscape components should be linked 

together to bring greater ecological value through connected habitats. 

 

The Harvest Hill Road corridor should have a variety of character along its length. The 
opportunity for safe pedestrian and cycle provision should be explored. 

 Vehicular access to areas to the north and the south should be designed to contribute to 

the legibility along the corridor and the changing character. Each individual access 

should be considered in the context of the whole corridor and other nearby accesses in 

order that one access does not prohibit another being delivered and being designed well. 

All vehicular access from Harvest Hill Road to the north or the south should be 

designed in a way that does not prohibit a suitable quantity and location of pedestrian 

and cycle crossings and does not hinder pedestrian and cycle connectivity in a north-

south or east-west direction. 

 

To the very north of the site the opportunity to connect directly with the town centre and 

create access to the railway station should be explored. Development form should 

safeguard the long-term potential to realise this possibility where the short-term 

opportunity does not exist. 

 

Existing vehicular access to and from the site.  

 

Potential additional access to be explored. 

271



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

31 

 Green streets, connecting to the green spine and other key routes and providing a legible 
choice of pedestrian and cycle movement around and between neighbourhoods. Street 

design should include the consideration of access to open space, ecological continuity 

and amenity value, accommodating various user groups, relationship with buildings on 

either side of the street primarily designed to overlook the street and with entrances 

from the street, and providing an easy to navigate network which connects areas within 

and beyond the site itself. 

 

Built form overlooks key routes providing access to homes and other uses from the 

street and avoiding rears of properties onto important routes which need to be safe and 

attractive. 

 

Flood risk area. 

 Area of transition between north and south (Harvest Hill) neighbourhood areas is 

characterised by integration of generous green space for recreation and ecological 

purposes as part of the requirement for a central green area. The area marks a distinctive 

transitioning through green space from one neighbourhood area to another. 

Consideration should be given to the northern and southern edges to built development, 

how they address green space, the integration and networking of ecological assets 

within this central transitional area and the legibility between north and south (Harvest 

Hill) neighbourhoods achieved as a result. 
 

 
 
6.3 Design Principles 
 
6.3.1 The South West Maidenhead area, while made up of a series of distinct sites in 

different land ownership, also represents an important part of the town, 
contributing in a variety of ways to the function and identity of the town as a whole. 
Together, the various allocations making up the SWMSPA serve to contribute to 
social, environmental, and economic improvements locally and for the good of the 
town more widely. Land use and development patterns around the south of the 
town have to date dictated particular patterns of movement and community 
definition, and in particular movement and relationships in an east-west direction 
have been limited. The design and planning of new development in this area offers 
the opportunity to address this and the following series of overarching design 
principles outline how this should be done in an effective way. 

 
 
 
 

272



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

32 

Figure 5 - South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area  

 
Approach to Placemaking & Creating Distinct Neighbourhoods 
 

6.3.2 The SWMSPA should comprise distinct neighbourhoods which are walkable in size 
organised around a legible centre. The northern most neighbourhood should be 
oriented towards the town centre, given its proximity, and in doing so establish a 
new town centre neighbourhood. At Harvest Hill (to the south) the location and 
accessibility of the local centre should reflect that development will extend to the 
south of Harvest Hill Road. The Triangle site, whilst not a neighbourhood in its own 
right, should consider how people will move between their workplace and any 
nearby facilities in a sustainable way. The transition between the north and south 
neighbourhoods is marked by the integration of green space for recreation and 
ecological purposes with each of the neighbourhoods addressing this area in a 
positive way to create a legible change between north and south through the green 
space. 

 
6.3.3 Varied residential character and a mix of housing types can help create balanced 

communities and also allows a variety of building form and appearance to help with 
the legibility of the place. Variations in character and mix between the different 

273



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

33 

neighbourhoods will help ensure they are distinct from one another. Building and 
public realm typologies should reflect the different lifestyles which will emerge in 
each of the neighbourhoods. 

 
6.3.4 The local centre at Harvest Hill is most suitably located within reach of the most 

amount of people (including existing residents) and co-located with the school to 
support the resilience of local centre facilities and to help with a behavioural shift 
towards more sustainable mobility patterns. The mix of uses at the centre would 
contribute to a vibrant local centre and include retail, residential and community 
facilities. This variety and associated building and public realm design will mean the 
centre is legible, distinct and easily accessible from surrounding development, 
promoting the use of local facilities and facilitating more sustainable lifestyles. 

 
6.3.5 Employment provision at the Triangle site can make an important contribution to the 

economy locally and should be designed in a way that encourages sustainable travel 
to and from work. Routes to, and gateways into the site should be designed to 
accommodate pedestrians and cyclists, as well as service vehicles to promote local 
trips by bike or on foot. 

 
 

274



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

34 

Figure 6 - Neighbourhoods and Centres of Activity 

 

275



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

35 

6.3.6 Design of the urban block structure throughout the area follows a sequence of  
 structure first and detail later.  Applicants are encouraged to use the following  
 methodology: 

 
NB: Rectangular blocks are shown for ease of illustration. 
 

1. Block size 
and shape 

This determines the permeability and 
legibility of the development. Varying 
block dimensions in relation to 
surrounding streets and green 
infrastructure is at the foundation of the 
variation in character throughout the 
development. Block dimension and shape 
should respond to the variety of local 
constraints and opportunities and 
facilitate the changing function and 
identity of green infrastructure as a 
framework for biodiversity and ecological 
performance, recreation and sustainable 
movement.  
 
The BLP (Policy SP2(1)(a)) seeks 
to maximise opportunities for both 
natural heat (solar gains) and ventilation 
through the optimal orientation of 
buildings, increasing the sustainability of 
any development. This should not 
compromise the integrity of a walkable 
and legible neighbourhood which in 
themselves are essential for the long-term 
sustainability of the town. Once the 
structure of the urban form is established 
there are also opportunities in the 
detailed design (see item 5. Architecture 
& Detail) to maximise natural heating and 
ventilation. 

 

2. Divide the 
Block  

Arrange the buildings around the 
perimeter according to character areas. 
Non-site-specific example block plans for 
each character area can be used to inform 
the site-specific response in each 
character area. 

 

276



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

36 

3. Street 
Hierarchy  

Combine blocks in a layout to create a 
legible street hierarchy. It is important to 
consider which edges of the blocks form 
which streets. 

 
 

4. Public and 
Private Space  

Different approaches to private and public 
space, at the front and rear of buildings, 
boundaries, parking and the public realm 
are suitable in different character areas. 
Varying these elements builds on the 
foundation of the block structure to affect 
the changing character throughout the 
development. 

 

5. 
Architecture 
& Detail 

Not until the structure is right should the 
detail be considered but it can help to 
reinforce the structure and distinctiveness 
of character area if considered carefully. 
The energy performance of buildings is a 
key consideration in the detailed design of 
buildings within all urban typologies and 
regardless of building orientation, size or 
use. Steps should be taken through detail 
design to maximise natural heating and 
ventilation 

 

 

 
 
6.3.7 The following diagrams and descriptions identify the key design principles to be 

considered across the SWMSPA. These are not intended to represent a masterplan 
for any given site or location. Illustrative block form and other supporting design 
information is intended to provide the context for communicating the key principles. 
 

6.3.8 The purpose of the following sections of the SPD is to add further guidance on the 
interpretation of the Illustrative Framework Plan acknowledging that this does not 
represent a masterplan for any given site. The following design principles can assist 
as further work is undertaken by highlighting which aspects are of most importance 
in the overall placemaking approach. 
 
 
 

277



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

37 

Approach to Northern Neighbourhood 
 

To the north of the SWMSPA, nearest to the town centre, 
development is at its densest. Development organised as a series 
of regular blocks in a grid form helps ensure everyone has easy 
access to nearby facilities and public open space. There is the 
opportunity for higher density in this area due to its connectivity 
and walkable distance to the town centre. Direct access to the 
central green spine from all streets ensures people benefit from 
these convenient connections and proximity to the town centre. 
Consideration should also be given, in the design, height and 
location of new development, to the relationship with existing 
residential development. 

 
 

 
Building heights step 

down to the site 
boundary 

Building orientation helps reinforce the central green spine as 
the main focus of movement, activity and recreation. Building 
elevations may be setback to create larger open spaces but these 
should avoid obstructing the main route of the green spine and 
open spaces should function as events along its route rather than 
alternatives to the green spine. The legibility along the green 
spine and block to block is helped by these contrasts between 
enclosure and open space.  

Building heights and features can help the legibility of the green 
spine and the distinction between different buildings on similar 
dimension blocks. Taller corners, or contrasting form, materials 
or ground floor use, and floor to ceiling heights can help 
wayfinding between blocks and mark the corners of open spaces 
or mark the gateway between contrasting sections of the green 
spine.  

Accommodating vehicular access within the northern 
development area should avoid compromising the quality and 
function of the green spine as a high-quality public realm 
environment primarily for use by pedestrians and cyclists. Where 
necessary to run parallel to the green spine, the vehicular route 
should not obstruct or dominate the green spine through the 
development. Alternatively, routes should be found for vehicular 
access which avoid conflicting with the green spine and access 
blocks from the rear or side streets. This may result in more 
circuitous routes for vehicles which in turn results in walking and 
cycling becoming recognised as more convenient, quicker 
choices. 

 

 
 

278



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

38 

Approach to Harvest Hill Neighbourhood (previously referred to as the ‘southern 
neighbourhood’ within the Borough Local Plan)  
 

The new neighbourhood at Harvest Hill 
extends to the north and the south of Harvest 
Hill Road. It is important for the sustainability 
of the place and for the desirability as liveable 
place that the Harvest Hill Road does not form 
a barrier between parts of the new 
community. The legibility of the green spine 
through the development blocks is paramount. 
Block form should be organised to give priority 
access along the green spine with side streets 
creating direct routes to the green spine. The 
hierarchy of building form should draw 
attention to the green spine as the primary 
route through the development so that it is 
obviously the first choice for movement by 
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users. 
Consideration should also be given, in the 
design, height and location of new 
development, to the relationship with existing 
residential development. 

 
 
 
 

 
Building heights step down to 

the site boundary 

In addition to the primary block form, good 
legibility and way finding around the 
neighbourhood is created using a variety of 
elevations and building frontages. As well as a 
clear focus upon the green spine, other 
important routes and areas of public space can 
be marked by changes in the building frontage 
and elevations. This may include taller and 
more continuous terraces, or a language of 
materials and elevational treatments and roof 
lines which frame spaces and mark the corners 
and gateways between different streets and 
spaces.  

279



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

39 

Views along the green spine and between 
important locations and destinations, such as 
the school entrance, the local centre, and bus 
stops should be marked by landmark features. 
This may include the use of taller of more 
contrasting building forms, changes in 
materials but can also be helped by the design 
of the public realm and choice of street trees 
and furniture in these locations. Reduction of 
clutter, over provision of signage, highways 
posts and rails etc., generally throughout the 
development will help to ensure this is a 
people friendly place and easy to navigate. 

 

 
Housing and Density 

 
6.3.9 There is an opportunity at south west Maidenhead to create a place which combines 

high quality housing, a vibrant community and safe and sociable public spaces. In 
creating this place there must be a balance between the benefits of a critical mass of 
people to support local facilities and create a sociable and active public realm, and 
the accessibility and inclusiveness of the public realm and privacy people enjoy 
within their homes and the environment they live within. Building at density must be 
coupled with adequate provision and accessibility to high quality public realm and a 
mix of open space from private to public, active and passive.  The environment must 
be one which makes higher density living attractive. 

 
6.3.10 South west Maidenhead offers a sustainable location for housing and the provision 

of a mix of building typologies, heights, and living accommodation arranged over 
multi-storeys contributes to this sustainability. Creating an environment which is 
welcoming to a variety of people and different family make ups involves the design 
of streets and spaces as well as the buildings themselves. Family housing could 
comprise different types and tenure of properties but must be coupled with good 
access to a variety of open space, and an attractive and safe environment. 

 
Accommodating family housing (see Figure 7) 

 
6.3.11  Family housing can include apartments and duplex units above ground floor and 

groups of different types of properties configured together in a building or a block 
(as well as individual houses). Units which do not have ground floor accommodation 
should where possible have routes to access some private or communal (for 
residents) outside space. For family housing overlooking of the outside space from 
the property is important for the safety of children. Un-supervised space is 
impractical for young families. Providing living accommodation above ground floor 
will also have consequences for street width, block depth (enabling the provision of 
private space) and the green spine design.  

 

280



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

40 

6.3.12  Generally, streets and spaces should be wider where buildings and living 
accommodation is within taller buildings. But quality of the street space and its 
function is also important. With less dedicated private gardens the streets and 
spaces around buildings will need to function as amenity and play space and so easy 
access to street level is important for family living above ground floor. This can be a 
very positive way of improving sociability and community cohesion as people get to 
know their neighbours through more communal activity, but if there is poor 
provision (quantity or quality) the potential benefits are undermined.  

 
6.3.13 For above ground floor accommodation, the greenness of streets and spaces is 

important. Street trees improve the outlook from above ground floor units and can 
help with privacy in denser environments. Street trees and tree planting in private 
and communal spaces should be included in all neighbourhoods whether higher 
density or not. The choice of species and size of trees and other planting can vary to 
help with street hierarchy and legibility as well as their scale suitable to building 
height and street width and should be suitable for the environment in which they 
are located. 

 
The following illustrative sections are not intended as a specification of building heights (see 
also the Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD for other important guidance on building 
heights). The variety of building heights should be considered in combination with the quality 
of environment, legibility and accessibility considerations and the provision of services and 
facilities which facilitate a sustainable and acceptable quality of life. The following sections 
indicate how varying building heights, and the quality of the environment can be considered 
together. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

281



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

41 

Figure 7 - Illustrative cross sections - Accommodating Family Housing 

 
 

 

282



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

42 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

283



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

43 

 
 

School Provision 
 

6.3.14 The school site offers a number of opportunities including its location close to the 
 centre of Maidenhead, location at the heart of the Illustrative Framework close to 
 the local centre with all the associated new facilities this will offer, and the good  
 transport connections particularly for pedestrians, cyclists and public transport. 
 
6.3.15 As per the Borough Local Plan, the school should provide 7 forms of entry for 
 secondary school and a 4 forms of entry primary school, as well as necessary nursery 
 and early years provision. The schools should be co-located and at a location within 
 or in close proximity to the local centre. The school facilities should be capable of 
 dual use as community facilities, for example for use of buildings for local groups and 
 sports facilities for sports use by the community.  
 
6.3.16 Ideally, all the school sports facilities would be located on the main school site.  
 Should this not be possible, an element of off-site provision could be provided in  
 Braywick Park to cater for peak usage (e.g., for major sporting events). Access to the 
 off-site sports provision would need to be improved to allow safe access for the  
 school. 
 
6.3.17 To be fit for purpose for use by the school, areas used for school purposes including 
 open grassland would need to be secured to prevent any casual use by the public. 
 This could be done sensitively and in combination with the provision of a wider  
 network of green infrastructure across the Placemaking Area, including part of the 

284



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

44 

 route of the green spine to promote an open setting and enable wildlife links  
 between different sites. 

 
Approach to the Triangle Site Employment Area 

 
6.3.18 The Triangle site is located at a key gateway to the town of Maidenhead and is an 

important highly visible part of the Placemaking . Development on the site will 
therefore need to be of a high-quality design reflecting its positioning at this 
prominent southern edge to the town and a place where many people will 
experience in their day to day lives. It will also need to reflect its edge location to 
strengthen the boundary to the remaining Green Belt, ensuring it is defensible and 
permanent. 
 

6.3.19 In line with employment policies in the Borough Local Plan4, priority should be given 
to accommodating units that can meet the needs of the Borough’s firms. This is likely 
to take the form of smaller ‘flexible’ units for small and medium sized businesses. 
Larger units should only be permitted where they are required to secure the delivery 
of an overall mix of units as part of a comprehensive scheme and ensure that the 
allocation is delivered to a high standard reflecting the ‘gateway’ nature of the site. 
 
 

 
4 Policy ED1 and Site AL14 

285



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

45 

1. At junctions within the site there is 
the opportunity to create events in 
the street scene and building 
landmarks. Building form, public 
realm and road design can respond to 
these features. 
 
2. Public Realm & Tree Planting: along 
Ascot Road and within the site care 
should be given to the continuity of 
the public realm and the safety and 
experience of pedestrians 
(particularly at crossings). 
Consideration should be given to the 
location of a bus stop adjacent to the 
site along Ascot Road. The main 
routes within the site should be tree 
lined and include convenient bike 
parking close to building entrances. 
There may be the opportunity to 
establish a bike share scheme (in 
coordination with other neighbouring 
and town centre development) with 
bike docking located centrally within 
the site. Some short term on-street 
car parking could also be included 
along key routes for visitors. 

 

3. Building Elevation: Variation along 
building elevations owing to internal 
arrangements and mix of unit sizes 
enhances the street scene and 
improves the visual appearance of 
buildings from a pedestrian and 
cyclist’s perspective. 

 

286



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

46 

4. Corners: Where buildings include 
ancillary, office operation and 
comprise a mix of smaller units, 
these, as well as pedestrian entrances 
should be concentrated at corners, 
helping to focus activity at junctions 
and overlooking the public realm. 
 
5. Rear service courtyards: turning 
areas for HGVs, access for other 
service vehicles and longer-term car 
parking where possible should be 
located to the rear of buildings to 
minimise the prominence of vehicle 
noise and activity along the key route 
into the site. 
 
6. Planting: varied planting screen 
buildings in particularly sensitive 
locations. 

 

 
 

Incorporating Green Infrastructure & Open Space 
 
6.3.20 Overall the study area can become united through the delivery of strategic green 

links. The opportunity presented by an area stretching from the settlement and 
countryside edge to the edge of the town centre is that new sustainable green links 
can be established for the benefit of both people and nature. Creating continuity 
across the area through the use of this strategic green infrastructure can ensure that 
the identity of this new development, and the study area as a whole is rooted in the 
perception of Maidenhead as a green town. 

  
6.3.21 Landscape and open space  will be fundamental to how people will live within and 

use the area, with new green and open spaces being provided that  will contribute to 
a variety of aspects of community life – such as creating connections and movement 
along green corridors, providing education in the landscape, day-to-day interaction 
with wildlife and the promotion of biodiversity and creating legible transitions 
between neighbourhoods, moving from the built environment, through green space 
to arrive at other distinctly different areas of the built environment. 

 
6.3.22 A hierarchy of green spaces can also determine and support patterns of living among 

communities in the new development, ensuring this is a place where it is possible to 
live sustainably. A high-quality framework of green space and landscape can become 
the centrepiece of the place. 

 

287



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

47 

6.3.23 A multifunctional green spine extends north-south through the area, located within 
easy reach of all residential areas. The spine compliments Braywick Road and 
Shoppenhangers Road as north-south routes. The inclusion of public transport and 
high-quality pedestrian and cycle routes addresses the risk of increased traffic by 
providing a convenient alternative to the car. Creating a series of legible green 
infrastructure junctions with other routes around and into the area allows the green 
spine to become a preferred route for pedestrian and cycle access to the local centre 
from other existing residential areas -reducing car traffic along Braywick and 
Shoppenhangers roads. 

 
6.3.24 Braywick Park and Ockwells Park in addition to being regional destinations currently 

become more accessible local resources for new and existing local residents, 
ensuring access to a wide range of recreational and nature experiences are within 
easy reach of people’s homes by foot and by cycle. 

 
6.3.25 Around the south of the developed area, land alongside the A404(M) and A308(M) 

are less attractive for development and can be used to enable ecological continuity 
establishing a southern green margin around the south of the town which can also 
serve an informal recreational purpose. 

 
Approach to the Green Spine 
 

6.3.26 The green spine performs a structural and functional role in the placemaking of the 
area to the south west of Maidenhead. The following key principles (and illustrative 
diagrams) summarise how the green spine performs this role and how it will become 
an influential part of a shift to a more sustainable and liveable place: 
 

Green Spine 
 

 The spine maintains a strong north south continuity through all neighbourhoods. 
 The design of the green spine varies within each neighbourhood reflecting the 

different demands of the spine relative to different residential and mix of uses. 
 The green spine serves an important opportunity to ensure ecological capital and 

connectivity becomes an everyday part of people’s lives and integrating this into a 
multi-functional corridor is important. 

 Pedestrian and cycle movement are a priority along the length of the spine, but it 
may also accommodate other modes of travel. 

 Built form and other routes and open spaces should respond to the green spine as 
the primary route so that all areas are well connected to the spine and the spine 
itself is a safe a legible route. 

 
BLP Links: QP1b(5e,5g), AL13(2,3) 

 
 

 
 

288



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

48 

 
 
 

The green spine plays a strategic role linking the 
town centre through the entire site, connecting in 
the south with the southern green margin. This 
connection serves several strategic purposes: to 
prioritise sustainable movement and to promote 
behaviour change by providing easy access 
between locations for pedestrians, cyclists and 
public transport leading to greater walking and 
cycling locally as well as throughout the town as a 
whole; to establish important ecological continuity 
throughout the south of Maidenhead and ensure 
new provision of habitats and green infrastructure 
is integrated with existing surround corridors and 
ecological capital; a recreational and sociable 
location extending throughout new development 
to support community cohesion and wellbeing by 
making high quality connected spaces available 
within easy reach of every home. 

 

The design of the green spine varies along its 
length (see also various cross section diagrams 
illustrating variation) responding to the 
development form and layout along its length and 
how this reflects the varied identity and function 
of the spine in these different locations: 

 

289



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

49 

To the north the spine serves as a primary route 
through higher density development organised 
around a grid layout. Here the spine provides the 
majority of the public open space and is 
overlooked by a mix of uses resulting in it needing 
to respond to multiple user groups.  
See also Green Spine Cross Section A for further 
illustration. 

 

Within the Harvest Hill neighbourhood, north of 
Harvest Hill Road the spine connects people to the 
core facilities of the Harvest Hill neighbourhood at 
the local centre and the school, as well as access 
to public transport. It must be highly legible, 
prioritise pedestrian and cycle movement and 
facilitate people making easy choices in favour of 
sustainable movement options. Public open space 
within this neighbourhood takes the form of more 
community scale spaces within the residential 
areas and while connections and signposting to 
these spaces can occur along the green spine it 
does not itself need to accommodate spaces for 
recreational purposes. 
See also Green Spine Cross Section B for further 
illustration. 

 

290



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

50 

To the south of Harvest Hill Road, the green spine 
has a purpose in facilitating people’s connections 
north by foot or by bike by making the green spine 
a legible continuous route from the south 
extending north. Surrounding development here 
will be entirely residential however so the scale 
and function of the green spine takes the form of 
an oversized residential street, distinguishable 
from other surrounding green streets which feed 
into it, creating a recognisable hierarchy between 
the spine and surrounding streets. Along its whole 
length, to the north and the south of Harvest Hill 
Road, the green spine will accommodate tree 
planting, address ecological continuity, and 
provide an attractive setting for overlooking 
residential properties. South of Harvest Hill Road 
the green spine may also provide a solution for 
parking and local play space (see Green Spine 
Cross Section C for further illustration). 

 

The Green Spine contributes to creating a network 
of high-quality footpaths and cycleways linking the 
site into its wider area. Along its length are several 
significant junctions to other connections with 
surrounding neighbourhoods and destinations. At 
these locations the buildings and public space in 
and around the green spine create legible way 
marking to these surrounding areas and 
destinations enabling people to easily find their 
way and encourage them to consider walking or 
cycling before driving. These links also the 
opportunity for existing residents in the area to 
find their way to the green spine as means of 
longer journeys which avoids using Braywick or 
Shoppenhangers roads. 

 

 
 
6.3.27 The illustrations below in Figure 8 show how the nature of the green spine could 

vary in different locations along the spine. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

291



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

51 

Figure 8 - Illustrative Cross Sections of the Green Spine 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

Green Spine Cross Section A 

a  Increased ground floor to ceiling height for non-residential uses helps legibility and 
overlooking of public realm 

b Occasional widening to create public open spaces 

c Generous north side public realm 

d Verge with Tree include SUDS or other planting where possible 

e Central designated cycle route 

f Where necessary vehicular route located along south side of spine 

g Pedestrian walkway 

h Privacy strip to buildings if required 

i Landmark building on corners or at transitions between contrasting sections of the spine 

j Green spine enclosed between buildings, width of spine not less than height of buildings 
either side 

292



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

52 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Green Spine Cross Section B 

a Local Centre or School entranced integrated to built form and prominent 

b Occasional trees along route 

c Privacy strip to buildings if required 

d Verge with Tree include SUDS or other planting where possible 

e Shared cycle route and public realm wide enough to accommodate two way cycling and 
pedestrians stopping 

f Where necessary vehicular route located along south side of spine 

293



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

53 

 
Green Spine Cross Section C 

a Occasional trees in spaces 

b Front gardens 

c Pedestrian walkway 

d Narrow carriageway with occasional passing places 

e Mixed central green area with space to cycle/walk 

f Occasional parking areas integrated within spine area accessed from adjacent streets 

 
 
 
 
 
 

294



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

54 

Access, Movement & Wayfinding 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 9 - Access and Movement Diagram 

295



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

55 

Access and Movement Key: 

 

a The Green Spine provides a continually connected and legible route for 
pedestrians and cyclists throughout the South West Maidenhead areas  

 

 Key junctions and gateways within the green infrastructure network 

 

 Additional routes attractive to pedestrians and cyclists 

 b E-W links across the area to the south of Harvest Hill Road provide 
alternative choices to Harvest Hill Road for pedestrians & cyclists 

 

c In the northern neighbourhood all routes lead to the green spine as the 
primary movement corridor and recreation space 

 

 Urban form and street design assist the legibility and gateways at key 
vehicle access points 

 

d Improvements at key points along the Braywick and Shoppenhangers Road 
corridors help with the overall legibility  

 e The existing public right of way is improved to provide an important E-W 
link to and from the area and linking other communities and contributes to 
the distinct transition between north and south neighbourhoods. 

 

 Create legible access from the green spine into residential areas 

 f Create clear entrances in multiple places to the school site and potential 
shared facilities 

 

g The Harvest Hill road corridor is improved to provide an attractive and 
legible route through the heart of the neighbourhood National Cycle route 
4, (traffic free) 

 

 Vehicular access  

 h Vehicular accesses off of Harvest Hill Road should contribute to the overall 
corridor legibility and safety  

296



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

56 

 

i Links to and from Ockwells Park can be improved to be more legible and 
safe, including frontage to Kimbers Lane. 

 j Create a legible entrance to the Triangle site using building scale, entrances 
and orientation 

 k Various improvements to walkways, cycleways, bus stops, and planting help 
improve sustainable access to the Triangle site. 

 l Primary northern vehicular access is prominent and easy to navigate using 
built form and public realm to create a legible entrance  

 

m Longer term, a clear route through to the station may be established. 
Development in the short term should not prohibit this. 

 

 The southern green margin provides an opportunity for an additional 
pedestrian and cycle link from E-W 

 

 Green Lane: National Cycle route 4 -traffic free 

 

 The Cut: attractive pedestrian route connecting N-S 

 
6.3.28 Existing routes and layout of development has predicated movement into and out of 

the town centre in a north-south direction with the area occupied by the golf course 
creating a separation between Desborough to the west and Braywick to the east.  

 
6.3.29 As the new neighbourhoods emerge there is the opportunity to improve connections 

in an east west direction around the south of the town as well as new development 
creating north-south movement to and from the town centre providing better 
choices of sustainable movement for existing residents as well as offer new residents 
more convenient options than the car for local journeys. 

 
6.3.30 Overall, the area will become a well-connected area using sustainable means of 

transport and prioritising public transport, pedestrian and cycle movement. The 
development of the specific allocated sites at the centre of the study area provides 
the opportunity to create links which have not previously existed and, by so doing, 
overcome the dominance of vehicular movement outside of the area. Establishing 
two new neighbourhoods in the area provides the opportunity to consolidate 
residential development within easy reach of existing public transport and the town 
centre facilities. Embedding sustainable transport and movement into the structure 
of the place allows for the greatest potential for reduction of car use locally. 

 

297



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

57 

6.3.31 Establishing this new network of green links and pedestrian and cycle routes helps in 
relieving many of the existing challenges at roads and junctions throughout the study 
area. Rather than solely relying on piece meal ‘improvements’ to existing highways 
and junctions aimed at increasing capacity for vehicles and measured by the extent 
to which the car journey is eased, the approach to transport and movement should 
be a strategic and pro-active one, ensuring sustainable choices are possible and 
favoured above other traffic generating options. The overall approach therefore 
seeks to establish a place where car use is not an inevitability, and that quality of life 
and alternative choices are desirable alternatives. 

 
Approach to Harvest Hill Road 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Harvest Hill Road Corridor 
 

 To integrate the corridor within a new neighbourhood giving it purpose as an East-West 
route as well as an environment which brings together development to the north and 
south 

 To maintain all of the existing movements whilst creating a more pleasant, connected 
network. 

 To create an attractive, diverse, safe and inviting corridor that shifts mode of travel from 
vehicular to a more people focused approach. 

 To retain the green characteristics of the corridor through the retention of and provision 
of new green assets, landscaping and open spaces 

 To contribute to creating a network of convenient walking and cycling links by providing 
high levels of segregation and prioritization, with multiple crossing points located at 
locations which provide the best access to local and wider networks and activities. 

 
BLP Links:  QP1b(5e, f), AL13 (1ii, 15e) 

298



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

58 

 
 

 
 

Figure 10 - Diagrams Illustrating the Approach to Harvest Hill Road 

299



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

59 

 

a: The junctions of Harvest Hill Road with Shoppenhangers and Braywick Road, as well as 
managing changing movements into and out of Harvest Hill Road should also consider how 
their design can better serve east-west connections and the integration of pedestrian and 
cycle movements along Harvest Hill Road as well as along Shoppenhangers and Braywick 
roads.  
 
The priority and legibility of these road users should inform the design of the public realm at 
these junctions to promote these as the preferred choice for local journeys. 
 
b: Existing development towards the Shoppenhangers and Braywick Road corridors exists 
for up to approximately 200m on both sides of the Harvest Hill Road corridor. Although 
limited to the existing carriageway, better provision for cyclists and pedestrians and design 
which reduces speeds will improve the environment for existing residents and help 
integrate them with the new communities within the development by ensuring good access 
to the local centre and safe movement along the Harvest Hill corridor to open space and for 
local journeys. 
 
c: New development on one side of Harvest Hill Road offers the opportunity for more 
comprehensive design of the corridor but needs to allow for the integration of existing 
properties which are accessed from Harvest Hill Road. While they can benefit from the 
improved environment, lower speeds and better cycling and pedestrian provision, they also 
present constraints to the design of built form and public realm of new development on the 
opposite side of the road. 
 
d: Where new development is proposed on both sides of Harvest Hill Road there is the 
greatest opportunity for a comprehensive design of the corridor including the option of 

Figure 11 - The varying identity and function of the Harvest Hill Road corridor 

300



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

60 

generous pedestrian public realm on both sides of the carriageway and a segregated cycle 
way . These areas are likely to be the most preferable locations for additional crossings 
where built form and public realm can be design in a coordinated way on both sides of the 
road to promote a safe and legible location to cross the road. These areas remain periphery 
to the local centre with residential uses on both sides of the road. The design of the built 
form, and accompanying public realm can assist in the understanding and ease of access to 
the local centre with careful consideration in crossing location and design of routes to 
school and daily trips, particularly by residents to the south of Harvest Hill road, to shops, 
open space and other facilities. 
 
e: The central area of the Harvest Hill corridor coincides with the location of the school and 
the local centre on the north side of the road (within the golf course site). The local centre 
in this location is within easy reach of the most amount of residents and the design of the 
corridor along this stretch should reflect the need for easy access across the corridor in a N-
S direction. Changing priorities reflected in the carriageway width, design of cycle and 
pedestrian facilities and the use of materials will distinguish this area as being the centre of 
the neighbourhood.  
 
The design of built form and public realm on both sides of the road should be coordinated 
and facilitate a safe a sociable environment for all users. Access into residential areas, and 
the school and local centre, as well as connections with the green spine are all likely to 
coincide along this length of the corridor requiring careful design to avoid conflicts and an 
undesirable environment. 
 

Creating a sense of arrival: 
 
6.3.32 Even though the mix of uses at the local centre maybe co-located with the school 

(within the Golf Course site) and there is benefit in this in creating a vibrant and 
active public realm, the built form at Harvest Hill Road also plays a role in the 
legibility of the local centre. For this reason, creating a sense of arrival at the mid-
point along the Harvest Hill Road corridor and where the green spine crosses Harvest 
Hill Road is important in announcing the local centre, promoting pedestrian and 
cycle movement in a north-south direction and encouraging a reduced reliance or 
preference for car use locally. 

 
6.3.33 Harvest Hill Road serves an existing purpose as a vehicular route around the south of 

Maidenhead. Currently there are few accesses from Harvest Hill Road to areas to the 
north and the south other than to existing residential areas at the east and west 
ends of the corridor. With new development to the north and the south new 
accesses and connections mean the Harvest Hill Road corridor will fulfil a new role as 
a route through the heart of the new neighbourhood. The design of the road, 
surrounding public realm and buildings plays a part in the creation of this new 
neighbourhood but Harvest Hill Road will still serve a purpose in connecting east to 
west. Figure 10 shows the indicative location of potential access points into the new 
development areas but the precise location of these may vary. It is essential that 
developers coordinate with each other and with the Council to ensure that the 

301



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

61 

various new access points, both individually and collectively, are appropriate in 
highways and design terms. 

 

6.3.34 As a result, the journey along the corridor for those travelling through the area 
should recognise the arrival at and departure from the new neighbourhood. 
Changing public realm design and proximity and height of buildings can help the 
sense of place and contrast along the corridor. Likewise for pedestrians and cyclists 
moving around the new neighbourhood the legibility of the area begins with creating 
a sense of centre around the school and the local facilities. 

 
6.3.35 The topography along Harvest Hill Road helps create this sense of arrival where the 

local centre and the green spine crossing coincide with the high point along the road 
corridor. Moving towards the centre is moving up hill adding to the sense of growing 
scale and density and vice versa moving away from the centre. 

 

Figure 12 - Harvest Hill Road - Creating a Sense of Arrival (illustrative) 

302



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

62 

The Green Spine crossing the Harvest Hill Road corridor 
 
6.3.36 The continuity of the green spine from the north at the town centre to the southern 

green margin to the town is an important principle of the overall framework plan for 
south west Maidenhead.  

 
6.3.37 There are various junctions with the green spine along its length where maintaining 

this continuity needs careful consideration. At the crossing of the green spine with 
Harvest Hill Road there are a number of considerations for maintaining this 
continuity whilst also meeting other objectives for the design of Harvest Hill Road 
itself, and the design and performance of the development parcels to the north and 
the south of Harvest Hill Road: 

 
Green Spine continuity: 

 
6.3.38 From the north and the south the green spine should meet the Harvest Hill Road 

corridor in the same location in order to maintain visual continuity of the green spine 
across Harvest Hill Road. The crossing of Harvest Hill Road is a direct link between 
north and south parts of the green spine. Careful design of the crossing point and 
associated highways solutions are necessary to ensure the continuity of the green 
spine and pedestrian and cycle safety and legibility are maintained. 

 
6.3.39 The design of the built form should consider the legibility of the green spine to the 

north and south of Harvest Hill Road and be promoted as the preferred choice for 
movement for residents on both sides of Harvest Hill Road. The continuity of the 
green spine helps overcome the barrier of the road corridor and ensure the cohesion 
of the whole community across the Harvest Hill corridor. 

 
Green Spine and an integrated local centre 

 
6.3.40 The Local Centre and the School are indicated as being located on land towards the 

southern end of the golf course site, but they serve a residential area which extends 
to the south of Harvest Hill Road and to the very southern limits of the development 
along the A404(M) and the A308(M). It is important therefore that visual links and 
physical connections are created between areas to the south with the School and 
Local Centre to the north. The green spine offers the facility to do this.  

 
6.3.41 The design of the public realm straddling the Harvest Hill corridor and extending 

northwards towards the School and the Local Centre can help to ensure the legibility 
of the local centre to residents north and south of Harvest Hill Road with the location 
of the school and facilities of the local centre fronting on to and landmarking this 
space. Vehicular movement along Harvest Hill Road is retained and so it is important 
that the design of the built form and public realm facilitate easy access and legibility 
between north and south ensuring all residents feel a part of one neighbourhood. 

 
 

303



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

63 

  Next Steps with masterplanning & design control  
 
6.3.42 The Illustrative Framework set out in this document provides a visual representation 

of the broad and indicative disposition of land uses and key strategic matters that 
site specific proposals are anticipated to accord with. It has evolved the conceptual 
work set out in the Borough Local Plan and provides further information relating to a 
number of key design themes and related principles that are particularly important 
in terms of securing a high-quality development across the Placemaking Area. It is 
illustrative and does not define in detail how separate areas will definitively be 
developed.   

 
6.3.43 Further placemaking and design related work will therefore need to be undertaken 

by individual landowners & developers as they bring forward more detailed 
proposals for their specific sites. Masterplans and Design Codes are particularly 
relevant to large and long term multi-phased developments such as that coming 
forward in this area, acting as a mechanism to assist in the delivery of 
comprehensive and coordinated development and high-quality design outcomes. 
They provide a mechanism through which individual applicants will be able to 
demonstrate how they have addressed design requirements set through national 
and local policy, enabling more effective and efficient determination of separate 
applications. 

 
6.3.44 Masterplanning is about place making. A good Masterplan should tell a ‘story’ about 

the place as it is now and how it will be in the future as it is developed. Incorporating 
Masterplanning into the planning process enables issues to be addressed 
collaboratively and in a coordinated and comprehensive way before the detailed 
elements of a development are established. This helps to enable the overarching 
development objectives for the site to be realised and reduces the potential for 
design quality compromises and delays at the detailed planning application stage. 

 
6.3.45 Across SWM it is recognised that landowners and developers will bring forward 

proposals at different speeds and covering different geographic areas. How each 
separate proposal meets national and local policy will need to be demonstrated. All 
proposals will need to have evolved with community and stakeholder engagement 
and demonstrate how this has informed the overall approach. 

 
 For larger sites with multi-phase proposals, likely to be submitted (at least in part) 

as outline planning applications, these should be supported by the preparation of 
a ‘Site Wide Masterplan’ and ‘Site Wide Design Code’ prepared by the 
landowner/developer. Relevant information and an overview of the approach 
should be included and explained as part of the accompanying Design & Access 
Statement.  The Site Wide Masterplan and Design Code material should show 
how the land use and design matters have been considered, and how delivery of 
development will accord to the design principles and criteria as set out in the BLP, 
this SPD and other relevant documents and policies. The information will also 
need to set out how the site interfaces with adjoining development sites, 

304



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

64 

including how appropriate connectivity with any adjoining sites is to be achieved 
and explain how a comprehensive approach has been taken. 

 
 For smaller sites where single-phase proposals are likely to be submitted in detail, 

these will also need to contain sufficient information to set out a ‘Site Wide 
Masterplan’ (reflecting the actual detailed proposal) and ‘Site Wide Design Code’ 
(again to reflect the detailed proposal but enabling consistent consideration by 
Officers) prepared by the landowner/developer. Where proposals are in detail, 
such information could be included and explained as part of the accompanying 
Design & Access Statement. These will also need to set out how the site interfaces 
with adjoining development sites including how appropriate connectivity with any 
adjoining sites is to be achieved and explain how a comprehensive approach has 
been taken. 

 
6.3.46 Site Wide Masterplans and Design Codes should be submitted alongside and as 

part of supporting material related to the relevant planning application/s. The 
scope and level of detail may vary depending upon the nature of different 
proposals. For larger sites with subsequent future phases, it may be appropriate for 
the preparation of Design Codes for any future sub-area or phase to be required by 
condition to be submitted and approved by the Council prior to approval of 
reserved matter applications and commencement of development on that sub-
area/phase. A summary of how the overall process is provided in Figure 13 below. 

 
 

Figure 13 - Sequence of design control, masterplans and design coding 

 
 
 

305



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

65 

Site Wide Masterplans 
 
6.3.47 Each Site Wide Masterplan should set how proposals for individual development 

plots will come forward in a planned and comprehensive way, whilst still allowing 
for design flexibility and innovation at the detailed design stage. 

 
6.3.48 Each Site Wide Masterplan will establish a spatial strategy for the key components 

within the site and at the interface with adjoining development sites. As a 
minimum, they should contain information on matters such as: 

 
 Placemaking: to set out the approach to residential and other built development 

plots, character, scale and density. This should also include other specific 
supporting infrastructure such as education and health facilities.  

 
 Green infrastructure: approach to open spaces, landscape, biodiversity and 

ecology.  
 
 Access, wayfinding, & movement: Access points and key movement routes and 

corridors. 
 
6.3.49 Each Site Wide Masterplan will also need to show how the specific proposal aligns 

and integrates with adjoining development areas in the placemaking area. In the 
absence of other approved adjoining Site Wide Masterplans and Codes, the 
material will need to demonstrate how proposals accord with the policies and 
principles set out nationally, within the Borough Local Plan, this SPD, other relevant 
policy documents. Such material will be needed to illustrate conformity and give 
confidence that a comprehensive approach to the SWM allocation site has been 
appropriately considered and incorporated in the design thinking.   

 
Site Wide Design Codes 

 
6.3.50 A Design Code will be needed to provide additional design information for each 

separate site and proposal. This should establish elements that are considered to 
contribute to the creation high quality place making, starting from the most 
strategic elements working through to more focused detailed elements. 

 
6.3.51 For larger, multi-phase proposals likely to be submitted as outline planning 

applications, Design Codes will need to be approved prior to commencement of 
any specific phase. These should be submitted alongside the outline application. 
They should correspond to an appropriate area which may be the entire area of the 
application, any sub-area of the site and/or alternative approach for example 
related to differences in character and/or phasing. Where there are future sub-
areas or phases, additional design codes may be required by condition prior to the 
preparation and submission of related reserved matters applications for such sub 
areas/phase.  

 

306



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

66 

6.3.52 For smaller, single-phase proposals likely to be submitted in detail, a Design Code 
should also be provided as part of the application material, potentially presented 
within and as part of the Design & Access Statement. The provision of Design Codes 
as part of outline and full applications will enable applicants to demonstrate they 
have considered and comply with policy and guidance set nationally and locally, 
thereby enabling consistent and efficient consideration by Officers.  

 
6.3.53 To ensure that Design Codes are effectively implemented, a ‘Compliance Checklist’ 

should also be produced as part of each detailed proposal. This will set out how the 
elements of Design Code have been considered and addressed, set out in a simple, 
template table. For larger scale multi-phase proposals, applicants submitting 
detailed/Reserved Matters applications for each phase will be expected to 
complete the Checklist as part of each phase/submission to confirm their proposals 
accord with the approved Design Code. For smaller scale, single phase schemes 
submitted in detail, a ‘Compliance Checklist’ may not be appropriate, but the 
Design & Access Statement should contain sufficient information to demonstrate 
how the scheme’s design addresses matters that would otherwise be contained 
within a Design Code. 

 
6.3.54 It is likely given the duration of the South West Maidenhead Area development 

that the circumstances within which the code will operate will change over time. 
The Compliance Checklist should also make provision for applicants to acknowledge 
where a code may no longer be fit for purpose and provide design justification for 
any proposed deviations. This may necessitate amendments to Design Code details 
approved via variation of condition applications (or where amendments were 
minor as non-material amendments) 

 
Design Review 

 
6.3.55 The adopted Borough Wide Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document 

requires large projects to be the subject of review by Design South East (D:SE). This 
would be expected to be undertaken at pre-application stage and be funded by the 
developer.  

 
6.3.56 As the South West Placemaking area is subject to specific design and placemaking 

polices in the Borough Local Plan and this site related Supplementary Planning 
Document, it will be at the discretion of RBWM as to whether specific proposals for 
development across the area ought to be considered through a Design Review 
process. Where it is considered necessary, the Council will ensure that any Design 
Review is focused on testing the compliance of proposals against the established 
design policies and principles.  

 
6.3.57 Whilst it is recognised that individual schemes may come forward at different 

times, wherever possible design reviews will consider adjoining proposals to enable 
a comprehensive consideration to be given. 

 
 

307



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

67 

 
6.4 Other Delivery Principles and Requirements 
 
6.4.1 This section outlines the range of other principles and requirements relevant to 

development in the South West Maidenhead placemaking area. They are grouped 
under three categories: 

 
 Community Needs 
 Connectivity 
 Sustainability and the Environment 

 
However, they often cover inter-connected issues, so it is important to consider 
them in the round and in particular the relationship they have with the design 
principles set out above. 

 
6.4.2 A number of the principles derive directly from the proformas that set out site 

specific policy requirements for the allocated sites or from other policy requirements 
in the Borough Local Plan. As such they are direct policy requirements in the Plan. To 
ensure simplicity the boxes below do not distinguish between principles and policy 
requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

308



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

68 

6.5 Community Needs 
 

Housing 
 

  
6.5.1 In relation to the dwelling mix of housing, Table 12 of the Borough Local Plan sets 

out information on housing size mix from the 2016 Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) and Policy HO2 of the Plan indicates that development should 
provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, reflecting the most up to 
date evidence in the SHMA, but where evidence demonstrates an alternative 
housing mix would be more appropriate, this will be taken into account. Across all 
tenure types, the SHMA indicates a broad mix of 45% 1 and 2 bed homes, and 55% 3 
and 4 bed homes. Para 7.5.4 notes that the policy for the mix of homes should be 
able to react to changing circumstances and ensure that it contributes towards the 
mix of both the wider area as well as the development site itself, and continues that 
developers will be expected to have regard to the Borough-wide housing mix target 
set out in the 2016 SHMA (and subsequent successors) as a starting point when 
bringing forward proposals for individual sites. The Council will be looking for 
developers to demonstrate how they are addressing the needs of the wider area. 

 
6.5.2 Having regard to the policy basis, given that a significant proportion of housing 

supply in the Borough, and particularly in Maidenhead, will come forward from 
developments of flats in the town centre, it is important that developments on 
greenfield sites provide a higher proportion of family housing. Appendix 3 sets out 
further information and evidence relating to housing mix. 

 
 

Housing Mix 
 
Having regard to the Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) mix, the very 
significant supply of smaller units/flats coming forward, particularly in nearby 
Maidenhead town centre, and the policy for the site (particularly for the northern 
neighbourhood and area around the local centre), this evidence points towards 
the need to apply the following to provide an appropriate mix: 
 

 Across the whole AL13 area, as a minimum, the development should 
deliver the SHMA mix for larger homes of 55% 3 and 4 bed units 

 To balance out higher delivery of flats elsewhere in the town and the 
Borough, a higher proportion of family homes should be delivered, whilst 
recognising that some of the family homes might be delivered through 
new typologies of housing 

 The proportion of 3 and 4 bed units, and other family homes, should 
increase significantly in the Harvest Hill Neighbourhood, away from the 
local centre  

 
BLP Links: AL13 (1i) 1(ii), QP1(b)(5d), HO2 

309



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

69 

6.5.3 The AL13 proforma in the Local Plan, supported by the design principles set out 
earlier, also highlight that the northern neighbourhood will be orientated to the 
town centre, making the most of proximity to the railway station and town centre 
facilities. It notes that building heights, densities and typologies will reflect those in 
the town centre.  Conversely, in the southern (Harvest Hill) neighbourhood the Local 
Plan proforma recognises that residential areas will reduce in density away from the 
Local Centre, allowing for the provision of family homes with gardens.  

 
As such, given the SHMA mix, the evidence on wider housing delivery, and the BLP 
policy for the two neighbourhoods, the proportion of 3 and 4 bed units and other 
family housing, will be expected to increase significantly in the Harvest Hill 
Neighbourhood and the proportion of flats and 1 and 2 bed units is expected to be 
much lower in the Harvest Hill Neighbourhood, especially south of Harvest Hill Road 
and away from the local centre. 

 
 
 
 
 

6.5.4 The affordable housing requirements for the AL13 housing site are set out in Policy 
HO3. In summary they are: 

 
 30% of units to be affordable housing 
 A tenure mix of 45% social rent, 35% affordable rent and 20% intermediate 

tenures 
 The priority is for onsite provision 
 The required affordable housing size and tenure mix should be in 

accordance with the SHMA or subsequent affordable housing needs 
evidence 

 
6.5.5 Appendix 3 sets out the SHMA mix for affordable housing. 
 
6.5.6 However, Appendix 3 also sets out more up to date evidence on affordable housing 

need, both in relation to relets and to priority needs on the housing register.  There 
is a high proportion of 1 bed (especially) and 2-bed flats available as relets of existing 
properties and many households in temporary accommodation need rented family 
housing. Similarly, the housing register shows a high need for 2 and 3 bed properties 
for those in priority need. Consequently, the evidence points towards there needing 
to be more emphasis on houses and the dwelling mix being sought for new build 
affordable housing in South West Maidenhead should be based on the mix set out in 

Affordable Housing  
 
To deliver 30% affordable housing across the AL13 site with a tenure mix in 
accordance with the Policy HO3 of the Local Plan and a dwelling size mix that that 
takes account of the latest evidence of need and supply to ensure priority needs 
are addressed.   
 
BLP links: AL13 (13), QP1b (5d), HO2, HO3 
Other Links: Housing Strategy, Corporate Plan 

310



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

70 

Table 1 below (rather than the SHMA figures shown at the end for comparison). 
Given that the AL13 site will be developed over a number of years and in different 
phases, if the affordable housing needs change over that time such that it would be 
more appropriate to secure a different dwelling size mix for affordable housing, the 
Council will issue updated guidance to reflect this. 

   
Table 1 - Affordable Dwelling Types Sought in South West Maidenhead  

 1BF 2BF 2BH 3BH 4BH  

Rent 
 Social Rent 45% 
 Affordable Rent 35% 

 
10% 

 

 
10% 

 

 
20% 

 

 
30% 

 

 
10% 

 

 
80% 

(45%) 
(35%) 

Shared ownership 5% 10% 5% - - 20% 

 15% 20% 25% 30% 10% 100% 

SHMA (for comparison 
only) 35-40% 25-30%  25-30% 5-10%  

 

6.5.7 The affordable housing should be provided in a way that avoids large clusters of 
affordable housing, ensuring it is well integrated with the market housing and that 
the design and appearance of the development is “tenure blind”. The Council will 
be preparing a Supplementary Planning Document on Affordable Housing and 
regard should be had to this document when it is available. 

 
 Other Housing Requirements in the Local Plan 
  
6.5.8 The Local Plan sets out a range of other requirements in relation to provision of 

new housing in Policy HO2 that are relevant to the AL13 site. This includes: 
 

 Ensuring homes are adaptable to changing life circumstances 
 Providing 30% of homes on the site as accessible and adaptable dwellings in 

accordance with Building Regulations M4(2) 
 Providing 5% of the dwellings to meet the wheelchair accessible standard in 

Building Regulations M4(3)5 
 Providing 5% of the market housing as fully serviced plots for custom and 

self-build housing 
 
6.5.9 Concerning the requirement for 5% of dwellings to meet the wheelchair accessible 

standard, it is recognised that in practice this is often provided as part of the 
affordable housing requirement (normally social rent or affordable rent). However, 

 
5 The M4(2) and M4(3) requirements should be applied unless evidence can be provided to demonstrate that 
such provision would be impracticable or render the scheme unviable 

311



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

71 

developers are also encouraged to consider providing wheelchair accessible housing 
as part of market housing provision.  

 
6.5.10 In relation to the self and custom build requirement, which applies to sites of 100 or 

more net dwellings and is therefore required on the AL13 site, the fact that 
individual applications for parts of the AL13 site may come forward for less than 100 
dwellings does not mean those proposals should not provide for 5% self and custom 
build. In the absence of a single application for the site, each application will be 
required to deliver 5% custom and self-build housing. 

 
6.5.11 Policy HO2 indicates that every self-build/custom build plot will need a plot passport. 

This is to be prepared by the developer. The Council will prepare further guidance on 
self-build/custom build provision, including in relation to the content of plot 
passports and how they fit in the planning application process. The Council will also 
seek further information regarding the specific requirements of those on the self-
build and custom build register to ensure that developers are able to ensure that the 
self/custom build plots that they provide can best meet the requirements of those 
on the register.  Policy HO2 also indicates that community-led housing approaches 
(such as co-housing, community land trusts and cooperatives) will be encouraged on 
allocated sites. 

 
Community Infrastructure 

 
6.5.12 The design principles highlight the key requirements for the two schools and the 

importance of their relationship to the local centre, sustainable modes of travel and 
the green spine. The timing of the delivery of the two schools is likely to be different 
with the primary school being needed earlier in the development period but 
potentially being developed in more than one phase. Further information on the 
schools and their potential cost is set out in Appendix 4. 

 
6.5.13 The secondary school, however, is not likely to be required until towards the end of 

the local plan period which covers 2013 - 2033. As such there is likely to be a period 
of time when the land for the secondary school is vacant and development occurs 
around it. As such a temporary use for the site should be considered, but one which 
does not prevent the secondary school from being provided when needed.  

 
 Local Centre and Community Building 

 
To deliver in a timely manner a Local Centre that lies at the heart of the Harvest 
Hill neighbourhood incorporating a mix of uses including retail, leisure, community 
facilities including space for police, health and recycling facilities. To deliver the 
policy requirements, a location on the north side of Harvest Hill Road, but near to 
and visible from Harvest Hill Road and close to the schools, as well as being highly 
accessible by sustainable modes of transport would be appropriate 
 
BLP links:  AL13(5), QP1(b)(5c), IF6 
Other Links: Corporate Plan 

312



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

72 

 
6.5.14 The scale of development means that it is appropriate and necessary to provide a 

range of community facilities on site and this is set out in the Local Plan, enabling 
residents to access local facilities to meet every day needs without the need to travel 
further afield. Further consideration of design factors and discussions means that it 
is most appropriate to locate the local centre north of the Harvest Hill Road, whilst 
still needing to be near to and visible from the road. 

 
6.5.15 At the heart of the Harvest Hill neighbourhood, a multi-purpose community building 

should be provided, creating a focus for the new community. The specification for 
such a facility should be worked up closely with community representatives, groups 
and stakeholders.  

 

 
6.5.16 The scale of residential development in South West Maidenhead will generate 

significant additional demand for primary health care facilities. Existing surgeries in 
the area have little additional capacity. Consideration is being given to the primary 
health care provision in the wider area, including the scope for the relocation of 
some existing primary healthcare provision onto the AL13 housing site to form a 
health hub. This should form part of the local centre. As such provision would be a 
mix of new health provision for the AL13 site and re-provision, a mix of funding 
would be needed (see section 7).   

 
6.5.17 The scope exists to combine a health hub with the provision of a multi-purpose 

community building, and this option should be explored further. 
 
6.5.18 As the health hub would be meeting a combination of new and existing needs, 

development should contribute proportionately to the costs of the new provision, 
having regard to the balance between new patients arising from the development 
and existing patients from the surrounding area. 

 
Open Space 
 

6.5.19 The design principles highlight the importance of establishing a strong green 
infrastructure framework and the approach to the provision of open space in the 
two neighbourhoods on the AL13 site. The open space standards in the Borough 
Local Plan provide important guidelines in relation to types of open space, quantity, 
accessibility (walking distance) and quality. 

Health Provision 
 
To explore with the relevant health providers the scope to provide a health hub 
within the local centre, including the possibility of the relocation of health 
provision from the surrounding area  
 
BLP links:  AL13(5), QP1(b)(5c), IF6 
Other links: Corporate Plan 

313



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

73 

 
6.5.20 It will be important for development proposals to provide a range of different open 

spaces to meet different needs, including high quality new amenity open spaces and 
play facilities for older and younger children (including Local Areas of Play (LAPs), 
Locally Equipped Areas for Play (LEAPs) and Neighbourhood Areas for Play (NEAPs). 
 

6.5.21 A further key consideration is ensuring that clear mechanisms are in place to secure 
the long-term maintenance of open space.  

 
 Playing Pitches 
 
 The proforma for the AL13 site indicates that the site is allocated for a range of uses 

to accompany the residential development. This includes playing pitch provision. It is 
anticipated that there will be some playing pitch provision associated with the 
schools. However, the residential development also creates additional demand for 
the use of existing playing pitches in the area, including at Braywick Park. 

 
 The Council is currently preparing a playing pitch strategy, which will assess the 

adequacy of playing pitch provision and how and where it may need improving, both 
across the Borough but also more specifically in Maidenhead. The outcome from 
that work will not be known until 2023 but it is likely that the addition pressure on 
playing pitch provision arising from development on the AL13 site will need to be 
mitigated. This is likely to be through financial contributions to new pitches or 
enhancements to existing provision, secured through section 106 agreements. 

 
 
6.5.22 The Policy context section of this SPD summarises the Policy requirements in relation 

to the nature of the industrial and warehousing space to be provided on the site. The 
focus of the employment development on this site is one of delivering smaller 
industrial units for small and medium sized firms. The supporting text to the policy 
explains the reasons for this, including meeting growth needs and historic under-
provision, and a negative industrial pipeline. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Employment 
 
To provide new industrial and warehousing space on AL14 the Triangle Site in 
accordance with Policy ED1 of the Borough Local Plan 
 
BLP links: ED1, AL14(3) 
Other Links: Corporate Plan 

314



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

74 

 
6.6 Connectivity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6.1 The development areas in South West Maidenhead, and especially the AL13 

housing site, are well located to major destinations in the town, particularly the 
town centre and the railway station but also other destinations such as the 
Braywick Leisure Centre and major parks and open spaces. The provision and 
enhancement of high-quality sustainable connections to those destinations, both 
within and beyond the development area, will be key in delivering sustainable 
development. Similarly providing the right connections, particularly those relating 
to sustainable modes of travel to key local facilities on the site, including to the 
employment opportunities on the Triangle site, will further contribute to the 
sustainability of development.  

 
6.6.2 Policy QP1b (5c) states that provision of the necessary infrastructure should be 

ahead of or in tandem with the development it supports. The early delivery of key 
elements of the walking and cycling and public transport infrastructure will help 
embed sustainable travel “habits” for those in living or working in the development 
areas. 

 
6.6.2 The Illustrative Framework and related design principles set out key principles for 

access, movement and wayfinding. This section outlines in more detail some of the 
specific measures needed to deliver those principles 

Connectivity 
 
To deliver development that is highly connected both within the development 
areas and to the surrounding areas, with a focus on enhancing connectivity for 
walking, cycling and public transport. This infrastructure should be delivered in a 
timely manner to ensure that the use of sustainable modes of travel is available to 
new residents and occupants early on in the development. 
 
BLP links:  QP1b(5e,5f), AL13(3, 15, 16, 17), AL14(5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11), AL15(1, 2), IF2 
Other Links: Corporate Plan, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

315



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

75 

 
6.6.3 It essential that high quality, including wherever feasible segregated, walking and 

cycling routes, are provided to connect to key destinations outside of the main 
development sites. These routes will also need to connect to the wider walking and 
cycling network, as defined in the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan, to 
ensure that those living or working in the new development can sustainably reach 
other parts of the town and further afield on foot or by bike. Figure 14 illustrates the 
cycle network in the area and proposed improvements to it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Walking and Cycling within Surrounding Areas 
 
To provide high quality walking and cycling connections between development 
areas and the wider area, in particular connecting with the walking and cycling 
network identified within the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 
(LCWIP), including: 

 New cycling and pedestrian crossing across Braywick Road to the leisure 
centre for the current footpath across the golf course 

 New means of crossing Braywick Road at the east end of Harvest Hill Road 
to link with the new segregated walking/cycling route along the north side 
of Harvest Hill Road, potentially as part of a wider junction improvement 

 Improvements along Braywick Road to the town centre 
 Improvements to the bridge over the A404(M) and to the quality of the 

environment either side to improve the quality of access to Ockwells Park 
 A series of walking and cycling measures to/from the Triangle site and 

improved connections to the town centre and the AL13 site 
 Creation of attractive and legible direct links to the railway station and 

beyond to the town centre 
 

BLP links:  QP1b(5e), AL13(3)(15)(16), AL14(5)(8)(10), AL15(2), IF2 
Other links: Corporate Plan, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

316



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

76 

 
  

Figure 14 Existing and Proposed Cycle Network in the South West Maidenhead area6 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
6 Proposed route through golf course land is illustrative 

317



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

77 

 
 
6.6.4 This new provision to ensure a fully connected development will involve a 

combination of provision of new walking/cycling paths and improvements to means 
of crossing key routes/barriers such as Braywick Road and the A404(M) to improve 
the accessibility of key facilities for pedestrians and cyclists. In the case of the 
existing footbridge over the A404(M) which provides a key link to Ockwells Park, this 
should include both a refurbishment of the bridge and an improvement to the 
environment either side of the bridge. New walking/cycle paths will need to meet 
the Department for Transport standards for new provision wherever possible. 

 
6.6.5 One of the requirements for the AL13 and AL14 sites in the Borough Local Plan is to 

discuss further, including with National Highways (formerly Highways England), the 
feasibility of a pedestrian and cyclist bridge over the A308(M) connecting the 
employment development on the Triangle site with the new housing development 
immediately to the north, and if deliverable any such bridge should create a 
distinctive landmark on the approach to Maidenhead. However, if not feasible, the 
Local Plan indicates that alternative sustainable access solutions would need to be 
explored and implemented that provide comparable benefits for the movement of 
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users in the area. 

 
6.6.6 As a result, further work has been undertaken to consider the options. In summary 

that work has concluded that the alternative to the bridge involving pedestrian and 
cyclist crossings on the northern and eastern side of the Braywick Road roundabout, 
and improved walking and cycling connections along Braywick Road to the town 
centre and also to the AL13 Housing area could provide comparable benefits to the 
bridge and is the preferred approach. It was noted as part of this work that the 
bridge option was more expensive having regard to the potential level of use of the 
bridge. 

318



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

78 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
6.6.7 The development provides the opportunity to create a high quality, segregated 

walking/cycling network, connecting up with the wider walking and cycling network 
beyond the development sites. This will need to be carefully planned alongside the 
green infrastructure network. Making the right connections to key destinations 
within the development areas, notably to open spaces, the schools and the local 
centre will be essential to ensure these are truly accessible and attractive to reach 
on foot or by bike.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6.8 The approach to public transport provision is also one where it is important that 

public transport provision to serve the new housing and employment development 
is well integrated with the existing network and consistent and supports the 

Public Transport    
 
To ensure that development is well-served by public bus routes/demand 
responsive transport/other innovative public transport solutions, with appropriate 
provision of new bus stop infrastructure, such that the bus is an attractive 
alternative to the private car for local journeys. To ensure bus routing integrates 
closely with the location of the local centre, school and commercial development. 

 
BLP links:  QP1b(5e), AL13(3, 16,17), AL14(5,6,10), AL15(5), IF2 
Other Links: Corporate Plan, Bus Service Improvement Plan 

Walking and Cycling within Development Areas 
 
To deliver high quality segregated walking and cycling infrastructure that ensures 
high quality north/south and east/west connectivity, including: 

 Along the north/south green spine 
 East/west along the north side of Harvest Hill Road, extending beyond the 

site in either direction 
 The existing footpath across golf course land 
 East/west connectivity across the parcels of land to the south of Harvest 

Hill Road 
 Within the Triangle site 
 Provision of secure, high quality and accessible cycle parking facilities – at 

key destinations within the development (e.g. schools, local centre, 
employment development) and for all dwellings, including charging points 
for electric bikes 

 
To recognise the fundamental relationship of the walking/cycling network with 
the green infrastructure network across the development area 
 
BLP links:  QP1b(5e), AL13(3, 15, 16), AL14(5, 8, 10), IF2 
Other links: Corporate Plan, Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan 

319



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

79 

implementation of the recent Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) (November 
2021)7. Survey information in the BSIP of non-bus users identified the following 
measures as the top three actions that would make people use buses: 

 
1. Cheaper fares 
2. More frequent services 
3. More bus routes 

 
6.6.9 The new development needs to be well served by public transport, connecting the 

development with key destinations in the surrounding area is critical, but it is also 
important to ensure key facilities such as the local centre and the schools are well 
connected by public transport too. 

 
6.6.10 The measures that should be considered to deliver the public transport provision 

needed in South West Maidenhead, informed by the BSIP include: 
 

 Diversion of an existing bus route or ‘new sub-route’, initially along Harvest 
Hill Road to serve early housing development to the south of Harvest Hill 
Road, and then through the residential development to the north of Harvest 
Hill Road (including the local centre and the school)  

 Improved frequency of buses  
 Trialing cheaper fares for the route through the site over an extended 

period of time to encourage greater patronage 
 Provision of additional bus stops with real time passenger information 
 Incorporation of bus priority measures 
 Consideration should be given to conversion of buses to electric buses at 

the earliest opportunity 
 
6.6.11 The Borough Local Plan and the Bus Service Improvement Plan also highlight the 

potential of demand responsive transport, and this too could be explored further to 
enhance the public transport accessibility of the area. 

 
 Vehicular Access and Off-Site Junction Improvements 
 
6.6.12 The access, movement and wayfinding section of the Design Principles illustrate the 

location of the main vehicular access points to the development areas, including 
the importance of the Harvest Hill Road corridor. 

 

 
7 See https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2021-
11/rbwm_bus_service_improvement_strategy_november_2021.pdf 

320



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

80 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6.6.13 Traffic modelling work for the Borough Local Plan identified the need to improve a 

number of road junctions across the town to address the impact of development 
proposed in the Plan. Further modelling work has been undertaken to test the need 
for junction improvements focusing in on junctions around the South West 
Maidenhead area, and necessary improvement measures have been identified and 
costed. The junctions needing improvement are identified above, shown on the 
plan (Figure 14) below and are also included in the Infrastructure Schedule at 
Appendix 2. The traffic modelling has been focused on the immediate area and is 
consistent with taking a simple but comprehensive approach to infrastructure 
delivery, which is the Council’s preferred approach set out in Section 7 of this SPD. 
If, however, developers do not follow this approach, then Section 7 sets out an 
alternative. It would not then be possible to rely on the traffic modelling 
undertaken for this SPD.  

  
6.6.14 The junction of Harvest Hill Road with Braywick Road is a location where it is 

essential to provide a high-quality walking/cycling crossing. However, following 
early consultation, further consideration is required of traffic movements at that 
junction, and in particular those vehicles that would want to turn right at that 
junction but cannot at present due its current configuration. The output from that 
consideration may result in further improvements being identified. 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Wider Road Network 
 
As part of mitigating the impact on the wider road network, to provide/fund 
improvements to the following junctions: 

 Braywick Road roundabout 
 Shoppenhangers Road/Norreys Drive 
 Holyport Road/Windsor Road 
 A4/A404(M) Thicket Roundabout and Cannon Lane/Henley Road/Bath 

Road (A4) roundabout 
 M4 J8/9 (a contribution) 
 Improvements to Harvest Hill Road/Braywick Road – to be explored further 

and linked to improved pedestrian/cycle crossing 
 
BLP links: QP1b(5f), AL13(15), AL14(9) 
Other Links: Corporate Plan 

321



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

81 

 
Figure 15 – Location of required junction improvements 

 

 
 
6.6.15 Although the development in South West Maidenhead is likely to have wider 

impacts than the junctions identified above, some improvements have been or will 
need to be provided through other means. It is important, therefore, that the 
specific junction improvements identified above are provided for by funding from 
development on the AL13 and AL14 sites. 

 
6.7  Sustainability and Environment 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainable Building - Net Zero Carbon 
 
A key objective of the Council is to see development coming forward as net zero 
carbon development (operational) in developments across the area, and that 
moves towards approaches that take account of the ‘whole life carbon ’emissions 
of development. Accordingly, the Council will give significant positive weight to 
applications that deliver this.  
 
BLP links: QP1b(5i), SP2 
Other Links: Corporate Plan, Environment and Climate Strategy, Position 
Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design 

322



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

82 

6.7.1 In 2019 the Council declared a climate emergency and then adopted an Environment 
and Climate Strategy the following year. This sets out the approach and actions 
locally to address climate change, based around 4 themes: 

 
 Circular Economy 
 Energy 
 Natural Environment 
 Transport 

 
6.7.2 The implications of this strategy relate to a number of aspects of development at 

South West Maidenhead and the content of this SPD. In relation to energy, reducing 
our energy consumption, decarbonising our supply of energy and increasing local 
renewable energy generation is key to realising the Borough’s zero carbon 
aspirations. 

 
6.7.3 The Borough Local Plan (Policy SP2) sets out that all developments need to 

demonstrate how they have been designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and 
mitigate climate change. Policy QP1b for the South West Maidenhead area indicates 
that one of the key principles for the placemaking area is that development includes 
measures to reduce climate change and environmental impacts including suitable 
approaches to sustainable energy, recycling and construction.  

 
6.7.4 Taking forward these aspirations at a practical level in relation to new development, 

the Council has adopted a Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient 
Design (March 2021). This sets out a series of measures which will be sought on new 
developments in order to deliver on the requirements set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), national and local commitments towards climate 
change and the Council’s Environment and Climate Strategy.  

 
6.7.5 Key elements of this Position Statement are sought including following the energy 

hierarchy of: 
 

 Be lean: use less energy 
 Be clean: supply energy efficiently 
 Be green: use renewable energy  

 
and specifically, all development: 

 
 To be net zero carbon (operational) 
 To include detailed energy assessments 
 Maximising on site renewable energy generation 

 
6.7.6 The net zero outcome should be achieved on site where feasible, but where it is not 

feasible, to contribute towards a carbon offset fund. The Council’s strong preference 
and expectation, particularly on greenfield sites such as those in South West 
Maidenhead, is that net carbon is achieved on site. Furthermore, to be genuinely 
sustainable, developers are encouraged to consider the ‘whole life carbon ’impact of 

323



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

83 

their development, taking account of the energy used in the construction, 
maintenance and demolition phases of a building, as well as the operational phase.  
 

6.7.7 There is guidance and good practice available to assist in ensuring development 
achieves zero carbon. Developers should look to apply the LETI Design Guidance on 
Zero Carbon8. The Council will also be producing a Supplementary Planning 
Document on Sustainability and Climate Change – regard should be had to this 
document when it is available. 

 
6.7.8 The Position Statement identifies a number of other measures that to be addressed 

in new developments to help meet the Council’s climate change and sustainability 
objectives including: 

 
 Reduce potential overheating and reliance on air conditioning systems by 

applying a ‘cooling hierarchy’ 
 Recognising quality regimes such as Passivhaus or Home Quality Mark 
 New homes to use three phase power supply 
 Provision of electric vehicle (EV) charging facilities 
 High speed internet to facilitate homeworking 
 Minimise the use of water including application of a water usage target 

 
6.7.9 In relation to EV charging facilities, it should be noted that from June 2022 changes 

to the Building Regulations are bringing in a requirement that all new residential 
buildings with a parking space must have an electric vehicle charging point. 

 
6.7.10 The scale of development in the South West Maidenhead area provides the 

opportunity for the provision of centralised energy systems to be provided. 
Developers should work together to explore this option, exploring that latest 
technology for heat networks. 
 
 

 
8 Climate Emergency Design Guide | LETI 

324



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

84 

 
 
6.7.11 Policy NR2 of the Borough Local Plan sets out a policy requirement that 

development proposals will demonstrate a net gain in biodiversity by quantifiable 
methods such as the use of a biodiversity metric. It also sets out a mitigation 
hierarchy to avoid, then mitigate and as a last resort to compensate for any adverse 
biodiversity impacts. The Environment Act (2021) introduces a requirement for 
development to deliver a 10%9 net gain in biodiversity. Policy QP1b requires delivery 
of net gain across the placemaking area that reflects its nature conservation interest. 
The proforma for the AL13 site requires provision of biodiversity net gain across the 
site and the adjoining open spaces in the placemaking area as a whole.  

 
6.7.12 Considering the application of these principles and requirements to the South West 

Maidenhead area has resulted in the formulation of a local hierarchical approach 
whereby not just the mitigation hierarchy is applied but mitigation is focused as 
much as possible on protection and mitigation within the allocated site areas, AL13 
and AL14. Particular opportunities exist to maximise biodiversity gain in the southern 
fringe to site AL13 shown in the Illustrative Framework Plan (Figure 4), and on parts 
of the Triangle site AL14 where a combination of green belt designation and flood 
risk limit the extent of the developable area. The opportunity for mitigation in the 

 
9 The 10% net gain in the Environment Act is expected to come into force in November 2023 but the Council 
believes that developers should be applying this approach at the earliest opportunity. 

Biodiversity Net Gain 
 
Development across the area should deliver biodiversity net gain (with a national 
requirement for 10% being introduced shortly).  In line with the principles and 
requirements in the Local Plan, the following approach should apply: 
 

1. To maximise the level of biodiversity on the two main development 
allocations (AL13 and AL14) through protection and retention of existing 
habitats and species wherever possible, and through on-site mitigation 
within those allocated areas; then 

2. To secure biodiversity gains elsewhere in the placemaking area covered by 
this SPD; then 

 
If the required net gain is still not achieved, for the remaining gains to be 
delivered, preferably on land in proximity to the placemaking area where possible 
and appropriate, or, if not, elsewhere in the Borough, potentially through a 
biodiversity net gain credit scheme. Any necessary provision outside of the South 
West Maidenhead placemaking area should be guided by seeking to secure the 
best biodiversity outcome. In following this approach, careful regard should be 
had to the design principles set out in Section 6.3 above. 
 
BLP links: QP1b(5h), AL13(8), AL14(25), NR2 
Other links: Corporate Plan, Environment and Climate Strategy, Biodiversity Action 
Plan 

325



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

85 

wider placemaking area covered by the SPD, and potentially beyond, is likely to need 
to be explored further also. 

 
6.7.13 In developing mitigation and enhancement measures it is important that the 

identified mitigation is species specific and has particular regard to mitigating for 
species that are under threat or have been lost. Net gain should relate to priority 
species identified in the Biodiversity Action Plan. Similarly, the use of native species 
in new habitat creation is another very important principle. 

 
6.7.14 Development on the site allocations in the South West Maidenhead area provides 

the opportunity to design in from the start opportunities to maximise the on-site 
retention and mitigation of biodiversity, whilst recognising the need to 
accommodate the development identified in the Borough Local Plan. The design 
principles highlight the importance of the green infrastructure network required 
across the development areas and their significance in providing ecological 
connectivity. 

 
6.7.15 The Government’s metric 3.1 provides the basis for calculating net gain at present 

but the latest metric should be used. The Council may develop further guidance in 
relation to biodiversity net gain. It should be noted that there would be a 30-year 
protection for biodiversity improvements and funding agreements must cover 
maintenance for that period. Enforcement and monitoring will be essential, and 
funding will need to be secured to undertake this work. Communication and 
engagement will also be very important. 

  
 

 
6.7.16 It is recognised that to accommodate the level of growth planned for the areas, 

some loss of trees will be required. The proformas in the Borough Local Plan for sites 
AL13 and AL14 (included at Appendix A of this SPD) set out a number of 
requirements in relation to trees and landscape buffers on the two development 
areas that need to be reflected in development proposals. These can be summarised 
as, on the AL13 housing site: 

 
 Retention of Rushington Copse 
 Retention of other mature trees and hedgerows wherever possible 
 Retention and enhancing of boundary trees and landscape buffers 
 Protecting trees from the impact of development 

Trees 
 
Development should look to maximise the retention of trees on the development 
sites whilst having regard to the scale of growth identified in the Borough Local 
Plan policies, and deliver significant additional new tree planting 
 
BLP links: QP1b(5g), AL13(7, 9), AL14(14, 15), NR3 
Other Links: Environment and Climate Strategy  

326



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

86 

 
and on the AL14 site: 
 

 Retain all valuable trees and reinforce the tree landscape buffers to the 
A308(M) and the M4 and along all site boundaries 

 
6.7.17 Tree surveys and related assessments and plans to the standards defined in the Local 

Plan Policy NR3 will be very important in applying these principles and requirements 
in practice.. Similarly, every opportunity should be taken to deliver significant new 
tree planting in the area. 

 
 Other Issues  
 
6.7.18 There are a wide range of other environmental issues that will need to be considered 

as part of bringing forward development proposals for the area. The Borough Local 
Plan, including both the site-specific requirements in the Proformas in Appendix C of 
Plan (and Appendix 3 of this SPD), together with the wider suite of policies in the 
Plan provide set out what is expected in relation to those issues. Some of those key 
issues are highlighted below: 

 
Food Production 

 
6.7.19 Food production should be incorporated into the green infrastructure network to 

enable a significant proportion of new residents the opportunity to participate in or 
benefit from on-site food production in the residential development. This could take 
various forms including: 

 
 Allotments 
 Micro allotments – smaller scale plots for those wanting more limited 

growing space 
 Community gardens and/or orchards 
 The incorporation into gardens of pre-prepared growing space 

 
Flood Risk 

 
6.7.20 There are areas of flood risk on both the AL13 and AL14 sites and development 

proposals for both sites will need to be accompanied by a robust Flood Risk 
Assessment. 

 
6.7.21 There is particularly significant flood risk on the AL14 site which will affect the extent 

of the developable area, and the Local Plan proforma for the site highlights issues of 
surface water flooding and risk to groundwater that will need to be addressed. The 
watercourse “The Cut” also runs along the northern part of the site and the site is 
also crossed by Chawbridge Bourne at its western end.  If practicable and 
appropriate, an undeveloped 8 metre buffer should be provided on both sides of 
these watercourses to provide access for maintenance and maintain a wildlife 
corridor.  

327



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

87 

 
6.7.22 In relation to the AL14 site, although employment uses are classified as a “less 

vulnerable use” and the Government’s planning practice guidance indicates that less 
vulnerable uses are appropriate in zones 1, 2 and 3a (but not 3b), the Council’s 
Sequential  and Exceptions Test report10 prepared as evidence to support the 
Borough Local Plan, sets out a range of key considerations for the Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) including ensuring floodplain storage capacity and safe evacuation 
of the site. Only once the FRA has been concluded can the developable area of the 
site (from a flood risk perspective) be confirmed. 

  
6.7.23 Policy NR1 of the Local Plan provides more detailed requirements in relation to 

managing flood risk and waterways. 
 
 Scheduled Ancient Monument 
 
6.7.24 There is a scheduled ancient monument on the northern edge of the AL14 site. 

Development proposals will need to ensure that they conserve and enhance the 
scheduled ancient monument and its setting, having particular regard to the ‘wet ’
nature of the site. To ensure this, a setting study will need to be undertaken. 

 
Environmental Protection 

 
6.7.25 There are a number of potential pollution concerns that will need to be addressed by 

development proposals. These include:  
 

 Noise and air pollution from existing nearby sources of pollution such as the 
A404(M) and the A308(M) and its impact on new residents 

 Potential pollution generated by the new development, including its 
implications for the nearby Town Centre Air Quality Management Area and 
potential light pollution 

 Potential impact on environmental quality during the construction phase. 
 
6.7.26 The Environmental Protection chapter of the Borough Local Plan (Policies EP1 - EP5) 

puts in place strong policy safeguards to ensure that development proposals address 
these and other environmental protection issues. 

 
 Water Infrastructure 
 
6.7.27 The Borough Local Plan Policy IF7 sets out important policy requirements in relation 

to water supply and sewerage infrastructure. Developers should contact the 
water/wastewater company at the earliest opportunity to discuss their development 
proposals. As the South West Maidenhead area falls within an area of water stress, 
the opportunity should be taken to design development that is water efficient and 
reduces water consumption. The Council’s Position Statement on Sustainability and 
Energy Efficient Design provides further information on how this could be achieved. 

 
10 2019 ‘Sequential and Exception Test’ document 

328



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

88 

7  Infrastructure Delivery 
 
7.1  Infrastructure Delivery - Policy, Principles and Approach 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.1.1 It is essential that the impact of new development at South West Maidenhead is fully 

mitigated in a comprehensive and coordinated way, in terms of the provision of the 
required new or improved supporting physical and community infrastructure. There 
is a range of infrastructure required to deliver a successful place and this is 
highlighted in the Local Plan and in this SPD. This section focuses on the “hard” 
physical infrastructure of a strategic nature, much of which is provided “off-site”, to 
consider how this can be delivered collectively, having regard to the fact that there 
are a number of different landowners/developers who will deliver development in 
the area.  

 
 Policy Basis for Infrastructure Provision 
 
7.1.2 The Borough Local Plan provides the principal policy basis for infrastructure planning 

in the South West Maidenhead area. Policy IF1 Infrastructure and Developer 
Contributions provides the overarching approach to infrastructure in relation to 
development, and it: 

 Requires development to deliver infrastructure to support the spatial 
strategy 

 Indicates that section 106 contributions (for on and off-site facilities) will 
be used as well as Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 

 Notes that development may be phased to ensure the timely delivery of 
infrastructure 

 
7.1.3 Policy QP1(b) South West Maidenhead Placemaking sets the policy framework for 

the South West Maidenhead area covered by this SPD. It includes: 
 

 Part 3 – to ensure that development in the placemaking area as a whole 
comes forward in a strategic and comprehensive manner, this SPD will be 
brought forward including “phasing of development and infrastructure 
delivery for the SWMSA as a whole” 

Infrastructure Delivery Principle 
 
That development in South West Maidenhead should fully mitigate its impacts in 
terms of necessary infrastructure provision.  
 
BLP links: QP1b (3)(5a, c), AL13 (various), AL14 (various), IF1 
Other Links: Corporate Plan, Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

329



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

89 

 Part 5(a) requires a coordinated and comprehensive approach to 
development of the Area to avoid piecemeal or ad-hoc development 
proposals 

 Part 5(c) requires provision of necessary social and physical infrastructure 
ahead of or in tandem with the development that it supports 

 
The individual site proformas for sites AL13, AL14 and AL15 provide more detail on 
some of the main infrastructure requirements. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 

7.1.4 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is an important tool for local authorities to use 
to help them deliver the infrastructure needed to support development in their area. 
The legislation and Government guidance gives local authorities wide discretion on 
how CIL is spent, but in summary: 

 Local authorities must spend the levy on infrastructure needed to support 
the development of their area, and they will decide what infrastructure is 
needed. 

 The levy can be used to increase the capacity of existing infrastructure or to 
repair failing existing infrastructure, if that is necessary to support 
development. 

As such, the spending of CIL is not ringfenced to the local area in which it is collected. 
Any CIL monies collected from within the Borough can be spend anywhere in the 
Borough. 
 

7.1.5 The impacts of the major development identified for South West Maidenhead will be 
felt on existing and proposed infrastructure well beyond the SPD area. 
In addition, it should be noted that CIL is not collected in Maidenhead Town Centre 
where significant housing growth is taking place and is planned. As such CIL from 
development outside of the town centre will need to help fund infrastructure 
improvements in that area as well as elsewhere in the Borough. Further information 
on the Council’s approach to spending CIL may be included in the Council’s 
Infrastructure Funding Statement when published. 
 
Section 106 Funding 
 

7.1.6 Section 106 agreements (also known as planning obligations) help to mitigate the 
impact of unacceptable development to make it acceptable in planning terms. They 
must meet the following test: they must be necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms, directly related to the development, and fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.11 It is clear from the work 

 
11 These tests are set out in Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations (2010)(as 
amended). Further guidance is set out in the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance on Planning 
Obligations: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planning-obligations 
 

330



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

90 

undertaken in support of the Local Plan and this SPD that Section 106 contributions 
will be required alongside CIL contributions, to deliver the identified, necessary, 
infrastructure to support development at South West Maidenhead. 

 
Approach to Infrastructure Funding for South West Maidenhead 
 

7.1.7 The key policy requirement for South West Maidenhead is to ensure the 
comprehensive and coordinated delivery of infrastructure in advance of or in 
tandem with development.  
 

7.1.8 Implementing this policy requirement will be challenging for all concerned, not least 
because there are a number of different landowners and developers involved (who 
will be delivering their schemes at different times), and because given the scale of 
the planned development, there will be a very wide range of impacts within and 
beyond the SWMPMA to consider and mitigate. 
 

7.1.9 The Council’s preferred approach to infrastructure funding and delivery is set out 
below. 

 
Simple Comprehensive Approach 

 
7.1.10 The work on the SPD has sought to develop the evidence base on the main 

infrastructure requirements and costs associated with the South West Maidenhead 
development without an exhaustive assessment of its wider impacts beyond the 
Placemaking area.  The resulting approach, which is a pragmatic approach that seeks 
to provide certainty for developers on their section 106 contributions, involves a 
simple but comprehensive approach to delivery whereby a combination of the CIL 
receipts payable in relation to the development within SW Maidenhead and section 
106 contributions would fully fund those main infrastructure requirements. 
 

7.1.11 This approach would disregard wider impacts of the SW Maidenhead development 
beyond those identified in this SPD but would also need developers within South 
West Maidenhead to fully fund infrastructure through CIL and s106 payments based 
on a proportionate indicative cost per square metre basis. Conversely, only in 
relation to specified strategic infrastructure (i.e., health provision, M4 motorway 
junction and secondary school) would SW Maidenhead development part fund the 
infrastructure. It is necessary that the identified infrastructure is provided in 
accordance with local plan policy as referred to above (i.e., necessary to make the 
development acceptable) and it is considered that this approach ensures that the 
contributions are directly related to the proposed development and the amount of 
contribution fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the individual 
developments. The box below outlines the steps set out in this SPD to deliver this 
approach. 

331



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

91 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Step 1 - Infrastructure Needs and Costs 
 
7.1.12 As part of the preparation of the Borough Local Plan, an Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan was prepared setting out the infrastructure required to support the growth set 
out in the Plan. This included a consideration of the infrastructure requirements for 
the South West Maidenhead area and in particular the specific site allocations in 
the Plan (sites AL13, AL14 and AL15), some of which were subsequently reflected in 
the site-specific requirements in the proformas at Appendix C of the Local Plan. 

 
7.1.13 This assessment has formed the basis for considering the infrastructure 

requirements in this SPD. However, further work has also been undertaken to 
understand the infrastructure requirements for the development of the area and 
the potential timing of delivery. This work has included: 

 
 Additional traffic modelling and work to determine the nature of required 

off-site junction improvements, and their costs 
 Consideration of the Harvest Hill Road corridor from a highways and urban 

design perspective, including costing work on the potential segregated 
walking/cycling route 

 Further consideration of walking, cycling and public transport provision in the 
context of emerging strategies 

Infrastructure Delivery – Simple Comprehensive Approach 
 
In taking forward this approach the following sequential steps are set out in this 
section of the SPD to deliver a comprehensive approach to the funding and 
delivery of infrastructure required as a result of the South West Maidenhead 
development: 
 

1. To assess the main infrastructure needs and costs 
2. To consider other funding sources in relation to health provision, M4 
J8/9 motorway junction and secondary school provision  
3. To consider potential CIL receipts from the AL13 site 
4. Any remaining funding gap to be funded from section 106 contributions 
from the AL13 and AL14 sites, having regard to the more limited range of 
infrastructure impacts arising from the AL14 site 

 
That the overall aim is to ensure an equitable distribution of infrastructure costs 
across the different development interests in the South West Maidenhead area 
 
That this assessment is updated as and when required to inform negotiations on 
section 106 agreements. 
 
BLP links:  QP1b (3)(5a, c), AL13 (various), AL14 (various), IF1 
Other Links: Corporate Plan, Community Infrastructure Levy Charging Schedule 

332



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

92 

 Further consideration of potential locations for the school site, the broad 
timing of when the schools may be required, and developing cost estimates 
based on benchmark figures 

 Discussions with health providers about the need for a health facility on site 
 

7.1.14 Given the scale of the planned development, the number of different landowners 
and developers involved, and the length of the likely delivery period, the Council will 
be adopting a precautionary approach in securing developer contributions towards 
necessary supporting infrastructure.  Whilst at this stage in the planning process the 
Council has undertaken some concept design work for junction improvements, 
looked at recent comparable costs for infrastructure delivery elsewhere, and used a 
range of other techniques to arrive at reasonable cost estimates for the required 
new infrastructure, it is inevitable that these costs will change, as further design 
work is completed, and delivery constraints are more fully understood. As part of 
preparing the costs for the final version of this SPD, the Council has updated costings 
prepared earlier in 2022 by indexing those costs by reference to the CIL Index, which 
uses the BCIS All In Tender Index as its base. Costs have been updated to December 
2022 on this basis.  

 
7.1.15 As a result of the original and further work an infrastructure delivery schedule has 

been prepared for the South West Maidenhead area (see Appendix 2). This includes 
an indication of the potential costs of the different elements of infrastructure.  Over 
time, these costs will be refined as more information becomes available and costs 
will continue to be updated based on the latest CIL index.  This table, and its 
implications for development contributions will be updated.  Any updates will be 
published on the Council’s website to inform any ongoing discussions with 
developers and for wider awareness. 

 
7.1.16 In negotiating S.106 financial contributions, the Council will seek to minimise any risk 

that the overall receipt from S.106 contributions, CIL and other identified funding 
sources is insufficient to deliver the required supporting infrastructure in full.  The 
Council will also seek to ensure that those landowners and developers that are last 
to bring forward planning applications on their land are not left with a 
disproportionately high CIL/ S.106 burden by reviewing the costs and delivery of 
infrastructure as development in South West Maidenhead is progressed.   

 
7.1.17 In summary a range of infrastructure requirements that need to be funded by 

financial contributions have been identified arising from development in the South 
West Maidenhead area. These include: 

 
 Strategic network highway junction improvements 
 Local network highway junction improvements 
 Improvements to walking and cycling infrastructure 
 Improvements to public transport provision 
 Provision of a new secondary school and primary school 
 Community and health provision 

333



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

93 

 Contributions towards improvement to off-site playing pitch provision (not 
yet costed) 

 
In addition, there will be a range of other primarily on-site infrastructure that will 
need to be provided by developers such as vehicular accesses, open space and green 
infrastructure, transport infrastructure provision internal to the site, etc. 
 

7.1.18 In broad terms the wider infrastructure needs related to the site amount to around 
£120m (see below). This is broadly split as set out in Table 2. 

 
  

Table 2 - Indicative Infrastructure Costs 

Type of Infrastructure Indicative cost 
indexed to Dec 2022 

   

Highway Junctions   £29.4m 

Walking and Cycling  £11.6m 

Public Transport  £1.8m 

Schools  £70.2m 

Community and Health  £7.1m 

Total  £120.1m 

  
7.1.19 In identifying the infrastructure requirements of the area we have taken a 

proportionate approach in identifying how different infrastructure should be funded. 
We have also, however, aimed to keep the approach relatively simple to ensure that 
the key infrastructure requirements are fully addressed. This is in the interests of 
clarity and certainty. Smaller contributions could have been identified towards other 
infrastructure provision and detailed arguments could be made one way or another 
about proportions of impact, but such discussions would be complex and time 
consuming, could delay delivery and would not assist in delivering a comprehensive 
approach to development where the key impacts are addressed. 
 
Community Facilities Land Cost 
 

7.1.20 In addition, in considering the cost of providing community facilities including the 
schools, it is considered appropriate and equitable to include an appropriate cost for 
the land in the overall cost of the infrastructure. This SPD indicates that the main 
community uses, notably the schools and the local centre incorporating health and 
community facilities, should be located on the land north of Harvest Hill Road where 
there is a single ownership. This is meeting the needs for community facilities not 
just on land north of Harvest Hill Road but also the residential development south of 
Harvest Hill Road, and in the case of the secondary school and potentially the health 

334



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

94 

facilities a catchment area extending outside of the AL13 site. The cost of providing 
those community facilities is both the build cost and the cost of the land. 

 
7.1.21 Without some allowance in the infrastructure costs for the cost of the land, the 

developer of land to the north of Harvest Hill Road would be funding the full land 
costs for the various community facilities, which would not be equitable.  As such a 
value needs to be attached to the land, as a means of ensuring an equitable 
distribution of costs.  

 
7.1.22 The Council has taken further advice as to the appropriate cost of the community 

land. This is based on an updated viability assessment for the whole AL13 area 
undertaken in October 2022. This results in a cost for the different elements of 
community land of £633,174 per hectare. In this approach, this is simply added to 
the construction costs for the different elements of community provision to derive a 
total cost for that infrastructure provision. As the SPD indicates that all of the land 
for community uses is located on the golf course land north of Harvest Hill Road  it is 
right that appropriate relief is provided to the landowner for the proportion of 
community land costs that are not attributable to the impact of their part of the 
development. 

 
Step 2 - Other Funding Sources 

 
7.1.23 Most of the infrastructure identified above is required in its entirety to mitigate the 

impact of the development in the South West Maidenhead area.  However, in 
relation to the provision of the secondary school, the health facility, and junction 
improvement on the strategic highway network (J8/9), for this strategically 
significant infrastructure it is considered that a substantial element of the provision 
of that infrastructure is related not just to South West Maidenhead growth but to 
the needs from a wider area. As such only a proportion of those costs should be 
funded by the South West Maidenhead development under this approach, with the 
remaining funding coming from other sources outside of South West Maidenhead 
development.  

 
7.1.24 It is assumed that a proportion of the following schemes are funded by other sources 

as follows (see Appendix 2 for further details): 
 

 Secondary school – 43% funded by other sources 
 Health Facility – 60% funded by other sources 
 M4 Junction 8/9 – there would be a maximum 30% contribution from South 

West Maidenhead development with the remainder funded by National 
Highways. 

 
Broadly, those other funding sources would need to fund about £27.0m of the total   
£120.1m of infrastructure costs.  

 
 

335



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

95 

Step 3 - Potential Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) receipts 
 
7.1.25 The level of CIL that is chargeable and the types of development that can be charged 

are set out in the Council’s CIL Charging Schedule12 . CIL is chargeable on the housing 
development on the AL13 site13 but is not chargeable on the industrial and 
warehousing development on the AL14 site. The updated Viability Assessment of the 
AL13 site, based on a policy compliant scheme for the allocation and taking account 
of the guidance in the draft SPD, calculated a CIL receipt for the whole site of 
£45.7m.  

 
7.1.26 Under the CIL legislation, where an area has a town or parish council, a local 

allocation of CIL is passed to the town or parish for that area. This amounts to 15% of 
CIL receipts (or 25% in the event that there is a ‘made’ neighbourhood plan). The 
area of land south of Harvest Hill Road and east of Kimbers Lane is within Bray Parish 
and also within the AL13 housing allocation. Decisions on the spending of this 
element of CIL are made by the Parish Council, not the Borough Council. The 
Borough Council will keep under review whether it is appropriate to include the local 
allocation of CIL as part of its assessment of the overall funding available for the 
infrastructure set out in this SPD.  

 
Step 4 - Addressing the Funding Gap 

 
7.1.27 Taking account of the other funding sources and potential CIL receipts, as it stands 

the funding picture is as set out in Table 3: 
 
   

Table 3 - Determining the Funding Gap 

 Indicative cost  

Total Infrastructure Cost  £120.1m 

Less  

Other funding sources £27.0m 

Less   

Estimated CIL receipts £45.7m 

Equals  

Funding Gap £ 47.4m 

 
12 https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning/planning-policy/community-infrastructure-levy/cil-charging-
schedule 
13 The current rate is £295.11 per square metre of residential development. This is index linked so changes 
each year. 

336



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

96 

 

7.1.28 There is therefore an approximate £47.4m funding gap at present. This will need to 
be made up through section 106 contributions from development.  

 
The Triangle Site (AL14) contributions 

 
7.1.29 Some of the impact of development in the South West Maidenhead area will be 

caused by the industrial and warehousing development on the Triangle Site (AL14). 
Section 106 contributions will be expected to address that impact. Section 6 explains 
the options considered in relation to sustainable walk/cycle links from the site to the 
wider area and the preferred option. 

 
7.1.30 As such it is considered that contributions are required for the following: 
 

 Sustainable off-site measures to enable pedestrians and cyclists to reach the 
site 

 A contribution towards improvements for walking and cycling to the town 
centre/wider walking/cycling connectivity including to the AL13 site 

 A contribution towards public transport provision in the area 
 A contribution to some junction improvements 

 
7.1.31 In relation to walking and cycling improvements a package of measures has been 

identified. As of today, contributions to the following would be expected to be the 
following amounts: 

 
 Improvements in the vicinity of the site/Braywick Road roundabout - £2.7M 
 Contribution to the cost of improvements to walking/cycling to the town 

centre/wider connectivity including to the AL13 site = £2.6m 
 
7.1.32 In relation to the impact of the development on the highway network, development 

of the site will have the most impact on the Braywick Roundabout and Junction 8/9 
of the M4. A proportionate approach between the impact of the Triangle site and 
the AL13 housing site should be taken to the contribution of the Triangle site to the 
cost of those improvements. Table 4 below sets out the peak hour traffic generation 
of the two sites on the Braywick Roundabout. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

337



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

97 

Table 4 - Braywick Roundabout traffic data14 

Site AM PM Total 

AL13 405 768 1,173 
(55.3%) 

AL14 506 444 950 
(45.7%) 

Total of both 
developments 

911 1,212 2,123 

 
This indicates that around 45.7% of the additional traffic from the two main South 
West Maidenhead development sites is generated by the AL14 site. Based on this 
proportion and the indicative cost to the South West Maidenhead development of 
the improvements at Braywick Roundabout and M4 Junction 8/9, a formula has been 
developed to calculate the contribution towards these two junction improvements 
which will vary depending on the level and type of employment use provided on the 
site as follows:    
 

 B2 Industrial development – £6,912 per 100 square metres 
 B8 Warehousing – £1,715 per 100 square metres 

 
Based on an indicative 80,000sq.m development, with 60,000sq.m as B2 industrial 
and 20,000sq.m B8 warehousing, this would result in a contribution to junction 
improvements of £4.5m. It should be noted that this assessment only assumes 
contributions to the improvement of two junctions, although the traffic impacts 
from development of the site may well be much wider. 
 

7.1.33 It is important that the site is also well served by public transport and as such the 
site should also contribute towards public transport provision. The level set out 
below in Table 5 assumes 45% of the total public transport package for South West 
Maidenhead is funded by the AL14 site. 

 
7.1.34 Based on current day information the total contribution from the Triangle site is 

summarised in Table 5 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
14 Based on updated traffic modelling to inform the SPD 

338



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

98 

Table 5 - Section 106 contributions from the AL14 Triangle Site 

Nature of Infrastructure 
mitigation 

Indicative Cost 

Walking, cycling provision £5.3m 

Public Transport improvements £0.8m 

Junction improvements £4.5m 

Total £10.6m 

 
The final level of contribution in relation to the junction improvements and public 
transport will depend on the land use mix of the proposed development on the 
Triangle site. 

 
 The Housing Site (AL13) 
 
7.1.35 The contribution from the Triangle site reduces the total funding gap to about 

£36.8m – see Table 6 below. 
 

Table 6 - Remaining Funding Gap 

 Based on indicative 
costs only 

Funding Gap £47.4m 

Less  

Contribution from Triangle Site £10.6m 

Equals   

Remaining Funding Gap £36.8m 
 

This should be funded by additional section 106 contributions from the housing site 
(AL13). As it stands, this is £36.8m. This amounts to around £14.1k per dwelling.  

 
7.1.36 In terms of the approach to distributing this remaining funding gap across the 

different landowner/developer interests on the AL13 site 
  

it is considered that a contribution based on the square metres of development 
would be the most equitable way of distributing the contributions across different 
developers/landowner interests across the site.  Viability work undertaken to inform 
this SPD modelled a total floorspace figure of 220,258 sq m, having regard to the 
policy for the site and the guidance in the draft SPD.  As a guide, based on the 
funding gap for the residential development, this amounts to around £167 per 
square metre S106 contribution. This would apply to all types of residential 

339



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

99 

development.  Development proposals that provide this level of section 106 
contribution would be considered to meet the policy requirements for ensuring they 
are providing a proportionate contribution towards the comprehensive delivery of 
necessary infrastructure.  It is important to note that financial contributions towards 
infrastructure from development within the AL13 allocated area also apply to any 
smaller scale housing development that may be proposed within the allocated area. 

 
7.1.37 The figures set out above provide an indication of the level of additional S106 

contributions required. This will need to be kept under review in the light of 
changing costs and as schemes evolve, including indexing, and the level of 
contributions received and committed. Updates to the funding position and funding 
gap will be published on the Council’s website as and when necessary. 

 
More Complex Comprehensive Approach 

 
7.1.38 A more complex but comprehensive alternative to the Council’s preferred approach 

involves specific items of infrastructure provision that are identified in this SPD being 
delivered through section 106 agreements with individual developers negotiating 
with the Council their proportionate contributions to that provision. Developers will 
need to undertake their own assessments of the wider impact of their development 
on a range of different types of infrastructure and may need to contribute to a wider 
set of infrastructure improvements. CIL receipts would be used to fund some 
elements of the infrastructure identified in this SPD, but not all the CIL receipts 
arising from development in the SWMPMA would be retained for use in South West 
Maidenhead as they would be needed to help fund the wider impacts of growth. 
Developers will need to demonstrate how their infrastructure funding proposals 
form part of a comprehensive and coordinated approach to infrastructure delivery 
and ensures delivery of infrastructure ahead of or in tandem with the development 
it supports. 

 
7.1.39 The Council’s preferred “simple comprehensive approach” outlined earlier in this 

section provides a simpler, more streamlined approach that provides more certainty, 
is likely to result in faster delivery whilst ensuring that developers fund infrastructure 
on a proportionate basis. However, if developers decide to pursue the more complex 
approach, then table 7 sets out those elements of infrastructure that the Council 
expects to be funded by means of section 106 agreements that would be the subject 
of negotiation. It also highlights those elements of infrastructure it expects to be 
funded by CIL (and, where appropriate, section 106 contributions from the Triangle 
site). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

340



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

100 

Table 7 - Split between section 106 funded infrastructure and CIL funded infrastructure under 
the “Complex Comprehensive Approach” 

  
Infrastructure to be funded/delivered 
by s106 agreement  

Infrastructure to be funded by CIL 
(and where appropriate s106 from the 
Triangle site) 

Primary School Secondary school 
Harvest Hill Road walk/cycle route Braywick Road Roundabout 

improvements (including s106 from 
Triangle site) 

New/improved connections to Braywick 
Park and Ockwells Park 

Thicket Roundabout – 
A404(M)/A4/Cannon Lane/Henley 
Road 

The following junction improvements: 
 Norreys Drive/Shoppenhangers 

Road 
 Holyport Road 
 Braywick Road/Harvest Hill Road 

M4 J8/9 (including s106 from Triangle 
site) 

Public transport to support the area Wider impacts of growth 
Sustainable travel connections to the 
Triangle site 

 

On site community facility/building  
Health provision (SW Maidenhead 
development related proportion) 

 

Off-site playing pitch provision  
Other assessed impacts as a result of 
developer assessment of infrastructure 
impacts 

 

 
 
7.1.40 This approach will require a full assessment of the infrastructure impact of each 

proposed development, and not rely purely on the infrastructure package identified 
in this SPD.  

 
7.1.41 For example, in relation to scale and scope of any traffic assessment, it will need to 

be sufficiently robust to assess both the impacts of their development on the local 
area and the wider highway network including, but not limited to: 

 
 Local modelling assessments (base year, opening year and forecast year with 

and without development) 
 Microsimulation assessment of areas of the network with more complex and 

sensitive trip patterns 
 

If the developer chooses this approach, it will need to be undertaken in isolation 
from the assessment undertaken to support this SPD.  

 

341



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

101 

7.1.42 These more detailed assessments of impact may mean that there are other assessed 
impacts that may need to be addressed through section 106 agreements. 

 
7.1.43 As referred to earlier in that the relation to the simpler comprehensive approach, it 

is important to ensure land costs for the various community uses are factored into 
the funding mechanisms. The advice the Council received in relation to valuing the 
community land set out potential land costs for the community land based on a per 
dwelling basis. Broadly speaking these are about £1,637 per dwelling for any 
development parcels south of Harvest Hill Road or £19.32 per sq m. For the golf 
course land a deduction of about £2,383 per dwelling or £28.12 per sq m would 
apply due to the fact that all the land for community uses is within this area, and 
equalisation is therefore appropriate. These sums would be addressed in section 106 
agreements.   

 
7.1.44 It is important to note that it if developers decide to adopt this more complex 

alternative, it is not appropriate to mix this approach with the Council’s preferred 
simple comprehensive approach. 

 
 Planning Reform 
 
7.1.45 The Levelling-Up and Regeneration Bill (2022) proposes the replacement of the 

current development contributions system based on the Community Infrastructure 
Levy and section 106 agreements with a new Infrastructure Levy, based on property 
values. However, the Bill is at the beginning of its progress through Parliament and 
there will be further secondary legislation to accompany the new system.  

 
7.1.46  As such there is no clarity on when the new system will come into force and what 

transitional arrangements will apply. Given that it is anticipated that planning 
applications are likely to come forward for parts of the South West Maidenhead area 
before the new system comes into force, this guidance has been prepared on the 
basis of the current CIL and section 106 system. Clearly, there may need to be 
updates to the guidance in due course to reflect the changing system. 

 
 

342



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

102 

7.2  Timing and Phasing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2.1 The precise timing of the delivery of infrastructure will be determined by the 

individual planning applications and the related overall delivery timetable for the 
housing and employment development. However, the following elements of 
infrastructure are priorities for early delivery: 

 
 Harvest Hill Road walking/cycling route 
 Braywick Road pedestrian/cycle crossing to the leisure centre 
 Braywick Road roundabout 
 Holyport Road A308 improvement 
 Public transport measures 
 Sustainable travel measures related to the AL14 site  

 
7.2.2 It is anticipated that the secondary school will not be required until towards the end 

of the Local Plan period, but the primary school will be required earlier but may be 
built in more than one phase (see Appendix 4 for more details). 

 
7.2.3 Further consideration will need to be given to the timing of the provision of the local 

centre and the associated community facilities, relative to the timing of residential 
development and key infrastructure. However, as a principle, the early delivery of 
the local centre will further assist with new residents using local facilities rather than 
travelling further afield and help to establish early on the heart of the new 
neighbourhood. There will also need to be coordination in relation to the timing of 
the health hub, having regard to the generation of new demand from the residential 
development. 

 
 
 
 
 

Infrastructure Delivery Timing 
 
That infrastructure should be delivered in a timely manner, in advance of or in 
tandem with development, to ensure that the impact of development is 
addressed at the right time.  
 
In relation to the provision of infrastructure to support sustainable modes of 
travel, the focus should be the introduction of provision early in the 
development/relevant phase of development to ensure sustainable travel habits 
are embedded early on. 
 
BLP links:  QP1b (5a, c), IF1 
Other Links: Corporate Plan  

343



South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document 
(Adopted December 2022) 

103 

7.3 Viability 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3.1 Viability assessments to inform the preparation and examination of the Local Plan 

were undertaken in 2017 with an update in 2019. The 2019 update in particular 
undertook an assessment of the AL13 housing site based on 2,600 dwellings. It 
included allowances for CIL and also £32m of section 106 contributions. This level of 
contributions is broadly in line with the contribution levels for the AL13 housing site 
identified in this SPD. 

 
7.3.2 As part of “sense checking” the emerging SPD, a viability assessment was undertaken 

in October 2022 of the AL13 site as an update to the 2019 viability assessment of the 
site undertaken as part of the evidence base for the Borough Local Plan. This new 
assessment used the same base viability model as that used for the Local Plan, but 
updated to reflect changes to costs and values, national standards and guidance in 
the draft SPD. This continued to show that development of the AL13 site is viable. 

 
7.3.3 In relation to employment, the 2017 Viability assessment included a generic 

assessment of large industrial development on a greenfield site and this showed 
good viability against benchmark land values. 

 
 

Viability 
 
The starting point for considering the viability of development in the area is the 
viability assessment work that informed the Borough Local Plan. In line with the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Planning Practice Guidance 
(PPG), it is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances 
justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. 
 
BLP links:  IF1 

344



 

Appendix 1 - Table Illustrating Link Between the Visions,“ High Level” Development Principles, BLP Proforma 
Requirements, and SPD Principles 
 

SWMPA Vision Policy QP1b Principles and 
Requirements 

Site Proforma Requirements 
(See also Appendix 5) 

SPD References 

A sense of place and distinctiveness 
will emerge in different ways across 
the SWMPA. 

a. A coordinated and 
comprehensive approach to 
development of the Area to avoid 
piecemeal or ad-hoc development 
proposals; 

AL13 - 1, 12, 15, 18 
 
AL14 - 2, 3, 29, 30 
 
AL15 - 1 

Sections 6.3 – 6.6 
Sections 7.1 – 7.2 

The provision of infrastructure and 
other functions will contribute in a 
number of ways to a more 
sustainable, more distinctive and 
more desirable part of town. 

b. Creation of a distinctive, 
sustainable, high quality new 
development which provides a 
strong and identifiable gateway 
into Maidenhead from the south; 

AL13 - 1, 11 
 
AL14 - 1, 2, 4, 16, 17, 19, 20, 21, 
27 
 
AL15 - 3 

 
Sections 6.2 – 6.3 

345



 

105 

c. Provision of the necessary social 
and physical infrastructure ahead 
of or in tandem with the 
development that it supports in 
order to address the impacts of 
the new development and to 
meet the needs of the new 
residents. 

AL13 - 3, 5, 6, 15 
 
AL14 - 9, 31, 32 
 
AL15 - 3 

 
Sections 6.3 – 6.6 
Section 7.1 – 7.2 

New and existing communities alike 
will live a greener existence among 
a flourishing network of green 
streets and spaces which will 
accommodate biodiversity and 
people harmoniously. 

d. Development that provides for 
a balanced and inclusive 
community and delivers a range of 
sizes, types and tenures, including 
affordable housing, in accordance 
with other policies in the Plan. 

AL13 - 1, 13, 14,  
 
AL14 -  
 
AL15 -  

 
Section 6.5 346



 

106 

The choice to live in South West 
Maidenhead will be a choice to live 
more sustainably and with this will 
come the opportunity to live better, 
more sociable, more connected, 
and healthier lives. 

e. Provision of measures to 
minimise the need to travel and 
maximise non-car transport 
modes, including provision of a 
multi-functioning green link to 
create a continuous north-south 
corridor through the whole 
SWMSA. 

AL13 – 1, 3, 15, 16, 17 
 
AL14 – 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 28 
 
AL15 – 1, 2, 4, 5 

 
Sections 6.3 and 6.5 

f. Enhancement of existing and 
provision of new vehicular and 
non-vehicular connections to and 
across the SWMSA. 

AL13 - 3, 15, 16, 17 
 
AL14 - 5, 8, 11 
 
AL15 - 1, 2, 4, 5 

 
Sections 6.3 and 6.5 

347



 

107 

Retaining the existing trees and 
landscape buffers along the 
strategic road corridors at the 
southern end of the SWMPA will 
maintain the sense of leafy 
enclosure and new residents will 
benefit from improved access to 
and integration with the significant 
green spaces of Ockwells Park and 
Braywick Park as well as new and 
improved blue infrastructure.    
 
New and existing communities alike 
will live a greener existence among 
a flourishing network of green 
streets and spaces which will 
accommodate biodiversity and 
people harmoniously. 

g. A strategic green infrastructure 
framework and network of green 
spaces to meet strategic and local 
requirements, including retention 
of existing green spaces and edges 
where possible and provision of 
new public open space in 
accordance with the Council’s 
standards. 

AL13 - 2, 4, 7, 9, 15 
 
AL14 - 12, 13, 14, 15, 26 
 
AL15 - 6, 8, 9, 10 

 
Sections 6.3 and 6.7 

h. Delivery of a net gain in 
biodiversity across the area that 
reflects its existing nature 
conservation interest. 

AL13 - 2, 4, 7, 8 
 
AL14 - 13, 25 
 
AL15 - 7, 8 

Section 6.7 

348



 

108 

In 2019 the Council committed the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead to become carbon 
neutral by 2050. This challenging 
commitment will require a 
proactive approach by many 
parties, including the residents of 
Maidenhead.  As new communities 
become established, more 
sustainable patterns of living will 
become enshrined to enable new 
residents to instinctively choose to 
reduce their environmental impact.  
The choice to live in South West 
Maidenhead will be a choice to live 
more sustainably and with this will 
come the opportunity to live better, 
more sociable, more connected, 
and healthier lives. 

i. Measures to reduce climate 
change and environmental 
impacts including suitable 
approaches to sustainable energy, 
recycling and construction. 

AL13 - 5, 10, 19, 20  
 
AL14 - 18, 22, 23, 24 
 
AL15 - 11 

Sections 6.3, 6.6 and 
6.7 

349



 

109 

Appendix 2 - Infrastructure Delivery Schedule 
 
This table sets out the main strategic/off-site elements of the infrastructure requirements and estimates of costs. As explained in section 7.1 of 
this SPD, these are draft estimates and will be kept under review and are based on a range of different approaches to estimating costs. The 
costs include land costs. All build costs have been indexed to December 2022 using the CIL index which at October 2022 was 6.9% per year 
(0.58% per month). Funding sources are based on the split between CIL and section 106 set out under the “alternative complex approach” to 
infrastructure funding set out in section 7. All figures have been rounded to the nearest £0.1m.  
 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

Junction improvements       

M4 Junction 8/9  £9.3m CIL 
S106 
(Triangle 
site) 
Government 
funding 

 n/a  £6.5m National 
Highways 

Cost based on concept design of 
£8.9m @ May 2022. 7 months 
indexing at 0.58% per month. 
Inclusion in schedule subject to 
further information from National 
Highways. Local contribution to the 
scheme assumed to be a maximum 
of 30% of scheme cost 

Braywick Road 
roundabout 

 £9.3m CIL 0% £0 RBWM Based on costed concept scheme 
design @ May 2022, indexed for 7 
months  

350



 

110 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

S106 
(Triangle 
site) 

Norreys Drive/ 
Shoppenhangers Rd 

 £4.2m S106 0% £0 RBWM Based on costed concept scheme 
design @ Apr 2022, indexed for 8 
months. 

Thicket Roundabout 
(A404M/A4) 

 £3.1m CIL 
 

0% £0 RBWM (in 
consultation 
with 
National 
Highways) 

Based on costed concept scheme 
design @April 2022, indexed for 8 
months 

Holyport Road £0.5m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM Based on costed concept scheme 
design @ Apr22, indexed for 8 
months 
 

Braywick Road/Harvest 
Hill Road junction 

£3.0m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM Preliminary estimate of £3.0m 
@May 2022, reduced by £140k to 
avoid double counting for Braywick 

351



 

111 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

Road crossings included in Triangle 
site walking/cycling measures. 
Indexed for 7 months 

Sub Total   £29.4m    £6.5m   

Sustainable Travel – 
Walking/Cycling 

      

Harvest Hill Road 
walking/cycling route 

 £5.2m   
S106 

0% £0 RBWM  Based on costed concept scheme 
design @ May 2022. Indexed for 7 
months 

New crossing of Braywick 
Road to Leisure Centre 

£0.3m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM Preliminary estimate @ May 2022. 
Indexed for 7 months 

Improved connections to 
Ockwells Park 

£0.8m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM Preliminary estimate based on 
bridge refurbishment comparables 
and improvements to the 
approaches @ May 2022. Indexed 
for 7 months 

352



 

112 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

Sustainable walk/cycle 
connections to Triangle 
site 

 £5.3m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM  Cost based on preliminary scheme 
design and benchmark costs @ May 
2022. Indexed for 7 months 

Sub Total  £11.6m   £0m   

Sustainable Travel – 
Public Transport 

      

Public transport 
measures 

 £1.8m  
S106 

0% £0 RBWM/Bus 
operators 

Based on cost estimates for the 
measures identified in this report @ 
May 2022. Indexed for 7 months 

Sub Total  £1.8m   £0m   

Schools       

Secondary school  £42.3m 
 

CIL 
 
Government 
funding 

 43% £16.4m RBWM Based on the DfE Scorecard figure 
including regional adjustment and 
indexing from Mar 2022- see 
Appendix 4. Land cost included at 
£633,174/ha. Land area assumed to 
be 60% of 9.2ha = 5.52ha. Assume 
43% of pupil generation from 

353



 

113 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

outside SW Maidenhead and hence 
funded from elsewhere 

Primary School  £27.9m S106 0% £0 RBWM Based on the National School 
Delivery Cost Benchmark figure 
including regional adjustment and 
indexing from Mar 2022- see 
Appendix 4. Land cost included at 
£633,174/ha. Land area assumed to 
be 40% of 9.2ha =3.68ha. All pupil 
generation due to SW Maidenhead 
development so should be fully 
developer funded 

Sub Total   £70.2m    £18.2m   

Community facilities       

Community 
building/facility 

 
£3.1m 

 
S106 

0 £0 RBWM/Dev
elopers 

Based on 900 sq m building costed 
May 2022, indexed for 7 months. 

354



 

114 

Infrastructure 
requirement 

Estimated 
cost 

Funding 
Sources 

Indicative 
proportion 
from other 
funding 
sources 

Potential 
amount to be 
funded from 
other sources 

Delivery by 
whom 

Comments 

Land cost = 0.4ha @ £633,174 per 
hectare = £0.25 

Health facility  £3.9m  
S106 
Government
/ NHS 

60%  £2.3m NHS/RBWM
/ Developers 

Based on 1,000 sq m building costed 
May 2022, indexed for 7 months. 
Land cost = 0.4ha @ £633,174 per 
hectare = £0.25m. Assume 60% of 
patients from outside of SW 
Maidenhead and hence funded 
from elsewhere 

Off site playing pitch 
provision/enhancement 

To be 
confirmed 

S106 0 £0 RBWM Awaiting conclusions from playing 
pitch strategy 

Sub Total  £7.1m    £2.3m   

Overall Total  
£120.1m 

   £27.0m   

 

355



 

Appendix 3 – Affordable Housing and Housing Mix 
 
Affordable Housing 
Policy HO3 part (4) of the Borough Local Plan relating to the affordable housing mix states: 
 
“The required affordable housing mix and tenure mix shall be provided in accordance with 
the Berkshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 2017, or subsequent affordable needs 
evidence. This currently suggests a split of 45% social rent, 35% affordable rent and 20% 
intermediate tenure overall.” 
 
Table 12 of the Borough Local Plan (page 72) sets out the housing size mix by tenure that is 
set out in the 2016 Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) for the Eastern Berks and 
South Bucks HMA – as follows: 
 
Table A3.1 SHMA Housing Mix 
 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed 
Market 5-10% 25-30% 40-45% 20-25% 
Affordable 35-40% 25-30% 25-30% 5-10% 
All Dwellings 15% 30% 35% 20% 

 
There is more recent evidence on affordable housing needs since the SHMA and the 
adoption of the Local Plan, particularly in relation to the nature of relets of affordable 
properties which indicates that alternative mix of affordable dwellings should be provided in 
order to best meet affordable housing needs. Table A3.2 below sets out the relet data for 
the Royal Borough over the period October 2020 to September 2022. 
 
Table A3.2 – Relets of Existing Affordable Housing October 2020 – September 2022 

 
 
The table shows that over this two-year period, 58% of relets were 1 bed flats which is much 
higher than the SHMA projection of 35-40%. Only 12% of relets were 3&4 bed houses. As 
such, the supply of affordable homes coming forward as relets is exceeding the need 
identified in the SHMA when considered on a proportionate basis.  A lower proportion of 1 
bed flats is therefore sought in new build developments and a distinction has been made for 
2 bed houses which are not highlighted in the SHMA. The proportions for 3 bed houses 
(30%) and 4 bed houses (10%) are consistent with the SHMA projections and should be a 
Social Rent or Affordable Rent tenure so that they are affordable to local households in 
housing need. 

 1 bed 
flat 

2 bed 
flat 

2 bed 
house 

3 bed 
house 

4 bed 
house 

 

Relets 299 128 25 56 3 511 

% 58% 25% 5% 11% 1% 100% 

356



 

116 

 
Furthermore, analysis of the priority needs of those on the Council’s Housing Register has 
been undertaken. Table A3.3 below sets out the dwelling type needs for the higher priority 
needs on the Register. 
 
Table A3.3 Housing Register – Homeless Housing Needs (October 2022) 
 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed 
Bands A and 
B 

34 65 27 15 3 

Total 144 
(100%) 

23% 45% 19% 11% 2% 

 
Homeless housing needs in the above table are those households who have made a 
homeless application on the Housing Register in priority Bands A and B. Nearly half require 
permanent 2 bed accommodation but there is also priority demand for 3 bed, 4 bed and 5 
bed accommodation. 
 
Houses are a preference for families as they have access to a self-contained garden – this 
includes 2 bed properties as houses rather than 2 bed flats or 2 bed maisonettes. 
In addition, the size of bedrooms and number of bedspaces is important to maximise the 
number of double rooms and family occupancy rather than relying on single rooms. This 
means that: 

2 bed properties should be 2x double rooms (4 person) 
3 bed properties should be 3x double rooms (6 person) 
4 bed properties should be 4x double rooms (8 person) 

 
Additional factors which have influenced the proposed dwelling mix of affordable housing, 
are clarified below: 

(i) There are families in temporary accommodation who need permanent housing in 
the form of 3/4/5 bed houses. The average length of stay in temporary 
accommodation for a family is far longer than a 1 or 2 bed household due to the 
scarcity of suitable housing (only 12% of relets in the table above are 3&4 bed 
houses).  

(ii) There is scarce availability of 3/4/5 bed houses in the private rented sector at or 
below the Local Housing Allowance rent level. 

(iii) There is a significant cost to the council to place households in temporary 
accommodation. 

(iv) New build 3/4/5 bed houses enables a “chain of lettings” whereby smaller affordable 
dwellings can be released for smaller households in housing need without relying on 
new build. 

(v) The SHMA affordable housing projections do not breakdown “2 bed” into 2 bed flats 
and 2 bed houses, so an assessment has been made based on local evidence of 
housing need. 

(vi) 2 bed houses are preferable to 2 bed flats for families as they normally have more 
usable floorspace and a private garden. Even if the number of children does not 

357



 

117 

increase, children growing older are socially and practically more easily 
accommodated in a house rather than a flat.  
 

As a result, as set out in Table 1 para 6.5.6 of the SPD, the following dwelling mix for 
affordable housing is sought. This continues to seek the same overall tenure mix set out in 
the Borough Local Plan Policy HO3(4) but seeks a lower proportion of 1 bed flats and a 
higher proportion of 2 bed houses compared to the SHMA mix, for reasons set out above. 
 

 
1 bed flat 2 bed flat 

2 bed 
house 

3 bed 
house 

4 bed 
house 

 

 
Rent 
 Social Rent 45% 
 Affordable Rent 35% 

 
10% 

 

 
10% 

 

 
20% 

 

 
30% 

 

 
10% 

 

 
80% 

(45%) 
(35%) 

Shared ownership 5% 10% 5% - - 20% 

 15% 20% 25% 30% 10% 100% 

 
 
General Housing Mix 
 
Policy HO2 of the Borough Local Plan states: 

1. “The provision of new homes should contribute to meeting the needs of current and 
projected households by having regard to the following principles: 

 
(a) provide an appropriate mix of dwelling types and sizes, reflecting the most up to date 

evidence as set out in the Berkshire SHMA 2016, or successor documents. Where 
evidence of local circumstances/market conditions demonstrates an alternative 
housing mix would be more appropriate, this will be taken into account 

(b) ……..” 
 
The SHMA housing mix is set out in Table A3.1 above and reproduced in Table 12 of the 
Borough Local Plan.   
 
As part of the evidence submitted to the Borough Local Plan examination, analysis was 
undertaken of the likely dwelling mix of the Local Plan allocations against the SHMA overall 
housing mix15. This is summarised in Table 3.4 below: 
 
 
 

 
15 See Document RBWM-078 Note re Housing Mix – available on the following webpage: 
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/planning-and-building-control/planning-policy/emerging-plans-and-
policies/draft-borough-local-plan/examination-local-plan/councils-documents  
 

358



 

118 

Table A3.4 SHMA Dwelling Mix Compared with RBWM Housing Allocation Estimates re 
Dwelling Mix 
 

 1 Bedroom 2 Bedroom 3 Bedroom 4+ Bedroom 

A SHMA Target 
Percentage 

15% 30% 35% 20% 

B SHMA Target from 
Allocations 

1,141 2,283 2,663 1,522 

C RBWM Estimate from 
Allocations 

1,743 2,961 1,908 997 

D RBWM Estimate 
Percentage 

22.91% 38.91% 25.08% 13.10% 

E Over/Under SHMA 
Target 

+602 +678 -755 -525 

 
It indicates that the allocations in the Borough Local Plan were likely to deliver a higher 
proportion of 1 and 2 bed homes than the SHMA analysis suggests is needed, and a lower 
proportion of 3 and 4 bed homes. 
 
Furthermore, it should be noted that the nature of the housing supply in Maidenhead in 
particular is for a high proportion of flats, due to the concentration of a significant number 
of allocations in the town centre growth location. A review of the housing allocations 
identified in Policy HO1 of the Borough Local Plan shows a total of 2,670 homes to be 
provided on town centre sites (which are likely to be almost exclusively for flats) out of a 
total 5,929 in total in Maidenhead. As such it is important that the opportunity should be 
taken to deliver a good proportion of houses on what is by far the largest greenfield site in 
Maidenhead, whilst taking advantage of its sustainable location to deliver higher density 
development where appropriate on the site. 
 
Having regard to this evidence and local circumstances, as the single largest greenfield 
allocation in the Borough Local Plan, an appropriate housing mix on the AL13 site is one 
which takes every opportunity to deliver 3 and 4 bed homes, whilst recognising that the 
northern end of the site in particular and the area around the local centre provides an 
opportunity to deliver higher density development given their particularly sustainable 
location. 
 
  

359



 

119 

Appendix 4 - Education Provision 
 
The Borough Local Plan proforma for the AL13 housing allocation in South West 
Maidenhead indicates that development of the site is required to provide a seven forms of 
entry secondary school and a four forms of entry primary school, as well as necessary 
nursery and early years provision. The schools should be co-located on a shared site 
totalling a minimum of 9.2 ha within or in close proximity to the local centre. These facilities 
should be capable of dual use as community facilities. 
 
This appendix provides further information on the need for the school provision and the 
cost of that provision. 
 
Need for new school places 
 
As part of preparing the SPD, projections have been undertaken of the likely pupil yield for 
both primary and secondary school aged children, based on the planned housing growth in 
the area. 
 
Plans for new school provision on AL13 South West Maidenhead are for: 
 Up to four forms of entry (FE) of primary school provision.  This is 120 places in each 

year group, and 840 places overall.  The primary school will also have space for a 78 
place nursery/early years provision. 

 Seven FE of secondary school provision.  This is 210 places in each year group, plus a 
sixth form of 258.  This makes a total of 1,308 places overall. 

New primary school 
 
Pupil yields work indicates that the proposed new housing on the AL13 site would yield a 
maximum of around 121 pupils (4 forms of entry) at Reception and attending a borough 
school.  This requires a four form entry school to accommodate those pupils.   
Due to the development of the AL13 site over a long period, and the slow build up of pupil 
yields over time, the need for the number of forms of entry grows alongside the housing 
growth.  Based on current trajectories, school provision would need to be in place to 
accommodate the following: 
 
 1 form of entry – in place by 2028 
 3 forms of entry – in place by 2031 
 4 forms of entry – in place by 2033 

 
These timings will need to be kept under review in the light of progress with housing 
delivery (including any changing dwelling mix) and updated pupil projections. 
As such it is likely that the school would be built in phases, with the site, core facilities and 
classrooms for one or two forms of entry built first.  Additional accommodation would then 
be added to house the third and fourth forms of entry as the demand comes forward. 
The scale of the development on the AL13 site means that the demand for primary school 
places can be considered independently of capacity in the surrounding areas, as most 
parents want to attend their local primary school.  Although birth rates have been falling, 

360



 

120 

the demographic situation remains fluid due to changing patterns of internal and 
international migration.  There are also significant numbers of new dwellings planned 
elsewhere in Maidenhead.  It is not anticipated that the proposed AL13 primary school will 
be used to address demand from elsewhere in the Maidenhead area.  Overall, the maximum 
yield at Reception from all the proposed completions in the period from 2022/23 to 
2032/33 in the Maidenhead area is expected to be 7.3 forms of entry. 
 
New secondary school 
 
The proposed new housing on the AL13 site is not expected to generate sufficient demand 
for a secondary school by itself.  Assuming a similar level of demand to primary, slightly over 
half of the 210 places per year group would be filled by pupils living in the new 
development.   
 
The proposed new school is, however, intended to help meet the anticipated additional 
demand arising from new housing across the Maidenhead area, as set out in the borough’s 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan.  Secondary age pupils tend to travel further to their schools, 
and it is not unreasonable to assume that the new school would serve pupils from outside 
the AL13 boundary. 
 
It is also very likely that the secondary school would not be needed until later in the Local 
Plan period, as pupil yield data suggests a significant delay before maximum secondary 
yields are achieved. 
  
Costs of Schools 
 
Table 1 sets out estimated costs of providing the two schools, based on (i) the National 
School Delivery Cost Benchmarking, with regional adjustment and indexed to December 
2022.  The DfE also provides estimated costs of new school provision in its annual 
Scorecards.  Table 2 sets out the estimated costs per place. These figures do not include any 
allowance for the cost of land. 
 
The regional adjustment, which is applied to the National School Delivery Cost 
Benchmarking, is 1.08 for the South East.  This adjustment is already included in the DfE 
Scorecard figures. 
 
The initial costs from both the benchmarking and scorecards have been indexed to March 
2022.  Tables 1 and 2 further index those costs to December 2022, based on the CIL index 
rate, which is the same as the BCIS All Tender Index.  The annual index increase of 6.9% has 
been pro-rated to 5.18% for the nine months from March to December 2022. 
 
The National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking figures are preferred in general.  The DfE 
Scorecard figures are currently based on projects reported in 2015/16 and 2017/18, 
adjusted for inflation.  However, the benchmarking data does not yet include secondary 
schools, as too few have been built nationally for inclusion in that dataset. 
 

361



 

121 

Table 3 provides the estimated cost of the secondary school provision, adjusted to the level 
of demand for secondary school places arising from the AL13 development.  This is 754 
places; 605 places in the main school and 149 in the sixth form.  This is based on 121 places 
in year groups 7 to 11; equivalent to the primary yield at Reception (121 x 5 = 605).  Sixth 
form numbers are calculated at 149, using the same staying on rates as used for the 1,308 
places secondary school.  605 + 149 = 754. 
 
Table 1: estimated total costs for new school provision 
 

Cost of new school 

National School Delivery 
Cost Benchmarking 

(2022) 16 

DfE Scorecards  
 

(2022)17 
New primary school  
(840 + 78 nursery = 918 places)*: £22.5m £19.8m 

with regional adjustment: £24.3m £21.4m 

cost indexed to Dec. 2022 £25.6m £22.5m 

New secondary school 
(1,308 places): n/a £34.1m 

with regional adjustment: n/a £36.9m 

cost indexed to Dec. 2022 n/a £38.8m 

Total (including regional 
adjustments and indexed to 
December 2022) 
(2,148 places): 

n/a £61.3m 

 
Table 2: estimated costs per place for new school provision 
 

Cost per new school place 

National School Delivery 
Cost Benchmarking* 

(2022) 

DfE Scorecards  
 

(2022) 

New primary school place: £24,524 £21,559 

with regional adjustment: £26,486 £23,283 

cost indexed to Dec. 2022 £27,858 £24,489 

New secondary school place: n/a £26,105  

with regional adjustment: n/a £28,194 

 
16 Pages 11, 13 and 20, National School Delivery Cost Benchmarking, Hampshire County Council, May 2022. 
17 DfE Scorecards - LA School Places Scorecards (shinyapps.io), DfE, 2022 

362



 

122 

cost indexed to Dec. 2022 n/a £29,654 

 
Table 3: estimated costs per place for new secondary school provision (South West 
Maidenhead proportion of costs) 
 

Cost of new school (AL13 share) 

National School Delivery 
Cost Benchmarking* 

(2022) 

DfE Scorecards  
 

(2022) 
New secondary school 
(754 places): n/a £19.7m  

with regional adjustment: n/a £21.4m 

cost indexed to Dec. 2022 n/a £22.5m 

 
 
 
 
  

363



 

Appendix 5 - Borough Local Plan Policy QP1b and Site Proformas for Sites 
AL13, AL14 and AL15  
 

 

364



 

124  365



 

125 
 

366



 

126 

 

367



 

127 

 
 
 
 

 

368



 

128 

 
 
 
 

 

369



 

129 

 
 
 

 
 

370



 

130 

 
 

 

371



 

131 

 
 

372



 

132 

 
 

 

373



This page is intentionally left blank



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

South West Maidenhead  
Supplementary Planning Document   

Consultation Statement 
 

December 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

375



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

2 
 

 
Contents 

 

 
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................3 

2 SPD preparation and early stakeholder and community engagement ...........................................4 

3 Summary of the main issues raised by stakeholders during the preparation of the draft SPD, and 
how those issues were addressed in the draft SPD ........................................................................6 

4 Consultation on the draft SPD – Summer 2022 ..............................................................................9 

5.  Main Issues Raised in Consultation on the Draft SPD and Main Changes to the SPD ...................11 

Appendix 1 - South West Maidenhead SPD Early Public Engagement Report .....................................14 

1. Purpose of Engagement ................................................................................................................15 

2. What Engagement was undertaken and when? ...........................................................................15 

3. How were people made aware of the engagement? ...................................................................15 

4. Response to the engagement .......................................................................................................16 

5. Summary of the Issues Raised (meeting and online form) ...........................................................16 

Green Belt .........................................................................................................................................17 

Housing .............................................................................................................................................17 

Community .......................................................................................................................................18 

Transport ..........................................................................................................................................19 

Utilities ..............................................................................................................................................21 

Biodiversity .......................................................................................................................................21 

Climate Change/Sustainable Development ......................................................................................22 

Trees .................................................................................................................................................24 

Green Infrastructure .........................................................................................................................24 

Other Environmental Issues .............................................................................................................25 

Other ................................................................................................................................................25 

Appendix 2 - Summary of Representations on the Draft South West Maidenhead Development 
Framework SPD and the Council’s response .................................................................................28 

  

  

376



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

3 
 

1. Introduction  
 

1.1 This statement sets out the work involved in preparing the South West 
Maidenhead Development Framework SPD including the early engagement to 
inform the preparation of the draft SPD and consultation on the draft SPD and 
the Council’s response to those issues.  

1.2 In line with Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) 2012 regulations and with the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead Revised Statement of Community Involvement (June 2020), this 
statement provides details of:  
 
(i) who the local planning authority consulted when preparing the 

supplementary planning document 

(ii) a summary of the main issues raised by those persons  

(iii) how those issues have been addressed in preparing the draft and final 
versions of supplementary planning document (SPD) 

1.3 The remainder of this statement sets out in the following sections: 
 

• Section 2 – explains the engagement undertaken to help inform the 
preparation of the draft SPD 

• Section 3 – summarises the main issues raised in that early 
engagement and how those issues were addressed in the draft SPD. 
This is accompanied by Appendix 1 that provides a more detailed 
summary of the issues raised 

• Section 4 – sets out the engagement undertaken on the draft SPD 
• Section 5 – summarises the main issues raised in the consultation on 

the draft SPD and the outlines the main changes made to the final SPD 
as a result. This is accompanied by a lengthy Appendix 2 that 
summarises all the main issues in the comments received on the draft 
SPD and sets out the Council’s response to those issues. 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

377



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

4 
 

2 SPD preparation and early stakeholder and community 
engagement 
 

2.1  As part of preparing the draft SPD, early stakeholder and public engagement 
took place, including: 

• three online public engagement events together with the opportunity 
for people to submit written comments afterwards 

• ongoing engagement with developers/promoters with an interest in 
sites allocated for development within the area 

• a briefing for key agencies and infrastructure providers on the 
emerging SPD and an opportunity to highlight key issues 

 

2.2 In relation to the online public engagement, there was extensive publicity 
about the events in advance including writing to nearly 1,000 homes in the 
vicinity of the main development sites, consulting an extensive list of people 
on the planning policy consultee database, holding a press briefing (with 
subsequent articles and publicity about the events on the local media), and 
regular use of social media to publicise the events. 

2.3  The events held on 30th March, 6th April and 13th April 2022 were online 
briefings sharing the background to the SPD and some emerging issues and 
early thinking on three topics:  
• Community Needs 
• Connectivity 
• Sustainability and Environment 
 

2.4  There was the opportunity for people to ask questions in the chat bar. A 
number of these were answered by officers on the night and some were 
answered in written form and published on the Council’s website afterwards. 
All the comments and questions from the chat bar were captured and 
reviewed by officers and 27 written responses were submitted via an online 
form on the RBWM Together website. 

2.5  Although the numbers of people attending the online events was limited 
(ranging from 21–45), a wide range of questions and comments were made 
during the live events highlighting a wide range of issues. In addition, there 
were over 300 views of the three events via the RBWM YouTube channel (as 
at 9/5/22). Further details of the engagement undertaken, and the response 
received is set out in Appendix 1. 

2.6 Early engagement has also taken place through a series of meetings with 
landowner/developer interests, ensuring that they can take account of 
emerging thinking on the draft SPD as they start to consider preparing 
planning applications. This was an opportunity to test emerging thinking on a 
range of issues, such a certain design principles and aspects of infrastructure 
provision. 

 

378



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

5 
 

2.7 The briefing with key agencies and infrastructure providers was held on 17th 
May 2022 and was attended by four organisations (Sport England, Historic 
England, National Highways and Environment Agency), helping them 
understand the impact of development on infrastructure and to consider 
appropriate mitigation/enhancements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

379



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

6 
 

3 Summary of the main issues raised by stakeholders during 
the preparation of the draft SPD, and how those issues were 
addressed in the draft SPD 

 

3.1 Appendix 1 summarises the main issues raised during the early engagement 
exercises. Some of the most prevalent views/strongest areas of concern 
raised at the online events and from the online feedback forms include: 

• Concern about loss of Green Belt in Maidenhead 
• Concern about the impact on wildlife  
• Questions about the ability to deliver biodiversity net gain  
• Concern about the potential scale of loss of trees 
• The development conflicts with the Council’s Climate & Environment 

Strategy 
• A desire to see net zero carbon development 
• Concerns about the potential height of the apartment blocks on the site 

and impact on nearby properties/general concern about density, 
ensuring flatted development is “done well” and the need for more 
green space where there are lots of flats 

• Concern to ensure housing affordability and a good housing mix 
• Lack of infrastructure to support the development 
• Increased traffic volumes and related comments about the impact on 

various road junctions 
• Improvements to public transport service needed and various 

comments about improving walking and cycling infrastructure 
• Concern about the road access points and parking 
• Concerns about the control of air pollution and odours during 

construction and more generally 
• Concerns from residents that this consultation is purely a box-ticking 

exercise.  
• Concern that the SPD predetermines the planning application as 

approved 
 

3.2 Some of the concerns raised relate to the principle of development which has 
been established through the preparation of the Borough Local Plan. For 
instance, the fact that the development of sites AL13 and AL14 involve the 
loss of Green Belt land was a decision made through the Local Plan process 
and endorsed by the independent planning inspector who examined the Local 
Plan. Similarly, decisions about the need for the development in relation to 
housing need, was a decision made at the Local Plan stage. As such these 
matters cannot be addressed through the SPD.  

3.3 However, there are a wide of issues raised that are addressed in the draft 
SPD. Often these matters are also addressed at a higher level in the site 
proformas for the individual sites in the Local Plan with the SPD providing 
further detail and guidance on how they could happen. The way in which the 

380



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

7 
 

key issues highlighted in the early engagement are addressed in the SPD is 
summarised below: 

Wildlife and Biodiversity Net Gain – the SPD sets out a hierarchical 
approach to securing biodiversity net gain, emphasising the importance of 
maximising biodiversity retention and mitigation on site. The design principles 
also emphasise the importance of integrating wildlife connectivity into the 
design of the development. Detailed ecological assessments will follow at the 
planning application stage. 

Trees – the SPD reiterates the requirements of the Local Plan in relation to 
trees, seeking to maximise retention of trees within the context of the scale of 
development proposed and strongly encouraging new tree planting. The 
importance of detailed assessment at the planning application stage is 
emphasised. 

Climate Change and Net Zero Carbon – the SPD sets out a strong 
expectation that development in the area is net zero carbon (operational) and 
encourages developers to consider the ‘whole life carbon’ impact of their 
development. It highlights the relevant supporting policies and strategies. 

Height and Density – the design principles in the SPD address the issue of 
density and the importance of higher density development needing to be 
accompanied by access to high quality open space. The design principles 
highlight the relationship between high density development and the 
north/south green spine through the site, particularly in the northern 
neighbourhood. 

Affordable Housing and Housing Mix – the SPD re-emphasises the 
affordable housing policy requirements in the Local Plan and provides further 
guidance in relation to the mix of affordable housing in terms of dwelling size 
to ensure that the priority needs for affordable housing are best met. The SPD 
also provides guidance on achieving a good housing mix overall and 
recognises that to achieve good levels of family housing, different housing 
typologies may need to be considered – the design section illustrates how this 
could be achieved. 

Infrastructure – various parts of the SPD set out infrastructure requirements 
for development of the area including community infrastructure and transport 
infrastructure. An infrastructure schedule is included in an appendix to the 
SPD and a section of the SPD is set aside to explain how the infrastructure 
should be delivered and funded. 

Traffic – further assessment has been undertaken of the traffic impact of 
development in the area and a range of resulting off-site highway junction 
improvements are set out in the SPD. These requirements are included in the 
infrastructure schedule. 

Walking, Cycling and Public Transport – the SPD sets out a number of 
requirements to ensure that the development is well connected for walking 

381



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

8 
 

and cycling, and also for public transport. This is both within the development 
sites and connections to the wider network walking/cycling and bus networks. 
The design principles in the SPD provide more detail about how this can be 
achieved, particularly on key corridors with the development sites. 

Road access points – the SPD illustrative framework plan illustrates broadly 
where these are likely to be and there has been more detailed consideration 
of the Harvest Hill Road corridor as a key point of access into the AL13 
housing development, which is illustrated in more detail in the design 
principles of the SPD. 

Air Pollution – the SPD highlights the issues around pollution and 
environmental protection and draws attention to key local plan policies that 
will be to be adhered to at the planning application stage to mitigate impacts 
relating to construction. More broadly, the focus on achieving modal shift to 
more sustainable modes of transport and the provision for electric vehicle 
charging facilities will help to mitigate pollution from the development once it is 
in place. 

3.4 In relation to questions and queries about the process, this early engagement 
has helped to crystallise the issues that we need to address in the SPD, 
reinforcing and adding detail to the issues raised during the earlier 
placemaking work and Local Plan engagement. As set out above, the SPD is 
seeking to address a wide range of issues, providing further guidance on how 
development should come forward within the context of the policies in the 
Local Plan, including the proformas for the sites.  

3.5 The SPD does not predetermine the planning application process, but it is 
quite deliberately seeking to provide a framework for planning applications to 
ensure a comprehensive and coordinated approach to development in the 
area and ensure delivery of infrastructure. There are a range of issues 
highlighted that are at a more detailed level and would more appropriately be 
addressed at the planning application stage when more detailed technical 
assessments have been undertaken to inform the preparation of a detailed 
scheme. 

  

382



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

9 
 

4 Consultation on the draft SPD – Summer 2022 
 

3.1 Consultation on the draft SPD took place between 6 July 2022 and 17 August 
2022. This was two weeks longer than required by the Regulations to reflect 
the fact that the consultation was partly held over the summer holiday period. 
The approach taken to consultation was consistent with the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement. 

3.2 The following steps were taken to publicise the consultation and associated 
events: 

• Letters were sent to nearly 1,000 households in the vicinity of the main 
development sites 

• Everyone on the planning policy consultation database was notified, 
mainly by e mail, some by hard copy letter 

• Information was included in the Borough Residents’ Newsletter 

• Social media was used to message about the consultation 

• A public notice was placed in the Maidenhead Advertiser (7th July) 

• A press release was issued and there was press coverage of the 
consultation 

  

3.3 All consultation material was made available on the Council website and hard 
copies were placed in Maidenhead Library. 

3.4 A number of consultation events were held during the consultation period to 
help explain the draft SPD and encourage people to write in with their 
comments. These were: 

• Three drop in/exhibition events: 

o Maidenhead Library – 14th July 2.00pm – 6.30pm 

o Maidenhead Library – 20th July 12.30pm – 5.00pm 

o Braywick Leisure Centre – 26th July 2.00pm – 7.00pm  

• An online briefing event – 27th July 7.00pm – 9.00pm 

3.5 Following the various events, the Council updated its FAQs relating to the 
SPD and published them on the Council website. Copies of the presentation 
and recording from the online event were also made available on the website 
together with the exhibition boards. 

3.6 During the consultation period people were able to send in their comments in 
a number of different ways: 

• Via the Council’s planning consultation portal 

383



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

10 
 

• By filling in a form available on-line and returning it by e mailing or post, 
or by e mailing comments 

• By filling in a hard copy form available at Maidenhead library 

  

384



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

11 
 

5.  Main Issues Raised in Consultation on the Draft SPD and 
Main Changes to the SPD 

 

5.1 A total of 87 different organisations and individuals submitted written 
comments on the draft SPD. Many of these submissions were very extensive 
in nature, covering a wide range of issues in the draft SPD. Appendix 2 sets 
out a detailed summary of the key issues raised in these comments and 
includes a list of all the individuals and organisations who commented. It also 
sets out the Council’s response to those issues and, where appropriate, 
highlights (in bold) where changes have been made to the SPD in response to 
those comments. 

5.2 The issues raised were both of a general and detailed or technical nature. Key 
issues and concerns raised, primarily from the general public, included: 

• A general opposition to the development 
• Loss of greenspace and lack of greenspace in the proposed new 

development 
• Impact on biodiversity and concern that it will not be possible to mitigate 

the loss 
• Loss of trees to development and associated impacts on climate change 

and pollution 
• Concern around various traffic impacts of the development of the area, 

including Harvest Hill Road and the impact on various junctions 
• Concern over increased air pollution and ability to mitigate it 
• Concern about local impacts during the construction period 
• General concern that the scale of development would result in 

overdevelopment of the area 
• Concern around building heights and density, particularly at the northern 

end of the golf course site, and its impact on surrounding residential areas 

5.3 There was a desire from the general public comments to see more detail than 
the draft SPD set out to provide more certainty and clarity. Some also sought 
the use of stronger, firmer language in the way some issues are addressed in 
the SPD. Conversely, there were challenges, particularly (but not entirely) 
from the development industry, suggesting that the draft SPD was going “too 
far” and may be seeking to set policy in an SPD which was regarded as 
inappropriate. 

5.4 There were a wide range of detailed and technical comments on various 
aspects of the draft SPD, but focusing on three main elements: 

• Design principles 
• Other delivery principles and requirements 
• Infrastructure  

A particular focus of the development industry comments was on the 
infrastructure delivery and funding section of the SPD, highlighting concerns 

385



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

12 
 

about the need for certain elements of infrastructure, the costings in the SPD, 
and the funding mechanisms including whether they were compliant with the 
relevant regulations. 

5.5 Other areas of focus for more detailed comments included: 

• Water infrastructure 
• Pressure on playing pitch provision in the area 
• Housing mix 
• Carbon neutral development 
• The proposed green spine 
• Biodiversity net gain 

5.6 In response to the comments received a wide range of changes have been 
made to the SPD. These are outlined in more detail in bold text in the 
“response” column of Appendix 2. In summary some of the main changes 
made to the SPD following consultation are: 

• Wording reviewed to ensure consistency with the role of SPDs and to 
ensure appropriate policy references are clear 

• Greater clarity on the requirement for a central green space (as part of the 
Illustrative Framework Plan in the SPD) and its importance in the transition 
zone between the two neighbourhoods 

• Ensuring guidance refers to the importance of building heights “stepping 
down” towards the edge of the development and clearer cross referencing 
to the Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD  

• A number of other detailed updates and clarifications in the design 
section, including in relation to maximising opportunities of natural heating 
(solar gains) and ventilation through design 

• Greater clarity on housing mix guidance and provision of further 
information to support the approach (see new Appendix 3) 

• Further evidence to support the affordable housing size mix guidance in 
the SPD (see new Appendix 3) 

• Further information on the need for the schools, the timing of when they 
are needed and updated cost estimates (see new Appendix 4) 

• New sub-section on playing pitches within the section on open space, 
highlighting the likely need for contributions to off-site playing pitch 
provision 

• Greater clarity on biodiversity net gain and emphasising the importance of 
securing best biodiversity outcomes 

386



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

13 
 

• Further detail and clarification on the potential approaches to 
infrastructure delivery, the policy basis, and the respective roles of the 
community infrastructure levy and section 106 agreements  

• An update on expected infrastructure costs, including indexing of costs to 
the present day, and inclusion of land costs for land for community uses 
(mainly schools) 

5.7 Whilst it has not been possible to make changes to address all comments, not 
least because the SPD has to be consistent with the policies in the Local 
Plan, significant changes have been made in finalising the SPD. The SPD will 
be very important in shaping planning applications for the South West 
Maidenhead area, and there will be further consultation and engagement on 
those planning applications as they are prepared and submitted. 

 

  

387



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

14 
 

Appendix 1 - South West Maidenhead SPD Early Public 
Engagement Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 

South West Maidenhead SPD   
Early Public Engagement Report 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

388



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

15 
 

 
1. Purpose of Engagement 

 
The Council invited the community to help inform plans for a major development 
area, known as South West Maidenhead, which will bring forward new homes, 
community facilities, infrastructure, employment space and improved public access to 
green space. 
 

2. What Engagement was undertaken and when? 
 

As part of preparing the draft SPD early public engagement took place in the form of 
three themed online events together with the opportunity for people to submit written 
comments afterwards. Each event held a presentation and was recorded. The web 
links to the presentations and event recordings are shown below: 

 

Date Event Maximum Live 
Attendance 

You Tube views 

30th March 2022 Community Needs 
Presentation    
Event Recording 

45 162 

6th April 2022 Connectivity 
Presentation    
Event Recording 

21 101 

13 April 2022 Sustainability and the 
Environment 
Presentation    
Event Recording 
  

27 57 

 

A feedback form was made available on the RBWM Together website between 
Wednesday 30 March 2022 and Wednesday 27 April 2022. 

A hard copy feedback form was also made available in the Maidenhead library. 

3. How were people made aware of the engagement? 
 

There was extensive publicity about the events in advance including the Council 
writing to nearly 1,000 homes in the vicinity of the main development sites, consulting 
an extensive list of people on the planning policy consultee database, holding a press 
briefing (with subsequent articles and publicity about the events on the local media), 
and regular use of social media to publicise the events.  

389

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5993628
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KIe_Mo3hPsA
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5995686
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=YwuoVuqKn5s
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/6000315
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=cMnBlwmu5Rs
https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/preparing-plans-for-south-west-maidenhead-development-area


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

16 
 

 

4. Response to the engagement 
 

Although the numbers of people attending the Live Events was limited (ranging from 
21–45), a wide range of questions and comments were made during the live events. 
In addition, there were over 300 views of the three events via the RBWM You Tube 
channel (as at 12/5/22). 

There were 27 online responses made through the RBWM Together website mostly 
from local residents (89%). The remainder made from community groups (7%) and 
others (4%). 

 

5. Summary of the Issues Raised (meeting and online form) 
 

The following most prevalent views/strongest areas of concern were raised at the 
online events and from the online feedback forms: 

• Concern about loss of Green Belt in Maidenhead 
• Concern about the impact on wildlife  
• Questions about the ability to deliver biodiversity net gain  
• Concern about the potential scale of loss of trees 
• The development conflicts with the Council’s Climate & Environment Strategy 
• A desire to see net zero carbon development 
• Concerns about the potential height of the apartment blocks on the site and 

impact on nearby properties/general concern about density, ensuring flatted 
development is “done well” and the need for more green space where there are 
lots of flats 

• Concern to ensure housing affordability and a good housing mix 
• Lack of infrastructure to support the development 
• Increased traffic volumes and related comments about the impact on various 

road junctions 
• Improvements to public transport service needed and various comments about 

improving walking and cycling infrastructure 
• Concern about the road access points and parking 
• Concerns about the control of air pollution and odours during construction and 

more generally 
• Concerns from residents that this consultation is purely a box-ticking exercise.  
• Concern that the SPD predetermines the planning application as approved 

 

The following more detailed comments were made from the respondents and 
analysed by the main topics dealing with Green Belt, Housing, Community, 
Transport, Utilities, Biodiversity, Climate Change/Sustainable Development, Trees, 
Green Infrastructure, other Environmental Issues, and other issues.    

 

390

https://rbwmtogether.rbwm.gov.uk/preparing-plans-for-south-west-maidenhead-development-area


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

17 
 

Green Belt 
 

• Concerns over building on green belt when the BLP policy protects green areas. 
• The measurement of the Green Belt area in RBWM and whether the Crown Estate 

land is included. 
• Concern that Maidenhead is losing a large proportion of Green Belt. 
• Concern that brownfield sites have been overlooked in favour of releasing Green Belt 

land for development. 
• Suggestion that SPD help guide what might be considered Very Special 

Circumstances for inappropriate development on Braywick Park, which remains 
green belt land and proposals to build a football stadium on the land, which is not 
explicitly mentioned in the AL15 pro forma. 

• Concern for amount of green space left after the development of housing, a 
secondary school and community centre. 

• Concerns that the plan isn't protecting green areas - Maidenhead is losing close to 
half its green belt, including 132 acres at the golf course. 

• Concerned that BLP is going to take away 50% of Maidenhead's greenbelt creating 
impacts of pollution and biodiversity loss unless compensated outside of the 
development area.  

Housing 
 

• Minimum number social housing units required on the site. 
• Concerns for the maximum height of the apartment blocks and whose responsibility 

for managing the amenity land around the development. 
• Concern that developers will be able to submit applications with lower than the 

required 30% affordable homes or with a tenure mix that doesn’t meet the expected 
proportion of social or affordable rent homes, and if they are successful argue it 
would not be viable to provide these. 

• Concern for affordability when currently houses are around 15x average salary. 
Offering properties at 80% of market rate does not solve this issue. This MUST be 
addressed in any plan for the future of Maidenhead. 

• New homes in Maidenhead will allow local people to stay in the area, and this seems 
a sensible location given residents can walk to town. Shared ownership homes are a 
good idea so our children can afford to stay in the area and not have to move away 
from Maidenhead.  

• Concern for mix of houses and flats, and price of apartments. 
• People want cheaper terrace style houses rather than flats. 
• Example of housing development to provide affordable net-zero housing: 

https://passivehouseplus.co.uk/magazine/new-build/stirling-work-the-passive-social-
housing-scheme-that-won-british-architecture-s-top-award 

• Concern for location of flats along Shoppenhangers Road or the side of Crescent 
Dale creating more noise for the retirement home of Crescent Dale. 

• The mix of housing should be for a minimum size of two bed properties and more 
three/four bed properties should be included in the mix of housing to allow space for 
people working from home. 

• Concern about housing delivery if any on AL13 part of the 1,400 will be complete by 
March 2024 as shown BLP 7.2.13 table 9. 

391

https://passivehouseplus.co.uk/magazine/new-build/stirling-work-the-passive-social-housing-scheme-that-won-british-architecture-s-top-award
https://passivehouseplus.co.uk/magazine/new-build/stirling-work-the-passive-social-housing-scheme-that-won-british-architecture-s-top-award


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

18 
 

• Question about delivery of policy HO2 stating 5% housing to be fully serviced plots. 
How many and size of housing? 

• The sheer extent and dominant nature of multiple flat developments, both completed, 
under construction and currently proposed, the construction of more of the same 
upon Site AL 13 is as plainly excessive as it is inappropriate. 

• To then even consider extending such development south of the railway lines in the 
midst of established residential areas surrounding Site AL13 would be totally 
destructive and would appear to serve only higher density of development and thus 
greater profit to RBWM whilst dismissing the interests of those existing residents 
living in the immediate area of Site AL 13. 

• When referring to such as "high quality development" and aspiring to plan for quality 
of life and a place in which people would wish to live please carefully consider the 
nature and appearance of approved (by RBWM planning) developments (mainly 
more and more flat developments) within the town centre plus some beyond the town 
centre such that might give rise to cause for hope in what is finally to be proposed for 
Site AL 13. 

• The community needs a large amount of social housing as well as affordable and 
market housing, and this is demonstrated in RBWMs own figures which show 
affordable needs to be over 60% of new units. 

• As many of the new homes as possible as well as the communal facilities should be 
put into a Community Land Trust, for true affordability and for social and 
environmental sustainability, for future generations and permanent community 
benefit. Community ownership of land, homes, facilities, and open space will 
empower community on a long term basis and enable affordability to be passed 
down to future generations. 

• Suggestion that flats be built similar to those that were built c20 years ago on 
Shoppenhangers Road are at least a pleasant design and of a suitable scale. 
 

Community 
 

• The site is close to the town centre so has less need for shops and community 
centre. The space could accommodate more trees and green space. 

• Town centre shops are closing so why add them to the site? 
• Concerns for insufficient healthcare provision and not included in list of requirements. 
• Concern for insufficient police officers in Maidenhead. 
• A secondary school is being considered on the site as there is demand for one. 

There will be a separate consultation for this. 
• Residents asked whether Newlands School will move to the Golf course site. 
• Secondary school is not required on the site as there is sufficient provision elsewhere 

and will leave extra green space for locals. 
• Concern about sufficient space given to playing fields to support two schools on the 

golf club site in addition to 2000 homes. 
• The new flats in the town centre need more green space built adjacent to them. 
• With all the new houses and other facilities going up, there will no doubt be a rise in 

crime. Resident asked how this will be mitigated. 
• The SPD should require access to good quality, preferably outdoor, affordable 

facilities which should be a priority in the design. 
• Parks should be included on the site 

392



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

19 
 

• Question on provision allotments and community growing space as can be beneficial 
in many ways - providing homes for nature, helping people access more sustainable 
food and helping the country feed itself, outdoor activity and the benefits that 
provides, and community interaction. Article 
https://www.bhaf.org.uk/content/about/issues/the-financial-value-benefits-of-
allotments?fbclid=IwAR0sd1NJuNnIBMpzJs6C6uR_nXMXQVQUx6QENcAO2bkra_c
Tg5hb-XBT3fI 

• Separate areas for dog walkers, play and ornamental open space. Mini supermarket, 
drop off and collection for parcels. 

• 1.The Alconbury development is really worth looking at. 2. appropriate 
scale/library/leisure/chemist/GP/places of worship 3. Sport England's local leisure 
offer is excellent for leisure provision local centres 4. You need a robust up to date 
Playing pitch strategy and built facilities strategies - the ones you have are now out of 
date. 

• The community needs have been well considered. 
• Teenagers have 
• Not everyone is sporty - not everyone swims, not everyone does yoga, not everyone 

that wants to do stuff is over 60! What about the artists, the music lovers, where's the 
innovation or anything for teens to do in the town. Create youth bars, places where 
teens can actually go and get involved in the community, in a positive and cool, and 
relevant way, that is inclusive.  

• SW Development Area needs neighbourhood centre to help cater for everyday 
shopping and other needs of the development and adjacent areas located roughly at 
mid point of AL13 with pedestrian and vehicular access ( including scope for public 
transport) to /from Shoppenhangers Rd providing connections and better access to 
the wider area including Larchfield and Desborough Park leading to this part of 
Maidenhead becoming a more socially cohesive community with enhanced access to 
nearby greenspace. 

 
Transport 
 

• Concern about the road access points and safe access to Shoppenhangers Road, 
Rushington Avenue and Braywick Road from the Golf Course site and  

• Concern about connectivity between Braywick Road to support East/West of the Golf 
Course site. 

• Lack of infrastructure to support the development in south west Maidenhead. No 
regard given to the current traffic volumes upon the existing highways network. In 
particular Harvest Hill Road, Shoppenhangers Road and the Braywick Road. No 
consideration for increased traffic volumes following the development of the land. 
RBWM passing the responsibility for highway design and construction to the 
developers. 

• Concern for increased and commercial traffic for the AL14 site and the already busy 
Ascot Road. 

• Quantity of parking per household to be shown in plans. 
• Concern that as there is limited parking allocated to each home, cars will be parked 

all over the place with numbers of at least 2,600 cars if not 4000! 
• Concern about safe cycle and pedestrian access along Harvest Hill Road, Ockwells 

Park, the new Leisure centre etc. It's currently quite dangerous to walk along this 
road. 

393

https://www.bhaf.org.uk/content/about/issues/the-financial-value-benefits-of-allotments?fbclid=IwAR0sd1NJuNnIBMpzJs6C6uR_nXMXQVQUx6QENcAO2bkra_cTg5hb-XBT3fI
https://www.bhaf.org.uk/content/about/issues/the-financial-value-benefits-of-allotments?fbclid=IwAR0sd1NJuNnIBMpzJs6C6uR_nXMXQVQUx6QENcAO2bkra_cTg5hb-XBT3fI
https://www.bhaf.org.uk/content/about/issues/the-financial-value-benefits-of-allotments?fbclid=IwAR0sd1NJuNnIBMpzJs6C6uR_nXMXQVQUx6QENcAO2bkra_cTg5hb-XBT3fI


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

20 
 

• Residents asked whether there was a plan to pedestrianise the lower end of 
Shoppenhangers Road  and instead form a vehicular connection from 
Shoppenhangers, through the golf course entrance, and down Rushington Avenue. 

• Residents request that the promotion of active travel be fully embedded in the 
design. 

• Questions asked about the pedestrianised of the station end of Shoppenhangers 
Road, and route traffic across the current golf course entrance and into Rushington 
Avenue. 

• Concerns about the high volume of traffic through Holyport on the A330 which is a 
Conservation Area and the Jealotts Hill development, and protection from heavy 
goods commercial vehicles.  Also, Junction 8/9 of the M4 extra traffic even with the 
Smart Motorway and the coming of Bray Studios and the housing at Bray Lake, 
concerns for mitigation of congestion on the A308.  How can any of these 
developments go ahead without the results of the A308 road study being made public 
and when will it be published? 

• Concerns about car sharing scheme and whether residents will be private-car free. 
• Concerns about provision of adequate cycle storage, for standard and non-standard 

(eg. cargo bikes) which can enable households to be car free. 
• Concerns that bus use in RBWM is one of the lowest in the country.  How will 

connectivity by public transport be improved especially from the surrounding villages 
to get cars off the roads which will then alleviate traffic congestion and be more 
sustainable for the environment? 

• Suggestion for free bus travel so  people can hop on and off, helps to get them 
around easily, without waiting for hours and all the bureacracy that goes into actually 
getting a bus pass. 

• Suggestions for a right turn out of Shoppenhangers Road. 
• Right of Way - A full network of inter-connecting footpaths and cycleways must be 

included in the design. All routes must be accessible for people of determination. 
• Vehicle and Bus Routes - The design should not be designed around around cars but 

public transport and rights of way. This will encourage sustainable transport and 
minimise the impact of vehicles in the area. 

• More cycle lanes, more routes, bikes, opportunities for people to walk, without 
pollution or risk of being squashed by trucks and cars. 

• Suggestion for a roundabout or traffic lights between Harvest Hill Rd and Braywick 
Road avoiding a bottleneck around the entrance of Bray Wick Sports centre. 

• Harvest Hill Road is a narrow highway with no footpaths and street lighting. The road 
is subject to a 40mph speed limit the greater part of its length and 30mph from 
approximately the Kimbers Lane junction to that with Shoppenhangers Road 

• The proposed development of Site AL13 will involve access to and from Harvest Hill 
Road in terms of both from the north and south sides of same and will add to the 
volume of traffic utilising this already woefully inadequate highway. Walking and 
cycling routes would have to be sited adjacent to the far side of these trees and 
hedgerows to either side of the highway. 

• Ensuring adequate charging points for cars, bikes, scooters, segways etc. also better 
cycling provision both parking and storage. Better wifi infrastructure. 

• There should be another pedestrian crossing over the A308 into Braywick Park near 
the running track entrance to improve pedestrian/cycle access to this area. The A308 
is dangerous for pedestrians to try to cross. 

• Replace the concrete barrier down the middle of the A308 with wildflower 
verges/trees to absorb pollution generated by increased traffic. 

394



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

21 
 

• People cycling want continuous riding, and to minimise requirements to stop, 
dismount, or give way to vehicular traffic. Walkers want uninterrupted walking, and to 
minimise the requirement to cross roads or walk by busy roads. These are some of 
the things that make walking and cycling pleasant and attractive, and a genuine 
alternative to car travel. If they are not provided, people are likely to drive instead. 

• AL13 bullet 15 mentions the access and connectivity but is vague in terms of 
solution. Some criteria for crossings are given such as “safe pedestrian and cycle 
crossings”, but there is no mention of crossing efficiency, uninterrupted walking and 
cycling, or effect on traffic flow. 

• In Planning terms, the most sustainable forms of transport should have the greatest 
freedom of access and permeability. For example, the traffic light crossing such as 
that recently installed on the A308 opposite the new Leisure Centre. At peak times, 
when the crossing is busy with pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, there is a lot of 
waiting for all users. The solution does not score highly – it’s inefficient, interrupts 
walking and cycling, and adversely affects traffic flow. Major roads should be 
permeable by bridges or underpasses, rather than press-button-and-wait traffic light 
crossings which discourage cyclists and pedestrians and hold up traffic. 

• Suggest that cycle tracks are incorporated into the design of the roads for the new 
development. 

• Provision for multiple green corridors for people and wildlife, not just a 'green spine'. 
An extensive web of tree lined cycleways and footpaths will encourage people to 
walk and cycle around the site and connect to Braywick, the town centre and 
Ockwells. Trees and wildlife habitats are just as important for encouraging people to 
use these paths, as an all weather wide path allowing shared use. 

• RBWM has a particularly high number of vehicle journeys for school runs due to the 
high (highest?) proportion of children attending private schools and therefore 
travelling longer distances. Concern for the SW site and for the whole of RBWM. 

Utilities 
 

• Concern about the capacity of the existing sewage/wastewater infrastructure in south 
west Maidenhead. An extra 10,000 residents will necessitate a new sewage or water 
works.  
 

Biodiversity 
 

• Concern for loss of biodiversity particularly, slow worms, deer and other animals 
being made homeless.  

• The requirement for site assessment for any protected species such as slow worms. 
• Area that floods in the Triangle south of the A308 (AL14) was proposed to the 

Council through TVERC that it should be a Local Wildlife Site. Will this area be a 
LWS in the future? 

• Concern that wildlife will move towards the M4 and the town centre through the green 
spine.  

• Concern that developers will not adhere to the biodiversity policy requirements and 
trees being removed before the biodiversity baseline is measured. 

• Concern for Biodiversity net gain when building on Green Belt. 
• The Council should be assessing the biodiversity rather than leaving this to 

developers. 

395



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

22 
 

• In May 2018, the area that floods in the Triangle, south of A308M (AL14), was 
proposed to the Council through the TVERC, as a new Local Wildlife Site. Will this 
flood area be a LWS in the future or has that now been quashed completely? 

• Suggestion for a wildlife corridor left around the perimeter of the site to allow for 
movement of the protected species on site. 

• Reference to the 2016 BLP Edge of Settlement Assessment section M23 has been 
disregarded. 

• Concern that in order to meet biodiversity net gain, calculation and mitigation 
proposal showing compliance with BLP policies NR2 and NR3. 

• Question whether RBWM as landowner and client can demand net zero homes. 
• Question asked if ecology survey carried out and if so need to be made available to 

the public. 
• Suggestion for baseline date for the calculation of biodiversity Feb 2022 - adoption of 

the BLP and Dec 2025 when the golf club will vacant the site to guarantee net gain. 
• Delighted that wildlife and sustainable design is playing a part in the design 

especially on wildlife corridors. However, include permeable boundaries to private 
residential space for movement of hedgehogs. 

• Please stipulate that a full detailed survey of wildlife, including all protected species, 
will be undertaken and evidence provided on how net Biodiversity Gain will be 
achieved the site This must be done before and not as an afterthought to ensure all 
sensitive wildlife areas are protected and enhanced with new wildlife corridors 
created. 

• The proposals directly contradict the council's own Biodiversity Action Plan which 
aims to provide 30% of land in the Borough as a space for nature by 2030. The 
development proposals immediately reduce the current space for nature provided by 
the golf course, land south of Harvest Hill Road. 

• Be inspired by the rise in popularity of canal towpaths, particularly in urban areas. 
People want to use them because they are traffic free and they are green, supporting 
biodiversity. Here's a link to the Canal & River Trust's annual report 
https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/news-and-views/news/weve-published-our-2020-21-
annual-report 

• The proforma for this allocation in the BLP, and other information in the 
consultation documentation does not show how the current biodiversity in local 
nature reserves and priority habitats will be protected from the impact of this 
development. 
 
 

Climate Change/Sustainable Development 
 

• Concerns that the south west Maidenhead area development does not fit with the 
targets as set out in the environment and climate strategy which states that the 
borough should halve its carbon footprint by 2025.  

• The loss of trees conflicts with the RBWM's self-declared climate emergency. 
• Concern that SWM does not meet the aims of the definition of sustainable 

development. 
• Question regarding the AL13 and AL14 buildings being net zero carbon and shown in 

the RBWM Interim sustainability position statement. 
• Question on the relationship between the SWM SPD and the proposed Sustainable 

Development SPD. 

396

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/news-and-views/news/weve-published-our-2020-21-annual-report
https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/news-and-views/news/weve-published-our-2020-21-annual-report


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

23 
 

• The Ellen Macarthur foundation has some really good guidance on circular building 
requirements. 

• Question regarding the development of 225 acres even and how this fits in with the 
declared climate emergency and how meaningful mitigations be made regarding 
biodiversity when the remaining green space will have public access. 

• Concerns about the SWM and the delivery of the Council's 'Climate & Environment 
Strategy' (published June 2020) states that you will 'reduce the need for carbon 
intensive travel by encouraging walking and cycling as well as investing in digital 
infrastructure' and you will 'create conditions for sustainable travel through the 
provision of infrastructure such as cycle routes and electric vehicle charging points 
and minimise air pollution impacts of road traffic by encouraging cleaner vehicles'. 

• Concern for climate and environment SPD being in place before the first planning 
permissions for AL13 comes in. 

• Suggestion to require the developers to make houses sustainable in energy 
production ie solar panels and ground heat pumps. 

• Concern that sustainable development as defined by the Sustainable Development 
Commission be objectively measured within the development. 

• Concern that ‘green infrastructure' or sustainability measures imposed on any 
development may be removed in the future. 

• The design must use 100% green energy on the whole scheme, include, ground 
arveststandard of insulation and use environmentally friendly building materials.  The 
scheme should minimise the demands on water and include grey water recycling and 
rainwater harvest tanks. 

• All bedrooms and living rooms need ceiling fans; check anticipated peak 
temperatures in 2040 (clue, it is over 40 degrees on a regular basis). Retrofitted air 
conditioning is not the answer as grid will not cope and cost of electricity prohibitive. 

• Ensure adequate shading provided. Use of solar film on south facing windows. Car 
ports with reflective roofs. Insulation needs to be far better than currently mandated. 

• SuDS for golf club area will require one or more balancing ponds, located at a low 
point on site. 

• There does not appear to have been any credible quantification of the environmental 
role and impact. Without a quantified and defined mitigation plan, it is not clear that 
the site can be delivered as sustainable development as defined in the NPPF. The 
SPD should fill this gap by providing a quantified mitigation scheme, to be 
considered alongside the housing numbers when assessing planning applications. 

• Read the latest IPCC report. We have very little time to turn things around. Decisive 
action needs to happen. We should not be enabling any new construction in the 
town. We should be looking at how we 'reuse' what we already have. We should not 
be foregoing our carbon sinks (ala Maidenhead Great Park) - we should be rewilding, 
focusing on biodiversity. 

• Take inspiration from others: https://europepmc.org/article/PMC/PMC8959022 
converting offices (that no one is using... into homes) 
https://bleckarchitects.com/converting-commercial-properties-homes/. Refacing 
rather than demolishing https://www.azobuild.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=8426 

• The sustainability assessment demonstrates that the proforma for this allocation in 
the BLP, and other information in the consultation documentation, does not show 
how this development will mitigate the major negative impacts to climate 
change, water and flooding, or air and noise pollution. 

397

https://bleckarchitects.com/converting-commercial-properties-homes/
https://www.azobuild.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=8426


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

24 
 

• The scale of this development in incongruous with the declaration of a climate 
emergency and with the targets set out in the environment and climate strategy. The 
overage of housing need in the must be used to stop this development in it's entirety 
or to massively reduce this development. 

 
Trees 
 

• Concerns that Rushington Copse (small) piece of ancient woodland is supposed to 
be protected and excluded from development. Needs a buffer zone around it. 

• Rushington Copse not shown on the map. 
• Concerns about retained trees not having Tree Preservation Orders be applied 

before planning application submitted. 
• Concerns that a lot of trees all over the golf course (all of which are helping us 

combat air pollution) could be destroyed during development. 
• The widening of Harvest Hill Road would result in the loss of even more trees and 

mature hedgerows. 
• Suggestion for a tree survey/ estimate required of trees to be lost from planned 

development. Concerns for 10% biodiversity gain when so much habitat will be 
destroyed. 

• New tree planting goes nowhere near replacing mature trees, it will be many, many 
years before any saplings contribute to our environment in the way the current trees 
on the golf course do. 

• Ensure the SPD states that a full arboricultural survey will be undertaken and all the 
existing tree are protected to the full width of the root protection zone. The design 
should seek to protect and increase the trees in line with the governments 
requirements to demonstrate net biodiversity gain. 

Green Infrastructure 
 

• More details required regarding food production and community growing space. 
• Concerns that that as Maidenhead Golf Course open space was rescinded, the 

'green infrastructure' or sustainability measures imposed on any development could 
be similarly removed in the future. 

• Concerns as to where the proposed flats will be located along Shoppenhangers 
Road as this would create more noise for the retirement home of Crescent Dale. 

• Concerned that the specific Green and Blue Infrastructure SPD is not yet being 
prepared and applications may come forward before this is adopted. 

• Concern about the inclusion of green corridors. 
• Please ensure the SPD requires a full landscape assessment of the site and 

surrounding areas and designs should be in keeping with the surrounding areas. 
They must ensure the proposed building do not become a dominant eyesore visible 
for miles around ruining the existing green skyline. Large swathes of landscaping 
should be included to enhance the biodiversity but also the wellbeing of residents. 
 
 
 

398



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

25 
 

Other Environmental Issues 
 

• Concerns about the control of air pollution and odours during construction. 
• Concern about the loss of Maidenhead’s green field land. 
• Concerns that air pollution is not measured properly, including PM10 and PM2.5 

particulates.  
• Concerns about flooding on the AL14 Triangle site. Ensure that any mitigation 

measures that will obviously need to be put in place to alleviate flooding will not have 
a detrimental impact on water levels upstream in The Cut and The Bourne rivers.  
These rivers flow across AL14 and through Holyport village and are already 
vulnerable to flooding and increasingly so as a result of climate change. 

• As the site extends down towards the M4 motorway (or also on the South side of the 
motorway) then large parts are subject to flooding, currently form part of the "blue" 
infrastructure of the area and also provide a wildlife corridor between the 
Ockwells/Thriftwood complex and the Cut and Thames-side Priority Wetland 
Habitats. Development in this area is inadvisable.  

• Concern on the impact on air quality from petrol and diesel cars not being phased out 
in time. At the end of last year only 2 per cent of cars in the UK were electric or 
hybrid models. Mature trees also being removed. 

• Air Pollution - The design should be restricted to electric cars and electric commercial 
vehicles only and include ways of reducing air pollution through for example 
additional tree planting.  

• Impact of Neighbouring Developments - A full assessment of neighbouring 
developments should be undertaken. The design proposal should minimise visual 
impact, overlook, noise, pollution and avoid any detrimental impact on neighbouring 
developments. 

Other 
 

• Suggestion that Windsor should take 600 homes from the SWM area 
• The questions asked on the online events should be answered formally. 
• Concern that the SPD predetermines the planning application as approved. 
• Concern for the timing of the public consultation and whether the comments and 

suggestions will be taken seriously. 
• Ensure everyone in Maidenhead is involved in the consultations. 
• Concerns from residents that this consultation is purely a box-ticking exercise. 

RBWM to demonstrate that concerns will be listened to and appropriately actioned 
rather than dismissed as people feel has happened to their input into previous 
placemaking exercises in relation to this area of Maidenhead. 

• Concern that there is no budget for additional consultations. 
• Concern that the SWM growth area includes existing streets that mean a 

presumption in favour of development of sites in those streets. 
• Concern that that the planning application will not be dealt fairly as RBWM is the 

applicant and deciding body. 
• More details required on Supplementary Planning Documents being produced and 

timing of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP). 
• The graphics on the Placemaking study are quite hard to read. Suggestion to update 

it.  
• Question asked about the SWM area having a new electoral ward or wards redrawn. 

399



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

26 
 

• Concern about bike theft is a big problem in Maidenhead - if you want to encourage 
cycling you need to make sure people can secure their bikes safely at the station and 
in the town centre. 

• A green dot for the A308/Stafferton Way roundabout missing on the plan. 
• Request for publication of timetable of various strategy & plan documents being 

developed to support the SDP and BLP. 
• Concern about that the developer CALA homes is pre-determined. 
• Concern about the flexibility of the number of homes being 2,600 
• Concern that one planning application will be submitted for whole site. 
• Concern for the financial viability of delivering the number of homes. 
• Question regarding council members declaring any conflict of interest between 

representing the community and any business interests of the developers and 
anyone else who will profit from the developments. 

• RBWM had 1546 vacant properties. Question to why, with so many empty domestic 
properties are we working on the destruction of an acknowledged site with value to 
protected and priority species. 

• Question asked about the percentage of non-permeable surfaces expected on AL14. 
• An example development is in conjunction with the RSPB: 

https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/conservation--
sustainability/223-0282-20-21-barratt-developments-plc--rspb-16pp-05-07-
21.pdf?utm_source=standardcontentpage&campaign_medium=standalone_cta&utm
_content=positive_perceptions_standardcontentblock 

• Example given from Leeds Climate Innovation 
https://civicengineers.com/project/climate-innovation-district/ 

• Question asked on how will the SW Maidenhead SPD relate to the proposed 
Sustainable Development SPD. 

• Design - Unique, interesting well thought out design should be required using 
durable, high-quality materials in all the buildings and structures.  There should be 
clear cognitive points with views going to specific buildings and areas and guiding 
people through the site. The design should be at a scale and size that reflects the 
neighbouring areas. 

• Public Art - Bespoke, attractive public art should be used to mark significant points 
and areas. 

• Crime prevention - Paths should be open and well-lit to ensure pedestrians and 
cyclists feel safe and are safe. 

• The IDP schedule is a list of projects and does not contain implementation detail. 
Without any guidance in the SPD or thinking ahead, developers and landowners will 
simply seek to minimise their S106 contributions and solutions are likely to be copy-
paste from Project Centre rather than optimised for the users and the site. 

• Suggest that all the facilities that the new residents require, e.g. educational, 
recreational, transport were there when residents move in. 

• Concerns raised for the club house and who will maintain it after Golf Club and 
course cease in December 2025, who will have responsibility for the site. The 
Council must ensure that the site continues to be actively managed and protected 
and not allowed to become overgrown, derelict and vandalised. 

• The OAHN is overstated, as evidenced by the number of unsold units in the new 
town centre developments. RBWM should share details of the brownfield sites 
register and empty office buildings to enable a proper assessment of the availability 
of alternative sites. 

400

https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/conservation--sustainability/223-0282-20-21-barratt-developments-plc--rspb-16pp-05-07-21.pdf?utm_source=standardcontentpage&campaign_medium=standalone_cta&utm_content=positive_perceptions_standardcontentblock
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/conservation--sustainability/223-0282-20-21-barratt-developments-plc--rspb-16pp-05-07-21.pdf?utm_source=standardcontentpage&campaign_medium=standalone_cta&utm_content=positive_perceptions_standardcontentblock
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/conservation--sustainability/223-0282-20-21-barratt-developments-plc--rspb-16pp-05-07-21.pdf?utm_source=standardcontentpage&campaign_medium=standalone_cta&utm_content=positive_perceptions_standardcontentblock
https://www.rspb.org.uk/globalassets/downloads/documents/conservation--sustainability/223-0282-20-21-barratt-developments-plc--rspb-16pp-05-07-21.pdf?utm_source=standardcontentpage&campaign_medium=standalone_cta&utm_content=positive_perceptions_standardcontentblock
https://civicengineers.com/project/climate-innovation-district/


South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

27 
 

• Concern that the Hitachi and Stiefel Laboratories sites off the Lower Cookham Road 
are brownfield will eventually be used for housing. 

 

 

  

401



South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD – Consultation Statement (December 2022) 

28 
 

Appendix 2 - Summary of Representations on the Draft South West 
Maidenhead Development Framework SPD and the Council’s 
response 

 
See separate appendix. 

 

 

 

 

 

402



1 
 

 

South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document – Consultation Statement 

Appendix 2 Summary of Representations on the Draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD and the 
Council’s response 

Introduction 

This appendix sets out a list of all those who made representations on the draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD. It summarises the 
main comments made in those representations and sets out the Council’s response to those comments. Where the Council believes that it is appropriate to 
make a change to the SPD in response to a comment, this is highlighted as bold in the Council’s response section. 

The summary of the comments is set out in the order of the different sections of the SPD, with a separate schedule for each of the main sections of the SPD. 
More general comments not specifically highlighted as relating to a particular paragraph of the SPD are set out at the beginning of the summaries. 

  

403



2 
 

 

 

List of those who made representations 

Adrian Field Dave Scarbrough on behalf of the 
Climate Community in Windsor 
and Maidenhead 

K Titford Rohan Mohindra 

Alexa Culver on behalf of 
Environment Bank 

David Grey Katherine Platt Roy Bloomfield 

Andrew Hill Deborah Ludford Kathy Quin Sandeep Mittal 
Andy McCoy on behalf of Binfield 
Badger Group 

Derek Roberts on behalf of the 
Rushington Area Residents 
Association 

Katy Williams Sarah Bowden 

Ann Redgrave Edward Hands Kieran Phillips Sarah Fogg 
B Fidler Edward Phillips Lee Bradfield Sarah Wallace 
Barbara Brown Elizabeth Chan-A-Sue Lena Walton Savills on behalf of Taylor Wimpey 
Barry Giggins Fiona Tattersall Lesley Trivedi Sibylle Luger 
Barton Wilmore on behalf of 
Maidenhead United Football Club 

Gareth Dos Santos Lynn Bradley Simon Bond 

Beeta Ginn on behalf of National 
Highways 

Helal and Marion Stephan M Bajaj Solve Planning on behalf of Elivia 
Homes 

Bob Dulson on behalf of 
Maidenhead Civic Society 

Helen Phillips M Wood Stephen Perrett 

Bob Sharples on behalf of Sport 
England 

J Earley Mark Loader Sue Sewell 

Boyer Planning on behalf of 
Berkeley Homes 

Jane White Mrs M A Owens Susan Daniel 

Bray Parish Council Jeanette Williams Nathan Preston Tanya Condon 

Brain Ball Jennifer Pardoe Nick Evans Teresa Burton 
Brian Davies Jo Faulkner Paul and Kim Erie Teresa Coles 

404



3 
 

Bridget Fox on behalf of Woodland 
Trust 

Jo Holden Paul Bradley Thames Water 

Chris Bailey John Hudson Paul Butt Planning Ltd on behalf of 
Staxlink Ltd 

Tim Murphy 

Claire Earl John Lucas Philip Manning Timothy Lloyd 

Claire Elizabeth Milne on behalf of 
Windsor Ascot and Maidenhead 
Community Land Trust 

John Sewell Rachael Piga Tina Quadrino on behalf of 
Maidenhead Great Park Interest 
Company 

Craig Thomson John Walton Richard Whyte Toby Lant 
Tulley Bunting Ltd on behalf of Cala 
Homes (Chiltern) Ltd 

Woolf Bond Planning on behalf of 
Anita Thomas and Siobhan 
McElhinney 

Zsofia Macho  

 

  

405



4 
 

 

 

Summary of Representations and Council response 

General Comments on the draft SPD 

Summary of Representations Council Response 
GENERAL  
Object to building on Green Belt land The South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area is one of the sites 

released from the Green Belt upon the adoption of the Borough Local Plan on 
9th February 2022.  The Inspector’s Final Report concluded that the 
exceptional circumstances necessary at a strategic level to justify the release 
of this land from the Green Belt had been demonstrated.     

The land is part of Maidenhead Heritage   Policy QP1b presents a Vision specifically for South West Maidenhead which 
will create a sense of place and distinctiveness.  This vision has been 
translated into a series of policy principles and requirements (Policy QP1b (5)), 
with further site-specific requirements included in the site proformas for 
AL13, AL14 and AL15.  
The Strategic Environmental Assessment identifies the Heritage assets within 
the Placemaking area.  The provisions made within the BLP and SPD regarding 
the conservation of heritage assets would be expected to fully mitigate 
impacts through conservation and enhancement of heritage assets, such as 
the Scheduled Ancient Monument and Listed Buildings. 

The SPD forms part of a suite of documents.  All relevant documents to 
SW Maidenhead should be listed, with order of priority.  Request a 
diagram showing the hierarchy of all relevant documents applicable to 
SW Maidenhead.   

Paragraph 1.1.8 to 1.1.10 of the DFSPD sets out the accompanying supporting 
documents and Section 3 sets out the Planning Policy Framework.  The plans 
and supporting documents are listed in hierarchical order from National Policy 
(top level), through Borough Local Plan and Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) to other relevant RBWM Corporate strategies.  This 
hierarchical form of listing is also reflected in the location and navigation of 
these documents on the Council’s website.   

406



5 
 

A general and repeated comment for the SPD to use firmer / more 
definitive language – instead of using ‘may’ and ‘possibly’, use ‘will’ and 
‘must’    

Because the SPD is guidance and not planning policy that is set out in the 
Borough Local Plan, it is not always appropriate to use firmer language, as this 
may be construed as using the SPD to write policy.  

Many of the requirements in the SPD have not been reflected in the 
Berkeley Homes Spring Hill Development application.     

The South West Maidenhead DFSPD will carry greater weight in decision 
making once it is adopted.  In the meantime, any applications submitted for 
planning permission on the allocated sites AL13, AL14 and AL15 will be 
assessed against relevant policies and supporting documents, as set out in 
Section 3 of the draft DFSPD.   

Concern that the SPD may be introducing new policy and hence not 
compliant with the national Planning Practice Guidance 

Some amendments to the wording in the draft SPD have been made to 
ensure that the SPD is not introducing new policy, including in relation to 
Housing Mix and Zero Carbon 

RBWM has chosen the summer holidays for a major consultation, a 
year in which many will be abroad this summer for the first time in 3 
years. Would a delay of 6 weeks not have made a more meaningful 
consultation without unduly delaying any development timetable.     

Paragraph 1.1.11 explains that the public consultation was two weeks longer 
than required by the Regulations to reflect the fact it was being held over the 
summer holiday period, consistent with the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement.  Public consultation events were organised in 
person at different venues, and online, and spaced throughout the 6 week 
period in order to facilitate community engagement.   

There is no reference to the circular economy applied to the built 
environment in the SPD.  Developers should adopt principles of design 
for longevity, adaptability and flexibility to ensure that built assets are 
fit for purpose for longer.    

Paragraph 6.7.3 of the DFSPD highlights Policy QP1b of the BLP indicates that 
one of the key principles for the South West Maidenhead placemaking area is 
that development includes measures to reduce climate change and 
environmental impacts including suitable approaches to sustainable energy, 
recycling and construction.  The circular economy is listed as one of the 4 
themes of the adopted Environment and Climate Strategy. 

Suggestion that a man made hill is created in the south east corner of 
the site to provide panoramic views of the surrounding area and to 
provide a recreational area for locals.    

The DFSPD adds detail to the broad principles and requirements set out in the 
BLP, in particular, as set out in the proformas for AL13, AL14 and AL15, and 
also in the placemaking policy for the area, Policy QP1b.  However, it does not 
set new policy, nor is it able to change policy in the BLP.  Consequently, the 
introduction of a large man-made hill would not be consistent with the BLP.    

Having this huge housing estate will cause chaos to what is already a 
busy built-up area   

The SPD identifies the need to address the impacts of the development 
including tackling congestion and improving connectivity.  
Policy QP1b (c), (e) and (f) set out the need for infrastructure ahead or in 
tandem with development, measures to minimise the need for travel and 
maximise non-car transport modes, and enhancement of existing and 

407



6 
 

provision of new vehicular and non-vehicular connections the whole of the 
SWMSA .  

The development will do nothing for Climate Change and the Council 
should be stopping all developments on open areas and green field 
sites.  

Policy SP2 of the BLP requires all developments to demonstrate how they 
have been designed to incorporate measures to adapt to and mitigate climate 
change.     

The DFSPD must be free from any conflict of interest and should 
therefore be paid for entirely with public funds, with no payments 
contributed by developers 

There is no conflict of interest. It is common for developers to enter into 
planning performance agreements, including in relation to the preparation of 
SPDs relating to sites or areas. The PPA does not commit the local planning 
authority to a particular outcome but is instead a commitment to a process 
for progressing the SPD. It is right that the Council engages with developers as 
part of the process of preparing the SPD. Decisions on the content of the SPD 
lies solely with the Council through approval at Cabinet and the PPA does not 
imply any obligation on the council to approve any subsequent planning 
application for the proposal. 
 

The consultation statement does fairly summarise a huge range of 
concerns raised by residents but fails to address many of the key 
concerns.   

The SPD does address a wide range of issues, including those referred to in 
the draft consultation statement. It may not go as far as some people would 
like on some issues as it inevitably balances a range of competing factors, and 
also the content of the SPD has to work within the framework for the area set 
out in the Borough Local Plan. 

The development is incompatible with the RBWM Corporate Plan. 
There remains only 3 years to achieve the 50% reduction in carbon 
emissions required under the RBWM Environment and Climate Strategy 
2020.  The SPD makes it impossible to achieve this goal (as the SEA 
indicates unlikely to fully mitigate the adverse impacts associated with 
net increases in greenhouse gases.)  

Applications that are brought forward for the SWMPA will be required to 
comply with relevant BLP policies, including SP2, QP1b, QP2, NR1, NR2, NR3, 
EP1, EP2, EP3, EP4 and IF2. These policies contribute to the Council’s ambition 
of achieving carbon emission reductions across the Borough whilst balancing 
the new for new housing.  Ensuring that new development uses less energy, 
supplies energy efficiently, and incorporates renewable energy will assist, 
long-term, in the deliverability of this goal.  

The SPD fails to map out a lawful framework for achieving the climate 
change goals. Climate change goals will not be met and the SPD cannot 
be adopted in this form. It is unlawful. 

It is not the role of the SPD to do this. The SPD is intended to add detail to the 
broad principles and requirements set out in the Local Plan for the SWMPA. 
The Local Plan was examined by an independent examiner who concluded 
that the Local plan is sound and legally compliant. The SPD is not unlawful.     

Use excess housing numbers in the BLP to reduce building in the area. The issue of the housing target in the Local Plan, including the need for a 
‘buffer’, has been agreed through the Local Plan process, and supported by 

408



7 
 

Do not build on AL21 and AL26, Bray Lake.  This will maintain the Green 
Gap between Windsor and Maidenhead – better for traffic and air 
quality.  Reduce the housing numbers on AL13 and AL15 for the same 
reasons.    

the independent Inspector who examined the Plan. This SPD cannot re-open 
that issue or consider sites such as A21 and AL26 that are outside the area 
covered by this SPD. Similarly, this SPD cannot prescribe different housing 
numbers for the AL13 site, although the numbers for AL13 in the Local Plan 
are expressed as “approximate”. AL15 is not a housing site and hence there 
are no housing numbers attached to it.  

Welcome the notion of distinct neighbourhoods, varied in character, 
well designed with a mix of housing types and quality spaces.  However, 
concerned the SPD lacks sufficient detail to ensure some of the 
objectives are met.   

The SPD cannot be too prescriptive but has given clear indication as the 
different character areas within the SWMPA and how cohesion can be 
achieved, particular through the presence and function of the ‘Green Spine’.   

Maidenhead is in danger of becoming an urban sprawl.  The beauty of 
Maidenhead must be protected for the benefit of all 

This is recognised in ‘The Vision’ for the SWMPA, which includes protecting 
and enhancing the special qualities of the Borough’s built and natural 
environments as well as promoting sustainable development and high quality 
design.  

A supply of housing in future will come from the business parks which 
can be demolished and become estates as the offices close and people 
continue to work from home.  

This is not relevant to the matters addressed in the SWM SPD. Whilst this 
comment does not relate directly to any content within the SPD, it is noted 
that the BLP includes Protected Employment Sites, and there are no current 
proposals advanced to wholesale redevelopment employment sites for 
housing.  It is therefore unlikely this suggestion will form a feasible solution to 
the Borough’s housing needs.   

BIODIVERSITY  
The Council must be committed to whole-life net zero emissions and 
immediate biodiversity net gains   

This commitment is reflected in Policies SP2, QP1b and NR2 of the BLP and 
the Interim Sustainability Position Statement, as well as the measures 
identified in the SPD.  

Suggestion that all sites in the BLP create as many new water habitats 
for wildlife as possible, preserve all plant life (shrubs and trees) older 
than 30 years (and 60 years)   

It is appropriate to the consider the biodiversity requirements specific to each 
allocated site within the formal planning application process.  Each site is 
individual with its own specific set of considerations and requirements, a one-
size fits all approach would therefore not be appropriate.   

The development will destroy wildlife   Biodiversity mitigation measures will be required and assessed through the 
planning application process.  
The Vision for the Placemaking Area includes a “flourishing network of green 
streets and spaces which will accommodate biodiversity and people 

409



8 
 

harmoniously”.  The BLP site proformas for AL13 and AL14 also require the 
conservation and enhancement of the biodiversity of the area. 

There should be no development on the land to the south of Harvest 
Hill Road (AL13). It should instead be turned into a wildlife conservation 
area with some public access. The land has high wildlife value, parts of 
it flood seasonally, the site contains ancient oak, ash and willow trees, 
and the south west part, in particular, contains mature grassland.     

 
 
This area is part of the housing allocation AL13 in the Local Plan. As such the 
principle of housing development in this area is already established. The SPD 
does, however, indicate that a “southern green fringe” should be retained 
which has the potential for biodiversity enhancement and informal recreation 
and ensure that development does not take place on areas prone to flooding. 
 

The connectivity corridors need to be a meaningful width for wildlife; 3 
to 5 metres with a pedestrian path in the middle is unlikely to 
accommodate existing protected species which currently inhabit the 
golf course site. Suggested the corridor should be 50 metres wide, 
which may not be feasible on the western boundary but should be 
feasible on the eastern boundary due to the sloping topography.    

The planning application(s) for the golf course site will need to set out more 
detailed proposals for the green infrastructure including connectivity 
corridors, and demonstrate that they will be meaningful and achieve their 
objective. 

Bats are present on the golf course site; they are a European Protected 
Species. The LPA is reminded of its Legal duties in this respect.     

Ecology reports and assessment of the impact of development on Protected 
Species generally, not just bats, would be required and considered at planning 
application stage.   

The development purports to be sustainable, however, no plan has 
been communicated to offset the carbon emissions resulting from the 
construction of the development site.    

The draft SPD encourages developers to consider the ‘whole life carbon’ 
emissions of development.   

We have a climate emergency and water authorities have declared in 
many areas that new developments should be stopped as there is not 
the water resource for them.  This is particularly acute in the south-
east.  The development will further increase pressure on water sources, 
result in loss of trees and destroy ancient woodland; this is an 
environmental disaster.     

It is recognised that the SPD area is an area of water stress. The Council’s 
Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design provides 
guidance on designing development to be more water efficient and reduce 
water consumption. 
 
Amend SPD to refer to the area being one of water stress and that the 
opportunity should be taken to reduce water consumption and design 
development that is water efficient, cross referencing to the Council’s 
Position Statement. 

410



9 
 

The Thames Valley Environmental Records Centre (TVERC) Biodiversity 
Report (2021-05-10) identifies dozens of species on AL13 in the 
“protected and notable species” appendix.  The SPD ought to have 
expressly acknowledged and discussed in detail this report in the 
sections on biodiversity, set out the appendices of species and 
addressed the impact of development on these notable protected 
species.   

It is for the developers to undertake detailed ecology surveys of their 
application sites, including identifying protected species and identifying the 
impact of development on them and their proposed mitigation measures. 

Building on an undeveloped green site is not sustainable and 
consequently the development cannot be carbon neutral    

The Vision for the South West Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area, 
includes more sustainable patterns of living.  Policy QP1b(5i) identifies the 
need for measures to reduce climate change and environmental impacts 
including suitable approaches to sustainable energy, recycling and 
construction.  The objective of carbon neutral development is reflected in the 
Council’s Interim Sustainability Position Statement, as well as the measures 
identified in the SPD.     

The proposals will result in smaller, fragmented habitats The development proposals will inevitably result in the loss of some habitat, 
but overall development proposals will have to deliver biodiversity net gain. 
The Local Plan and the SPD sets out principles for delivering a green 
infrastructure network that will ensure ecological connectivity. 

HOUSING  
There is no real clarity in the consultation as to the placement of the 
housing and what level of greenspace will be maintained or improved 
along the border of AL13.     

The SPD provides high level design guidance and principles that planning 
applications should follow, but it is not intended to provide a detailed 
masterplan setting out the precise location of housing and greenspace – that 
is for the planning application stage. The Local Plan and the SPD does highlight 
the importance of retaining boundary planting, and this is illustrated in the 
framework plan within the SPD. 

The Site Allocation Proforma (p100) states the Golf Course 
development is 89.93 ha to accommodate 2,600 houses, which equates 
to a density of 12 dwellings per acre.  Berkeley Homes are proposing 20 
dwellings per acre which is too excessive.  

This planning application will be assessed on its own merits; once the SPD is 
adopted it will carry greater weight in decision making.  

There is no huge demand for housing in Maidenhead, the population 
has only grown by 10% in the last 20 years and is slowing down further.  
You have already built enough to house any future growth over the 
next 20 years.   

The issue of how much housing is required in the Borough has been 
determined through the Borough Local Plan process, and the outcome 
supported by an independent planning inspector who examined the Plan. It is 
not for the SPD to amend the housing targets in the Local Plan. 

411



10 
 

 The SPD fails to highlight any guidance on building aesthetics and 
misses an opportunity to set the bar for architectural flair and 
individuality, which is lacking in the town centre developments.    
The SPD also misses the opportunity to increase significantly housing 
stock for families and adds to the over-flatted nature of the town   

The SPD focuses on establishing good design principles for developers to 
incorporate in their planning applications to ensure high quality development. 
Detailed architectural considerations can be addressed at the planning 
application stage.  

How many of the new dwellings will be 3 or 4 bedroom family 
affordable homes with gardens.  These are what I have read are needed 
accommodation in Maidenhead to keep young families here   

The DFSPD recognises there is an opportunity to provide a mixed community 
at the South West Maidenhead site whilst accommodating the 2,600 homes. 
The SPD provides more guidance on the housing mix, having regard to the 
policies in the Local Plan and supporting evidence.  

The plan for high rise (8 storey) buildings is completely out of character 
with the current 2 storey neighbourhoods, this is in no way in keeping 
with the local residential areas. It also does not address the need for 
family housing that the council states is actually required. Maidenhead 
has a sufficient supply of flats; many of the town centre recently built 
flats are still vacant a considerable time after completion.   

The Local Plan policy for the AL13 site indicates that the northern 
neighbourhood will be orientated towards the town centre and will make the 
most of its proximity to the railway station and town centre. Building heights, 
densities and typologies will reflect those in the town centre, but it is 
recognised that building heights need to be “stepped down” towards the edge 
of the site in areas adjacent to residential area. Further guidance on building 
heights is set out in the draft Building Height and Tall Building SPD. 
 
Amend design guidance to emphasise and illustrate the importance of 
building heights stepping down from centre of the site to the edge of the 
site adjoining residential areas 
 
The SPD outlines the importance of delivering family housing as part of the 
mix of housing on the site and as part of the affordable housing to be 
provided. However, the SPD would benefit from greater clarity, including 
linking it more closely to the evidence base, such as the Berkshire SHMA 
(Strategic Housing Market Assessment) which indicates that across the 
Borough, 55% of new dwelling should be 3 and 4 bed properties. 
 
Amend the Housing Mix section to link the need for family housing more 
closely to the evidence for family housing, and set out further evidence 
where necessary on housing mix (see new Appendix 3). 

Need more smaller houses for first time buyers and older people 
downsizing.  These two groups would like smaller properties that are 

If the demand for these types of properties exist then developers may provide 
an element of them in their schemes, but these are too specific for the 

412



11 
 

not leasehold.  Bungalows would be preferable for older residents 
rather than retirement flats, which have initial costs and high 
maintenance costs. Providing smaller freehold units for older people 
could free up a lot of existing properties for young families.   

Council to require in terms of general market housing. General or retirement 
flats would also free up family housing.  

The SPD should include specific housing targets for 3 and 4 bedroom 
homes.  As well as the ratio of family homes to flats, densities should be 
indicated and building heights.   

The Berkshire SHMA provides targets for 3 and 4 bedroom houses but the SPD 
would benefit from referring more directly to this evidence 
 
Amend the Housing Mix section to refer more directly to the Berkshire 
SHMA evidence on 3 and 4 bedroom houses. 
 
The ratio of family homes to flats is best addressed by reference to the 
Berkshire SHMA and other related evidence (see above). 
 
The SPD provides some broad guidance on density and design principles 
relating to different part of the AL13 site where different densities and 
typologies will prevail, but it is not necessary to prescribe detailed density 
guidelines in the SPD. The Building Height and Tall Building SPD addresses the 
specifics of building height.  

If there has to be flats there should be a cap on the height The SPD does provide some general design guidance on appropriate heights, 
but the maximum acceptable height at the site is a matter that is being 
addressed in the emerging Building Height and Tall Building SPD.   

INFRASTRUCTURE – HIGHWAY NETWORK  
Do not believe the effect on traffic flow in the area of Harvest Hill has 
been modelled and considered correctly. No provision has been made 
for the significant traffic increase that 2600 new homes will bring. The 
only other access is via the town centre/station and this is also 
congested at peak times.   

Traffic modelling has been undertaken both for the Borough Local Plan and 
updated for the work on this SPD. This assessed the impact of development 
on the traffic network in the area. A series of junction improvements are 
identified as being required (see section 6.6 of the SPD and Appendix 2) to 
mitigate the impact of the additional traffic on key junctions.  

What incentives have been considered for residents to use green 
vehicles   

The Council’s Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design 
seeks the provision of electric vehicle charging points (see section 6.7 of the 
SPD) and new Building Regulations means that this will become a more 
general requirement in the future 

413



12 
 

The SPD should provide guidance on ways that the area can effectively 
manage and reduce the number of vehicle trips for waste collection and 
deliveries in the access and movement section.     

This is too specific for this SPD and would be a matter for the planning 
application stage.  It should, however, be noted that Section 9 of the Borough 
Wide Design Guide SPD contains guidance on waste and recycling storage in 
new development.   

The proposed access point from the end of Rushington Avenue into the 
site will be impossible to implement; there is a steep bank into the 
houses at Courtlands, and any access road or path will lead to 
problems.  
The junction of Rushington Avenue into the Braywick Road roundabout 
is already congested at peak times, and clogged up with people 
dropping off or picking up passengers.  Adding traffic will make this 
junction even more dangerous. 

This is something to be explored further as a walk/cycle access point at the 
planning application stage. It would improve the connectivity of the site, 
further encouraging walking and cycling. 

Harvest Hill Road is not wide enough for pedestrians, bikes and cars 
without removing yet more hedgerows and trees.  How will people be 
able to safely walk and cycle along here when cars already drive too 
fast?   

The SPD proposes a new segregated walk/cycle route on the north side of 
Harvest Hill Road to enable people to walk and cycle safely in this area. Speed 
limits on Harvest Hill Road are likely to be lower once residential development 
is becoming established. 

What is the plan to add access to Shoppenhangers Road through 
Courtlands/ the neighbouring care home?  
Where is the plan to improve the junction of Shoppenhangers Road and 
the A308?  Currently all traffic for Windsor / Bracknell has to travel 
through the town centre adding congestion and pollution.     

The Framework Plan in the SPD indicates that this could be a pedestrian 
access through, using the existing footpath. There is no intention to provide a 
vehicular access through here. 
 
There are no specific plans to improve the Shoppenhangers Road/A308 
junction, but the developers for the golf course site will need to assess the 
impact of their proposals on that junction as part of their transport 
assessment accompanying their planning application. 
 

How will existing access points be protected, what will the road system 
and parking be in the northern area?  Will private vehicle parking be 
adequate or will we need residents parking only parking in the 
surrounding streets?   
What is the planned parking per dwelling, what are the planned roads 
within the development?   

One of the identified overarching design principles of the development is to 
deliver development that is highly connected both within the development 
areas and to the surrounding areas, with focus on enhancing connectively for 
walking, cycling and public transport. The approach to and level of parking will 
be determined at the planning application stage based on a number of factors 
including the nature of the housing, its location and design factors. 

414



13 
 

The Green Spine is unlikely to diminish car use to any great extent and 
the traffic generated by 2,600 homes, plus schools and health facility 
will be considerable.  

It is important that the design of the development provides very good 
opportunities for people to walk and cycle, as alternatives to using the car. 
The green spine is an important component of achieving this. Providing 
facilities on site such as schools and a local centre help to “internalise trips” 
within the development, thereby reducing the need for people to travel 
further (and hence more likely use the car) and making it more likely they will 
walk or cycle 

 It is noted further SPD documents will be produced to support the BLP 
and impact the allocations within the draft SWMSPD.  Of particular 
interest will be the new parking SPD as it is identified that one of the 
biggest opportunities for managing down traffic demand on the 
Strategic Road Network (SRN) is associated with limiting parking spaces 
at a destination.  This is particularly successful when guidance such as 
this is supported by the delivery of other sustainable transport 
measures and infrastructure, which are substantial in the draft 
SWMSPD.   

Noted.  A Parking SPD is in the process of being produced.  

 It is observed that now the footbridge over the A308(M) connecting 
AL13 and AL14 is no longer the preferred option, we look forward to 
reviewing the proposed alternative design to be included at the 
Braywick Road roundabout junction with the A308(M).  The potential 
impact on the operation of the junction with the addition of further 
facilities is highlighted.   
The impact of the upgrade of the Harvest Hill Road / Braywick Road 
junction on the SRN is also noted, and a request made to be consulted 
for any design / modelling if there is to be interaction between the two 
junctions.   

Noted 

INFRASTRUCTURE – COMMUNITY  
Health and Wellbeing: What are the plans for the Borough to ensure 
that there will be adequate health provision given the proposed scale of 
the development in Maidenhead, including South West Maidenhead?   

The SPD indicates that consideration is being given for a health hub on the site 
to meet the needs of the development. It may also help to help improve 
primary health care for a wider area, subject to the views of the health 
providers.  

415



14 
 

The golf club land provides a leisure facility that should not be 
destroyed; it was given by Lord Desborough to the local people for 
outdoor recreation   

The principle of the development has been established by the BLP. The 
Inspector’s Final report for the BLP considered the arguments of the loss of 
the golf club as a leisure facility / green lung and concluded that the 
development of this land would not result in an actual loss of open space 
useable by the general public.    

There is already insufficient local Infrastructure to support the 
population, doctors, dentists, etc. This will only be made worse. The 
recycling centre frequently smells, especially in hot weather.     

The SPD includes a detailed section on infrastructure provision and Appendix 
2 of the SPD sets out a more detailed infrastructure schedule. The local centre 
on the housing site will also provide new local facilities to support the new 
housing and this may include a health hub. 

The left hand turn only from Shoppenhangers Road to Braywick Road 
should be changed to turn right hand only as when the development is 
built it will cause a bottleneck into the town centre and cause a 
highway hazard.   

The developers for the golf course site will need to assess the impact of their 
proposals on that junction as part of their transport assessment 
accompanying their planning application. There is a risk that introducing a 
right turn at this junction will lead to additional delays on the Braywick Road, 
as it would reduce the ‘green time’ at the traffic lights to allow the additional 
right turn movements. 

There is no need for a new secondary school  The Borough Local Plan policy indicates that both a primary and secondary 
school should be provided. Whilst there is not a need for an additional 
secondary school at the moment, pupils generated from development in 
South West Maidenhead and other developments across Maidenhead will 
mean that it is needed towards the end of the period that the Local Plan 
covers (i.e., up to 2033). 
 
Provide further information on education provision in a new appendix 
(Appendix 4)   

ENVIRONMENT  
Who will be responsible for maintaining the greenspace?  What 
protections are in place to ensure the borders will not be reduced?  

This is a detailed matter to be determined at the planning application stage. 

Where are the plans to add trees along Braywick Road to provide 
shade, absorb pollution, make walking/cycling more pleasant to 
encourage people to walk and not drive into the town centre? 

The Local Plan and the SPD sets out a range of plans to improve walking and 
cycling provision both within the development areas, but also improving 
wider links – this includes links to the town centre. The SPD also seeks 
theretention and enhancing of boundary trees and landscape buffers. 
 

416



15 
 

What measures are proposed to reduce noise and air pollution from 
increased traffic   

Planning applications will need to consider the need for any mitigation 
measures to ensure they create satisfactory living environments for new 
residents, in relation to noise and air pollution. The Local Plan and SPD set out 
a series of sustainable travel measures to help reduce reliance on the car, 
although it is recognised that there will still be increased traffic associated 
with the development. Over time air pollution linked to cars will reduce with 
the introduction of more electric cars and continued improved emission 
standards from existing petrol and diesel cars. 

There is an over reliance on the use of public transport and active travel 
to mitigate the dreadful impact on air pollution by this development.  
There is no evidence that people will start using this more in the 
borough and indeed there is no actual plan to improve accessibility to 
these modes of transport. 

It is important that public transport and active travel measures are integral to 
the new development and are connected to wider walking, cycling and public 
transport networks. The proposals set out in the Local Plan and elaborated on 
in the SPD will ensure that new residents and workers in the SW Maidenhead 
development areas will have better access to these modes of transport. 

 The golf club land is an important green space which helps to reduce 
the air quality problems in the area. Building on this land will add to 
pollution, not reduce it   

The principle of the development has been established by the BLP. The SPD 
highlights that the Sustainability Appraisal (SA) for the BLP found that whilst 
there might be a minor negative impact on air and noise pollution, the 
promotion of non-car travel would help reduce transport related emissions.     

EXISTING RESIDENTS IMPACT  
How will impacts on existing residents, through noise dust and 
congestion, be managed during construction?   

Where appropriate, conditions are imposed on the development to help 
manage these issues during the construction period, using relevant powers 
available to the authority. 
 
Developers are encouraged to join the “Considerate Constructor scheme”. 
 

Will existing residents on Rushington Avenue whose homes are 
adjacent to the golf course have their views and privacy protected?   

Impacts on the residential amenities of existing properties will be considered 
during the planning application process.     

 

  

417



16 
 

 

Section 1 Introduction 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

1 Include information regarding who has funded the SPD and 
consultation process and by how much 

This is not relevant to the content of the SPD. The Cabinet report 
accompanying the final SPD for adoption sets this out. 

1.1.1 The area is referred to at this paragraph, and throughout the 
draft SPD, as SWMSPA.  In the BLP it was referred to as SWMPA.  
Consider it helpful if the various references in the SPD were 
consistent with the BLP.   

It is considered that the abbreviation SWMSPA for South West 
Maidenhead Strategic Placemaking Area is suitable clear and is used 
consistently throughout the SPD.  
 
 

1.1.3 This plan has not taken into consideration all of the elements 
highlighted in this paragraph.  Local infrastructure, water 
supply, sewerage and air quality will all be stressed. 
Consultation with the community is a falsehood with the 
majority of the current residents of Maidenhead vehemently 
opposed to this level of development, and in particular any 
development on the golf course.     

The SPD includes a wide range of considerations into account, 
although water infrastructure was not included in the draft SPD but 
should be included. It is recognised that there is much local 
opposition to the development but the principle of development has 
been established through the Local Plan. 
 
Add section regarding water infrastructure. 
 

1.1.5 Update to make clear that comments will be taken into account 
before the document is finalised 

Agree that this needs to be made clear but better done in the section 
on community engagement 
 
Amend Section 2 to make clear the document has been amended to 
take account of comments where appropriate 

1.1.6 How will the timely delivery of new infrastructure required to 
support the development be achieved? Please share the plans 

The infrastructure section of the SPD provides more detail on 
infrastructure delivery and provides some guidance in relation to 
priorities in terms of delivery. The detail of timing will be developed 
through individual legal agreements linked to planning permissions 
and through the collection of funding through the Community 

418



17 
 

Infrastructure Levy and planning legal agreements (section 106 
agreements). 

1.1.15 
Strategic 
Environmental 
Assessment 
(SEA) 

 Pg 3 of this document states Lepus prepared the report for the 
use of Buckinghamshire Council.  If this is factually correct then 
why is RBWM using it and if this is an error it begs the question 
how many other fundamental errors have been made in this 
document. 

This is not correct; the Environmental Report has been prepared on 
behalf of RBWM.  It appraises the  
Draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document. The Post-Adoption Statement 
will note this error. 

1.1.15 
(SEA) 

Disagree with the statement at p.11, N16, that the SPD has the 
potential to deliver enhanced multi-functional GI and 
biodiversity net gain 

The development will be required as a matter of policy, and soon to 
be law, to deliver biodiversity net gain. Policy also requires delivery 
of green infrastructure network. 

1.1.15 
(SEA) 

This is a strategic environmental assessment and as such I 
expect it to provide real measures that have to be implemented 
in order to meet the current regulations and ensure the 
borough can meet its environmental targets.   

The SEA Directive’s objectives are to provide a high level of 
protection to the environment and contribute to integrating 
environmental considerations into the preparation, adoption and 
implementation of plans and programmes to promote sustainable 
development.  If ‘real measures’ are provided by the plan maker, the 
SEA process will appraise them.  It is not for the SEA process to 
provide ‘real measures’ although it may make recommendations.   

1.1.15 
(SEA) 

Please explain how Lepus came to the conclusion that this 
development will rule out residual adverse effects in relation to: 

- biodiversity  
- air quality 
- water provision / consumption 

See Table 6.2 of the Environmental Report on page 61. 

1.1.15  
(SEA) 

Surprised the HRA concluded that there would be no adverse 
effects on any Natura 2000 sites as a result of the BLP.  Please 
provide copies of the HRA assessment.   

The final HRA produced for the BLP is ref. PS/043 (March 2020). This 
concluded that the BLP in isolation would have no likely significant 
effect on the Natura 2000 sites.  The BLP Inspector confirmed in 
paragraph 15 of her final report (ID-34) that the BLP “will not give 
rise to an adverse effect upon the integrity of any relevant sites, 
either alone or in combination with other plans or projects”.  

1.1.15 
(SEA) 

This assessment has been carried out without a visit to the area 
in question.  It is preposterous that an assessment of a 
development of this scale, that will irrevocably impact the lives 

The site has been visited in the past by Lepus team members working 
on the BLP.  The nature of SEA is such that the process is strategic 
and high level. Site based evaluation is rarely undertaken since the 
process relies principally on secondary data, much of which is 

419

http://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5637011
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5956341


18 
 

of everyone living in Maidenhead, can take place via desk top 
research.  

obtained over longer periods of time.  The SEA is only as good as the 
data available to it. However, it should be noted that SEA is also ‘top’ 
of the assessment sequencing hierarchy, with the next step being 
EIA.  The EIA process will include many site visits and collect ‘real 
time data’ at the site scale to inform the EIA. 
 

1.1.15 
(SEA) 

Welcome the recommendations in Table 6.4 but suggest they 
do not go far enough. 
Request the “responsible authority” provides details of all the 
monitoring that has been undertaken as part of its environment 
and climate strategy that was adopted in December 2020.   

This SEA is not intended to report on the monitoring of the 
Environment and Climate Change Strategy. 
 
Updates on the delivery of the Environment and Climate Change 
Strategy can be found on the Council’s website.   

 

 

Section 2 Community and Stakeholder Engagement 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

2 The fundamental principle of taking the golf course out of the green 
bet and releasing it for housing development was never discussed at 
a community level.  The community was unable to affect that 
decision, nor the amount of development required.   

The decision to take the golf course out of the green belt was part of 
the Local Plan process which was subject to extensive public 
consultation. 

2 It is disingenuous to state that this was community engagement 
given that this was simply telling the community what has already 
been done.  There has been no indication at any of the events that 
anything would be amended based on community opinion.   

The issues raised during the early community engagement helped to 
shape the preparation of the draft SPD. Further changes to the 
document have been made following the consultation on the draft 
SPD.  

2.2.1 The community is very concerned about selling off woodlands and 
greenspaces when we are facing a climate, biodiversity and mental 
health crisis.  The development is not going to benefit the people of 
Maidenhead.  It will degrade our quality of life and our ability to 
adapt to the effects of climate change.  Losing our green lungs will 

Development in the area will provide new homes, including 
affordable homes, and new jobs in the town. The Local Plan policies 
and this SPD will help to ensure that environmental impacts are 
properly addressed, including ensuring that there is a strong green 
infrastructure framework to the new development, biodiversity net 

420

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/environment-and-waste/energy-and-sustainability/environment-and-climate-strategy


19 
 

make air pollution worse.  This is going to dramatically affect the 
health of our community.   

gain is secured and good sustainable travel options are available for 
new residents and workers. 

2.2.1 The SPD does not address the environmental concerns raised as a 
consequence of the DFSPD Engagement.  It also does not address 
the lack of infrastructure to support the development, increased 
traffic volumes and more green space for mental health.   

The Local Plan policy and the SPD seeks to address all of these 
concerns, by setting out a framework for securing development with 
high quality design standards, a strong green infrastructure 
framework, and sustainable travel measures embedded into the 
developments and connected to the wider network. A section of the 
SPD is dedicated to infrastructure, setting out the measures that are 
necessary and their costs, together with mechanisms to secure the 
necessary funding to deliver those measures. 

 

 

Section 3 Planning Policy Framework 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

3.2 Berkeley Homes have recently submitted an application for 214 
dwellings south of Harvest Hill Road yet there does not appear to be 
a plan in place yet for improving the eastern end of Harvest Hill Road 
for safe vehicular, cycle and pedestrian traffic movements.  When 
will this be in place? 
The Berkeley Homes application does not appear to address green 
infrastructure, biodiversity and net gain or measures to reduce 
climate change and environmental impacts 

The design section of the SPD (in section 6) sets out an approach to 
addressing Harvest Hill Road, recognising it as a key corridor in the 
new development. It includes proposals for a new walk/cycle route 
along its length providing a safe route for pedestrians and cyclists. 
The character of this corridor will change as new development 
comes forward. Traffic speeds will be reduced. 
 
The Berkeley Homes application will need to be assessed against the 
policies in the Local Plan and have regard to the SPD which will be a  
material consideration in determining that application. 

3.2.3 The text in the table at 3.2.3 is not consistent with BLP.  The word 
“need” should be omitted as this was not referenced in the BLP. 
Suggest instead the table acknowledges “not all of the site will be 
developed for employment”.  Removal of the word need will ensure 

Agree the word “need” does not appear in the relevant Local Plan 
policy. 
 
Amend to remove the word “need” from the Table re site AL14 

421



20 
 

that the importance of the Triangle Site in addressing the borough’s 
requirements for employment space is not constrained by the text 
of the SPD, given the flexibility within the Local Plan itself.   

3.2.3 The table states that the use of site ref. AL15 (Braywick Park) is 
“Strategic Green Infrastructure”. This is not fully consistent with the 
description contained in the Site Allocation Proforma AL15 at 
Appendix C of the BLP, which defines the allocation as: “A mixed use 
Strategic Green Infrastructure site to serve Maidenhead...” 
For consistency recommend the table under 3.2.3 is amended to 
refer to ‘a mixed use Strategic Green Infrastructure’.   
Also suggest the table at 3.2.3 is amended with: “...and provision of 
a range of sporting facilities (indoor and outdoor).   

Agreed that AL15 refers to wider uses 
 
Amend uses referred to in the table relating to AL15 to reflect the 
wider uses set out in the Policy for the site 

3.2.8 It is noted the traffic impact modelling is based on the BLP 
submission.  Confirm that as and when individual planning 
applications come forward the modelling will be reviewed, however, 
paragraph 3.2.8 of the draft SPD states: “the priority (across RBWM) 
should be to deliver smaller ‘flexible’ units...”  This change in 
employment type for AL14 is likely to impact the level of trips and 
distribution through the network. National Highways advise, where 
flexible industrial, office and warehousing is proposed they would 
expect the ‘worst case’ scenario in terms of potential trips to be 
modelled and form part of any planning application submissions for 
AL14.   

Noted. This is a matter for the transport assessment submitted by 
developers at the planning application stage to address. 

3.2.8 Given the limited availability of sites for employment space the text 
of the SPD should not seek to impose restriction on sizes of units 
beyond that provided within the policy.  As the policy states that 
larger units are appropriate, the word ‘will’ in the last sentence of 
paragraph 3.2.8 must be replaced with ‘should’ thereby ensuring 
consistency.   

Noted. 
 
Amend the text to accurately reflect the Local Plan policy (ED1) 

3.2.10 & 
4.9.1 

Mention should be made of the site provisions, conditions and 
restrictions applied to mineral extraction – dust control, working 

This is not necessary. There is no proposal for mineral extraction at 
this stage, only a requirement to undertaken an assessment of the 
viability and practicality of prior extraction of minerals. Policies in the 

422



21 
 

hours, etc.  Also, time scale and limits before mineral extraction 
must cease 

new Minerals and Waste Local Plan would be applied should any 
such proposals come forward. 

3.3.2 When will the tall buildings SPD published for consultation and 
adopted? 

It was published for consultation at the end of August 2022. We 
hope to adopt the SPD as soon as possible in 2023. 

3.4 This section mentions several policies, both adopted and draft, that 
cannot be implemented if this SPD is developed as written.   

Development in the SW Maidenhead should contribute towards 
delivering a number of the policies and strategies in this section. 

3.4.1 The development is incompatible with RBWM’s Climate and 
Environment Strategy which highlights the value of greenspace and 
trees for climate change mitigation.  

The Local Plan policy and the SPD highlight the importance of a 
strong green infrastructure framework for any development. Whilst 
it is recognised there will be some tree loss, significant new tree 
planting will also be necessary and biodiversity net gain secured. 

3.4.1 Reference made to “Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy 
Efficient Design”.  The Council advise this is an ‘interim’ position 
statement pending adoption of a Sustainability and Climate Change 
SPD.  As a ‘statement’ this does not have the weight of an SPD and 
this should be made clear.   

It is a matter for the decision taker the weight to be attached to this 
statement. It is clearly that it is not an SPD. 

3.4.2 Does the Council have a Biodiversity Action Plan? A Biodiversity Action Plan is being prepared and is expected to be 
adopted shortly 

 

 

Section 4 Area Analysis 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

4.1.2 Statement is out of date; the plan has not been updated to 
accommodate climate change emergency, pandemic legacy, 
heatwaves, pollution and water shortages that has happened in the 
interim.  The only way to meet these is to evolve the plans to 
remove the golf course land from the development.     

The site is allocated in the Local Plan following an extensive public 
examination by an independent planning inspector, who considered 
all the relevant evidence. The Plan was only adopted in February 
2022. The SPD cannot “de-allocate” the site and hence remove the 
site from development. 

4.2 Braywick Park and Ockwells Park are separated from the 
development area by motorways and dual carriageways and access 

There remains significant green spaces at both these locations but it 
is recognised that it is important to improve pedestrian and cycle 

423



22 
 

will only be granted from a few key places, and not accessible for 
wildlife. Braywick Park will lose a large area of its green space to a 
huge new football stadium and associated car parking and has 
already lost a significant proportion of green space to a new leisure 
centre and car parking.  The accessible green spaces will not be as 
significant as suggested in the SPD.   

connections to both Braywick Park and Ockwells Park as open space 
and recreation/leisure destinations. These improvements are part of 
the infrastructure package. 

4.2.2 There is an inaccurate assessment of the existing context in the 
northern section of the site.  The buildings here are 2 storey and 
elevated on a prominent hill.  The proposed buildings should 
therefore not be above 3 storeys in height.   
8 storey high density buildings to the north of the site ignores the 
local context of surrounding developments, a green leafy low 
density suburb.   

This assessment of the context has been re-drafted to more 
accurately reflect the scale of development in the northern section 
of the site.   

4.2.2 Braywick Park is no longer a significant area of open space as at least 
a third of it has already been lost to development (leisure centre, car 
park and school) and more is going to be lost when the football 
ground is moved to Braywick.   

It remains an important open space but also an important 
leisure/recreation destination 

4.2.2 Suggested wording to distinguish between the different character of 
the green spaces at Ockwells Park and Braywick Park: 
“Ockwells Park is located to the south-west of the SWMSPA and 
forms a significant green open space. Braywick Park, which is 
located to the east of the SWMSPA, accommodates a number of 
uses and buildings (including indoor and outdoor sports, food/drink 
and education) and forms a significant sports and recreation hub.” 

This more detailed explanation is not necessary for what is intended 
to be a very brief overview.  

4.2 The assessment of the building heights is wrong but also the SPD 
makes no reference to the topography of this part of the site.  There 
is no evidence on the impact of the long distance views. 

Agree that the description should refer to topography. 
 
Amend 4.2.2 to refer to the land falling away south of the golf 
course  

4.3 Triangle Warehousing Site should remain green; it floods and is 
unsuitable for warehousing.  Access to this site will be problematic 
as large vehicles visiting the site can only use the Braywick 
roundabout.  The A330 in Holyport is narrow and cannot 
accommodate large vehicles.   

The site is allocated for industrial and warehousing development in 
the Local Plan – as such the principle of development is established. 
The flood risk issues were fully considered as part of the decision to 
allocate the site in the Local Plan. Similarly the suitability of the site 
from a highway perspective would also have been considered.   

424



23 
 

4.3 The character of Maidenhead will be irrevocably changed by the 
scale this proposed development.   
This section needs to be changes to reflect how this development 
will irrevocably change the current landscape, character and views 
of Maidenhead to one that is much less green and leafy.   

This section is an overview of what the area is like at the moment. It 
is recognised that its character will change as a result of 
development but the aim is to secure high quality development in 
the area, based on a strong green infrastructure framework 

4.4.2 Ecology AL13 and 14: +10% in the same area should be a 
prerequisite and mandatory for developers with immediate effect 
not in 20+ years time. Lack of information with regards to what will 
happen to existing wildlife. 

The DFSPD states that biodiversity mitigation measures will be 
required and assessed through the planning application process.  
Section 3 of the DFSPD identifies the relevant planning policies which 
any application would be assessed against include QP1b, NR2 and 
the Site Allocation Proforma for AL13 which include biodiversity 
measures. 
Monitoring Indicator 9 of the BLP identifies the target that all 
developments to result in biodiversity net gain (at least 10%) 

4.4.2 Only at risk flora and fauna to be considered but no mention of 
mandatory way of finding and protecting these areas. 
There is no mention of how the negative impact on wildlife areas 
elsewhere will be identified and addressed.  

Detailed ecological surveys will be required to accompany planning 
application and appropriate mitigation measures will need to be 
identified and implemented by the developers. Applications will 
need to demonstrate biodiversity net gain. 

4.4 More detail is required here to provide reassurance.  What will be 
required and how will the planning process make sure that 
mitigation stays in Maidenhead and indeed within the borough.   

See response above. Section 6.7 of the SPD sets out the approach to 
securing biodiversity net gain and makes clear that biodiversity 
mitigation and net gain should be focused on the area covered by 
the SPD, and if necessary on land outside but near to the SPD area, 
and certainly within the Borough. 

4.5 Many of the trees on the golf course are not protected and 
consequently significant numbers of matures trees must be at risk.  
Development right up to Rushington Copse will prejudice the 
survival of these ancient trees.   Recommended that more trees 
across the site are protected, including most of the land within AL13 
that lies to the south of Harvest Hill Road and a copse on the 
Triangle site.   

It is not the function of the DFSPD to identify the full extent and 
number of TPO trees within the development site.  The scale of 
woodland and TPO trees is described without requiring detail.  The 
impact of development on specific trees/ groups of trees would be 
considered at application stage.   

4.5 No clarity as to what trees will be lost and the associated impact on 
wildlife.  There is no mandatory requirement on developers to 
ensure development will be sufficiently distant from trees to ensure 
their long-term survival. 

Detailed Tree Surveys and Tree Protection Plans would be required 
at planning application stage.   

425



24 
 

4.5 All TPO trees need to be retained Generally TPO trees should be retained. Occasionally there may be 
very good planning and design reasons to not retain trees. This 
would need to be fully justified and there would need to be 
replacement planting. 

4.5.1 Will RBWM be conducting a survey to assign TPOs as this land is 
being transferred to the developer? 
Under 4.5.1 suggest adding after “there are several large TPO areas 
that cover most of the land within AL13 that lies to the south of 
Harvest Hill Road” the words “RBWM will additionally undertake a 
survey of all the trees and plants at Maidenhead Golf Course to 
identify all trees and plants that require TPO to be imposed on.” 

Detailed tree surveys will be required by the developer for the golf 
course land, as indeed they will be required for other areas of 
development within the SW Maidenhead area 
 
It is not for the SPD to determine the approach to the use of TPOs 

4.5.1 Note that there is a line of trees with TPOs running along the border 
of where the five houses on Oaklands Grove (SL6 2EQ) meets the 
south-east edge of the proposed development area. This area 
should be marked out on the 'Illustrative Framework Plan' (6.2.2) 
map as style "9" (Retained existing and new planting along the rear 
of neighbouring properties) - currently this is missing from the map.  
This would be consistent with the markup of the trees at the rear of 
the houses on the west-side of Walker Road that is shown to be 
protecting/saving their treeline. 

The Illustrative Framework Plan is a high level plan – it is not 
intended to show all the detail but to illustrate principles. 

4.5.1 Reference is made to several large TPO areas that cover most of the 
land within AL13 that lies to the south of Harvest Hill Road. 
Aware of two TPO’s that relate to individual trees; not aware of 
‘most’ of the land that lies within AL13 south of Harvest Hill Road 
being covered by TPO.    

The areas referred to are covered by area TPOs. 

4.5.2 & 
4.13.1 
Figure 3 

The draft SPD suggests that the tree clump on The Triangle Site has 
the “potential to be categorized as ancient woodland”.  Whilst it 
then indicates this will be investigated further, figure 3 (p19) infers it 
is Ancient Woodland. 
The landowners of the site have commissioned a specialist 
consultancy (Sylvan) to assess whether the clump on the Triangle 
Site fulfils the criteria for classifying the site as Ancient Woodland.  

Natural England currently maintain an Ancient Woodland Inventory 
which identifies and maps the extent of ancient woodland 
nationally.  The site referred to in the SPD as “the clump” is identified 
on the Ancient Woodland Inventory as ancient woodland. This is the 
factual position.  
 
Amend text to state the factual position that the tree clump is 
identified as ancient woodland on the Ancient Woodland Inventory 

426



25 
 

The report concluded it does not, and as such, the clump must not 
be referred to as ancient woodland in the SPD.    

4.6 No mention under Conservation and Heritage as to the history of 
the golf course 

We are not aware of any designated heritage assets on the golf 
course, which is what this section is summarising. 

4.7.2 & 
4.13.4 

The current 40mph speed limit along Harvest Hill Road is too fast 
and often exceeded, there is no footpath in many places, crossing 
the road is very dangerous as there is no footpath and no street 
lighting. Implementing the development plan changes as soon as 
possible would be well received by local residents. A reduction in 
speed limits will make it safer and quieter, installation of 
roundabouts, footpaths, cycle track and lighting will provide 
pedestrians and cyclists immediate benefits.   

Noted and welcomed. 

4.7.2 No detail on how traffic will be managed.  Existing roads are heavily 
utilised and assessment of traffic increase looks very small for an 
additional 2,600 dwellings plus business transport.  The suggestion 
of a cycle lane and potentially a bus lane will add further to 
congestion and goals of a major percentage of movement being on 
foot or bicycle seem exaggerated and need to be scientifically 
assessed.   

The SPD sets out a range of traffic and transport measures to 
manage the traffic such, including a range of junctions that will need 
improving and guidance on the approach to Harvest Hill Road which 
will change in character as new development comes forward. New 
walking/cycling routes will be segregated from the main highway 
carriageway wherever possible, such as those alongside Harvest Hill 
Road and along the green spine through the housing development, 
so they should not add to traffic congestion. 

4.7.2 The northern part of the SWMPA adjoins Maidenhead Town Centre 
Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).  Have you quantified the 
increased traffic and congestion that will result, with the impact on 
air quality and the health of residents? How can this be mitigated?  
What are the detailed proposals? 

Additional traffic modelling has been undertaken to inform the 
infrastructure package set out in the SPD. More detailed transport 
assessments will be undertaken at the individual planning application 
stage that will quantify traffic congestion and set out proposed 
mitigation. The package of sustainable travel measures identified in 
the Local Plan and the SPD will assist in mitigating impacts. 

4.8 The Flood map shows some areas in Flood Zone 2 on the land to the 
south of Harvest Hill Road. The lower part of these fields flood 
regularly in winter, and increasing the impermeability of the golf 
course plus removing mature trees will acerbate this.  The lower 
lying area more prone to flooding should therefore not be 
developed.  

The Local Plan proforma for the AL13 site requires this to be 
considered through a flood risk assessment to accompany planning 
applications. 

427



26 
 

4.8 
 

Concern that the removal of green space and increase of hard 
surfaces will lead to the amount of run-off exceeding the capacity of 
the drainage system and lead to flooding of homes (which 
historically have flooded).  
What are the Borough’s plans to ensure this does not happen? 

The Local Plan requires that development proposals will need to 
demonstrate the sustainable management of surface water runoff 
through the use of sustainable drainage systems. This will need to be 
addressed by developers at the planning application stage. 

4.8 A request was made that the following text be added with regards 
to surface water drainage: 
“It is the responsibility of a developer to make proper provision for 
surface water drainage to ground, water courses or surface water 
sewer.  It must not be allowed to drain to the foul sewer, as this is 
the major contributor to sewer flooding.” 

The SPD contains a section on water infrastructure and this cross 
refers to Policy IF7 in the BLP. It adds that developers should contact 
the water/wastewater company at the earliest opportunity to 
discuss their development proposals. As such, it is considered that it 
is unnecessary to include the suggested text in the SPD.  

4.8 Braywick Park now floods behind the new leisure centre 
demonstrating the flood risk in this part of Maidenhead.  Not only 
does this section fail to address flood risk management with AL13 
and AL14 (where AL14 already has a major flood area by the M4 slip 
road) but additionally fails to record any figures regarding likely 
significant increase risk with the loss of a major part of AL13 
grassland and tree cover which currently absorbs rainwater.   

This section of the SPD is highlighting the constraints. Section 6.7 of 
the SPD considers this further and the Local Plan proformas for the 
development sites address flood risk further, including the need for 
more detailed flood risk assessments at the planning application 
stage. 

4.8.1. Would like to see the calculations for the sequential test and would 
also like to understand what is meant by “no sites at lower risk are 
reasonably available”.   

The sequential test was undertaken as part of the evidence to inform 
the allocation of the site in the Local Plan. The SPD provides a 
footnote to the sequential test report. 

4.8.2 The penultimate and last sentence of this paragraph can be omitted 
given the acceptability of the site for employment uses; the NPPF 
identifies employment uses in flood zones 1, 2 and 3a as less 
vulnerable.   

The developer will need to undertake a flood risk assessment to 
determine the ultimate developable area of the site, even though 
the principle of industrial and warehousing development as a whole 
is accepted through the Local Plan allocation. 
 
However, it is accepted that these two sentences are not necessary 
in a section that is summarising the nature of the flood risk on the 
site. 
 
Delete last two sentences of paragraph 4.8.2 

428



27 
 

4.9.1 
 

The site lies within a mineral safeguarding area.  The negative 
impact noted in the SEA on minerals is not similarly noted or 
resolved in the SPD. 
How long will extraction take and what are the consequences for 
infrastructure delivery? 

Section 3 of the SPD explains that the purpose of the minerals 
safeguarding area is for an assessment to be undertaken of the 
assess the viability and practicality of mineral extraction. If any 
extraction is considered appropriate, matters of timing and 
infrastructure implications would be considered at that stage. 

 The SPD has not investigated and set out a strategy for mineral 
extraction and sewer infrastructure  

See response above re mineral extraction. 
Re sewer infrastructure, this is a matter for the developers to liaise 
with Thames Water. However, it would be helpful to provide some 
high level guidance and signposting to policy on water infrastructure. 
 
Add short section on water infrastructure in section 6.7 

4.9.1 The SPD is misleading where risks to future food supplies are 
concerned, stating most of the land is classed as Grade 4 agricultural 
land, but contains no reference to Grade 3 investigations 

The Council produced a note for the Inspector as part of the BLP 
Examination (RBWM_062) explaining why Grade 3a Agricultural Land 
was not included in the site selection process.  When undertaking 
this work in 2019, the Council found that the available GIS data did 
not differentiate between Grades 3a (good quality) and 3b 
(moderate quality). The Inspector accepted that this approach was 
proportionate and appropriate. 

4.10 Doctors' surgeries in Maidenhead are already under extreme 
pressure; new medical facilities should be provided to meet the 
needs of new residents, not just relocating an existing surgery to the 
site, moving services further away from existing residents. 

The SPD sets out proposals for including a health hub as part of the 
local centre. This would meet the needs of new residents of the 
development, as well as potential involving relocation of existing 
facilities, subject to further consideration by health providers. 

4.10 The Green Lane allotments are located a long way from the south of 
the development site. Allotments are already much sought after in 
and the South West Maidenhead area should provide its own 
allotments for local residents. This will also help in keeping some 
biodiversity on site.  

The Local Plan proforma for the site indicates that the infrastructure 
provided on the AL13 site should be capable of accommodating food 
production. Section 6.7 of the SPD highlights this and suggests 
different forms of food production that could be provided, including 
food production. 

4.10.2 This paragraph is not supported by any meaningful evidence base 
and as such must be removed. 

This paragraph is based on discussions with health providers both as 
part of preparing the infrastructure delivery plan for the Local Plan 
and subsequent discussions as part of preparing this SPD. 

4.11 Pressure on existing facilities such as water, sewage, energy, etc; 
commitments must be secured from suppliers to increase provision 
in advance of the new development not once problems arise.   

Key suppliers (eg Thames Water) have been consulted as part of the 
preparation of this SPD. The Local Plan requires necessary 

429



28 
 

 infrastructure to be provided in advance or in tandem with 
development. 

4.11 A water usage target should be mandated in the draft planning 
document and it should also mandate the installation of water butts 
on the new development. 

It is not the role of this SPD to mandate targets such as this. However 
it would be helpful to refer to guidance on more efficient use of 
water/reduction in water consumption. 
 
Add reference in section 6.7 to the guidance in the Council’s 
Position Statement on Sustainability and Energy Efficient Design 
regarding water efficiency measures 

4.11 Thames Water acknowledges upgrades to infrastructure in 
Southwest Maidenhead will be required after 2025, which is the 
period in which most development is set to take place.  Without 
upgrades the system is likely to become overwhelmed.  This SPD is 
an opportunity to coordinate the upgrades, however, section 7.2 
does not consider utilities.  This should be addressed.   

The Local Plan Infrastructure section sets out policies in some detail 
in relation to utilities, notably water infrastructure, although it would 
be helpful to signpost this from the SPD. 
 
Add additional text in relation to water infrastructure in section 6.7 

4.11 The SPD relies on old evidence, why has this not been updated with 
the latest evidence on climate change? Little attention given to 
more frequent droughts.   
There is no evidence on water sustainability.   

It is recognised that this is an area of water stress 
 
Add additional text in relation to water infrastructure in section 
6.7, and signpost to the Council’s Position Statement re Energy 
Efficiency and Design regarding water efficiency measures 

4.11 There is no mention here about the provision of clean water for this 
development. Is water supply covered in the “Statement of Common 
Ground in 2020” signed by the Council and Thames Water, and has it 
been revisited in light of more recent projections for sustained 
water storages in this area? 

See above responses re water infrastructure. 
 
The Statement of Common Ground was specifically for the Local Plan 
process. There is no need to revisit it but the Council has engaged  
with Thames Water on this SPD and will continue to do so through 
the planning process. However developers will also need to work 
closely with Thames Water to ensure there is adequate water supply 
and sewerage provision. 

4.11 Paragraph 4.11 remains valid, but state it should also be taken into 
account the timescales involved in providing new wastewater 
infrastructure (18 months to 5 years).  It is therefore vital the 
Council and Developers work alongside Thames Water so they can 
build up a detailed picture of what is being built where, get 

Noted and agreed. 
 
The proposed text is already addressed in Local Plan policy IF7 but it 
would be helpful to refer to this in the SPD 
 

430



29 
 

confidence of when that development is going to start and what the 
phasing will be.  Request developers engage with Thames Water at 
the earliest opportunity. Additional text recommend.  
  

Add section re water infrastructure, including a cross reference to 
Policy IF7. 

4.11 Additional text requested as follows: 
“When considering sensitive development, such as residential uses, 
close to the Sewerage Treatment Works, a technical assessment 
should be undertaken in consultation with Thames Water.  The 
technical assessment should confirm that either: (a) there is no 
adverse amenity impact on future occupiers of the proposed 
development, or; (b) the development can be conditioned and 
mitigated to ensure that any potential adverse amenity impact is 
avoided.” 

The Local Plan already sets out a range of environmental protection 
policies that cover matters such as air pollution, noise and odour. 
These detailed technical assessments can be addressed in 
discussions with developers and assessed against the relevant Local 
Plan policies. 

4.11 Thames water support the mains water consumption target of 110 
litres per head per day as set out in the NPPG and support the 
inclusion of this requirement in the policy.  In order to achieve this 
the following text is recommended: 
“Development must be designed to be water efficient and reduce 
water consumption.  Refurbishments and other non-domestic 
development will be expected to meet BREEAM water-efficiency 
credits.  Residential development must not exceed a maximum water 
use of 105 litres per head per day (excluding the allowance of up to 5 
litres for external water consumption) using the ‘Fittings Approach’ 
in Table 2.2. of Part G of Building Regulations.  Planning conditions 
will be applied to new residential development to ensure that the 
new water efficiency standards are met.”  

As noted in earlier responses, it is recognised that the placemaking 
area is in an area of water stress. Whilst it is not for the SPD to set 
new water efficiency targets, it is appropriate to refer developers to 
guidance in the Council’s Position Statement on Sustainability. 
 
Add reference to the guidance in the Council’s Position Statement 
on Sustainability on water efficiency 

4.11.3 
 

Suggested wording: “New fibre optic/latest technology cabling will 
be provided to all new and existing properties in the South West 
Maidenhead area to offer improved data speeds to everyone.” 

This is a matter for broadband providers, working with the 
developers, to deliver. 

4.12 Noise and air quality issues could both be improved by protecting all 
the mature trees currently on the site.  Noise from air source heat 
pumps could be an issue 

Section 6.7 of the SPD sets out the approach to trees. The 
sustainable travel measures outlined in the SPD combined with 
improving environmental standards such as the introduction of 
electric vehicles will help reduce air pollution over time. 

431



30 
 

4.12 The reference to “vibration” should be omitted as it does not add 
any further detail that that in the BLP.   

Agreed 
 
Agreed – remove vibration from the title of this section and the 
content page 

4.12 Areas in Maidenhead exceeded the WHO target for safe air quality 
during the Heatwave demonstrating the impact of high density 
development 

Earlier responses have highlighted how a combination of high quality 
sustainable travel measures and changes to vehicle emissions over 
time should improve air quality  

4.12 It is disappointing that proposed protection from increased road 
noise and pollution considers new residents but not existing ones.   

See response above 

4.12 Air quality must be consistently measured before development 
starts to give a baseline and then carefully monitored.   

Monitoring does take place in the areas most affected, namely the 
Air Quality Management Areas 

4.12 Care must be taken that existing local residential roads do not 
become car parks/rat runs and that the resulting increase in traffic 
from such a huge development is properly accounted for, not just 
‘wishful thinking’ that the new residents won’t have cars or need to 
drive to work 

Noted. This is a matter for detailed parking standards in the 
development. These are likely to vary depending on how accessible 
the development is to the station and the town centre, and the type 
and size of homes provided. 

4.12 Bus services in Maidenhead have been declining for many years 
which will only decline further with future budget cuts 

The SPD sets out measures to ensure that bus services can be 
properly integrated into the development. Funding will be sought 
from the development to secure this. 

4.12.1 How is RBWM going to promote non-car travel? This SPD sets out a range of measures to promote non-car travel, 
notably the provision of high quality walk/cycle links, integration of 
public transport into the development and the inclusion of a local 
centre enabling people to access local community facilities without 
have to use their cars. 

4.13 The map of this area does not reflect that Braywick Park has been 
developed with a leisure centre and a school and has plans for a 
football stadium.  

The Plan is intended to show the main planning and environmental 
constraints in the area rather than where existing areas of 
development area are or where plans may be being proposed. 

4.13.1 
Figure 3 

Whilst SPD figure 3 illustrates the extent of flood zone 3, given the 
acceptability of employment space within flood zone 3a, this should 
be recognised through a footnote to this illustration.   

This is not necessary or appropriate. The Plan is intended to show 
the constraints at a high level, not explain the detail of how they 
might be applied on a site-by-site basis.  

4.13.2 The weaknesses identified for accessibility for pedestrians also 
applies to all the wildlife currently located on this site.   

Noted – the text indicates poor connectivity generally, not just for 
pedestrians. 

432



31 
 

4.13.6 Please share the mitigation plans, in particular for the increased 
pressure on existing facilities and infrastructure, including on the 
highway network.   

Section 6.6 of the SPD sets out transport mitigation measures, 
section 7 explains the approach to infrastructure more generally and 
Appendix 2 sets out a fuller list of infrastructure projects that need 
funding through section 10 agreements and Community 
Infrastructure Levy. Other infrastructure (eg utilities) will be provided 
direct by the developers in consultation with utility providers 

 

 

Section 5 Vision 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

Section 5 
General 
comment 

The vision would be noble if it were not to the detriment of 132 
acres of publicly owned Green Belt land with many areas of dense 
woodland containing thousands of mature trees.  This plan 
decimates biodiversity that has been established for hundreds of 
years. 

Section 6 of the SPD sets out the approach to a range of 
environmental matters, including biodiversity, trees, and delivery 
high quality design in the development 

Section 5 
General 
comment 

Concerned that developers will not adhere to biodiversity policy 
requirements; no detail on how the +10% gain is to be achieved.  If 
Biodiversity Net Gain cannot be achieved within the placemaking 
area there is no indication of how or when RBWM intends to engage 
with possible offset providers.   

 Biodiversity requirements and biodiversity net gain are policy 
requirements in the Local Plan and, in relation to the 10% net gain, 
will become legal requirements later in 2023. Section 6.7 of the SPD 
sets out more information on the approach to securing net gain, 
seeking to maximise biodiversity mitigation within the development 
area and then within the placemaking area. Developers are expected 
to work with the Council to secure the best biodiversity solutions 
locally. 

Section 5 
General 
comment 

Plans on show at the consultation events showed very little ‘green’, 
particularly on Maidenhead Golf Course and no mention of ‘blue’; it 
seems the SPD has already moved some way from this ‘vision’.   

Disagree. A strong green infrastructure framework underpins the 
design principles in the SPD. However, the Policy requirement in the 
Local Plan proforma for site AL13 for a central green space on the 
site in the transition area between the two neighbourhoods is not as 
well represented on the Framework Plan (Fig 4) as it could be.  

433



32 
 

 
Amend Figure 4 Framework Plan to highlight the transition zone 
between the two neighbourhoods where a central green area 
would be located include appropriate explanatory text in the key. 

Section 5  
General 
comment 

Wildlife will not be able to move from pockets of green areas across 
Braywick Road and the A404.  There are no green underpasses 
planned.   

Development will need to provide, as part of the green infrastructure 
network, good ecological/wildlife connectivity through the 
development areas to allow wildlife movement  

5.1.2 
 

The approach to Maidenhead from the motorway as a result of this 
plan will be an industrial estate and warehousing, not green fields.  
A large new school will front Harvest Hill Road, not hidden behind a 
leafy buffer.  The green space at Braywick has been reduced and 
both Braywick Park and Ockwells Park are separated from the 
development site by busy roads.  It is hard to see how building a 
high density development on green space makes for a greener 
existence, or increases biodiversity.   
 

The SPD recognises the importance of the Triangle site as a key 
gateway to the town of Maidenhead, and this is reflected in the Pro 
forma for the allocated site AL14 and policy QP1b of the BLP which 
requires high quality new development.   
The SPD expresses a vision that will create continuity across the 
development area through the use of strategic green infrastructure 
to ensure that the identity of the new development reflects the 
perception of Maidenhead as a green town.   

 

  

434



33 
 

Section 6 Design and Delivery Principles 

Sections 6.1 – 6.3 Design 

General Comments on Design Section 

Para No. Summary Council Response  

6 The Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead Community Land Trust 
welcome a wide range of housing types, densities and tenures. Seek 
solutions to problems of affordability / enable affordability to be 
passed on from generation to generation. Opportunities for 
community led development which are socially and environmentally 
sustainable.   

Noted. See comments in relation to section 6.5 

6 SPD refers to “Northern Neighbourhood” and “Harvest Hill 
Neighbourhood”. BLP refers to “northern” and “southern” 
neighbourhoods.  It would be helpful if the references in the SPD 
were consistent with the BLP.  

Noted and agree clarification is needed. 

Amend to make clear that the Southern Neighbourhood in the Local 
Plan proforma is now called the Harvest Hill Neighbourhood in this 
SPD 

 The strategic rationale for the green spine south of Harvest Hill Road 
(HHR) is reduced if there is no longer a requirement for the bridge 
over the A308M. 
It should be replaced with a network of green streets south of the 
HHR.   
 
The Green Spine is too wide south of the HHR.  This will lead to 
design problems and isolated blocks of development.  It would also 

The ‘Approach to the Green Spine’ section already focusses on legibility 
and directness of access to the Local Centre as the purpose of the 
green spine (north and south of HHR) as well as overall good 
connectivity via sustainable means. The removal of the bridge over the 
A308 does not affect this, the primary reason for an intact and legible 
green spine extending to the south of HHR. 

435



34 
 

affect parking layout.  If it is to be retained then it should split at the 
local centre and extend further to the east. 

The proposal to split the green spine and locate it further east would 
dilute its coherence and legibility, as would replacing it south of the 
HHR with a network of green streets.   

 The role and function of the Southern Green Fringe needs to be 
clearer 

Noted. 

Amend text at: Annotation 6 on the Framework Plan for the southern 
green margin, paragraph 6.3.25, and annotation to 3rd row to Green 
Spine diagrams at 6.3.26, to reflect the intended combined 
biodiversity and informal recreation function of the southern green 
fringe. 

Building 
Heights 
generally 

Development of 5 or 6 storey blocks (or 6-8 storeys) are too high – 
this is high ground and development of this scale will dominate the 
surroundings and be clearly visible from Cliveden. 

The site is not in the town centre or even the town centre fringe. 

Building heights would not be sympathetic to the surrounding area 
which is mainly 3 storeys and would affect quality of life of nearby 
residents including due to overlooking.  Site is already higher than 
properties on eastern side. 

Taller buildings separate people from the street, are not good for 
people’s health and are not suitable. 

The Local Plan proforma for the AL13 site distinguishes between the 
two neighbourhoods, highlighting that the northern neighbourhood 
will be orientated towards the town centre with building heights and 
densities reflecting those in the town centre.  
 
The northern neighbourhood is close to the town centre. 
 
Concerns are recognised about the relationship with the surrounding 
residential areas, and there should be a principle that building heights 
step down from the centre to the edge of the site as a result. 
 
Amend the guidance to highlight the issue of the relationship with 
surrounding properties and illustrate with a diagram the principle of 
stepping down heights towards the edge of the site 

436



35 
 

 The SPD fails to highlight any guidance on building aesthetics and 
misses an opportunity to set the bar for architectural flair and 
individuality which is lacking in the town centre developments viz the 
new car park (eyesore) on Stafferton Way. 

The SPD is intended to focus on design principles.  Detailed 
architectural considerations will be considered fully at the planning 
application stage.  

 The SPD states that the dense flats may be 6-8 storeys high and this 
is supported by flats in Broadlands which are this height.  This is 
incorrect.  These flats are only 3-4 storeys high and are all below the 
development on golf course and indeed cannot be seen.  The heights 
of dwellings at town end of development should be of similar height 
to Rushington Avenue.  Should be more guidance on building heights.   

Noted. Further guidance on the approach to building heights at this 
northern end of the AL13 site is set out in the Building Height and Tall 
Building SPD, a draft of which was consulted on recently.   

 

 

Comments on Illustrative Framework Plan (Figure 4) 

 

Para 
No. 

Summary 
 

Council Response 
 

General When finalising the document, it is considered that a clearer key with 
larger symbols would be beneficial. 

Noted – will increase symbol sizes in Figure 4 to make them clearer 

437



36 
 

4d There are significant changes in existing levels, as well as unregistered 
land and existing residential properties, which would prevent a 
frontage onto Kimbers Lane from being feasible. Feedback from public 
engagement has also identified significant concern about any 
proposals, which include development fronting this location. 
Accordingly, notation 4d should be reworded to remove reference to 
built form fronting both sides of Kimbers Lane. 

The note sets out an important planning and design principle with 
regard to built frontages onto Kimbers Lane. The developer should look 
to identify solutions that respect the principles set out in the SPD 
where there are constraints  
 

5 Reference is made to the ‘Harvest Hill neighbourhood’ however, this 
has not been defined in the draft SPD and accordingly it is unclear 
which elements of the allocation this note relates to. 

The Harvest Hill Neighbourhood is defined variously at annotation 2, 
4b and 5 of Figure 4, within the ‘Approach to Harvest Hill 
Neighbourhood’ section, the ‘Approach to Green Spine’ section, as well 
as housing and community needs sections.   

6 This notation identifies that the southern green margin will contribute 
to biodiversity gain across the South West Maidenhead area. At 
present, no agreements are in place between the stakeholders and 
this land is in private ownership. It is unclear what role this area is 
expected to make, nor how this will be delivered or secured, or how it 
will relate to the wider South West Maidenhead area. It should not be 
expected or assumed that these areas should (or indeed can) offset 
other developments within the wider allocation. Site specific strategies 
should be provided with each application and if unfeasible to deliver 
on site, and where there are multiple applications, a strategic 
approach should be taken to securing off-site credits 

The role of the southern green margin is identified as contributing to 
biodiversity gain across the South West Maidenhead area, as well as 
informal recreation.  As an ecological facility it should connect to the 
wider network of wildlife corridors and habitats.   
 
It is for developers to ensure there is coordination across different 
application sites  
 
 

438



37 
 

10 Reference is made to “a series of key junctions”, however, only one 
label has been included on the diagram and, as such, it is unclear 
which other junctions are also considered to be key. We would suggest 
that the other key junctions are also identified, which could also be 
ordered in relation to their scale and therefore, significance. 

Agree clarification would be helpful. 

Amendment - Label ’10’ duplicated to refer to every symbol of the 
same type denoting ‘key junction’. 

Green 
Spine 

Suggest the addition of an annotation to the Plan that, in the area 
south of Harvest Hill Road, this function of the green spine could be 
accommodated via green streets, enhancement/management of 
existing boundary vegetation and through the incorporation of good 
planning and design practice. 

No change to the function of the Green Spine 

Amendment - Clarification added to the Green Spine table (at 6.3.26: 
row 5, 2nd sentence) identifying that it will be distinguishable from 
the surrounding green streets which feed in to it, creating a hierarchy 
between the spine and surrounding streets.   

Table at 
p.26 

Item 4 

This description of the green spine does not reflect its different 
requirements along its length and as such contradicts the SPD 
elsewhere where it acknowledges the ‘form and function’ of the green 
spine will vary. 

The function of the green spine remains unchanged, however: 

Amendment: the text has been amended to reflect a more flexible 
use language whilst ensuring it continues to serve its purpose.   

Illustrat
ive 
Frame
work 

Where green streets are shown in the Illustrative Framework Plan on 
the land south of Harvest Hill Road, on our client’s land in an east-west 
direction, the potential for such links and their location(s) are limited 
by land ownership constraints and physical features – principally, the 
existing hedgerow which borders our clients land to the west. Whilst 
only an illustrative plan, we consider it important that what is shown is 
ultimately deliverable. 

It is important that landowners/developers in preparing their planning 
applications work together to deliver green streets and good east/west 
connectivity. 
 
 

439



38 
 

Triangle 
site 
 
Annota
tion 3 

It is essential that the text 
at annotation 3 of the Illustrative Framework Plan notes the internal 
arrangement and layout of the site will have regard to market needs at 
the time of formal application submission/determination.  
 
It should also recognise the requirements associated with larger units 
which are acceptable on the site and that this could readily result in 
divergence from the illustrative layout. 

The layout included in this section is clearly indicated as illustrative.  It 
would not be appropriate or necessary to change the text to refer to 
market needs at application stage, as the Local Plan policy provides the 
framework for what should be provided on site. 
 
Annotation 3 has been amended to reference the acceptability of 
larger units, only where they are required to secure a delivery of a 
mix of units as part of a comprehensive scheme, in line with Local 
Plan policy. 

Triangle 
Site 

 

Annota
tion 3 

Point 3 references consideration of 
street scene and public realm matters, the needs of operators/users of 
the buildings are important, especially with respect of servicing 
arrangements which could hinder the aspirations in the SPD. 
Additionally, given the limited opportunities within the borough to 
meet the needs for employment floorspace, this will impact upon the 
ability to achieve extensive separation of vehicular and pedestrian 
movements on the site. 

The creation of good public realm in this development is critical.  
 
The text at the 4th sentence of annotation 3 of the Illustrative 
Framework Plan has been amended to reference servicing 
arrangements, however, this is not incompatible with achieving a 
high quality and safe public realm. 
 
 

Triangle 
Site 

 

Annota
tion 3 

The last sentence of annotation 3 is considered to be overly detailed 
for the SPD in referencing ‘active elevations’, given the evolving needs 
and demands of the Borough’s business market.   

The SPD is seeking to establish important design principles and this 
reference is not considered to be inappropriate or too detailed  
 
 

Braywic
k Park 

Appropriate to show existing facilities located within the park Whilst this is not considered necessary, the changes to Figure 4 more 
clearly distinguish the built form and green space at Braywick Park, 
and the leisure and recreation facilities are regularly referenced 
throughout the SPD. 

440



39 
 

Braywic
k Park 

Annota
tion 8  

Suggest that a distinction is made between Braywick Park and 
Ockwells Park given the important indoor and outdoor sports provision 
at Braywick Park, rather than the informal outdoor recreation space at 
Ockwells Park. 
 
Suggested change to text: 
“In addition to being a strategic green space, Braywick Park 
accommodates a range of indoor and outdoor sports and leisure 
facilities, a SEN school, a restaurant and a garden nursery. and 
Improvements…..” 

It is not considered necessary to distinguish between the characters of 
the two parks at Braywick and Ockwells given that, combined, they 
provide important strategic green spaces and leisure facilities for the 
whole of Maidenhead. The policy context section of the SPD already 
sets out the appropriate uses in the AL15 designated area.     

Figure 4 
and 
Annota
tion 13 

Annotation 13 of Figure 4 shows a proposal for a station forecourt on 
land the Council / developer do not have control of so it would be 
impossible to implement.  It shows a key junction with links to the 
station and a high density hub which if implemented would result in 
the loss of a strip of ancient woodland. 

The pink shaded area labelled ‘Station Forecourt’ has been removed 
from Figure 4 as it has been misinterpreted as a redevelopment area. 
 

The text for annotation 13 remains unchanged as it reflects the vision 
to create a direct access to the station.  

 A footpath / cycleway link to the station is proposed but there are 
ownership constraints, and the land is so steep it would not be 
possible to implement to a standard that is safe and would meet 
Highway standards.  It would also require the removal of mature trees. 

Pink shading removed (as comment above) 

Annotation 13 suggests development form should safeguard the long-
term potential to realise the possibility of connecting the SWMPA with 
the Station and Town Centre beyond.  As a consequence, the green 
spine is shown extending to the northern-most boundary of the 
development area where it would meet the existing footpath and a key 
junction indicted.   

 The landscape buffer for Courtlands and Crescent Dale would be 
removed and replaced with 8 storey high, high density buildings set on 
significantly higher ground.   

The AL13 proforma in the BLP and the SPD indicate that building 
height, densities and typologies in the northern neighbourhood will 
reflect those in the town centre given its proximity.  Despite the 
indication that densities are likely to be higher in the northern 

441



40 
 

neighbourhood the SPD encourages a variety a of building heights to 
be considered and is not prescriptive in this regard.   

 A safe pavement/cycleway needs to be built that goes up the length of 
Harvest Hill Road 

The Harvest Hill Road section of 6.3 and Appendix 2 (Infrastructure 
Schedule) identifies the need for a walk/cycle route on the north side 
of Harvest Hill Road 

 

 

Comments on Access and Movement Diagram (Figure 9) 

 

Para No. Summary Council Response 

Figure 9 and 
annotation i 

The delivery of additional frontage onto Kimbers Lane is not 
considered feasible. Further it is considered that the 
incorporation of further development along this frontage would 
also detrimentally impact the existing character of the country 
lane. 

This is an important planning and design principle with regard to built 
frontages onto Kimbers Lane. The developer should look to identify 
solutions that respect the principles set out in the SPD where there are 
constraints  
 

 It is unclear how the southern green margin can successfully 
perform a role as a legible and accessible pedestrian and cycle 
route through the development, whilst also still delivering 
biodiversity enhancements as referenced in the Illustrative 
Framework Plan. 

Pedestrian and cycle connectivity and biodiversity are not considered 
to be mutually exclusive. 

The descriptions of the southern green margin within the SPD are 
sufficiently flexible to enable a variety of design solutions to combined 
ecological and informal recreation uses. 

442



41 
 

 Concerned regrading the compatibility of the aspirations for 
Kimbers Lane and the nearby surroundings given the existing 
waste transfer facility, which does not appear to be adequately 
addressed in the draft SPD as an existing constraint.  This issue 
would be further exacerbated by the pending appeal decision 
(ref:APP/T0355/W/21/3289347) associated with the waste 
transfer facility, which would increase the number of HGV 
movements along Kimbers Lane substantially.   

Paragraph 4.12.4 identifies there is an existing inert waste recycling 
site to the western end of Kimbers Lane.   

It is unclear how this existing use would restrict improvements to make 
links to Ockwells Park safer and more legible. 

The outcome of the appeal is unknown at the time of preparing this 
response. 

Item 9 The existing planting to be retained and new planting should be a 
meaningful width (3-5m) with a pedestrian path in the middle, but 
unlikely to work for some Protected Species.  Widths should be 
50m 

This is not considered to be appropriate or necessary 

A suitable planting width would be determined at planning application 
stage and could be specific to any individual situation, such as existing 
planting, length/ nature of existing property, rear boundary type, 
which will vary.   

 

  

443



42 
 

Comments on Other Diagrams in section 6.3 

 

Para No. Summary Council Response 
 

Figures 4 
and 9 

Question the proposed location of the green spine as shown on 
Figures 4 and 9 because it would direct pedestrians and cyclists to 
the outer extremity of the southern green margin to an area of scrub 
vegetation.  It therefore does not represent the likely desire line for 
journeys from the local centre southwards. 

The green spine provides a continually connected and legible route for 
pedestrians and cyclists throughout the South West Maidenhead 
areas, from the station and the northern neighbourhood, through the 
local centre and southern (Harvest Hill) neighbourhood, connecting to 
the southern green margin at the furthest southern point, which could 
be used for informal recreation as well as biodiversity gain. It is a key 
route into which other pedestrian and cycle routes can make their way 
to, gathering up pedestrian and cycle movements. 

Amend text at Annotation 6 of Figure 4 to reflect the potential dual 
function of the southern green margin to include informal recreation, 
which makes the continuation of the green spine to this point in 
keeping with the legibility.   

Figures 5 
and 6 

Suggest show Braywick Road on these diagrams Agreed 

Diagrams amended to show Braywick Road including the appropriate 
annotation 

Figure 7 Suggest the title is amended to: 
“Illustrative cross sections – Accommodating family housing” 

Agreed  

Amend title to include ‘Illustrative cross sections’ and additional text 
included before the illustrative sections to clarify they are not 
intended as a specification of building heights. 

444



43 
 

P47 – 48 Section C indicative cross section for the green spine demonstrates 
an inefficient use if the space and discords with the text box at p45 
where it refers to an ‘oversized residential street’.   
Suggested redesign of the layout of the green spine. 
Also observed if parking in area ‘F’ is not allowed for more than 
occasionally it will have the effect of pushing parking into rear 
parking courts which can be undesirable from a design perspective.   

 The cross sections are for illustrative purposes and do not show a 
definitive design for the layout of the green spine, rather they set 
down some general principles  

The SPD establishes that the approach to parking will vary in the 
different character areas 

Figure 11 
(b) 

Surely a better junction for vehicular access will also be required 
between Shoppenhangers Road and Harvets Hill Road? 

The text referenced here is explaining how best to improve provision 
for cyclists and pedestrians at either end of Harvest Hill Road; it is not 
concerned with vehicular access.    

Figure 11 
(d) 

The individual TPO trees along the south side of Harvest Hill Road in 
section d may prevent a segregated cycleway being provided on this 
side of the carriageway. 
Suggested the best location for an east-west cycleway would be 
along the north side of Harvest Hill Road.  Do not need one on both 
sides of the carriageway.   

Retention of TPO trees need not prevent a segregated walk/cycle 
route, however, the route may need to deviate to accommodate the 
trees 

It is possible that a cycle way may not be needed on both sides of the 
road, however, a footway will be required on the south side as well as 
the north. 

Amend text at Figure 11 d: to reflect the above 

Figure 12  
(p56) 
 

Object to the requirement that the green spine to the south of 
Harvest Hill Road (HHR) should be greater in width that HHR.  Do not 
agree it is necessary or justified in the location south of the HHR, and 
certainly not beyond any ‘way finding’ function (i.e. beyond the 
entrance of our development parcel).   

As stated above, the purpose of the green spine is more than just way 
finding. 

 

 

 

445



44 
 

Detailed points in relation to the text (sections 6.1 – 6.3) 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary Council Response 
 

6.1.2 The overarching design principle below is just ludicrous when 
this plan is set to destroy 200 acres 
of green belt land including the 132 acres of the golf course 
land. 
“Ensure that development is designed to incorporate 
measures to adapt to and mitigate climate change, 
including the delivery of net zero carbon development on site 
where this is feasible.” 

The Local Plan proforma for AL13 includes a series of measures to 
mitigate the impact of the development, many of which are reaffirmed 
within the SPD.   

6.1.2 The principles focus on AL13 and AL14 but should also cover 
AL15 and suggest adding: 
 
“Create a high-quality strategic sporting hub for Maidenhead, 
comprising a range of high quality indoor and outdoor 
sporting facilities which meet identified needs. 
 
And Braywick Park is visible from A308 and QP1b requires a 
strong and identifiable gateway into Maidenhead from the 
South, so add: 
 
Create a distinctive, sustainable, high quality new 
development which provides a strong and identifiable 
gateway into Maidenhead from the south.” 
 

The text suggested is not considered to be compatible with the Local 
Plan proforma for AL15, where it is identified as a ‘Strategic Green 
Infrastructure site’, with a variety of uses, not just a sports hub.   

The suggested text on providing a gateway into Maidenhead is the 
same wording used in clause 5b of Policy QP1b in the BLP and there is 
no need to repeat this in the SPD.  

446



45 
 

6.1.2 Bullets 2, 3 and 4 seem to have been ignored in the northern 
neighbourhood. How can high-density flatted developments 
‘include varied residential character and mix of housing types’. 
Where are the ‘centre of activity’ and ‘vibrant local centre’ 
which will ‘facilitate more sustainable lifestyles’? Are they both 
the ‘town centre’? 

The ‘varied residential character and mix of housing types’ relates to 
the whole of the SWMPA rather than a particular area within it.   

The northern neighbourhood is identified as comprising a low traffic, 
high density development due to its proximity to the town and station.   
The southern (Harvest Hill) neighbourhood includes residential areas to 
the north and south of Harvest Hill Road and is focussed around the 
school and local centre and is therefore intended to primarily comprise 
family housing.  

The SPD has been amended to include an area of transition between 
these two neighbourhood areas to the north and south.  This area 
would mark a distinctive transition through green space from one 
neighbourhood area to the other.  This recreation and ecological 
space would serve the northern neighbourhood as well as the 
southern and the legible green spine would encourage a sustainable 
connection from the northern neighbourhood to the local centre.     

6.1.2 There is a risk that the ‘higher hierarchy’ version of the green 
spine would have the effect of dividing and isolating some 
residential development blocks, contrary to paragraph 6.1.2 
which seeks to avoid piecemeal or isolated part of 
development. 

The continuous nature of the green spine on the north / south axis is 
the legibility and coherence that would ensure developments do not 
appear isolated or piecemeal.   

6.1.2 Suggest paragraph 6.1.2 wording is altered from “... including 
the delivery of net zero carbon development on site where this 
is feasible” to “...unless it can be demonstrated that this is not 
feasible, in which case the requisite contribution to the Carbon 
Offset Fund should be secured as a planning obligation.”  It 
should be a requirement, not a preference, that net carbon is 
achieved on the site 

Amend text to remove reference to delivery of net zero carbon 
development. 

This is because the subject is considered at length in Section 6.7. 

447



46 
 

6.2 The level of information contained in the draft SPD does not 
enable Thames Water to make an assessment of the impact 
the proposed development will have on the waste 
water/sewerage network infrastructure and sewage treatment 
works.  To provide more specific comments details of the type 
and scale of development together with the anticipated 
phasing would be required.   

It is not appropriate for the SPD to contain this level of detail; this is a 
matter for the developers to liaise with Thames Water at the planning 
application stage.  

However, it is considered appropriate to provide some high level 
guidance and signposting to policy on water infrastructure. 

Add short section on water infrastructure in section 6.7 

6.2 

Figure 4 

It would be impossible to build a 4m wide footpath / cycleway 
linking the train station as the developer would not have 
control of the land.  The steep topography would make the 
footpath / cycleway unsafe.  Widening the path would result in 
the removal of a strip of ancient woodland.   

The green spine is indicated to extend up to the northern boundary of 
the site, where an existing footpath connects to Shoppenhangers Road 
and the station forecourt beyond.   

Whilst it may not be achievable in the short term, the text for 
annotation 13 remains unchanged as it reflects the long-term vision to 
create a direct access to the station from the SWMPA. 

6.2 

Figure 4 

The gardens at Rushington Avenue should not have to retain 
their planting along the rear gardens to contribute to 
connectivity for wildlife benefit.  If private gardens are 
removed from the hatched area, what remains is a narrow 
strip of 10m.  A 10m buffer zone is inadequate to provide any 
landscape screening or mitigation against the impacts of the 
proposal on neighbouring properties and would not be 
sufficient to protect existing mature trees.   
The green hatched area should remove land outside of the 
Council’s control and the green hatched area should be 
extended within the development area by up to 30m. 

The SPD does not require neighbouring properties to retain existing 
planting within their rear gardens. Annotation 9 refers to retaining 
planting along the rear of neighbouring properties.   

448



47 
 

Figure 4 & 
Figure 9 

If the continuation of the green spine is needed south of 
Harvest Hill Road, a more appropriate location would be for 
the green spine to split in the local centre and then extend 
further east before crossing Harvest Hill Road  

Disagree. This would dilute the continuity and legibility of the green 
spine. 

 

6.2.2 A masterplan for the whole SW Maidenhead development will 
be required before anyone planning application can be 
considered for a particular phase.  It is not possible to 
comment on individual planning applications without seeing 
how each piece of the jigsaw fits into the entire development.  
The principal developer for SW Maidenhead must prepare a 
phased masterplan illustrating the sequence, layout and areas 
of build.  This must be produced prior to the submission of any 
detailed planning application.   

The SPD is intended to provide a framework for planning applications 
to come forward in a way that delivers comprehensive and 
coordinated development, by both providing design principles and a 
coordinated approach to infrastructure delivery. The Council is unable 
to prevent planning applications being submitted prior to the adoption 
of the SPD.  

6.2.2 Table makes a number of statements using the word “should” 
– needs to be more affirmative by using “must” or “will” or 
“need to” 

Use of the words suggested risks using the statements being 
interpreted as policy rather than guidance which would not be 
appropriate in an SPD. 

6.2.2 

Illustrative 
Framework 
Plan 

Item 12 on Map 

As an owner of a property on the south side of Harvest Hill 
Road (HHR) it is critical for us that the junction of HHR and 
Braywick Road is improved / reconfigured before construction 
on the south side of HHR begins.  It is already very dangerous 
to cross as a pedestrian from HHR over Braywick Road to 
Bray/Braywick Nature Park and School.  Before the crossing is 
made busier with construction traffic and large lorries a safe 
crossing needs to be constructed.   

Section 6.6 of the SPD and Appendix 2 (Infrastructure Schedule) 
identify this junction as being in need of improvement. It is agreed that 
this should include crossing facilities across Braywick Road for 
pedestrians and cyclists, connecting up with the proposed new 
pedestrian/cycle route on Harvest Hill Road.   

449



48 
 

6.2.2 

Illustrative 
Framework 
Plan 

Item 12 on Map 

A safe pavement / walkway needs to be built and made 
available that goes up the length of HHR at the beginning or an 
early stage of the development.  Currently there is no safe 
pavement or cycle route up the full length of HHR from 
Braywick Road to Shoppenhangers Road.  Once construction 
traffic starts using HHR it will be very dangerous to walk or 
cycle up HHR in its current condition.   

Agreed. The SPD proposes that a segregated walk/cycle route should 
be provided on the north side of Harvest Hill Road. Section 7.2 of the 
SPD highlights that this is one of the pieces of infrastructure that 
should be delivered early on in the development. 

6.2.2 Pocket parks are not going to be sufficient for wildlife and 
health. Significant areas of greenspace and woodland are 
required to have healthy habitats for wildlife, clean air, shade 
and a place for recreation and improved mental health and 
wellbeing.   

The plans currently show high density development abutting 
the Ancient Woodland of Rushington Copse.    

Pocket parks are not the only open space proposed. A central green 
area, a green infrastructure network including green spine, and a 
southern green fringe will all contribute towards open space, 
recreation and habitats for wildlife. 

The Local Plan proforma indicates that buffers will need to be provided 
to protect Rushington Copse. 

6.2.2 The Illustrative Framework Plan is misleading as it shows 
Braywick Park as being entirely green but there are large 
buildings and a car park there.  There are also plans to build a 
new football stadium there.   

Figure 4 has been updated with the Leisure Centre and other main 
buildings having been excluded from the green shading at Braywick 
Park.  They are now identifiable as built areas.  

However, the football club does not have planning permission for a 
new stadium and it is not allocated in the BLP, as such it would not be 
appropriate to reflect this on Figure 4.       

Table at page 
27  

A clear distinction should be made between Braywick Park and 
Ockwells Park.  Suggest point 8 in the table should include 
reference to the existing sports facilities at Braywick Park.   

This is not considered necessary – the policy context already sets out 
the role of the AL15 allocation. 

450



49 
 

6.3 Within the Design Principles (section 6.3), the proposed 
methodology for urban block structure should make reference 
to maximising opportunities for both natural heat (solar gains) 
and ventilation through the optimal orientation of buildings 
(see BLP Policy SP2(1)(a)).   

Agree that reference should be made to natural heating and 
ventilation, but it is important that this does not compromise the 
integrity of a walkable and legible neighbourhood. 

Amend parts 1 and 5 of the section on block structure (6.3.6) to refer 
to maximising opportunity for natural heat and ventilation. 

6.3 Disappointing that the proposal for an active-travel connection 
to the triangle site via a bridge over the A308(M) appears to 
have been discounted due to cost.  We would like to see the 
green spine also extend south to the triangle site through the 
creation of a green bridge.   

Section 6.6 of the SPD indicates that the option of the bridge and an 
alternative solution were reviewed and it was concluded that the 
alternative could provide comparable benefits. 

6.3.1 

Figure 5 

In the area marked AL14 - allocated as an Industrial Site - A 
new, large supermarket should be mandated to be built to 
serve the community in this area that is increasing in size. 

The AL14 site is allocated in the Local Plan for industrial and 
warehousing purposes to help meet the need for that type of 
development. The SPD cannot change the allocation in the Local Plan. 
The policy for the AL13 housing site includes the requirement for a 
local centre to include local retail facilities. This will be more 
convenient and accessible for those living in the new housing 
development. 

6.3.2 This is a major change from the BLP. In that plan the northern 
end of the golf course is not in the town centre and is not even 
in the town centre fringe. This is a very significant change 
serving presumably to somehow justify high density multi 
storey development in this location 

The Local Plan proforma always recognised that the northern part of 
the AL13 site would be orientated towards the town centre making the 
most of proximity to the railway station and the town centre facilities. 
It indicates that the building heights, densities and typologies will 
reflect those in the town centre. The guidance in the SPD concerning 
the northern neighbourhood reflects the local plan policy.   

451



50 
 

6.3.2 -6.3.4 There should be guidance on dwelling types 
 
Should also include proportion of private rented properties 
and breakdown of tenure types 

The policies relating to mix of housing and housing tenure are outlined 
in HO2 and HO3 of the Local Plan. This includes requirements for 
different tenure types for affordable housing. Section 6.5 of this SPD 
sets out further detail and evidence as to how this should be applied in 
relation to the SPD area. The design guidance discusses housing 
typologies at various points, particularly in relation to delivering family 
housing. It is not appropriate to set a proportion of private rented as 
the Local Plan policy and related evidence base does not provide a 
basis for this. 

6.3.3 How different are the lifestyles and why? If the objective is to 
develop two balanced and inclusive communities with varied 
residential character and a mix of housing types, this plan is 
doing the opposite. It means that people living nearer the 
town centre will have a more constrained lifestyle. There is 
nothing very inclusive about that. 

The Local Plan says that two distinct neighbourhoods each forming a 
clear sense of place, should be created. It is clear from the Local Plan 
that they will have different characters. 

6.3.5 Unless money can be found for a bridge across the A308(M) it 
seems unlikely that the number of walkers and cyclists 
prepared to navigate the A308 Holyport roundabout to access 
the Triangle site will do much to alleviate the amount of road 
traffic to AL14.   

Having reviewed the option of the bridge and the alternative, it is 
considered the alternative approach involving improved pedestrian 
and cycle access around the Braywick roundabout and to the AL13 site 
and to the town centre could provide comparable benefits to the 
bridge and is the preferred approach. 

6.3.8 Northern 
Neighbourhood 

What vehicular access is to be permitted? What is the public 
and private parking provision? These should not be down to 
the developer to determine. This must be determined by the 
planning team.  

At the northern end vehicular access would be on to Shoppenhangers 
Road via the existing access to the golf course club house. Further 
access points would go on to Harvest Hill Road. Parking provision will 
be determined at the planning application stage having regard to the 
detail proposals at the time. The final decision on this rests with the 
Council who determine the planning application. 

452



51 
 

6.3.8 It's contradictory to say you'll have a green spine for 
active/sustainable travel and wildlife but you will also 
accommodate cars. You say this is a sustainable development 
next to the station, so keep the cars out. 

The SPD is clear at various points that priority should be given 
sustainable modes of travel in the green spine – notably pedestrians 
and cyclists (e.g see Box in para 6.3.26) as well as public transport. 
 
It is not appropriate to exclude cars from the development as a whole. 

6.3.8  “the central green spine as the main focus of movement, 
activity and recreation” 
The central green spine, created by felling dense, mature 
woodland is a complete misnomer – this is 
just a spine! 

The Local Plan and SPD make clear this needs to be a green spine and 
detailed guidance is included to set out the character and form of the 
green spine. 

6.3.8 
Approach to 
Harvest Hill 
Neighbourhood 
diagram 

The shading on this diagram is unclear, and the text requiring 
the ‘built form’ to draw attention to the green spine is 
ambiguous.  Does this mean higher densities, taller buildings, 
closer to the street frontage?  This requires clarification. 

The darker shading illustrates potentially higher density/taller 
buildings. An additional diagram is added to illustrate how buildings 
should step down in height towards the edge of the development 
which clarifies this point.  

Add diagram to illustrate the stepping down of building heights to the 
site boundary 

6.3.9 “Building at density must be coupled with adequate provision 
and accessibility to high quality public realm and a mix of open 
space from private to public, active and passive. The 
environment must be one which makes higher density living 
attractive”. Should this not be moderate density living? 

Higher density living is the right phrase to describe what is envisaged, 
consistent with the proforma in the Local Plan for the AL13 site. 
Moderate density would potentially be misleading. 

453



52 
 

6.3.9 No evidence to suggest high density development creates 
community. High density should be defined by persons or 
dwellings per hectare 

This paragraph does not claim any connection between high density 
and community. It simply outlines that where high density is necessary 
there should be a series of facilities and a quality of environment which 
support community. (In essence agreeing with this point 
acknowledging that, without this high quality public realm and suitable 
facilities high density development will lack any ability to 
accommodate functional community). 

6.3.10 Definition of sustainability in this plan is inaccurate and 
outdated. It doesn’t relate to the affordability of the project 
but to the protection of the environment for future 
generations 
 

The allocation of the site in Local Plan has been tested through a 
sustainability process, assessing the site against social, economic and 
environmental objectives and the independent planning inspector 
considered that the Plan, including the SW Maidenhead sites were 
sound, having regard to sustainability evidence. The affordability of the 
project was not a factor in that sustainability assessment. 

6.3.9-6.3.10 Why do these and subsequent paragraphs not also apply to 
the northern neighbourhood? Are you creating two different 
classes of neighbourhood? A high density inner city flatted 
development in the north and a more pleasant residential 
neighbourhood in the south? 

See response above. The two distinct neighbourhoods reflect the 
characters described in the Local Plan proforma. Do not agree with the 
description of the neighbourhoods in the comment. 

6.3.12 In this case there needs to be a design statement about how 
big these amenity spaces should be, how near to dwellings and 
how they will be maintained. Otherwise community spirit and 
cohesion will be jeopardised by play problems which, 
commonly, are top of the list of resident gripes exacerbated by 
a blurring of defensible space. 

The SPD is setting some design principles to guide future planning 
applications. It is not intended to provide detailed standards. 

454



53 
 

6.3.13 This is redundant. No need to plant any new trees. Change the 
policy and leave the nature trees on the site 

Provision of street trees as part of new streets is an important principle 
to achieve a high quality development 

6.3.13 A welcome paragraph though it would help to suggest that 
selected tree species should be a) drought tolerant mindful of 
predicted climate in 20 years, b) resistant to all known 
diseases, c) good at providing shade. 

Agree it would be helpful to refer to the environment in which they are 
located. 
 
Amend to add reference to them being suitable for the environment 
in which they are located 

6.3.16 Paragraph 6.3.16 of the SWMF SPD states that an element of 
off-site provision to meet the open space requirements of the 
development of site AL13 could potentially be met via the 
existing provision at Braywick Park. In our view, the SPD should 
more strongly discourage this approach. However, if an 
element of off-site provision is to serve that development, it 
will be necessary for a financial contribution to be secured 
towards enhancing the quality of provision at Braywick to cater 
for the increased demand and usage which would arise. 

Agree that reference to financial contributions towards playing pitches 
should be included in the SPD.  
 
Add to section on open space (section 6.5) to indicate the likely need 
for financial contributions to off-site playing pitch provision.  
 

455



54 
 

6.3.16 Concern that the carrying capacity of the playing fields at 
Braywick Park may be reaching the maximum already, without 
have additional demand form a new school. RBWM has 
recently 
commissioned a new playing pitch strategy which will be 
completed by spring 2023. The findings of PPS should inform 
whether or not there is enough capacity for a school's use on 
this site. It maybe 
that the school may need to pay for the installation of a hybrid 
pitch at Braywick Park. 
 
Reworded to 
Ideally, all the school sports facilities would be located on the 
main school site. Should this not be possible, an element of off 
site provision could be provided in Braywick Park to cater for 
peak usage 
(e. for major sporting events) subject to the results of the 
playing pitch strategy 2023. Access to the off site sports 
provision would need to be improved to allow safe access for 
the 
school. 

Amendment proposed is not necessary here but as per response 
above, there is a need to highlight the likelihood of financial 
contributions to playing pitches being required in section 6.5 which 
should also highlight the work on the Playing Pitch Strategy. 

Include reference to playing pitch strategy in new section on playing 
pitch provision in section 6.5 

 

6.3.18 – 6.3.19 Must highlight that these are purely illustrative  Not necessary. The start of section 6 indicates that the diagrams in this 
section are illustrative. The principles in the text are not illustrative. 

6.18 – 6.19 Reference to a third neighbourhood (the Triangle site) is 
confusing in the light of Local Plan policy – suggest referring to 
only the two neighbourhood on AL13 site  

Agree 

Delete reference to the Triangle site as a neighbourhood – refer to it 
as an employment area 

 

456



55 
 

6.3.19 Planting a few new trees to create “tree lined” main routes will 
do nothing to mitigate the loss of mature trees from this site. 

The SPD highlights the importance of protecting as many mature trees 
as possible and integrating new tree planting in the design of the 
developments. 

6.3.19 Does not recognise that larger units are acceptable on the site 
and consequently is inconsistent with policy ED1.  To address 
this, the word ‘could’ in the third sentence needs to be 
replaced by ‘should’.   

Amend the text to more accurately reflect the wording in the Local 
Plan Policy ED1. 

6.3.21 – 6.3.23 Substitute “can” with “need to” Agree this can be made firmer. 
 
Amend “can contribute” to “will contribute” in the second line of 
para 6.3.21  

6.3.22 This plan aims to decimate the high quality green space and 
replace it with a space that by the very nature of it being 
“multifunctional” cannot be high quality 

Whilst recognizing that the character of the area will change, the aim is 
to provide a high quality publicly available green space in the new 
development 

6.2.23 The Green Spine connecting the local centre to the town 
centre to the north is considered a strategic link.  However, do 
not consider the Green Spine should continue at the same 
scale to the south of Harvest Hill Road where its purpose is no 
longer strategic in nature. 
The scale of the Green Spine south of Harvest Hill Road is not 
proportionate or necessary to achieve its objectives. 
Do not need the formal designation of a ‘green spine’ to 
achieve ‘green’ streets and ecological and landscaped 
corridors. 

It is the ambition that the green spine will become the preferred route 
for pedestrian and cycle access to the local centre and encourage more 
sustainable methods of travel.  It is therefore considered the green 
spine to the south of Harvest Hill Road remains part of the ‘strategic 
link’ and consequently, its continuation at the same scale is both 
proportionate and more coherent than navigating a ‘local network of 
green routes’.  The alternative ‘local network of green routes’ 
proposed is unlikely to have the same desired effect on encouraging 
reduction of vehicular use and would dilute the legibility of the 
SWMPA.     

457



56 
 

6.3.23 There’s no doubt that every one of us has to consider more 
sustainable forms of transport.  But the idea that public 
transport, cycling and walking along this route will reduce 
traffic both within the site and on Braywick and 
Shoppenhangrs Roads has to be seen as aspirational rather 
than realistic.  Two schools and a substantial medical centre 
are unlikely to be catered for in this way.   The site is elevated 
and the distances are too great 

Noted – but the aim should be to reduce traffic in and around the site 
by providing good sustainable alternatives to the car. Provision of 
facilities on the site mean that those living on the site will have shorter 
distances to travel to those facilities making the use of non-car modes 
easier. 

6.3.25 Support the reference to provision of a “southern green 
margin” alongside the A404(M) and A308(M) (at paragraph 
6.3.25) and that this can be used to maintain ecological 
continuity. However, we note later comments in respect of this 
land and the delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) (e.g. 
paragraph 6.7.11) on which we have commented below. 

Noted 

6.3.26 How exactly will this green spine ensure “ecological capital”. 
Please define this further! There is nothing in this document 
that truly addresses ecology except in the context of making a 
place ‘look’ green. Certainly, any wildlife that is currently 
located on the site will have disappeared by the time the 
development is complete! 

Developers will need to design the scheme to deliver this objective. 

458



57 
 

6.3.26 There is considerable detail on creating a local centre for the 
Harvest Hill neighbourhood, yet no consideration of the 
facilities required by the Northern Neighbourhood on the 
grounds it is near the station and town centre. 

The schematic at the top of p45 makes the station look closer 
than it is, and even though regeneration of Maidenhead may 
eventually unite the station and the town centre, many 
properties in the Northern Neighbourhood will still be half a 
mile away and up a hill.  This new neighbourhood needs a focal 
point of its own, with basic facilities to generate a sense of 
community and also deter people from using cars for small 
purchases, eg last minute groceries.   

The local centre is a specific policy requirement of the Local Plan for 
the Harvest Hill neighbourhood, but it is not for the northern one 
because of its accessibility to the town centre. That does not mean to 
say that an element of mixed use development along the green spine 
at a design focal point would not be acceptable. Improved walk/cycle 
connections to the town centre will, however, make the town centre as 
the key destination for basic facilities. 

 

 

6.3.26 – 6.3.29 The principle of the Green Spine performing a structural, 
functional and ecological role is laudable but without an access 
point at its northern tip it fails in its main aim of providing a 
direct link to the town centre.  To be successful it will also 
require a seismic shift in public attitudes and bus services 
which seems unlikely. 

Noted, but it is important to create the right facilities and design to 
enable that shift to take place. The diagrams show several potential 
access points for pedestrian/cycle access to the town centre. 

6.3.27 Sustainable drainage is shown in cross sections but otherwise 
not covered. If sustainable drainage is not properly designed, 
constructed and maintained, downstream pollution and 
flooding may result. Some RBWM document for SW 
Maidenhead needs to define who is responsible for the design 
(in phases), interim maintenance prior to adoption, final 
adoption and ongoing maintenance of such schemes.     

Policy NR1 in the BLP requires the provision of sustainable drainage 
systems in new development and the proforma for AL13 also requires 
the use of Sustainable Drainage Scheme (SuDS). The detail of how this 
is delivered will be determined at the planning application stage. 

459



58 
 

6.3.27 and 
Figure 9 

6.3.30, 

6.3.31 and 
Figure 10 

Suggested that the junction between Harvest Hill Road and 
Braywick Road is a traffic light junction where cars can turn 
right as well as left.  It should encompass also a pedestrian 
crossing as many residents currently cross the carriageway to 
access Braywick Court School, Braywick Nature Centre and 
Braywick Sports Centre.  

 

Noted. The detailed nature of any junction improvement at this 
location has not been determined yet and will need to be considered 
as part of the transport assessment for planning applications. Agree 
that a pedestrian crossing is needed at this location for the reasons 
stated and part of that improvement and this is assumed in broad 
infrastructure costings in Appendix 2 of the SPD. 

6.3.27 

Figure 9 

Item ‘d’ 

When this junction is redesigned for the long-term (once the 
road is busier with traffic from the new residents) it is key to 
consider that any traffic light control (or similar measures) at 
this junction could cause traffic to be backed up and prevent 
existing residents exiting from their driveways onto the HHR.   

As per the response above, the detailed design of the junction 
improvement in this location (Harvest Hill Road/Braywick Road) has 
not been determined yet. Concern noted.  

6.3.27 

Figure 9 

Item ‘g’ 

If a pavement were to be built on both sides of Harvest Hill 
Road a place for existing residents to place their bins on 
collection day will need to be built in to the plan so that they 
do not block the new pavement / cycle lane 

Noted.  This will need to be addressed in planning applications for the 
developments.  

6.3.27 

Figure 9 

Item ‘j’ 

Whilst the location of the access point j is noted, the further 
detail is considered superfluous at this stage.  Building scale 
and orientation within the site will be necessitated by the 
requirements of operators, within the context provided by the 
plan of seeking a gateway scheme.   

Since the whole Triangle Site is within a single ownership this 
will provide scope for the co ordination of development within 
the submission of planning applications.  This ability for a 
single application to cover the Triangle Site and the ability to 
provide an overarching masterplan means that significant 
elements of the current draft SPD are considered unnecessary; 

The SPD provides little detail at this point in relation Fig 9 item J. 

It is important for the SPD to provide appropriate guidance to guide 
development and infrastructure provision and it is considered that it 
does. The need for the SPD and its guidance has not been overtaken by 
the evolving needs of the Borough’s businesses. 

460



59 
 

especially where this has been overtaken by the evolving 
needs of the Borough’s business.   

6.3.29 Mentions the possibility of improved East/West road links 
south of Maidenhead.  Unless a corridor is safeguarded for 
such a link this will presumably be impossible. 

Suggest withdrawing paragraph 6.3.29 and provide further 
detail to properly upgrade Harvest Hill Road. 

The Local Plan and the SPD are not proposing new road links but are 
proposing measure to improve accessibility and links by other non-car 
modes, particularly walking and cycling (eg an east/west walk/cycle 
link alongside Harvest Hill Road). As such, no need to safeguard a 
corridor.  

6.3.29 – 6.3.31 An admirable ambition but it is unlikely to encourage much of 
a reduction in car ownership on site.  Vehicular movement has 
to be accommodated as part of enhancing permeability 

Agree that vehicular movement does need to be accommodated within 
the development. 

6.3.31 6.3.31 deals with the Harvest Hill Road corridor. Our 
understanding is that RBWM will lead on the delivery of 
coordinated proposals for the corridor.  
This section should make clear that RBWM will lead on this 
aspect.  

It is the Council’s intention to lead on the delivery of proposals for the 
corridor, notably the East/West cycle link along Harvest Hill Road – this 
is made clear in the “delivery” column in Appendix 2 for this item. 

6.3.31 Approach to Harvest Hill Road – Harvest Hill Road Corridor: It 
states under the 
third bullet point: “To create an attractive, diverse, safe and 
inviting corridor that shifts 
mode of travel from vehicular to a more people focused 
approach”. Surely, this should state 
“that complements” as access roads will continue to be 
required, particularly for elderly 
population? 

It is clear from the SPD and the design principles that vehicular access 
will still be required and planned for, but the emphasis should be 
about shifting the approach to a more people focused one. 

461



60 
 

6.3.31 
p.55 
‘d’ 

Individual TPO trees may prevent segregated cycleway and 
generous pedestrian public realm on both sides of the 
carriageway.   
Consider the best location for an east-west cycleway would be 
along the north side of Harvest Hill Road. 
Do not consider there to be a need for one on both sides of 
the road, and p.64 refers to a “new segregated walking/ 
cycling route along the north side of Harvest Hill Road”.   

Agree that north side of Harvest Hill Road is the best location for an 
east/west cycleway, and that a cycleway is not needed on both sides of 
the road. 
 
Amend to indicate that the preferred location for a segregated 
walk/cycle route is on the north side of the road.  

6.3.1 – 6.4.1 + 
6.6.1 + 6.6.12 

More needs to be done to Harvest Hill Road than currently 
shown, including the junctions with Braywick Rd and 
Shoppenhangers Rd where both need right turns. 
 
Consider creating another access onto Shoppenhangers Rd 
(current golf course entrance is tight) 

The SPD (Appendix 2) indicates a need to improve the Harvest Hill 
Road/Braywick Road junction – the detail of that improvement will 
need to be developed as part of the transport assessment for planning 
applications. The transport assessment will also need to consider the 
Harvest Hill Road/Shoppenhangers Road junction. 

Creating another access onto Shoppenhangers Road in addition to the 
golf course entrance would involve third party land/property. 

6.3.33 Cannot achieve this statement without improving Harvest Hill 
Road at the eastern section where it is narrow, twisty and 
steep 

There is limited scope to improve the road in this location due to 
properties on either side of the road. It is important to consider that 
the road will perform a different role in the future than its current role, 
with slower speeds throughout as it will go through the heart of a new 
residential area. 

6.3.33 A substantial upgrade of Harvest Hill Road will be required if 
no other link road provided.  A 20mph speed limit and 
footpath on one side of the carriageway will not be sufficient.  
The entire road will require widening, straightening, 
roundabouts, lighting and surfacing.   

The character of Harvest Hill Road will change when development 
comes forward, with traffic slowing and responding to a different 
context. A new link road is not required.  

462



61 
 

6.3.33 

Figure 12 

Object to the requirement that the green spine should be 
greater in width than Harvest Hill Road.  Do not agree it is 
necessary or justified.   

Would re-affirm the intention set out in paragraph 6.3.39 with regards 
to the “legibility of the green spine to the north and south” and it being 
“promoted as the preferred choice for movement for residents on both 
sides of Harvest Hill Road.”  It is considered necessary and justified on 
the basis that “The continuity of the green spine helps overcome the 
barrier of the road corridor and ensure the cohesion of the whole 
community across the Harvest Hill corridor.” 

6.3.38 Regarding continuity of the green spine as it crosses Harvest 
Hill Road (6.3.38), it is vital that this at-grade crossing with 
pedestrians and cyclists having clear priority in both directions. 

A careful design solution is required at this location to ensure 
continuity of the green spine. 
 
Add sentence to indicate that a careful design of the crossing point 
and associated highways solutions are necessary to ensure the 
continuity of the green spine and pedestrian and cycle safety and 
legibility are maintained. 

 

 

Masterplanning and Design control  

 

Para. No. Summary Council Response 
6.3.43 – 
6.3.45 

Paragraph 6.3.43 and bullet points at 6.3.45 – The wording of 
these paragraphs should be reviewed and reconsidered. Design 
Codes will not be appropriate nor required for every planning 
application. In some instances, including in the case of ‘Land 
South of Manor Lane’ (ref: 22/01717/FULL), the relevant 
information will be included within the Design & Access 
Statement which accompanies the planning application. This 
demonstrates how the land use and design matters have been 
considered and how delivery will accord with the Borough Local 

The text in the SPD recognises that landowners and developers will 
bring forward proposals in different ways and at different scales. All 
sites should however adopt a consistent approach to help support 
the overall objective of securing comprehensive and well considered 
proposals. Masterplans and Design Codes are well known and used 
tools to help articulate and enable good design to be secured. They 
help in the consideration of the relationship of a site to its wider 
context, local character, and other important elements that 
contribute to placemaking.  

463



62 
 

Plan, draft SPD and other material considerations. Accordingly, 
these sections of the draft SPD should be revised to reflect that 
Design Codes will not always be necessary. 

 
For larger multi-phase proposals Site Wide Masterplans and Design 
Codes will be very important and the Council will need to formally 
consider and approve them as part of any overall sequence of 
evolving detailed proposals. 
 
For smaller sites which are single phase and where material is 
submitted in detail it is appreciated that aspects which may be 
otherwise covered by a Site Wide Masterplan & Design Code are 
likely to be integrated into the detailed design drawings/material 
that are to be considered for approval.  
 
Amend text to acknowledge that for such single phase & where 
detailed proposals are set out, the ‘Design & Access Statement’ 
could be used to explain the masterplan and overall approach to 
detailed design for the proposals, covering matters similar to that 
which would otherwise be contained in a separate Design Code. 
 

6.3.50-
6.3.54 

Paragraphs 6.3.50 – 6.3.54 – As above, these paragraphs should 
be revised to acknowledge that Applicants may include the 
relevant detail within a Design & Access Statement and not every 
application should be required to submit a Design Code. If a 
Design Code is required, it should be limited to Custom Build/ 
Self-Build dwellings only. Additionally, detailed schemes should 
not include Compliance Checklists as suggested at paragraph 
6.3.53. This would be illogical for detailed planning applications, 
where any such checklist would just repeat information already 
submitted as part of any application. This is an unnecessary and 
prescriptive addition. 

The requirement for applicants to need to show how they have 
considered and comply with policy and guidance set nationally and 
locally, including via the SPD, will be retained for all applications. 
 
Amend text of para 6.3.50 to acknowledge that for smaller sites 
which are single phase & submitted in detail, then the 
accompanying ‘Design & Access Statement’ could explain the 
masterplan and overall approach to detailed design. This would 
replace the need for a separate or additional ‘Compliance 
Checklist’ for this type of application/approach. 
 

6.3.46 Suggested changes to text: 
Site Wide Masterplans and Design Codes should be submitted 
alongside and as part of supporting material related to the 
relevant planning application/s. For larger sites with subsequent 

The requirement for such material to be required by condition and 
needing to be approved by the Council ‘prior to’ the approval of 
reserved matters is an important step to allow the Council to ensure 
that such matters are properly considered and agreed before 

464



63 
 

future phases, it may be appropriate for the preparation of Design 
Codes for any future sub-area or phase to be required by 
condition to be submitted and approved by the Council as part of 
the prior to approval of reserved matter applications and 
commencement of development on that sub- area/phase. A 
summary of how the overall process is provided in Figure 13 
below.  
 

applicants embark on detailed design work. This is considered a 
typical and reasonable approach to enable a sequenced evolution of 
detailed design, avoiding risk of retrospective consideration or 
justification.  
 
The wording does not preclude applicants from submitting such 
material at the same time of reserved matters applications should 
they so wish. 

6.3.45 The SPD should allow for individual proposals for sports and 
leisure uses to be brought forward on Braywick Park (AL15) 
without requiring a ’site-wide masterplan’ or any design codes. 
Such requirements would be disproportionate and unnecessary 
given the separate nature of any such proposals to the 
masterplanning of a large-scale mixed-use development to the 
west of the A308 Braywick Road. 
 
We therefore seek the inclusion of additional bullet point in 
paragraph 6.3.45 of the SWMF SPD to clarify RBWM’s approach 
for any such proposals. 

All proposals will need to demonstrate how they have considered 
and comply with policy and guidance set nationally and locally, 
including the need for high quality design and placemaking as 
required by the Borough Local Plan and SPD.  
 
The use of masterplans and design codes are well known and used 
tools and can apply to all forms of development. 
 
It is acknowledged that the level of detail may vary depending on 
the nature of different proposals, and therefore will be considered 
based upon their specific context and the nature of development 
that they relate to. 

6.3.42 – 
6.3.49 

Could usefully include a reminder of the advantages of 
community/stakeholder engagement as part of the process. 

Agreed 
 
Amend by including additional text to para 6.2.45 to state “All 
proposals will need to have evolved with community and 
stakeholder engagement, and demonstrate how this has informed 
the overall approach.” 

6.3.54 Compliance checklist implies adherence 
by the developers. This supplementary document uses soft words 
like ‘should/, ‘can’, etc. - implying the clauses are optional rather 
than obligatory to apply 

The Compliance Checklist process is intended to provide a 
mechanism by which applicants can consider and explain how their 
proposals accord with an approved Design Code. The SPD is setting 
out further guidance on the overall process. 
 
Any proposal would ultimately be considered on its overall planning 
merits. 

465



64 
 

 
The language used is because the SPD guidance and not policy 
(which is contained in the Local Plan).  The SPD cannot write new 
policy where more forceful language might be appropriate. 
 

6.3.56 Since most of the fundamental design decisions have already 
been taken by the Council/developer and incorporated into policy 
there is no point in a design review at that stage. 

The South West Maidenhead area contains significant development 
of a strategic nature and at a key gateway location into Maidenhead.  
 
The role and purpose of any design review process would be to 
consider how proposals align with and accord with the placemaking 
policies and ambitions as set out in the Borough local Plan and this 
SPD.  By suggesting these be undertaken at pre-application stage it 
will help to guide and inform the preparation of applications to 
ensure they are appropriately meeting the policy requirements. 

 

  466



65 
 

Section 6.5 Community Needs 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

6.5.1 Housing Mix Box – the 50% family housing 50% flats is not consistent 
with the Local Plan and are inappropriate. The SPD cannot create 
new planning policy 

Noted. It is recognised that this box should link more closely to the 
policy position in the Local Plan, particular reference to the Berkshire 
Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) mix for larger units 
and the evidence base that indicates what an appropriate mix might 
be in this instance. 
 
Update the box and supporting text to refer more clearly to the 
policy and supporting evidence, including the SHMA and the 
proforma. Include more evidence on housing mix in an Appendix 
(see new Appendix 3). 

6.5.2 In order to achieve 2,600 dwellings within the Placemaking Area “it 
will be necessary to ‘blend’ flatted development and family housing 
throughout the Placemaking area.” 
It is not sufficiently precise or justified to require a lower proportion 
of flats on the southern part of the site and would not reflect the 
aim of providing mixed communities.  Suggest the wording should 
be changed to “a lower provision of flats and greater emphasis on 
family housing in the area south of Harvest Hill Road.” 

See response above. Justification for the mix referred to in the SPD 
should be more closely linked to the SHMA and other evidence. It 
should be noted however that the Local Plan policy indicates high 
density development around the local centre to reflect the area’s 
accessibility and to contribute to its vibrancy.  
 
Update housing mix section to refer more directly to the relevant 
Local Plan policy and hence where the mix 3 and 4 beds units will 
increase and 1 and 2 beds will decrease 
 

6.5.4 Reference needs to be made to viability to align with Local Plan 
policy 

This is intended to be a very high level summary of the main policy 
requirements. Reference to viability Is not necessary here – the 
detail of the policy and NPPF is available if people wish to read the 
whole policy. 

6.5.6 
Table 1 

The evidence supporting the proposed mix should be made publicly 
available 

Agreed 
 

467



66 
 

See new Appendix 3 for evidence in support of the proposed 
affordable housing mix 

6.5.6 Add extra text to end of paragraph to provide flexibility re 
alternative affordable mixes to be evidenced by local 
circumstances/market conditions at the time, given the long build 
period of the development 

Agree some flexibility would be appropriate, but based on changes 
to affordable housing need. 
 
Add sentence to provide some flexibility on affordable mix if needs 
evidence changes over time 

 Community Uses suggested such as: Exhibition Space for touring 
exhibitions, performance space for local musicians, outdoor market, 
pop-up shops, charity events, social (such as specialist interest 
groups meeting place, parents' coffee mornings, physical and mental 
health – such as yoga classes, addiction meeting groups, counselling 
venue, place of worship, arts venue, political meeting place) 
Suggested that any working group comprising community 
representatives, groups and stakeholders established to consider 
the multi-purpose community building would visit examples of other 
community buildings.  

Noted – thank you for the suggestions.  

 Noted there is no church or pub proposed in the plans, yet 
traditionally the church, pub and post office were seen as the heart 
of a village / small community.  There does not seem to be any up to 
date vision in the document of what gives life and heart to a 
community.    

Noted – the developer will need to work up the specification for the 
local centre, including the community facilities, with community 
representatives, groups and stakeholders 

6.5.8 to 
6.5.11 

It is good to see accessible and adaptable dwellings, wheelchair 
accessible and self-build / custom build included in line with BLP 
policy H02 but disappointing that there is no specific mention of 
point 5 of H02 on community-led housing approaches. 

Agree it would be helpful to refer to this. 
 
Add reference to Policy HO2 re community led housing approaches 

6.5.11 Apparent typo - ‘to’ should be deleted Agreed 
 
Delete ‘to’ in first sentence 

6.5.13 If the school is not to be delivered for 11 years, the space should be 
made available to the public in the interim 

Noted 

468



67 
 

6.5.13 The ownership of the multipurpose Community Building through a 
CLT going forward could bring long term benefits to the community.  
Any future income could be used for community benefit (virtuous 
circle of funds).   

Noted 

6.5.14 - 
6.5.18 

Suggest would be more successful to site local shopping centre with 
community building and medical facilities 

That is the intention.  Health provision on the site is being explored.  

6.5.19 This development is too dense to provide any meaningful open 
space, in particular there will be a net loss of public open space 
considering 132 acres of the golf course land is currently public open 
space though it is currently leased by the Golf Club.   

Noted. The development would have to meet Local Plan open space 
standards. The Local Plan policy and design section of the SPD 
outlines the importance of there being a strong green infrastructure 
framework to the development 

6.5.20 Refine paragraph to indicate that facilities could be shared with 
nearby sites given improved connectivity in the development area 

It is for developers to demonstrate how open space standards will be 
met across the development in a comprehensive and coordinated 
way 

 

 

Section 6.6 Connectivity 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

6.6.2 Box Make clear the improvements along the Braywick Rd should be 
linked to the Triangle site as they are solely required to link that site 
to the town centre  

This is already made clear in section 7 in the paragraphs relating to 
the Triangle site contributions. 
 
 

6.6.3 Cycling now and in the future will increasingly include battery 
powered bikes and scooters.  Each dwelling must have secure 
private storage for these which must include appropriate low cost 
charging points. 

The box at paragraph 6.6.6 specifically refers to the provision of 
secure high quality parking facilities. 
 
Add reference to the need for charging points for electric bikes as 
part of cycle parking 
 

469



68 
 

6.6.4 Provide more details of the refurbishment of the bridge over the 
A404(M) should be provided – if intention is to widen, this will 
require new structure and will be complex 

There are no more details at present but these will be worked up in 
due course, including consultation with National Highways. An 
indicative cost of the works is provided in Appendix 2 

6.6.5 The last sentence of this paragraph indicates that if the bridge is not 
feasible and an alternative is promoted, this should include benefits 
for public transport users alongside pedestrians and cyclists.  
However, neither site specific proforma in the Local Plan for AL13 or 
AL14 requires consideration of public transport.  This must therefore 
be omitted from the last sentence of the paragraph to ensure 
consistency.    

15. (h) of the Site Allocations Proforma for AL13 states: 
“Alternatively, if demonstrated not to be feasible, alternative 
sustainable access options would need to be explored and 
implemented that provide comparable benefits for the movement of 
pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users in the area.”  
Clause 5 of the Site Allocation Proforma for AL14 states: “Promote 
sustainable travel and mitigation measures such as improved public 
transport provision and walking and cycling routes …” and clause 6 
states: “Ensure that the development is well-served by public bus 
routes/ demand responsive transport/ other innovative public 
transport solutions, with appropriate provision for new bus stop 
infrastructure, such that the bus is an attractive alternative to the 
private car for local journeys”  

6.6.6 The alternative to the bridge for the green spine linking AL13 and 
AL14 is poor.  Crossing the Ascot Road, A308 Windsor Road, The 
Binghams, the entrance / exit to the petrol station and both 
carriageways of the Braywick is not the green and attractive walk to 
work anticipated.   
What are these crossings going to do to traffic flow on and near to 
the Braywick Road roundabout? Has this been factored into the 
traffic modelling used to inform the plan? 

It is considered that the alternative measures will be provide a good 
alternative to the bridge, enabling connections to be made to both 
the AL13 housing site and to the town centre.  
 
The crossings are not factored into the traffic modelling. It is 
recognised that crossings will affect traffic flow but it is necessary to 
balance the needs of all users. More detailed design work needs to 
be done but it can be expected that, even with the crossings, 
significant improvement in traffic flows would be achieved by the 
proposed Braywick Roundabout improvements. 

6.6.10 There is no budget for new bus services, but even if it were, it would 
not be fair for this development to benefit from cheaper travel 
unless the whole of the Borough benefitted from cheaper travel.   

Developers would be expected to make a financial contribution 
towards establishing new/diverted bus services. A trial cheaper fare 
scheme would be a means of encouraging greater patronage. It 
would encourage new residents to use buses early on, and hence 
encourage modal shift. 

 Electric cars still result in non-exhaust emissions and as such are 
only part of the answer to pollution 

Noted. The Local Plan and the SPD also set out proposals for 
sustainable travel measures to reduce reliance on the private car and 

470



69 
 

hence limit emissions. The location of particularly the northern 
neighbourhood of the AL13 site close to the town centre and train 
station, and inclusion of a local centre to reduce, also encourage trips 
by non-car modes, thereby helping to reduce emissions. 

 Add “where feasible” at end of para 6.6.10 as it is dependent on the 
bus operator 

It is not considered necessary to caveat in this way. Clearly we will 
need to work in partnership with bus operators. The current wording 
already provides flexibility by indicating that these are the measures 
that should be considered. 

6.6.12 The box should state which of the schemes RBWM will be taking 
forward.  

The table in Appendix 2 sets out who it is anticipated will take 
forward the various infrastructure schemes 

6.6.12  Development at AL13 and AL14 should not wholly fund the junction 
improvements at Holyport Road / Windsor Road, and it is noted that 
the detail of any improvement to M4 8/9 is not known and 
therefore the extent of the cost uncertain.  It is therefore suggested 
that the introduction to the list of improvements should state: “As 
part of mitigating the impact on the wider road network, 
contributions to provide/fund improvements…” 

Disagree. See more detailed responses in relation to comments in 
section 7 about the approach to funding necessary infrastructure 
provision and the fact that SW Maidenhead development will also 
have a wider impact. 
 
 

 

 

Section 6.7 Sustainability and Environment 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

6.7 Draft SPD only states a ‘preference’ towards net carbon being 
achieved on site.  Instead, the Council should demand that the new 
developments are committed to (measured) net zero, or Passivhaus 

The SPD has to work within the framework set out in the Local Plan 
policy and other relevant strategies and policies that are set out in 
this section of the SPD. 
 
The SPD states not just that it is a preference but also an expectation 
– i.e. that it ought to be capable of delivery on site. 
 

471



70 
 

6.7 Developers are “encouraged to consider” the whole life carbon 
impact of their development.  This wording is vague and does not 
demand anything from developers. The Council should carry out 
assessments using the targets set by RIBA. Offsetting could be 
encouraged, after all reduction measures have been exhausted.   

The SPD has to work within the framework set out in the Local Plan 
policy and other relevant strategies and policies that are set out in 
this section of the SPD. As such we cannot make this a hard 
requirement, but encourage developers to move towards this 
approach. 
 
Amend wording re ‘whole life carbon” to encourage developers to 
work towards this and that this will be given significant positive 
weight in determining applications 
 

6.7  Reference to “consider whole life carbon” not referenced in Interim 
Sustainability Statement. Cannot introduce new policy 

Noted 
 
Update text in box to ensure this does not read as a policy but 
make clear what the Council’s objectives are and the weight it will 
attach to this issue in determining planning applications. 

6.7 ‘net zero’ is not well defined in either the ‘Interim’ Position 
Statement or section 6.7 of the draft SPD.  The ‘Interim’ Position 
Statement should not be assigned the weight of an SPD, as section 
6.7 appears to suggest.   
The definition of ‘net-zero’ and the ways it could be achieved should 
be considered as of the Sustainability and Climate Change SPD.    

The SPD indicates that it is net zero (operational). 
 
The SPD does not indicate that the Interim Position Statement 
carries the same weight as an SPD. 
 
Agree there is scope for the Sustainability and Climate Change SPD to 
address such matters further. 
 

6.7 An approach to mitigation of light pollution throughout the 
placemaking area should also be established due to, among other 
things, the impact this can have on biodiversity.  The SPD should 
specify that any outdoor lighting should be assessed for harm 
caused in accordance with zone E2 (low district brightness). 

Light pollution is addressed in Policy EP3 of the Local Plan (including 
in the supporting text the different zones). Policy EP3 is referenced 
alongside other environmental policies at paragraph 6.7.25 of the 
SPD. It would, however, be helpful to reference light pollution in the 
preceding paragraph. 
 
Amend paragraph 6.7.24 (second bullet point) to refer to light 
pollution  
 

472



71 
 

6.7 Air Pollution: The draft document does not acknowledge the 
increase in air pollution that will be a consequence of new 
residential and non-residential areas.  Due to proximity to town, 
station and long stay car parks, car-free neighbourhoods could be 
considered, with a target number of dwellings being car free.   
Green barriers to polluting areas are mentioned around the new 
neighbourhood but should also be considered around the school as 
schools are generally exposed to higher levels of air pollution. 

Paragraph 6.7.24 of the SPD recognises that air pollution is a 
potential issue alongside other forms of pollution and the relevant 
policies in the Local Plan that will help address this are referenced. 
 
Agree that car-free neighbourhoods could be considered in locations 
close to the town centre/station. 
 
The landscaping scheme around the school can consider buffers at 
the application stage, although consideration will need to be given to 
where any pollution sources might be located. 

6.7 Biodiversity: 10% net gain is very low, and the wording of the 
document permits this net gain to happen off-site.  Instead, the 
document should mandate at least 10% biodiversity net gain on site.  

10% is the standard set by Government that is due to come into 
force in November 2023, although the Council believes that 
developers should be applying this approach at the earliest 
opportunity. 

6.7 Access to local public transport, including bus stops, should be 
mandated 

This is included in section 6.6 of the SPD. 

6.7 Paragraph 5.7.3 of the SEA states that the introduction of 2,600 new 
homes will inevitably increase energy consumption, traffic and 
pollution, however, SPD has not used any tools to calculate the AL13 
impact 

The SPD includes a range of measures to minimise energy 
consumption, notably a series of sustainable travel alternatives to 
the car as well as setting out an approach of zero carbon in relation 
to new buildings. The SPD does not seek to prescribe an overall 
carbon “assessment” but does set out the above measures. 

6.7 No reference in the SPD to the River Basin Management Plan Paragraph 6.7.22 refers to Policy NR1 of the Local Plan and the 
supporting text to that policy (para 12.2.9) refers to the River Basin 
Management Plan. It is not possible to refer in this SPD to all the 
detailed elements contained in NR1.   

6.7.1 This plan, and indeed RBWM, need to demonstrate they are able to 
meet the targets set out in the Environment and Climate Strategy.  
This would require major modification of this SPD to remove the loss 
of mature woodland and minimise, if not cease, all development on 
green space, and in particular the golf course land.   

The site is allocated for residential development for approximately 
2,600 homes in the Local Plan and this provides the policy basis for 
SPD, along with the detailed proforma for the site set out in the Local 
Plan. The proforma provides an extensive list of policy requirements, 
including in relation to trees and green space, and the additional 
guidance in this SPD helps to deliver on those policy requirements. 

473



72 
 

6.7.5 Developers must not avoid community payments due to viability – if 
the carbon fund payments are not mandatory and measured in the 
SPD then what would prevent developers resisting payment 

The Council has to have regard to viability considerations in 
determining planning applications.  
 

6.7.5 This paragraph encourages developers to consider the ‘whole life 
carbon’ impact of their development.  However, the SPD has not 
outlined how the whole life is to be measured, as such there is no 
means of proving compliance.  Without the evidence on the 
measures and mechanisms to demonstrate compliance with this 
objective there is no information to confirm it will not harm 
deliverability.  It must consequently be omitted.   

Disagree. Developers are encouraged to work towards a ‘whole life 
approach’ and can discuss with the Council at the time of their 
application how this could be measured, including by reference to 
good practice. The Sustainability and Climate Change SPD may be 
able to consider this further. 

6.7.6 Energy Statements should reflect Building Regulation 
methodologies.  Any energy and emissions reductions beyond these 
standards should be supported with sufficient evidence stating why 
national standards need to be enhanced locally. 
In the absence of any evidence why higher standards are both 
necessary and will not undermine deliverability, this paragraph must 
be omitted.    

It is clear that developers need to be working towards achieving 
higher levels of carbon reduction in order to work towards net zero 
targets. The SPD sets out the Council’s existing policies and strategies 
in this respect, and the objectives it wishes to achieve through this 
SPD in this respect. The wording in the box in para 6.7.1 has been 
updated to reflect this approach. The text in 6.7.6 signposts 
developers to where they can find further guidance to help meet the 
Council’s objectives. 

6.7.8 Refer to transitional arrangements This is not appropriate. The transitional arrangements only apply to 
building notices submitted before 15 June 2022 and required work to 
begin by 15 June 2023. This will not apply to the main development 
sites in SW Maidenhead area which do not yet have planning 
permissions. 
 
Amend paragraph 6.7.8 to refer to June 2022, not July 2022 

6.7.8 Suggest every dwelling should have a private parking space and 
every parking space should have a charging point connected to that 
household.   

The detailed parking arrangements will be considered at the planning 
application stage and will vary depending on the size of the dwelling 
and its access to services and facilities. Paragraph 6.7.8 makes clear 
that electric charging points are now required for every new 
residential building through changes to the Building Regulations.  

6.7.9 Amend to refer to provision elsewhere in the borough, or through a 
net gain credit scheme 

Amendment not appropriate as it could involve mitigation being 
provided outside the Borough which is not considered appropriate. 

474



73 
 

6.7.9 Policy NR2(3) only requires a net gain in biodiversity and does not 
specify the minimum of 10% the SPD does.  The minimum 10% only 
becomes a requirement once the relevant section of the 
Environment Act 2021 is in force.  The SPD should therefore be 
revised to acknowledge this.   

The draft SPD already includes a footnote to this effect, but the main 
box could also reference this. However, we believe that developers 
should be applying this at the earliest opportunity. 
 
Update box to indicate that the 10% BNG requirement is being 
introduced shortly 
 

6.7.9 The SPD should be revised to acknowledge that AL13 and AL14 are 
separate allocations and as such the BNG expectations are to be 
achieved on each site.   

This is not necessary or appropriate. Policy QP1b(5)h) requires 
biodiversity net gains across the area (i.e. the placemaking area) and 
doesn’t distinguish between the two allocated sites. 6.7.9 does 
distinguish between the two sites in terms maximising biodiversity 
provision through on-site mitigation within those allocated areas, 
and then across the wider place making area, consistent with Policy 
QP1b. 

6.7.9 
(BNG text 
box) 

The hierarchy approach represents new policy rather than building 
on or providing more detailed advice or guidance on policies in the 
adopted local plan.   
The hierarchy approach to identifying off-site alternatives to 
addressing BNG represents new policy rather than building on 
providing more detailed advice or guidance on policies in the 
adopted local plan. The proposed policy will have an impact on the 
wider pattern of development in the district.  The Planning Code 
requires that this should be considered through the development 
plan process and be the subject to independent examinations.   

The first two bullet points in the box are consistent with Local Plan 
Policy QP1b(5)(h) and the site proformas for AL13 and AL14 which 
are themselves policy. The latter part of the text in the box would 
benefit from emphasising the importance of delivering the best 
biodiversity outcome whilst still securing provision in proximity to 
the placemaking area where possible, and if not then elsewhere in 
the Borough. 
 
Amend text in Box to reflect the comment above. 

6.7.9 
(BNG text 
box) 

The hierarchy set out would operate to constrain the number, 
quality and types of habitat that can be delivered off site and fails to 
recognise the role that habitat banks can play in contributing to 
Biodiversity Net Gain.   

As a matter of good planning practice, it is essential that the   
biodiversity impacts of development (and any net gain) are 
mitigated/provided for locally. Indeed, this principle is recognised by 
the Government’s consultation Biodiversity Net Gain Regulations and 
Implementation (January 2022) which sets out that “Policy and 
guidance will encourage off-site biodiversity gains to be delivered 
locally to the development site…” (page 56) and highlights the 
“spatial hierarchy preference for local enhancements” (page 55). 

475



74 
 

6.7.9 
onwards 
p.76-77 

The principles set out on pages 76 and 77 are good and do not need 
changing but the design does not implement them.   
There needs to be a fundamental review of the design of the site to 
ensure all trees and habitat areas are protected and enhanced. 

Noted. It would not be possible to deliver about 2,600 homes and 
other uses whilst protecting all trees.  However, significant new tree 
planting will need to be carried out in the SW Maidenhead area. 

6.7.9 
onwards 
p.76-77 

The biodiversity value of the site must be accurately established to 
inform the design of wildlife corridors and areas for habitat creation. 

Developers will need to undertake full ecological surveys to establish 
the biodiversity value of the site which will inform the design of 
wildlife corridors, areas to be protected and areas where habitat can 
be created. 

6.7.9 SPD requires more information on what a ‘biodiversity net gain 
credit scheme’ would look like 

This is too detailed to include in the SPD. 

6.7.9 & 
6.7.14 

Trees should be retained.  Priority should be given to development 
proposals which respect the existing tree pattern and concentrate 
buildings on the fairways.  A commitment to this by the Council 
might increase support from residents for this development.  
Developers should be required to identify exactly which wooded 
areas they would be intending to remove and why.   
The retention of Rushington Copse is a small percentage of the trees 
on site. Existing trees and hedgerows which extend from the Copse 
to form a border along neighbouring properties, particularly along 
Rushington Avenue, where the new housing will be relatively dense 
close to the town centre, should be retained to provide green lings 
for both new and existing residents.    

The Local Plan proforma for the site sets out the main requirements 
in relation to trees on the site and this is reflected in the SPD. The 
developer will need to undertake a detailed tree survey to 
understand the value of the trees on the site and this should inform 
the detailed design and layout of development, having regard to the 
proforma requirements. 
 
The Local Plan proforma indicates that tree and landscape buffers 
along the site boundaries of the AL13 site should be retained and 
reinforced. 

6.7.11 No evidence to suggest southern green fringe may be capable of 
accommodating biodiversity net gain and no land agreements in 
place  

The text is identifying an opportunity to maximise the level of 
biodiversity provision on the AL13 site allocation, in line with the 
principles set out in the SPD and policy in the Local Plan. Developers 
should work together to achieve this. 

6.7.11 Suggest the SPD more explicitly recognises the challenges of 
providing BNG across the Placemaking Area.    

The degree of challenge will not be known until developers submit 
their planning applications and accompanying biodiversity net gain 
assessments. The approach set out allows for off-site solutions if 
necessary and justified. 

6.7.12 Minor rewording proposed to refer to mitigation and enhancement Agreed. 
 
Amend reference to mitigation and enhancement 

476



75 
 

6.7.14 Change to metric 3.1 Agreed. 
 
Amend reference to metric to refer to 3.1 

6.7.15 Loss of trees implicit in the SPD is contrary to RBWM Environment 
and Climate Strategy.   

The Local Plan AL13 allocation for the site was approved with an 
indicative dwelling number for the site and a series of policy 
requirements in the proforma to assist with mitigating its impact, 
including in relation to trees. 

6.7.15 Rather than removing trees the development brief should identify 
opportunities to increase tree canopy cover.   

Paragraphs 6.7.15 (Box) indicates the need for significant new tree 
planting in the SW Maidenhead area. 

6.7.15 Concerned that the fate of trees in AL13 not adequately protected. 
The BLP policy NR3(4) does not restrict protection to mature trees 
only, nor does it call for retention ‘where possible’, but rather calls 
for protection and retention where harm is ‘unavoidable’.  The 
stronger wording of the BLP should be replicated in the SPD. 

The wording in the SPD summarises the approach set out in the 
proforma for the AL13 site in the Local Plan.  

6.7.15 The SPD should be modified to protect the ancient woodland at 
Rushington Copse with a 100 metre planted buffer (other comments 
suggest 50m) 

The proforma in the Local Plan for the AL13 site requires the 
protection of Rushington Copse including buffer zones where 
necessary. 100m buffer zone would be excessive, having regard to 
the need to accommodate development.  

6.7.15 Concern that any loss of mature trees and woodland would be 
incompatible with the requirement to deliver biodiversity net gain.   
Where ancient woodland or veteran trees are lost or damaged there 
will always be net loss of biodiversity and it is impossible to secure 
net gain.   

It is a policy, and soon to be legal, requirement to deliver biodiversity 
net gain. The SPD sets out further guidance on the approach to 
achieving this in the context of the SW Maidenhead area. 

6.7.15 
and 
6.7.16 

Concern about the possible impact of development on Rushington 
Copse. 
The draft SPD is lacking in detail to ensure the retention / protection 
identified in AL13 and AL14 happens in practice.   
 

See response above re the need to protect Rushington Copse and 
include buffer zones where necessary. The detail of buffer zones and 
retention/protection measures will need to be provided at the 
planning application stage in the light of detailed tree surveys. 

6.7.15 
and 
6.7.16 

 Preference is to create new habitat, including native woodland, 
around existing ancient woodland.  This will help reverse the historic 
fragmentation of this important habitat, contribute to biodiversity 
net gain, and can also provide accessible green space for nearby 
residents.  

Noted. 

477



76 
 

6.7.16 Surveys of existing trees and woodland, and habitat opportunity 
mapping for new woodland creation should be completed before 
any firm decisions are taken on the scale, location or layout of 
development on the site.  

Tree surveys will be required to inform layouts and the ultimate scale 
of development included in any planning applications. 

6.7.16  It is noted that the Ancient Tree Inventory (ATI) for the area is not 
complete.  Recommend an exercise to complete the ATI (which lists 
ancient, veteran and notable trees outside woods) across any sites 
allocated or proposed to be allocated for development, in order to 
comply with NPPF p.180c.   
Recommend that if the scale of development proves incompatible 
with legislative requirements (to protect ancient woodland, 
ancient/veteran trees, contribute to local nature recovery networks 
and deliver biodiversity net gain) then the scale of development 
should be adjusted accordingly.   
Requested change in wording to require surveys as an essential 
prerequisite to bringing forward designs for the site.  

Developers will need to undertake tree surveys and this will identify 
the value of trees on the sites.  
 
Regard will have to be had to paragraph 180c of the NPPF in relation 
to any ancient woodland, ancient or veteran trees in the 
determination of planning applications. 
 
The wording already highlights that the tree surveys are very 
important. Policy NR3 that provides more detail on the policy 
requirements regarding tree surveys, is referenced in paragraph 
6.7.16 of the SPD. 

6.7.16 A tree survey would accompany any application on the site, as such 
the reference to the value of the clump can be omitted from the SPD 
as this would be thoroughly assessed through the determination of a 
planning application consistent with policy NR3.  
It must be acknowledged in this section ‘the clump’ is not ancient 
woodland.  

The paragraph already highlights that tree surveys will be very 
important – this applies across the area. No need to highlight 
particular area. 
 
Amend to take out reference to the golf course and the Clump. 
 
The Clump is identified as ancient woodland on the Ancient 
Woodland Inventory.  
 

6.7.18 
 

Berkeley’s Spring Hill Development proposals submitted for full 
planning consent do not include any green infrastructure for food 
production 
 

That is a matter for the consideration of the planning application, not 
this SPD. 

6.7.19 The SPD should insist that all drainage ponds and other 
infrastructure associated with the development will be provided 
within the AL13 site boundary.   

The detail of the sustainable drainage measures are best addressed 
at the planning application stage. 

478



77 
 

6.7.19 Paragraph 4.8.1 advises that AL13 is within Flood Zone 1, whereas 
this paragraph suggests there are areas of flood risk on both sites 
(AL13 and 14).  Clarification requested on flood risk on AL13, 
otherwise requested it is omitted from this paragraph.   

Inconsistency noted. A small amount of AL13 is within flood zone 2. 
This is consistent with the statement in the Local Plan proforma 
(bullet point 19). 
 
Amend paragraph 4.8.1 to say that ‘almost’ all of AL13 is within 
flood zone 1 

6.7.21 The last sentence of this paragraph should be omitted to ensure 
consistency with national guidance regarding the acceptability and 
appropriateness of less vulnerable uses in flood zones 1, 2 and 
Development 3a.   

Disagree – the last sentence is not inconsistent with the earlier 
statement about acceptability and appropriateness of less vulnerable 
uses.  As part of the BLP Examination, the Council and the 
Environment Agency agreed that the extent (and therefore 
quantum) of any development suitable within these Flood Zones will 
need to be considered at the detailed planning application stage. The 
last sentence is consistent with this.  

6.7.23 Not identified why the impacts on the Scheduled Monument would 
be ‘minor’.  Historic England’s comments suggest that any 
development could harm the SM as it is not possible for any new 
housing development to proceed without some form of flood / 
surface water scheme in place.   
Reasonable chance of further Mesolithic discoveries in the area 

The SPD does not say this. 
 
Any high-level assessment by the Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal 
or the Strategic Environmental Assessment of this SPD would not be 
sufficient evidence at the planning application stage to conclude on 
the likely impacts of the scheduled ancient monument – further 
more detailed assessment would be required to support a planning 
application including, as referred to in the SPD, a setting study. 
 
 

 

  

479



78 
 

Section 7 Infrastructure Delivery 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

7 Concern regarding the funding gap - No current agreement between 
developers on the funding of key infrastructure.  Agreement on 
infrastructure funding is a necessary precondition of a meaningful 
SPD.  What happens if no equitable agreement emerges? 

A key role of the SPD is to coordinate infrastructure delivery and 
funding. It therefore provides an equitable approach to funding 
infrastructure, including addressing the funding gap that it sets out. 
This will be secured though section 106 agreements linked to 
planning permissions that the Council will negotiate with developers. 

7 Concerned that work is not sufficiently progressed to provide 
confidence to the infrastructure requirements, estimates or the 
apportionment of contributions across the South West Maidenhead 
sites.  Suggest the detail presented in the SPD is limited to allow this 
work to conclude. 
Also suggest the SPD should be suitably and strongly caveated to the 
effect that ongoing work will impact on the final detail of the SPD.   

The work provides sufficient level of detail for the purposes of an 
SPD. It is recognised that as more detail emerges (e.g., more detailed 
designs and/or costings) then the infrastructure schedule will need 
to be updated and the SPD provides for this by publishing updates to 
the costings and the funding gap on the Council’s website. 
Furthermore, significant inflation means that it will be important to 
keep costs updated by indexing. 
 
Ensure SPD provides for updating of costs and the funding gap over 
time to take account of more up to date information of costs of 
schemes and to index for inflation 

7 Consider it premature to conclude that there is a necessity for major 
improvements to J8/9 resulting from the AL13/14 sites.  

It is prudent to allow for improvements to the junction including a 
limited contribution from SW Maidenhead development. 

7 Risk that RBWM will struggle to appropriately evidence that the 
necessary infrastructure can be delivered under CIL and/ or s106 in 
accordance with Regulation 122 tests.   
Also concerned with the proposed delivery mechanisms and suggest 
that higher contingency allowances than would normally be deemed 
appropriate would conflict with Regulation 122 legality tests.   
The development should not be required to more than mitigate its 
own impact.   

Local Plan policy requires comprehensive coordinated delivery of 
infrastructure and the SPD sets out a framework for doing that in a 
way that is considered to be consistent with CIL regulation 122. It 
provides a simple but comprehensive approach to ensure equitable 
contributions from developers. The SPD should explain this further. 
An alternative more bespoke approach to negotiating development 
contributions which would also be complaint with regulation 122, 
and this should also be set out in the SPD, but this is not the 
Council’s preferred approach. 

480



79 
 

 
Update the SPD to more clearly set out the simple comprehensive 
approach to contributions, making clear its compliance with CIL 
regulation 122, and also set out the alternative (not preferred) 
more complex approach. 

7 Suggest that the starting point should be to calculate the level of on-
site infrastructure that would technically be required from the 
schemes and any extra-over costs incurred would need to be 
addressed within some sort of equalisation / credit system, to 
ensure that the respective schemes are only required to meet their 
appropriate level of cost.   

The SPD sets out such an approach, but because this is based on 
“ringfencing” Community Infrastructure Levy contributions to the SW 
Maidenhead area to deliver the most locally significant 
infrastructure, it is essential that SW Maidenhead developments 
collectively fully fund that infrastructure through CIL and section 106. 
SW Maidenhead development will have a wider impact than the 
infrastructure schedule set out in Appendix 2 of the SPD and the 
more complex approach referred to above would need to take 
account of these also in the more technical approach referred to In 
these comments. 

7.1 Text 
Box 

Review text box – cannot introduce new policies It is consistent with BLP policy to fully mitigate impact of 
development so is not introducing new policy. However, given the 
changes referred to above, the statement in the box should be 
simplified. 
 
Wording in box simplified to reflect other changes in this section 

7.1 and 
Table 2 

All S106/CIL allocations need to be justified.  RBWM’s playing pitch 
strategy and built facilities strategies are now out of date.  These 
have been recommissioned and work should start in October 2022, 
this will give robust evidence needed when seeking contributions 
towards new sports infrastructure needed for the new community in 
South West Maidenhead.   
I would therefore suggest it is premature to put figures in table 2 for 
this, unless they are based on Sport England’s Sport Facility 
Calculator and Playing Pitch Calculator.   

Agreed. It is considered that contributions to playing pitches will be 
required, but for the reasons set out in the comment, it is not 
appropriate to include a cost estimate in Appendix 2 at this stage, 
but to highlight that contributions are likely to be needed. 
 
Add text in section 6.5 (open space section) to indicate that 
financial contributions to playing pitch provision are likely to be 
required. 

7.1.3, 
7.1.10 

Recommend the removal of the Precautionary Approach and instead 
suggest any contribution calculation is based on the direct costs of 
infrastructure, which includes appropriate allowances for risk and 

It is right to be cautious about costings at this stage, particularly in 
the current inflationary environment. However, the Council has 
undertaken some work on the costs, particularly in relation to 

481



80 
 

and Table 
2 

contingency. Concern that the precautionary approach and 
additional £10m in Table 2 is not justified/seeking higher 
contributions than the base cost 

education, and considers that a combination of regular indexing of 
costs and updating of costs as further detail becomes available, will 
help to mitigate this risk. Use of the CIL Index which is the 
Government’s preferred approach to updating CIL charging levels is 
considered an appropriate way of indexing infrastructure costs. 
 
Remove the 10% uplift to the costs set out in Table 2 in the draft 
SPD but update costs where additional evidence is available, and 
index those costs to Dec 2022 using the CIL index 

7.1.2 – 
7.1.5 

Add reference to the CIL Reg 122 tests for planning obligations – 
need to be careful the approach is compliant 
 
Will the developer build the infrastructure or the Council – if the 
latter, need mechanism for this and needs to be transparent 
arrangements to ensure costs are robust and justified 

Agree it is helpful to briefly set out the policy and legislative 
background to s106 and CIL 
 
Include additional text section 7 providing brief policy and 
legislative background to CIL and s106. 
 
Appendix 2 provides an indication of who may deliver the 
infrastructure, and this has been updated with the latest 
information. As and when the schemes are brought forward there 
would be more detailed schemes/designs and related costings. 

7.1.5 & 
7.1.23 

There are schemes outside of the SPD area which will generate 
impacts upon the Borough’s infrastructure and consequently these 
must also be acknowledged within the table which follows at 7.1.5.   
The need to consider impacts of development outside of the SW 
Maidenhead area must also be acknowledged within the split of 
development funding highway improvements as illustrated in table 4 
(paragraph 7.1.23). 
Increases in traffic flows from other development is not included in 
this and therefore the proportions assigned to the development 
sites in SW Maidenhead are unjustified and inconsistent with the 
Regulations.  They must therefore be revised to ensure that this 
consistency is achieved.   

Noted. But there are also various forms of infrastructure outside of 
the SPD area that will be impacted by development in the SW 
Maidenhead area that SW Maidenhead development ought to 
contribute towards. The “simple comprehensive approach” set out in 
the SPD seeks to balance out these two factors in an equitable way, 
ensuring that the necessary infrastructure is delivered but without 
overly complex assessments and negotiations. This is the Council’s 
preferred approach. 
 
As referred to in responses above, it is recommended that the 
alternative more complex approach is set out in the SPD as well. This 
will involve wider and more technical assessment of impact on a 
range of different types of infrastructure. This is likely to delay 
development. 

482



81 
 

7.1.10 A Regulation 122 compliance statement should be prepared which 
alongside the annual infrastructure funding statement sets out that 
infrastructure can be delivered whilst complying with Regulation 122 

The approaches set out in the final SPD to infrastructure funding are 
considered to be compliant with Reg 122. There is no need for such a 
statement but the infrastructure funding statement may provide 
updates as appropriate, and evidence regarding costs and receipts 
will be updated as appropriate on the website. 
 
Updated approaches to infrastructure funding are set out and are 
considered to be Regulation 122 compliant 

7.1.12 – 
7.1.13 

Land costs - Council has failed to demonstrate that the land north of 
Harvest Hill Road would not have given rise to the need for 
education/community facilities, regardless of the wider 
development. So it is not appropriate for developers of smaller sites 
to fund the land cost of a school 

Disagree. The AL13 site is a single allocation for land north and south 
of Harvest Hill Road and it is right that landowners for different parts 
of the site contribute towards the land costs for the 
schools/community facilities – land costs for schools are a legitimate 
infrastructure cost. Historic allocations in an unadopted draft local 
plan are not material to this issue. 

7.1.12 & 
7.1.13 

Regarding school and costs – clarity must be provided as to the level 
of costs per acre/hectare that have been reflected in the respective 
calculations. 

Agreed. Further work has been done on this. 
 
Update SPD to set out the cost of school/community land and add 
this to the infrastructure costs set out for the Council’s preferred 
approach and to the costs for the individual infrastructure elements 
set out in Appendix 2. Also provide a cost per unit basis for the land 
should developers decide to adopt the alternative approach to 
infrastructure funding. 

7.1.13 The Council’s initial improvements to the Braywick roundabout 
include a filter lane from the A330 onto the A308(M).  The Council’s 
reliance on this land to achieve highway improvements must 
therefore be considered in determining extent of site specific 
contributions from the AL14 site.  This is not currently achieved.   

The filter lane and hence the land are necessary to make the 
development of the Triangle site acceptable highway terms. As such 
there should be no adjustment to the level of contributions. 

7.1.12 – 
7.1.13 

There needs to be a robust evidence base in place to justify the 
school provision being sought. The Council’s own evidence indicates 
that the 7 FE secondary school is not intended to serve solely the 
AL13 allocation 

Appendix 2 in the draft SPD made clear that not all of the funding for 
the secondary school would be sought from SW Maidenhead 
development. However further information to explain the pupil 
generation and costs would assist and is available.  
 

483



82 
 

Include new Appendix setting out more evidence on pupil 
generation for the primary and secondary school and on costs 

7.1.12 – 
7.1.13 

As more robust evidence is required on costs etc, this may delay the 
SPD and delay delivery 

The final SPD includes additional and up to date costs and a 
commitment to keep them under review. Development need not be 
delayed provided it delivers a comprehensive and coordinated 
approach to infrastructure delivery, in line with the Local Plan policy 

7.1.15 – 
7.1.26 

Questions: 
- How CIL monies are used to fund infrastructure works 
- How / whether s106 contributions can be required from the 

AL13 schemes to meet the ‘funding gap’ whilst complying 
with CIL Regulations 122; and 

- How the respective cost items have been calculated, 
including rates, measures and contingency allowances for 
works costs items and land values for costs towards school 
delivery 

CIL money is available to fund infrastructure to support the growth 
of the area. The Council ultimately decides how it is spent. Appendix 
2 of the SPD provides an indication of how it might be spent. 
 
It is completely appropriate to the Council to seek section 106 
contributions in addition to CIL contributions to deliver the policy 
requirement for comprehensive and coordinated infrastructure 
delivery in South West Maidenhead. It is considered to be compliant 
with CIL regulation 122. 
 
Further information is included in Appendix 2, within section 7, and 
in new Appendix 4 in relation to costs, indexing and land costs 
 
Update section 7, Appendix 2 and include new Appendix 4 to 
explain the basis of the infrastructure costs 
 

7.1.21 The first two points include elements of duplication and should be 
consolidated into a single requirement for walking / cycling off-site 

Disagree – these are two distinct elements, both of which are 
required. 

7.1.21  It is not agreed that the Triangle Site will account for 45% of traffic 
growth from the SW Maidenhead sites at Braywick Roundabout.  
This approach does not consider the impact of wider growth at the 
junction. 
This calculation of impacts is based on an assumption that AL14 will 
be delivered in its entirety for B2 floorspace (which is unrealistic – 
remains a difference between the Council and Promoters 
expectations of development mix at the Triangle site).   

See response above regarding the impact of wider growth on SW 
Maidenhead infrastructure, and the fact SW Maidenhead will also 
have a wider impact on infrastructure beyond the area. 
 
The formula set out in the Triangle site contributions part of section 
7 will mean that contributions will vary depending on the mix 
between B2 floorspace and B8 floorspace. 

484



83 
 

7.1.23 Lack of evidence regarding the derivation of the improvements 
specified. 
It is noted that no assessment has been provided that the level of 
contributions to be sought will not impact upon the viability and 
deliverability of the proposal.   
The lack of viability evidence with respect to the nature of potential 
infrastructure improvements has been a consistent matter raised 
through the Council’s preparation of the Local Plan and it remains 
unresolved in the SPD.    
No clear evidence the Councils expectations are realistic.   

The junction improvements identified were also identified as part of 
the Borough Local Plan traffic modelling. The updated traffic 
modelling has confirmed the need for them. 
 
An updated viability assessment of the AL13 housing site has been 
undertaken using the same viability model and approach as that 
used in the evidence for the Local Plan viability assessments (and 
found sound by the Local Plan Inspector), but updated for major 
changes in costs and values and based on the guidance set out in the 
draft SPD. The assessment indicated that the development is still 
viable. As such the Council considers that the infrastructure that is 
needed to support the development is realistic and viable. 

7.1.27 The Planning Practice Guidance indicates that it is not appropriate 
for SPDs to set out new formulaic approaches to SPDs 

The Council is providing a simple but comprehensive approach to 
infrastructure delivery and funding that is its preferred approach to 
ensure that the comprehensive approach required in policy is 
achieved. The amounts set out are expressed as a guide, but are 
included to ensure that development can comply with the policy 
requirement to deliver comprehensive and coordinated 
infrastructure provision across the area. 
 
Should developers choose not to adopt this approach, the final SPD 
sets out an alternative more complex approach. 
 
Revise SPD to set out an alternative more complex approach to 
infrastructure funding should developers choose not to adopt the 
Council’s preferred approach 

7.1.27 S106 contributions should be based on a per dwelling approach 
rather than per sq m approach because the quantum based on sq m 
is unknown, could vary a lot and hence could lead to funding gaps 

Disagree. Because the dwelling type/size is likely to vary considerably 
across the site given the site proforma and site characteristics, it is 
considered to be more equitable to base contributions on a per sq m 
basis. Whilst the precise amount of sq m is not known the same 
applies if the approach was based on dwelling numbers. 
 

485



84 
 

7.1.27 Concern that with a number of different land parcels it is difficult to 
know when development will be delivered and when infrastructure 
is required. Recommend preparation of an Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan setting out the infrastructure required and what is a priority. 

Noted. Appendix 2 of the SPD sets out infrastructure requirements 
for the SW Maidenhead area, although not for any wider impacts. 
Section 7 provides an indication of priorities in terms of earlier 
delivery of infrastructure. Further updates will be provided on the 
Council’s website as required. 
 
Further information on the need for and timing of school provision 
is set out in a new Appendix 4 

7.1.27 Alternative calculations of s106 contributions for 1 parcel of 
development provided, including assessment of traffic impact of 
that development on key junctions, whilst accepting a cost per 
dwelling for other elements 

Approach set out does not adopt a comprehensive approach to 
provision of infrastructure in SW Maidenhead and mixes and 
matches different approaches. 
 
SPD to set out a preferred simple comprehensive approach and a 
more complex approach and make clear that it would not be 
appropriate to mix and match approaches 

 Full costs breakdown should be provided for any contributions 
sought 
 

Costs are set out in Appendix 2 
 
Update costs and costing information in Appendix 2 based on latest 
information, including indexing to December 2022 

7.1.27 A per square metre approach may jeopardise the viability / 
deliverability of smaller dwellings, particularly apartment schemes in 
higher density areas.   

Disagree. It has the opposite effect. If contributions were charged on 
a per dwelling basis, then proportionately the costs would be higher 
for smaller units.  

7.2 National Highways observe it will be important that infrastructure 
improvements are in place as various stages of development open to 
prevent the unsafe operation of the SRN.   

Noted 

7.2 Note this has not been included with the Berkeley Homes Spring Hill 
Development proposals submitted for full planning permission 

The timing of infrastructure provision and financial contributions 
towards infrastructure in relation to the Berkeley scheme are a 
matter for negotiation as part of the section 106 agreement, should 
the Council be minded to permit the scheme. 

7.3 It is important that each developer will be able to accurately 
calculate their infrastructure costs and s106/CIL liabilities in order to 
be included in their viability assessment.   

The responses set out above outlines two potentially different 
approaches to determining developer contributions, including 
section 106 contributions, with costs and potential levels of 
contribution provided. They also indicate this information will be 

486



85 
 

updated as appropriate on the Council’s website. The assessment of 
CIL is based on the Council’s charging schedule which is updated 
annually by the CIL index. 
 
As set out in section 7.3, it is important to note that the starting 
point for considering viability is the viability work undertaken to 
inform the Local Plan. It is for the applicant to demonstrate whether 
particular circumstances justify the need for a viability assessment at 
the application stage. 

 

 

Appendices 

 

Paragraph 
Number 

Summary of Representations Council Response 

Appendix 
2 

Provides indicative costings of the various infrastructure 
improvements.  Those associated with highways particularly are 
derived from preliminary design.  Given the uncertainty of these it is 
not justified to rely upon them for determining the extent of 
contributions.   

It is considered that for an SPD these costings are soundly based. The 
SPD makes clear that these will be kept under review as more 
information becomes available and in the light of indexing. 

Appendix 
3 

This is partially out of date, both the school and leisure centre have 
been built for some time. Therefore this section needs to be 
updated.  Whilst supporting better linkages there is a basic concern 
that AL15 (Braywick Park) should be omitted from the SPD.    

Noted. However, Appendix 3 (Appendix 5 in the final version of the 
SPD) reproduces extracts from the Local Plan so cannot be changed. 

Appendix 
3 

A small concern is if Braywick Park is used to meet bio-diversity 
targets which could impact on the ability to meet sports targets.   

Noted 

Appendix 
3 

Any loss of playing fields must meet requirements of the National 
Planning Policy Framework paragraphs 98 and 99, this includes new 
sports facilities.   

Noted – the SPD does not propose any loss of playing fields but 
recognises there may need to be financial contributions to improve 
playing pitch provision. 

 

487



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
Report Title: Review of Local Development Scheme 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Councillor Haseler, Cabinet Member for 
Planning, Parking, Highways & Transport 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 15 December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services & Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
Every Local Planning Authority is required to prepare and maintain a document known 
as a Local Development Scheme (LDS). This document sets out the timetable for the 
preparation of planning documents such as Local Plans. 
 
The report recommends that the Cabinet approves a new LDS for the Royal Borough 
for the next three years to end of 2025. This programme includes work on the Traveller 
Local Plan. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Approves the Local Development Scheme for 2023-2025 for planning 
policy purposes and to publish it on the Council’s website to take 
effect from 1 January 2023.  

ii) Delegates authority to the Head of Planning, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Planning, Parking, Highways and Transport to 
make any minor non-material corrections to the Local Development 
Scheme as considered necessary ahead of publication. 
 
 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Background  
2.1 The Planning & Compulsory Planning Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act 

2011 (“2004 Act”), requires each local planning authority to prepare and maintain 
a document setting out the programme for the preparation of planning 
documents. This is known as the Local Development Scheme (LDS). 

2.2 Planning Practice Guidance1 states that an LDS should specify (among other 
matters) the development plan documents (i.e., local plans) which, when 
prepared, will comprise part of the development plan for the area. It encourages 
Local planning authorities to include details of other documents which form (or 
will form) part of the development plan for the area, such as Neighbourhood 

 
1 Plan-making, Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 61-003-20190315 

489

Agenda Item 12



Plans.  It adds that the LDS must be made available publicly and kept up-to-date 
so that local communities and interested parties can keep track of progress.  

2.3 The LDS is a three-year project plan for preparing planning documents, but it is 
not a policy document itself. It provides a starting point for the local community 
and stakeholders to find out what planning documents are being prepared by the 
Council and the timetable for when these documents will be produced. In 
particular, it sets out the timetable for the review and update of the Council’s Local 
Plan(s) and outlines the dates when there will be formal opportunities to get 
involved with the plan making process. 

2.4 The current Local Development Scheme was approved in October 2019, 
covering the period to end of 2022.  This set out the anticipated dates for the 
remaining stages for the Borough Local Plan and the Joint Minerals and Waste 
Plan, along with predicted timetable for the Traveller Local Plan. As we are now 
at the end of 2022, it is an appropriate time to update the LDS. As stated below, 
producing an LDS is a statutory requirement and therefore not approving the 
proposed new LDS is not recommended. 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
To approve the Local Development 
Scheme 2023-25 
This is the recommended option 

Agreeing a new LDS would 
ensure that the Council has an 
up-to-date programme for future 
local plan work, in accordance 
with its legal requirement to do 
so. Local residents and others 
would also be aware of the 
expected future work programme. 

Do nothing / not to approve the Local 
Development Scheme 2023-25 
 

This would mean that 
communities and other 
stakeholders would not know 
what planning documents are 
proposed to be produced. Also, 
the production of an LDS is a 
legal requirement and were this 
option pursued the Council would 
not be in line with the regulations.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The Borough Local Plan was adopted by the Royal Borough on 8 February 2022 
and the Minerals and Waste Plan, which was produced jointly with three other 
Central and Eastern Berkshire Councils, was adopted in November this year. 
Progress on the Traveller Local Plan has been slower than anticipated back in 
2019 due to a number of factors, particularly the need to prioritise officer 
resources into taking the BLP through to adoption.  However, a consultation on 
issues and options was undertaken in 2019 with a consultation statement 
published in 2020.  The 2018 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment 

490



was updated in 2022 and this sets out the need for pitches and plots for these 
groups up to 2036/37.  The 2022 update can be viewed here.  

3.2 The new Local Development Scheme has been prepared to cover the period 
between January 2023 and December 2025. The full documentation is attached 
as Appendix B to this document. The 2004 Act states that to bring the scheme 
into effect, the LPA must resolve that the scheme is to have effect and specify 
the date from which the scheme is to have effect.  It is proposed that the LDS 
will come into effect from 1 January 2023.  

3.3 The focus in this period will be on preparing the Traveller Local Plan. 
Councils have a duty to allocate sufficient land for Gypsy and Traveller 
accommodation needs. The recently updated GTAA shows that there is an 
unmet need for accommodation2 for these groups in the period to 2036/37.  

3.4 National planning policy in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites requires that 
Councils identify a supply of deliverable and developable sites to meet the 
needs against locally set targets along with criteria-based policies to guide land 
supply allocations.   Although the BLP includes a criteria-based policy for the 
assessment of proposals for Gypsy & Traveller accommodation, it does not 
allocate any Gypsy & Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople plots. As such, 
it is necessary to produce a separate Local Plan to meet these needs and 
allocate new sites for Travellers.   

3.5 The proposed timetable sets out that the Traveller Local Plan will be submitted 
for examination by late Summer/early Autumn 2024 and (subject to a timely 
examination process) adopted by Summer 2025.  

3.6 The Regulations require that a Local Planning Authority reviews its local plan 
every five years, starting with the date of adoption3. As the Borough Local Plan 
was adopted in February 2022, there is no requirement to review this until 2027, 
beyond the three-year period of the LDS.  Similarly, the Minerals and Waste 
Plan will not need to be reviewed until 2027.   

3.7 There is no requirement for a programme of Supplementary Planning 
Documents (SPDs) to be included within the LDS. Since the BLP was adopted, 
good progress has been made with several SPDs required to provide more 
detail on policies within the plan.  This has included the South West Maidenhead 
Development Framework SPD and the Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD, 
and draft versions of both documents have been consulted on during 2022.  
Work is also ongoing on the Sustainability and Climate Change SPD. Further 
SPDs will be produced during 2023.  Further details of SPDs will be provided 
on the Council’s website.   

 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 

Exceeded 
Date of 
delivery 

Cabinet 
agrees to 

LDS not 
approved  

LDS 
comes 
into force 

LDS 
comes into 
force 

N/A 01.01.2023 

 
2 At least 51 pitches for Travellers who lead a nomadic habit of life, plus a minimum of 14 plots for Travelling 
Showpeople.  
3 Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) 

491

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/6064200


Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

approve 
LDS 

on 
01.01.23 

before 
01.01.23 

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The production of the Traveller Local Plan will incur costs, including from public 
consultation and engagement, legal advice and the cost of the planning 
inspector for the examination process. However, the evidence of 
accommodation need has been updated recently and the overall scale of costs 
will be significantly lower than that incurred for the BLP. The cost of producing 
the Traveller Local Plan can be funded from existing budgets.  

4.2 No other significant costs would arise from approving the Local Development 
Scheme.  

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 Section 15 of the Planning & Compulsory Planning Act 2004, as amended by 
the Localism Act 2011, requires each local planning authority to prepare and 
maintain a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  Failure to produce and update 
the LDS would result in a failure to meet the Council’s legal obligations. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

The Government is 
expected to make 
reforms to the 
Planning system, 
and the process 
for preparing local 
plans may change 
within the next 12-
18 months. Such 
changes could 
affect the Traveller 
Local Plan. 

High Members will be updated 
as soon as practicable 
once further legislation 
and/or government 
guidance is received and 
at the appropriate time 
the Local Development 
Scheme may need to be 
reviewed. 

Low 

The Traveller 
Local Plan is 
delayed through 
insufficient 
resourcing or staff 
shortages. 

Medium The allocation of 
sufficient budget to 
progress the plan and the 
replacement of critical 
officers who leave the 
council, subject to 
approval.  

Low 

492



7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to 
ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, 
project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those 
within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. An 
Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. This sets out that the 
Traveller Local Plan would benefit the gypsy and traveller communities, who are 
disadvantaged groups. Some Gypsies and Travellers are protected against 
discrimination on the basis of their ethnic origins.  

7.2 Climate change/sustainability. All local plans must be subject to a Sustainability 
Appraisal.  

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR. No impacts 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 The Traveller Local Plan will be subject to extensive public consultation during 
its preparation.  There is no need to consult externally on the content of the 
Local Development Scheme itself.  

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in: 1st January 2023. The full implementation 
stages are set out in table 4. 

 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
15 December 
2022 

Cabinet decides whether to approve Local Development 
Scheme. 

1 January 2023 Local Development Scheme comes into force, following 
Call In period.  

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 2 appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Equality Impact Assessment  
• Appendix B – Local Development Scheme 2023-25. 

 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by no background documents: 
 

493



12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
10/11/2
022 

17/11/20
22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring Officer 

10/11/2
022 

17/11/20
22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
10/11/2
022 

 

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) 

10/11/2
022 

 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

10/11/2
022 

17/11/20
22 

Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on EQiA, 
or agree an EQiA is not required 

  

Ellen McManus Equalities & Engagement Officer 21/11/2
022 

22/11/20
22 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive 10/11/2
022 

 

Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 10/11/2
022 

18/11/20
22 

Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite Head of Planning 10/11/2
022 

22/11/20
22 

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Key decision  
 
First entered into 
the Cabinet 
Forward Plan:  
21/09/2022 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Ian Motuel, Planning Policy Manager Tel. 01628 796429 

 

494



APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan X 
 

Project  Service/Procedure  

 
Responsible 
officer 

Ian Motuel Service area Planning Directorate 
 

Place 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created: 
21/11/2022 

Stage 2 : Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

Date created: n/a 

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Adrien Waite   
 
Dated: 22/11/22  

 

 

 
 

 

495



Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 

496



Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
To approve the publication of a Local Development Scheme (LDS) for the Royal Borough, covering the next three years to end of 
2025. Producing an LDS is a statutory requirement. It is not a policy document itself, but it provides a starting point for the local 
community and stakeholders to find out what planning documents are being prepared by the Council and the timetable for when 
these documents will be produced. 
 
This proposed LDS programme includes work on the Traveller Local Plan. Councils have a duty to allocate sufficient land for Gypsy 
and Traveller accommodation needs. Recent evidence shows that there is an unmet need for accommodation for these groups in 
the period to 2036/37. 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 

 
 
 
 
 

497



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Disability Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Gender re-
assignment 

Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Race Relevant 
 

High Positive This proposed LDS programme includes work on the 
Traveller Local Plan. Councils have a duty to allocate 
sufficient land for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation 
needs. Recent evidence shows that there is an unmet 
need for accommodation for these groups in the period 
to 2036/37. The Traveller Local Plan will allocate sites 
to meet the future accommodation needs of the 
Traveller communities and include any appropriate 
relevant policies to guide any planning applications that 
come forward.  

Religion and 
belief 

Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

498



Sex Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no direct impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

Sexual 
orientation 

Not 
relevant 
 

  The LDS will have no impact on this protected 
characteristic.   

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

No None. It is considered 
that the proposed Local 
Development Scheme 
would not have a 
negative impact on any 
particular group. There 
would be positive 
impacts for the 
Traveller communities. 

Ian Motuel Positive impacts will 
emerge during and after 
the adoption of the 
proposed Traveller 
Local Plan for Traveller 
communities.  

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No None Ian Motuel n/a 

 

499



If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor 
future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
 

 

500



2 
 

                                  

                                                             

 

 

 

The Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead 

Local Development Scheme 

2023 - 2025 

 

 

 

 

Effective from 1 January 2023 

  

501



3 
 

FOREWORD 

This document rolls forward the Council’s Local Development Scheme (LDS) to 
identify the Local Development Documents to be produced in the period 2023 
to 2025.  
 
It explains:  

• The new Development Plan Documents (DPDs) the Council intends to 
produce. 

• The subject matter and geographical area for each of the documents and 
• The timetable for the preparation and the revisions of each DPD.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This document was produced by the:  
Planning Policy Team  
Planning Services  
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead 
Town Hall 
St Ives Road  
MAIDENHEAD 
Berkshire  
SL6 1RF 
 

For further information, please contact us by: 

Email: planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk 

  

502

mailto:planning.policy@rbwm.gov.uk


4 
 

CONTENTS  
 
 
 
  Page 

 
1 Introduction 

 
5 

2 Justification for the work programme 
 

5 

3 What documents have we already prepared? 
 

6 

4 What documents will be prepared? 8 
   
Appendix A Timetable for production of Development Plan  

Documents  

10 

  
 
 
 
 
 
  

503



5 
 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended by the 
Planning Act 2008 and Localism Act 2011) requires a Local Planning 
Authority to prepare and maintain a Local Development Scheme (LDS). 
An LDS sets out a timetable for the production of new or revised 
planning documents (such as a Local Plan) by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

1.2 Planning Practice Guidance1 states that an LDS should specify (among 
other matters) the development plan documents (i.e. local plans) which, 
when prepared, will comprise part of the development plan for the area. 
It encourages Local planning authorities to include details of other 
documents which form (or will form) part of the development plan for 
the area, such as Neighbourhood Plans.  It adds that the LDS must be 
made available publicly and kept up-to-date so that local communities 
and interested parties can keep track of progress. The LDS will be 
published on the Council’s website. 

1.3 This Local Development Scheme (LDS) sets out the Royal Borough of 
Windsor and Maidenhead’s planning work programme for the next three 
years.  It outlines what documents the Council will be working on and a 
timetable for the production of these documents.  It is intended to take 
effect from 1 January 2023 and updates the LDS adopted by the Council 
in October 2019.  We will continue to review and roll forward this 
document on a regular basis to take account of progress, monitoring and 
the latest Government policy and guidance.  

 

2. Justification for the Work Programme 
 

2.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 2021) states that the 
development plan must include strategic policies to address each local 
planning authority’s priorities for the development and use of land in its 
area, including in local plans that may also contain non-strategic policies. 
The development plan for an area comprises the combination of 

 
1 Plan-making, Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 61-003-20190315 

504



6 
 

strategic and non-strategic policies which are in force at a particular 
time. 

2.2 It is important that this work programme is realistic and 'fit for purpose'. 
The timetables set out in this document therefore reflect: 
 

• The resources available to meet the work programme; 
• The timing of elections, and the need to work around these for 

consultation events; 
• The need to produce a robust and relevant evidence base, in 

partnership with neighbouring authorities where appropriate; 
• The need to satisfy the Duty to Cooperate, as required by the 

Localism Act 2011; 
• The need to undertake a detailed Sustainability Appraisal and 

Habitats Regulations Assessment on our plans; 
• Continued changes to national planning policy and legislation. 

 

3. What documents have we already prepared? 
 
Current Development Plan Documents 
 

3.1 As of 30 November 2022, adopted Development Plan Documents for 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead are: 
 

• Borough Local Plan 2013-33 (adopted February 2022). 
• Joint Central and Eastern Berkshire Minerals & Waste Plan 

(adopted November 2022) 
• Ascot, Sunninghill and Sunningdale Neighbourhood Plan (Made 

2014) 
• Hurley & Walthams Neighbourhood Plan (Made Dec 2017) 
• Eton and Eton Wick Neighbourhood Plan (Made Sept 2018) 
• Old Windsor Neighbourhood Plan (Made Dec 2019) 
• Horton and Wraysbury Neighbourhood Plan (June 2020) 
• Windsor Neighbourhood Plan (May 2021) 

505



7 
 

• Saved South East Plan Policy NRM6: Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area (2009) 
 

Current Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance 

3.2 As of 30 November 2022, the following SPDs and SPGs had been 
adopted.  
 

TITLE OF SPD BRIEF DESCRIPTION ADOPTION 

DATE 

Affordable Housing 
PPG 

Provides additional detail and guidance on how 
the Council will interpret and apply its approach 
to affordable housing. Not fully consistent with 
the BLP and national policy so has reduced 
weight. 

 

Cookham Village 
Design Statement 

Describes the character and setting of 
Cookham's three settlements in order to 
provide guidance to assist those seeking to 
make changes to their property or land 

May 2013 

Datchet Design Guide 
SPD 
 

The Design Guide will support and encourage 
design excellence in Datchet and provide 
guidance to council members, officers, 
developers and local communities on how to 
make Datchet a distinctive and attractive place. 

February 2021 

Landscape Character 
Assessment SPG 

Provides a structured approach to identifying 
the character and distinctiveness of the 
landscape, allowing these special qualities to be 
better understood and reflected in decision 
making. 

September 
2004 

Maidenhead 
Waterways 
Framework Planning 
Brief 

Provides a framework for future planning 
decisions along the water corridor stretching 
from the Cliveden Reach of the River Thames 
near Cookham, through Maidenhead, to Bray 
Marina. Its purpose is to aid the restoration of 
the waterway, including the achievement of the 
emerging Maidenhead Waterway Project. 

June 2009 

506



8 
 

Planning obligations 
and developer 
contributions SPD 

Prepared in two parts:  the developers Guide 
setting out the Council’s justification for 
contributions to be sought and the 
“Infrastructure and Amenity requirements” 
providing details of specific contributions from 
different types of development.  Includes 
downloadable S106 Calculator and sustainability 
appraisal. 

April 2014 

Sustainable design and 
construction 

The SPD provides detailed advice on improving 
the sustainability performance of buildings and 
spaces. It covers a range of areas including 
energy efficiency, renewable energy, water and 
waste management, materials, biodiversity and 
pollution, and be applicable to the full range of 
building types  

June 2009 

Thames Basin Heath 
SPA 

The SPD sets standards for how new residential 
developments will be expected to avoid and 
mitigate impact on the SPA.  

July 2010 

West Street 
Opportunity area SPD 

The SPD sets out the Council’s vision for the 
WSOA and incorporates a Design Framework to 
proactively guide and promote the 
comprehensive redevelopment of this key site 
within Maidenhead Town Centre. 

August 2016 

Borough Wide Design 
Guide 

The SPD sets out in detail what the Council 
considers to be design excellence in the Royal 
Borough. The Design Guide will help guide a 
major step change improvement in the quality 
of new development and places created across 
the Royal Borough and provide guidance to 
council members, officers, developers and local 
communities 

June 2020 

 
3.3 The Council will continue to apply these SPDs until they are replaced by 

new SPDs, or they become out-of-date as a result of new 
national/regional policy.  
 

Statement of Community Involvement (SCI)  

507



9 
 

3.4 The RBWM SCI was adopted in September 2016 but was updated in My 
2020 with temporary Covid-19 amendments.  This can be found at 
https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5656006.  
 
 

4. What documents will be prepared? 
 
4.1 This LDS identifies that over the period 2023 to 2025, the Council will 

progress a Development Plan Document entitled the 'Traveller Local 
Plan'. The Traveller Local Plan will allocate sites to meet the future 
accommodation needs of the Traveller communities and include any 
appropriate relevant policies to guide any planning applications that 
come forward.  The first stage, an Issues and Options Paper, was 
published for consultation in 2019.  A detailed timetable is set out in 
Appendix A. 

4.2 As the Council has recently adopted a new Borough Local Plan and a 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan, it is not proposed to update these 
within the next three years, but this will be kept under review.  

4.3 The Datchet Neighbourhood Plan 2022-2033 was submitted to the 
Council on 18 July 2022 and a Regulation 16 consultation was 
undertaken between 5 September and 17 October 2022.  The plan is 
currently undergoing its examination and if successful, it will be subject 
to a referendum in 2023. If the majority of those who vote are in favour 
of the plan, then it will come into force as part of the development plan. 
Two other groups are currently looking to produce Neighbourhood 
Plans, namely Cookham Parish Council and a prospective Maidenhead 
Neighbourhood Forum.  

4.4 It is proposed that a number of new and updated Supplementary 
Planning Documents (SPDs) will also be progressed over the next three 
years.  Three of these SPDs are currently in the process of preparation, 
namely  

• Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD 

• South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD  

• Sustainability and Climate Change SPD 

Please see the Council’s website for updates on the progress of SPDs.

508

https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/5656006


 

10 
 

Appendix A 

Timetable for production of Development Plan Documents  
 

DOCUMENT TITLE SUBJECT MATTER 

AND GEOGRAPHICAL 

AREA 

CHAIN OF 

CONFORMITY 
CONSULTATION PUBLICATION OF 

SUBMISSION 

DRAFT DPD  

SUBMISSION AND 

EXAMINATION OF 

DPD 

(INDICATIVE) 

ADOPTION OF 

DPD 

(INDICATIVE) 

POLICIES IT WILL 

REPLACE  

Traveller Local 
Plan 

Sets pitch/plot 
targets, and 
allocates sites for 
Gypsies, Travellers 
and Travelling 
Showpeople, 
informed by the 
Gypsy and 
Traveller 
Accommodation 
Assessment 

Covers the whole 
of the Royal 
Borough of 
Windsor and 
Maidenhead 
administrative 
area. 

Conformity 
with the 
National 
Planning Policy 
Framework 
(NPPF) and 
Planning Policy 
for Traveller 
Sites (PPTS). 

Regulation 18 
Draft Plan or 
Preferred 
Options 
consultation  

Autumn 2023 

Publication of 
Regulation 19 
Pre-Submission 
Plan 

Late 
Spring/early 
Summer 2024 

Submission  

Late 
Summer/early 
Autumn 2024 

Hearing period  

Late 2024 

Main 
Modifications 
consultation  

Early 2025 

Summer 2025 None 

509



 

11 
 

 

510



 
Report Title: Household Support Fund, Winter 2022/23 

Allocation 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

No - Part I  

Cabinet Member: Cllr Johnson, Leader of the council 
Meeting and Date: Cabinet, 15th December 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Kevin McDaniel, Director of People 
Becky Hatch, Head of Strategy 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report sets out RBWM’s policy for allocating the third tranche of the Household 
Support Fund. The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) has provided £421m to 
County Councils and Unitary Authorities in England to support those most in need to 
help with global inflationary challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This 
funding covers the period 1 October 2022 to 31 March 2023 inclusive. RBWM’s 
allocation of funding is £587,905, as in the previous two tranches. 

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) Note that the Chief Executive has used his Delegated Authority, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny, to approve 
the allocation and initial distribution of funding on the grounds of 
urgency.  

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Notes the Household Support Fund 
allocation policy.  
This is the recommended option 

This enables the Household 
Support Fund to be allocated to 
residents in need, quickly and 
effectively.  

 

  
2.1 Rationale for taking a delegated decision 

2.2 RBWM’s Household Support Fund allocation was confirmed at the start of 
October and therefore officers have needed to act quickly to develop the 
attached allocation policy. The increasing pressure of the cost of living crisis, 

511

Agenda Item 13



the onset of winter and the potential harm suffered by household that are not 
able to access this fund at the earliest possible opportunity mean that there is 
an urgent need to allocate funding. The Chief Executive has therefore taken a 
delegated decision on the allocation of the Fund, following discussion with the 
Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Chair of Corporate Overview and 
Scrutiny in accordance with Section 5 of the constitution, paragraph 3.9.  

2.3 The allocation of the Winter 2022-23 Household Support Fund is being 
distributed through two separate streams, summarised below. It should be noted 
that the Autumn Statement on November 17th, announced an extension of the 
Household Support Fund into next year. The policy for allocating future tranches 
of this Fund will be developed separately, and will be subject to a new decision. 

2.4 Stream 1: Free School Meals Support in the holidays 

2.5 This approach replicates that taken in previous tranches of the Household 
Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt 
of Free School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to 
support them with food costs during the school holidays. 

 
2.6 Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe 

financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership 
approach) 

2.7 RBWM’s policy is to work with a selection of third party organisation (TPOs) to 
allocate the remainder of the Household Support Grant (over £300,000) to 
households identified as experiencing severe financial hardship and at risk of 
escalation of problems. These TPOs include a range of local voluntary and 
community sector organisations, housing associations, and health partners.  A 
full list of Distribution Partners (DPs) is included in the Household Support 
Fund Policy document at Appendix B.  

2.8 DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at 
risk over the winter period, using their own sources of data and information, 
using criteria agreed with the council, and in accordance with the DWP 
guidance above.  

2.9 Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number 
(URN) and encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-
based application form. Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will 
receive a one-off cash payment of £145, which will be transferred into their 
bank account by BACS.  

2.10 DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in 
greatest need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications and 
potential fraud. The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to residents 
and the wider community through its website and through working through a 
diverse group of community organisations, parishes and stakeholders.  

512



2.11 Our delivery partners have a strong track record of working to support 
residents who are most in need, and have the information and relationships 
that can help to target the fund effectively. Those working directly with our 
communities are best placed to identify these individuals and to assess who 
will benefit most from the support. In particular, they are better able to identify 
residents who have missed out on previous support, for example, because 
they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain benefits.  

2.12 Working in partnership provides opportunities to embed the one off cash 
payments to residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This 
approach enables applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider 
conversation about the resident’s needs and will complement advice, for 
example on budgeting, management of health conditions and / or wider 
sources of support. The cash payment may also help partners to engage new 
‘harder to reach’ groups of residents.   

2.13 Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between 
the council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, 
resilience-building and preventative approach, that we wish to develop further 
going forwards.  

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

3.1 The successful delivery of this policy will provide financial support, in the form 
of £20 food vouchers per child, for each week of the school holidays, for families 
in receipt of Free School Meals; and one off cash transfers of £145, for residents 
in severe financial need over the winter period 2022-23. We expect to support 
3000 families in receipt of Free School Meals, plus over 2000 households in 
severe financial need, across a broad range of age groups and household types, 
and including disabled residents and those with long term health conditions.  
 

3.2 In addition, the partnership approach will help to strengthen positive 
relationships with and between the range of agreed partners, and the HSF cash 
payment aims to help to engage residents in the wider, more sustained, advice 
and support offered by our partners. 
 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Signifi

cantly 
Exceed
ed 

Date of 
deliver
y 

Household 
Support 
Fund 
(£587,905) 
fully 
allocated 
to 
residents 

< £587,000 
of the 
funding 
utilised.  

All funding 
utilised 
appropriately
.  

All funding 
allocated. 
Evidence of 
high impact 
on resident 
outcomes. 
Partnerships 
strengthened. 

  31 
March 
2023. 

513



Outcome Unmet Met Exceeded Signifi
cantly 
Exceed
ed 

Date of 
deliver
y 

in most 
need.  

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 This proposal utilises the full grant provided to RBWM through the DWP 
Household Support Fund, with a small proportion of the Fund used to cover the 
council and voluntary and community sector partners’ management costs. 
There are therefore no additional financial burdens from the council for the 
delivery of this scheme. Support provided to residents will be limited to the 
amount provided to the council by DWP. 

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The attached proposal complies with the guidance issued by DWP, and as such 
there are no significant legal implications.  

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

Funding is 
allocated to 
residents who do 
not have high or 
genuine levels of 
need.  

Medium  Partners have been 
selected on the basis of 
their experience and 
track record of working 
with communities in 
need; their access to 
different forms of 
evidence and 
information to support 
their decisions; and 
their reach across 
diverse communities.  

Medium-
low 

TPOs are unable 
to identify 
enough residents 
to allocate the full 
amount of the 
grant.  

Medium RBWM will track 
applications and spend 
on an ongoing basis, to 
enable potential 
underspend to be 
identified early. RBWM 
will meet with partners 
on a monthly basis to 
review and respond to 

Low 

514



any issues arising. 
Mitigating actions to 
include broadening 
communications and 
outreach; expanding 
the number of partners; 
redistributing Unique 
Reference Numbers 
between different 
partners; and in 
extreme circumstances 
lowering threshold of 
need; and / or making a 
second payment to 
applicants. 

Residents who 
consider 
themselves to be 
eligible for 
support do not 
receive it, and are 
dissatisfied. 

Medium  Residents are able to 
approach any of the 
partner organisations 
listed, and are 
encouraged to 
approach Citizens 
Advice as our 
overarching partner, if 
they would like to put 
themselves forward for 
support. It should be 
recognised that the 
levels of funding are set 
by DWP, and are 
unlikely to fully meet 
demand for support. 
Any complaints will be 
handled in a timely and 
sensitive manner. 

Medium 

Residents with 
poor IT skills or 
lack of digital 
access struggle 
to complete the 
online form.  

Medium  Partners will be 
available to assist 
residents in completing 
their application forms, 
and can provide 
organisational email 
addresses, for those 
who do not have access 
to IT. Digital support is 
also available within 
libraries.  

Low 

The Fund is 
targeted by fraud 

Medium Every applicant will be 
required to complete a 
statutory declaration of 
truth, eligibility checks 
will be made for 

Low 

515



residency, to screen out 
duplicate applications, 
and to check that the 
bank account details 
provided match the 
name of the applicant. 
Regular meetings with 
partners will also probe 
for any suspicious 
activities. 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

7.1 Equalities. Partners have been selected on the basis of their collective reach 
across communities, and ability to target groups with different protected 
characteristics. The allocation of the fund will be monitored to assess distribution 
by ethnicity, gender, disability, pensioners and children in the household. Where 
proportions do not match those of the population and evidence of need in the 
borough, action will be taken to proactively target under-represented groups to 
ensure that they are able to benefit from the scheme, including through 
engaging with a range of organisations working with diverse communities to 
encourage residents in need to come forward. An Equality Impact Assessment 
is available as Appendix A. 

 
7.2 Climate change/sustainability: there are minimal sustainability implications of 

this proposal.  
 
7.3 Data Protection/GDPR: Personal data collected as part of the Household 

Support Fund application and allocation process will only be used for the 
purposes of allocating the Household Support Fund and will adhere to the terms 
of the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation 
(GDPR). Guidance on the use of personal data is included within the resident 
application form, for their information. Anonymised data will be analysed for 
monitoring the allocation of the Fund, by protected characteristics, household 
type and geographical location, as appropriate. 

 CONSULTATION 

7.4 The second stream of the Household Support Fund (Partnerships) has been 
developed in close consultation with a range of partners and wider stakeholders. 
These include voluntary and community sector organisations, Frimley ICB, 
housing partners and parishes, in addition to engagement with services across 
the council. Stakeholders provided valuable input to shape the policy, through 
a series of individual meetings and workshops.   

516



8. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 

8.1 Implementation date: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in 
table 4. 
 
Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
October 2022 – 
31 March 2023. 

Initial allocation of food vouchers to families in receipt of 
Free School Meals was made in October half term. 
Subsequent allocations to cover three further weeks of 
school holidays in the December-March period.  

1 December 
2022 – 31 March 
2023. 

Partners begin to identify residents for scheme 2, and 
residents invited to apply for support through the web-
based application form. Applications will close on 31 
March 2023, or when the limit of the Fund is reached, if 
sooner.  

25 January 2023 Interim monitoring report returned to DWP 
28 April 2023 Final monitoring report returned to DWP, with post-

assurance checks undertaken if required. 

9. APPENDICES  

9.1 This report is supported by three appendices: 
 
• Appendix A – Household Support Fund Allocation Policy 
• Appendix B – List of Distribution Partners 
• Appendix C - Equality Impact Assessment  

 

10. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

10.1 This report is supported by one background document: 
 
• DWP Household Support Fund guidance, Household Support Fund (1 

October 2022 to 31 March 2023): final guidance for county councils and 
unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

 

11. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
22.11.22 24.11.22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring 
Officer 

22.11.22 24.11.22 

517

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/household-support-fund-final-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/household-support-fund-final-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/household-support-fund-final-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england


Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

  

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

  

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Emma Young Data Protection Officer   
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 

EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus-
Fry 

Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

20.11.22 24.11.22 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive   
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place   
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
20.11.22 24.11.22 

External (where 
relevant) 

   

N/A    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cabinet Member for Finance, 
Leader of the Council 

Yes 

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
For information  
 
 

Yes - Decision by Chief 
Executive was taken under 
urgency powers. The 
recommendation in this report is 
for noting only. 

No 

 
Report Author: Becky Hatch, Head of Strategy 

 
 
 
 
 
 

518



Appendix A: Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy  

 

 

 

Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy 

(Tranche 3, October 2022 – March 2023) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
November 2022  
 
 
Document Control   
Managed by:  
Becky Hatch 
Head of Strategy 
Version: V1.0 
 

519



Introduction and DWP guidance  

 
The Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) has provided £421m to County Councils and 
Unitary Authorities in England to support those most in need to help with global inflationary 
challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This funding covers the period 1 October 
2022 to 31 March 2023 inclusive. Local Authorities(LAs) have discretion on exactly how this 
funding is used within the scope set out of the accompanying grant determination and 
guidance. Household Support Fund (1 October 2022 to 31 March 2023): final guidance for 
county councils and unitary authorities in England - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). 

This is the third tranche of the Household Support Fund. The Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead's allocation of funding for this period is £587,905, as in the previous two 
tranches.  

For this tranche of funding, DWP have stated that there is no ringfence of funding for any 
particular cohort of people. The expectation is that The Fund should be used to support 
households in the most need; particularly those who: 

- may not be eligible for the other support government has recently made available but who 
are neverless in need. This may include, but is not limited to, people who are entitled to but 
not claiming qualifying benefits, people who are claiming Housing Benefit (HB) only, people 
who begin a claim or return to payment of a benefit after the relevant qualifying date as well 
as people who have fuel costs but who cannot access the £400 of energy support from the 
Energy Bill Support Scheme or the equivalence package confirmed on 29 July 2022.  

- groups who are vulnerable to rising prices even though they are supported through these 
schemes, for example large families or single-income families.  

DWP stress that The Fund is intended to cover a wide range of low income households in 
need including families with children of all ages, pensioners, unpaid carers, care leavers and 
disabled people. 

DWP state that when administering The Fund, Authorities are encouraged to adopt the 
following principles: 

• use discretion on how to identify and support those most in need, taking into account 
a wide range of information 

• use the funding from 1 October 2022 to 31 March 2023 to meet immediate needs and 
help those who are struggling to afford energy and water bills, food, and other related 
essentials. Authorities can also use the funding to support households who are 
struggling to afford wider essentials 

Local authorities are requested to include a resident application process for at least some of 
the funding.  

This document provides guidance regarding the operation and delivery of the policy in the 
Royal Borough. 
 

 

520

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/household-support-fund-final-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/household-support-fund-guidance-for-local-councils/household-support-fund-final-guidance-for-county-councils-and-unitary-authorities-in-england


2. RBWM Approach 

RBWM have developed a are allocating the Household Support Fund through two schemes, 
which will run in parallel.  

Scheme 1: Free School Meal support during the holidays 

RBWM will provide families in receipt of Free School Meals with vouchers to assist with food 
costs during the school holidays. This replicates the successful allocation of funding in this 
way in the previous two tranches of the Fund.  

Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial 
hardship and at risk of escalation of problems  

RBWM will work with a range of Third Party Organisations within the voluntary and 
community sector, housing and health, to engage with and identify residents in most need. 
Residents identified by partners will be invited to apply for a one off cash payment of £145 
through a short, web-based application form.  

 

Scheme 1: Support to families in receipt of Free School Meals 
 
Summary of approach 
This approach mirrors the methodology undertaken in previous tranches of the Household 
Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt of Free 
School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to support them with food 
costs during the school holidays. Receipt of Free School Meals provides a robust and clear 
criteria for allocation.  

Schools request vouchers through a secure platform on behalf of pupils eligible for free 
school meals who attend their school. The request is authorised by an AFC Officer and then 
the voucher code is emailed to the parent/ carer. 

Eligibility Criteria  

Eligibility Criteria requires pupils to be registered for free school meals and attending a 
RBWM school regardless of their home address. Pupils outside of this criteria would be 
excluded. The funding level is £20 per pupil per funded week. The delivery method being 
used is through issuing of electronic vouchers. 

Funding levels  

The most recent number of pupils receiving free school meals was nearly 3,000. The 
planned allocation for October 2022 to March 2023 is £240.000 which represents £80 over 4 
weeks of the school holidays per pupil. 

  

521



Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial 
hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership approach) 

Summary of approach 

RBWM’s policy is to work with a selection of third party organisation (TPOs) to allocate the 
remainder of the Household Support Grant. These TPOs include a range of local voluntary 
and community sector organisations, housing associations, and health partners.  A full list of 
Distribution Partners (DPs) is included at Appendix B.  

DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at risk over the 
winter period, using their own sources of data and information, using criteria agreed with the 
council, and in accordance with the DWP guidance above.  

Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number (URN) and 
encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-based application form. 
Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will receive a one-off cash payment of 
£145, which will be transferred into their bank account by BACS.  

DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in greatest 
need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications and potential fraud. 

The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to residents and the wider community. 
Residents will be able to put themselves forward to DPs for support.  

Summary of process 
 

- Residents identified by our DPs will be encouraged to apply for a one off cash 
payment of £145, through a simple, web-based form, managed by the council.  

- DPs will provide each individual resident with a Unique Reference Number 
(URN), which will be entered on their application form. DPs will provide RBWM with a 
list of the residents who have received a URN and a brief summary of their 
circumstances.  

- Applications will be approved by the council, subject to checks on residency, 
identity and duplicate applications. Applications can not be submitted without a 
Unique Reference Number from a partner organisation.  

- Payments will be administered by the council and paid into the applicant’s bank 
account. 

- RBWM will provide a small ‘management costs’ payment to DPs from the 
voluntary and community sector, to contribute to the costs of running the scheme 
and associated winter support to residents. 
 

Rationale for a partnership approach 

This approach has been developed in consultation with a range of voluntary, community, 
health and housing partners. The rationale for this approach is as follows:  

- Our partners have a strong track record of working to support residents who are most 
in need, and have the information and relationships that can help to target the fund 
effectively. Those working directly with our communities are best placed to identify 
these individuals and to assess who will benefit most from the support. In particular, 
they are better able to identify residents who have missed out on previous support, 

522



for example, because they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain 
benefits.  

- Working in this way, provides opportunities to embed the one off cash payments to 
residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This approach enables 
applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider conversation about the 
resident’s needs and will complement advice, for example on budgeting, 
management of health conditions and / or wider sources of support. The cash 
payment may also help partners to engage new ‘harder to reach’ groups of residents.   

- Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between the 
council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, resilience-
building and preventative approach, that we wish to develop further going forwards.  
 

Selection of Distribution Partners 

The initial collection of DPs have been selected based on: 

- their ability to reach target groups of residents;  
- their capacity to identify and assess residents in need; and  
- the wider support that they are offering to communities to prevent escalation of 

problems over winter.  
 

The council has assessed the initial partner organisations to ensure that, collectively, the 
selected group of partners are able to engage with households across the range of target 
groups, and that their reach is spread across the borough, with a particular focus on those 
areas with greatest levels of disadvantage and to ensure that those with protected 
characteristics under the Equalities Act are not disadvantaged.  

Partners have been selected based on their capacity to identify and assess who is in most 
need of support. All partners have a proven track record of supporting residents in need and 
have access to a range of information needed to make an informed decision about the 
allocation of support.  

Partners have also been selected based on their ability to offer wider assistance to residents, 
whether this is through providing food or other goods, warm spaces and wider community 
initiatives, skills-building and / or wider support and advice, including on managing health 
conditions. The diverse range of partners enables the Fund to target a wide range of 
households through the Fund.  

The council is also working with a range of stakeholders, including parishes and smaller 
community organisations, to communicate the scheme and reach out to individuals who may 
have high levels of need, but not be accessing support. Citizens Advice will play an 
overarching role in assessing residents engaging with these stakeholders, who wish to put 
themselves forward for support. Note that care leavers resident in the borough will be 
approached directly by and invited to apply. 
 
Information about the initial partners selected, including their contact details, is published on 
the RBWM website, under the Here to Help pages.  

Further partners will be considered by RBWM during the course of the winter 2022/23 period. 
Interested organisations should approach equality@rbwm.gov.uk setting out their interest 
and capacity to identify residents in need.  

523



Contribution to management costs: The council recognises that identifying and assessing 
residents will require resource on the part of our DPs. Therefore, DPs from the voluntary and 
community sector will be offered a financial contribution to their organisation to support the 
costs of managing this process as part of their winter support offer. The level of this one-off 
contribution has been set at £2500 per voluntary sector organisation. Statutory partners will 
manage the costs of identifying residents within their existing budgets. 

 
Eligibility Criteria  

 
The primary responsibility for identifying and assessing need lies with the DP organisations, 
in line with the rationale set out when joining the scheme. When the DP is satisfied that a 
resident is eligible, they will issue a URN to the resident. 

The URN will be entered as part of the resident application to the council, and the council will 
undertake basic checks to prevent misuse of the funding. 

In order to be progress, applicants must meet all of the following criteria: 
 

• Applicants must be resident in the borough (and provide proof of address)  
• Be over 18 years of age  
• Have a bank account in their name.  
• Include a URN supplied by one of the agreed DPs which has not been previously 

used.  
 
Additionally, only one application will be awarded per household, during the period. The 
council will screen for duplicate applications.  

 
Unique reference numbers will only be issued to DPs up to the estimated limit of the funding 
allocation, to minimise the risk of applicants applying after funds have been exhausted, 
however  
Grants will be awarded on a first come, first served until funding has been exhausted 
or by the end of the period (31.03.23), even if a Unique Reference Number and 
application has been submitted.  

Funding Levels  
The Royal Borough will make one off cash payments of £145 into individual resident bank 
accounts over the period December 2022 to March 2023.  No duplicate applications will be 
accepted.  

Application Process   

Due to the limited funds available, and the likelihood of applications outweighing the 
available funds, the applications will be administered on a first come first served approach. 
This means that, once funding has been exhausted, no further applications will be 
considered even where applicants may fit the overall criteria.  

A link to the application form will be shared with residents identified by DPs along with their 
URN. DPs can provide support to residents to complete the online form, where they may 
struggle to complete it independently.  

524



Residents will need to enter a Unique Reference Number (URN) supplied by a partner 
organisation, in order for their application to be processed.  

Residents wishing to put themselves forward for support can do so by approaching one of 
the DP organisations listed on the RBWM website (Here to Help pages). If a resident is 
unsure which DP to approach, the Citizens Advice East Berkshire can be approached in the 
first instance.  Residents approaching the council’s customer service teams seeking 
assistance from the HSF will be directed to the Citizens Advice.  

Any queries in respect of applications or becoming a DP should be addressed to: 
equality@rbwm.gov.uk. 

The closing date for applications will be 31 March 2023, when the online form will cease 
taking new applications. The closing date will be subject to review and could be affected by 
factors such as the exhaustion of funds or Government announcements.   

Any residents applying should ensure that they have fully completed the application form and 
provided the required supporting evidence. Any incomplete form or missing evidence will 
mean that the form will not be processed nor will the resident be contacted to provide 
missing information.   

To confirm - any incomplete applications or those with less than the required evidence 
will be deemed ineligible.  

No grants will be awarded without an application being submitted and that application 
must be complete with all supporting evidence/information and a Unique Reference 
Number supplied.  

The Award 
 
Applications will be assessed for entitlement as they are received. We will aim to advise 
successful applicants of the outcome of their award within 5 working days of the submission 
of their application, with payment being made within a further 7 working days.   
 
We will aim to advise unsuccessful applicants, by e-mail, within 5 working days of the closing 
of the application window.   
 
Payments will only be made via BACS.  
 
 

525



Managing the risk of Fraud   
 

In order to ensure that the Household Support Fund is not subject to potential abuse, all 
submitted applications will require a statutory declaration of truth in connection with the 
application.  
 
The council may carry out any pre or post payment checks deemed appropriate, through 
its internal audit team, in order to provide assurance that the funds are being claimed 
correctly.  

 
The Council will not accept deliberate manipulation and fraud. Any resident falsifying their 
circumstances to gain access to the Household Support Fund payment could face 
prosecution and any funding issued will be subject to recovery.  

 
The Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead is distributing this funding on behalf of the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). Data regarding awards and applications will 
be shared with DWP as required. The distribution of payments will also be monitored by 
RBWM with regard to equalities considerations and geographical spread, to ensure that 
the Funds are being distributed fairly.  

  

Policy Review 
 

To ensure that the Household Support Fund reaches those households most in need, this 
policy will be reviewed periodically by the Head of Strategy and the agreed partners set out 
in Appendix B.   

 
The council therefore reserves the right to modify the allocations process, eligibility criteria, 
and award sums, as a result at any time.  

 
Appeals  
 
There is no statutory appeal against the decision to award or not award a payment or 
against the level of payment offered. This is a discretionary fund, with residents identified 
by our DPs. Residents may put themselves forward for support to Citizens Advice or 
another of the listed DPs. 

 

  

526



Appendix B: Household Support Fund – List of Distribution Partners 
 
Organisation Current reach (geographical, cohort, 

numbers supported) 
Wider support offer 

Citizens Advice East Berkshire 
(CAEB) 
 
 
CAEB will play an overarching role in 
identifying residents putting 
themselves forward for support.  

Borough-wide. Since September 2022, have 
supported 375 residents who live in the 
borough, with 1,306 issues. 62% of working 
age, 63% women, 64% had long-term health 
conditions, and 27% were from a minority 
ethnic background. 
  

Provide impartial, confidential, and 
independent advice, and information to 
residents on their rights and responsibilities. 
Specifically, on employment, housing, 
benefits, debt, tax and consumer issues. 
CAEB also have access to pro bono 
solicitors who specialise in relationship, 
immigration, housing, wills & trusts, and 
criminal law.    

Maidenhead Foodshare Maidenhead. Residents in poverty. All age 
ranges. Seeing 200-400 families each 
month. 
  

Subsistence support – food (including fresh 
fruit and vegetables).  

Abri Social housing in Windsor, Eton Wick, 
Datchet, and Maidenhead. Residents in 
social housing from all age ranges, plus 
wider community. 
 

Housing association. Provide advice and 
training on budgeting, benefits, and 
employment. Support tenancy sustainment, 
distribute utility vouchers, and provide a 
warm hub once a week. 
 

Housing Solutions 
 

Social housing in Maidenhead. Residents in 
social housing from all age ranges. 
 
 

Housing association. Provide advice and 
training on budgeting, benefits, and 
employment. Support tenancy sustainment.  
 

Age Concern Windsor 
 

Windsor, Old Windsor, and Datchet. 
Residents aged over 70, who live alone, 
with extra care needs. Current client base is 
80% female, and 90% White British.  
 

Provide companionship, Meals on Wheels, 
and other social initiatives (for instance, 
bingo, and quizzes). Signpost to additional 
support and assist with paper and online 
form completion. 

527



 
West Windsor Hub (WWH) 
 

Windsor. All characteristics (including 
refugees, and military personnel). Current 
client base of 450 residents.  

Provide a warm space bi-weekly, where 
residents can socialise, access hot food, 
drink, and ancillary items to keep them 
warm. Signpost to additional support and 
assist with paper and online form 
completion. 
 

Baby Bank 
 

Maidenhead. Residents with young children, 
particularly single parents. All characteristics 
(including refugees). Currently see approx.. 
250 families each month. 
 

Provide supplies to help with childcare (for 
example, nappies, clothing, and formula). 

Windsor, Ascot and Maidenhead 
Social Prescribing service for the 
Primary Care networks  
 

Borough-wide. All characteristics – focused 
on residents with long-term health 
conditions and disabilities, which are at risk 
of escalating without financial support to 
manage their needs adequately over winter. 
 

Refer residents to a range of local, non-
clinical services – focussing on social, 
economic, and environmental factors. 
 

RBWM housing service Borough-wide. Residents in housing need, 
privately rented accommodation and at risk 
of homelessness. All characteristics.  

Provide advice, and assistance to residents 
in need of housing support. Issue housing 
plans and uphold the Homelessness 
Reduction Act. 
 

 
Please note that Achieving for Children will also provide Unique Reference Numbers (URNs) to RBWM care leavers who are resident in 
the borough, in accordance with DWP guidance on supporting this group.   

528



 

APPENDIX C - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy X Plan  Project  Service/Procedure  

 
Responsible 
officer 

Becky Hatch Service area Policy Directorate 
 

Law and Strategy 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created: 
22/11/2022 

Stage 2 : Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

Date created :  

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Becky Hatch, Head of Strategy 
 
Dated: 22/11/2022 

 

 

 
 

 

529



Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

 

530



Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
 
The overall aim of this policy is to distribute RBWM’s allocation of the DWP Household Support Fund (October 2022 – March 
2023) to support those most in need, to help with global inflationary challenges and the significantly rising cost of living. This policy is in line 
with DWP’s guidance to Local Authorities and the principles of allocation.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 

 
 
 
 
 

531



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age  
Relevant 

 
High  

 
Positive 

There is emerging evidence that the impacts of the cost 
of living rises are not affecting all communities equally. 
18-34s were the group most concerned about cost of 
living rises within RBWM’s recent Resident Survey, and 
have not been a primary target of previous support 
schemes. Citizens Advice will therefore ensure that this 
group are supported as a target group. 
Older people may also face particular pressures as they 
are more likely to live alone and to suffer from long term 
health conditions and disabilities. Age Concern and 
Frimley ICB have been selected as partners for this 
reason. 

Disability  
Relevant 

 
High  

 
Positive 

People with a disability are more at risk of financial 
challenges and may have additional costs associated 
with managing their disability, especially over winter. 
Frimley ICB will use their health data to target 
individuals with disabilities and relevant long term 
health conditions.  

Gender re-
assignment 

Not 
relevant 

Low  Neutral To date there is not evidence available that this group 
are being disproportionately affected by cost of living 
issues.  

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

Not 
relevant 

Low  Neutral To date there is not evidence available that this group 
are being disproportionately affected by cost of living 
issues. 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

 
Relevant 

 
Medium 

 
Positive 

Pregnancy and maternity can place additional 
pressures on household finances. Baby Bank have 
been selected as a partner, to ensure that this group 
are reached through the Fund.  

532



Race  
Relevant 

 
Medium 

 
Positive 

There is emerging evidence that some ethnic minorities 
are being disproportionately impacted by the cost of 
living rises, for example, from Citizens Advice data and 
through the higher proportions of Black and Asian 
respondents reporting financial struggles in the RBWM 
Residents Survey. Citizens Advice will ensure that 
ethnic minority groups are able to access the Fund, and 
allocation will be tracked by ethnicity to identify any 
potential under-representation swiftly. 

Religion and 
belief 

 
Relevant 

 
Low 

 
Positive 

Although no specific evidence is available on the 
impact of cost of living rises according to religion, there 
are correlations between race and religion, which 
make it important to ensure that religious groups are 
fully aware of the scheme – and religious organisations 
provide an important route into many of our 
communities. RBWM is working with a number of 
religious groups through the Here to Help campaign 
and will share communications about the Fund with 
them to ensure these communities are aware of the 
support available.  

Sex  
Relevant 

 
Medium 

 
Positive 

There is emerging evidence, for example through 
Citizens Advice data, that women are struggling 
financially due to cost of living pressures, particularly in 
single parent households. Monitoring of gender will be 
undertaken to ensure that this group is accessing the 
Fund proportionately.  

Sexual 
orientation 

Not 
relevant 

Low  Neutral To date there is not evidence available that this group 
are being disproportionately affected by cost of living 
issues. 

 

533



Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

Not at this stage Monitoring of 
distribution of funding 
by protected 
characteristics, to 
enable potential issues 
to be identified and 
addressed swiftly, for 
example through 
outreach. 

Becky Hatch, Head of 
Strategy 

Urgent, if issues are 
identified. 

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No None   

 
If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor 
future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
 
 

534



 
Report Title: Award of Contract for Case Management 

System 
Contains 
Confidential or 
Exempt Information 

Yes - Appendices A and B – Part II - Not for 
publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 
1 of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

Cabinet Member: Cllr P Haseler, Cabinet Member for Planning, 
Parking, Highways & Transport 
Cllr S Rayner, Cabinet Member for Business, 
Corporate & Resident Services, Culture & 
Heritage, Windsor and RBWM Armed Forces 
Champion 
Cllr D Cannon, Cabinet Member for Anti-
Social Behaviour, Crime, and Public 
Protection 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 15 December, 2022 
Responsible 
Officer(s): 

Andrew Durrant, Executive Director of Place 
Services 
Adrien Waite, Head of Planning 
Tracy Hendren, Head of Housing 
Environmental Health and Trading Standard 

Wards affected:   All 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
This report summarises the procurement and tendering outcome of a tender for a cloud 
based Case Management System to support services carried out by Planning 
(including Trees, Conservation, Planning Appeals, Enforcement and Building Control); 
Environmental Health (including Housing (Residential Premises; Housing Surveys; 
Housing Assistance and HMO Licensing) Commercial Premises and Public 
Protection); Trading Standards; Licensing; Highways and by the Local Land & Property 
Gazetteer Custodian (Address Management).  
 
This exercise was undertaken because the current contract is due to end in March 
2024. 
 
It recommends that a new contract is awarded to the winning bidder (Bidder A) whose 
bid has been considered as the most economically advantageous on the basis of the 
technical and financial evaluation undertaken. The new contract incorporates a 
specification that ensures continued service provision and that will support the 
Council’s transformation agenda, as well as lead to improved customer experience and 
more efficient ways of working. 
 
These proposals will support the Corporate Plan (2021-26) particularly in relation to 
‘make the most effective use of resources and delivering the best value for money’ and 
support one of our Council values of ‘invest in strong foundations’. This will be achieved 
by investing in information, digital and technological developments, which will enable 
employees to focus on service delivery, rather than less efficient business processes.  
 

535

Agenda Item 14



1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S) 

RECOMMENDATION: That Cabinet notes the report and: 
 

i) approves the award of the case management system contract to the 
Bidder A on the basis of a 4 year contract, with the option to extend 
for a further 4 years in 1 year periods. The contract is due to 
commence in January 2023 with go-live in March 2024 and its value 
is detailed in Appendix A which is Part II by virtue of paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

ii) approves delegated authority to the relevant Director to extend the 
contract beyond the initial 4 years, on a yearly basis, up to the 
maximum contract period of 8 years. 

2. REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Options  
 

Table 1: Options arising from this report 
Option Comments 
Award the new case management 
contract to Bidder A to commence in 
January 2023 to enable 
mobilisation/implementation in 
readiness for the Go Live in Spring 
2024. 
 
This is the recommended option  

The Council implements an 
appropriate case management 
system which would lead to 
improved engagement, 
transformed online data 
management and processes and 
a continued case management 
provision. 

Do not award the new case 
management system contract to 
commence in January 2023. 

The Council will be in breach of 
the Public Procurement 
Regulations (PCR 2015) as the 
Council will be out of contract and 
will not benefit from the proposed 
enhancements and 
transformation.  Additionally, the 
Council will be unable to 
efficiently deliver statutory 
functions in a timely manner. 

  
2.1 RBWM currently uses software supplied by Idox Software Ltd (IDOX), and this is 

used throughout Planning (including Trees, Conservation, Planning Appeals, 
Enforcement and Building Control); Environmental Health (including Housing 
(Residential Premises; Housing Surveys; Housing Assistance and HMO 
Licensing) Commercial Premises and Public Protection); Trading Standards; 
Licensing; Highways and by the Local Land & Property Gazetteer Custodian 
(Address Management). The Local Land Charges Service uses the TLC product 
and the CIL/S106 Service uses Exacom, both of which are provided by IDOX. 
The Council also uses the IDOX Document Management System.   

536



2.2 The existing software solution supports the work of a range of inter-related and 
stand-alone services which are provided by the various departments from within 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) Council.   

2.3 As the previous contract period was ending in March 2022, initial market 
engagement was completed between August and December 2021.  Five 
suppliers responded and three were selected to give demonstrations.    

2.4 The response to the market engagement indicated, that based on the current 
market, the Authority should be moving from an on premise to a more up to 
date ‘cloud’ based, hosted option.  This also aligns with the Council’s IT 
preference of ‘Cloud First’ (hosted solutions) and, although the transition to this 
model would represent a significant change for the Authority, it is anticipated 
that the benefits and associated efficiencies in ways of working would outweigh 
any investment required. Additionally, the Council had follow-up conversations 
with other Authorities who have moved to a hosted model, and they confirmed 
that there are significant benefits to moving the upgrade work, currently carried 
out in house, to the provider.    

2.5 The expiring contract had been secured by a waiver of the contract rules and an 
additional waiver was requested. Further non-compliance was avoided by using 
an established Framework for an interim period of two years, commencing April 
2022. This enabled the Council to have sufficient time to develop a more 
comprehensive and detailed understanding of the cost of change; finalise a 
business case; complete the procurement exercise plus mobilise and set up a 
new system.  In addition, as part of ongoing ‘transformation’ work, this allowed 
for a period of time to carry out customer journey and process work to ensure that 
any new implementation drives through efficiencies in the service areas. 

2.6 The number of concurrent users within the relevant service areas is in the region 
of 120 to 140 and the system is utilised as indicated below:  

▪ Pre-Application Enquiries 

▪ Development Management (i.e., the processing of all aspects of all types of 
planning application, and similar submissions, e.g., tree works applications, 
prior notifications, licencing consultation requests, certificates of lawfulness, 
high hedge complaints etc) 

▪ CIL and Section 106 administration 

▪ Planning appeals 

▪ Planning Enforcement 

▪ Planning Policy (i.e., monitoring and records management for datasets such 
as Housing allocations) 

▪ Tree Preservation Order Records Management 

▪ Listed Buildings Records Management 

▪ Development Monitoring 

537



▪ Building Control incl Dangerous Structures and Contraventions (i.e., the 
processing of all aspects of all types of applications, and similar 
submissions) 

▪ Local Land Charges  

▪ Local Land & Property Gazetteer Management 

▪ Street Naming & Numbering  

▪ Environmental Health (food, health & safety, infectious diseases, private 
water supplies, private sector housing, environmental protection)  

▪ Community Safety  

▪ Licensing  

▪ Trading Standards 

▪ Highways (view only) 

2.7 A contract notice for this procurement was placed in the Find a Tender Service 
(FTS) as well as on Contracts Finder.  The tender was launched on 6th July 2022 
with a closing date of 17th August 2022.  This was extended to the 26th August at 
the request of a potential bidder and this was granted. The ITT was administered 
via the e-procurement portal (Bravo) and circa 50 suppliers visited the portal to 
view the ITT documents.  A few suppliers formally declared that they would not 
bid.  Two bids were submitted before the deadline. There were no late 
submissions.    

2.8 The tender evaluation combined both a technical and financial evaluation in line 
with the published criteria and weightings (60% Technical Proposal / 40% 
Financial Proposal). There were a number of clarification questions asked of both 
bidders post submission, relating to functionalities, how they proposed to deliver 
the solution, what software and hosting security measures they proposed to have 
in place and some clarifications around the commercial terms.  Both bidders gave 
demonstrations of their systems to representatives from the affected areas. 

2.6 After combining both the technical and financial scores Bidder A has achieved 
the highest overall score and therefore it is recommended that the new contract 
is awarded to them. The overall scores table is included in Appendix B, which is 
commercially sensitive and therefore Part II by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 

Transformational Benefits 
 

2.9 The fundamental issue facing all Local Authorities is the need to minimise service 
delivery costs and ensure ongoing improvements to the standard of service 
delivered to customers. It is anticipated that a new solution should be able to 
deliver a high-quality service at a reduced annual maintenance cost.  

2.10 The support of the services by a high quality modern ‘hosted’ software solution is 
pivotal to providing a suitable solution, across multiple office locations including 
for those working remotely. It is therefore essential that “agile working” based 

538



upon paperless case files, and mobile and remote officer connectivity to the 
database is available, supported by a software solution that is designed with 
these basic requirements at the heart of its design.  

2.11 One of the aims of the procurement was to invite bids from suppliers who can 
supply a single ‘hosted’ software solution which could be used for all work related 
to the services noted above.  In addition, the expectation was to future proof 
solutions to support an efficient set of business processes, where processing 
activities are automated as far as is possible and enable the best possible quality 
of service to be offered to the Council’s customers at the least possible cost. 

2.7 The implementation of the new case management system will be used as an 
opportunity to re-engineer the way in which the relevant areas can transform the 
services they provide to both internal and external customers.   

2.8 The new contract should enhance specific functionality e.g. reporting, analytics, 
on-line public engagement, compliance and allow both managers and officers to 
spend less time on administrative processes in order to focus on statutory 
functions and key activities, such as transforming service delivery. 

2.9 The timetable provides time for the contract to be awarded in January 2023 with 
go-live expected in March of 2024. This period will allow sufficient time for the 
implementation to be carried out. 

3. KEY IMPLICATIONS 

 
Table 2: Key Implications 
Outcome Unmet Met Exce

eded 
Significantly 
Exceeded 

Date of 
delivery 

New case 
management 
contract 
awarded 

Contract 
not 
awarded 

January 
2023 

N/A N/A January 
2023  

4. FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY  

4.1 The financial impact of the report’s recommendations is commercially sensitive 
and is therefore included in Appendix A, which is Part II by virtue of paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

4.2 All financial implications are however contained within existing resources.   

5. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 The Council has the power to take the action proposed, pursuant to Section 111 
of the Local Government Act 1972 which provides powers for a local authority to 
do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the 
discharge of any of their functions. The action proposed is also taken in 
accordance with Part 8A – Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules - of the 
Constitution.  

539



 
5.2 The tender has been conducted in line with Public Contract Regulations 2015, 

therefore ensuring that the awarded contract and the Council is PCR compliant. 
 
5.3 Procurement and Legal have been involved in this process and their advice has 

been followed. Both Procurement and Legal colleagues have contributed to the 
procurement process and can confirm that advice has been provided to ensure 
that this exercise is fully compliant. 

6. RISK MANAGEMENT  

Table 3: Impact of risk and mitigation 
Risk Level of 

uncontrolled 
risk 

Controls Level of 
controlled 
risk 

New solution does 
not provide 
anticipated 
functionalities  

MEDIUM Representatives from 
affected areas produced 
a detailed requirements 
document and also 
evaluated the bids 
received and scored the 
bidder demonstrations as 
part of the evaluation 
process  

LOW 

Insufficient people 
resource available 
to implement new 
system and 
provide ongoing 
day to day 
services 

HIGH Staffing levels are 
reviewed, costed and 
sufficient resource / 
capacity made available 
as part of the 
implementation  

MEDIUM 

Key milestones not 
met as outlined in 
the programme of 
work 

HIGH Bidders provided an 
implementation plan as 
part of tender.  Project 
starts promptly in new 
year 2023, resources 
mobilised and project 
managed robustly 
including regular 
meetings and monitoring 
of milestones and risk 
management 

MEDIUM 

7. POTENTIAL IMPACTS  

 
7.1 Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available at Appendix C. 

 
7.2 If a future customer or officer experiences difficulties in accessing the system, 

then the Council in conjunction with the Supplier will review specific needs and, 

540



if necessary, identify and implement measures to improve accessibility. 
 

7.3 Climate change/sustainability. Improved automation will lead to a reduction of 
paperwork and introduction of efficient processes, limiting the need for paper and 
postage. Improved processes will transform the experience for applicants, current 
staff and external customers.  
 

7.4 Data Protection/GDPR. Due to the levels of personal data being managed on the 
case management system, a draft DPIA will be completed following the outcome 
of the tender with details specific to the supplier.  

 
7.4 Other potential impacts – There will be an impact on all officers once the new 

system is implemented as they will need to be trained to use the new functionality. 
Project team members will be in place to support and train officers. 
 

8. CONSULTATION 

8.1 A number of system users, both managers and employees have been consulted 
on their requirements for a new case management system to ensure that it 
reflects the future transformational needs of the Council.  
 

8.2 A market engagement exercise was completed between August and December 
2021, prior to the full tender process taking place. 

 

9. TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION 
 

9.1 Implementation date if not called in is immediately. The full implementation 
stages are set out in Table 4: 
 

Table 4: Implementation timetable 
Date Details 
15/12/22 Cabinet decision to award contract 
19/12 - 28/12/22 End of Cabinet call in period 
w/c 3rd January 
2023 

Start of Standstill Period 

w/c 16th January 
2023 

Contract award 

February 2023 Start of implementation period 
April 2023 to 
January 2024 

Mapping, data/document extraction, data cleansing, 
migration and testing, live set up 

March 2024 Go-live 

10. APPENDICES  

10.1 This report is supported by 4 appendices: 
 

541



• Appendix A – Financial impact - Not for publication by virtue of paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972– costing 
information (commercially sensitive) 

• Appendix B – Financial, Technical and overall scores - Not for publication 
by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972 (commercially sensitive) 

• Appendix C - Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) 
 

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

11.1 This report is supported by no background documents: 
 

12. CONSULTATION 

 Name of 
consultee 

Post held Date 
sent 

Date 
returned 

Mandatory:  Statutory Officers (or deputies)   
Adele Taylor Executive Director of 

Resources/S151 Officer 
15/11/22 27/11/22 

Emma Duncan Director of Law, Strategy & 
Public Health/ Monitoring 
Officer 

 21/11/22 

Deputies:    
Andrew Vallance Head of Finance (Deputy S151 

Officer) 
  

Elaine Browne Head of Law (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

15/11/22 21/11/22 

Karen Shepherd Head of Governance (Deputy 
Monitoring Officer) 

15/11/22 17/11/22 

Mandatory:  Procurement Manager (or deputy) - if 
report requests approval to go to 
tender or award a contract 

  

Lyn Hitchinson Procurement Manager 
 

15/11/22 17/11/22 

Mandatory:  Data Protection Officer (or deputy) - if 
decision will result in processing of 
personal data; to advise on DPIA 

  

Emma Young Data Protection Officer 15/11/22 21/11/22 
Mandatory:  Equalities Officer – to advise on 

EQiA, or agree an EQiA is not 
required 

  

Ellen McManus Equalities & Engagement 
Officer 

15/11/22 21/11/22 

Other consultees:    
Directors (where 
relevant) 

   

Tony Reeves Interim Chief Executive   
Andrew Durrant Executive Director of Place 15/11/22 18/11/22 
Kevin McDaniel Executive Director of People 

Services 
 21/11/22 

542



Heads of Service 
(where relevant)  

   

Adrien Waite Head of Planning 15/11/22 21/11/22 
Tracy Hendren Head of Housing, 

Environmental Health and 
Trading Standards 

15/11/22 21/11/22 

    

 
Confirmation 
relevant Cabinet 
Member(s) 
consulted  

Cllr P Haseler, Cabinet Member 
for Planning, Parking, Highways 
& Transport 
Cllr S Rayner, Cabinet Member 
for Business, Corporate & 
Resident Services, Culture & 
Heritage, Windsor and RBWM 
Armed Forces Champion 
Cllr D Cannon, Cabinet Member 
for Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime, and Public Protection 

Yes/No  

 

REPORT HISTORY  
 

Decision type: Urgency item? To follow item? 
Non-Key decision 
First entered into 
Cabinet Forward 
Plan: November 
2022 

No  
 

No  

 
Report Author: Sian Saadeh, Development Management Service Manager – 
Planning. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

543



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Procurement and implementation of Case Management System 

Essential information 
 
Items to be assessed: (please mark ‘x’)  
 
Strategy 
 

 Policy  Plan  Project X Service/Procedure  

 
Responsible 
officer 

Adrien Waite Service area Planning Directorate 
 

Place 

 
Stage 1: EqIA Screening 
(mandatory) 
 

Date created: 14/11/22 Stage 2 : Full assessment (if 
applicable) 

N/A 

 
Approved by Head of Service / Overseeing group/body / Project Sponsor:  
“I am satisfied that an equality impact has been undertaken adequately.” 
 
Signed by (print): Adrien Waite  
 
Dated: 16/11/2022 

 

 

 
 

545



 

Guidance notes 
What is an EqIA and why do we need to do it? 
The Equality Act 2010 places a ‘General Duty’ on all public bodies to have ‘due regard’ to: 

• Eliminating discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act. 
• Advancing equality of opportunity between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 
• Fostering good relations between those with ‘protected characteristics’ and those without them. 

EqIAs are a systematic way of taking equal opportunities into consideration when making a decision, and should be conducted when there 
is a new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure in order to determine whether there will likely be a detrimental 
and/or disproportionate impact on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups. All completed EqIA 
Screenings are required to be publicly available on the council’s website once they have been signed off by the relevant Head of Service 
or Strategic/Policy/Operational Group or Project Sponsor. 
What are the “protected characteristics” under the law? 
The following are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010: age; disability (including physical, learning and mental health 
conditions); gender reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 
What’s the process for conducting an EqIA? 
The process for conducting an EqIA is set out at the end of this document. In brief, a Screening Assessment should be conducted for 
every new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure and the outcome of the Screening Assessment will indicate 
whether a Full Assessment should be undertaken. 

Openness and transparency 
RBWM has a ‘Specific Duty’ to publish information about people affected by our policies and practices. Your completed assessment 
should be sent to the Strategy & Performance Team for publication to the RBWM website once it has been signed off by the relevant 
manager, and/or Strategic, Policy, or Operational Group. If your proposals are being made to Cabinet or any other Committee, please 
append a copy of your completed Screening or Full Assessment to your report. 

Enforcement 
Judicial review of an authority can be taken by any person, including the Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) or a group of 
people, with an interest, in respect of alleged failure to comply with the general equality duty. Only the EHRC can enforce the specific 
duties. A failure to comply with the specific duties may however be used as evidence of a failure to comply with the general duty. 

546



 

Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory) 
 
1.1 What is the overall aim of your proposed strategy/policy/project etc and what are its key objectives? 

 
 
 
The project refers to the procurement and implementation of a new case management system as the contract for the existing 
contract ceases end March 2024.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with 
protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or 
Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the 
impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could 
disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have 
identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”. 

 
 
 
 
 

547



Protected 
characteristics 

Relevance Level Positive/negative Evidence 

Age Yes Low  If a future customer or officer experiences difficulties in 
accessing the system, then the Council in conjunction 
with the Supplier will review the individual needs and, if 
necessary, identify and implement measures to improve 
accessibility.  In addition, the Council provides access 
to computers and online support at various locations 
such as the local libraries. 
 
Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

Disability Yes Low  If a future customer or officer experiences difficulties in 
accessing the system, then the Council in conjunction 
with the Supplier will review the individual needs and, if 
necessary, identify and implement measures to 
improve accessibility.  In addition, the Council provides 
access to computers and online support at various 
locations such as the local libraries. 
 
Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

Gender re-
assignment 

No   This characteristic is not impacted in the 
implementation of the case management system. 

Marriage/civil 
partnership 

No   This characteristic is not impacted in the 
implementation of the case management system. 

548



Pregnancy and 
maternity 

Yes Low  Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

Race Yes Low  Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

Religion and 
belief 

 
No 

  This characteristic is not impacted in the 
implementation of the case management system. 

Sex Yes 
 

Low  Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

Sexual 
orientation 

Yes 
 

Low  Data on protected characteristics are not routinely 
collected within most of the relevant services, so the 
capability of the system to record such information has 
not been a priority criteria’ 

 

Outcome, action and public reporting 
 

549



Screening 
Assessment Outcome 

Yes / No / Not at this 
stage 

Further Action 
Required / Action to 

be taken 

Responsible Officer 
and / or Lead 

Strategic Group 

Timescale for 
Resolution of negative 

impact / Delivery of 
positive impact 

 
Was a significant level 
of negative impact 
identified? 

No    

Does the strategy, 
policy, plan etc 
require amendment to 
have a positive 
impact? 

No    

 
If you answered yes to either / both of the questions above a Full Assessment is advisable and so please proceed to Stage 2. If you 
answered “No” or “Not at this Stage” to either / both of the questions above please consider any next steps that may be taken (e.g. monitor 
future impacts as part of implementation, re-screen the project at its next delivery milestone etc). 
 
 
 
 

Stage 2 : Full assessment 

2.1 : Scope and define 
 

550



2.1.1    Who are the main beneficiaries of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List the 
groups who the work is targeting/aimed at. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.1.2    Who has been involved in the creation of the proposed strategy / policy / plan / project / service / procedure? List 
those groups who the work is targeting/aimed at.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

2.2 : Information gathering/evidence 
 
2.2.1  What secondary data have you used in this assessment? Common sources of secondary data include: censuses, 
organisational records. 

551



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2.2.2   What primary data have you used to inform this assessment? Common sources of primary data include: consultation 
through interviews, focus groups, questionnaires. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation 
 

552



Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

553



 

Advance equality of opportunity 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 
 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

554



Foster good relations 
 
Protected 
Characteristic 

Advancing the Equality 
Duty :  
Does the proposal 
advance the Equality 
Duty Statement in 
relation to the 
protected 
characteristic (Yes/No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Negative impact 
:  
Does the 
proposal 
disadvantage 
them (Yes / No) 

If yes, to 
what level? 
(High / 
Medium / 
Low) 

Please provide 
explanatory detail relating 
to your assessment and 
outline any key actions to 
(a) advance the Equality 
Duty and (b) reduce 
negative impact on each 
protected characteristic. 

Age 
 

     

Disability 
 

     

Gender 
reassignment 
 

     

Marriage and civil 
partnership 

     

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

     

Race 
 

     

Religion and belief 
 

     

Sex 
 

     

Sexual orientation 
 

     

 
 

555



2.4     Has your delivery plan been updated to incorporate the activities identified in this assessment to mitigate any 
identified negative impacts? If so please summarise any updates. 
These could be service, equality, project or other delivery plans. If you did not have sufficient data to complete a thorough impact 
assessment, then an action should be incorporated to collect this information in the future. 
 
 
 

 
 

556



Document is Restricted

557

Agenda Item 16
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Forward Plan
	6 Forward Plan Changes
	7 Biodiversity Action Plan
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The Council made a commitment to delivering a Biodiversity Action Plan in its Environment and Climate Strategy, published in 2020. This Plan delivers against that promise.
	2.2	In addition to the Environment and Climate Strategy, the Council’s Corporate Plan made clear that a key priority is improving the natural environment. The specific goal of increasing biodiversity across the borough, supporting the BBOWT vision for 30% of land for nature by 2030 is also included in the Corporate Plan.
	2.3	Initial work undertaken has identified that currently 23.48% of land could be categorised as for nature in the Borough. This is made up of;
	2.4	Once we start the engagement process, we expect to find this number is higher.  Many farmers not in the stewardship scheme are planting trees, laying hedges, and setting aside areas for natures.  Similarly, but on a much smaller scale, 10% of our borough is made up of resident’s gardens, and work will begin to establish what percentage of those are set aside for nature.
	2.5	The Plan supports the local wildlife trusts aim and has been created collaboratively with key local community partners. This included regular bi-weekly/monthly meetings to ensure input from the community at every stage of development. All actions included in the Plan were jointly identified and prioritised by the Council and local ‘Wild’ groups. BBOWT worked intensively with the Council in the latter stages of development to ensure the Plan supported their overall vision. Feedback from the Rural Forum has helped shape the final document with the aim of making it practical and inclusive.
	2.6	The Plan sets out an action plan for covering the next 4 years. Using the data that will be collected through that period, a new Plan can be created covering the period up until 2030.
	2.7	As part of the Environment Act 2021, the Council will be required to prepare and maintain a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS). The Plan will play an important role feeding into that Strategy and puts the Council in a strong position to move the LNRS forward.
	2.8	This Plan features the following Habitat Action Plans (HAPs) covering broad habitat types.  These were developed and agreed in partnership with our key stakeholders and community groups:
		Woodland HAP
		Grassland HAP
		Farmland HAP
		Waterways HAP
		Standing Water HAP
		Urban HAP
	2.9	Each Habitat Action Plan has been broken down into actions under each of three themes set out in the strategic framework.
		Those related to data collection and evidence gathering.
		Those with a direct benefit to biodiversity/nature conservation.
		Those that relate to stakeholder engagement, relationship building or partnerships
	2.10	The HAPs provide a comprehensive list of practical actions to be undertaken to improve biodiversity in the Borough. Nearly half of all actions are related to stakeholder engagement, relationship buildings and partnerships recognising the need for the whole Borough to be involved and act.
	2.11	The HAP for farmland is unique in that it’s a commitment to creating an action plan for farmland in partnership with local farmers/landowners, utilising the Rural Forum to progress.
	2.12	The overarching vision for the Plan is ‘To reverse the decline in our natural environment and through better data, partnerships and direct action to increase biodiversity across the borough’
	2.13	The Plan recognises the need for the role of communications to significantly increase the understanding of biodiversity in the Borough and enable residents to act themselves. The Council will work to deliver effective communications to residents regularly with the intention of engaging the wider community.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The headline target of the Plan will deliver on the Council’s specific Corporate goal to increase biodiversity across the borough, supporting the Berks, Bucks and Oxfordshire Wildlife Trust vision for 30% of land to be designated and protected for nature by 2030.
	3.2	The Council is a major landowner in the Borough and already maintains a network of 23 wildlife areas across the Borough. There will be a need to look at other land owned by the Council such as parks and open spaces to ensure they deliver biodiversity improvements whilst still providing valuable amenity space.
	3.3	Although the Council has control over its own land, there will be a requirement, if we are to succeed, to engage and influence other partners to act. Without this, it will be difficult to achieve the biodiversity gains the Borough is targeting.
	3.4	The Council will track its progress against delivering the habitat actions plan and ensure all actions are delivered, in partnership where relevant, by the dates set out in the plan.
	3.5	Delivery of the Plan will play an important role in ensuring we deliver thriving communities and inspiring places for residents in the Borough.
	3.6	The Plan will also deliver on many of our objectives in the Environment and Climate Strategy. The Plan includes a section on monitoring and we will report on its progress annually as part of our wider monitoring report for the Environment and Climate Strategy.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The financial and economic impact of not tackling the biodiversity crisis is likely to be far greater than the costs of implementing measures. We have recognised there will be a role to secure external funding to fund larger projects and will work to secure money when available.
	4.2	The Council recognised the need for an increase in the Officer’s available to deliver the ambitious plans set out in the Plan. A new Natural Environment Team based out of the Braywick Nature Centre has therefore been created to deliver the Biodiversity Action Plan. This team is currently funded from existing revenue budgets and no further increase is required. The team includes;
	Natural Environment Manager
	Natural Environment Officer
	Nature Reserves Ranger
	Education Manager (Groundwork South)
	4.3	Data collection makes up around 1/6 of the actions, 2/3 will have a direct benefit to biodiversity and half are related to community engagement. The larger team will enable delivery of actions which fall under the themes.
	4.4	The team also have a Natural Environment budget to deliver work across the Council’s many nature reserves and the wider Borough. This is again included in the existing budget and no increase is expected to be required.
	4.5	The Council will work closely with existing partners such as Groundwork South and community groups to deliver the BAP and will ensure it enables others to act by providing support and the loaning of equipment where required.
	4.6	The Plan will provide the Council a framework for biodiversity improvements and will enable the Council to identify projects for funding during future funding rounds.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	A Biodiversity Action Plan is not a statutory requirement.
	5.2	The Council does have responsibilities under the Environment Act 2021 as the responsible authority to prepare and maintain a Local Nature Recovery Strategy. Whilst this will be a separate piece of work, the Plan will support the creation and roll out of a future LNRS.
	5.3	The legal implications of projects will be assessed on a case by case basis.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. Equality Impact Assessments are published on the council’s website. The negative impacts of the biodiversity crisis are likely to fall unequally and reinforce existing inequalities. The Plan looks to improve the natural environment in the Borough, providing access to nature for all residents. A full EQIA is not required at this stage.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The purpose of this Plan is to deliver biodiversity improvements in the Borough with the aim of ensuring 30% of land in the Borough is designated and protected for nature. This will have a significant impact in reversing biodiversity decline in the Borough. The Plan will improve the data available to the Council and partners to ensure future projects can be prioritised to maximise the biodiversity benefits. The habitats that have been included in the Plan, which will be a focus of the work are Woodlands, Grasslands, Farmland, Waterways, Standing Water and Urban. There are likely to be benefits to carbon sequestration which will have a direct impact on the climate crisis.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. Adopting the Plan will not have any associated data protection issues.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The Plan has been jointly developed with local ‘Wild’ groups and regular bi-weekly/monthly meetings were held with them throughout the Spring/Summer 2021. A list of possible actions was created and these were jointly prioritised by the Council and the ‘Wilds’. These actions were used as the basis for the Habitat Action Plans.
	8.2	BBOWT were included throughout the development process and provided intensive feedback during Winter 2022 to ensure the document was ambitious but achievable.
	8.3	Two virtual public engagement sessions were organised to allow input from the wider community in November 2021.
	8.4	All Members were provided with a draft copy of the document, via the Members Bulletin newsletter, in October 2021 and February 2022 to enable them to provide comment and representation
	8.5	The Council presented the initial Biodiversity Action Plan to the Rural Forum in May 2022 and then again after the improvements were made in November 2022.
	8.6	The Cabinet Member has engaged with a dozen farmers and landowners across the borough, Georgia Craig and Ben Gibbons of the National Farmers Union, Christopher Price of the Rare Breeds Survival Trust, and has also spoken to the Secretary of State for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, George Eustice about this issue.
	8.7	The Council’s Ecologist supported the Duke of Edinburgh Conservation Farming Awards scheme in 2022, visiting 6 farms in the Borough and judging the best environmental scheme.
	8.8	With food security issues high, and diesel and fertiliser prices having risen exponentially, farmers are under pressure. We have spoken about how we can all help each other and will continue this throughout the engagement of the biodiversity action plan.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in the Plan itself.

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 2 appendices:

	11.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A Biodiversity Action Plan 2021-25
	Foreword
	Introduction
	What is biodiversity
	The need for action
	The benefits of action
	Legislation and Policy Context
	Sites of importance within the Borough
	Structure of the document

	Strategic approach
	Strategic Framework
	Areas of focus
	Carbon Sequestration
	Communication
	Resourcing and Delivery

	Habitat Action Plans
	Woodland Habitat Action Plan
	Sub habitats
	Associated Species
	Current status
	Threats to woodland habitat
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	Grassland Habitat Action Plan
	Sub habitats
	Associated Species
	Current Status
	Threats
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	Grassland Case Study (conservation grazing)
	Farmland Habitat Action Plan
	Sub habitats
	Associated Species
	Current Status
	Threats
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	Farmland Case Study (wildflower field margins)
	Waterways
	Sub habitats
	Associated Species
	Current status
	Threats
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	Waterways Case Study (invasive species control)
	Standing water
	Sub habitats
	Associated Species
	Current Status
	Threats
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	Standing Water Case Study (wet woodland pond creation)
	Urban Habitat Action Plan
	Sub Habitats
	Associated Species
	Current Status
	Threats to Biodiversity within the Urban Environment

	Urban Case Study (swift nesting corridor)
	General Themes
	Objectives for the 5 year Plan

	30 by 30
	Introduction
	Monitoring and delivery
	Glossary
	Appendix 1 – Habitat Areas within the Borough


	8 Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain 2022
	The fountain will be fully accessible to all and aligns with the council’s commitment
	to climate change and improving the natural environment, which is embedded
	across all areas of council and includes supporting reuse and recycling. The
	Completed fountain will support those aims by providing clean drinking water and
	the reduction of single use plastics.
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The Windsor Platinum Jubilee Committee was formed in 2021 to co-ordinate a range of sporting, musical, cultural and social events across the year to suit all ages and interests. The Committee has and is working alongside many local businesses, charities, Crown Estate and The Royal Borough to bring together a programme of events which reflects the diversity and range of interests in the Royal Borough, so that everyone can feel a part of the special year. Legacy initiatives have been devised such as the Platinum Jubilee Drinking Fountain to benefit the local community beyond 2022 and fundraising for the Prince Philip Trust
	2.2	Following on from the Cabinet report on the 31 March 2022. Committee were asked to note future revenue costs associated with the future maintenance of the fountain. This report provides more detail of those cost and what will be provided to ensure future use of the monument.
	2.3	The Royal Borough has several monuments which have been funded through partners, charities, interested groups, individuals, and the Royal Borough. Previously supported monuments include The War Horse Memorial, Irish Guard Statue and Diamond Jubilee Fountain.
	2.4	To ensure that the drinking fountain is correctly commissioned the Royal Borough has assigned an officer to oversee the project and ensure the works meet all standards required for a fully accessible drinking fountain and all the planning conditions identified following its approval in July 2022.
	2.5	The Platinum Jubilee Committee with the support of RBWM has commissioned the work with contractors who are leaders in their field. RBWM will support this process to ensure all the necessary specialist skills such as design, moulding, fabrication, pattern and, technical drawings, casting, mining, delivery and installation are completed. Following the installation of the War Horse memorial in Ascot, Black Isle Bronze Limited, LDN Architects and Fyfe Glenrock have been identified as the primary contractors to deliver the Platinum Jubilee drinking fountain.
	2.6	As part of the planning application there are strict conditions on the materials in the design so that it is consistent with the conservation area that the final monument sits. The design is based on the red granite of the Queen Victoria statue and the columns of the Guildhall.
	2.7	The Platinum Jubilee Committee has secured £224k in funding through sponsorship and private donations to design and build the Platinum drinking fountain. It has also applied for and secured planning permission for the fountain location in Windsor Town Centre. RBWM has assisted the committee in procurement and project management of the scheme, coordinating contractors and working with the committee to ensure the scheme is completed in line with planning conditions and highway regulations. Further support from the Royal Borough is required to take on its future guardianship for the benefit of residents and visitors to the Royal Borough through an annual maintenance programme.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	Delivering the monument will ensure the Royal Borough celebrates and marks a significant achievement in the history of the UK and HM The Queen reaching the milestone of 70 years on the throne. It will provide a legacy for the town centre and an opportunity for residents and visitors to celebrate and enjoy for years to come.
	Table 2: Key Implications
	3.2	To deliver this scheme, the Windsor Platinum Jubilee Committee outlined a detailed specification which ensures the fountain is sympathetic to the conservation area in Windsor. As part of the planning process 5 different locations were considered and reviewed, this also included an independent Heritage statement commissioned to ensure that the final location was suitable and did not adversely affect surrounding area. See Appendix D

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The cost of manufacturing, installing the Jubilee Fountain will be £261k. £224k of this cost will be funded by the Platinum Jubilee Committee. but the council has agreed to contribute up to £40,000 that will be funded from a virement from underspends in the capital programme. A budget has been produced and is attached. See Appendix C.
	4.2	Whilst the project would normally be designated a capital scheme, the fountain is not included in the 2022/23 capital programme. Majority of the funding will come from Platinum Jubilee Committee
	4.3	After the third year (2026) the maintenance cost for the fountain would transfer to Neighbourhood Services team who are responsible for maintaining all public water features in the Royal Borough. This has been discussed and agreed with the Head of Service.
	4.4	In designing the drinking fountain the committee has worked with RBWM’s existing contractor Water and light Company to ensure the final design can be managed and maintained when operational within current guidelines for drinking fountains.
	4.5	Water and Light Company charge an annual fee of £600 to maintain the fountain and this includes:
	4.6	Thames Water has agreed to connect the fountain to the main water supply at no cost as their contribution to the project. With regards to future cost of water, Thames Water have estimated the annual cost to provide water to be between £100 - £200 per year. Combined with the annual maintenance fee and an amount to cover inflation, there will be an annual cost of £1000 to the council in 2026.
	4.7	The Platinum Jubilee committee will fund the cost of the first 3 years of maintenance. The maintenance programme will be delivered by RBWM. Currently all contracts for water features in the Royal Borough sit within Neighbourhood Services team, this contract would be incorporated within the Water and Light Company contract and maintained alongside the Royal Borough other water features.
	4.8	The table below shows the contribution made by the Platinum Jubilee   committee for the annual maintenance and water usage. RBWM would not be expected to incur additional revenue expense until 2026.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The Council’s Legal Team have been instructed to draft a Deed of Gift in relation to the gifting of the fountain.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	Whilst there are a few issues in delivering a monument of this nature. The key risk is that of funding and future maintenance of the Fountain. Due to the fund-raising efforts of the Platinum Jubilee committee, they have secured £221k of funding for the scheme.

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	The fountain will be located centrally on footway on the junction of Castle Hill and High Street, Windsor. There will be a minimum clearway all the way around the fountain of 2.6m providing adequate clearance for the public or wheelchair users when the fountain is in use. The fountain plinth is made from red granite and the footway is made from York stone so a noticeably clear difference in colour for those with visual impairments to negotiate when on the footway.
	7.3	Climate change/sustainability.
	7.4	Within the corporate plan under” Taking action to tackle climate change and its consequences,” the council aims to reduce waste generated within the borough and increase the amount that is re-used and recycled to help reduce carbon emissions and prevent environmental harm. Delivering the Platinum fountain will see the reduction in use of single use plastic of up to 140,000 per year which aligns with the council’s commitment to sustainability and improving our natural environment
	7.5	Data Protection/GDPR.
	None.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	In producing this report advice was sought from the Planning team in ensuring that a suitable and appropriate application was submitted, giving consideration on design, materials, and the location. This also provided an opportunity for the public, interested groups and Members to review and comment on proposed designs etc. Image of completed fountain can be seen in Appendix D.
	8.2	Representatives from the Royal Household have been informed and have seen all designs and planning permissions currently approved for the location of the Platinum Jubilee Fountain.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	Outline programme of delivery is set out in Table 4
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 4 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by 2 background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e., contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e., could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant.”

	Outcome, action and public reporting
	Stage 2: Full assessment
	2.1: Scope and define

	2.2: Information gathering/evidence
	Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
	Advance equality of opportunity
	Foster good relations



	9 Demand for School Places
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Background
	2.1	The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead has a legal duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places to meet demand� Section 14, Education Act 1996..  This report provides:
		The 2022 projections for future demand for school places in the borough.
		An assessment of the options available to meet rising demand for school places.

	The current school expansion programme
	2.2	The Royal Borough is nearing completion of its secondary school expansion programme, providing up to 1,500 new secondary, middle and upper school places over the period 2017/18 to 2022/23.
	2.3	The project to expand Windsor Girls’ School is underway.  Planning permission was granted in September 2022 for a new sixth form block, which will allow the school to permanently expand to 230 pupils per year group.  The construction project is now underway.
	2.4	Appendix A summarises the progress on the projects in the secondary school expansion programme.

	The medium-term need for places in 2022 to 2026
	2.5	Projections of future demand are usually done annually and reported to the Department for Education (DfE) in the School Capacity (SCAP) survey in July.
	2.6	The projections take into account demographic data (including new housing) and changing parental preference.
	2.7	The rapidly shifting demographic picture means that there is still uncertainty over the projections, particularly for first intake into schools at Reception.  In summary:
		the birth rate remains low compared the peaks reached between 2006/07 and 2011/12 (who started Reception between September 2011 and September 2016).
		levels of net inward migration into the borough for children aged 0 to 4 have varied significantly in recent years.  A generally higher level of net inward movement in the years leading up to 2018/19 was followed by a significant fall during the pandemic period.  Whilst net inward migration has recovered since, it is still not at previous levels.  The variation in the level of migration impacts heavily on the pupil projections.
		there is growing pressure from international arrivals, from Hong Kong, Ukraine and refugees placed in local hotels, as well as immigration more generally.  This is impacting on all year groups.
	2.8	There is more information about the changing birth rate, changes to net inward migration and international arrivals in Appendix B.
	2.9	The projections and commentary are available on the borough’s website at:
	https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/home/schools-and-education/school-organisation-places-and-planning/pupil-number-projections
	2.10	The commentary is also provided as Appendix C to this report, available by electronic distribution only.  The data is summarised in Tables 1 to 9 in this report.  Please note that there may be minor changes in the numbers and wording below, particularly around numbers of children admitted from Ukraine, Hong Kong and as refugees seeking asylum.  The figures in this report reflect the latest information.
	2.11	The Royal Borough has a policy of ensuring that there is a surplus of approximately 5% on school places.  In other words, there should be around 5% more school places than expected demand, particularly at school intake points (Reception for primary and first schools, Year 5 for middle schools, Year 7 for secondary schools and Year 9 for upper schools).  This allows for the operation of parental choice, provides space for families who move into the area later on and also means that there are still enough places if demand is slightly higher than projected.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.
	Commentary for Ascot primary schools
	2.12	No further action is currently proposed at present for Ascot.  The projections show that there will be enough places until 2026 (at least).  Demand from residents within Ascot is projected to remain low, with a dip year expected for September 2023.    The surplus of places is expected to remain well above the target of 5%.
	2.13	Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, significant new housing is expected in the Ascot area.  This will start to impact on demand towards the end of the projection period, and is included in the numbers given in Table 1.  There is expected to be enough capacity within the projections period to meet this demand, but in the longer-term new primary provision may be needed.
	2.14	Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds rose in the year to August 2021, compared to the previous year.  Subsequently, primary schools in Ascot have taken a number of children from Ukraine and Hong Kong (15 across all year groups).
	2.15	Although year groups in Ascot primary schools tend to grow in size as they move up from Reception to Year 6, there are still expected to be enough places in the schools to meet this demand during the projection period.
	2.16	The projections are higher than those from 2021, reflecting a recovery in net inward migration.  If this recovers to pre-pandemic levels then future Reception numbers may be slightly higher than projected.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Datchet and Wraysbury primary schools
	2.17	No further action is currently proposed for Datchet/Wraysbury.  Projections suggest another dip in demand in 2024 – this is likely to be lessened by movement from out-borough.  Conversely, there are only expected to be a small number of spare Reception spaces available in 2023, and none in 2025 and 2026.  It is expected that there will be enough capacity to meet demand from local residents.  These projections include around 0.5 FE (15) out-borough pupils per year.
	2.18	Relatively little new housing is planned for the Datchet and Wraysbury area during the next five years, so impact on demand for places will be minimal.
	2.19	Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds for the year to August 2021 is slightly lower than in the previous year, but in line with averages from the pre-pandemic period.
	2.20	In the 2021/22 academic year, primary schools in Datchet and Wraysbury took a very small number of children from Ukraine and Hong Kong.  There has, nevertheless, been an unusual level of inward migration into the two schools since January 2022, adding an average of 2 children per year group.  Nearly half of this has been international immigration (6), and half from elsewhere in the UK.
	2.21	Most year groups are expected to continue to have capacity for families moving into the area during the projection period.
	2.22	The projections are similar to those from 2021.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Maidenhead primary schools
	2.23	No immediate further action is proposed for Maidenhead, although the vacant primary school site on Chiltern Road, Maidenhead, is due to be refurbished to allow it to return to primary school use in due course.  The projections for the town as a whole suggest that there will be enough school places overall to meet demand in the projection period.  The surplus of places could increase to 16% surplus by September 2024. The projections include around 0.8 FE (24 children) of out-borough demand.
	2.24	The figures include the loss, in September 2024, of 30 Reception places at Lowbrook Academy as it reverts to 30 places again due to limited accommodation.
	2.25	The current overall projection for Reception masks significant variation within the town.  Demand is expected to fall from the current levels in most parts of the town and surrounding areas, with the exception of south-east Maidenhead.  Here, growth driven by new housing in and around the town centre is likely to lead to a significant local shortfall by September 2025.  Conversely, a sharper fall in demand is expected in south-west Maidenhead, where lower numbers of births are leading to reduced cohort sizes for the September 2023, 2024 and 2025 Reception intakes (see Table 3a)
	2.26	As noted above, new housing continues to add to demand for primary school places in the town.  Recent and planned development is expected to add more than a form of entry to primary demand by September 2025.  This demand is included within the figures given in Table 3.
	2.27	Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds remained relatively low in the year to August 2021, compared to pre-pandemic levels.  There has, however, been significant and unusual movement into the Maidenhead primary schools since the start of 2022, with net growth of 135 children across Years R to 6.  This is equivalent to 20 extra children per year group.  Two-thirds of this movement has been international immigration (including 70 Ukrainian and refugee children accommodated in the Holiday Inn).  Some upward adjustments have therefore been made to the projections to reflect this, although this is clearly an area of ongoing uncertainty.
	2.28	The increased net inward migration has led to some shortfalls in places, particularly in what are now Years 5 and 6.  Spare places are now increasingly concentrated in schools on the edges of Maidenhead or in the surrounding villages.  Some schools have agreed to take additional children, and discussions will continue as required.
	2.29	Although the 2022 projections are lower than those from 2021, it is likely that these may be too low if net inward migration is now returning to previous levels.  This will be monitored closely.  Paragraphs 2.68 to 2.73 provide an update on the previously agreed strategy for primary school places in Maidenhead.
	2.30	The schools in each subarea are:
		Bisham and Cookham: Bisham, Cookham Rise, Cookham Dean, Holy Trinity (Cookham).
		Central Maidenhead: Boyne Hill, Larchfield, St Edmund Campion (and All Saints Junior).
		Maidenhead Villages: Burchetts Green; Knowl Hill; Waltham St Lawrence; White Waltham.
		North East Maidenhead: Riverside, St Luke’s, St Mary’s.
		North West Maidenhead: Alwyn; Furze Platt Federation (and Courthouse Junior).
		South East Maidenhead: Braywick Court; Holyport; Oldfield.
		South West Maidenhead: Lowbrook; Wessex; Woodlands Park.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Windsor first schools
	2.31	Action may be required to temporarily reduce the number of first school places, to manage high projected surpluses.  The projections suggest that demand for Reception places is set to continue falling, with the surplus of places potentially reaching 21% in September 2025.  This is well above the 5% surplus place target.  The projections include around 1.9 FE (57) out-borough children.
	2.32	The figures above include the temporary reduction in places at Kings’ Court First School from 45 to 30.
	2.33	There is some variation in the projected demand across the town, with south and east Windsor likely to experience greater reductions in demand (on current levels) than the rest of the area (see Table 4a).
	2.34	Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This will start to impact on demand towards the end of the projection period, and is included in the numbers given in Table 4.  There is expected to be enough capacity within the projections period to meet this demand, but in the longer-term new first school provision may be needed.
	2.35	Net inward migration for 0 to 4 year olds remained negative in the year to August 2021, contrasting with pre-pandemic growth.  There has been some relatively unusual movement into the Windsor first schools since the start of 2022, adding an average of 2 extra children per year group.  A third of this of these movement has been international immigration (including 15 Ukrainian children).  A minor upward adjustment has been made to the projections to reflect this.
	2.36	The 2022 projections are lower than those from 2021 projections, due to continued low net inward migration.
	2.37	The schools in each subarea are:
		East Windsor: Oakfield; Queen Anne; Trinity St Stephen.
		Eton: Eton Porny, Eton Wick.
		Windsor North: Dedworth Green, Homer, St Edwards.
		Windsor South: Alexander; Clewer Green; Hilltop.
		Windsor Villages: Braywood, King’s Court, The Royal.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Ascot secondary schools
	2.38	No further action is currently planned for Ascot secondary school provision.  The projections indicate that there should be enough places for Ascot and designated area residents in the projection period.  There is not expected to be a surplus of places during the projection period as any empty places are usually filled by out-borough applicants.  The projections include approximately 3 FE (90 pupils) of out-borough demand for 2022, and 4 FE (120 pupils subsequently.  A significant part of this is from within the school’s designated area, which covers parts of Bracknell Forest.  A bulge in demand from Ascot has resulted in fewer out-borough pupils getting places this year.
	2.39	Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, significant new housing is expected in the Ascot area.  This is likely to eventually impact on secondary demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the primary schools.  It is expected that there will be enough secondary school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-term.
	2.40	Charters School has taken a small number of children from Ukraine and Hong Kong (8) since September 2021.
	2.41	The 2022 projections are in line with those from 2021.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Datchet and Wraysbury secondary schools
	2.42	No further action is currently planned for Datchet and Wraysbury secondary provision.  The projections indicate that there should be enough places in the area for the projection period, particularly for Datchet and Wraysbury residents.  There is projected to be little or no surplus for the projections period.  The projections include approximately 2.7 FE of out-borough demand, which is an increase on previous years and a reflection of the school’s increased popularity.  A significant part of the school’s designated area covers Slough.
	2.43	Around 0.9 FE (26 pupils) resident in Datchet and Wraysbury indicate a preference for one or more selective schools on average, and around two-thirds are successful as at National Offer Day.
	2.44	Relatively little new housing is planned for the Datchet and Wraysbury area during the next five years, so impact on demand for places will be minimal.
	2.45	There has been no known movement of children from Ukraine or Hong Kong into Churchmead School; however, it is possible that some of the refugees placed into a hotel in Datchet are of secondary school age, and may require a place.
	2.46	The 2022 projections slightly higher than those from 2021.  The projections assume that recent trends in the numbers of out-borough children attending Churchmead, and Datchet & Wraysbury residents attending out-borough schools, will continue.  Slough Borough Council have been asked for an update on the latest secondary demand in East Slough and Langley – there are indications that demand for Churchmead from Slough residents is increasing.
	2.47	Churchmead School hopes to start offering sixth form places from September 2023, subject to take-up from the current Year 11.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Maidenhead secondary schools
	2.48	No further action is currently proposed for Maidenhead secondary schools.  The projections show that there will be enough places to meet demand during the period to 2027.  Although the surplus of places will be below 5% in September 2023, the number of pupils attending from out-borough means there is scope to address more local demand by taking fewer out-borough children, through the normal operation of the school admissions criteria.
	2.49	The projections include approximately 7.3 FE last year, above last year, but in line with long-term averages.
	2.50	The number of Maidenhead resident children taking up selective school places in neighbouring local authorities remains high by historical standards, at nearly 5.0 FE (143) for September 2022.  This compares to a 2010 to 2017 average of 90.  Three-quarters of applicants were successful as at National Offer Day.
	2.51	New housing continues to add to demand for primary school places in the town.  This is likely to eventually impact on secondary demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the primary schools.  It is expected that there will be enough secondary school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-term.
	2.52	Secondary schools in Maidenhead have taken 37 refugee children from Ukraine and other locations since September 2021.  Other international immigration, including from Hong Kong, has also contributed to growth in secondary school numbers over the last twelve months.  There remains capacity for families moving into the area.
	2.53	The 2022 projections are higher than those from 2021, reflecting a return to the long-term average of out-borough pupil numbers.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Windsor middle schools
	2.54	No further action is proposed for Windsor middle schools, although temporary reductions in capacity may be required towards the end of the projections period.  The projections show that there will be enough places to meet demand during the period to 2027.  The surplus of places will be well above the 5% target, potentially rising to 24% by September 2027.  The projections include around 1.5 FE (45 pupils) of out-borough demand.  Most of these children will have transferred up from the first schools.  A further 1.0 FE (30 children) come from Datchet/Wraysbury), half of whom are on roll in a first school.
	2.55	On average, around 1.5 FE (43 pupils) resident in Windsor indicate a preference for one or more selective schools, and 56% are successful (on average).  This movement means that middle schools lose some children at the end of Year 6.
	2.56	Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This is likely to eventually impact on middle demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the first schools.  It is expected that there will be enough middle school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-term.
	2.57	Middle schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (9) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since September 2021.
	2.58	It is expected that there will remain enough middle school places for families moving into the area.
	2.59	The 2022 projections are slightly higher than those from last year, reflecting an increased proportion of residents choosing a Windsor middle school at the end of Year 4.
		White cells   	indicate a surplus of 5% or more.
		Grey cells      	indicate a surplus of between 0 and 4.9%.
		Black cells 	indicate a deficit of places.

	Commentary for Windsor upper schools
	2.60	No further upper school places are likely to be needed in Windsor during the projection period.  The projections show that the surplus of places will be relatively low during the projection period to 2026.  This follows the approval of plans to expand Windsor Girls’ School by 22 places per year group, to ensure that there are enough upper school places for girls.  The accommodation for this expansion will be built in 2023.
	2.61	The projections include approximately 2 FE (60 children) of out-borough demand, almost all of whom will already be in a borough middle school.
	2.62	Following the adoption of the Borough Local Plan, some new housing is expected in the Windsor area.  This is likely to eventually impact on upper school demand mainly through increased numbers transferring up from the first and middle schools.  It is expected that there will be enough upper school capacity to meet this demand during the projections period, but more spaces may be needed in the longer-term.
	2.63	Upper schools in Windsor have taken a small number of children (6) from Ukraine and Hong Kong since September 2021.
	2.64	It is expected that there will remain enough upper school places for families moving into the area.
	2.65	The 2022 projections are in line with those from last year.
	2.66	In summary, based on the 2022 pupil projections:
		Ascot Primary 			– no new school places currently needed.
		Ascot Secondary 			– no new school places currently needed.
		Datchet/Wraysbury Primary 	– no new school places currently needed.
		Datchet/Wraysbury Secondary	– no new school places currently needed.
		Maidenhead Primary		– new places expected to be needed.
		Maidenhead Secondary		– no new school places currently needed.
		Windsor First			– temporary reductions in places advised.
		Windsor Middle			– no new school places currently needed.
		Windsor Upper			– no new school places currently needed.

	Latest information about net inward migration
	2.67	Initial analysis of data released in October 2022 suggests that net inward migration rates have increased again in the year to August 2022.  There is more information about this in Appendix B.  Initial rough work suggests that this does not yet change the conclusions given in paragraph 2.66 above.

	Further actions for Maidenhead primary schools
	2.68	Cabinet considered a report In November 2021 on the outcome of public consultation for more primary school provision in the Maidenhead area.  This followed pupil projections showing increasing demand for primary school places in the town.  As was noted in the December 2022 report, the evidence for that growth had since weakened significantly, as falls in net inward migration became apparent in the data supporting the projections.
	2.69	Accordingly, Cabinet:
		gave in principle agreement to the opening of a primary free school on the unoccupied Chiltern Road site� Formerly Oldfield Primary School (before it moved to Bray Road) and then Forest Bridge School (before it moved to Braywick Park). in Maidenhead.
		requested a report on options for the temporary occupation of the Chiltern Road site, and its refurbishment, ahead of any free school opening.
		requested that demand be kept under review and that proposals considered in the public consultation for primary school expansions at Lowbrook Academy, St Luke’s Church of England Primary School and St Mary’s Catholic Primary School are brought back to Cabinet for consideration in Autumn 2022.
		delegated authority to the now Executive Director for People Services to begin the free school competition process for the Chiltern Road site, when required. A decision on whether to start this in time for a September 2025 opening will be required in 2023.
		delegated authority was also delegated to the now Executive Director for People Services to carry out further consultation on a possible rebuild of Larchfield Primary School as a 420 place school, if demand in central Maidenhead were to rise significantly.
	2.70	Cabinet considered a report in August 2022 confirming the strategy for the Chiltern Road site.  Design works for its refurbishment are now underway.  The site is expected to be used by Manor Green School for a SEND Careers Hub until at least September 2025.
	2.71	With regard to expansions at St Luke’s Church of England Primary School, St Mary’s Catholic Primary School and Larchfield Primary School & Nursery, it is proposed that these remain on hold for the present.
	2.72	For Lowbrook Academy, the proposal here was to provide new accommodation so that the school could retain a permanent Published Admission Number (PAN) of 60.  At present, its accommodation of only 11 classrooms means that the school can only have 60 pupils in four of its seven year groups.  The other three year groups have only 30 pupils.  The school is due to revert to a PAN of 30 in September 2024.
	2.73	In view of continued falling demand in South West Maidenhead, and following discussions with the school, it has been agreed that there is currently no school place planning justification for the spaces.  This will, of course, be kept under review, as the current situation can be difficult for the school to manage, and can cause issues with siblings wanting places at the school.

	Development on the Maidenhead Golf course site
	2.74	The Borough Local Plan made provision for new primary and secondary schools on the housing development planned for what is generally known as the Maidenhead Golf course site, and more formally called AL13, South West Maidenhead.
	2.75	In school place planning terms, the site is currently within the Central Maidenhead planning area and is likely to become a planning area in its own right.  Development of the site is likely to have only just started by 2025, so its impact is not yet registering in the pupil projections.  The scale of the development means that the site is expected to need its own primary school (regardless of surplus places elsewhere in the town).  New secondary school provision is likely to follow in due course, likely delayed until the 2030s (demand for secondary school places from new housing takes a while to materialise).
	2.76	A separate report on the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) relating to AL13 South West Maidenhead is being considered by Cabinet in December.

	Further actions for Windsor first schools
	2.77	The significant projected level of surplus places in the Windsor first schools poses risks to schools in the town.  Without a planned reduction in capacity, some schools may end up with large numbers of spare places, threatening their financial viability.
	2.78	Officers have previously asked Windsor first schools to consider temporary reductions in their PANs, and it is proposed that this is now pursued further.  Temporary reductions allow schools to reduce their intakes, but no accommodation will be removed.  This will allow schools to expand again as demand rises.
	2.79	The target for surplus places is 5%.  In the context of the projected Windsor numbers this would mean reducing the number of Windsor Reception places by around 90 by September 2025.  This level of reduction may be challenging, and initial efforts should focus on a temporary reduction of 30 to 60 places.  School places should continue to be available where they are needed.


	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	There are no financial implications arising directly from this report.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Local authorities are under a statutory duty to ensure that there are sufficient school places in their area.  This is set out in the Education Act 1996, Section 14, subsections 1 and 2.
	5.2	There is no legal duty to provide any particular level of surplus places.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities.  An EQIA is contained at Appendix D.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. There are no climate change or sustainability implications arising directly from this report.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. There are no data protection or GDPR implications arising from this report.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.  The 2022 projections and analysis have been shared with schools.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: A decision about whether a new school is needed on the Chiltern Road site will need to be taken at least two years ahead of opening.  A decision in relation to September 2025 will be needed, therefore, by September 2023.

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by three appendices:
		Appendix A – summary of secondary programme.
		Appendix B – summary of net inward migration, births data and arrivals from Hong Kong.
		Appendix C – SCAP commentary.
		Appendix D – EqIA.

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by three background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A: Approved school expansion programme
	Table A1: Approved school expansion programme sets out the current approved expansion programme.
	A further 6 places per year group were also been added at Newlands’ Girls School.  This scheme, funded largely by S106 contributions, was not part of the formal secondary expansion programme but nevertheless increased the number of places available.  Cox Green School has also further increased its PAN to 210, adding a final six additional places per year group.
	These schemes are proceeding as follows:
		The Windsor Boys’ School 	completed.
		Windsor Girls’ School		completed.
		Charters School			completed.
		Cox Green School		completed.
		Newlands Girls’ School	completed.
		Dedworth Middle School	completed.
		Furze Platt Senior School	completed.
		St Peter’s CE Middle School	completed.
		Windsor Girls’ School		planning application approved in September.  Due to start on site this winter.  The school has already admitted additional pupils.

	Demand for School Places - Appendix B Migration and births data
	APPENDIX B: 2022 summary of births data, LOCAL and INTERNATIONAL MIGRATION.
	1.	Introduction
	1.1	This appendix takes a brief look at some of the wider demographic information that is impacting demand for school places in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

	2.	Births Data
	Births nationally
	2.1	The Office of the National Statistics (ONS) released their latest analysis of national births data in late October� Births in England and Wales: 2021.  Office of National Statistics, 9 August 2022.  In the release, the ONS note:
		the number of live births in 2021 for England and Wales increased to 624,828, a 1.8% increase on 2020.  This figure is, however, still below the 2019 figure of 640,370, and significantly below the 2012 peak of 729,674.  The 2021 figure is still, therefore, in line with the ongoing long-term downward trend.
		the total fertility rate (TFR) for England and Wales rose to 1.61 children per woman, which is the first increase in that figure since 2012.  Whilst fertility rates increased overall, younger age groups saw declining fertility rates, while older age groups saw fertility rates increase.  The 2020 figure of 1.58 was, however, the lowest since records began in 1938.
		the number of stillbirths nationally increased to 4.1 stillbirths per 1,000 total births, after the record low in 2020 of 3.9.
	2.2	The ONS indicate that the number of late registrations in 2020 was higher than average, due partly to capacity issues at registrars arising from the covid pandemic.  This means that the 2020 figures for births may be a slight underestimate, and the 2021 figures a slight overestimate (as late registrations are included in the following year’s data).
	2.3	The TFR is the average number of live children that a group of women would bear by the end of their child-bearing years if the current trends on births (adjusted according to the age to the women in that group) applied throughout that period.
	2.4	Table B1 sets out the live birth numbers and TFR for England and Wales for the period 2010 to 2021.  Please note that this information relates to the calendar year.  There will be differences, therefore, with data published elsewhere by the borough in relation to school place planning, which is based on academic year figures.
	2.5	It is worth noting that there is little evidence from these figures of any significant national impact from the pandemic on birth rates.  Children born in the 2021 calendar year would have been conceived between April 2020 and March 2021, coinciding with the first, second and third national lockdown periods� March to June 2020; November 2020 and January to March 2021.  There were varying levels of restrictions in place in between these periods. (yellow row in the table).

	Live births data for the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
	2.6	Similar trends for live birth numbers and the TFR are apparent in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, as shown in Table B2.
	2.7	The number of live births in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead in 2021 was 1,525.  This is significantly up (+8.5%) on the low point of 1,405 in 2020.  This increase is, therefore, well above the national trend.  This could mean the pandemic had a positive local impact on birth rates, but is more likely a result of particularly low birth numbers in 2020.  The 2021 figure is still well below numbers from the early 2010s, representing a 22% decrease since the 2012 peak of 1,860.
	2.8	The TFR has also risen in 2021, to 1.73, up from 1.60 in 2020.

	Live births data for areas within the Royal Borough
	2.9	Data on the number of live births for different parts of the borough is available by aggregating data for mid-Super Output Areas (mSOAs) to:
		Ascot.
		Datchet and Wraysbury.
		Maidenhead.
		Windsor.
	2.10	These aggregated mSOAs roughly match the planning areas use for school place planning.  Table B3 shows the live births data for the different areas, for the period 2013 to 2021.  TFR data is not currently available for mSOAs.  Table B4 shows the same data, at mSOA level.
	2.11	The areas within the Royal Borough show similar trends to the overall pattern.  All parts of the borough had higher numbers of births in 2021 than in 2020, though in Windsor the recovery was negligible.  Numbers of births continue to be below the longer-term average in all parts of the borough except Datchet and Wraysbury.


	3.	International Migration into the UK
	Overall migration
	3.1	The birth rate isn’t the only factor that impacts on demand for school places.  Migration in and out of the Royal Borough is also important, whether driven by national trends or more local aspects such as new housing.
	3.2	The latest available release from the Office of National Statistics relating to international migration is from May 2022� Long-term international migration, provisional, Office of National Statistics, May 2022..  This is a new dataset from the ONS, and is not directly comparable to previous figures (including those provided in this appendix last year).  The impact of the pandemic has created some significant challenges for the ONS in updating their international migration statistics.
	3.3	The key points in that release are:
		in the year ending June 2021, around 239,000 more people moved to the UK, intending to stay for 12 months or more, than left.  This figure is the net migration, which is the balance between immigration and emigration.
		this is a small decrease from the year ending June 2020, where the net migration was around 260,000.
		the positive net migration figures are being driven almost entirely by non-EU migration, with 81,000 non-EU nationals emigrating in the year to June 2021, compared to 332,000 immigrating.  Historically, a large part of this has been foreign students, and the ONS believe this continues to be the case.
	3.4	Due to the changed methodology, there is no historical dataset prior to the year ending June 2020.  The figures are provided in Tables B5 and B6.
	3.5	The figures are clearly affected by the pandemic, with the first national lockdown period accounting for the last quarter of the year to June 2020.  The year to June 2021 includes the second and third lockdown periods.
	3.6	To give a bit more historical context, Tables B7 and B8 provide the figures from the ONS’s older methodology, going back to 2010/11� Migration Statistics Quarterly Report: August 2020, Office of National Statistics, August 2020..
	Period to June 2022
	3.7	The year to June 2022 is not covered in the currently available ONS datasets but, clearly, the international situation has changed significantly in this period.  This has added new patterns of movement (e.g. refugees from Ukraine) to existing movements (e.g. from Hong Kong and Afghanistan).


	Migration via specific schemes
	Hong Kong
	3.8	In July 2020 the British Government announced a new visa route for Hong Kong residents who hold a British National Overseas - BN(O) - passport.  This allowed BNO passport holders to live and work in the UK for five years, with a path to citizenship.
	3.9	These changes came into effect on 31st January 2021.  The Home Office estimate that there are 2.9 million BN(O) status holders eligible to move to the UK, with a further 2.3 million estimated eligible dependents.  The Home Office impact assessment’s central range analysis estimates between 123,000 and 153,700 BN(O) holders/dependents arriving in the UK in 2021, and between 258,000 and 322,240 over the five year period from 31st January 2021� Media factsheet: Hong Kong BN(O) Visa Route, Home Office, 24 February 2022..
	3.10	Latest figures from the government show there were 140,500 applications for the BN(O) route up to the end of June 2022� Immigration statistics, year ending June 2022), Home Office, September 2022..  As at June 2022, 110,504 had been considered and approved, with only 2% being rejected� Entry clearance visas summary tables, Home Office, August 2022..

	Afghanistan
	3.11	The UK has two schemes specifically for Afghan nationals to relocate to the country:
		Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy (ARAP), which launched in April 2021.
		Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme (ACRS), which launched in January 2022.
	3.12	ARAP offers Afghan citizens who worked alongside the UK government (and meets the ARAP criteria) relocation to the UK.  ACRS is aimed at vulnerable groups, including women and girls at risk, and members of minority groups at risk.
	3.13	The numbers resettled under these schemes is likely to be much lower than the Hong Kong numbers.  The ACRS scheme plans to resettle 5,000 people in the first year, and up to 20,000 over the coming years� Afghan citizens resettlement scheme, Home Office, August 2022..
	3.14	The Home Office estimates that, as at August 2022, 21,450 people had arrived from Afghanistan as part of the resettlement programmes.  11,303 have so far been granted ‘Indefinite Leave to Remain’.  9,667 (half of whom are children) are in temporary accommodation in 66 hotels, and 7,385 have moved into a home, or been matched to home.  This figure excludes families who have made their own accommodation arrangements� Afghan Resettlement Programme: operational data, Home Office, August 2022..
	3.15	The impact on individual local authorities and schools is likely to be relatively small in numerical terms, although clearly there may be challenges arising from language barriers and mental health.

	Ukraine
	3.16	Since the Russian invasion of Ukraine, the UK has offered two routes for refugees into the UK:
		Ukraine Family Scheme, for Ukrainians who have family already settled in the UK.
		Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme (Homes for Ukraine), where a sponsor can provide accommodation for a minimum of 6 months.
	3.17	Both routes only currently provide leave to remain in the UK for up to three years.  It seems likely that at least some will then apply for British citizenship.  Applications to extend existing visas can also be made under the Ukraine Extension Scheme.
	3.18	As at 1st November 2022, 73,300 applications had been made under the Ukraine Family Scheme, and 168,100 under the Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme (totalling 146,379).  196,200 of these applications had been granted by the same date� Ukraine Family Scheme...visa data, Home Office, November 2022..
	3.19	Data for the period to June 2022 suggests that nearly a third of the arrivals are under the age of 18� Homes for Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme..visa data by age and sex of applicant, Home Office, July 2022.


	Net inward migration in the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
	3.20	Information about international migration into local authority areas is not available in the way it is for the UK as a whole.  It does, however, provide a context within which locally produced migration figures (which don’t distinguish between national and international migration) can be considered.
	3.21	The main dataset used for the pupil projections comes from the NHS, who, each Autumn, provide the local authority with a breakdown of the number of children aged 0 to 18 who are resident in the borough.
	3.22	This information is provided by postcode, which means that the data can be aggregated to various levels, including by town, e.g. Maidenhead.  As the data is also provided annually, we can compare figures to provide net inward migration over time.
	3.23	Note that the 2022 pupil projections use the 2013 to 2021 data, as the 2022 data only becomes available in October, three months after the deadline for submitting those projections to the DfE.
	3.24	Table B9 shows the changes in sizes of the cohorts of children resident in the Royal Borough, aged 0, 1, 2 and 3, as they move up into the cohorts of 1, 2, 3 and 4 year olds each year.  The data is shown for each age group as at 31st August each year, between 2014 and 2022.
	3.25	By way of an example, the section in red in Table B9 says that:
		in August 2017 there were 1,687 children resident in the Royal Borough aged 2.
		a year later, in August 2018, that same cohort of children was aged 3.
		there were 1,753 children in that cohort.
		this is an increase of 66, although there will have been many more movements of children in and out of the borough in the cohort over this period.
		the net movement was, therefore, +66.
		proportionally, the 2018 cohort was 1.04 times the size it was in 2017.
	3.26	Table B9 colour codes the proportions calculated, so that yellow cells show strong year on year growth in cohort size, whilst blue cells show decreasing cohort sizes.
	3.27	Table B10 condenses the proportional change given in Table 9, and also provides:
		the five year average for the proportional change in size for each cohort as it ages by a year.  Four averages can be calculated on the available data, and these are given in the last four rows at the bottom of the table.  The cells with a red border show that, for the cohorts of two year olds turning into three year olds, the 5 year average annual change was 1.025 between 2016 and 2021.  This is based on the average of the figures for the movements from 2016 to 2017, 2017 to 2018, 2018 to 2019, 2019 to 2020 and 2020 to 2021.
		the average annual proportional change for all the age groups 0 to 4, and also for 0 to 18.
	3.28	Table B9 shows that, in the period 2014 to 2019, most cohorts grew in size from year to year in the Royal Borough.  Only two of the 20 data points in that period are below 1, which indicates a shrinking cohort.
	3.29	In early 2020, however, the covid pandemic resulted in national lockdown for most of the second half of the 2019/20 academic year.  The impact on net migration into the Royal Borough is shown here.  Between 2019 and 2020 three of the four 0 to 4 cohorts shrank, and one (the youngest) only grew slightly.  The average proportional growth across all 0 to 4 cohorts fell to just 0.996 (shown in the penultimate column).  The impact across all cohorts aged 0 to 18 was even worse, with a drop to just 0.98.
	3.30	That impact continued into the 2020/21 academic year, with relatively low growth (compared to pre-pandemic levels) of 1.015 in cohort sizes for 0 to 4 year olds between 2020 and 2021.
	3.31	The latest data does, however, suggest a recovery between August 2021 and August 2022, with average growth of 1.047 for 0 to 4 year olds.  This is similar levels seen in the pre-pandemic period.
	3.32	Due to the volatility in the proportional change in cohort sizes, the pupil projections model uses five year averages, as given in the last four rows of Table B10.  These rows give the five year averages for four periods:
		2014 to 2019 (as used for the 2020 pupil projections).
		2015 to 2020 (as used for the 2021 pupil projections).
		2016 to 2021 (as used for the 2022 pupil projections).
		2017 to 2022 (as will be used for the 2023 pupil projections).
	3.33	The five year averages are high when based on the 2014 to 2019 period.  The five year average starts to drop for the 2015 to 2020 and particularly the 2016 to 2021 period, as  the impact of the pandemic starts to show in the data.  The 2017 to 2022 average has recovered, although will still be depressed as it includes the pandemic years.
	3.34	Table B11 summarises the changing average proportion growth in cohorts aged 0 to 4, by area in the borough.
	3.35	Based on the year to August 2022, net inward migration in:
		Ascot has recovered to pre-pandemic levels.
		Datchet & Wraysbury is higher than in the pre-pandemic period.
		Maidenhead has recovered to pre-pandemic levels.
		Windsor is still significantly below pre-pandemic levels.
	3.36	This new data will need to be properly integrated into the pupil projections model, but some initial rough work suggests that this new information does not yet change the conclusions around the need for new school places given in the main report.
	3.37	It is also worth noting that the latest data from the NHS does include refugee children housed in the Holiday Inn, which may be artificially inflating net inward migration.  Similarly, influxes from Hong Kong and Ukraine may a one-off, rather than a longer-term trend.  This will need to be examined further for the 2023 projections.
	3.38	Of course, the values given in the tables above only seem to change by relatively small amounts.  The smallest five year average figure given in Table B10 is 1.005, whilst the largest is 1.066.  However, applying this to 1,000 pupils means a year on year growth in a single cohort of either 5 pupils (1,000 x 1.005 = 1,005) or of 66 pupils (1,000 x 1.066 = 1,066).  This is illustrated in full in Table B12.
	3.39	Table B12 shows two scenarios, both calculating the likely future sizes of resident cohorts in the Royal Borough aged 0 to 4 for the Reception intakes in September 2023 to 2026.  Scenario 1 uses the 5 year average proportional change in cohort size used for the 2022 projections, as based on the 2016 to 2021 data from Table B10.  Scenario 2 uses the latest 5 year average proportional change in cohort size, as based on the 2017 to 2022 data from Table B10.
	3.40	The black cells show the resulting projected cohort sizes.  In Scenario 1, the cohort applying for September 2026 Reception places is expected to have 1,694 children.  In Scenario 2, the post-pandemic recovery in net inward migration suggests that cohort will have 1,752 children.  This is a difference of 58 pupils, almost two classes, at 1.9 Forms of Entry.
	3.41	The pupil projection model is slightly more sophisticated than outlined above, as it also takes account of net migration into new housing, which is then discounted from the migration factors (as the impact of new housing is added via the pupil yields).  Nevertheless, net migration remains a very significant factor, and relatively small changes in the rates can have major impacts on future projections.

	International migration into Royal Borough schools
	Hong Kong
	3.42	58 children from Hong Kong have applied for and been offered a school place in the Royal Borough between September 2021 and November 2022.  In general, families from Hong Kong are moving into privately rented or purchased properties.  It seems likely that the majority of these families will now stay in the UK.
	3.43	Table B13 shows the breakdown of applicants from Hong Kong by receiving school area and type.  Schools in Maidenhead have taken the bulk of the children.
	3.44	According to data from successive school censuses, schools in the Royal Borough had very few children (2 or fewer) whose families identified then as Hong Kong Chinese before Spring 2021.  The figure jumped to 15 that year, and to 70 in 2022.

	Ukraine
	3.45	As at November 2022, 90 children from Ukraine have applied for and been offered a school place in the Royal Borough since the start of 2022.  These children will primarily have been admitted to the UK under the Ukraine Family Scheme or Ukraine Sponsorship Scheme.  Generally, therefore, these children (and their families) will have been moving into space in homes generously offered by residents of the Royal Borough.
	3.46	There is much less certainty about whether these children will remain in the UK long-term, as at present leave to remain is limited to three years.  If and when the situation in Ukraine improves, it is possible that many families may return.
	3.47	Table B14 shows the breakdown of applicants from Ukraine by receiving school area and type.  These children have been taken by schools across the borough.
	3.48	School census data does not (currently) have a specific categorisation for Ukrainian children, so it is not possible to compare these numbers to the previous position.

	Other refugees (Holiday Inn)
	3.49	The Holiday Inn in Maidenhead was closed to the public from 1st April 2022 and since then has been used to accommodate refugees seeking asylum.  Families accommodated here may be moved on to other accommodation at short notice.  The is currently no information about how long the hotel will remain in use as refugee accommodation.
	3.50	As at November 2022, 64 children living in at the Holiday Inn have been offered school places, all in Maidenhead.
	3.51	Most have been of primary school age, with around a third of secondary school age.
	3.52	The NHS data for 2022 shows, as at October 2022, 87 children resident aged 0 to 17 (as at 31st August 2022), including 28 of pre-school age, 37 of primary school age and 22 of secondary school age.
	3.53	There is no breakdown of these children by country of origin, but these numbers do include Afghan children admitted under the ARAP and/or ACRS schemes (see paragraph 3.11)
	3.54	A second hotel in Datchet for refugees seeking asylum does not yet appear to have generated any children in the borough.  There is a concern that some of the ‘adults’ may still be of statutory school age.

	Totals admitted through special immigration routes or as refugees seeking asylum
	3.55	Table B16 gives the total numbers admitted to borough schools from Hong Kong, Ukraine or as refugees seeking asylum, by area and type of school.
	3.56	Maidenhead schools have taken three-quarters of these applicants, and almost half have gone to primary schools in the town.

	Other international immigration
	3.57	Since September 2021 there has also been significant movement into borough schools from other countries via the standard immigration routes.  The breakdown of the country of origin has not yet been collated.  Table B17 provides the total numbers admitted to borough schools by receiving school area and school type.
	3.58	Again, the bulk of the movement has been into Maidenhead primary schools.
	3.59	It is not possible to compare this to previous years, as the admissions data has not been collected in this way previously.  The Spring 2023 school census may indicate whether this movement is unusual or a return to previous trends.  The admissions data does not, of course, include families who may be leaving the Royal Borough (and the UK), so the net inward movement from international applicants is likely to be lower than given in Table B16.
	3.60	It is possible that the availability of new housing (which is mainly in Maidenhead) is attracting more families.  This will need to be accounted for in the pupil projections, to avoid double-counting through migration factors and pupil yields.



	4.	Conclusion
	4.1	There continues to a complex demographic situation with a low birth rate, new housing and rapidly changing patterns of net inward migration following on from the pandemic, and exacerbated by international events.  This makes projecting demand for school places more complicated than usual, leading to higher risks around the accuracy of those projections.  This makes it more important to have a strategy allowing new school places to be created at relatively short notice, across all year groups.


	Demand for School Places - Appendix C SCAP commentary
	APPENDIX C - Schools Capacity Survey 2022 - Local Authority Commentary
	1.	General LA overview indicating LA wide trends (Primary and Secondary age).
	2.	Factors affecting overall LA pupil numbers e.g. migration, housing development, live births.  If you experience cross local authority boundary movement please identify the other local authorities involved and the scale of places affected.
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	3.	Summary of PRIMARY AGE pupil places in individual planning areas experiencing pressure on places either currently or projected and for which action is required to address.

	8680001 Ascot Primary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680004 Datchet & Wraysbury Primary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680003 Maidenhead Primary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680002 Windsor First Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees
	4.	Summary of SECONDARY AGE pupil places in individual planning areas experiencing pressure on places either currently or projected and for which action is required to address.

	8680005 Ascot Secondary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680009 Datchet and Wraysbury Secondary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680008 Maidenhead Secondary Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680006 Windsor Middle Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees

	8680007 Windsor Upper Schools
	Demographic trends
	New housing
	The projections
	Ukraine/Hong-Kong/other refugees


	Demand for School Place - Appendix D EQiA
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1 : Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting
	Stage 2 : Full assessment
	2.1 : Scope and define

	2.2 : Information gathering/evidence
	Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
	Advance equality of opportunity
	Foster good relations



	10 Microsoft Licensing Contract Renewal
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Over the last five years the Royal Borough’s IT service has enhanced the desktop management systems provided to Royal Borough staff, partners, schools, Elected Members and third-party suppliers. The service has leveraged the functionality from many of the market leading Microsoft technologies to achieve this. This has been possible due to previous commitment to a Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) and the additional value-add benefits this provides. The tendering of a new contract provides the Royal Borough with a reliable and functional platform to develop and enhance business systems for both the Council and our partners.
	2.2	The objective of the Modern Workplace Project resulted in the deployment of Microsoft Windows 10 devices and staff taking advantage of many more applications that the Office 365 subscription offered, as an example the use of Teams Telephony which has seen the replacement of static IP handsets, utilising the laptops as audio devices.
	2.3	Further products and benefits include:
	2.4	Not renewing this contract would result in the removal of licenses and therefore the functionality for all of the Council’s business critical tools and data mentioned above and remote access for schools, partners and suppliers to applications required to support Council services.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	Please see ‘Table 2’ for what success looks like and how this will be measured:
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The current cost of the Microsoft Enterprise Agreement (EA) is £364,000 per annum; £1,092,000 over the current three-year term (1st April 2020 - 31st March 2023).
	4.2	Indicative quotes have been gained from our current and two other competitor Microsoft Resellers to give an idea of potential renewal costs in April 2023 as detailed in Table 3.
	The licence costs are based on current RBWM active accounts and the number of user accounts supported in SLA’s with Achieving for Children and Optalis as well as other partner organisation as at November 2022.
	4.3	A revenue growth bid has been submitted for IT in the 2023/24 budget exercise for £111,000 to cover the increase in revenue for the duration of a new three-year contract based on the average market research testing.
	4.4	IT have undertaken analysis on the current license numbers and other options that may be available to ensure that RBWM staff and partners are using the most cost-effective option available whilst ensuring benefits and needs are met.
	4.5	Quotes from the tender exercise may vary due to the following:
	4.6	Contract Requirements

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Given the estimated contract value, the contract is being tendered via a legally compliant framework operated by Crown Commercial Services. This ensures that the Council is acting in accordance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015 and the Council’s Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules. Advice has been provided by the Council’s corporate Procurement Team.
	5.2	The Procurement Team identified a compliant tender route through an aggregated tender run by Crown Commercial Services via their Technology Products and Associated Services Framework. Having investigated this route to market and compared it to other options such as tendering independently via an available framework or independently outside of a framework this appeared to be the most advantageous option available to the Council for a number of reasons including the potential for more advantageous pricing, standardised T&Cs of contract and lower internal resourcing requirements.
	5.3	The Council will let a contract directly with the successful tenderer following the conclusion of the Crown Commercial Services tender and subject to approval to award being given by the Executive Director of Resources in consultation with the Cabinet Member Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	The minimum contract term available for this renewal with any Microsoft Partner is three-years and this is the term being tendered for via the aggregation.
	The contract to be awarded following the aggregation will provide the Council with the ability to flex the licences at the end of each year of the contract term which will allow us to increase or decrease licences based upon the requirements of the business.

	7	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities: An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability:
	No impact
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR:
	No impact

	8.	CONSULTATION
		Consultation was held with market competitors to discuss license usage and gain indicative costs
		Heads of Service and the Deputy Leader of the Council & Cabinet Member for Business, Corporate & Residents Services, Culture & Heritage, & Windsor were consulted on the decision to go out to tender via CCS framework.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1 	The full implementation stages are set out in Table 5:
	Table 5: Implementation timetable
	9.2 	The timetable above provided by CCS is subject to change which is why delegated approval has been requested to ensure that both the tender process and internal processes align to ensure that the new contract is in place by the deadline date of the 1 April 2023.

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by one appendix:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	There are no other background documents relevant to support this report.

	12.	CONSULTATION
	APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting
	Stage 2 : Full assessment
	2.1 : Scope and define

	2.2 : Information gathering/evidence
	Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
	Advance equality of opportunity
	Foster good relations



	11 South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	The core aim of the spatial strategy (Policy SP1) of the Borough Local Plan is to focus new development on the three strategic growth areas of Maidenhead, Ascot and Windsor, to make best use of infrastructure and services, and to provide a sustainable approach to growth. Within Maidenhead, the South West Maidenhead area is one of two strategic growth locations identified in the town.
	2.2	The Borough Local Plan provides the policy framework within which development can come forward in the South West Maidenhead area. Specific policies and proposals for the area are:
		Policy QP1b – South West Maidenhead strategic placemaking area. This sets out the overall approach to the development of the area, including a series of key principles and requirements for the area
		The following site allocations and accompanying “proformas” at Appendix C of the Plan which sets out site specific requirements and considerations:
	o	Site AL13 – Desborough, Harvest Hill Road, South West Maidenhead – housing allocation for approximately 2,600 homes, two schools and a new local centre
	o	Site AL14 – “The Triangle site” – allocated for industrial and warehousing development
	o	Site AL15 – Braywick Park – allocated for mixed use strategic green infrastructure accommodating indoor and outdoor sports facilities, public park, special needs school and wildlife zone
	2.3	Policy QP1b states that to ensure the development of the placemaking area as a whole comes forward in a strategic and comprehensive manner, planning applications on individual land parcels should accord with the principles and requirements set out in the Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document (SPD), incorporating a masterplan and approach to the approval of design codes; phasing of development and infrastructure delivery for the area as a whole. The policy indicates that the SPD will be produced by the Council in partnership with the developers, landowners, key stakeholders and in consultation with the local community.
	2.4	The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) defines Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) as, Documents which add further detail to the policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further guidance for development on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary planning documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not part of the development plan. They are therefore important documents in helping to deliver the policies and proposals set out in the Borough Local Plan. But it is important to emphasise that SPDs do not create new policy, do not replace existing policy in the Borough Local Plan and cannot amend existing policy in the Borough Local Plan.
	2.5	The Draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework Supplementary Planning Document was published (under Regulation 13 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, as amended) for six weeks consultation from 6 July to 17 August 2022.  More details on the consultation and the responses made can be found in Section 8 below.
	2.6	Following the consultation, officers have amended the draft SPD to take account of representations received and new evidence.
	2.7	The final SPD:
		Sets out design principles for the area
		Includes an illustrative framework masterplan
		Sets out a range of other requirements and principles for development in the South West Maidenhead area, particularly AL13 site and covers a range of matters including:
	o	Community needs
	o	Connectivity and
	o	Sustainability and Environment.
		Sets out the infrastructure requirements for the development of the area and how this infrastructure should be funded and delivered.
	2.8	The changes made to the SPD following consultation on the draft SPD are summarised below:
		Wording reviewed to ensure consistency with the role of SPDs and to ensure appropriate policy references are clear.
		Greater clarity on the requirement for a central green space (as part of the Illustrative Framework Plan in the SPD) and its importance in the transition zone between the two neighbourhoods.
		Ensuring guidance refers to the importance of building heights “stepping down” towards the edge of the development and clearer cross referencing to the Tall Buildings SPD
		A number of other detailed updates and clarifications in the design section
		Greater clarity on housing mix guidance and provision of further information to support the approach
		Further evidence to support the affordable housing size mix guidance in the SPD.
		Further information on the need for the schools, the timing of when they are needed and updated cost estimates.
		New sub-section on playing pitches within the section on open space, highlighting the likely need for contributions to off-site playing pitch provision
		Greater clarity on biodiversity net gain and emphasising the importance of securing best biodiversity outcomes
		Further detail and clarification on the potential approaches to infrastructure delivery, the policy basis, and the respective roles of the community infrastructure levy and section 106 agreements
		An update on expected infrastructure costs, including indexing of costs to the present day, and inclusion of land costs for land for community uses (mainly schools)
	2.9	It is important to emphasise that this SPD does not include a detailed design for the development areas, or individual parcels of land within them, but sets the framework within which individual planning applications can come forward.
	2.10	The final SPD is accompanied by a Strategic Environmental Assessment report (background paper) and a Consultation Statement (Appendix C) that summarise all engagement and consultation undertaken in the preparation of the SPD and a response to the comments made on the draft SPD. In addition, as part of checking the deliverability of the development in the light of changes nationally and the guidance in the SPD, an update to the Borough Local Plan viability assessment of the AL13 housing site was undertaken. This showed that the site continues to be viable (also a background paper).


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The key implication of adopting an SPD for the South West Maidenhead area is the ability to coordinate development and its associated infrastructure provision across the area and ensure a comprehensive approach. There are multiple landowners and potential developers with an interest in the sites allocated in the South West Maidenhead area. It is critical that they deliver both on the key design and other principles set out in the SPD and make timely and proportionate contributions to the delivery of the necessary supporting infrastructure. The SPD provides the framework for infrastructure funding such as section 106 contributions alongside the Community Infrastructure Levy, thereby supporting the delivery of key infrastructure. This supports the Corporate Plan Priority relating to ‘Quality Infrastructure’.
	3.2	As well as taking forward the proposals in the Borough Local Plan, work on the SPD has been integrated with broader strategic work on a range of other areas such as the Local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plan, the Bus Service Improvement Plan, school place planning, and delivery of the Housing Strategy. This joined-up approach will help to ensure a more coordinated and comprehensive approach to delivery of development and infrastructure in the area.
	3.3	Whilst SPDs are not part of the statutory development plan (such as the Borough Local Plan) with its associated planning status and weight in decision making, they are an important material consideration when determining planning applications. As noted above the preparation of this SPD is specifically referred to in the Policy for the South West Maidenhead area, Policy QP1b.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The production of the SPD has cost approximately £172,000. This is funding:
		Specialist Design and Masterplanning advice
		Infrastructure planning evidence
		Planning Policy advice and Project Management
		Strategic environmental assessment
		Some other specialist officer advice.
	4.2	The work has been funded by a planning performance agreement with the main landowner/developer interests. The preparation of the SPD is within existing budgets. The cost of the vast majority of officer time is being carried by the Council from within existing resources with a small amount funded from the planning performance agreement.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The SPD does not form part of the statutory development plan but will be an important material consideration in making planning decisions.
	5.2	There is a statutory process for preparing an SPD. Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out these requirements.
	5.3	The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations) also require the Council to consider whether or not Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the SPD should be undertaken. Following consultation with the Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England it was agreed that SEA should be carried out for this SPD. The SEA Report has been listed as a background document accompanying this report.
	5.4	There are no direct legal implications as a result of this report.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	6.1	The headline risks are set out in Table 3 below:

	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. A EQIA (Equalities Impact Assessment) Screening has been completed and is available in Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. The allocation of major development in the South West Maidenhead area has been the subject of a full sustainability appraisal process as part of the preparation of the Borough Local Plan, and the allocation of development sites in the South West Maidenhead area were found to be “sound” by an independent planning inspector, having regard to the outcome of that sustainability appraisal. The preparation of this SPD was also subject to a strategic environmental assessment (SEA). The SEA Report can be viewed at
	https://consult.rbwm.gov.uk/file/6030259.  A post adoption SEA statement will be made available on the Council’s website as soon as reasonably practicable after the SPD is adopted.
	7.3	Whilst consultation during the preparation of the Borough Local Plan, and engagement and consultation on this SPD (see below) highlighted concerns about the impact on the environment and climate change, including on biodiversity and the potential loss of trees, the SPD sets out more detail on how more sustainable development of the area can be brought forward including:
		Seeking 10% biodiversity net gain
		Seeking net zero carbon development (operational)
		Delivery of a green infrastructure network
		New tree planting
		Setting out requirements for more sustainable forms of building
		Provision of new and enhanced walking, cycling and public transport links to provide good alternatives to car travel
		Provision of schools and local facilities on site to reduce the need for new residents to travel and enhance their ability to reach those facilities by non-car modes.
	7.4	Data Protection/GDPR. The consultation on the South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD was undertaken by the council in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation.
	7.5	The built and natural environment are major determinants of health and wellbeing of the population, and this development should provide opportunities for a healthy living environment which promotes and enables healthy behaviours.
	7.6	The golf course part of the AL13 housing allocation that forms part of the SPD is part of the Council’s landownership assets.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	As part of preparing the SPD early public engagement took place in the form of three online events together with the opportunity for people to submit written comments afterwards. There was extensive publicity about the events in advance including writing to nearly 1,000 homes in the vicinity of the main development sites, consulting an extensive list of people on the planning policy consultee database, holding a press briefing (with subsequent articles and publicity about the events on the local media), and regular use of social media to publicise the events.
	8.2	At the Regulation 13 consultation stage (consultation on the draft SPD), the Council wrote again to nearly 1,000 local residents and a wide range of consultees on the consultee database.  Three staffed drop-in sessions were held in different weeks during July 2022, two at the Maidenhead Library and one at the Braywick Leisure Centre and an online event was held via Microsoft Teams.  About 90 written representations were received from residents and other stakeholders. These made a wide range of comments, ranging from opposition to the principle of development, through to more technical comments on the SPD. A Consultation Statement has been produced summarising all engagement and consultation undertaken in the preparation of the SPD. It also summarised the responses received and provides a response to the issues raised. Some of the key issues raised included:
		Concerns around loss of trees/greenspace/biodiversity
		Concerns re density and building heights, especially at the northern end of the golf course
		Impact on Harvest Hill Road
		Comments on proposed housing mix
		The approach to biodiversity net gain and carbon neutral development
		The approach to infrastructure delivery and funding
	8.3	Engagement has also taken place with landowner/developer interests, ensuring that they can take account of emerging thinking on the SPD as they start to prepare planning applications. Some engagement also took place with some infrastructure providers to understand the impact of development on infrastructure and to consider appropriate mitigation/enhancements.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: 29 December 2022. The full implementation stages are set out in Table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by three appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by three background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1 : Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting

	Appendix B - SW Maidenhead SPD Adoption
	Appendix C - SWM Consultation Statement
	1.	Introduction
	2	SPD preparation and early stakeholder and community engagement
	3	Summary of the main issues raised by stakeholders during the preparation of the draft SPD, and how those issues were addressed in the draft SPD
	4	Consultation on the draft SPD – Summer 2022
	5. 	Main Issues Raised in Consultation on the Draft SPD and Main Changes to the SPD
		Wording reviewed to ensure consistency with the role of SPDs and to ensure appropriate policy references are clear
		Greater clarity on the requirement for a central green space (as part of the Illustrative Framework Plan in the SPD) and its importance in the transition zone between the two neighbourhoods
		Ensuring guidance refers to the importance of building heights “stepping down” towards the edge of the development and clearer cross referencing to the Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD
		A number of other detailed updates and clarifications in the design section, including in relation to maximising opportunities of natural heating (solar gains) and ventilation through design
		Greater clarity on housing mix guidance and provision of further information to support the approach (see new Appendix 3)
		Further evidence to support the affordable housing size mix guidance in the SPD (see new Appendix 3)
		Further information on the need for the schools, the timing of when they are needed and updated cost estimates (see new Appendix 4)
		New sub-section on playing pitches within the section on open space, highlighting the likely need for contributions to off-site playing pitch provision
		Greater clarity on biodiversity net gain and emphasising the importance of securing best biodiversity outcomes
		Further detail and clarification on the potential approaches to infrastructure delivery, the policy basis, and the respective roles of the community infrastructure levy and section 106 agreements
		An update on expected infrastructure costs, including indexing of costs to the present day, and inclusion of land costs for land for community uses (mainly schools)

	Appendix 1 - South West Maidenhead SPD Early Public Engagement Report
	1.	Purpose of Engagement
	2.	What Engagement was undertaken and when?
	3.	How were people made aware of the engagement?
	4.	Response to the engagement
	5.	Summary of the Issues Raised (meeting and online form)
	Green Belt
	Housing
	Community
	Transport
	Utilities
	Biodiversity
	Climate Change/Sustainable Development
	Trees
	Green Infrastructure
	Other Environmental Issues
	Other

	Appendix 2 - Summary of Representations on the Draft South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD and the Council’s response

	Appendix C2 - Consultation Statement

	12 Review of Local Development Scheme
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	2.1	The Planning & Compulsory Planning Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act 2011 (“2004 Act”), requires each local planning authority to prepare and maintain a document setting out the programme for the preparation of planning documents. This is known as the Local Development Scheme (LDS).
	2.2	Planning Practice Guidance� Plan-making, Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 61-003-20190315 states that an LDS should specify (among other matters) the development plan documents (i.e., local plans) which, when prepared, will comprise part of the development plan for the area. It encourages Local planning authorities to include details of other documents which form (or will form) part of the development plan for the area, such as Neighbourhood Plans.  It adds that the LDS must be made available publicly and kept up-to-date so that local communities and interested parties can keep track of progress.
	2.3	The LDS is a three-year project plan for preparing planning documents, but it is not a policy document itself. It provides a starting point for the local community and stakeholders to find out what planning documents are being prepared by the Council and the timetable for when these documents will be produced. In particular, it sets out the timetable for the review and update of the Council’s Local Plan(s) and outlines the dates when there will be formal opportunities to get involved with the plan making process.
	2.4	The current Local Development Scheme was approved in October 2019, covering the period to end of 2022.  This set out the anticipated dates for the remaining stages for the Borough Local Plan and the Joint Minerals and Waste Plan, along with predicted timetable for the Traveller Local Plan. As we are now at the end of 2022, it is an appropriate time to update the LDS. As stated below, producing an LDS is a statutory requirement and therefore not approving the proposed new LDS is not recommended.
	Options

	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The Borough Local Plan was adopted by the Royal Borough on 8 February 2022 and the Minerals and Waste Plan, which was produced jointly with three other Central and Eastern Berkshire Councils, was adopted in November this year. Progress on the Traveller Local Plan has been slower than anticipated back in 2019 due to a number of factors, particularly the need to prioritise officer resources into taking the BLP through to adoption.  However, a consultation on issues and options was undertaken in 2019 with a consultation statement published in 2020.  The 2018 Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment was updated in 2022 and this sets out the need for pitches and plots for these groups up to 2036/37.  The 2022 update can be viewed here.
	3.2	The new Local Development Scheme has been prepared to cover the period between January 2023 and December 2025. The full documentation is attached as Appendix B to this document. The 2004 Act states that to bring the scheme into effect, the LPA must resolve that the scheme is to have effect and specify the date from which the scheme is to have effect.  It is proposed that the LDS will come into effect from 1 January 2023.
	3.3	The focus in this period will be on preparing the Traveller Local Plan. Councils have a duty to allocate sufficient land for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation needs. The recently updated GTAA shows that there is an unmet need for accommodation� At least 51 pitches for Travellers who lead a nomadic habit of life, plus a minimum of 14 plots for Travelling Showpeople.  for these groups in the period to 2036/37.
	3.4	National planning policy in the Planning Policy for Traveller Sites requires that Councils identify a supply of deliverable and developable sites to meet the needs against locally set targets along with criteria-based policies to guide land supply allocations.   Although the BLP includes a criteria-based policy for the assessment of proposals for Gypsy & Traveller accommodation, it does not allocate any Gypsy & Traveller pitches or Travelling Showpeople plots. As such, it is necessary to produce a separate Local Plan to meet these needs and allocate new sites for Travellers.
	3.5	The proposed timetable sets out that the Traveller Local Plan will be submitted for examination by late Summer/early Autumn 2024 and (subject to a timely examination process) adopted by Summer 2025.
	3.6	The Regulations require that a Local Planning Authority reviews its local plan every five years, starting with the date of adoption� Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). As the Borough Local Plan was adopted in February 2022, there is no requirement to review this until 2027, beyond the three-year period of the LDS.  Similarly, the Minerals and Waste Plan will not need to be reviewed until 2027.
	3.7	There is no requirement for a programme of Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to be included within the LDS. Since the BLP was adopted, good progress has been made with several SPDs required to provide more detail on policies within the plan.  This has included the South West Maidenhead Development Framework SPD and the Building Height and Tall Buildings SPD, and draft versions of both documents have been consulted on during 2022.  Work is also ongoing on the Sustainability and Climate Change SPD. Further SPDs will be produced during 2023.  Further details of SPDs will be provided on the Council’s website.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The production of the Traveller Local Plan will incur costs, including from public consultation and engagement, legal advice and the cost of the planning inspector for the examination process. However, the evidence of accommodation need has been updated recently and the overall scale of costs will be significantly lower than that incurred for the BLP. The cost of producing the Traveller Local Plan can be funded from existing budgets.
	4.2	No other significant costs would arise from approving the Local Development Scheme.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	Section 15 of the Planning & Compulsory Planning Act 2004, as amended by the Localism Act 2011, requires each local planning authority to prepare and maintain a Local Development Scheme (LDS).  Failure to produce and update the LDS would result in a failure to meet the Council’s legal obligations.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. The Equality Act 2010 places a statutory duty on the council to ensure that when considering any new or reviewed strategy, policy, plan, project, service or procedure the impacts on particular groups, including those within the workforce and customer/public groups, have been considered. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A. This sets out that the Traveller Local Plan would benefit the gypsy and traveller communities, who are disadvantaged groups. Some Gypsies and Travellers are protected against discrimination on the basis of their ethnic origins.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability. All local plans must be subject to a Sustainability Appraisal.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR. No impacts

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	The Traveller Local Plan will be subject to extensive public consultation during its preparation.  There is no need to consult externally on the content of the Local Development Scheme itself.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in: 1st January 2023. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 2 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by no background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	APPENDIX A - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting

	LDS Appendix B

	13 Housing Support Fund
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	Rationale for taking a delegated decision
	2.2	RBWM’s Household Support Fund allocation was confirmed at the start of October and therefore officers have needed to act quickly to develop the attached allocation policy. The increasing pressure of the cost of living crisis, the onset of winter and the potential harm suffered by household that are not able to access this fund at the earliest possible opportunity mean that there is an urgent need to allocate funding. The Chief Executive has therefore taken a delegated decision on the allocation of the Fund, following discussion with the Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Chair of Corporate Overview and Scrutiny in accordance with Section 5 of the constitution, paragraph 3.9.
	2.3	The allocation of the Winter 2022-23 Household Support Fund is being distributed through two separate streams, summarised below. It should be noted that the Autumn Statement on November 17th, announced an extension of the Household Support Fund into next year. The policy for allocating future tranches of this Fund will be developed separately, and will be subject to a new decision.
	2.4	Stream 1: Free School Meals Support in the holidays
	2.5	This approach replicates that taken in previous tranches of the Household Support Fund, which targeted families with children. The approach uses receipt of Free School Meals to target vulnerable children and families directly, to support them with food costs during the school holidays.
	2.6	Scheme 2: Financial support to households identified as being in severe financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems (a partnership approach)
	2.7	RBWM’s policy is to work with a selection of third party organisation (TPOs) to allocate the remainder of the Household Support Grant (over £300,000) to households identified as experiencing severe financial hardship and at risk of escalation of problems. These TPOs include a range of local voluntary and community sector organisations, housing associations, and health partners.  A full list of Distribution Partners (DPs) is included in the Household Support Fund Policy document at Appendix B.
	2.8	DPs have discretion to identify residents in severe financial hardship and at risk over the winter period, using their own sources of data and information, using criteria agreed with the council, and in accordance with the DWP guidance above.
	2.9	Residents identified by DPs, will be provided with a Unique Reference Number (URN) and encouraged to make an application to the council via a simple web-based application form. Subject to checks for identify and fraud, residents will receive a one-off cash payment of £145, which will be transferred into their bank account by BACS.
	2.10	DPs will take primary responsibility for identifying and assessing who is in greatest need.  The council will check for residency, duplicate applications and potential fraud. The Council will promote the policy and list of DPs to residents and the wider community through its website and through working through a diverse group of community organisations, parishes and stakeholders.
	2.11	Our delivery partners have a strong track record of working to support residents who are most in need, and have the information and relationships that can help to target the fund effectively. Those working directly with our communities are best placed to identify these individuals and to assess who will benefit most from the support. In particular, they are better able to identify residents who have missed out on previous support, for example, because they do not fall into particular age ranges, or receive certain benefits.
	2.12	Working in partnership provides opportunities to embed the one off cash payments to residents within a wider offer of support and advice. This approach enables applications to the fund to be made as part of a wider conversation about the resident’s needs and will complement advice, for example on budgeting, management of health conditions and / or wider sources of support. The cash payment may also help partners to engage new ‘harder to reach’ groups of residents.
	2.13	Working together in this way also aims to build stronger collaboration between the council and its partners, and to facilitate the type of community-based, resilience-building and preventative approach, that we wish to develop further going forwards.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	3.1	The successful delivery of this policy will provide financial support, in the form of £20 food vouchers per child, for each week of the school holidays, for families in receipt of Free School Meals; and one off cash transfers of £145, for residents in severe financial need over the winter period 2022-23. We expect to support 3000 families in receipt of Free School Meals, plus over 2000 households in severe financial need, across a broad range of age groups and household types, and including disabled residents and those with long term health conditions.
	3.2	In addition, the partnership approach will help to strengthen positive relationships with and between the range of agreed partners, and the HSF cash payment aims to help to engage residents in the wider, more sustained, advice and support offered by our partners.
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	This proposal utilises the full grant provided to RBWM through the DWP Household Support Fund, with a small proportion of the Fund used to cover the council and voluntary and community sector partners’ management costs. There are therefore no additional financial burdens from the council for the delivery of this scheme. Support provided to residents will be limited to the amount provided to the council by DWP.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The attached proposal complies with the guidance issued by DWP, and as such there are no significant legal implications.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. Partners have been selected on the basis of their collective reach across communities, and ability to target groups with different protected characteristics. The allocation of the fund will be monitored to assess distribution by ethnicity, gender, disability, pensioners and children in the household. Where proportions do not match those of the population and evidence of need in the borough, action will be taken to proactively target under-represented groups to ensure that they are able to benefit from the scheme, including through engaging with a range of organisations working with diverse communities to encourage residents in need to come forward. An Equality Impact Assessment is available as Appendix A.
	7.2	Climate change/sustainability: there are minimal sustainability implications of this proposal.
	7.3	Data Protection/GDPR: Personal data collected as part of the Household Support Fund application and allocation process will only be used for the purposes of allocating the Household Support Fund and will adhere to the terms of the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Guidance on the use of personal data is included within the resident application form, for their information. Anonymised data will be analysed for monitoring the allocation of the Fund, by protected characteristics, household type and geographical location, as appropriate.

	CONSULTATION
	7.4	The second stream of the Household Support Fund (Partnerships) has been developed in close consultation with a range of partners and wider stakeholders. These include voluntary and community sector organisations, Frimley ICB, housing partners and parishes, in addition to engagement with services across the council. Stakeholders provided valuable input to shape the policy, through a series of individual meetings and workshops.

	8.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	8.1	Implementation date: Immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in table 4.
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	9.	APPENDICES
	9.1	This report is supported by three appendices:

	10.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	10.1	This report is supported by one background document:

	11.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix A: Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy
	Allocation of Household Support Fund Policy
	(Tranche 3, October 2022 – March 2023)
	Scheme 1: Support to families in receipt of Free School Meals
	Eligibility Criteria
	The Award
	Managing the risk of Fraud
	Policy Review
	Appeals

	APPENDIX C - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting


	14 Award of Contract for Case Management System
	1.	DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATION(S)
	2.	REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED
	Options
	2.1	RBWM currently uses software supplied by Idox Software Ltd (IDOX), and this is used throughout Planning (including Trees, Conservation, Planning Appeals, Enforcement and Building Control); Environmental Health (including Housing (Residential Premises; Housing Surveys; Housing Assistance and HMO Licensing) Commercial Premises and Public Protection); Trading Standards; Licensing; Highways and by the Local Land & Property Gazetteer Custodian (Address Management). The Local Land Charges Service uses the TLC product and the CIL/S106 Service uses Exacom, both of which are provided by IDOX. The Council also uses the IDOX Document Management System.
	2.2	The existing software solution supports the work of a range of inter-related and stand-alone services which are provided by the various departments from within Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead (RBWM) Council.
	2.3	As the previous contract period was ending in March 2022, initial market engagement was completed between August and December 2021.  Five suppliers responded and three were selected to give demonstrations.
	2.4	The response to the market engagement indicated, that based on the current market, the Authority should be moving from an on premise to a more up to date ‘cloud’ based, hosted option.  This also aligns with the Council’s IT preference of ‘Cloud First’ (hosted solutions) and, although the transition to this model would represent a significant change for the Authority, it is anticipated that the benefits and associated efficiencies in ways of working would outweigh any investment required. Additionally, the Council had follow-up conversations with other Authorities who have moved to a hosted model, and they confirmed that there are significant benefits to moving the upgrade work, currently carried out in house, to the provider.
	2.5	The expiring contract had been secured by a waiver of the contract rules and an additional waiver was requested. Further non-compliance was avoided by using an established Framework for an interim period of two years, commencing April 2022. This enabled the Council to have sufficient time to develop a more comprehensive and detailed understanding of the cost of change; finalise a business case; complete the procurement exercise plus mobilise and set up a new system.  In addition, as part of ongoing ‘transformation’ work, this allowed for a period of time to carry out customer journey and process work to ensure that any new implementation drives through efficiencies in the service areas.
	2.6	The number of concurrent users within the relevant service areas is in the region of 120 to 140 and the system is utilised as indicated below:
		Pre-Application Enquiries
		Development Management (i.e., the processing of all aspects of all types of planning application, and similar submissions, e.g., tree works applications, prior notifications, licencing consultation requests, certificates of lawfulness, high hedge complaints etc)
		CIL and Section 106 administration
		Planning appeals
		Planning Enforcement
		Planning Policy (i.e., monitoring and records management for datasets such as Housing allocations)
		Tree Preservation Order Records Management
		Listed Buildings Records Management
		Development Monitoring
		Building Control incl Dangerous Structures and Contraventions (i.e., the processing of all aspects of all types of applications, and similar submissions)
		Local Land Charges
		Local Land & Property Gazetteer Management
		Street Naming & Numbering
		Environmental Health (food, health & safety, infectious diseases, private water supplies, private sector housing, environmental protection)
		Community Safety
		Licensing
		Trading Standards
		Highways (view only)
	2.7	A contract notice for this procurement was placed in the Find a Tender Service (FTS) as well as on Contracts Finder.  The tender was launched on 6th July 2022 with a closing date of 17th August 2022.  This was extended to the 26th August at the request of a potential bidder and this was granted. The ITT was administered via the e-procurement portal (Bravo) and circa 50 suppliers visited the portal to view the ITT documents.  A few suppliers formally declared that they would not bid.  Two bids were submitted before the deadline. There were no late submissions.
	2.8	The tender evaluation combined both a technical and financial evaluation in line with the published criteria and weightings (60% Technical Proposal / 40% Financial Proposal). There were a number of clarification questions asked of both bidders post submission, relating to functionalities, how they proposed to deliver the solution, what software and hosting security measures they proposed to have in place and some clarifications around the commercial terms.  Both bidders gave demonstrations of their systems to representatives from the affected areas.
	2.6	After combining both the technical and financial scores Bidder A has achieved the highest overall score and therefore it is recommended that the new contract is awarded to them. The overall scores table is included in Appendix B, which is commercially sensitive and therefore Part II by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
	2.9	The fundamental issue facing all Local Authorities is the need to minimise service delivery costs and ensure ongoing improvements to the standard of service delivered to customers. It is anticipated that a new solution should be able to deliver a high-quality service at a reduced annual maintenance cost.
	2.10	The support of the services by a high quality modern ‘hosted’ software solution is pivotal to providing a suitable solution, across multiple office locations including for those working remotely. It is therefore essential that “agile working” based upon paperless case files, and mobile and remote officer connectivity to the database is available, supported by a software solution that is designed with these basic requirements at the heart of its design.
	2.11	One of the aims of the procurement was to invite bids from suppliers who can supply a single ‘hosted’ software solution which could be used for all work related to the services noted above.  In addition, the expectation was to future proof solutions to support an efficient set of business processes, where processing activities are automated as far as is possible and enable the best possible quality of service to be offered to the Council’s customers at the least possible cost.
	2.7	The implementation of the new case management system will be used as an opportunity to re-engineer the way in which the relevant areas can transform the services they provide to both internal and external customers.
	2.8	The new contract should enhance specific functionality e.g. reporting, analytics, on-line public engagement, compliance and allow both managers and officers to spend less time on administrative processes in order to focus on statutory functions and key activities, such as transforming service delivery.
	2.9	The timetable provides time for the contract to be awarded in January 2023 with go-live expected in March of 2024. This period will allow sufficient time for the implementation to be carried out.


	3.	KEY IMPLICATIONS
	Table 2: Key Implications

	4.	FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
	4.1	The financial impact of the report’s recommendations is commercially sensitive and is therefore included in Appendix A, which is Part II by virtue of paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.
	4.2	All financial implications are however contained within existing resources.

	5.	LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The Council has the power to take the action proposed, pursuant to Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 which provides powers for a local authority to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of their functions. The action proposed is also taken in accordance with Part 8A – Contract and Tendering Procedure Rules - of the Constitution.
	5.2	The tender has been conducted in line with Public Contract Regulations 2015, therefore ensuring that the awarded contract and the Council is PCR compliant.
	5.3	Procurement and Legal have been involved in this process and their advice has been followed. Both Procurement and Legal colleagues have contributed to the procurement process and can confirm that advice has been provided to ensure that this exercise is fully compliant.

	6.	RISK MANAGEMENT
	7.	POTENTIAL IMPACTS
	7.1	Equalities. An Equality Impact Assessment is available at Appendix C.
	7.2	If a future customer or officer experiences difficulties in accessing the system, then the Council in conjunction with the Supplier will review specific needs and, if necessary, identify and implement measures to improve accessibility.
	7.3	Climate change/sustainability. Improved automation will lead to a reduction of paperwork and introduction of efficient processes, limiting the need for paper and postage. Improved processes will transform the experience for applicants, current staff and external customers.
	7.4	Data Protection/GDPR. Due to the levels of personal data being managed on the case management system, a draft DPIA will be completed following the outcome of the tender with details specific to the supplier.
	7.4	Other potential impacts – There will be an impact on all officers once the new system is implemented as they will need to be trained to use the new functionality. Project team members will be in place to support and train officers.

	8.	CONSULTATION
	8.1	A number of system users, both managers and employees have been consulted on their requirements for a new case management system to ensure that it reflects the future transformational needs of the Council.
	8.2	A market engagement exercise was completed between August and December 2021, prior to the full tender process taking place.

	9.	TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
	9.1	Implementation date if not called in is immediately. The full implementation stages are set out in Table 4:
	Table 4: Implementation timetable

	10.	APPENDICES
	10.1	This report is supported by 4 appendices:

	11.	BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
	11.1	This report is supported by no background documents:

	12.	CONSULTATION
	Appendix C - EQiA
	APPENDIX C - EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	Essential information
	Guidance notes
	Openness and transparency
	Enforcement

	Stage 1: Screening (Mandatory)
	1.2 What evidence is available to suggest that your proposal could have an impact on people (including staff and customers) with protected characteristics? Consider each of the protected characteristics in turn and identify whether your proposal is Relevant or Not Relevant to that characteristic. If Relevant, please assess the level of impact as either High / Medium / Low and whether the impact is Positive (i.e. contributes to promoting equality or improving relations within an equality group) or Negative (i.e. could disadvantage them). Please document your evidence for each assessment you make, including a justification of why you may have identified the proposal as “Not Relevant”.

	Outcome, action and public reporting
	Stage 2 : Full assessment
	2.1 : Scope and define

	2.2 : Information gathering/evidence
	Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
	Advance equality of opportunity
	Foster good relations




	16 Award of Contract of Case Management System



